
 
 

SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
Regular Meeting 

Wednesday, November 24, 2021 
3:00 p.m. - 5:00 p.m. 

MS Teams Online 

1 / 1 

AGENDA 

1. Call to Order  ...................................................................................................................................... Amy Jeon 3:00 

2. Approval of Agenda 

3. Approval of Minutes, October 20, 2021 

4. Chair's Report .......................................................................................................................................................  3:05 

5. New Business  .......................................................................................................................................................   

5.1. Fashion and Technology External Review Report ..................................................  Amy Jeon  3:10 

5.2. ENTR 2nd Annual Follow-Up Report ............................  Amanda Bickell, Stephanie Howes  3:20 

5.3. HRMT 2nd Annual Follow-Up Report .... Marla McMullen, Lesley McCannell, Stephanie 

Howes ..............................................................................................................................................................  3:30  

5.4. GDMA 2nd Annual Follow-Up Report ...................  Carley Hodgkinson, Andhra Goundrey  3:40 

5.5. Product Design Quality Assurance Plan ...................... Lindsay Norris, Andhra Goundrey 3:50  

5.6. English Self-Study Report .......................... Robert Dearle, Billeh Nickerson, Greg Millard 4:10 

6. Items for Discussion ...........................................................................................................................................  4:40 

6.1 Election of Committee Vice-Chair ...................................................................................... Amy Jeon 

7. Manager’s Report for OPA................................................................................................................................  4:55 

8. Adjournment .........................................................................................................................................................  5:00 

 

 

 

 

 



SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
MINUTES OF REGULAR MEETING 

Wednesday, October 20, 2021 
3:00 p.m. – 5:00 p.m. 

MS Teams Online 

1 / 4 

 
Voting Member Quorum 8 members  
Xavier Ardez 
Shelley Boyd 
Aimee Begalka 
David Burns 
Lori McElroy 
Leeann Waddington 
Julia Denker 
Lindsay Norris 

Courtney Verhage  
Melissa Swanink 
Heather Cyr 
Marti Alger 
Lindsay Norris 
Allison Richardson 
Fergal Callaghan 

 

Non-voting 
Amy Jeon – Chair 
Steve Cardwell 
Melike Kinik-Dicleli  
 
 

Regrets  Senate Office Guests  
Tomasz Gradowski 
Stephen Yezerinac  
Diane Purvey 
Nishan Perera 
 

Meredith Laird Jimmy Choi 
Andhra Goundrey 
Sarah Hickinbottom 
Stephanie Howes 
Jeannette Paschen 
Lyndsay Passmore  
Jendy Wu 
Warren Edwards 
Layne Myhre 
Nicole Tunbridge 
Elizabeth Worobec 

1. Territorial Acknowledgement and Call to Order 

The Chair opened the meeting with a Territorial Acknowledgement and called the meeting to 
order at 3:00 p.m. 

2. Approval of Agenda 

Melissa Swanink moved the agenda be confirmed as presented. 

The motion carried. 

3. Approval of Minutes September 22, 2021 

Julia Denker moved the minutes be accepted as circulated. 

The motion carried. 

 

 



 

2 / 4 

4. Chair’s Report 

Amy Jeon, Vice-Chair of Senate, welcomed Courtney Verhage from the Faculty of Health to her 
first meeting as a voting member of the committee. 

5. New Business 

5.1 Fashion Marketing Second Annual Follow-Up Report 

The committee received the written report. The committee confirmed that it will not require 
any further follow-up reports and congratulated the program chair for completing the action 
items in its program review and in producing the reports. 

Aimee Begalka moved THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review accept the 
Fashion Marketing Second Annual Follow-Up Report as attached.  

The motion carried. 

5.2 Counselling Psychology (CNPS) First Annual Follow-Up Report 

The committee received the written report.  Sarah Hickinbottom shared with the committee 
that the department is planning to engage in further discussions within the University about the 
development of a graduate program which would allow students to practice as a certified 
counsellor.  She described that the educational programs for professional counsellors at public 
institutions are very limited, , and that many students therefore attend private institutions to 
pursue their studies, at a much higher cost. 

Fergal Callaghan moved THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review accept the 
Counselling Psychology (CNPS) First Annual Follow-Up Report as attached. 

The motion carried. 

Lori McElroy moved THAT the Counselling Psychology program submit a second annual follow-
up report. 

The motion carried. 

5.3 Business Management First Annual Follow-Up Report 

Lyndsay Passmore shared a presentation about the program and, with Jeannette Paschen, 
answered the questions of the committee.  The committee thanked the program for its work in 
clearly communicating program learning outcomes and discussed how communicating these to 
students benefits their learning.   The committee asked for additional information about the 
program’s plans to move forward in its work to decolonize and indigenize the curriculum and 
discussed that this work can be difficult and should be viewed as an ongoing process. 

Stephanie Howes, Dean of the Melville School of Business, shared that teams should not expect 
to complete a task for program reviews by undertaking efforts to decolonize and indigenize the 
curriculum, that instead, faculty members and departments will look to undertake these items 
as professional and personal development in an ongoing process over time. 

Shelley Boyd moved THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review accept the 
Business Management First Annual Follow-Up Report as attached. 

The motion carried. 



 

3 / 4 

 

Julia Denker moved THAT Business Management Program submit a second annual follow-up 
report. 

The motion carried. 

5.4 Computer Science and Information Technology (CSIT) Quality Assurance Report 

The committee received the written report.  Jendy Wu and Warren Edwards received the 
congratulations of the committee on the work performed and answered questions. The 
committee suggested that the examples and clarifications on “quick hits” be added to the report.  

Fergal Callaghan moved THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review accept the 
Computer Science and Information Technology (CSIT) Quality Assurance Plan as revised. 

The motion carried. 

5.5 Biology Self-Study Report 

The committee received the written report. Layne Myhre and Nicole Tunbridge answered 
questions from the committee, and described efforts to develop additional space to do group 
work on the Surrey campus and how this space might contribute to student collaboration.   

The committee discussed the reviewers’ comments and were satisfied with the proponents’ 
responses.  The committee discussed the English language requirement for admission into the 
program, and options available to students to upgrade their language skills, as well as how the 
program may consider the development of writing courses within Biology to assist students in 
developing their writing skills specific to the discipline.   

The committee suggested that the table of courses in the program be returned to the report in 
Chapter 1 to assist in clarifying program progression. The committee agreed that the tables 
included in Chapter 3 could be left in the main body of the report, rather than moved to an 
appendix. The committee discussed that the proponents may wish to include references to the 
KPU Vision and refer to any work being done to decolonize and indigenize the curriculum of the 
program in the report.  

 

Heather Cyr moved THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review accept the Biology 
Self-Study Report as revised. 

The motion carried. 

 
6 Items for Discussion 

6.1 Mandate and Membership Sharing 

Amy Jeon described that the Senate Governance and Nominating Committee, along with the 
Vice-Chair of Senate, is undertaking a thorough review of all Senate committee mandates and 
memberships and will provide suggestions to the committee later this academic year for its 
consideration and recommendation.  She encouraged members to bring forward any 
suggestions for changes to the mandate and membership composition to the meetings at which 
the suggested changes will be discussed. 



 

4 / 4 

 

6.2 Notice of Election of Committee Vice-Chair 

Amy Jeon gave notice that an election for Vice-Chair of this committee will take place at the 
November meeting and reminded members that if the elected Chair is not a senator, then a 
senator should be elected as Vice-Chair in order to represent the committee at Senate. 

6.3 Election of Committee Chair 

David Burns conducted the election for Chair.  He described the procedure for the election and 
reminded the committee that the term for this office would be from November 1, 2021 to 
August 31, 2024. 

First call:  Lori McElroy nominated Amy Jeon.  Amy Jeon accepted the nomination. 

Second call: no nominations 

Third call: no nominations 

Amy Jeon was acclaimed Chair, Senate Standing Committee on Program Review and received 
the congratulations of the committee. 

7 Manager’s Report for OPA 

The committee received the written report.  Melike Kinik-Dicleli answered the questions of the 
committee and described that she would submit a summary of the number of programs in the 
various stages of review at each meeting.  Lori McElroy shared that there have been 10 external 
reviews done remotely since the onset of the pandemic, and that, while these require a great 
deal of additional administrative work to perform, there have been advantages to holding the 
reviews in this way.  There has been an increased ability to participate for Program Advisory 
Committee (PAC) members as well for students and alumni than when individuals were 
requested to attend in-person over several days. 

8 Adjournment 

The meeting adjourned at 4:30 p.m. 



SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW  
  Agenda Item: 5.1 

Meeting Date: November 24, 2021 
Presenter: Amy Jeon 

 1 / 1 

 
Agenda Item Fashion and Technology External Review Report 
  

Action Requested Motion 

  

Recommended 
Resolution 

THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review accept the 
Fashion and Technology External Review Report as attached.  

  
Senate Standing 
Committee Report For Senate Office Use Only   
  
  

Attachments Fashion and Technology External Review Report 
  

Submitted by Melike Kinik-Dicleli, Manager of Quality Assurance 

Date submitted November 1, 2021 
 



         SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
            Fashion and Technology External Review Report 
 

September 2021  1 
 

 
 

REPORT: Fashion and Technology Program External Review Report DATE: 14 October 2021 

 
EXTERNAL REVIEW TEAM MEMBERS (THE “ERT”) 
Peggy Blum 
Laura Fine 
Aislinn Hunter 
 
OVERALL ASSESSMENT 
 

SELF-STUDY REPORT 
 
Criteria: The Self-Study Report provides a data-supported analysis of the program’s strengths, weaknesses, 
opportunities and challenges. 
 
Standard for Assessing this Report:  

o The programmatic strengths and weaknesses identified in this report are supported by data and on-
site findings; 

o The Report has appropriate scope, as articulated by the Self-Study Guide; 
o Recommendations are supported by data, a clear rationale and on-site findings. 

 
The External Reviewers: 

Validate the Self-Study Report’s findings and 
recommendations   YES 

Do not validate the Self-Study Report’s findings and 
recommendations 

 
Rationale for this Determination: See end notes. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
  



         SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
            Fashion and Technology External Review Report 
 

September 2021  2 
 

 
REVIEWERS’ VALIDATION OF THE SELF-STUDY REPORT 
 
 

CHAPTER 2: Program Currency and Connections 
 
Criteria: This chapter adequately assesses program competitiveness and its connections to the 
discipline/sector. The assessment is supported by appropriate evidence and conclusions. 
 
Standard for Assessing this Chapter:  

o The programmatic strengths and weaknesses identified in this chapter are supported by data and on-
site findings; 

o The chapter has appropriate scope, as articulated by the Self-Study Guide; 
o Recommendations are supported by data, a clear rationale and on-site findings. 

 
Additional Recommendations Identified by the ERT—include a rationale for the recommendation: See end 
notes. 
 
 
The External Reviewers: 

Validate the Chapter’s findings and 
recommendations  YES 

Do not validate the Chapter’s findings and 
recommendations 

 
Rationale for this Determination: See end notes. 
 
 

 
 
 
  



         SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
            Fashion and Technology External Review Report 
 

September 2021  3 
 

 
CHAPTER 3: Quality of Curriculum Design 
 
Criteria: This chapter adequately examines the quality of the program’s curriculum and its current relevance to 
the discipline/sector. The assessment is supported by appropriate evidence and conclusions. 
 
Standard for Assessing this Chapter:  

o The programmatic strengths and weaknesses identified in this chapter are supported by data and on-
site findings; 

o The chapter has appropriate scope, as articulated by the Self-Study Guide; 
o Recommendations are supported by data, a clear rationale and on-site findings 

 
Additional Recommendations Identified by the ERT—include a rationale for the recommendation: See end 
notes. 
 
 
The External Reviewers: 

Validate the Chapter’s findings and 
recommendations   YES 

Do not validate the Chapter’s findings and 
recommendations 

 
Rationale for this Determination: See end notes. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



         SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
            Fashion and Technology External Review Report 
 

September 2021  4 
 

CHAPTER 4: Quality of Instructional Design 
 
Criteria: This chapter adequately examines the quality of the program’s instructional design and its current 
relevance to the discipline/sector. The assessment is supported by appropriate evidence and conclusions. 
 
Standard for Assessing this Chapter:  

o The programmatic strengths and weaknesses identified in this chapter are supported by data and on-
site findings; 

o The chapter has appropriate scope, as articulated by the Self-Study Guide; 
o Recommendations are supported by data, a clear rationale and on-site findings 

 
Additional Recommendations Identified by the ERT—include a rationale for the recommendation: See end 
notes. 
 
 
The External Reviewers: 

Validate the Chapter’s findings and 
recommendations   YES 

Do not validate the Chapter’s findings and 
recommendations 

 
Rationale for this Determination: See end notes. 
 
 

 
  



         SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
            Fashion and Technology External Review Report 
 

September 2021  5 
 

 
CHAPTER 5: Quality of Services, Resources and Facilities 
 
Criteria: This chapter adequately assesses program resources, equipment, software, and facilities from both 
the student and instructor perspective. The assessment is supported by appropriate evidence and conclusions. 
 
Standard for Assessing this Chapter:  

o The programmatic strengths and weaknesses identified in this chapter are supported by data and on-
site findings; 

o The chapter has appropriate scope, as articulated by the Self-Study Guide; 
o Recommendations are supported by data, a clear rationale and on-site findings 

 
Additional Recommendations Identified by the ERT—include a rationale for the recommendation: See end 
notes. 
 
 
The External Reviewers: 

Validate the Chapter’s findings and 
recommendations   YES 

Do not validate the Chapter’s findings and 
recommendations 

 
Rationale for this Determination: See end notes. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
  



         SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
            Fashion and Technology External Review Report 
 

September 2021  6 
 

 
CONCLUDING COMMENTS 
 
Below please find our assessments, recommendations, and rationale / comments (by chapter) and a brief end 
summary. It was a pleasure to meet with the Dean, the Chair, faculty, alumni, students and stakeholders and 
to work on this review. 
 
CHAPTER 2: Program Currency and Connections 
 
In terms of the program’s currency and connections strengths, we felt that KPU Fashion and Technology 
(henceforth F&T) students gained a lot of industry exposure and had good mentorship opportunities in the 
industry. Guest speakers and field trips are vital in an industry that thrives on connection and practical skill sets 
and F&T seems to be providing good intersections for their students in these ways (see pg. 16). There is also 
excellent student-to-student mentorship built in to the program (amplified, perhaps, by the way cohorts 
progress), and the use of alumni in academic settings and on the Advisory Board reflects well on former 
students’ progression in the profession. The Advisory Board (AB) is an excellent forum made up of well-
established industry professionals (see appendix 8) and impressive for an undergraduate program. As only one 
AB member attended the program review day it’s hard to get a sense of how dynamically (and to what depth / 
extent) this board serves students though the minutes (appendix 9) suggest they are good advocates for 
relevant industry education. While the social aspect of the AB / student end-of-term presentations seems 
invaluable, we support the notion of increasing the formal AB meetings to three times a year (see pg. 12). If the 
platform is there (and if meetings are possibly done on Zoom or Teams to take less of the professionals’ time) 
why not utilize the AB more fully?  
 
The new online information sessions (pg. 17) seem beneficial in creating a growing awareness of the program 
(and perhaps how it differs from KPU’s other Fashion specializations). That said, we felt the program should 
have a stronger national and international reputation especially given its students’ and alumni’s connections to 
the strong / thriving fashion industry in Vancouver and the strength of the program’s memberships (BC Apparel 
and Gear assoc., SMOC etc.). Strengthening ‘program specific’ social media accounts, and marketing and 
promotion tools (alongside building larger social media networks esp. with industry-players) could help grow 
KPU F&T’s reputation as a destination. To create a really successful online presence across platforms is a full-
time job so a re-visioning of where to place the onus of keeping these accounts current might help (i.e. maybe 
giving different students a wage – one per term including summer – for promoting dept and student activities 
(with oversight from a volunteer faculty member or the DA). In addition to this, connecting to other provincial 
high school associations, like THESA, could help raise awareness and interest in the program, increasing out of 
province applicants (see pg. 17).  
 
The continuation of (and marketing of) F&T Continuing Professional Studies (CPS) courses (see pg. 17 and 
appendix 11) seems imperative to the program’s success especially given the last decade’s changes to high 
school curriculums related to home economics skills, and the shift from machine / manual skills to digital skills in 
young adult recreational habits. Post-Covid digital literacy also creates a wonderful opportunity for the creation 
and dissemination of WSD master courses. Perhaps funding could be found to create and market these online? 
The F&T program is very (and necessarily) ‘process’ oriented. The introduction of master’s classes (and, possibly, 
a thematic CPS course or micro-credential classes) would allow students, alumni (and potential students) to 
focus on industry “hot topics” such as sustainability, size diversity, Indigenous fashion studies, cultural 
appropriation issues, diversity in traditional gender blocks, diversity in adaptive industry (able/disabled bodies) 
et cetera. This would ideally make the program feel more relevant and philosophical and increase current 
satisfaction rates while also addressing topical gaps identified in the student interviews and in the student 
survey’s suggested areas for improvement. These industry hot topics could also be highlighted through talks by 
industry contacts / professionals.  



         SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
            Fashion and Technology External Review Report 
 

September 2021  7 
 

 
In terms of other areas to work on we all perceived that there was a gap in students’ awareness of career 
opportunities and what sort of employment might be available to them after graduation. The fact that Career 
Services doesn’t have a F&T resource person or resource guide when there are so mant F&T employment 
opportunities in BC seems a disservice to students and puts unfair onus on faculty to act as career advisors. 
Alumni, while successful, seemed to have arrived in their specific careers through their own networking, or were 
already in the industry (and therefore industry savvy) having come to KPU to gain specific skills. See Chapter 3 
for how a larger cohort / revised curriculum might create opportunities for more ‘already in the industry’ 
student recruitment which would naturally lead to more student-to-student mentorship around employment 
opportunities.  
 
Lastly, we noticed that the program’s relationship to other KPU academic units is perhaps limited by KPU’s multi-
campus set-up and the rigidity of the F&T degree progression (more on this in Chapter 3). Perhaps more could 
be done to introduce students to other career-enhancing areas of study in the arts or in business at KPU.   
 
 
CHAPTER 3: Quality of Curriculum Design 
 
Again, we felt that one of F&T’s major successes was related to the high level of exposure to industry 
professionals. It was palpable that many of the program’s students felt prepared to enter the workforce due to 
industry exposure or internships. The feedback students received from instructors was described as honest, 
blunt (in a good way) and constructive. 
 
Alumni especially appreciated how challenged they felt and believed the program’s curriculum and training led 
directly to their success. Overall, 35% of alumni are very satisfied that the KPU Fashion & Technology program 
prepared them for work and/or further education with 45% being somewhat satisfied. Alumni would like the 
industry work experience to be longer to enable students to have greater in-depth experience  (pg. 39) and 
career readiness. Shifting the practicum from a 3-credit class to a paid internship/co-op work experience in the 
senior semester with longer placements may create the opportunity for students to further refine soft skills and 
apply acquired academic knowledge to real work experiences. Global internships abroad may also provide 
students with additional opportunities to gain international work experience. 
 
While current student satisfaction is relatively high with 53% of students very satisfied and 41% satisfied with 
program curriculum, there was a sense from alumni that the program has become a bit “less challenging” and 
that it now takes less work to graduate from the program. This might be a byproduct of putting student wellness 
(in the age of Covid) first, or of a reduced skill set (academically or in terms of student professionalism) in 
applicants which can lead to less challenging assignments or reduced workloads. With an approximately 50% 
conversion rate of those who apply to the program and those who submit a portfolio, (pg. 32) it is advisable to 
support applicants in developing foundational skills before program entry. As stated previously, pre-entry 
workshops, classes and programs can offer experiential learning opportunities including written and visual 
communication, and portfolio development for middle and high school students. 
 
One of the biggest flags for us reviewers was the cohort intake system. The combination of a reduced number of 
applicants (or of highly qualified applicants) and the curriculum’s rigidity in moving a single cohort of 22 up 
through a 4 year program strikes us as problematic despite the high retention rates sited in Chapter 4. It seems 
unlikely that a class of 22 students could avoid significant attrition over 4 years whether due to the recognition 
that the educational pathway isn’t suited to the student, external events (a pandemic) or through other more 
personal situations. This means that any attrition, especially significant attrition, endangers the program. 
Perhaps a model that works more like a pyramid (offering more entry-level classes or having larger class-sizes in 
year 1, or running and promoting the DESN course referenced in the chapter) might create fuller and stronger 



         SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
            Fashion and Technology External Review Report 
 

September 2021  8 
 

upper-level cohorts? Recruiting mature students wanting to upgrade skills (or reaching out with scholarships to 
refugee communities where these skills are already present because they often put food on the table) might 
create a stronger skills-based student body and keep classes filled throughout the four years, perhaps even help 
grow the program (two cohorts of 22 feels more appropriate for a strong program like this with the potential to 
have a strong national and international reputation). Education is a right, but that doesn’t mean that every 
student who applies for and takes a first-year class in a program like F&T is guaranteed passes and completion. 
Hypothetically the threat of losing too many students from a cohort (and therefore having too small a class size 
in later years) could lead to many problems: conflict with the administration around profitability, soft marking, 
the demand for extra unpaid mentorship hours from instructors to help students keep up and so on. The small 
cohorts and stringent progression plan can also cause students (as stated on page 52) a delay in graduation 
should they need to repeat a class. This program deserves to grow. It has the potential to educate a whole 
generation of future leaders and innovators in the industry. Reconceptualizing how to attract and retain more 
students (and accept more advanced entry students) in a way that supports student success and meets the 
institution’s expected fill rates seems crucial. 
 
Overall, the instruction-level in the F&T program is impressive. Students felt their instructors’ feedback was 
valuable and that faculty prepared them both academically and personally to work in an unstable / competitive 
industry with a variety of career pathways. It was especially meaningful to hear how KPU F&T faculty and 
instructors generated a sense of confidence and resilience in students while also promoting student agency 
through peer mentorships. That said, students would likely benefit from instructors who have more 
relevant/updated industry experience. While many of the Fashion and Technology faculty team have been part 
of the program for a number of years (pg. 36) and agree that they are somewhat to very satisfied (totaling 92%) 
with current program curriculum (pg. 35), the F&T industry changes quickly because it is a technology-based 
industry and so it’s imperative that faculty be supported to maintain and develop currency through professional 
development funds, granting opportunities and educational leave opportunities.   
 
The curriculum presents students with a healthy balance of industry skills, critical thinking skills and 
communication skills. The physical space of the WSD is impressive and students resource needs are being well 
met on site. There were some questions about the use of Gerber versus Optitex and we recommend this 
decision be reevaluated in the context of current employment expectations and what is in students’ best 
interest as they enter into the industry.  
 
Portfolio standards also may need some reevaluation to ensure students graduate with a portfolio that aids in 
employability. Why, for example, is ‘niche’ design work a core component of the portfolio? Ideally students 
should be able to connect their work and projects to the larger industry picture and demonstrate broad skills 
and a sense of connectivity rather than working on what read to us as significant (and interesting) ‘tunnel-vision’ 
projects. More awareness of how to build out a proposal / business plan that builds a stronger understanding of 
industry process beginning to end (creative, tech design, proto process, production process) might be useful.  
 
Main feedback themes shared by students, industry partners, and alumni for what might be included and/or 
enhanced in curriculum updates focus on environmental and sustainability concepts within the fashion industry 
(pg. 43). We also recommend the introduction of sustainable business models into the curriculum to provide 
students with knowledge and tools to understand and critically assess materials, economics, aesthetics, 
philosophical concepts, social responsibility, and the impact of their design decisions. 
 
The fact that only 20% of alumni surveyed pursued further education is a testament to how industry-ready 
KPU’s F&T alumni are but it also demonstrates the importance of employability upon graduation. Lasty, while 
the use of a 3D printer is exciting and seems to have benefitted the students, adding a Clo3D course is 
recommended due to its increasing popularity for virtual garment creation in the industry. 
 



         SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
            Fashion and Technology External Review Report 
 

September 2021  9 
 

 
CHAPTER 4: Quality of Instructional Design 
 
Every university in the world has experienced shifts in this global pandemic. KPU F&T students seem to have had 
excellent faculty support in this shift, and the modes of delivery, while challenging for tech courses, seem to be 
meeting student needs. Wonderfully, there is also a sense of a shared awareness amongst many of the faculty 
that new ways of doing the expected things (marketing, fashion shows and so on) can be positive and 
progressive. Again, the facilities available to students at the WSD are exceptional, and the building itself seems 
amiable to Covid-safety protocols.   
 
The quality and diversity of the faculty is strong and the student satisfaction rates reflect this though the 
relevancy issue pops up again in the student surveys where 52% of students were only ‘somewhat satisfied’ with 
the program’s quality and relevancy. This is supported by student comments on current areas of interest they’d 
like to see discussed more in fashion. A cohesive faculty-driven approach to ensuring issues of current relevancy 
(again: body positivity, gender theory, cultural appropriation, etc.) are covered across the program (even if 
embedded in a short module in a relevant technology-focused class) will ensure the program as a whole is 
relevant and demonstrates engagement in current industry-related (and moral) issues. Again, we have heard 
(from both faculty and students) that the program’s standards used to be higher – in terms of expectations and 
skills i.e. current students seem weaker on pattern drafting and sewing quality than before. 
 
Fluid teaching practices (an example described to us involved students receiving multiple instructor feedback on 
a course assignment) can result in outcome confusions (i.e. confusions in standards, expectations or grading 
practices). The self-study identified the need for clarity around how students were to be evaluated (pg. 54 and 
pg. 57) and we support this. 
 
The presence of so many alumni on faculty and in administrative positions (including the Chair and the Dean’s 
role) says a lot about the quality of training the program provides. Collaborative opportunities to schedule due 
dates, discuss the integration of key current themes into courses, attain scholarships for skilled but 
impoverished students, or develop learning opportunities for students in a pandemic may need to be done 
outside regular department meetings. Funding (retreat funds for example) should be made available for this.  
Lastly, we’d recommend the department consider a stronger mentorship model with industry representatives 
(perhaps, as suggested, in Co-op form) and a stronger, more formalized focus on teaching students how to use 
specialized machinery. 
 
CHAPTER 5: Quality of Services, Resources and Facilities 
 
The WSD facility, machinery, and student access are outstanding. The use of donated materials supports 
community connections between KPU and the industry. The KPU library supports are impressive, and the WSD 
on-site library is an excellent F&T-focused addition. Online resources at KPU’s library are good and the student 
guides for the subject are invaluable, especially for entry-level students needing to develop research skills.  
 
F&T students, unlike many KPU undergrads, are hoping to start meaningful work in their field after 4 years and 
this draws them to the F&T program which means that career services is especially important to them. We 
would like to see more support in career services (an employee with currency in Fashion, or annual career info 
sessions carefully prepared by a career services employee) or, bare minimum, an online career services-driven 
digital resource (including current postings) attached to the department’s webpage. It seems that F&T 
instructors are overly responsible for supporting student prospects vis-à-vis employment when that is not their 
area of specialization and when they are not being compensated for that extra work.  
 



         SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
            Fashion and Technology External Review Report 
 

September 2021  10 
 

Student counselling is also in need of more support with students saying counselling is overbooked / inaccessible 
when needed. That a peer mentorship support system has been established is great but it should be driven by 
choice and not by a dearth of institutional services. The faculty survey (54% either ‘dissatisfied’ or extremely 
dissatisfied’ and 45% ambivalent) demonstrates that the lack of counselling services impacts faculty who are, 
most likely, having to meet student needs in areas outside their specialization / training.  
 
Concluding comments 
 
This program does so much so well. What the WSD F&T program does in 4 years in terms of employment 
readiness is not unlike what other professional schools do with twice the class hours and narrower breadth 
requirements. It’s likely faculty are already implementing student concerns around sizing, cultural appropriation 
in the clothing industry, and readings on gender into their classroom teachings and one-on-one talks when 
appropriate. Ensuring these conversations are felt and heard by the program’s students as a whole would create 
a sense of dynamism and currency in the program and ensure students are equipped to be leaders in a changing 
industry engaging with very serious moral questions. This is not to relegate intrinsic aspects of the Fashion 
industry to ‘side conversations’ or ‘side courses’ such as Masters classes or CPS, but a recognition that the tech 
skills required to graduate students take up a significant part of the curriculum. We admired that the program 
keeps evolving along with the fashion industry itself! The dedication and flexibility of the faculty, the esteemed 
alumni and industry partnerships, and the practicum work experiences all ensure career preparedness. 
Nurturing creativity while providing a rigorous foundation in technical skills must be integrated with the 
challenges and opportunities these future fashion professionals will face (inherited broken systems, 
environmental and social concerns, gender and cultural appropriation, size inclusivity etc.).  Ensuring (and 
marketing) KPU F&T’s industry-inspired curriculum – one that reflects the latest trends, technology and skills 
while continuing to evolve and respond to changes in the field – will ensure WSD F&T students are well 
equipped to succeed in the 21st century global fashion economy. While the focus on admitting 22 students a 
year and establishing a cohort (and trying to nurture that cohort through four years) is inspiring we suggest, 
again, revisiting the class-size / intake model of the program. How can F&T become a major destination and 
serve larger numbers of students? Perhaps by promoting the diploma program as a destination whilst still 
recruiting and retaining degree-focused students? And perhaps by attempting to market to, and serve, mature 
students with technology skills in gaining accreditation and industry knowledge?  
On the whole we found our time spent thinking about this program inspiring. It is – and should be – a flagship 
program at a polytechnic like KPU, and hopefully the institution will support F&T to grow and expand and gain a 
national reputation equal to that of Ryerson’s, and an international reputation too. 
 
 
 
 
 



         SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
            Fashion and Technology External Review Report 
 

September 2021  11 
 

Opportunities  
Mentorship program with year 3/4 students and year 1/2 
Increase awareness and non-credit introduction or prep course offerings in the WSD, perhaps in a virtual 
platform as well 
Additional competition within the program and between the students. 
Flexibility for online teaching  
Appetite for creativity - Graduates – urge for more creative design time/time to play  
Additional funding for support  
Highlight graduates and future career opportunities in Vancouver area 
 
Threats  
Shrinking cohorts/student body  
Challenging for the program to only have one cohort.   
Lack of awareness across Canada 
 

 

The program does so much. This is not to relegate intrinsic aspects of the Fash industry to ‘side courses’ such as 
Masters classes or CP. or but a recognition that the Tech skills required to graduate 
students take up a significant part of the curriculum. What the WSD F&T program does 
in 4 years in terms of employment readiness is not unlike what other professional 
schools do with twice the class hours and narrower breadth requirements. It’s likely 
faculty are already implementing student concerns around sizing, cultural appropriation 
in clothing industry, readings on gender into their classroom teachings and one-on-one 
talks when appropriate. Ensuring these conversations are felt and heard by the 
program’s students as a whole would create a sense of dynamism and currency in the 
program and ensure students are equipped to be leaders in a changing industry 
engaging with very serious moral questions.  

While the KPU F&T program is completive from a curriculum perspective to other degree programs, there may 
be benefits to the small cohorts and class sizes – benefits that can be used as marketing tools or tactics. The 
ability to take fashion marketing courses as electives is also beneficial and further development with Business 
Entrepreneurial Leadership will be an asset to those looking to gain business knowledge or work as in 
independent (pg. 22). There are positive links to access local Vancouver businesses and alumni employment 
opportunities and donating their time, industry knowledge and mentorship (pg. 12-13).  

 

There is an opportunity to expand the social presence (pg.17) and create a unique value proposition for WSD 
F&T program, to make it a destination and resource for exploration inspiration and aspiration. 

 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
           Reviewers’ Comments: External Review Report 
 

1 
 

  
 

REPORT: Fashion and Technology External Review Report 
 

OVERALL ASSESSMENT:  
Please provide a brief assessment of the External Review Report under review and an overall recommendation. 
 
Reviewer #1: This report reflects the earlier reports from Fashion and Technology. It is balanced and looks at 
both strengths and weaknesses. The report is favourable and gives guidance regarding future development. 
The conclusions are supported by data and on-site findings.  
 
Reviewer #2: The ERT provides an exceptionally thoughtful, earnest and detailed assessment and should be 
approved as-is. 
 
The Report:  

☒     Reviewer #1 & #2:  Recommend for approval by the SSCPR as is 
☐     Recommend for approval by the SSCPR pending suggested actions (see below) 
☐     Recommend for rejection by the SSCPR 

 
 
MAJOR ISSUES AND SUGGESTED ACTIONS:  
While External Review Reports are not returned to the External Review Team for revisions, Reports may contain 
major issues which the SSCPR should address. These issues could include (but are not limited to): a) 
recommendations that go beyond the scope of program review; b) names or other identity information.  
 
Complete the table below ONLY if you have identified major issues in the Report. Identify actions the SSCPR 
should take to address these issues. Suggested actions could include (but are not limited to): a) redacting names 
or other identity information; b) providing an SSCPR Response that provides the External Review Team’s 
recommendations in context. Add or remove rows in the table below as needed. 
 

Issue Suggested Action for the SSCPR 
  

  

 
MINOR EDITS (Spelling, syntax, word choice and other mechanical issues). 
Please list corresponding page numbers. Minor edits are NOT discussed at the SSCPR meeting. Add or remove 
rows as needed. 

Minor Edits (page #) 

A series of notes on the final page were (likely) inadvertently included. The text mirrors language in the main 
body so I infer these are jottings used to write the actual report. 

 



SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW  
  Agenda Item: 5.2 

Meeting Date: November 24, 2021 
Presenter: Amanda Bickell, Stephanie Howes 

 1 / 1 

 
Agenda Item Entrepreneurial Leadership Second Annual Follow-Up Report 
  

Action Requested Motion 

  

Recommended 
Resolution 

THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review accept the 
Entrepreneurial Leadership Second Annual Follow-Up Report as 
attached.  

  
Senate Standing 
Committee Report For Senate Office Use Only   
  
  

Attachments ENTR Second Annual Follow-Up Report 
  

Submitted by Melike Kinik-Dicleli, Manager of Quality Assurance 

Date submitted November 4, 2021 
 



Page 1 

BBA in Entrepreneurial Leadership Second Annual Follow-Up Report 
 

KPU BBA in Entrepreneurial Leadership Second Annual Follow-Up Report   

Date Self-Study Report approved by SSCPR: April 25, 2018 

Date of External Review Site Visit: July 9, 2018 

Date Quality Assurance Plan approved by SSCPR: May 29, 2019 

Date Annual Follow-Up Report submitted:       October 7 2020              

Date 2nd Annual Follow-Up Report submitted:       November 3, 2021             

 
First Progress Report  
Over the past 18 months the ENTR program has gone through several changes including a change to the program leadership (Chair) and quickly adapting to the online / virtual teaching environment 
due to COVID. In addition to the leadership changes and the rapid adaptation to the virtual learning environment, several facilitation challenges have been faced as the ENTR group is not a formal 
department, and as a result, does not have the same access, privileges, and prioritization as other departments in the school.  As a result of the aforementioned factors, several “complete” dates have 
adjusted with firm plans in place to support the finalization and implementation of the ENTR program renewal. 

 
Second Progress Report 
Significant progress has been made by the team of faculty members who have chosen to dedicate their efforts to the renewal of the ENTR program. The revised program has been successfully launched 
in Fall of 2021 as planned and enrollment figures are promising. At the start of the fall term ENTR courses had an 84.7% fill rate and the new program courses offered at the 1000 and 2000 levels 
averaged a 90% fill rate showing interest in the revised program is solid, and improvements are achieving intended outcomes. 

The faculty team still remains an ad-hoc group, and not an official department. This continues to create difficulties in accessing PD funds, securing volunteers for accountable time and service work 
related to the program, and in conducting searches for new faculty members. However, there are now 6 full-time regular faculty members who are officially coded as ENTR faculty and steps to make 
ENTR an official department have been committed to by the Melville School of Business Dean’s office. 

The 3 year term of the current program Chair comes to an end on April 30, 2021. Elections for a new chair will be held this fall to allow for a smooth transition in leadership. 

  
  



Page 2 

BBA in Entrepreneurial Leadership Second Annual Follow-Up Report 
 

KPU BBA in Entrepreneurial Leadership Second Annual Follow-Up Report   

MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGAN: February, 2019 
 
STRATEGY 1: Redefine the program’s value proposition, tapping on the Program’s “North Star”. Consequently, devise a market plan with a concise message to communicate the Program’s value 
proposition to stakeholders. This message will include rebranding and possibly a name change. 

GOAL(S) THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Define and communicate a clear, strong, and unique value proposition for the program. & Update course offerings to match the program’s unique value proposition 
and the need to intensify connections with industry, while increasing the likelihood of student success during the program 

 
Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led by Start on 

(M/YY) 
Complete  
By (M/YY) 

Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Conduct an online discussion about the 
program’s unique value proposition. Amanda 

Bickell April 2019 May 2019 
COMPLETE 

Completed with a presentation developed and delivered to the Dean’s office in Fall 2019. The 
presentation was well received. 

 
Host a one-day, facilitated workshop to coin 
and solidify the program’s unique value 
proposition and message. 

Amanda 
Bickell May 2019 

May 2019 
Summer 2020 

COMPLETE 

Multiple development workshops held with T&L and ENTR teaching teams from Fall 2019 – 
Summer 2020 

• Included topics such as assessing the current state of the program and doing deep dives 
into specific courses (including ENTR led BEF courses), and implementing incremental 
improvements to address immediate pain points 

• Included blue-sky discussions around the program learning objectives (PLOs) and how to 
shape them in a way to capture the spirit of the original 1998 PLOs while allowing for the 
modernization of pedagogy 

• ENTR Faculty developed multiple student personas to support the alignment (and testing 
of) of the revised PLOs 

Develop a marketing plan to communicate the 
program’s value proposition and unique 
message 

ENTR 
Practicum 

Team 
June 2019 

Dec 2019 
May 2021 

CANCELLED 

ENTR student practicum team will be developing a strategic plan to be developed and 
implemented Jan 2021. This will support the development and implementation of a marketing 
plan that captures the spirit and value proposition of the renewed program. 
 
UPDATE: The ENTR student practicum team produced an insightful strategic report identifying 
challenges with managing and engaging faculty, development of an organizational culture for 
faculty and students in the program, as well as suggestions for promotion of the program. In 
particular they gave important insights into the student journey and decision making regarding 
study at KPU from the initial consideration to attend KPU, through to graduation. A copy of this 
report was distributed to all ENTR faculty and to the Dean and program AD. 



Page 3 

BBA in Entrepreneurial Leadership Second Annual Follow-Up Report 
 

KPU BBA in Entrepreneurial Leadership Second Annual Follow-Up Report   

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led by Start on 
(M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) 

Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Students from this team attending faculty meetings throughout the Fall of 2020 and participated 
in collaboration and appreciative inquiry sessions that ultimately shaped the program proposal 
that came before Senate.  
 
Some specific, and fundamental promotion items have been completed. In Spring of 2021 an 
information session was coordinated and recorded in conjunction with New Students. The Chair 
was invited to speak at the KPU Advisors meeting in February 2021 to explain the program and 
promote elective options. The program faculty continue to participate in KPU wide promotion 
events when invited.  
 
No formal marketing efforts specific to the ENTR program are planned. 
 
It was explained to the program faculty that funding for promotion within the Melville School of 
Business was reduced below what had been originally expected when a promotional plan for the 
program was originally conceived. These cuts, combined with the pivot to promote the 
rebranding and naming of the School of Business, to the Melville School of Business, meant that 
resources ear-marked for specific promotion of the ENTR program were re-purposed. 
 
Program faculty have been working at a “grass-roots” level to promote the program through 
their own personal industry connections, their own social media, and in their classes. 
With no resources to support a promotional campaign, none has been created.  

 
  



Page 4 

BBA in Entrepreneurial Leadership Second Annual Follow-Up Report 
 

KPU BBA in Entrepreneurial Leadership Second Annual Follow-Up Report   

STRATEGY 2: Expand, diversify, and strengthen connections with industry and communities KPU serve. 
 

GOAL(S) THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Strengthen connection with industry and surrounding communities & Enhance faculty and student membership and engagement within the program’s activities 
 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led by Start on 
(M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Seek connections and collaboration with 
industry associations (e.g., Surrey Board of 
Trade, BCTECH). 

Amanda 
Bickell / 

Katherine 
Carpenter 

March 2019 

Sept 2019 
September 

2021 
ONGOING 

Several meetings and ongoing internal promotion with KPU senate / other schools as well 
as with other departments in the SoB (the ENTR teaching team has several representatives 
from other departments). 
 
These efforts are ongoing. 
 
UPDATE: The COVID environment has meant that opportunities for networking etc., found 
traditionally through attending industry events, have been very limited. Faculty continue to 
work with their personal industry connections to bring guest speakers to classes, build case 
studies from local business and so on. 
 
Talks have been underway with the City of Richmond, KPU’s Office of AVP, Research, 
Innovation & Grad Studies, and Org Campus & Community Planning, to involve ENTR 
students and faculty in a community event to be held in 2022. This project has proven to be 
beyond the scope of the ad-hoc faculty team and has expanded to include more programs 
from the Melville School of Business. It is now being coordinated through the AD for the 
ENTR Program. 
 

Seek connections and collaboration with 
entities, public and private, promoting 
innovation and entrepreneurship (e.g., 
Innovate BC, Startup Vancouver, 
Futurepreneur). 

Amanda 
Bickell March 2019 

September 
2021 

ONGOING 

Several faculty members who teach in ENTR have ongoing connections and are continuing 
to support innovative programs such as the Future Business Leaders and Case 
Competitions. 
 
UPDATE: This work has continued throughout the year and will be ongoing. 
 



Page 5 

BBA in Entrepreneurial Leadership Second Annual Follow-Up Report 
 

KPU BBA in Entrepreneurial Leadership Second Annual Follow-Up Report   

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led by Start on 
(M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Resume and revitalize the ENTR club to 
promote engagement of students and 
networking with KPU Friends3. Faculty 

Member- 
Carlos 

April 2019 August 2021 
ONGOING 

The KPU CAN group has created a network to help KPU perform better at Case competitions 
provincially and nationally for ENTR and across BBAs and improve recognition of the school.  
 
These efforts are ongoing. 
 
UPDATE: The KPU CAN continues to be active in hosting events for students. More progress 
on this is expected with a broader return to campus expected in 2022. 
 

Reignite and intensify collaboration with the 
Program’s Advisory (PA) board. 

Stephanie 
Howes April 2019 June 2021 

COMPLETE 

To date, ENTR has not had a PAB as it is not technically a department; consequently, the 
BUSI PAB has served as the PAB for ENTR.  
 
There is a desire to have a separate PAB, but this is still something to be worked on. 
 
UPDATE: The Dean of the Melville School of Business has collected recommended members 
for an ENTR PAB from ENTR faculty, sent invitations and scheduled the first ENTR PAB 
meeting to be held in February of 2022. 
 

Establish a yearly event to promote 
networking between students, faculty, 
and KPU Friends. 

Faculty 
Member - 

TBC 
Nov 2019 

Yearly 
Starting in 
September 

2021/22 
POSTPONED 

Not appropriate during COVID and the current focus is on the program improvements.  
 
This will be implemented once the program renewal has been approved and this event can 
be part of the renewed program marketing plan. 
 
UPDATE: COVID continues to curtail interest from both faculty and students for on-campus 
events. Funding for such an event would also have to be secured and has not been 
allocated at this time. This remains a possibility for the future. 
 

 
  



Page 6 

BBA in Entrepreneurial Leadership Second Annual Follow-Up Report 
 

KPU BBA in Entrepreneurial Leadership Second Annual Follow-Up Report   

STRATEGY 3: Review and update all course offerings, beginning with the Year 4 courses in general and starting with the practicum course. 

GOAL(S) THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Update course offerings to match the program’s unique value proposition and the need to intensify connections with industry, while increasing the likelihood of 
student success during the program 

 
Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led by Start on 

(M/YY) 
Complete  
By (M/YY) 

Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Review and update ENTR4250 (Practicum) Practicum Roster 
Additional Faculty 
Member -Carlos 

 
May 2019 

 
Dec 2019 
Jan 2021 

COMPLETE 

The proposed changes, as part of the program renewal, includes improving the scaffolding of 
entrepreneurial opportunity identification and implementation throughout the program, as 
well as reducing the practicum to a three (3) credit course focused on solving client 
challenges using entrepreneurial innovation.  
 
This is to be approved as part of the proposed program changes. 
 
UPDATE: This is complete and the revised course was offered for the first time in Fall of 2021. 
 

Review and update course offerings Course Mentors 
Additional        

Faculty - Several 

 
May 2019 

 
Dec 2019 
Jan 2021 

COMPLETE 

The course review and updated course offerings are under development with proposed 
program changes to be reviewed and approved by the Senate Committee. These are going to 
the School of Business Curriculum Committee in November. 
 
At the time of this report, the course changes have been identified with revised course 
outlines; these will be attached to form D7 as part of the approval process with the 
expectation the course content will be developed between January 2021 – December 2021 
by ENTR faculty during their non-teaching terms. 
 
UPDATE: This is complete and the revised courses were offered for the first time in Fall of 
2021. 
 

Study the alignment of the Business Education 
Framework (BEF)courses in consideration of 
specific learning outcome needs of the 
program. Explore the development of 
program-specific foundational courses. 

 
 

Amanda Bickell / 
Katherine 
Carpenter 

 
 

May 2019 

 
 

Dec 2019 
September 

2020 
COMPLETE 

The BEF PLO and CLO alignment has been evaluated and as a result, the program renewal 
does not have any proposed changes to either the BEF or the elective course requirements. 
 
All proposed changes are ENTR-course focused to improve program scaffolding, modernize 
pedagogy, and appeal to a broader audience. 
 



Page 7 

BBA in Entrepreneurial Leadership Second Annual Follow-Up Report 
 

KPU BBA in Entrepreneurial Leadership Second Annual Follow-Up Report   

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led by Start on 
(M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) 

Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

The revised ENTR PLO/CLOs are well aligned to the BEF CLOs, and the proposed 
improvements will better serve not only the students, but also KPU as a community. 
 
UPDATE: This is complete and the revised courses were offered for the first time in Fall of 
2021. 

 
STRATEGY 4: Consolidate the Entrepreneurial Leadership Department. 

 
GOAL(S) THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Define and communicate a clear, strong, and unique value proposition for the program & Enhance faculty and student membership and engagement within the 
program’s activities & Seek and improve collaboration with other departments within the School of Business and other KPU divisions 
 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led by Start on 
(M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) 

Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Explore the development of a post 
baccalaureate or graduate program in 
Innovation and Entrepreneurship. Dean’s Office May 2019 COMPLETE 

The ENTR program is no longer looking at post-grad programs as renewing the undergrad 
program is the priority. 
 
Once the program is renewed the ENTR program can look at potential micro-credentialing 
opportunities. 

Conduct Feasibility Study on the idea of re-
launching the Program as specialty program or 
a BBA Honours Program. Dean’s Office 

 
May 2019 COMPLETE 

The ENTR program is not going to launch as an honours program at this time as the focus is 
on improving the undergraduate program. 
 
Once the ENTR program sees success from the renewal process, the benefits of a potential 
honours program can be assessed. 
 

Collaborate with the Dean’s Office on a 
feasibility study about the implementation 
of an Entrepreneurial Leadership 
Department. 

Amanda Bickell / 
Katherine Carpenter April 2020 COMPLETE 

The Dean’s office has given conditional support to establish an official ENTR department on 
the condition the new program is launched and is successful. 
 
UPDATE: As noted above, the process to formalize the ENTR Department has begun in the 
Dean’s office. 

 
 

 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
         Reviewers’ Comments: Annual Follow-Up Report 
 

1 
 

 PROGRAM UNDER REVIEW:  BBA in Entrepreneurial Leadership Second Annual Follow-Up 

Instructions for Reviewers 
Your assessment should ensure that progress on the Goals and Planned Actions is clearly articulated. If no progress has 
occurred on a Goal and/or Planned Action, please ensure that a clear rationale has been provided. 
 

OVERALL ASSESSMENT:  
Please provide a brief assessment of the Annual Follow-Up Report under review and an overall 
recommendation. 
 
Reviewer #1: The required steps presented in the Follow Up Report are generally either completed or a 
genuine effort has been made to complete them. The cancellation of the “marketing plan to communicate the 
program’s value proposition” as well as the annual networking promotion appear to have resulted from a 
reduction of funding and pandemic safety reasons.  Since the enhancement of the undergrad program is the 
current priority, the ENTR program is no longer considering post-grad or honours programs. It is not clear if 
the current level of “grass root” networking efforts of the faculty involved in the program delivery is sufficient 
to revitalize the undergraduate program and if more aggressive marketing efforts are recommended when 
the funding becomes available.   
  
Reviewer #2: Congratulations to the team for significant progress made this year, in spite of COVID-related 
impediments. Noteworthy accomplishments include: first-time offerings of revised courses this Fall; Dean’s 
office starting the process to formalize an ENTR department; establishing an ENTR PAB/PAC, with its first 
meeting set for February 2022. The fill rates this past Fall semester are highly encouraging, and indicative of 
the hard work to date with program revision! 
 
While some steps have been noted as ‘ongoing and/or postponed,’ clear reasoning and updates have been 
provided. 
 
It is unfortunate that there are no funds available to support a formal promotional plan for the program (see 
P.2+3, CANCELLED), however, the team has clearly listed other promotional activities that have/will take place 
(e.g. information session, KPU Advisors talk, presence at university-wide events), in addition to other grass-
roots-level promotion. Another suggestion to consider is to reach out to the Career Development Centre for 
potential avenues to further support program promotion, especially given the its Co-op component.  
 
 
The Report (click on the box that corresponds to your recommendation):  
 

☒          Reviewer #1: Recommend for approval by the SSCPR as is 
☒          Reviewer #2: Recommend for approval by the SSCPR pending suggested actions (see below) * 
minor  
☐          Recommend for rejection by the SSCPR 

 
 
  



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
         Reviewers’ Comments: Annual Follow-Up Report 
 

2 
 

MAJOR ISSUES AND SUGGESTED ACTIONS:  
Complete this section ONLY if you have identified the following major issues with the Annual Follow-Up: 

a) Progress to date is unclear. 
b) No clear rationale has been provided for why no progress has occurred. 

 
Issue (page #) Suggested Action 
Clarification re: P.1 – did the program chair term end 
this past April 2021 (as indicated in report), or will it 
end in 2022? Has the election already taken place this 
Fall, to allow for the ‘smooth transition?’ 

Amend date/year, if needed. 

marketing plan – page 2 Please, indicate if there is still a need for a marketing 
plan and whether re-launching of such effort will be 
beneficial if/when funding becomes available. 

P.4 Strategy 2, Step 2 – update states ‘this work has 
continued throughout the year” 

Provide examples of further connections made over 
the past year, if possible. 

 
MINOR EDITS (Spelling, syntax, word choice and other mechanical issues). 
Please list corresponding page numbers. Minor edits are NOT discussed at the SSCPR meeting. Add or remove 
rows as needed. 

Minor Edits (page #) 

Page 5: The Dean of the Melville School of Business has collected recommended members for an ENTR PAB 
from ENTR faculty, sent invitations and scheduled the first ENTR PAB meeting to be held in February of 2022. 

 



Page 1 

BBA in Entrepreneurial Leadership Annual Follow-Up Report 
 

KPU BBA in Entrepreneurial Leadership Annual Follow-Up Report  

  

Date Self-Study Report approved by SSCPR: April 25, 2018 

Date of External Review Site Visit: July 9, 2018 

Date Quality Assurance Plan approved by SSCPR: May 29, 2019 

Date Annual Follow-Up Report submitted:       October 7 2020              

Date 2nd Annual Follow-Up Report submitted:       November 3, 2021             

First Progress Report  
Over the past 18 months the ENTR program has gone through several changes including a change to the program leadership (Chair) and quickly adapting to the online / virtual teaching environment 
due to COVID. In addition to the leadership changes and the rapid adaptation to the virtual learning environment, several facilitation challenges have been faced as the ENTR group is not a formal 
department, and as a result, does not have the same access, privileges, and prioritization as other departments in the school.  As a result of the aforementioned factors, several “complete” dates have 
adjusted with firm plans in place to support the finalization and implementation of the ENTR program renewal. 

Second Progress Report 
Significant progress has been made by the team of faculty members who have chosen to dedicate their efforts to the renewal of the ENTR program. The revised program has been successfully launched 
in Fall of 2021 as planned and enrollment figures are promising. At the start of the fall term ENTR courses had an 84.7% fill rate and the new program courses offered at the 1000 and 2000 levels 
averaged a 90% fill rate showing interest in the revised program is solid, and improvements are achieving intended outcomes. 

The faculty team still remains an ad-hoc group, and not an official department. This continues to create difficulties in accessing PD funds, securing volunteers for accountable time and service work 
related to the program, and in conducting searches for new faculty members. However, there are now 6 full-time regular faculty members who are officially coded as ENTR faculty and steps to make 
ENTR an official department have been committed to by the Melville School of Business Dean’s office. 

The 3 year term of the current program Chair comes to an end on April 30, 2022. Elections for a new chair will be held this fall to allow for a smooth transition in leadership. 

  

MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGAN: February, 2019 
 

  



Page 2 

BBA in Entrepreneurial Leadership Annual Follow-Up Report 
 

KPU BBA in Entrepreneurial Leadership Annual Follow-Up Report  

STRATEGY 1: Redefine the program’s value proposition, tapping on the Program’s “North Star”. Consequently, devise a market plan with a concise message to communicate the Program’s value 
proposition to stakeholders. This message will include rebranding and possibly a name change. 

GOAL(S) THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Define and communicate a clear, strong, and unique value proposition for the program. & Update course offerings to match the program’s unique value proposition 
and the need to intensify connections with industry, while increasing the likelihood of student success during the program 

 
Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led by Start on 

(M/YY) 
Complete  
By (M/YY) 

Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Conduct an online discussion about the 
program’s unique value proposition. Amanda Bickell April 2019 May 2019 

COMPLETE 

Completed with a presentation developed and delivered to the Dean’s office in Fall 2019. The 
presentation was well received. 

 
Host a one-day, facilitated workshop to coin 
and solidify the program’s unique value 
proposition and message. 

Amanda Bickell May 2019 
May 2019 

Summer 2020 
COMPLETE 

Multiple development workshops held with T&L and ENTR teaching teams from Fall 2019 – 
Summer 2020 

• Included topics such as assessing the current state of the program and doing deep 
dives into specific courses (including ENTR led BEF courses), and implementing 
incremental improvements to address immediate pain points 

• Included blue-sky discussions around the program learning objectives (PLOs) and how 
to shape them in a way to capture the spirit of the original 1998 PLOs while allowing 
for the modernization of pedagogy 

• ENTR Faculty developed multiple student personas to support the alignment (and 
testing of) of the revised PLOs 

Develop a marketing plan to communicate the 
program’s value proposition and unique 
message 

ENTR Practicum 
Team June 2019 

Dec 2019 
May 2021 

CANCELLED 

ENTR student practicum team will be developing a strategic plan to be developed and 
implemented Jan 2021. This will support the development and implementation of a 
marketing plan that captures the spirit and value proposition of the renewed program. 
 
UPDATE: The ENTR student practicum team produced an insightful strategic report 
identifying challenges with managing and engaging faculty, development of an organizational 
culture for faculty and students in the program, as well as suggestions for promotion of the 
program. In particular they gave important insights into the student journey and decision 
making regarding study at KPU from the initial consideration to attend KPU, through to 
graduation. A copy of this report was distributed to all ENTR faculty and to the Dean and 
program AD. 
 
Students from this team attending faculty meetings throughout the Fall of 2020 and 
participated in collaboration and appreciative inquiry sessions that ultimately shaped the 



Page 3 

BBA in Entrepreneurial Leadership Annual Follow-Up Report 
 

KPU BBA in Entrepreneurial Leadership Annual Follow-Up Report  

program proposal that came before Senate.  
 
Some specific, and fundamental promotion items have been completed. In Spring of 2021 an 
information session was coordinated and recorded in conjunction with New Students. The 
Chair was invited to speak at the KPU Advisors meeting in February 2021 to explain the 
program and promote elective options. The program faculty continue to participate in KPU 
wide promotion events when invited.  
 
No formal marketing efforts specific to the ENTR program are planned. 
 
It was explained to the program faculty that funding for promotion within the Melville School 
of Business was reduced below what had been originally expected when a promotional plan 
for the program was originally conceived. These cuts, combined with the pivot to promote 
the rebranding and naming of the School of Business, to the Melville School of Business, 
meant that resources ear-marked for specific promotion of the ENTR program were re-
purposed. 
 
Program faculty have been working at a “grass-roots” level to promote the program through 
their own personal industry connections, their own social media, and in their classes. 
 
With no resources to support a promotional campaign, none has been created. Should funds 
become available, the faculty team would welcome an opportunity to revisit this initiative 
and believe that program enrolment will suffer without the ability to widely promote and 
inform regarding the program revisions. 

 
  



Page 4 

BBA in Entrepreneurial Leadership Annual Follow-Up Report 
 

KPU BBA in Entrepreneurial Leadership Annual Follow-Up Report  

STRATEGY 2: Expand, diversify, and strengthen connections with industry and communities KPU serve. 
 

GOAL(S) THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Strengthen connection with industry and surrounding communities & Enhance faculty and student membership and engagement within the program’s activities 
 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led by Start on 
(M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Seek connections and collaboration with 
industry associations (e.g., Surrey Board of 
Trade, BCTECH). 

Amanda Bickell / 
Katherine 
Carpenter 

March 2019 

Sept 2019 
September 

2021 
ONGOING 

Several meetings and ongoing internal promotion with KPU senate / other schools as well 
as with other departments in the SoB (the ENTR teaching team has several representatives 
from other departments). 
 
These efforts are ongoing. 
 
UPDATE: The COVID environment has meant that opportunities for networking etc., found 
traditionally through attending industry events, have been very limited. Faculty continue 
to work with their personal industry connections to bring guest speakers to classes, build 
case studies from local business and so on. 
 
Talks have been underway with the City of Richmond, KPU’s Office of AVP, Research, 
Innovation & Grad Studies, and Org Campus & Community Planning, to involve ENTR 
students and faculty in a community event to be held in 2022. This project has proven to 
be beyond the scope of the ad-hoc faculty team and has expanded to include more 
programs from the Melville School of Business. It is now being coordinated through the 
AD for the ENTR Program. 
 

Seek connections and collaboration with 
entities, public and private, promoting 
innovation and entrepreneurship (e.g., 
Innovate BC, Startup Vancouver, 
Futurepreneur). Amanda Bickell March 2019 

September 
2021 

ONGOING 

Several faculty members who teach in ENTR have ongoing connections and are continuing 
to support innovative programs such as the Future Business Leaders and Case 
Competitions. 
 
UPDATE: This work has continued throughout the year and will be ongoing. 
 
An agreement has been made with YELL Canada https://yellcanada.org/ to provide course 
credit in the ENTR BBA for students who have completed the YELL program in secondary 
school.  

https://yellcanada.org/


Page 5 

BBA in Entrepreneurial Leadership Annual Follow-Up Report 
 

KPU BBA in Entrepreneurial Leadership Annual Follow-Up Report  

Resume and revitalize the ENTR club to 
promote engagement of students and 
networking with KPU Friends3. 

Faculty Member- 
Carlos April 2019 August 2021 

ONGOING 

The KPU CAN group has created a network to help KPU perform better at Case 
competitions provincially and nationally for ENTR and across BBAs and improve 
recognition of the school.  
 
These efforts are ongoing. 
 
UPDATE: The KPU CAN continues to be active in hosting events for students. More 
progress on this is expected with a broader return to campus expected in 2022. 

Reignite and intensify collaboration with the 
Program’s Advisory (PA) board. 

Stephanie Howes April 2019 June 2021 
COMPLETE 

To date, ENTR has not had a PAB as it is not technically a department; consequently, the 
BUSI PAB has served as the PAB for ENTR.  
 
There is a desire to have a separate PAB, but this is still something to be worked on. 
 
UPDATE: The Dean of the Melville School of Business has recommended members for an 
ENTR PAB from ENTR faculty, sent invitations and scheduled the first ENTR PAB meeting to 
be held in February of 2022. 
 

Establish a yearly event to promote 
networking between students, faculty, 
and KPU Friends. 

Faculty Member - 
TBC Nov 2019 

Yearly 
Starting in 
September 

2021/22 
POSTPONED 

Not appropriate during COVID and the current focus is on the program improvements.  
 
This will be implemented once the program renewal has been approved and this event 
can be part of the renewed program marketing plan. 
 
UPDATE: COVID continues to curtail interest from both faculty and students for on-
campus events. Funding for such an event would also have to be secured and has not 
been allocated at this time. This remains a possibility for the future. 
 

 
  



Page 6 

BBA in Entrepreneurial Leadership Annual Follow-Up Report 
 

KPU BBA in Entrepreneurial Leadership Annual Follow-Up Report  

 
 
STRATEGY 3: Review and update all course offerings, beginning with the Year 4 courses in general and starting with the practicum course. 

GOAL(S) THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Update course offerings to match the program’s unique value proposition and the need to intensify connections with industry, while increasing the likelihood of 
student success during the program 

 
Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led by Start on 

(M/YY) 
Complete  
By (M/YY) 

Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Review and update ENTR4250 (Practicum) Practicum Roster 
Additional Faculty 
Member -Carlos 

 
May 2019 

 
Dec 2019 
Jan 2021 

COMPLETE 

The proposed changes, as part of the program renewal, includes improving the scaffolding of 
entrepreneurial opportunity identification and implementation throughout the program, as 
well as reducing the practicum to a three (3) credit course focused on solving client 
challenges using entrepreneurial innovation.  
 
This is to be approved as part of the proposed program changes. 
 
UPDATE: This is complete and the revised course was offered for the first time in Fall of 2021. 
 

Review and update course offerings Course Mentors 
Additional        

Faculty - Several 

 
May 2019 

 
Dec 2019 
Jan 2021 

COMPLETE 

The course review and updated course offerings are under development with proposed 
program changes to be reviewed and approved by the Senate Committee. These are going to 
the School of Business Curriculum Committee in November. 
 
At the time of this report, the course changes have been identified with revised course 
outlines; these will be attached to form D7 as part of the approval process with the 
expectation the course content will be developed between January 2021 – December 2021 
by ENTR faculty during their non-teaching terms. 
 
UPDATE: This is complete and the revised courses were offered for the first time in Fall of 
2021. 
 
 

Study the alignment of the Business Education 
Framework (BEF)courses in consideration of 
specific learning outcome needs of the 
program. Explore the development of 
program-specific foundational courses. 

 
 

Amanda Bickell / 
Katherine 
Carpenter 

 
 

May 2019 

 
 

Dec 2019 
September 

2020 

The BEF PLO and CLO alignment has been evaluated and as a result, the program renewal 
does not have any proposed changes to either the BEF or the elective course requirements. 
 
All proposed changes are ENTR-course focused to improve program scaffolding, modernize 
pedagogy, and appeal to a broader audience. 



Page 7 

BBA in Entrepreneurial Leadership Annual Follow-Up Report 
 

KPU BBA in Entrepreneurial Leadership Annual Follow-Up Report  

COMPLETE  
The revised ENTR PLO/CLOs are well aligned to the BEF CLOs, and the proposed 
improvements will better serve not only the students, but also KPU as a community. 
 
UPDATE: This is complete and the revised courses were offered for the first time in Fall of 
2021. 
 
 

 
 
STRATEGY 4: Consolidate the Entrepreneurial Leadership Department. 

 
GOAL(S) THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Define and communicate a clear, strong, and unique value proposition for the program & Enhance faculty and student membership and engagement within the 
program’s activities & Seek and improve collaboration with other departments within the School of Business and other KPU divisions 
 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led by Start on 
(M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) 

Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Explore the development of a post 
baccalaureate or graduate program in 
Innovation and Entrepreneurship. Dean’s Office May 2019 COMPLETE 

The ENTR program is no longer looking at post-grad programs as renewing the undergrad 
program is the priority. 
 
Once the program is renewed the ENTR program can look at potential micro-credentialing 
opportunities. 
 

Conduct Feasibility Study on the idea of re-
launching the Program as specialty program or 
a BBA Honours Program. Dean’s Office 

 
May 2019 COMPLETE 

The ENTR program is not going to launch as an honours program at this time as the focus is 
on improving the undergraduate program. 
 
Once the ENTR program sees success from the renewal process, the benefits of a potential 
honours program can be assessed. 
 

Collaborate with the Dean’s Office on a 
feasibility study about the implementation 
of an Entrepreneurial Leadership 
Department. 

Amanda Bickell / 
Katherine Carpenter April 2020 COMPLETE 

The Dean’s office has given conditional support to establish an official ENTR department on 
the condition the new program is launched and is successful. 
 
UPDATE: As noted above, the process to formalize the ENTR Department has begun in the 
Dean’s office. 

 



Page 8 

BBA in Entrepreneurial Leadership Annual Follow-Up Report 
 

KPU BBA in Entrepreneurial Leadership Annual Follow-Up Report  

 
 

 
 
 



SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW  
  Agenda Item: 5.3 

Meeting Date: November 24, 2021 
Presenter: Marla McMullen, Lesley McCannell, Stephanie Howes 

 1 / 1 

 
Agenda Item Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report 
  

Action Requested Motion 

  

Recommended 
Resolution 

THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review accept the 
Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report as 
attached.  

  
Senate Standing 
Committee Report For Senate Office Use Only   
  
  

Attachments 
Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report 

HRMT Follow-Up Report 2021 Presentation 
  

Submitted by Melike Kinik-Dicleli, Manager of Quality Assurance 

Date submitted November 4, 2021 
 



BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report                           Page 1  

 

Date Self-Study Report approved by SSCPR: June 21, 2017 

Date of External Review Site Visit : November 2, 2018 

Date Quality Assurance Plan approved by SSCPR: September 18, 2019 

Date First Annual Follow-Up Report approved: October 28, 2020 

Date Second Annual Follow-Up Report submitted: November 3, 2021 

Second Progress Report  
 

MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGAN: January 2019 

STRATEGY 1: Separate the PBHRMT from the BHRMT program. 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: GOAL 1: To separate the PBHRMT program from the BHRMT program. Redesign and relaunch the PBHRMT Diploma to meet student and 
market needs. 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on 
 (M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Investigate market needs Marla McMullen Oct 2017 Nov 2017 Completed 
Develop a program overview to share outside of the HRMT department Marla McMullen Sep 2018 Dec 2018 Completed 
Obtain time release to build new program Marla McMullen Mar 2019 May 2019 Completed  
Change Admission Requirements for Program Through Senate 

- Consultations and D7 form complete May 2019 
- SOB Curriculum Committee June 2019 
- SOB Faculty Council September 2019 
- SSCC October 2019 

Marla McMullen Apr 2019 Oct 2019 Completed 

Work with Josephine Chan to establish workflow and proposal requirements Marla McMullen May 2019 May 2019 Completed 
Document Redesign Program Proposal Marla McMullen May 2019 Aug 2019 Completed 



BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report                           Page 2  

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on 
 (M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Determine Budgetary Implications Marla McMullen   Completed 
Develop Individual Course Outlines Marla McMullen May 2019 Aug 2019 Completed 
Compete Consultations with SOB Dean,Provost,Faculty, 
Registrar,International Department, Library, Vice Chair of Senate and PUE (if a 
budgetary impact is surfaced) . 

Marla McMullen May 2019 Aug 2019 Completed 

SOB Faculty Curriculum Committee Marla McMullen Aug 2019 Sep 2019 Completed 
SOB Faculty Council Marla McMullen Sep 2019 Oct 2019 Completed 
SSCC Marla McMullen 

/Dean or 
Associate Dean 

Oct 2019 Nov 2019 
Completed 

SSCUB (if there is budgetary impact) Marla McMullen 
/Dean or 

Associate Dean 
Nov 2019 Dec 2019 

Completed 

Senate Marla McMullen 
/Dean or 

Associate Dean 
Dec 2019 Dec 2019 

Completed 

Board Governance Committee Marla McMullen 
/Dean or 

Associate Dean 
Jan 2020 Jan 2020 

Completed 

Board Finance Committee (if there is a budgetary impact) Marla McMullen 
/Dean or 

Associate Dean 
Jan 2020 Jan 2020 

Completed 

Board of Governors Marla McMullen 
/Dean or 

Associate Dean 
Feb 2020 Feb 2020 

Completed 

PSIPS (30 - day peer review process) Marla McMullen Feb 2020 Mar 2020 Completed – Program launch Spring 2021.  
Work with Learning Services and library team to determine a plan to support 
students out of Civic Plaza 
 
 

 

Co-Department 
Chairs 

Sep 2019 May 2021  

Completed and Ongoing.  
We have partnered with the SoB Student Success Coaches to 
support HRMT post Baccalaureate students – ongoing support is 
in place to support these students.  The Success Coaches are an 
invaluable part of our team and have been regularly scheduled 



BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report                           Page 3  

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on 
 (M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

to attend department meetings and offer suggestions to 
support student learning.  
 
We have also partnered with Business Librarians to attend 
classes each term to support students.  This support is key for 
all programs, in particular, it is invaluable for our Post 
Baccalaureate students who new to KPU and the Canadian 
educational context.   
 
HRMT is participating in the Advanced Language Support 
program supported by the School of Business.  In partnership 
with Joanna Daley, we have established a support process that 
will support written language development.   
 
Selected assignments in a course will be marked with a “Use of 
language” grade (as a percentage of total grade mark).  The 
program offered: 

· Multiple (or all) courses offer Language Support 
· Can be used at any stage of the program 
· Could be expanded to any number of courses and 

language support instructors 
· Dedicated Moodle site is available to track student 

which allows for continuity across courses, terms and 
language support instructor. 

 
An HRMT Post Baccalaureate student has also taken on the role 
of Peer Tutor for the HRMT Post Baccalaureate students.  We 
will continue to recruit to maintain strength and depth in this 
role on an ongoing basis. 
 



BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report                           Page 4  

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on 
 (M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Courses have been designed to integrate Learning Centre 
materials as a component of student success (i.e. Learning 
Centre Pressbooks have been integrated into learning material 
and the Learning Centre team has developed two asynchronous 
lessons for use in HRMT Post Baccalaureate course on an 
ongoing basis – this is currently being piloted in Fall 2021).  
Additional support from the Learning Centre would be valuable, 
however, in conversation with our Learning Centre support 
team, face to face/in class supports are limited as this team 
does don’t have the resources to support.   Asynchronous 
materials are valuable but do not seem to be as effective with 
our Post Baccalaureate population.  
 

Work with International Office regarding program and what support is 
needed from them 

Marla McMullen Sep 2019 Dec 2019 Completed  

Update Advising on course map, etc Marla McMullen Sep 2019 Dec 2019  Completed 
  



BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report                           Page 5  

STRATEGY 2: Establish an HRMT Program Advisory Committee. 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: GOAL 2: Establish a consistent and impactful connection with CPHR-BC/Y and industry stakeholders. 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) 

Complete by  
(M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Retrieve and review the KPU Advisory Committee Policy Judy Benevides Jan 2019 Feb 2019 Completed 
Review Terms of Intent and proposed member list that was put together by the 
HRMT Faculty a few years ago 

Judy Benevides Jan 2019 Feb 2019 Completed 

Consulted with Dean's Office for guidance and input on setting up this 
committee 

Judy Benevides Jan 2019 Feb 2019 Completed 

Review sample member lists and Terms of Reference from other departments Judy Benevides Feb 2019 Feb 2019 Completed 
Meet with HRMT Faculty to discuss setting up an Advisory Committee, its 
purpose, the policy, and the next steps 

Judy Benevides Feb 2019 Feb 2019 Completed 

Compile an updated list of proposed committee members consisting of 
Industry Professionals, Alumni,and current students (based on recent HRMR 
social and professional events) 

Judy Benevides Feb 2019 Feb 2019 Completed 

Circulate proposed list as well as the original proposed list to Faculty for input. Judy Benevides Feb 2019 Mar 2019 Completed 
Faculty to connect with potential Advisory Committee members Judy Benevides Mar 2019 Mar 2019 Completed 
Send list of potential Advisory Committee members to Admin Support to 
send out initiations. 

Judy Benevides Apr 2019 Apr 2019 Completed 

Faculty to update the Terms of Reference document in preparation for the 
first meeting of the Advisory Committee. 

Judy Benevides Apr 2019 Apr 2019 Completed 

First Advisory Committee Meeting Judy Benevides May 2019 Jul 2019 Completed 
Bi-annual Advisory Committee Meeting 

Dept. Chair and 
SoB Dean Dec 2019 Jan 2020 

Completed and ongoing  
 
Meetings planned twice a year depending on the scheduling 
needs of the committee.  The committee has proven to an 
invaluable resource for continuous program revitalization.    
  

  



BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report                           Page 6  

STRATEGY 3: Review Faculty instructional approach to ePortfolio learning to identify what's working and what needs to be adjusted to better align with learning outcomes. 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: GOAL 3: Increase consistency in instructional approaches to ePortfolio assignments across the Programs as well as improved communication to 
students with regards to their value proposition. 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) 

Complete by 
(M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Schedule a 3-hour department meeting to review the ePortfolio approach Lesley McCannell 

Sep 2019 Jan 2021  

Completed. 
 
The HRMT team has discussed the continued use of e-
portfolios in our program and have agreed that the e-portfolio 
approach will continue to be used and strengthened in the 
HRMT program.  To this end, the HRMT piloted and now has 
fully rolled out KPU’s new ePortfolio platform:  PebblePad.   
 
The HRMT program is bringing a program update (D7) through 
the Curricular process beginning in November 2021.  All 
courses will maintain an ePortfolio requirement.   
 
The scaffolding opportunity associated with ePortfolio learning 
is being addressed as part of ongoing continuous improvement 
efforts.    

Implement changes identified in review process Dept. Sep 2019 Jan 2020 Completed 
Prepare material/script to introduce ePortfolios to students Lesley McCannell Sep 2019 Jan 2020 Completed  
Distribute information to Faculty and ask them to share with their classes Lesley McCannell Sep 2019 Jan 2020 Completed  
Assess results Dept. Jan 2020 May 2021 See note above.  Will reassess following implementation of 

changes.   
Add ePortfolio assignment to Official Course Outlines for BHRMT and PBHMRT 
courses/Curr Comm Review 

Dept. May 2019 May 2021 Completed in both the BBA and HRMT Post Baccalaureate 
programs.  

 

 



BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report                           Page 7  

 

STRATEGY 4: Total Quality Improvement through the analysis of available strategic data to ensure student learning needs are being met (i.e. class sizes, multi/campus offerings, class day/time offerings, 
and available learning spaces (collaborative learning space or online offerings) 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: GOAL 4: Solidify and support a system of continuous improvement in all Programs and course offerings. 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) 

Complete by 
(M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Survey our customers to better understand their learning needs [This is a 
precursor to the other actions] 

KPU Institutional 
Analysis (OPA) Sep 2019 May 2022 

Incomplete.  New deadlines established as actions were 
delayed once based on available faculty resources and then 
because of COVID-19.   
 
New deadline advanced to May 2022 are Faculty is currently 
focused to creating high quality online learning experiences 
and to focus on meeting the needs of students.   

Analyze class sizes with a view to optimizing the learning in each Dept. Sep 2019 Complete Complete.  HRMT Capstone set at 25 students.  
Examine options for offering classes in various locations other than Surrey 
Campus Dept. Jan 2020 Deferred 

Only one section of HRMT courses are currently scheduled.   
With this in mind, we will continue Surrey campus scheduling 
and review the need for scheduling at other campuses when 
multiple sections of the same course are taught.  

Review the scheduling of HRMT classes and the preferences of our customers Dept. Jan 2020 Dec 2022 Need data from survey to complete – deadline date advanced 
to reflect changes in first step above. 

Examine opportunities for collaboration and other learning opportunities 
outside of the classroom Dept. Jan 2020 Dec 2022 Need data from survey to complete – deadline date advanced 

to reflect changes in first step above. 
Review, analyze data available via the BEF and PLOs for patterns and areas 
where "insufficient'' scores are more that 20% (this is just an example). 
Engage via a survey of students to identify specific issues/topics etc. which have 
caused the high level of "insufficient" scores 
Look at the course syllabus for potential additions (greater emphasis) on the 
issues identified in bullet point #2 above. 

Dept. Jan 2020 
Complete 

and 
Ongoing 

 
 
Completed through the BEF AA Committee process.  Reviewed 
by Department Chairs.  

  



BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report                           Page 8  

STRATEGY 5: Community Outreach 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: GOAL 2: Establish a consistent and impactful connection with CPHR-BC/Y and industry stakeholders. And GOAL 4: Solidify and support a system of 
continuous improvement in all Programs and course offerings. 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) 

Complete by 
(M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Faculty to coordinate with co-op Faculty to attend HRMT co-op student/client 
visits Dept. Sep 2019 Dec 2019 Task removed as new KPU Coop Structure does include Faculty 

visits.   
Create an HRMT Advisory Committee {refer to Strategy 2) Dept Chair and 

SoB Dean Jun 2019 Dec 2019 Completed 

Ensure there is a CPHR nominee on the Advisory Committee {refer to Strategy 2) Dept Chair and 
SoB Dean Jun 2019 Dec 2019 Completed (Quinne Davey) 

Create an HRMT Alumni Chapter 

David Harvey Sep 2019 Dec 2020 

Completed 
• Created an Alumni Chapter.  Paul Sahota (Graduated 

2013) is the President and Chair of the Chapter.  
Supported by Helen Hughes from Alumni Affairs. 
Initial meeting at City Centre Campus September 2019 

• 2nd Alumni Chapter at KPU  
 
• In addition, hosted inaugural KPU HRMT Alumni 

Conference in February 2020 with over 75 attendees.   
Ensure formal connections are in place between KHRA [student club] and CPHR 

David Harvey Sep 2019 Dec 2020 

Completed 
CPHR Student Ambassador serves as connection between the 
Student Club and CPHR.  The CPHR representative sits as an ex-
officio member on student club  
 
 

Formalize "faculty liaison" positions both to CPHR and to the Fraser Valley 
Advisory Committee of CPHR Dept. Sep 2019 Jan 2020 Completed 

David Harvey is the current HRMT Faculty liaison.  
Formalize a "faculty liaison" position to the Surrey Board of Trade Dept. Sep 2019 Jan 2020 Completed.   



BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report                           Page 9  

STRATEGY 6: Review and evaluation of HRMT 3105 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: GOAL 4: Solidify and support a system of continuous improvement in all Programs and course offerings. 

Note: HRMT 3105 was designed in 2015 to meet the CPHR Competency requirements. The possible Human Resources Information Systems (HRIS} partnership noted in the 2017 Self-Stud y Report that would assist in the further development of the 
course, did not materialize, and as a result it has been recognized by the Department that continued work needs to be done in the development of this course to better align with course learning outcomes and to ensure consistency in the delivery of 
material/coursework. 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) 

Complete by 
(M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Departmental review of 3105 curriculum and course structure. 
Kristan Ash/ 

Duane Radcliffe 
Sep 2018 Dec 2018 

Completed review of assignments, student support and student 
success rates. Additional resources added to the student 
learning center to support advanced Excel skills. 

Consult with Industry Advisory Committee regarding the current trends in 
HRIS and the value of Application specific skills in industry. 

• Specifically looking at the HRIS/E-HRM {web based HRIS) trends 
and skill requirement/expectations 

If one system is selected, is it the most appropriate (market share) vs. an 
alternate 

Course 
Champion Jan 2018 Sep 2020 

Completed - Updates to the HRIS curriculum have taken 
place in 2018 to include: 

• HRIS system needs analysis 
• Review of HRIS systems and applications on the 

market 
• Privacy and security requirements in HRIS/E-

HRM{web based) applications 
Consistent teaching team assigned to 3105 with a focus on continuous 
improvement and industry relevance. Dept Chair and 

Course 
Champion 

Jan 2018 Dec 2019 

Completed - Teaching team meets each semester to review the 
assignments with a focus on 

1. Student Success 
2. Linkages to industry 
3. Employment readiness/applied learning 

 
Initiate a student feedback mechanism regarding HRMT 3105 Course 

Champion Sep 2019 May 2020 Completed – evaluation measures built into each course.   

  



BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report                           Page 10  

STRATEGY 7: Review and evaluation of ENTR 3120 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: GOAL 4: Solidify and support a system of continuous improvement in all Programs and course offerings. 

Note: Challenges expressed by students with this course in that they felt that they were not prepared for the content and its rigour. 
-- 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) 

Complete by 
(M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Review of ENTR 3120 

Carlos Calao Sep 2019 Dec 2021 

Completed  
 
An initial review of performance did not find significant differences 
in results between students in different faculties (e.g. no difference 
in performance between HRMT students and other student 
groups) 
 

Next steps regarding ENTR 3120: 
 

Carlos Calao Sep 2019 Dec 2021 

Completed. 
 
Collaborated with the ENTR 3120 Teaching Team.  The pandemic 
offered an opportunity to revamp the course to meet student 
needs.  The teaching team incorporated faculty and student 
feedback that informed a course redesign that has produced 
positive outcomes.   
 



BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report                           Page 11  

STRATEGY 8: Create/employ/refine an on-going review of PLO data results  

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: GOAL 4: Solidify and support a system of continuous improvement in all Programs and course offerings. 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) 

Complete by 
(M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Create third period report template to analyze consolidated results on a 
cyclical basis 

Judy 
Benevides Aug 2018 Oct 2018 Completed 

*reporting cycle has changed to Summer/Fall/Spring 
Note: below steps are repeated each semester 

Inform and train all reporting Faculty on the PLO reporting system Judy 
Benevides Sep 2018 Dec 2018 Completed with the support of Don Reddick 

Employ and oversee PLO Assessment during Fall 2018 semester Judy 
Benevides Sep 2018 Dec 2018 Completed 

Gather consolidated results and circulate to Faculty Judy 
Benevides Jan 2019 Jan 2019 Completed 

Faculty review of Fall 2018 PLO Assessment data Dept. Jan 2019 Jan 2019 Completed 
Faculty teaching teams to meet review of Fall 2018 PLO Assessment results 
and make recommendations for education quality improvements/process 
refinements 

Course 
Champion Jan 2019 Feb 2019 

Completed. Recommendations implemented for the following 
semester (e.g. the implementation of Case Analysis in earlier 
courses came about as a result of this analysis) 

Note: below steps are repeated annually 
Create third period report to analyze consolidated results on a cyclical basis Department 

Chair  May May *reporting cycle: Summer/Fall/Spring 

Department review of assessment and reporting principles/results and 
make recommendations for education quality improvements/process  
refinements Department 

Chair  July August 

A series of meetings was conducted beginning in Spring 2021 to 
consolidate individual reflection and recommend additional quality 
improvement.   Based on our collective review of both current 
quality metrics, the voice of our PAC, and external research, the 
HRMT faculty is bringing a program change with updates to both 
the program and courses beginning in November 2021 – expected 
launch of update prograde is Fall 2022.  



BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report                           Page 12  

STRATEGY 9: Strengthened integration with the BEF (Business Education Framework) 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: GOAL 4: Solidify and support a system of continuous improvement in all Programs and course offerings. 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) 

Complete by 
(M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Create third period report template to analyze consolidated 
results on a cyclical basis 

Judy 
Benevides Aug 2018 Oct 2018 Completed 

*reporting cycle has changed to Summer/Fall/Spring 
Note: below steps are repeated each semester 

Inform and train all reporting Faculty on the SLO reporting 
system 

Judy 
Benevides Sep 2018 Dec 2018 

Completed with the support of Don Reddick 

Employ and oversee SLO Assessment during Fall 2018 semester Judy 
Benevides Sep 2018 Dec 2018 Completed 

Gather consolidated results and circulate to Faculty Judy 
Benevides Jan 2019 Jan 2019 Completed 

Faculty review of Fall 2018 SLO Assessment data Dept. Jan 2019 Jan 2019 Completed 
Faculty teaching teams to meet review of Fall 2018 SLO 
Assessment results and make recommendations for 
education quality improvements/process  refinements 

Course 
Champion Jan 2019 Feb 2019 

Completed. Recommendations implemented for the following semester (e.g. the 
implementation of Case Analysis in earlier courses came about as a result of this 
analysis) 

Note: below steps are repeated annually 
Create third period report to analyze consolidated results on 
a cyclical basis 

Department 
Chair  

May May *reporting cycle: Summer/Fall/Spring.   

Department review of assessment and reporting 
principles/results and make recommendations for education 
quality improvements/process  refinements 

July August 

A series of meetings was conducted beginning in Spring 2021 to consolidate 
individual reflection and recommend additional quality improvement.   Based on 
our collective review of both current quality metrics, the voice of our PAC, and 
external research, the HRMT faculty is bringing a program change with updates to 
both the program and courses beginning in November 2021 – expected launch of 
update prograde is Fall 2022. 
 
Program changes will move HRMT content from the 3rd and 4th years and 
introduce beginning in year two.  This will move HRMT BEF specific content to the 
second year and better scaffold student learning throughout their program.  

  



BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report                           Page 13  

STRATEGY 10: Proactively connect students with Learning Centre resources 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: GOAL 5: Increase collaboration with the Learning Centre to ensure students in all HRMT Programs are proactively connected with resources 
to support their success. 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) 

Complete by 
(M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Participate in Building Professional Skills in the Classroom pilot to embed 
Learning Centre resources into assignment guidelines 

Lesley 
McCannell Apr 2019 Sep 2019 Completed. 

Identify the skills areas that students need support in for each course and 
match these with Learning Centre offerings Dept. Jun 2019 Sep 2019 Completed at Sept 2019 HRMT Faculty Planning Meeting 

Promote the Peer tutoring program with HRMT students to recruit HRMT 
students as peer tutors 

Dept. Sep 2019 Ongoing 

Ongoing. Posting peer tutor opportunities to KPU HRMT Course 
sites.  The most recent HRMT Peer tutor was recruited through the 
new HRMT   
 
Postings are prompted by need identified The Learning Centre and 
poster provided for distribution.  
 

Determine solutions to support the PBHRMT students out of Civic Plaza 
(refer to Strategy 1) Marla 

McMullen Sep 2019 May 2021 

Completed and Ongoing.  Program launched Spring 2021 – on our 
return to campus we will continue to engage with the Learning 
Centre, Library and Student Success Coaches to support student 
learning.  
 

  



BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report                           Page 14  

STRATEGY 11: Create and support an KPU HRMT Alumni Chapter 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: GOAL 2: Establish a consistent and impactful connection with CPHR-BC/Y and industry stakeholders. And GOAL 6: Establish a consistent and 
impactful connection with both the current student body and alumni. 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) 

Complete by 
(M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Publish a survey to as many grads as possible to determine level of interest 
in an Alumni Chapter and what they would want from such a group. 

David 
Harvey Jan 2019 Jun 2019 Completed 

Based on survey data, gather individuals to organizing work and to deliver 
on their needs. 

David 
Harvey Jun 2019 Sep 2019 Completed 

Create an Alumni database and social networking site David 
Harvey and 
KPU Alumni 

Affairs 

Jun 2019 Sep 2019 

Completed  
• Alumni Group is operating  

Plan alumni events (at least 1per year) starting with a first alumni 
conference reading week 2020 

David 
Harvey Feb 2020 Feb 2020 

Completed 
• Created an Alumni Chapter.  Paul Sahota (Graduated 2013) is 

the President and Chair of the Chapter.  Supported by Helen 
Hughes from Alumni Affairs 

• Three meetings held since inception.   
• 2nd Alumni Chapter established at KPU  
 
• Hosted inaugural KPU HRMT Alumni Conference in February 

2020 with over 75 attendees.   
  



BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report                           Page 15  

STRATEGY 12: Provide support to the HRMT Student Club 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: GOAL 6: Establish a consistent and impactful connection with current student body and alumni. 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) 

Complete by 
(M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Faculty to work with the HR Club executive to create a club constitution that 
outlines its purpose, membership and executive structure. 

David 
Harvey  Nov 2018 Jun 2019 Completed 

Set up a structure that involves representatives from all 4 years of the BBA 
program. 

David 
Harvey  Nov 2018 Jun 2019 Completed 

Ensure that elections to executive positions are "staggered" i.e. some in 
spring and some in fall so that there is a continuous succession plan into the 
leadership positions. 

David 
Harvey May 2019 Jun 2019 

Completed 
 

Connect the Club to CPHR so that there is support both from Faculty and 
from the Association. 

David 
Harvey Feb 2019 Ongoing 

Completed 
 
KPU and CPHR have established a student ambassador role that is 
filled annually by a KPU HRMT student- the role of the 
ambassador is to be the liaison with the KPU HRMT student club, 
CPHR, and HRMT Faculty/Programs 
 
Student ambassador are selected for a role from September to 
August each year by CPHR with a recommendation from HRMT 
faculty.   
 

Connect the Club with alumni and the co-op department to leverage 
networking and industry partners. 

Dept. 

Feb 2019 Ongoing 

KPU HRMT has been connected with alumni chapter and continue 
to meet on a regular basis.   This meeting process is ongoing and 
driven by the KPU HRMT Club whose executive are elected 
annually in the Fall term.  

Support club events via communication, SMEs, facilities, and budgetary 
means Feb 2019 Ongoing 

KPU HRMT Club is supported with communication and facilities as 
needed.  Note need for facilities has slowed in the past year due to 
COVID-19.   

  



BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report                           Page 16  

STRATEGY 13: Redesign and launch a HRMT Program Orientation 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: GOAL 6: Establish a consistent and impactful connection with current student body and alumni. 

Note: Once in the past the HRMT Department held a program orientation which was very well received and helped new and prospective students (for all HRM T programs) understand the challenges and begin to build the skills necessary to succeed in our programs.   
However, Faculty time and facility space considerations resulted in it never being offered again. 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) 

Complete by 
(M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Research to understand what new and prospective students need to know 
to choose our Programs and succeed in them. Dept. Jan 2021 May 2020 Completed 

Based on research, design an orientation program that would connect 
students to: 

• Each other; and 
• Any information they need to choose and succeed in the 

program; and the Faculty. 

David 
Harvey May 2020 Dec 2022 

Due dates advanced due to COVID-19. 
 
Note:  the goal is to leverage tools beginning with information 
sessions to provide program success information.   
 
An interim session planned for HRMT PB students in December 
2020.  
 
Based on the model used by the FSO for information sessions it is 
recommend that the organization of orientation sessions be 
coordinated by administrative teams with Faculty presentation 
participation.   This would allow for consistency across 
departments and quality of delivery.    
 
 

Integrate content specific to International and Indigenous students Lesley 
McCannell/ 

Marla 
McMullen 

May 2020 Dec 2022 

Due dates advanced due to COVID-19. 

Develop an orientation program specifically for the newly designed PBHRMT 
program TBD Jan 2020 Dec 2022 Due dates advanced due to COVID-19. 

 



HRMT 
Second Annual Follow up 

Report



Agenda

Our Goals & Plan Action & 
Accomplishment

A Look Ahead



Goals
GOAL 1: To separate the PBHRMT program from the BHRMT program. 
Redesign and relaunch the PBHRMT Diploma to meet student and market 
needs.

GOAL 2: Establish a consistent and impactful connection with CPHR-BC/Y 
and industry stakeholders.

GOAL 3: Increase consistency in instructional approaches to ePortfolio 
assignments across the Programs as well as improved communication to 
students with regards to their value proposition.



Goals

GOAL 4: Solidify and support a system of continuous improvement in all 
Programs and course offerings.

GOAL 5: Increase collaboration with the Learning Centre to ensure 
students in all HRMT Programs are proactively connected with resources 
to support their success.

GOAL 6: Establish a consistent and impactful connection with current 
student body and alumni.



Goal 1 
To separate the PBHRMT program from the BHRMT program. 

Redesign and relaunch the PBHRMT Diploma to meet student and 
market needs.



HRMT Post Baccalaureate Program
Growing & Learning

Spring 2021 

12 enrolled
33 deferred

Summer 2021

61 enrolled

Fall 2021

64 enrolled

Spring 2022

81 admitted



Supporting a 
New Program

Hiring 

New Department Teaching Team 
Structure 

Establishing 
Partnerships with 
Supports

Student Success Coaches
Library Support
Learning Centre
Advanced Learning Support

Learning from our 
Launch

Establish a new pre-requisite 
path 
Identifying student support 
needs 
Support for faculty 



Goal 2 
Establish a consistent and impactful connection with CPHR-BC/Y and 

industry stakeholders.



The Value of the Program Advisory Council 

Voice of 
employers

Invaluable 
resource for 
BBA program 

update 



Goal 3 
Increase consistency in instructional approaches to ePortfolio 

assignments across the Programs as well as improved communication 
to students with regards to their value proposition.



ePortfolio Learning 

Integrated in all courses in the BBA and Post Baccalaureate Program

HRMT team piloted the PebblePad Platform with the Teaching & Learning 
Commons 

Use of PebblePad is now fully integrated into the HRMT Programs

HRMT team continues to lead in the adoption of new technologies 



Goal 4 
:Solidify and support a system of continuous improvement in all 

Programs and course offerings.
.



Online 
Learning 
Excellence 

Significant investment in 
developing online learning 
excellence

Adopted practices that we will 
continue to leverage on our 
return to the classroom for 
Spring 2022 



HRMT 2.0 



Program Learning Outcomes 

Cornerstones - Represents our key content (information and experience)
Strategic Business 
Acumen

Apply a strategic and operational mindset to create value for individuals, organizations, and 
the community.

People Practices Generate and implement value-added ideas for human resource program(s) and initiative(s) 
that respond to opportunities, risk, and constant change.

Corporate Social 
Responsibility

Embrace and explore the changing role of business in society, interpret organizational 
environments, and advocate for organizational strategies and HR practices to support people, 
planet and prosperity outcomes.

Ethics, Integrity, 
and Standards

Demonstrate professional behaviours and/or personal citizenship that reflect an appreciation 
of the interrelationship between business ethics with an HR lens, legal requirements in local, 
global, and virtual business environments

Equity, Diversity, 
Inclusion, 
Belonging

Demonstrate, interpret and critically reflect on culturally and
socially inclusive and responsible decisions, actions, and collaborations across complex, 
diverse social and cultural contexts.



Program Learning Outcomes 

Competencies

Critical Thinking
Access data, analyze, critically evaluate and integrate relevant information to solve 
challenging human resource management and organizational problems systematically.

Data and Digital 
Literacy

Demonstrate curiosity and engagement in technology and digital applications to harness 
its ability to work with data, transform work and to connect a virtual workforce to 
achieve organizational outcomes.

Communication
Communicate concepts and advice clearly in both written, graphical and oral formats, 
using relevant technology that address diverse audience needs.

EQ Demonstrate self-awareness, reflective practice, empathy, resiliency, social skills and self 
regulation to develop self, others and organizations

Change 
Management

Provide evidence of judgment and cognitive flexibility, in assessing, designing, planning, 
and implementing transdisciplinary strategies and solutions to achieve change 
outcomes.



Goal 5 
Increase collaboration with the Learning Centre to ensure students in 

all HRMT Programs are proactively connected with resources to 
support their success.



Learning 
Support 

• Student Success Coaches 
• The Learning Centre 
• The Library Team 
• The Advanced Learning Support Team 

Leveraging resources from: 

Opportunity for more support 



Goal 6
Establish a consistent and impactful connection with current student 

body and alumni.



Connecting 
Our Students

Significant foundational work 
completed

This year we connected deferred 
Post Bacc students to information 
sessions that included existing 
students 

Ongoing opportunities exist to 
strengthen this strategy on return 
to campus 



A Look 
Ahead



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
       Reviewers’ Comments: Annual Follow-Up Report 
 

1 
 

PROGRAM UNDER REVIEW:  Human Resources Management 

Instructions for Reviewers 
Your assessment should ensure that progress on the Goals and Planned Actions is clearly articulated. If no progress has 
occurred on a Goal and/or Planned Action, please ensure that a clear rationale has been provided. 
 

OVERALL ASSESSMENT:  
Please provide a brief assessment of the Annual Follow-Up Report under review and an overall 
recommendation. 
 
Reviewer #1: The Human Resources Management program has made progress in completing its many goals 
and related steps.  There are items that are in process because of Covid-related delays, but based on the 
extensive and detailed work they have already accomplished, I am confident that the steps that are in process 
will be completed. This is a thorough second annual follow-up report, and the program, faculty members, and 
School of Business should be commended on their excellent dedication to meeting their goals. 
 
Reviewer #2: Wonderful clear and conceive and actioned second annual review. It is clear that the faculty and 
overall department have clearly addressed the needs of the students and the department through the steps 
outlined in this annual follow up report. I commend the program and for their thoughtful consideration of the 
needs of their students and student learning and the way it was so thoughtfully outlined and will be 
considered as an ongoing action. I just have some comments and suggested actions below. 
 
 
The Report (click on the box that corresponds to your recommendation):  
 

☒          Reviewer #2: Recommend for approval by the SSCPR as is 
☒          Reviewer #1: Recommend for approval by the SSCPR pending suggested actions (see below) 
☐          Recommend for rejection by the SSCPR 

 
 
MAJOR ISSUES AND SUGGESTED ACTIONS:  
Complete this section ONLY if you have identified the following major issues with the Annual Follow-Up: 

a) Progress to date is unclear. 
b) No clear rationale has been provided for why no progress has occurred. 

Issue (page #) Suggested Action 
Page 2 Determine Budgetary Implications (missing 
start and end date) 

Put in start and end date to complete 

Page 2 Work with Learning Services and library team 
to determine a plan to support students out of Civic 
Plaza  

This progress explanation was long with several 
strategies listed. It may be beneficial to break it up 
into smaller sub sections. 

Page 4 Update Advising on course map, etc  Remove ect as it is to open ended 
Page 6 (Strategy three) – this is a minor suggestion Under “Assess Results,” would it be appropriate to 

include an anticipated date of implementation and 
planned date for review? Eg. “Will reassess in January 
2023, following the anticipated September 2022 
implementation of changes.” 

Page 7 – Step about “Analyze class size”  Should a date be included here to identify when this 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
       Reviewers’ Comments: Annual Follow-Up Report 
 

2 
 

was completed? 
Page 7 Review, analyze data available via the BEF and 
PLOs for patterns and areas where "insufficient'' 
scores are more that 20% (this is just an example). 
Engage via a survey of students to identify specific 
issues/topics etc. which have caused the high level of 
"insufficient" scores 
Look at the course syllabus for potential additions 
(greater emphasis) on the issues identified in bullet 
point #2 above.  

More explanation needed to be given on why this is 
ongoing in rational 

 
MINOR EDITS (Spelling, syntax, word choice and other mechanical issues). 
Please list corresponding page numbers. Minor edits are NOT discussed at the SSCPR meeting. Add or remove 
rows as needed. 

Minor Edits (page #) 

Page 2 Completed and Ongoing. We have partnered with the SoB(SOB) Student Success Coaches to support 
HRMT post Baccalaureate students – ongoing support is in place to support these students. The Success 
Coaches are an invaluable part of our team and have been regularly scheduled  
Page 3 We have also partnered with Business Librarians to attend classes each term to support students. This 
support is key for all programs, in particular, it is invaluable for our Post Baccalaureate students who (are) 
new to KPU and the Canadian educational context.  
Page 5 Compile an updated list of proposed committee members consisting of Industry Professionals, 
Alumni,and (Alumni, and) current students (based on recent HRMR social and professional events)  

Page 5 (bottom box): missing the word “be”:  The committee has proven to be an invaluable resource for 
continuous program revitalization. 

Page 5 and 8 Dept. Chair and SoB  (SOB) Dean 

Page 7, first step: should “customers” be replaced with “students”?: Survey our customers to better 
understand their learning needs 

Page 7, first step:  typos/wording issues: “New deadline advanced to May 2022 are Faculty is currently 
focused to creating… and to focus on”  Should this be “New deadline advanced to May 2022 because Faculty 
are currently focused on creating … and on meeting” 

Page 7: third box on the right: subject/verb agreement error: “Only one section of HRMT courses is currently 
scheduled (should be is, not are) 

Review spacing on bullets used on page 8 and 14  

 
 



BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report                           Page 1  

 

Date Self-Study Report approved by SSCPR: June 21, 2017 

Date of External Review Site Visit : November 2, 2018 

Date Quality Assurance Plan approved by SSCPR: September 18, 2019 

Date First Annual Follow-Up Report approved by SSCPR: October 28, 2021 

Date Second Annual Follow-Up Report submitted: November 3, 2021 

Second Progress Report  
  

MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGAN: January 2019 

STRATEGY 1: Separate the PBHRMT from the BHRMT program. 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: GOAL 1: To separate the PBHRMT program from the BHRMT program. Redesign and relaunch the PBHRMT Diploma to meet student and 
market needs. 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on 
 (M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Investigate market needs Marla McMullen Oct 2017 Nov 2017 Completed 
Develop a program overview to share outside of the HRMT department Marla McMullen Sep 2018 Dec 2018 Completed 
Obtain time release to build new program Marla McMullen Mar 2019 May 2019 Completed  
Change Admission Requirements for Program Through Senate 

- Consultations and D7 form complete May 2019 
- SOB Curriculum Committee June 2019 
- SOB Faculty Council September 2019 
- SSCC October 2019 

Marla McMullen Apr 2019 Oct 2019 Completed 

Work with Josephine Chan to establish workflow and proposal requirements Marla McMullen May 2019 May 2019 Completed 
Document Redesign Program Proposal Marla McMullen May 2019 Aug 2019 Completed 



BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report                           Page 2  

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on 
 (M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Determine Budgetary Implications Marla McMullen May 2019 Aug 2019 Completed 
Develop Individual Course Outlines Marla McMullen May 2019 Aug 2019 Completed 
Compete Consultations with SOB Dean, Provost, Faculty,  Registrar, 
International Department, Library, Vice Chair of Senate and PUE (if a budgetary 
impact is surfaced) . 

Marla McMullen May 2019 Aug 2019 Completed 

SOB Faculty Curriculum Committee Marla McMullen Aug 2019 Sep 2019 Completed 
SOB Faculty Council Marla McMullen Sep 2019 Oct 2019 Completed 
SSCC Marla McMullen 

/Dean or 
Associate Dean 

Oct 2019 Nov 2019 
Completed 

SSCUB (if there is budgetary impact) Marla McMullen 
/Dean or 

Associate Dean 
Nov 2019 Dec 2019 

Completed 

Senate Marla McMullen 
/Dean or 

Associate Dean 
Dec 2019 Dec 2019 

Completed 

Board Governance Committee Marla McMullen 
/Dean or 

Associate Dean 
Jan 2020 Jan 2020 

Completed 

Board Finance Committee (if there is a budgetary impact) Marla McMullen 
/Dean or 

Associate Dean 
Jan 2020 Jan 2020 

Completed 

Board of Governors Marla McMullen 
/Dean or 

Associate Dean 
Feb 2020 Feb 2020 

Completed 

PSIPS (30 - day peer review process) Marla McMullen Feb 2020 Mar 2020 Completed – Program launch Spring 2021.  
Work with Learning Services and library team to determine a plan to support 
students out of Civic Plaza 

Co-Department 
Chairs 

Sep 2019 May 2021  

Completed and Ongoing.  
We have partnered with the SOB Student Success Coaches to 
support HRMT post Baccalaureate students – ongoing support is 
in place to support these students.  The Success Coaches are an 
invaluable part of our team and have been regularly scheduled 



BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report                           Page 3  

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on 
 (M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

to attend department meetings and offer suggestions to 
support student learning.  
 
We have also partnered with Business Librarians to attend 
classes each term to support students.  This support is key for 
all programs, in particular, it is invaluable for our Post 
Baccalaureate students who are new to KPU and the Canadian 
educational context.   
 
 

Pilot the Advanced Language Support program  Co-Department 
Chairs 

Sept 2021 May 2022 HRMT is participating in the Advanced Language Support 
program supported by the School of Business.  In partnership 
with Joanna Daley, we have established a support process that 
will support written language development.   
 
Selected assignments in a course will be marked with a “Use of 
language” grade (as a percentage of total grade mark).  The 
program offered: 

· Multiple (or all) courses offer Language Support 
· Can be used at any stage of the program 
· Could be expanded to any number of courses and 

language support instructors 
· Dedicated Moodle site is available to track student 

which allows for continuity across courses, terms and 
language support instructor. 

 
Working with Learning Centre team to determine a plan to support HRMT post 
baccalaureate students 

Co-Department 
Chairs 

Sep 2019 May 2022 An HRMT Post Baccalaureate student has also taken on the role 
of Peer Tutor for the HRMT Post Baccalaureate students.  We 
will continue to recruit to maintain strength and depth in this 
role on an ongoing basis. 
 



BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report                           Page 4  

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on 
 (M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Courses have been designed to integrate Learning Centre 
materials as a component of student success (i.e. Learning 
Centre Pressbooks have been integrated into learning material 
and the Learning Centre team has developed two asynchronous 
lessons for use in HRMT Post Baccalaureate course on an 
ongoing basis – this is currently being piloted in Fall 2021).  
Additional support from the Learning Centre would be valuable, 
however, in conversation with our Learning Centre support 
team, face to face/in class supports are limited as this team 
does don’t have the resources to support.   Asynchronous 
materials are valuable but do not seem to be as effective with 
our Post Baccalaureate population.  
 

Work with International Office regarding program and what support is 
needed from them 

Marla McMullen Sep 2019 Dec 2019 Completed  

Update Advising on course map Marla McMullen Sep 2019 Dec 2019  Completed 
  



BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report                           Page 5  

STRATEGY 2: Establish an HRMT Program Advisory Committee. 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: GOAL 2: Establish a consistent and impactful connection with CPHR-BC/Y and industry stakeholders. 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) 

Complete by  
(M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Retrieve and review the KPU Advisory Committee Policy Judy Benevides Jan 2019 Feb 2019 Completed 
Review Terms of Intent and proposed member list that was put together by the 
HRMT Faculty a few years ago 

Judy Benevides Jan 2019 Feb 2019 Completed 

Consulted with Dean's Office for guidance and input on setting up this 
committee 

Judy Benevides Jan 2019 Feb 2019 Completed 

Review sample member lists and Terms of Reference from other departments Judy Benevides Feb 2019 Feb 2019 Completed 
Meet with HRMT Faculty to discuss setting up an Advisory Committee, its 
purpose, the policy, and the next steps 

Judy Benevides Feb 2019 Feb 2019 Completed 

Compile an updated list of proposed committee members consisting of 
Industry Professionals, Alumni, and current students (based on recent HRMR 
social and professional events) 

Judy Benevides Feb 2019 Feb 2019 Completed 

Circulate proposed list as well as the original proposed list to Faculty for input. Judy Benevides Feb 2019 Mar 2019 Completed 
Faculty to connect with potential Advisory Committee members Judy Benevides Mar 2019 Mar 2019 Completed 
Send list of potential Advisory Committee members to Admin Support to 
send out initiations. 

Judy Benevides Apr 2019 Apr 2019 Completed 

Faculty to update the Terms of Reference document in preparation for the 
first meeting of the Advisory Committee. 

Judy Benevides Apr 2019 Apr 2019 Completed 

First Advisory Committee Meeting Judy Benevides May 2019 Jul 2019 Completed 
Bi-annual Advisory Committee Meeting 

Dept. Chair and 
SOB Dean Dec 2019 Jan 2020 

Completed and ongoing  
 
Meetings planned twice a year depending on the scheduling 
needs of the committee.  The committee has proven to be an 
invaluable resource for continuous program revitalization.    
  

  



BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report                           Page 6  

STRATEGY 3: Review Faculty instructional approach to ePortfolio learning to identify what's working and what needs to be adjusted to better align with learning outcomes. 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: GOAL 3: Increase consistency in instructional approaches to ePortfolio assignments across the Programs as well as improved communication to 
students with regards to their value proposition. 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) 

Complete by 
(M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Schedule a 3-hour department meeting to review the ePortfolio approach Lesley McCannell 

Sep 2019 Jan 2021  

Completed. 
 
The HRMT team has discussed the continued use of e-
portfolios in our program and have agreed that the e-portfolio 
approach will continue to be used and strengthened in the 
HRMT program.  To this end, the HRMT piloted and now has 
fully rolled out KPU’s new ePortfolio platform:  PebblePad.   
 
The HRMT program is bringing a program update (D7) through 
the Curricular process beginning in November 2021.  All 
courses will maintain an ePortfolio requirement.   
 
The scaffolding opportunity associated with ePortfolio learning 
is being addressed as part of ongoing continuous improvement 
efforts.    

Implement changes identified in review process Dept. Sep 2019 Jan 2020 Completed 
Prepare material/script to introduce ePortfolios to students Lesley McCannell Sep 2019 Jan 2020 Completed  
Distribute information to Faculty and ask them to share with their classes Lesley McCannell Sep 2019 Jan 2020 Completed  
Assess results Dept. Jan 2020 May 2021 See note above.  Will reassess following implementation of 

changes in January 2023 following the anticipated September 
2022 implementation of program changes.   

Add ePortfolio assignment to Official Course Outlines for BHRMT and PBHMRT 
courses/Curr Comm Review 

Dept. May 2019 May 2021 Completed in both the BBA and HRMT Post Baccalaureate 
programs.  

 

 



BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report                           Page 7  

STRATEGY 4: Total Quality Improvement through the analysis of available strategic data to ensure student learning needs are being met (i.e. class sizes, multi/campus offerings, class day/time offerings, 
and available learning spaces (collaborative learning space or online offerings) 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: GOAL 4: Solidify and support a system of continuous improvement in all Programs and course offerings. 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) 

Complete by 
(M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Survey our students to better understand their learning needs [This is a 
precursor to the other actions] 

KPU Institutional 
Analysis (OPA) Sep 2019 May 2022 

Incomplete.  New deadlines established as actions were 
delayed once based on available faculty resources and then 
because of COVID-19.   
 
New deadline advanced to May 2022 because Faculty are 
currently focused on creating high quality online learning 
experiences and focusing on meeting the needs of students.   

Analyze class sizes with a view to optimizing the learning in each Dept. Mar 2019 Sept 2019 Complete.  HRMT Capstone set at 25 students.  
Examine options for offering classes in various locations other than Surrey 
Campus Dept. Jan 2020 Deferred 

Only one section of HRMT courses is currently scheduled.   
With this in mind, we will continue Surrey campus scheduling 
and review the need for scheduling at other campuses when 
multiple sections of the same course are taught.  

Review the scheduling of HRMT classes and the preferences of our students Dept. Jan 2020 Dec 2022 Need data from survey to complete – deadline date advanced 
to reflect changes in first step above. 

Examine opportunities for collaboration and other learning opportunities 
outside of the classroom Dept. Jan 2020 Dec 2022 Need data from survey to complete – deadline date advanced 

to reflect changes in first step above. 
Review, analyze data available via the BEF and PLOs for patterns and areas 
where "insufficient'' scores are more that 20% (this is just an example). 
Engage via a survey of students to identify specific issues/topics etc. which have 
caused the high level of "insufficient" scores 
Look at the course syllabus for potential additions (greater emphasis) on the 
issues identified in bullet point #2 above. Dept. Jan 2020 

Complete 
and 

Ongoing 

Completed through the BEF Committee process and reviewed 
by Department Chairs. These activities represent the ongoing 
continuous improvement efforts available to the department 
through ongoing measurement and assessment of our program 
learning outcomes and the business education framework.  If 
new patterns emerge or insufficiencies arise – this is an 
opportunity to take steps to address student learning needs.  
This focus on continuous improvement is required by the 
Standing Committee on Education Quality (SCEQ) to ensure 
excellence in education.      



BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report                           Page 8  

STRATEGY 5: Community Outreach 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: GOAL 2: Establish a consistent and impactful connection with CPHR-BC/Y and industry stakeholders. And GOAL 4: Solidify and support a system of 
continuous improvement in all Programs and course offerings. 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) 

Complete by 
(M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Faculty to coordinate with co-op Faculty to attend HRMT co-op student/client 
visits Dept. Sep 2019 Dec 2019 Task removed as new KPU Coop Structure does include Faculty 

visits.   
Create an HRMT Advisory Committee {refer to Strategy 2) Dept Chair and 

SOB Dean Jun 2019 Dec 2019 Completed 

Ensure there is a CPHR nominee on the Advisory Committee {refer to Strategy 2) Dept Chair and 
SOB Dean Jun 2019 Dec 2019 Completed (Quinne Davey) 

Create an HRMT Alumni Chapter 

David Harvey Sep 2019 Dec 2020 

Completed 
• Created an Alumni Chapter.  Paul Sahota (Graduated 

2013) is the President and Chair of the Chapter.  
Supported by Helen Hughes from Alumni Affairs. 
Initial meeting at City Centre Campus September 2019 

• 2nd Alumni Chapter at KPU  
 
• In addition, hosted inaugural KPU HRMT Alumni 

Conference in February 2020 with over 75 attendees.   
Ensure formal connections are in place between KHRA [student club] and CPHR 

David Harvey Sep 2019 Dec 2020 

Completed 
CPHR Student Ambassador serves as connection between the 
Student Club and CPHR.  The CPHR representative sits as an ex-
officio member on student club  
 
 

Formalize "faculty liaison" positions both to CPHR and to the Fraser Valley 
Advisory Committee of CPHR Dept. Sep 2019 Jan 2020 Completed 

David Harvey is the current HRMT Faculty liaison.  
Formalize a "faculty liaison" position to the Surrey Board of Trade Dept. Sep 2019 Jan 2020 Completed.   



BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report                           Page 9  

STRATEGY 6: Review and evaluation of HRMT 3105 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: GOAL 4: Solidify and support a system of continuous improvement in all Programs and course offerings. 

Note: HRMT 3105 was designed in 2015 to meet the CPHR Competency requirements. The possible Human Resources Information Systems (HRIS} partnership noted in the 2017 Self-Stud y Report that would assist in the further development of the 
course, did not materialize, and as a result it has been recognized by the Department that continued work needs to be done in the development of this course to better align with course learning outcomes and to ensure consistency in the delivery of 
material/coursework. 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) 

Complete by 
(M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Departmental review of 3105 curriculum and course structure. 
Kristan Ash/ 

Duane Radcliffe 
Sep 2018 Dec 2018 

Completed review of assignments, student support and student 
success rates. Additional resources added to the student 
learning center to support advanced Excel skills. 

Consult with Industry Advisory Committee regarding the current trends in 
HRIS and the value of Application specific skills in industry. 

• Specifically looking at the HRIS/E-HRM {web based HRIS) trends 
and skill requirement/expectations 

If one system is selected, is it the most appropriate (market share) vs. an 
alternate 

Course 
Champion Jan 2018 Sep 2020 

Completed - Updates to the HRIS curriculum have taken 
place in 2018 to include: 

• HRIS system needs analysis 
• Review of HRIS systems and applications on the 

market 
• Privacy and security requirements in HRIS/E-

HRM{web based) applications 
Consistent teaching team assigned to 3105 with a focus on continuous 
improvement and industry relevance. Dept Chair and 

Course 
Champion 

Jan 2018 Dec 2019 

Completed - Teaching team meets each semester to review the 
assignments with a focus on 

1. Student Success 
2. Linkages to industry 
3. Employment readiness/applied learning 

 
Initiate a student feedback mechanism regarding HRMT 3105 Course 

Champion Sep 2019 May 2020 Completed – evaluation measures built into each course.   

  



BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report                           Page 10  

STRATEGY 7: Review and evaluation of ENTR 3120 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: GOAL 4: Solidify and support a system of continuous improvement in all Programs and course offerings. 

Note: Challenges expressed by students with this course in that they felt that they were not prepared for the content and its rigour. 
-- 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) 

Complete by 
(M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Review of ENTR 3120 

Carlos Calao Sep 2019 Dec 2021 

Completed  
 
 
An initial review of performance did not find significant differences 
in results between students in different faculties (e.g. no difference 
in performance between HRMT students and other student 
groups) 
 

Next steps regarding ENTR 3120: 
 

Carlos Calao Sep 2019 Dec 2021 

Completed. 
 
Collaborated with the ENTR 3120 Teaching Team.  The pandemic 
offered an opportunity to revamp the course to meet student 
needs.  The teaching team incorporated faculty and student 
feedback that informed a course redesign that has produced 
positive outcomes.   
 
 



BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report                           Page 11  

STRATEGY 8: Create/employ/refine an on-going review of PLO data results  

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: GOAL 4: Solidify and support a system of continuous improvement in all Programs and course offerings. 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) 

Complete by 
(M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Create third period report template to analyze consolidated results on a 
cyclical basis 

Judy 
Benevides Aug 2018 Oct 2018 Completed 

*reporting cycle has changed to Summer/Fall/Spring 
Note: below steps are repeated each semester 

Inform and train all reporting Faculty on the PLO reporting system Judy 
Benevides Sep 2018 Dec 2018 Completed with the support of Don Reddick 

Employ and oversee PLO Assessment during Fall 2018 semester Judy 
Benevides Sep 2018 Dec 2018 Completed 

Gather consolidated results and circulate to Faculty Judy 
Benevides Jan 2019 Jan 2019 Completed 

Faculty review of Fall 2018 PLO Assessment data Dept. Jan 2019 Jan 2019 Completed 
Faculty teaching teams to meet review of Fall 2018 PLO Assessment results 
and make recommendations for education quality improvements/process 
refinements 

Course 
Champion Jan 2019 Feb 2019 

Completed. Recommendations implemented for the following 
semester (e.g. the implementation of Case Analysis in earlier 
courses came about as a result of this analysis) 

Note: below steps are repeated annually 
Create third period report to analyze consolidated results on a cyclical basis Department 

Chair  May May *reporting cycle: Summer/Fall/Spring 

Department review of assessment and reporting principles/results and 
make recommendations for education quality improvements/process  
refinements 

Department 
Chair  July August 

A series of meetings was conducted beginning in Spring 
2021 to consolidate individual reflection and recommend 
additional quality improvement.   Based on our collective 
review of both current quality metrics, the voice of our 
PAC, and external research, the HRMT faculty is bringing a 
program change with updates to both the program and 
courses beginning in November 2021 – expected launch of 
update prograde is Fall 2022.  



BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report                           Page 12  

STRATEGY 9: Strengthened integration with the BEF (Business Education Framework) 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: GOAL 4: Solidify and support a system of continuous improvement in all Programs and course offerings. 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) 

Complete 
by (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Create third period report template to analyze 
consolidated results on a cyclical basis 

Judy 
Benevides Aug 2018 Oct 2018 Completed 

*reporting cycle has changed to Summer/Fall/Spring 
Note: below steps are repeated each semester 

Inform and train all reporting Faculty on the SLO 
reporting system 

Judy 
Benevides Sep 2018 Dec 2018 

Completed with the support of Don Reddick 

Employ and oversee SLO Assessment during Fall 2018 
semester 

Judy 
Benevides Sep 2018 Dec 2018 Completed 

Gather consolidated results and circulate to Faculty Judy 
Benevides Jan 2019 Jan 2019 Completed 

Faculty review of Fall 2018 SLO Assessment data Dept. Jan 2019 Jan 2019 Completed 
Faculty teaching teams to meet review of Fall 2018 SLO 
Assessment results and make recommendations for 
education quality improvements/process  refinements 

Course 
Champion Jan 2019 Feb 2019 

Completed. Recommendations implemented for the following semester (e.g. the 
implementation of Case Analysis in earlier courses came about as a result of this 
analysis) 

Note: below steps are repeated annually 
Create third period report to analyze consolidated 
results on a cyclical basis 

Departmen
t Chair  

May May *reporting cycle: Summer/Fall/Spring.   

Department review of assessment and reporting 
principles/results and make recommendations for 
education quality improvements/process  refinements 

July August 

A series of meetings was conducted beginning in Spring 2021 to consolidate individual 
reflection and recommend additional quality improvement.   Based on our collective review 
of both current quality metrics, the voice of our PAC, and external research, the HRMT 
faculty is bringing a program change with updates to both the program and courses 
beginning in November 2021 – expected launch of update prograde is Fall 2022. 
Program changes will move HRMT content from the 3rd and 4th years and introduce 
beginning in year two.  This will move HRMT BEF specific content to the second year 
and better scaffold student learning throughout their program.  



BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report                           Page 13  

STRATEGY 10: Proactively connect students with Learning Centre resources 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: GOAL 5: Increase collaboration with the Learning Centre to ensure students in all HRMT Programs are proactively connected with resources 
to support their success. 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) 

Complete by 
(M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Participate in Building Professional Skills in the Classroom pilot to embed 
Learning Centre resources into assignment guidelines 

Lesley 
McCannell Apr 2019 Sep 2019 Completed. 

Identify the skills areas that students need support in for each course and 
match these with Learning Centre offerings Dept. Jun 2019 Sep 2019 Completed at Sept 2019 HRMT Faculty Planning Meeting 

Promote the Peer tutoring program with HRMT students to recruit HRMT 
students as peer tutors 

Dept. Sep 2019 Ongoing 

Ongoing. Posting peer tutor opportunities to KPU HRMT Course 
sites.  The most recent HRMT Peer tutor was recruited through the 
new HRMT   
 
Postings are prompted by need identified The Learning Centre and 
poster provided for distribution.  
 

Determine solutions to support the PBHRMT students out of Civic Plaza 
(refer to Strategy 1) Marla 

McMullen Sep 2019 May 2021 

Completed and Ongoing.  Program launched Spring 2021 – on our 
return to campus we will continue to engage with the Learning 
Centre, Library and Student Success Coaches to support student 
learning.  
 

  



BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report                           Page 14  

STRATEGY 11: Create and support an KPU HRMT Alumni Chapter 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: GOAL 2: Establish a consistent and impactful connection with CPHR-BC/Y and industry stakeholders. And GOAL 6: Establish a consistent and 
impactful connection with both the current student body and alumni. 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) 

Complete by 
(M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Publish a survey to as many grads as possible to determine level of interest 
in an Alumni Chapter and what they would want from such a group. 

David 
Harvey Jan 2019 Jun 2019 Completed 

Based on survey data, gather individuals to organizing work and to deliver 
on their needs. 

David 
Harvey Jun 2019 Sep 2019 Completed 

Create an Alumni database and social networking site David 
Harvey and 
KPU Alumni 

Affairs 

Jun 2019 Sep 2019 

Completed  
• Alumni Group is operating  

Plan alumni events (at least 1per year) starting with a first alumni 
conference reading week 2020 

David 
Harvey Feb 2020 Feb 2020 

Completed 
• Created an Alumni Chapter.  Paul Sahota (Graduated 

2013) is the President and Chair of the Chapter.  
Supported by Helen Hughes from Alumni Affairs 

• Three meetings held since inception.   
• 2nd Alumni Chapter established at KPU  
 
• Hosted inaugural KPU HRMT Alumni Conference in 

February 2020 with over 75 attendees.   
  



BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report                           Page 15  

STRATEGY 12: Provide support to the HRMT Student Club 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: GOAL 6: Establish a consistent and impactful connection with current student body and alumni. 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) 

Complete by 
(M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Faculty to work with the HR Club executive to create a club constitution that 
outlines its purpose, membership and executive structure. 

David 
Harvey  Nov 2018 Jun 2019 Completed 

Set up a structure that involves representatives from all 4 years of the BBA 
program. 

David 
Harvey  Nov 2018 Jun 2019 Completed 

Ensure that elections to executive positions are "staggered" i.e. some in 
spring and some in fall so that there is a continuous succession plan into the 
leadership positions. 

David 
Harvey May 2019 Jun 2019 

Completed 
 

Connect the Club to CPHR so that there is support both from Faculty and 
from the Association. 

David 
Harvey Feb 2019 Ongoing 

Completed 
 
KPU and CPHR have established a student ambassador role that is 
filled annually by a KPU HRMT student- the role of the 
ambassador is to be the liaison with the KPU HRMT student club, 
CPHR, and HRMT Faculty/Programs 
 
Student ambassador are selected for a role from September to 
August each year by CPHR with a recommendation from HRMT 
faculty.   
 

Connect the Club with alumni and the co-op department to leverage 
networking and industry partners. 

Dept. 

Feb 2019 Ongoing 

KPU HRMT has been connected with alumni chapter and continue 
to meet on a regular basis.   This meeting process is ongoing and 
driven by the KPU HRMT Club whose executive are elected 
annually in the Fall term.  

Support club events via communication, SMEs, facilities, and budgetary 
means Feb 2019 Ongoing 

KPU HRMT Club is supported with communication and facilities as 
needed.  Note need for facilities has slowed in the past year due to 
COVID-19.   

  



BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU BBA in Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report                           Page 16  

STRATEGY 13: Redesign and launch a HRMT Program Orientation 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: GOAL 6: Establish a consistent and impactful connection with current student body and alumni. 

Note: Once in the past the HRMT Department held a program orientation which was very well received and helped new and prospective students (for all HRM T programs) understand the challenges and begin to build the skills necessary to succeed in our programs.   
However, Faculty time and facility space considerations resulted in it never being offered again. 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) 

Complete by 
(M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Research to understand what new and prospective students need to know 
to choose our Programs and succeed in them. Dept. Jan 2021 May 2020 Completed 

Based on research, design an orientation program that would connect 
students to: 

• Each other; and 
• Any information they need to choose and succeed in the 

program; and the Faculty. 

David 
Harvey May 2020 Dec 2022 

Due dates advanced due to COVID-19. 
 
Note:  the goal is to leverage tools beginning with information 
sessions to provide program success information.   
 
An interim session planned for HRMT PB students in December 
2020.  
 
Based on the model used by the FSO for information sessions it is 
recommend that the organization of orientation sessions be 
coordinated by administrative teams with Faculty presentation 
participation.   This would allow for consistency across 
departments and quality of delivery.    
 
 

Integrate content specific to International and Indigenous students Lesley 
McCannell/ 

Marla 
McMullen 

May 2020 Dec 2022 

Due dates advanced due to COVID-19. 

Develop an orientation program specifically for the newly designed PBHRMT 
program TBD Jan 2020 Dec 2022 Due dates advanced due to COVID-19. 

 



SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW  
  Agenda Item: 5.4 

Meeting Date: November 24, 2021 
Presenter: Carley Hodgkinson, Andhra Goundrey 

 1 / 1 

 
Agenda Item Graphic Design for Marketing Second Annual Follow-Up Report 
  

Action Requested Motion 

  

Recommended 
Resolution 

THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review accept the 
Graphic Design for Marketing Second Annual Follow-Up Report as 
attached.  

  
Senate Standing 
Committee Report For Senate Office Use Only   
  
  

Attachments GDMA Second Annual Follow-Up Report 
  

Submitted by Melike Kinik-Dicleli, Manager of Quality Assurance 

Date submitted November 3, 2021 
 



Graphic Design for Marketing Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Wilson School of Design Bachelor of Design in Graphic Design for Marketing Second Annual Follow-Up Report                       Page 1  

 
Date Self-Study Report approved by SSCPR: December 12, 2018 

Date of External Review Site Visit : March 25, 2019 

Date Quality Assurance Plan approved by SSCPR: October 23, 2019 

Date First Annual Follow-Up Report approved: October 21, 2020 

Date Second Annual Follow-Up Report submitted: October 27, 2021 

 
Second Progress Report  
MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGAN: May 2019 

STRATEGY 1: Offer quality workshops and affiliation with local high schools 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Increase student recruitment, conversion and retention, Establish alternative sources of revenue and programme exposure 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led by 
Start on 

(M/YY) 
Completed By 

(M/YY) 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

High School Yearbook Team workshops and competition (and/or other 
GDMA-specific workshops offered by faculty as a means of introducing 
students, parents and teachers to our program) 

John Belisle, 
Michael 

Cober, Carley 
Hodgkinson 

 

 

 

 

May 2019 Completed  
October 2019 and 

with proposed 
yearly dates 

beginning Fall 2022 
(dependent on 

pandemic 
protocols) 

The Monster Yearbook Challenge ran successfully in October of 
2019, with the intention to run sessions again this fall. Because of 
the pandemic and many unknowns this past spring, plans were put 
on hold for Fall 2020. We will revisit this workshop Fall 2022 as we 
see it as a strong recruitment and contact-building opportunity with 
high schools in the Lower Mainland. 

 

 



Graphic Design for Marketing Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Wilson School of Design Bachelor of Design in Graphic Design for Marketing Second Annual Follow-Up Report                       Page 2  

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led by 
Start on 

(M/YY) 
Completed By 

(M/YY) 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

High School Outreach Carley 
Hodgkinson 

April 2019 Completed  
October 2019 and 

with proposed 
yearly dates 

beginning Spring 
2022 (dependent 

on pandemic 
protocols)  

Carley Hodgkinson ran design thinking workshops in three high 
schools Spring and Fall 2019 (Point Grey Secondary, Lord Byng 
Secondary and Burnaby North), all of which offer graphic design as 
an elective. The intention is to continue offering workshops to build 
out relationships with individual teachers. The workshops have been 
put on hold for Fall 2020 and 2021, but we will re-assess based on 
conditions for Spring 2022. If in-person delivery is not possible at 
that time, we will plan for online workshop delivery. 

GDC Launch! Student Education Fair and Portfolio Review Michael 
Cober, Carley 
Hodgkinson 

October 
2019 

Completed  
October 2019 and 
then yearly (with 
2020 and 2021 
seeing virtual 

offerings) 

The GDC (Graphic Designers of Canada) Launch! Student Education 
Fair and Portfolio Review was held in October 2019 at WSD. The 
event drew a large audience to the school and provided attendees 
(students and industry alike) the opportunity to see our building and 
better appreciate the space and our offering. The Launch! Event will 
be held online this year (2021), with WSD acting as sponsor and 
host. We intend to continue leveraging this event. 

K-12 Design Thinking/ADST Curriculum courses Carley 
Hodgkinson, 
John Belisle 

Spring 2020 Completed  
Course completion 
October 31, 2020; 

Course delivery 
2022 

Carley Hodgkinson is currently working with Dr. Marcelina 
Piotrowski (Director, Flexible Learning and Academic Integrity) and 
Dr. Rajiv Jhangiani from Teaching & Learning on a series of Design 
Thinking modules, with a focus on K-12 delivery, to be completed 
this fall, and with a potential launch as soon as possible. We will 
then work with Marketing to get the word out. The intention is to 
offer this set of modules frequently, as a possible revenue stream 
for WSD. John Belisle is producing teacher modules for use in class 
or online for ADST Gr 6 to 12, to be provided as open source course 
materials. 

  



Graphic Design for Marketing Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Wilson School of Design Bachelor of Design in Graphic Design for Marketing Second Annual Follow-Up Report                       Page 3  

STRATEGY 2: Establish industry partnerships and articulation agreements  

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Establish alternative sources of revenue and programme exposure; Look at alternatives for strict co-req/pre-req cohort model. 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) 

Complete by  
(M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Establish partnership with the GDC (Graphic Designers of Canada) Michael 
Cober 

May 2019 Completed January 
2020 

Working with Dean Goundrey and the KPU Legal Team, Mike Cober 
worked with then GDC President Leanne Prain to establish a 
partnership agreement with the BC Chapter of the GDC, finalized 
January 2020. This will translate into the use of our space (when we 
are once again on campus), possibly to event sponsorships or in-kind 
donations, as well as serve as an additional means of promoting our 
program with industry. 

Establish a Wilson School of Design partnership agreement with 
organizations that wish to work with our students (for graphic 
design projects). This would fall under the auspices of Applied 
Research in 
order to qualify for funding and to make sure that intellectual 
property rights of students are respected. 

Michael 
Cober, 
Carley 

Hodgkinson, 
Victor 

Martinez 

Sep 2019 Not completed;  
to be pursued at 
Committee Level, 
with actionable 

outcomes by April 
2021; please note 
that this work in 

ongoing at the level of 
the WSD Research 

and Graduate Studies 
Committee 

Mike Cober and Carley Hodgkinson met with Deepak Gupta in October 
2019 to talk about developing a more formal partnership agreement 
for interested companies (that would cover off IP, payment or 
honorariums, funding, etc.), but this first conversation did not lead to 
any concrete plans (due to faculty availability and time constraints.) 
We now have a WSD Research and Graduate Studies Committee in 
place with a stronger framework to take on funding, grant 
applications, etc.  

Investigate articulation agreements with other schools offering 
graphic design programs, starting with Karin Yaeger at UFV. 

Carley 
Hodgkinson 

Jan 2020 Not  completed 
To be pursued again 

in January 2022. 
Please note that 

pandemic emergency 
measures placed a 
hold on any new 

articulation 
agreements with UFV 
from 2020 into 2021. 

Carley Hodgkinson had reached out to UFV Design Director Karin 
Yaeger in the Fall of 2019 (casually), and, at that time, she was not 
prepared to look at an articulation agreement with us as her program 
was also undergoing its own program review. To be pursued later in 
2022. 

 



Graphic Design for Marketing Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Wilson School of Design Bachelor of Design in Graphic Design for Marketing Second Annual Follow-Up Report                       Page 4  

STRATEGY 3: Improve degree breadth and scheduling flexibility 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Look at alternatives for strict co-req/pre-req cohort model; Address current challenges with degree breadth courses 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) Complete by (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

In order to offer greater degree breadth, and to remove the 
current barriers to the 4th-year level required courses in 
Marketing, open up MRKT 4177/ 4201 to a 3-credit 3XXX or 4XXX 
Liberal Education elective 

Carley 
Hodgkinson, 

Andhra 
Goundrey 

Oct 2019 Completed; 
Implemented 

September 2021 

In looking at a few options, we have determined that we should keep an 
upper level Marketing course, but that our students would perform 
better at a 3XXX-level. Consultation with Marketing has already taken 
place, and Scheduling/working with the registrar, approval by Senate 
will take place this fall/spring with a Fall 2021 intended launch. 

In order to offer greater degree breadth and scheduling 
flexibility, open up CMNS 2140 to a 2XXX Liberal Education 
elective 

Carley 
Hodgkinson 

Oct 2019 Completed; 
Implemented 

September 2021 

We are moving ahead with this decision; consultation with Applied 
Communication has already taken place, and, pending Senate approval, 
students starting Fall 2021 will have an additional elective available to 
them. 

Develop a summer semester Guided Study for 1st and 2nd year-
level GDMA studio courses 

Carley 
Hodgkinson, 
John Belisle 

Sep 2019 Administrative 
components 
completed  
Apr 2020 

Please note that we 
did not have any 
students pilot the 
Guided Study in 

Summer 2021 but 
we will assess again 

Spring 2022 

This step was made as a means of offering students the chance to make 
up GDMA studio coursework over the summer (given that we only offer 
one section of each course.) We did not have any students to pilot this 
program with this past summer, but we will continue to offer this as an 
option in order to help students continue with their cohorts. 



Graphic Design for Marketing Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Wilson School of Design Bachelor of Design in Graphic Design for Marketing Second Annual Follow-Up Report                       Page 5  

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) Complete by (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Move to 3-hour course blocks for Academic-stream GDMA 
courses with the option of 3-hr blocks for studio courses 

Carley 
Hodgkinson 

Oct 2019 Completed Apr 
2020; Implemented 

September 2021 

This past spring, we ran a pilot program to run all GDMA courses (but 
one), as 3-hour blocks instead of our typical 4-hours. Interestingly, most 
faculty preferred the longer blocks, while students were largely in 
favour of the shorter blocks, citing duration of attention spans, the 
desire for schedule flexibility, and needing more time for homework 
completion each week. This fall, the length of the block is a moot point 
with our online delivery; moving forward, however, we will allow the 
option for a 3-hr block, noting that this is more typical for all competitor 
design schools. 

Look into the feasibility of offering fully online classes, esp. for 
subjects that do not have a studio (project-based) component 

Carley 
Hodgkinson, 

Erin 
Ashenhurst 

Sep 2020 Completed Sept 
2020 

Implemented 
September 2021 for 
GDMA 1140, 1240, 

3140 and 4240 
(academic-stream 

courses) 
 

While we cannot predict the timeline for COVID-19, a positive side 
effect has been that we have had to think about alternative, but equally 
effective, delivery models. Our preference will continue to be to offer 
studio courses in person, but based on student feedback from 2020/21, 
we intend to continue offering our Academic stream of courses online. 

 

  



Graphic Design for Marketing Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Wilson School of Design Bachelor of Design in Graphic Design for Marketing Second Annual Follow-Up Report                       Page 6  

STRATEGY 4: Focus on program currency  

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Increase student recruitment, conversion and retention; Re-organize the program model to allow for greater industry agility and strong skills 
development across all years 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) 

Complete by 
(M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Replace a 3rd year course with a Special Topics container for 
community engagement projects, new technologies, and 
advanced animation, film and art directorial skills (in response to 
the need to be agile relative to industry trends as well as project 
partnership opportunities). 

Carley 
Hodgkinson, 

Michael 
Cober 

Sep 2019 Completed 
Implemented 

September 2021; 
the first iteration of 
GDMA 4222 Special 

Topics will run in 
Spring 2023 

We are moving ahead with this course offering. The outline will form 
part of the revised program model that we will take to Senate for 
approval early 2021, with an intended launch Fall 2021. Mike Cober and 
Carley Hodgkinson are working together on the content and are looking 
at existing KPU Special Topics courses as guides: the first iteration of this 
course will run Spring 2023. 

Move GDMA 3220 User Experience and Interface Design 2 from 
the Spring of 3rd year to the fall of 4th year; moving GDMA 4216 
Advanced Typographic Communications from the spring of 4th 
year to the Spring of 3rd year 

Carley 
Hodgkinson 

Sep 2019 Completed, 
Implemented 

September 2021 

As above, these two changes will form part of our program model 
renewal, with an intended Fall 2021 launch. 

Continue to review and update course outlines All faculty Fall 2019 Completed, 
Implemented 

September 2021 

In working with Teaching and Learning on an Outcomes Map, we will 
now be updating all outlines for GDMA. The package will be prepared for 
CurCom and Senate review late 2020/early 2021, for inclusion as part of 
our Fall 2021 program renewal. 

Rename some existing courses to have titles that are easier to 
understand by potential students and more relevant to current 
graphic design practices. These include: GDMA 2210 Interactive 
and Integrated Media Design to GDMA 2210 Web Design; and 
GDMA 2222 Integrated Media Software Applications to GDMA 
2222: Video and Animation 

All faculty Fall 2019 Completed 
Implemented 

September 2021 

The revised program model including proposed course re-naming, was 
shared with the WSD CurCom in February 2019; while the overall plan 
was looked at favourably, committee members suggested that, in order 
for Senate to approve and understand all new updates, that all courses 
should be packaged together (as above.) 

  



Graphic Design for Marketing Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Wilson School of Design Bachelor of Design in Graphic Design for Marketing Second Annual Follow-Up Report                       Page 7  

STRATEGY 5: Focus on student success 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Increase student recruitment, conversion and retention; Establish alternative sources of revenue and programme exposure 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) Complete by (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Teach and repeat cohort/project management/conflict resolution 
skills in all years; this may potentially involve offering 
microcredentials so that students have an official value-add for 
their resumes. 

All faculty Sep 
2019 

Completed  
Sep 2019 and 
2020 and then 

yearly; 
Microcredentials 
not completed: 

with the new 
microcredential 
policy in place, 

this now gives us 
more complete 

guidance for 
pursuing 

microcredentials. 
To be looked at 

beginning January 
2022 

Faculty have integrated dedicated class time to professional skills 
development, particularly relating to cohort challenges, and we have 
seen benefits in terms of team skills, collaboration and communication. 
Microcredentials are a nice to have! This initiative will need to be tabled 
for now, as we have been dedicating any additional project time to 
online learning PD. 

Invite Gina Buchanan to a GDMA Faculty meeting to offer a 
program-specific workshop on assessment strategies 

Carley 
Hodgkinson 

 
Oct 

2019 

Completed 
January 2020 

 

Kristie Dukewich offered a great workshop on assessment strategies in 
January 2020 (focused on assessment for studio courses) – and we have 
since made changes to our Moodle rubrics as a result. 

Grant transfer credit to FIND students coming into GDMA six 
credits of GDMA coursework 

Carley 
Hodgkinson 

Sep 
2019 

Not completed  
To be tabled until 
completion of the 

FIND program 
review in 2023 

In consultation with Dean Goundrey, we have decided to look at 
requests for recognition for prior learning/advanced standing on a 
student-by-student basis dependent on met learning outcomes. The 
FIND program is planning curricular changes for 2023 and we will look at 
options for more formal arrangements to align with this timing. 



Graphic Design for Marketing Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Wilson School of Design Bachelor of Design in Graphic Design for Marketing Second Annual Follow-Up Report                       Page 8  

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) Complete by (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Collaborate with Denise Dale on keeping GDMA library offerings 
current, and on bringing students into the library routinely for 
tours, tutorials, exercises, etc. 

Carley 
Hodgkinson, 

all faculty 

Oct 
2019 

Completed 
October 2019 (in-

person) and 
October 2020 

(online) and then 
yearly  

We were finding that students were not making full use of the library 
resources and were often frustrated as a result with research-based 
assignments. Denise Dale offered the 1st and 3rd year GDMA cohorts 
excellent and specific workshops about design resources, journals, 
searches, etc. We will continue to integrate library orientation into our 
1st-year onboarding (and repeat in 3rd year for an advanced refresher.) In 
addition, Carley Hodgkinson is working with Denise to build GDMA 
library resources, particularly keeping current with user experience 
design.  

Continue to test new grad show/industry night strategies in order 
to increase industry awareness while still providing students with 
an experience. 

Mike Cober, 
David 
Young 

Apr 
2019 

Completed  
April 2019, 

December 2019, 
Apr 2020 and April 

2021 

In April 2019, in place of a typical industry night, we launched our first 
GDMA portfolio website (and celebrated with a Friends and Family 
night) and were pleased with the social media and click rate metrics. This 
past April, Mike Cober worked with Gabrielle Durning and with 
Marketing to launch a WSD-wide portfolio site. As our competitor 
schools also made the switch to an online delivery, this turned out to be 
a good decision. Moving forward, the portfolio site will be a permanent 
asset for GDMA (and possibly for the school as a whole.)  
 
In addition to the website, in December 2019, we hosted an off site 
industry event at DUDOC (the Dutch Design Centre) in East Vancouver. 
At this event, 4th-year students presented their Major Projects to invited 
industry and alumni. In light of pandemic protocols, we will not be 
hosting a live industry event this fall, but we will continue to develop our 
online presence. 

 

  



Graphic Design for Marketing Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Wilson School of Design Bachelor of Design in Graphic Design for Marketing Second Annual Follow-Up Report                       Page 9  

STRATEGY 6: Target Graphic Design for Marketing content toward potential applicants and their teachers/parents 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Increase student recruitment, conversion and retention; Establish alternative sources of revenue and programme exposure 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) 

Complete by 
(M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Update kpu.ca/design/gdma content to be more student-
friendly, with current photos, to better tell the story of our 
program 

Carley 
Hodgkinson, 
Alia Ahmed 

May 2019 Completed  
Sept 2020 and 
then ongoing 

(we have 
planned for  

quarterly 
updates) 

This year, we have added substantially to a section on Student Awards 
and Scholarships, and to our video resources. We will continue to work 
with Marketing on regular photo updates to represent current cohort 
culture. 

Produce a GDMA-specific video shot in the WSD building Carley 
Hodgkinson, 

Gabrielle 
Durning 

Jan 2020 Alternate video 
content 

completed  
July 2020 

We will evaluate 
a WSD-shot 

video by April 
2022 

 

We have wanted to shoot a GDMA-specific video in the Wilson School of 
Design for a long time – this year, we set aside some of our Ops budget 
in order to make this happen. However, with pandemic protocols in 
place, we were not able to produce that video – but we do have new 
content that was released in September 2020, for the following topics, 
all recorded using Zoom: 

1. Portfolio Preparation 
2. Mentorship 
3. Getting that first design job (2019 Alumni) 
4. Entrepreneurship (interviews with 2014 and 2015 alumni who 

now run a successful business) 
Feature student work and the student experience Alia Ahmed Sep 2019 Completed  

Dec 2019, April 
2020 and 

September 2020 
And then 
ongoing 

(quarterly 
updates) 

This has been an area of focus for us this past year: featuring student 
work on our social media accounts and rotating student work in the 
showcase displays on campus (when available.) In addition, we have had 
great success with student graphic design awards and scholarships, and 
these are now featured on the website and on social media.  

 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
       Reviewers’ Comments: Annual Follow-Up Report 
 

1 
 

  
 

PROGRAM UNDER REVIEW:  Graphic Design for Marketing 

Instructions for Reviewers 
Your assessment should ensure that progress on the Goals and Planned Actions is clearly articulated. If no progress has 
occurred on a Goal and/or Planned Action, please ensure that a clear rationale has been provided. 
 

OVERALL ASSESSMENT:  
Please provide a brief assessment of the Annual Follow-Up Report under review and an overall 
recommendation. 
 
Reviewer #1: Congratulations to GDMA on all the work represented in this report. The program has been very 
productive despite the limitations imposed by the pandemic. 
 
Reviewer #2: The document articulates the required information. The plans and actions to be undertaken 
seem reasonable and of sound judgment. Reasonable care has been implemented into the steps given. Scope 
of the work does not seem out of bounds and is attainable. Document addresses issues given and provided 
information on revision of programs and operating procedures. Recommendation to submit for review. 
 
The Report (click on the box that corresponds to your recommendation):  
 

☒          Reviewer #1 & #2: Recommend for approval by the SSCPR as is 
☐          Recommend for approval by the SSCPR pending suggested actions (see below) 
☐          Recommend for rejection by the SSCPR 

 
 
MAJOR ISSUES AND SUGGESTED ACTIONS:  
Complete this section ONLY if you have identified the following major issues with the Annual Follow-Up: 

a) Progress to date is unclear. 
b) No clear rationale has been provided for why no progress has occurred. 

Issue (page #) Suggested Action 
A couple of the items have not been completed due 
to Covid  

 

  
 
MINOR EDITS (Spelling, syntax, word choice and other mechanical issues). 
Please list corresponding page numbers. Minor edits are NOT discussed at the SSCPR meeting. Add or remove 
rows as needed. 

Minor Edits (page #) 

 

 

 



SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW  
Agenda Item: 5.5 

Meeting Date: November 24, 2021 
Presenter: Lindsay Norris, Andhra Goundrey 

 1 / 1 

 
Agenda Item Product Design Quality Assurance Plan 
  

Action Requested Motion 

  

Recommended 
Resolution 

THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review accept the 
Product Design Program Quality Assurance Plan as attached.  

  
Senate Standing 
Committee Report For Senate Office Use Only   
  
  

Attachments Product Design Quality Assurance Plan 
  

Submitted by Melike Kinik-Dicleli, Manager of Quality Assurance 

Date submitted November 3, 2021 
 



Product Design Quality Assurance Plan 

KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan Page 1 

 

 

 

Date submitted to SSCPR: Nov 3, 2021 
 

Date Self-Study Report approved by SSCPR: June 20, 2020 
 

Date of External Review: February 24 & 25, 2021 

 
SUMMARY 
Summarize what the program has determined - through evidence - about program quality (e.g., strengths, challenges, opportunities for improvement, potential threats, etc.) 

 
The Product Design program sits within a design school in the country’s only polytechnic university with multiple campuses covering the breadth of academic disciplines as well as trades. The Product 
Design program is gaining recognition as a unique educational experience through course offerings with a duality of both hard and soft that are specifically distinctive within Canada. Since the launch of 
the Product Design program at KPU in 2012, it has achieved both local and global recognition through awards including the Core 77 Community Prize in Commercial Equipment (USA, 2019), Core 77 First 
Place Student Winner, Commercial Equipment (USA, 2021), Simon Cox Student Design Competitions (Vancouver, 2019 & 2021), and recently ICE-SAR (Iceland Search and Rescue) Design Sprint 
Challenge (Iceland, 2021), Hatching Health (Vancouver, 2017). 

 
Product Design is a diverse field that has seen increase in demand for industrially relevant education. The Product Design program is adaptable to the changing global market and environment, and 
nothing proved this better than the adaptation during the COVID-19 pandemic. This is the first program review that Product Design has undertaken, and thus the resulting actions are significant and a 
response to the future development that is foreseen in this subject area. We have identified the most relevant of the program's strengths, weaknesses, threats, and opportunities with the inclusion of 
recommendations from our Industry Advisory Committee, our Self-Study Report (SSR) as well as our External Review Report (ERR). 

 

Strengths ● The Wilson School of Design has excellent labs and facilities with small class sizes 
● The faculty is diverse, research-active, and has close ties and connections to industry and professional networks reflecting the faculty’s wide range of expertise and backgrounds 
● The program has an exceptionally engaging Advisory Committee 
● The soft product speciality allows for a unique graduate outcome that is not offered elsewhere 
● Our graduates have a high rate of relevant employment 
● Our senior (years 3 and 4) students achieve high recognition in industry and in design competitions 
● Our program is hands-on, experiential, and has a polytechnic focus 

Weaknesses ● Incoming students lack the appropriate experience and skills for exceptional achievement. Selection and retention are a challenge that affects cohort quality and size, and the ability 
for all to excel. 
● Our program requires more support, material diversity and facilities for hard product development 
● Our program has limited access to and integration of advanced current and emergent technologies 
● The graduates from our program are not continuing into graduate education 



Product Design Quality Assurance Plan 

KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan Page 2 

 

 

 
 ● Students require more access and support to our labs and facilities outside of class time. 

● The program would benefit from greater support from KPU administrative units i.e., research and industry connected projects, external communication, recruitment, international 
design opportunities, collaborations, and exchanges 
● Further communication and development with faculty regarding assessment 

Opportunities ● Recognition and distinction of the hybrid-nature of our program (I.e., product/service/experience, hard/soft product) as evidenced by students' skills/knowledge and faculty expertise 
● The implementation of the balance of hard and soft product design and development throughout the curriculum 
● Develop and execute a specialized outreach program and Product Design specific marketing plan that results in increased quality and number of applicants 
● Create and nurture relationships with international educational institutions where graduates of our program could realize possible pathways for graduate studies 
● Industry and educational institution partnerships and articulation agreements (nationally, internationally) 
● Create opportunities for our Advisory Committee to connect with our students more frequently throughout the program (e.g., mentorship, etc.) 
● International design opportunities, collaborations, and exchanges for students and faculty 
● Development and growth in collaboration and product development with industry seeking collaboration 

Threats ● Uncertainty in budget and provincial underfunding of the institution 
● Lower enrolment, lower quality of applicant, and retention may impact student experience and graduate success 
● The landscape of the industrial partners/potential employers is complex and could be difficult to develop wide ranging relevant graduate skill sets 
● Our program is viewed as similar to Emily Carr’s Industrial Design Program. It is possible to be considered B.C.’s second option as a design school unless we clearly distinguish our 
offering. 
● Additional support required to align with r policies and procedures to develop external collaborative frameworks 

 
 

In response to the both the SSR and EER reports, we developed the goals outlined below with the corresponding strategies. They will be executed over the next five years. We plan on consulting with all 
relevant stakeholder groups as we complete each strategy to ensure we remain on track, in line with our industries and our Advisory Committee. The goals and strategies will elevate the quality and 
viability of our program. We express our sincere gratitude to the external review panel and all stakeholders who participated in our external review to help improve our program content and visibility. 



Product Design Quality Assurance Plan 

KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan Page 3 

 

 

QUALITY ASSURANCE GOALS 
List the program’s Quality Assurance Goals (broad statements about what the program intends to accomplish to ensure program quality). Identify the Recommendation(s) – drawn from the Self-Study 
Report and External Review Report - each Goal addresses. Provide a brief Rationale for each Goal (see the Quality Assurance Plan Guidelines for instructions). Add or remove rows as necessary. 

 
RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL: As to respond best to our current and future students’ needs, we will want to address the following from our Self Study Report and External Review: 

 
GOAL 1: To update our core program framework: The framework will be built to identify key streams in the program that meet and are relevant and adaptable to the changing industry trends. The Self- 
Study highlighted the need for mapping the skills and competencies needed to access employment and achieve career progression, so by creating this key framework within the program by identifying 
streams such as studio, theory, and others like technology will be key for strategy 2, and the development of curriculum and assessments. 

 
The hands-on curriculum focusing on the three major themes of Creativity & Innovation, Technology, and Leadership successfully supports the program’s aims of preparing students for work as product 
designers and designers as entrepreneurs, but with the changing educational landscape the development of a new framework is imperative to serve both our students and their goals moving forward, 
focusing on: 

 
1. Diversity of Content: Student and faculty feedback raised the need to offer more diverse perspectives especially in design theory related courses (Design Thinking, Socio-Cultural Studies, Semiotics, 

History of Design, etc.) This will be achieved by rotating the faculty through the relevant courses, thereby enabling each to bring their unique perspectives and points of interest to the content. 
 

2. Delivery Options for Laddering: Faculty feedback raised the need for more vertical connection with previous learned content, reinforcing things learned. This will be reviewed, and we will seek 
opportunities within courses to identify skills and competencies where laddering is both appropriate and feasible. The need to create core streams of curricular content that connects to previously 
learned content that then ladder to further learning. This will be key especially in studio–and theory –related courses. 

 

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Report (page 
number) 

Additional support needed to meet other aspects of student health and wellness that impact on learning styles and the individual’s learning journey SSR, 47 

Delivery strategy recognizes the need to deliver new theory (lecture), to learn through synthesis and experience (hands-on activities, team-projects, self-directed research, and field 
trips) and to learn through interaction with local industry experts 

SSR, 48 

There was variation in the degree of satisfaction in program composition, specifically the proportion of curricular content (i.e., Studio, Theory, and Hands-on courses). This may be 
further explored in the laddering of the program. 

SSR, 49 

Institutional points convey a preference for shortened instructions blocks/sessions, while program-specific points include the need for more vertical connection with previously 
learned content to reinforce content learned 

SSR, 49 

  



Product Design Quality Assurance Plan 

KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan Page 4 

 

 

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Report (page 
number) 

Recognition for the need to better connect courses and content with previously learned content and for the faculty’s diversity be applied across the program, to studio- and theory- 
related courses 

SSR, 57 

Explore laddering and vertical studio projects. Diversity of content, in studio and theory, may be achieved by rotating faculty through courses more regularly SSR, 57 
More training should be done in business cycling, marketing, entrepreneurship, materials and manufacturing, and ergonomics. Amongst the students, the discipline sector, and 
alumni surveys are comments that highlighted needs for more training provided in concept generation, visual exploration, and prototyping in hard goods. Evenly important 
comments were regarding improving training in the skills for innovative 3D printing to serve constantly evolving industry needs. 

SSR, 39 

Unproportionable allotted hours to in-class studies that don’t allow faculty and students to spend time to reflect and to personalize their study and research. SSR, 39 
Adding to the curriculum more hours with industry emerging experience and field trip experiential learning, more classes that help students develop aesthetic of presentational 
skills, more class time for prototyping, and also to alter elective courses to selective 

SSR, 40 

The hands-on curriculum focusing on the three major themes of Creativity & Innovation, Technology, and Leadership seems to support very well the program’s aims of preparing 
students for work as product designers and designers as entrepreneurs. 

ERR, 4 

Courses are delivered in 4- and 4.5-hour blocks, allowing for lectures conveying theory and skills, hands-on studio and technical workshop-based learning, and field trips for industry 
exposure, experience and emergence. 

SSR, 4 

The course prerequisites must be reviewed and redesign the way that will allow students a more flexible schedule and provide extra time if it is needed, especially in the first year. SSR, 38 
Course timing and offering needs to be considered to allow more opportunities to complete pre-requisite courses SSR, 38 
There are very strong arguments toward the strengthening of a vertical curriculum model where laddering skills and knowledge will be nimble when responding to challenges (e.g., 
delivery modes and content) and conducive to creating a profile of skillful and capable graduates. 

SSR, 67 

 
GOAL 2: To update our core course / curricular content 

 
RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL: To respond to the critical curricular alignment, outlined in both the SSR report, ERR report and what was evident in both the alumni and student survey responses. As the 
core of our offerings is tied to curricular development, this area for action and change is of the utmost importance to allow for growth, depth and diversity of content offered to our students. This goal 
needs to respond to the gap in skillset noted within survey responses. The Program also needs to continue to a focus on currency, relevancy, and alignment with industry needs, this goal also includes 
delivery and assessment to respond to both the SSR and ERR report. 

 
To address the needs of the current changing global market we need to stay current and on the cutting edge with our specialties. One thing that has truly shown light in the past months is our specialty 
knowledge, skills and facilities that have enabled faculty and students to respond to the need for PPE (personal protection equipment) for frontline workers and industry. Ensuring we maintain agility in 
our program and resources will help with our industry awareness and standard as an educator. With the developed framework from Strategy 1 we will look at aligning the program pre/co requisites 
with support from Teaching and Learning to create continuity in the laddering of streams and supporting mandatory and non-mandatory breathe courses. We will work together as a faculty team, and 
seek support from Teaching and Learning, to identify and develop clearer assessments. We will encourage the use of these assessments as a way to address criteria for evaluation and consistency  
 



Product Design Quality Assurance Plan 

KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan Page 5 

 

 

between the developed framework in strategy 1 and give consistency to instructors and students. A recurring theme, heard from both current students and alumni, was the need for better 
assessments. This issue is important given the key role assessment plays in providing diagnostic feedback, helping educators set standards, evaluating learner progress, and motivating performance. 
Specific recommendations include the following: a) more frequent formative assessments to provide developmental feedback b) increased clarity around assessment goals and their integration with 
learning objectives c) greater clarity and consistency when communicating assessment rubrics. This will help support a manageable workload balance for students and faculty, as well as identify and 
allow our instructors to explore opportunities to seek complementary activities/outcomes and balance instructor and student timelines and schedules. 

 

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Report (page number) 

Areas for improvement included greater focus on sketching and prototyping, improved communication of criteria for evaluation, consistency between instructors, and 
communication of content 

SSR, 54 

Students indicated they would prefer more clarity in the criteria for evaluation SSR, 58 

Instruction is too assessment heavy which is demanding on students and on instructors SSR, 58 
Students indicated they would prefer more clarity in the standards of expectations SSR, 59 
More lessons in the workshop specifically regarding the use of all machinery and equipment. Similarly, with 3D printing and laser cutting, they would like to see it 
as part of a course 

SSR, 63 

Improve training in soft skills such as writing and oral communication skills, problem resolution and leadership skills SSR, 39 
More training should be done in business cycling, marketing, entrepreneurship, materials and manufacturing, and ergonomics. Amongst the students, the discipline 
sector, and alumni surveys are comments that highlighted needs for more training provided in concept generation, visual exploration, and prototyping in hard goods. 
Evenly important comments were regarding improving training in the skills for innovative 3D printing to serve constantly evolving industry needs. 

SSR, 39 

Adding to the curriculum more hours with industry emerging experience and field trip experiential learning, more classes that help students develop aesthetic of 
presentational skills, more class time for prototyping, and also to alter elective courses to selective 

SSR, 40 

The exploration of this special topics course would enable the program to respond in experiential learning to the changing market in a curricular form. SSR, p.38 
Relatively low satisfaction with the training in ethnographic research (45%), in preparedness in communication (45%), and presentational skills (36%), the focus 
must be placed on the improvement 

Appendix 3, Q7b, p.51 

Industry suggested to advance daily activities skills such as hand sketching, 3D modeling and rendering; to build stronger research skills; to enhance pattern drafting skills; to 
introduce business and market knowledge relevant to the current local and global economy. The latter raise the need to re-evaluate courses MRKT 1199 
and 4177 

SSR, p.42 

Faculty expressed concern that instruction is too assessment heavy, which is demanding on students and on instructors SSR, 49 
DFW rates for Level 3 are visibly higher in Product Design than across the program, and across the school SSR, 53 
A few areas merit further investigation to determine underlying issues and amelioration strategies. Here are some notable examples drawn from the Student Survey 
Report (Appendix 2, pages 17-39). Question 12. The clarity of the information I receive on how I will be evaluated: 50% Somewhat Dissatisfied The consistency of 
assessment standards throughout the program: 57% Very or Somewhat Dissatisfied The feedback my instructors provide: 29% Somewhat Dissatisfied 

ERR, 7 



Product Design Quality Assurance Plan 

KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan Page 6 

 

 

 

GOAL 3: To reorganise the program model to enhance work-integrated/experiential learning, inter-disciplinary and global opportunities. 
 

RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL: Throughout the phases of the SSR and external review reports, we identified the need for improving students’ leadership and entrepreneurial skills, collaborative problem 
skills (CPS), as well as skills in real-world problem solving. Likewise, through our competitive and comparative analysis, and in speaking with our Advisory Committee, we determined that cooperative 
education is effective and recommended for the product design degree curriculum. Therefore, we realized the necessity to expand experiential learning in the program curricula and activities. 

 
Expanding the educational experience beyond classrooms by integrating cooperative education, international student/faculty exchange, and conducting multidisciplinary projects, we would provide 
instant opportunities for students to apply their professional skills and knowledge in real-world settings. Equally important, the extension of an experiential curriculum will strengthen the design 
portfolio of our graduates, attract future employers, and embed perspective and enhance students’ training towards their professional careers in our rapidly changing world. 

 
Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Report (page 

number) 
However, as pointed out by alumni during the site visit, their key milestone actually is concerned with preparing portfolios to attract their future employers, who oftentimes are non-
designers, in order to secure the jobs. They can complete design tasks well in the real world, but before they are able to prove that they need to be employed first. 

ERR, pp.4 

To enhance the connection between the curriculum and the real-world of business, more focus can be placed on the understanding of the financial constraints that companies 
have when developing new products. Suggested by a Program Advisory Committee member, the curriculum may include cross-program courses that brings together students from 
the different faculties and schools to work together on a problem 

ERR, pp.4 

The ERT also supports the recommendation put forward by the program regarding the development of a full- term co-op that can be taught by co-op faculty to enhance 
experiential learning. The program may consider increasing the number of 6-credit courses which will allow students to achieve more refined results 
and to focus on fewer projects at a time 

ERR, pp.5 

We need to continue working with the International at KPU to identify new opportunities for student and faculty exchange to enhance the collaborative space 
between institutions. 

SSR, pp. 34 

Redevelopment of Industry Experience and change of the current 80-hour practicum to a full co-op is necessary to expand collaboration with the stakeholders while 
working on course content to develop further experiential learning. 

SSR, p.33 

Also discussed was the value of internationalization initiatives for both faculty and students. International faculty exchanges expose faculty to novel teaching 
methods, cultural issues relevant to the teaching of design concepts, and the impacts of globalization on the industry 

ERR, p.6 

This point is important for the program to maintain its currency with industry knowledge in the real world. The approach of using cross-program resources such 
as shared equipment and facilities is highly recommended as it may also yield potential for connections and collaborations between different programs at KPU 

ERR, p.8 

“...many opportunities exist for collaboration, research, and course sharing between Product Design and other KPU units and programs” ERR, p.8 
The approach of using cross-program resources such as shared equipment and facilities is highly recommended as it may also yield potential for connections and collaborations 
between different programs at KPU. 

ERR, p.8 

One member of the Program Advisory Committee stated the following, “I would like to see KPU leverage its cross functional programming. KPU has its school of 
business, engineering, and design schools. 

ERR, p.8 



Product Design Program Review Quality Assurance Plan 

KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan Page 7 

 

 

GOAL 4: To instill a desire for further skills, theories, and education in our students and further develop pathways to graduate studies. 
 

The Self-Study highlighted the need for mapping the skills and competencies needed to access employment and achieve career progression (Appendix 11). Job-entry level skills included, group 
collaboration, critical analysis, problem resolution, self-directedness, initiative, integrity and time management, as well as “practical” design skills like sketching and 3D modeling. In fact, the Advisory 
Committee identified many of these as required for career progression. We propose that a vertical curriculum model will contribute to a student’s depth of learning experience, provide diverse 
perspectives on product design practice, and encourage graduates to further their education and career journeys. 

 
RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL: While over 50% of our alumni were satisfied/very satisfied with their preparedness for further education, the fact that none commented on their plan or next steps 
provoked further questions on how to better prepare our students to self-audit, and equally important, how to instill a desire for further education. The SSR provided an overview of a mapping 
activity initiated by our Industry Advisory Committee, looking at the skills and competencies needed to access employment and achieve career progression. It also highlighted the importance of 
graduate studies due to the competitive environment of the labour market and emerging new industry standards. (Harvard Business Review, January 7, 2020). 

 
Our Product Design Graduates access full-time, relevant employment demonstrating their job-readiness, however, design is an education for those who want to be part of world-changing, future- 
oriented career pathways. While our students possess the skills and knowledge to access employment, there is a need to take initiative and to be life-long learners. Doing so requires self-auditing of 
one’s skills and knowledge frameworks to approach and understand the world’s emergent problems. Recognizing what you need to know is determined by the situated context – and that in itself is a 
skill (Fry 2020). There has been support and interest from industry and graduates from the program support to develop industry and post graduate courses through either CPS or Micro credentials for 
further education to stay current and on the cutting edge with our program specialties. 

 
Building on the proceeding goals, developing the graduate program in Product Design must be seen as an integral long-term goal conducive to an adaptive response to the ever-changing employment 
landscape. Enhancing graduate aspirations (Goal 4) and building on experiential learning (Goal 3), the development of an in-house program is fundamental. Housing this program within a 
polytechnic/multi-disciplinary university, where there are already two established graduate program streams, would align us with comparable programs nationally and internationally. This further 
aligns with the KPU 2030 Vision and Academic Plan (teaching excellence & research). 

 

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Report (page number) 

External reviewers highlighted the need for more training and preparation on what to expect in a professional working environment, and collaboration with non- 
designers and stakeholders. 

ERR, p.3 

“Industry-relevant communication skills would be useful.” ERR, p.7 
Map of Skills along the career path SSR, p.40 
In a dialog with industry to investigate the viability and need for further education, to explore how the existing program outcomes could be bridged into graduate programs 
listed in the studies. By doing this we would be able to assess the program value propositions in light of career opportunities adequate to existing labor market standards. 

SSR, p.44 

  



Product Design Program Review Quality Assurance Plan 

KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan Page 8 

 

 

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Report (page number) 

Pathways for further education: To investigate the viability and need for further education, through dialogue with industry, we would explore how the existing 
program outcomes could be bridged into graduate programs listed in the studies. 

SSR, p.72 

Specialty Skills Courses for Continuing Professional Studies: To explore and expand the offering of industry and professionals looking to upgrade their skills in these 
areas. 

SSR, p.72 

A vertical curriculum model will contribute to a student’s depth of learning experience, provide diverse perspectives on product design practice, and encourage 
graduates to further their education and career journeys. 

SSR, p.68 

“...within the further investigation into the alignment between product design and the listed institutions, our graduates might have opportunities to continue 
education in graduate studies: (institutions/programmes lists) 

SSR, pp.41 

Pathways for Further Education: To investigate the viability and need for further education, through dialogue with industry, we would explore how the existing 
program outcomes could be bridged into graduate programs listed in the studies. 

SSR, pp.72 

Although there has been no current indication of any alumni who have continued to pursue further education as of yet, the program has identified potential 
pathways to pursue post graduate work and will continue to engage in further discussion with industry to determine the value of an enhanced credential. Additional 
investigation will also be needed to assess program alignment with the identified post-graduate programs that were noted in a previous chapter and the findings 
may inform future curricular revisions. 

SSR, pp.74 

 
 

GOAL 5: To be better known in the world of design through engagement with industry, community, and education. 
 
RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL: The program's identity relates directly to the diversity that the program has in its faculty expertise and technological infrastructure. Although recognized as a specialized 
program, the potential for a more significant impact lies in the program's agility and diversity and how it will be communicated in order to attract not only more, but also high-quality potential applicants. 
Visibility would facilitate new partnerships and connections with industry and community stakeholders that will assist in making the student’s learning journey a much richer one with collaborations, 
exchanges, research projects and a possible co-op. 

To address the needs of the current changing global market, we need to stay current and on the cutting edge with our specialties. One thing that has truly shown the light in the past months is our 
specialty knowledge, skills and facilities that have enabled faculty and students to respond to the need for PPE (personal protection equipment) for frontline workers and industry. To remain current with 
industry standards, and ethical, socially responsible and sustainable design practices, it would be beneficial to maintain professional association memberships, conference networks, and 
attend/participate in other professional events both in-person and virtually. This goal would ensure we maintain agility and relevance in our program and resources and raise the standards of our 
educational offerings. 
  



Product Design Program Review Quality Assurance Plan 

KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan Page 9 

 

 

 

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Report (page number) 

Design Competitions: To encourage participation in various international design competitions to enhance and gain national/international exposure that would validate 
student skills and graduation attributes, and to include competition participation as a requirement for a design portfolio. 

SSR, 69 

Also discussed was the value of internationalization initiatives for both faculty and students. International faculty exchanges expose faculty to novel teaching methods, 
cultural issues relevant to the teaching of design concepts, and the impacts of globalization on the industry. 

ERR, 6 

Connections and Partnerships: While Industry/Sector representatives identified a number of strong and engaging characteristics that capture the connections between 
our program and industry, they also offered advice on how to strengthen the connections with the discipline/sector. The recommendations include the following: focusing 
on creating strong partnerships, organizing visits to manufacturers/suppliers, liaising with commerce and industry chambers, visiting and participating in local and 
international exhibitions, and involving local professionals in the education process. Many of these activities are currently integrated into our program. Further, the 
faculty are highly responsive to enquiries for expert input, interviews, product reviews, and research stories; however, enquiries 
can be time-consuming and tend to focus on student experience over research activity. 

SSR p. 29 

Connections and Partnerships via an Industry Liaison: The development and resourcing of an Industry Liaison would facilitate a strategic and target approach to 
connections, partnerships and practicum. There would need to be a designated 3-year plan with faculty time and resources allotted to develop the relationships, 
the structure and, in parallel, undertake the curricular procedures for the Product Design Industry Experience course. This relates to the subsequent point. 

SSR p.70 

Program Identity: We will undertake a review of name recognition and relevance according to industry trends with regards to a possibility of making an 
amendment/extension to the degree program name. 

SSR, p.71 

Given that opportunities for employment and collaboration are global, it would have been illuminating to see the similarities and differences between KPU’s 
Product Design program and comparable international degrees. 

ERR, p.3 

A global trend analysis might inform program changes that could help future-proof KPU’s Product Design graduates. ERR, p.3 
 
 

GOAL 6: To enhance program visibility to attract quality applicants well matched to the program offering 
 

RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL: Product Design is still a fairly new program at KPU, and the Wilson School of Design. Even though applications have been increasing yearly, the increase is still not enough 
for the program to maintain quality students and maximize on student successes. This goal for quality of applicants would also help with attrition rates due to students leaving and or failing, giving 
Product Design stronger sustainability with less chance of losing FTE’s due to quality of applications. With quality applicants, the conversion and retention rates are more successful. Also, higher quality 
applicants lead to more successful graduates that further enhance program visibility. 



Product Design Quality Assurance Plan 

KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan Page 10 

 

 

 
Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Report (page number) 

Program Visibility and Recruitment: Targeted product-design relevant approaches warrant a designated strategy, budget and resources. SSR p.70 
The program uses several good strategies to do public information and community outreach including website and social media, open doors, portfolio workshops, follow-
ups by the Future Student Office, faculty and alumni networks, etc. The program still struggles somewhat for recognition, which is likely a function of its newness, lack of 
time for faculty outreach activities, and the fact that the name Product Design (which other schools call Industrial Design) is more closely associated with software and 
mobile applications design. 

ERR p.3 

Kwantlen Polytechnic University’s Product Design program is the only degree-granting program in Canada, which puts it in a unique advantage position; 
nevertheless, there are still some improvements to be made in regard to its visibility and awareness among the community that could take it even further as a 
recognized and well-established program in the region. 

SSR p.9 

The past 1-2 years has seen an increased effort in marketing attention for the program, with particular efforts in the past year through the program coordinator, program 
assistant and support by all of the faculty. However, the in-program efforts are hindered by teaching demands and a lack of budget to support innovative 
marketing approaches directly relevant to the program. 

SSR p.23 

Community outreach is achieved through various course-based portals and approaches. SSR p.23 
While there is a growing awareness of the program over the seven years since its inception, in particular by industry contacts and program partners, public visibility and 
awareness is still very limited. In the Discipline/Sector survey (Appendix 5), 42 Product Design discipline/sector representatives contacted, with 12 respondents 
yielded a response rate of 29%; most respondents (66%) indicated they were moderately to very familiar with the program 

SSR p.24 

The student survey demonstrates that 8 of 20 respondents, or 40% of the current students who replied to the survey (Q2 Appendix 2) learned about the program from KPU’s 
website. A large portion of respondents (35%) cited other sources ranging from career counsellors, word of mouth and the FIND (Foundations in Design) program. High school 
teachers and counsellors were cited, but the number is relatively low (4 of 20 or 20%). National Portfolio Day was only cited by 2 students 
(10%) as their source of program information; however, this number may change in the future with KPU hosting this national-reach event in 2018 and 2019. 

SSR p.24 

Current public information and community outreach practices are appropriate and involve contributions by all program faculty; however, efforts need to be 
increased to further increase awareness of the program. The current KPU Wilson School of Design (WSD) website seems relatively effective for program information 

SSR p.26 

for students, but it has shown limited reach and relevance for raising awareness of the program. The WSD social media strategy hasn’t been in place for long 
enough to assess its impact on public awareness. 

 

Seat trends have been positive for Product Design, with a steady offering of 25 offers; the filled positions have grown from 8.6 in 2015 to 12 in 2019, above the average of 
the Wilson School of Design that has seen a steady 15 seats filled of 22 offers (Exhibit 7 Appendix 1). In 2019 we continued steady growth and filled 21 of 22, and for 2020 we 
are on mark to fill 22. Similar trends can be found in seats filled, Product Design has grown from 34% in 2015 to 49% in 2019, in comparison 
the overall of the Wilson School of Design has been a steady 76% (Exhibit 8 appendix 1). 

SSR p.27 

The number of students enrolled in Industrial Design and Product Design programs in BC has steadily increased every year since 2013 when the total number was 
197 to 226 in 2018. From that, KPU has also grown its share, from 13% in 2013 to 16% in 2018 (Exhibit 4 Appendix 1). 

SSR p.27 

 
 
 
 



Product Design Quality Assurance Plan 

KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan Page 11 

 

 

 
Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Report (page number) 

Program Visibility and Recruitment: While there is a growing awareness of the program over the seven years since its inception, in particular by industry contacts 
and program partners, visibility and awareness are still limiting the program’s efforts towards public information and community outreach. These efforts are also 
hindered by teaching demands and a lack of budget to support innovative marketing approaches directly relevant to the program. 

SSR p.29 

Transfer Credit: While there are unique elements to the program, those applying with prior design education should be given consideration for transfer credit in studio-based 
design courses. While the cohort model recommends all new students start together in Year 1, our experience with International Exchange design students shows us that it 
is feasible and attractive to applicants and current cohorts. This process needs to be formalized so that we are more prepared in the 
future, in case this arises. 

SSR p.30 

The current data has indicated that student demand is on the rise since the program’s inception in 2012, as increased engagement with industry and heightened awareness 
of the program creates a positive impact in the applicant numbers. The program is committed to ongoing analysis on strategic enrolment planning to monitor student 
numbers and to assess the appropriate review process for portfolio requirements. This also includes further focus on the development of strengthening pathways for 
advanced entry students via transfer credit and/or recognition of prior learning. An increase in the promotion on the awareness of career opportunities and highlighted 
alumni success stories will also support attracting student prospects. More collaboration with the Future Students’ Office 
Team will also assist to assess plans to strategically connect with suitable markets and to explore additional opportunities such as portfolio building workshops. 

SSR p.74 

For recruitment, this includes continued collaboration with the Future Students’ Office (FSO) team to connect with high schools and target markets to increase awareness of 
the program and associated career opportunities. This will also require the support of the Marketing team as well as a dedicated budget for strategic promotional initiatives 
via social media, virtual information sessions, tours, promotional video and highlights of success stories of alumni and Advisory Committee 
members. 

SSR p.76 

Further collaboration will continue with the Future Student’s Office to connect with high schools and the community via visits and workshops along with the 
development of online information sessions, a promotional video, virtual tours and other resources. 

SSR p.77 



Product Design Quality Assurance Plan 

KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan Page 12 

 

 

 

GOAL 7: To develop technological competence and production capabilities for academic specialization to distinguish, innovation, and industry related excellence 
 

RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL: As a program we are at a stage where we have just been able to cover the basics of what is required to complete the prototyping needs for successful product development. 
We will need to increase the offering in our lab spaces to maintain the current capabilities as well as grow to allow for more creative and technologically ready production. 

 

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Report (page number) 

There are needs for more high-tech machines in workshops to develop hard products, and better 3D printers to keep up with current technology.” SSR p.62 

It is apparent to the ERT that the program has well-equipped studios/workshops. As reflected in the Self-Study report and by one student during the site visit, the majority of 
the students see the high standard of facilities as an asset, guiding them to choose the program for their post-secondary education. However, as pointed out in Chapter 3 
and highlighted by one Program Advisory committee member, there is the need for more “high-tech” machinery for hard and soft materials as well as the necessary support 
and regular maintenance of equipment. This point is important for the program to maintain its currency with industry 
knowledge in the real world. 

ERR p.8 

3D printing and laser cutting, they would like to see it as part of a course SSR p.63 
Faculty recommendation: improving the 3D printing capabilities with larger volumes of fabrication, metal fabrication and Radiofrequency (RF) SSR p.64 
The approach of using cross-program resources such as shared equipment and facilities is highly recommended as it may also yield potential for connections and 
collaborations between different programs at KPU. 

ERR p.8 

Regarding the institutional support, the comments indicated that there is a need for cross-program resource sharing (e.g., Product Design and Physics can 
complement each other with diverse equipment and facilities). 

SSR p.64 

The faculty strongly believes that there is a need for research development resources. SSR p.64 
The identified gaps in technologies include but are not limited to • Radiofrequency (RF) Welder (textiles) • Computer Numerical Controlled (CNC) milling machine 

• Laser sintering and powder sintering 3D printers • More industry 3D software: i.e., Keyshot • Industry-standard tablets for sketching • Vacuum forming for 
plastic sheets • More capability for metalwork (welding, milling, etc.). 

SSR p. 64-65 

Student and faculty feedback cited the need for the Student Resource Room to better reflect the needs of Product Design, expanding it beyond Fashion and Interior 
Design. We propose to raise this with the school and to request that the appropriate staff seek donations that better reflect the breadth of design 
programs (e.g., more variety of hard and soft materials, textiles, etc.) and that space is allocated to these materials. 

SSR p.65 

The SSR would have benefited from an analysis of global trends in employment and disruptive technologies as well (e.g., sensor integration, IoT, AI, Big Data, virtual and 
augmented realities, etc.). For example, there is no auto manufacturing sector in BC. However, automotive manufacturing is a big employer in 
Ontario, Europe, the U.S., Japan, China, and South Korea and might offer attractive positions for our graduates. For this reason, a global trend analysis might inform 
program changes that could help future-proof KPU’s Product Design graduates. 

ERR p.3 

More high-tech machinery for hard materials in the workshop as well as more advanced 3D printers like laser sintering SSR, 63 
 
 



Product Design Quality Assurance Plan 

KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan Page 13 

 

 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS THE QUALITY ASSURANCE PLAN DOES NOT ADDRESS 
List the Recommendations from the Self-Study and External Review this Plan does not address. Provide a brief rationale for why these Recommendations cannot be addressed. Add or remove rows as 
necessary. 

 

Recommendations Report (page 
number) 

Rationale 

Increase access to labs and lab technician/training: 
Increase access (longer hours) and support 
(prototype/production lab technicians available to 
help students, while labs are open) for students 
when 
they use the Wilson School of Design labs. 

ERR,8 
 
 
 

SSR, 76 

‘They also stressed the importance of longer hours of access to workshops, which the ERT recognizes as providing the 
students with not only opportunities to complete their assignments to meet the high standard of execution but also 
flexibilities for them to work on their projects outside their class time.’ 

‘As the overall usage of lab/testing spaces, specialized equipment and technology increases for all students within the 
Wilson School of Design, the need for additional support and training for qualified technicians is also required. The 
current team of one Divisional Lab Coordinator and two Lab Technicians may also need to be supplemented with 
dedicated budget for fully trained student assistants.’ 

This is an identified need for the Product Design program. However, as a result of other Wilson School of Design 
(WSD) programs identifying this as a need, it is a WSD initiative that has been brought up with the Dean’s Office. 

Faculty Research and Additional Faculty Resources SSR, 76 'Faculty will need continued support for professional development and research 
opportunities to enhance teaching practices and to continue to build upon the program’s value proposition.’ 

This is an identified need for the Product Design program. Other Wilson School of Design (WSD) programs identifying this 
as a need, it is a WSD initiative that has been brought up 
with the Dean’s Office and the WSD research committee. 

Evergreen program WSD ERR, 8 This is key to maintain and continue to develop distinctiveness, technological competence, academic specialties and 
program cohesiveness via equipment, resources, and access 

It is apparent to the ERT that the program has well-equipped studios/workshops. As reflected in the Self-Study report 
and by one student during the site visit, the majority of the 
students see the high standard of facilities as an asset, guiding them to choose the program for their post-secondary 
education. However, as pointed out in Chapter 3 and highlighted by one Program Advisory committee member, there is 
the need for more “high-tech” machinery for hard and soft materials as well as the necessary support and regular 
maintenance of equipment. This point is important for the program to maintain its currency with industry knowledge in 
the real world. 
 
This is an identified need for the Product Design program. Other Wilson School of Design (WSD) programs identifying this 
as a need, it is a WSD initiative that has been brought up with the Dean’s Office. 



Product Design Quality Assurance Plan 

KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan Page 14 

Recommendations Report (page 
number) 

Rationale 

WSD Co-op Program EER, 5 The ERT also supports the recommendation put forward by the program regarding the development of a full- term 
co-op that can be taught by co-op faculty to enhance experiential learning. 

This is an identified need for the Product Design program. Other Wilson School of Design (WSD) programs identifying 
this as a need, it is a WSD initiative that has been brought up with the Dean’s Office and industry partners. 

Student Health and Wellness SSR, 70 There is a call for the institution (student affairs and other divisions) to identify and assess how they can meet student 
expectations and needs for other aspects of student health and wellness that impact. 

This is an identified need for the Product Design program. There also needs to be other collaboration with other units 
within KPU, such as Student Services. Other Wilson School of Design (WSD) programs identifying this as a need, it is a 
WSD initiative that has been brought up with the Dean’s Office. 



Product Design Quality Assurance Plan 

KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan Page 15 

QUALITY ASSURANCE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN 
Describe the Quality Assurance Strategies (specific plans of action) the program must achieve to attain its Goal over the next five year. Detail the steps the program will take to achieve each Strategy. 
Add or remove Strategies and tables as necessary. 

MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGINS: 01/22 

STRATEGY 1: To develop an updated and adaptable program framework that responds to the changing industry and student needs. 

GOAL 1: To update our core program framework 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy To be Led by To Start 
on (M/YY) 

To be 
Completed 
By (M/YY) 

Notes 

Strike a committee to develop new curricular framework development Chair or Team 
Member with 
Time release 
for  this phase 

01/22 01/22 

This is the planning phase: create a committee and 
then organise the meetings and over timeline and plan. 
We would also bring the Advisory Committee into one 
of these planning meeting as they have been 
instrumental during our program review process. 

Complete framework with further information to work on strategy #2 (curriculum 
development) Committee 01/22 05/22 

This is the reworking of the core framework of the 
program that will then guide the curricular 
and assessment development in Strategy 2 

Resource Implications (if applicable) 
What are the resources required to achieve this strategy?  Course leaf training needs to start in this phase to support the move into strategy 2 as well 
as consulting with Teaching and Learning to support and align program learning outcomes/curricular mapping. 
When are these resources required? Throughout the process from 1/22 to 5/22 as we will be building and adapting the framework and consulting with 
the recourses identified will be key. 
What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required? Faculty time supported by administrative staff/Program Assistant, support from the Dean’s 
office, the Teaching Learning department, and the Product Design Advisory Committee, 



Product Design Quality Assurance Plan 

KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan Page 16 

 

 

 

STRATEGY 2: To develop the and implement updated curriculum and assessment methods: 
 

GOAL 2: To update our core course / curricular content: 
 

1. Assessment Formats: Students indicated they would prefer more clarity in the criteria for evaluation, a finding echoed by faculty. This could be achieved by mapping the attainment of program 
competencies, skill level and learning outcomes. Having a set of rubrics for Year 1, 2,3 4 to show the progression of learning would also help to achieve more consistency across courses (Appendix 12: 
Map of Product Design Skills Across Program). We will work together as a faculty team, and seek support from KPU Teaching and Learning, to identify and develop clearer rubrics. We will then 
encourage the use of those rubrics as a way to address criteria for evaluation and consistency between instructors. 

 
2. Assessment Demands: The evidence from the faculty highlighted that instruction is too assessment heavy which is demanding on students and on instructors. To reduce assessment demands on 
faculty we will identify and explore opportunities to seek complementary activities/outcomes. Projects will be designed to align the learning outcomes/activities across more than one course (e.g., Level 
1: DEPD 1100: Design Methods and DEPD 1140: Model Making). This may also allow for the coordination of deadlines and weights of projects with each year of study, to support a manageable workload 
balance. 

 
3. Expectations: Students indicated they would prefer more clarity in the standards of expectations, a finding echoed by faculty. The practice of peer-identified exemplars, introduced in Level 1 Design 
Studio, may provide a mechanism for demonstrating the expectation in class. We will identify and review appropriate examples, including “exceptional achievement” and “minimum requirements” for 
all Product Design courses so we have an inventory of this content and examples we can share with students. We will work together as a faculty team, and seek support from KPU Teaching and 
Learning, to identify and develop a repository of exemplars. 

 
Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy To be Led 

by 
To Start 

on (M/YY) 
To be 

Completed 
By (M/YY) 

Notes 

Develop updated course content, and assessment formats that align with the 
laddering frameworks from strategy 1 with faculty Chair & 

Faculty 01/22 09/22 

To respond to the critical curricular alignment, and 
assessment formats outlined in both the SSR report, ERR 
report the course content/assessments need to be updated 
to follow the framework flow from strategy 1 

Present updated course outlines, discuss, recommendations, and approve at WSD 
curriculum committee Chair & 

Committee 12/22 12/22 
Work with WSD curriculum committee to make sure the 
full program review package is 
ready for SSCC 

Present and approve at SSCC Chair & 
Committee 01/23 01/23 

Make sure that we are working ahead of schedule in case 
we have to revise a section if 
needed to have roll out in Fall 2023 



Product Design Quality Assurance Plan 

KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan Page 17 

 

 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy To be Led 
by 

To Start 
on (M/YY) 

To be 
Completed 
By (M/YY) 

Notes 

Present and approve at senate Chair & 
Committee 02/23 04/23 

Make sure that we are working ahead of schedule in case 
we have to revise a section if 
needed to have roll out in fall 2023 

Update website and marketing materials to reflect curriculum changes for Fall 2023 
cohort 

Chair, 
Dean’s 

office, and 
Program 
Assistant 

Fall 2022 Spring 2023 

The team will make sure the all-marketing material 
remains relevant from website to pamphlets, and updated 
as the program changes roll out and all departments from 
FSO to International is informed and updated 
as necessary along the process 

 
Resource Implications (if applicable) 

What are the resources required to achieve this strategy? Faculty and staff time required for all initiatives. WSD Deans’ office and administrative 
assistants as well as Educational Advisor. Time for faculty to lead and coordinate curriculum & course outline revisions. Course leaf training. 
When are these resources required? Throughout the process from 1/22 to 4/23 as there will be key consulting needed to align both learning outcomes 
and assessments 
What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required? What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required? Close collaboration with the WSD Dean’s 
office and administrative support for program and course outline revisions through the Curriculum Committee process; this will include both the 
Faculty and Senate level committees, as well as the Senate Office and Provost/VPA Office for Ministry related approvals if required. Additionally, on- 
going engagement from the Advisory Committee will be critical to maintain currency, relevancy and experiential learning opportunities. 

 
 
 
 



Product Design Quality Assurance Plan 

KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan Page 18 

 

 

 

STRATEGY 3: To facilitate a program that integrates experiential learning not only work-integrated, but also includes inter-disciplinary and global opportunities. 

GOAL 3: To reorganise the program model to enhance work-integrated/experiential learning, inter-disciplinary and global opportunities. 

 
Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy To be Led by To Start 

on (M/YY) 

To be 
Completed 
By (M/YY) 

 
Notes 

Explore sourcing options to create a position for “External Liaison”: Some strong themes 
and specific ideas emerged that support the need to enhance experiential learning. 
Product Design currently incorporates industry-based projects into several of its courses 
every semester but would greatly benefit from the development of an Industry Liaison 
position that would facilitate a strategic and targeted approach to connections to further 
facilitate these key projects for both faculty and students. 

Chair and Faculty 
committee 01/22 09/22 

The development and resourcing of an Industry 
Liaison would facilitate a strategic and targeted 
approach to connections, 
partnerships, practicum, curriculum industry 
projects, and Co-op. 

Develop a rotating Special Topic course for Product Design: there is strong support for 
a special topic course that would enhance and focus on current industry experiential 
learning from industry and the advisory committee. This would allow the program to 
have a shell course to quickly respond to the current trends/global issue/innovation. 

Chair and Faculty 
committee with 

External 
Liaison 

01/22 9/22 

There is strong support from Faculty, Students, 
Industry, and the Advisory committee for a special 
topic course that would enhance and focus on 
current industry experiential learning. 

Identify and establish a complement of new industry experiences, field schools, and 
community engagement projects: Given that opportunity for employment and 
collaboration are global, our program needs to be comparable to relevant and recognised 
design institutions on the international scale. 

Chair and 
External Liaison 09/22 01/27 

There would need to be a designated 3-year plan 
with faculty time and resources allotted to develop 
the relationships, the structure and in parallel, 
undertake the curricular procedures. 

Explore a Co-op program for Product Design: Industry and the advisory committee 
propose to replace the current 80-hour unpaid practicum format with a co-op 
opportunity 

Chair and 
External Liaison 01/24 01/27 

Industry and the advisory committee propose to 
replace the current 80-hour unpaid practicum 
format with a co-op opportunity that would further 
support experiential learning and graduate outcome. 

 
Resource Implications (if applicable) 

What are the resources required to achieve this strategy? Allocation of budget for a time release for faculty Industry Liaison 
When are these resources required? Product design would benefit from the faculty industry Liaison starting as soon as Fall 2022 as they need to be part 
of the final development for curriculum and experiential learning components of the QA Plan 
What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required? Dean, Business Manager, VP Academic, and Faculty Liaison 

  



Product Design Quality Assurance Plan 

KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan Page 19 

 

 

 

STRATEGY 4: Achieve students/alumni that are enrolled in graduate school/specialty education: Develop a graduate diploma in Product Design which further aligns with the KPU 2030 vision (teaching 
excellence & research). Support industry and post graduate further education through CPS and development in Micro credentials. 

 
GOAL 4: To instill a desire for further skills, theories, and education in our students and further develop pathways to graduate studies. 

 
 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy To be Led 
by 

To Start 
on (M/YY) 

To be 
Completed 
By (M/YY) 

 
Notes 

Develop intentional feedback with individual students highlighting academic 
potential Chair and 

Faculty 04/22 04/22 
Creating a “catalogue” of options link to a possible guidance for 
career path building with students to help them be unique 
“hybrid” designers. 

Create a culture of communication regarding academic studies (be 
transparent on how to be a life-long learner by sharing our own 
experiences) 

Chair and 
Faculty 04/22 04/22 

Enhance faculty and staff opportunities for PD, research, and further 
education with institutional support that then is transparent, shared, 
communicated, and or evident through practice in the classroom. 

Develop within the curriculum self-auditing practices as well as laddering 
of knowledge and skills for job preparedness for instilling a future-oriented 
career pathway 

Chair and 
Faculty 01/22 09/23 

Elevate the newly developed vertical curriculum model that will 
contribute to a student’s depth of learning experiences, provide 
diverse perspectives on product design practices, and encourage 
graduates to further their education and career journeys. 

Highlight current graduate studies fairs in the lower mainland Chair and 
Faculty 01/22 01/27 

Work with academic advising, faculty, and staff to create an accessible 
list of current and upcoming graduate opportunities and fairs 

Engage in faculty exchange 

Chair and 
Faculty 01/24 01/27 

As mentioned in the EER, International faculty exchanges expose 
faculty to novel teaching methods, cultural issues relevant to the 
teaching of design concepts, and the impacts of globalization on the 
industry. It also creates collaboration between different organizations 
for further pathways. 



Product Design Quality Assurance Plan 

KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan Page 20 

 

 

 
 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy To be Led 
by 

To Start 
on (M/YY) 

To be 
Completed 
By (M/YY) 

 
Notes 

Develop partnerships with comparable/compatible institutions 

Chair 01/22 05/24 

Our Product Design Graduates access full- time, relevant employment 
demonstrating their job-readiness, however, design is an education for 
those who want to be part of world-changing, future-oriented career 
pathways. While our students possess the skills and knowledge to 
access employment, there is a need to take initiative and to be life- 
long learners. Doing so requires self-auditing of one’s skills and 
knowledge frameworks to approach and understand the world’s 
emergent problems. Recognizing what you need to know is 
determined by the situated context – and that in itself is a skill (Fry 
2020). 

Support industry and post graduate further education through 
CPS and development in Micro credentials Chair and 

faculty 01/22 05/25 

There has been support and interest from industry and graduates from 
the program support to develop industry and post graduate courses 
through either CPS or Micro credentials for further education to stay 
current and on the cutting edge with our program specialties. 

Explore the viability of our own graduate distinctive program 
Chair and 

faculty 
committee 

01/24 01/27 

Student interviews indicate there is interest and awareness of the 
opportunities in comparative institutions graduate programs. The 
development of this next step in creating a product design graduate 
program would support student recruitment and retention, with the 
essential factor of revenue generation. 

 
Resource Implications (if applicable) 

What are the resources required to achieve this strategy? Continued PD, education, and research support from the Dean’s office and KPU for faculty 
and staff, and graduate studies, 
When are these resources required? Throughout the process as this will be an ongoing faculty and staff engagement strategic plan, and graduate 
studies 
What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required? Provost Office, Senate Office, Advising, Dean’s office, International (faculty mobility), AVP 
Research office. Collaboration with other programs such as Business, Tech Apparel, Graduate Studies, and Teaching and Learning, 

 
 
 



Product Design Quality Assurance Plan 

KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan Page 21 

 

 

 

STRATEGY 5: To achieve greater recognition for our distinctiveness as a program 
 

GOAL 5: To be better known in the world of design through engagement with industry, community, and education. 
 

 
Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy To be Led 

by 
To Start 

on (M/YY) 

To be 
Completed 
By (M/YY) 

 
Notes 

Attain membership in professional societies Faculty 
committee 

With support 
of             the Chair 

01/22 05/22 By attending professional events, students and faculty will be able to 
present their work and research and contribute to knowledge 
production and exchange. To remain current with industry standards, 
and ethical, socially responsible and sustainable design practices, it 
would be beneficial to maintain professional association memberships, 
conference networks, and attend/participate in other professional 
events both in -person and 
virtually. 

Develop procedures for competition entry and integrate that with curriculum Faculty 
committee 

With support 
of the Chair 

05/22 09/22 To encourage participation in various international design 
competitions to enhance and gain national/international exposure 
that would validate student skills and graduation 
attributes. 

Explore sources of external funding to support competition entries for 
students 

Faculty 
committee 

With support 
of the Chair 

05/22 05/24 To include competition participation as a requirement for a design 
portfolio. To be able to achieve local and global recognition 
requesting funding for inclusivity for the student body. 
 
Product Design has achieved both local and global recognition 
through awards including the Core 77 Community Prize in 
Commercial Equipment (USA, 2019), Core 77 First Place Student 
Winner, Commercial Equipment (USA, 2021), Simon Cox Student 
Design Competitions (Vancouver, 2019 & 2021), and recently 
ICE-SAR (Iceland Search and Rescue) Design Sprint Challenge 
(Iceland, 2021), Hatching Health (Vancouver, 2017). 



Product Design Quality Assurance Plan 

[KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan Page 22 

 

 

 
 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy To be Led 
by 

To Start 
on (M/YY) 

To be 
Completed 
By (M/YY) 

 
Notes 

Explore sources of funding for faculty outreach through faculty exchange and 
field schools 

Faculty 
committee 

With support 
of the Chair 

05/23 05/26 Establishing a mechanism for participation in International Exchange 
and Field Schools for both students and faculty would help to place our 
program on the international level with other local and Canadian 
institutions. 

Create a clear identity and procedures for engagement with external 
partners 

Chair and 
faculty 

committee 

05/25 01/27 This would ensure we maintain agility and relevance in our program 
and resources and raise the standards of our educational 
offerings. 

 
 

Resource Implications (if applicable) 
What are the resources required to achieve this strategy? Allocation of Budget from Dean’s office or AVP Research office 
When are these resources required? Budget allocation will be needed throughout the short-, medium-, and long-term phases of this goal 
What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required? WSD research committee, Dean’s office, and AVP Research office 

 
 
  



Product Design Quality Assurance Plan 

[KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan Page 23 

 

 

 
STRATEGY 6: Increase in student recruitment, conversion, and retention 

 
GOAL 6: To attain program viability by maintaining student intake cohort through quality applicants well matched to the program offering. 

 
 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy To be Led 
by 

To Start 
on (M/YY) 

To be 
Completed 
By (M/YY) 

Notes: Partner with FSO on all steps so that all departments are in alignment 

Develop a cohesive marketing strategy that highlights our 
program’s specificness by highlight our student/alumni 
achievements 

Chair, PA, 
communication 

coordinator, 
and faculty 
committee 

03/22 06/22 

For quality of applicants would also help with attrition rates due to students leaving and 
or failing, giving Product Design stronger sustainability with less chance of losing FTE’s 
due to quality of applications. With quality applicants, the conversion and retention 
rates are more successful. Also, higher quality applicants lead to more successful 
graduates that further enhance program visibility. 

Work closely with International to develop a specific 
workshop about Product Design for potential students PA and Chair 05/22 10/22 

International has been such a great partner for Product Design. To further enhance 
this relationship, create online or in person workshops to support applicants and 
potential through the application process. 

Develop relationships with high schools in the Lower 
Mainland with dual credit programs and develop further 
workshops 

Chair, PA, and 
faculty 

committee 
05/22 05/24 

With the change in K-12 curriculum and development of dual credit we need to further 
foster these potential pathways for our local students. Workshops would further 
enhance this relationship with high schools/students by offering online or in person 
workshops to support applicants and potential applicants through the application 
process. 

Develop an educational outreach and marketing strategy 
and pilot the developed strategy 

Chair, PA, and 
faculty 

committee, 
05/22 06/26 

Develop a marketing and outreach strategy that highlights current student and 
gradate success in industry projects, competitions, etc. Highlighted alumni stories to 
show career pathways. 

Develop student inclusivity plan to ensure that we include 
people of colour, indigenous students, and highlight 
diversity in our current student body and their projects 

Chair, PA, and 
faculty 

committee 
01/23 01/26 

Product Design want to work with PDEC to ensure that KPU provides learning and 
working environments that are inclusive and supportive for all members of the KPU 
community. PDEC improve the focus on indigeneity, accessibility of our campuses, 
support the Academic Plan Implementation, further Trans-inclusivity initiatives, the 
LGBTQ community, and discuss student services, resources and athletics. 

Identify and strengthen relationships with international 
educational institutions that are relevant to Product 
Design (exchanges and articulation agreements) 

Chair, PA, and    
faculty 

committee 
01/25 01/27 

 



Product Design Quality Assurance Plan 

KPU Wilson School of Design Quality Assurance Plan Page 24 

 

 

   
Provost’s Signature 

Dean’s Signature 

 
Resource Implications (if applicable) 

What are the resources required to achieve this strategy? Allocated marketing/faculty budget to allow for marketing and outreach strategies 
When are these resources required? Marketing budget is needed throughout this phase in different areas 
What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required? Dean, Business Manager, Marketing, PA, PDEC, and FSO 

 

STRATEGY 7: Develop production capabilities to allow for innovation and industry related excellence 
 

GOAL 7: To develop technological competence and production capabilities for academic specialization to distinguish, innovation, and industry related excellence 
 

 
Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy To be Led by To Start 

on (M/YY) 

To be 
Completed 
By (M/YY) 

 
Notes 

Request capital funds to develop machinery to be on par with our 
relevant industries as outlined in the Self Study Report 

Faculty and     Divisional 
Lab Coordinator 01/22 09/22 

We have documentation and recommendations from our current 
Advisory Committee and industry. 

Develop requests for new machinery and technology based on updated 
curriculum 

Faculty and  Divisional 
Lab Coordinator 04/23 09/23 

This is in alignment with the updates program framework and 
curriculum (goal 1 and 2) to stay competitive as academic 
specialists. 

Develop a center of excellence in materials, testing and manufacturing Faculty and  Divisional 
Lab Coordinator 04/25 09/26 

Maintain distinctiveness, and technological  competence. 

 
 

Resource Implications (if applicable) 
What are the resources required to achieve this strategy? Capital budget, Faculty training, Technology support, Machinery support, Technician support 
and Training 
When are these resources required? Each phase of the goal whether it is short term or long term 
What faculty and/or Institutional support is required? Dean, Divisional Lab Coordinator, Technicians, IT, Business manager 

 

PLAN SUPPORTED BY: 
 

 Dr. Diane Purvey, Provost &_VP, Academic Pro Tem 
Provost’s Name 

 
November 3, 2021 
   
Date 

Andhra Goundrey November 2, 2021 
Dean’s Name Date 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
       Reviewers’ Comments: Quality Assurance Plan 
 

1 
 

  

PROGRAM UNDER REVIEW:  Product Design 

Instructions for Reviewers 
Your assessment should ensure the Quality Assurance Plan does the following: 

o address all the recommendations in the Self-Study and External Review reports (or provide a clear 
rationale when a recommendation is not addressed); 

o provide clear, realistic plan of actions that are within the department’s purview; 
o clearly articulate how the Program will demonstrate Progress on a Goal, Strategy and/or Step in its One-

Year Follow-Up Report. 
 

OVERALL ASSESSMENT:  
 
Reviewer #1: Throughout the whole Quality Assurance process, faculty members have been diligent in 
addressing the needs of students, colleagues and industry/community as identified through the External 
Review.  The responses in this QA plan might be further detailed to better inform program reviewers – hence 
the suggested actions/questions and comments below. However, the team has done an excellent job in 
identifying strategies and plans to address the challenges and opportunities to ensure a quality program. 
Kudos to all involved. 
 
The Product Design program has received local and global recognition through a number of significant 
awards. Students in the senior years of the program achieve good recognition for their work and graduates of 
the program gain relevant employment. There is a strong Advisory Committee, and this could be better 
utilized to connect and mentor students. The timelines set out in the plan seem reasonable and achievable 
and comments point to capacity to achieve the goals. 
 
It was noted that students entering the program lack essential skills for high success. Access to key 
technologies and resources are also lacking.  
 
Reviewer #2: Overall this is a very good QA plan, which outlines a coherent set of goals and strategies that 
will help bring this relatively young program to maturity. The steps to achieve the goals seem manageable and 
achievable and I commend the program for their ambition and vision, and for their thoughtful consideration 
of the needs of their students. I just have some comments and suggested actions below. 
 
The Report (click on the box that corresponds to your recommendation):  
 

☒          Reviewer #1: Recommend for approval by the SSCPR as is 
☒          Reviewer #2: Recommend for approval by the SSCPR pending suggested actions (see below) 
☐          Recommend for rejection by the SSCPR 

 
 
 
 
 
  



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
       Reviewers’ Comments: Quality Assurance Plan 
 

2 
 

 
MAJOR ISSUES AND SUGGESTED ACTIONS:  
Complete this section ONLY if you have identified the following major issues with the Plan: 

a) Recommendations made in the Self-Study Report and/or External Review Report are not appropriately 
addressed. 

b) Goals, Strategies, Steps and/or Resource Implications are not worded clearly. 
c) It is unclear how the Program will demonstrate Progress on a Goal, Strategy and/or Step in its One-Year 

Follow-Up Report. 
 

Issue (page #) Suggested Action 
p.3 under point #1: Wonder if consideration is given 
to rotate instructors within courses and team teach? 

 

p.4 - 4th line – clarify:  
“Unproportionable allotted hours to in-class 
studies…”  
  

 

p.5 The latter raises the need to re-evaluate courses 
MRKT 1199 and 4177 
 

Explain what is intended here – not clear. 

p.7 It also highlighted the importance of graduate 
studies due to the competitive environment of the 
labour market and emerging new industry standards. 
(Harvard Business Review, January 7, 2020). 

Any more comments re the development of graduate 
programs? 

p.8/19 Vertical curriculum model is mentioned 
several times.  

What is intended? Perhaps provide more clarity. 

p.10 The current KPU Wilson School of Design (WSD) 
website seems relatively effective…  
 

Is this true – is there a need for a refresh? 

p.11 How has the Product Design team worked with 
the FSO? 

Encourage connections with FSO. 

p.14  
“There is a call for the institution (student affairs and 
other divisions) to identify and assess how they can 
meet student expectations and needs for other 
aspects of student health and wellness that impact.” 

Student Affairs would be happy to work with faculty 
members on student health and wellness initiatives. 

p.15 Step 1 Workload and time-release is an item that the 
program needs to consult the Dean’s office with.  

p.18 Industry Liaison Industry Liaison – great idea – process for finding the 
person(s)? 

p.18 Special Topic Course Special Topic Course – great idea! 
p.18 Co-op Good plan – talk with CRC for assistance. 
P. 19 Step 2 Can this be achieved within 1 month? 
p.20 Develop industry and post graduate courses 
through either CPS or Micro credentials.  

Excellent! 

p.22 International Exchange and Field Schools for 
both students and faculty. 

Encourage this and the pre-visit virtual experiences 
that have been developed as a result of the pandemic 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
       Reviewers’ Comments: Quality Assurance Plan 
 

3 
 

 – works well as a starting point to an exchange or 
filed school experience. Talk with International. 

p.23 K-12 curriculum and development of dual credit 
we need to further foster these potential pathways 
for our local students. 

See lots of potential here – work with dual credit in 
FSO. 

p.23 PDEC improve the focus on indigeneity, … 
 

Good to see some reference to Indigeneity. However, 
could see more possibilities for exploring Product 
Design with an Indigenous perspective – including 
hiring Indigenous instructors/scholars. 

P. 23 Step 6 Additional information in the comments column? 
Also, is there a reason why this initiative can’t start 
now and wait until 2025? 

P. 24 Step 1  Capital budget request is through the Dean’s office. 
Hence, the program should consult the Dean and 
seek options to request capital funds.  

Expanding the curriculum beyond design courses and 
giving students more freedom to take electives was 
mentioned in the External Review Report (p3, 6, 7). 
Although breadth is mentioned briefly in Goal 2, it is 
not mentioned in the strategies/steps. 

Should this be addressed more in the QA plan, or is it 
implicitly part of Strategy 1 and/or 2? 

The ERR mentions that students/alumni 
recommended “better preparation for the increased 
workload in 2nd year”, but I don’t think this is 
mentioned in the QA plan.  

Should this be addressed in one of the 
goals/strategies? 

Recommendation 3 of the Self Study report 
(requesting more library resources) does not seem to 
be addressed in the QA plan. 

Provide rationale for why it is not addressed. 

Recommendation 17 of the Self-Study includes a 
review of the science content of the program, but 
this is not mentioned in the QA plan. 

Perhaps include this in Strategy 2. If not, provide 
rationale for why it is not addressed. 

Recommendation 17 of the Self-Study includes 
addition of indigenous studies to the program. 
Although indigeneity is mentioned in Strategy 6 in 
terms of inclusion, I don’t see mention of including 
more indigenous studies in the curricular content. 

Perhaps include this in Strategy 2 or provide rationale 
for why it is not addressed. 

Recommendation 20 of the Self-Study (space for 
group work, access to food, and social integration) 
doesn’t seem to be addressed. 

Provide rationale for why it is not addressed. 

Recommendation 24 of the Self-Study mentions 
courses or projects in robotics, electronics and 
coding, but they are not mentioned in QA plan.  

Are these some of the “appropriate skills” that are 
mentioned in the Weaknesses section of p1? If so, 
could that be explicitly stated? 

Recommendation 27 of the Self-Study (course 
alignment with policy AC14) doesn’t seem to be 
addressed. 

Provide rationale for why it is not addressed. 

Page 13: The need for high-tech machinery is listed as 
not being addressed by the QA plan. However, it does 

Is there a difference between what is mentioned on 
page 13 and what is included in strategy 7? If so, it 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
       Reviewers’ Comments: Quality Assurance Plan 
 

4 
 

seem to be addressed in Strategy 7. would be good to clarify the difference. 
Page 14: The development of a co-op program is 
listed as not being addressed by the QA plan. 
However, it is included in Strategy 7. 
 

Should this be removed from page 14? 

Some steps in the QA plan have start dates later than 
one year from now (one as late as 2025). I’m not sure 
if this is an issue, but it would mean that progress 
could not be demonstrated in the one-year follow-up 
report. 

Would like to get committee’s input on whether or 
not this is an issue. 

Strategy 2: Great idea to develop library of 
exemplars, but it is not addressed in the steps.  

Perhaps include steps and timeline related to this. 

Strategy 3, Step 1 (creation of “External Liaison” 
position). Although clarified later in the “resource 
implications” section, it is initially unclear if this 
would be taken on by a faculty member or if it would 
be a new staff position.  

Clarify this in the Steps column or the Notes column. 

Strategy 4: First two steps are listed as to be 
completed in one month. Is that the intention? They 
seem to be steps that would be longer term (in 
particular the second one). 

Update timeline if the intention is to take longer than 
one month. 

Strategy 4, sixth step, “Develop partnerships…”: The 
entry in the Notes column seems unrelated to this 
step.  

Perhaps this note was meant for the third step? 

Strategy 5, last step (identity): 
It’s not clear to me how creating a clear identity 
would ensure the program can “maintain agility and 
relevance” and raise educational standards, as stated 
in the Notes. 

Briefly clarify this relationship in the Notes column 
and/or in the Step column. 
 
Explain why this process would not start until 2025. 

Strategy 6: The first and fourth steps seem very 
similar. Are they different? 

Explain how they are different, or combine them. 

Strategy 6, last step: Is this different from the sixth 
step of strategy 4? 

Explain how they are different, or combine them. 

 
MINOR EDITS (Spelling, syntax, word choice and other mechanical issues). 
Please list corresponding page numbers. Minor edits are NOT discussed at the SSCPR meeting. Add or remove 
rows as needed. 

Minor Edits (page #) 

P1: “a duality of both hard and soft that are” – should “materials” or “products” be added after “soft”?  

P2:  Remove the – In response to the both the SSR and ERR… 

P2, third bullet: Did you mean “Further communication and development with faculty regarding assessment is 
required” ? 

P2, last bullet: should “r” be “our”? 

p.3 under point #2:  



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
       Reviewers’ Comments: Quality Assurance Plan 
 

5 
 

Minor Edits (page #) 

P1: “a duality of both hard and soft that are” – should “materials” or “products” be added after “soft”?  

P2:  Remove the – In response to the both the SSR and ERR… 

P2, third bullet: Did you mean “Further communication and development with faculty regarding assessment is 
required” ? 

P2, last bullet: should “r” be “our”? 

“The need to create core streams of curricular content that connects to previously learned content that then 
ladder to further learning”  
Sentence needs to be reworded eg “There is a need to…” 

P4: I think “breathe” should be “breadth”. 
p.5 line 3 and 12 are close repeats. 

p.6 We need to continue working with the International at KPU to identify new opportunities  

P15: Typo: “organise the meetingsand over timeline and plan”. 

P15: “Complete framework with further information…” Not clear what is meant by “further information”. 

P15, Notes on second step: separate “of” and “the” 

P15, bottom: comma at end should be period. 

P16, first step: separate “frameworks” and “from”. 

Many instances of space missing between words throughout the document. 

P19: “EER” should be “ERR”. 

P20: Some of the “resource implications” have commas at end. 

P20: Second “resource implication”: should “and graduate studies” be deleted from the end? Doesn’t seem to 
fit. 

P23, first step: “highlight” should be “highlighting”. 

p.23 PDEC improve the focus on indigeneity, …Sentence needs fixing 

PDEC is mentioned a few times. Should spell out what it stands for (I assume it’s President’s Diversity and 
Equity Committee). 

Strategy 6: In the “To be Led by” column, what does PA stand for? Is it program assistant? 

 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
       Reviewers’ Comments: Quality Assurance Plan 
 

1 
 

  

PROGRAM UNDER REVIEW:  Product Design 

Instructions for Reviewers 
Your assessment should ensure the Quality Assurance Plan does the following: 

o address all the recommendations in the Self-Study and External Review reports (or provide a clear 
rationale when a recommendation is not addressed); 

o provide clear, realistic plan of actions that are within the department’s purview; 
o clearly articulate how the Program will demonstrate Progress on a Goal, Strategy and/or Step in its One-

Year Follow-Up Report. 
 

OVERALL ASSESSMENT:  
 
Reviewer #1: Throughout the whole Quality Assurance process, faculty members have been diligent in 
addressing the needs of students, colleagues and industry/community as identified through the External 
Review.  The responses in this QA plan might be further detailed to better inform program reviewers – hence 
the suggested actions/questions and comments below. However, the team has done an excellent job in 
identifying strategies and plans to address the challenges and opportunities to ensure a quality program. 
Kudos to all involved. 
 
The Product Design program has received local and global recognition through a number of significant 
awards. Students in the senior years of the program achieve good recognition for their work and graduates of 
the program gain relevant employment. There is a strong Advisory Committee, and this could be better 
utilized to connect and mentor students. The timelines set out in the plan seem reasonable and achievable 
and comments point to capacity to achieve the goals. 
 
It was noted that students entering the program lack essential skills for high success. Access to key 
technologies and resources are also lacking.  
 
Reviewer #2: Overall this is a very good QA plan, which outlines a coherent set of goals and strategies that 
will help bring this relatively young program to maturity. The steps to achieve the goals seem manageable and 
achievable and I commend the program for their ambition and vision, and for their thoughtful consideration 
of the needs of their students. I just have some comments and suggested actions below. 
 
The Report (click on the box that corresponds to your recommendation):  
 

☒          Reviewer #1: Recommend for approval by the SSCPR as is 
☒          Reviewer #2: Recommend for approval by the SSCPR pending suggested actions (see below) 
☐          Recommend for rejection by the SSCPR 

 
 
 
 
 
  



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
       Reviewers’ Comments: Quality Assurance Plan 
 

2 
 

 
MAJOR ISSUES AND SUGGESTED ACTIONS:  
Complete this section ONLY if you have identified the following major issues with the Plan: 

a) Recommendations made in the Self-Study Report and/or External Review Report are not appropriately 
addressed. 

b) Goals, Strategies, Steps and/or Resource Implications are not worded clearly. 
c) It is unclear how the Program will demonstrate Progress on a Goal, Strategy and/or Step in its One-Year 

Follow-Up Report. 
 

Issue (page #) Suggested Action 
p.3 under point #1: Wonder if consideration is given 
to rotate instructors within courses and team teach? 

Thank you for this question. Yes, we consider under 
this point, team teaching for unique skill diversity, 
mentoring for new faculty, and faculty diversity for 
coverage for other opportunity’s such as research 
and or educational. 

p.4 - 4th line – clarify:  
“Unproportionable allotted hours to in-class 
studies…”  
  

This comment is taken from the self-study report 
under: ‘Faculty Satisfaction with the Curriculum’ page 
39 
There were seven faculty members surveyed for the 
program review where the majority- 57% of faculty was 
overall satisfied with the program curriculum and 14% 
are very satisfied, while  29%  reported  they  are  
somewhat  dissatisfied  (Appendix  4,  Q4,  p  48).  In  
their  comments  on  the  program  strength,  faculty  
appreciated  its  relation  to  local  industries,  breadth of 
the perspectives, content, cohesion, the strong emphasis 
on sustainability and the providing opportunities for 
experiential learning environment. However, the alarming 
dissatisfaction  with  curriculum  was  explained  in  its  
shortage  of  experiential  learning  opportunities, 
unproportionable allotted hours to in-class studies that 
don’t allow faculty and students to spend time to reflect 
and to personalize their study and research.’ 
 
This statement outlines the need to create core 
streams of curricular content that connects to 
previously learned content that then ladder to 
further learning. This will be key especially in 
separating core curriculum for what is taught in 
studio–and theory –related courses. This will allow 
the appropriate time for necessary learning 
outcomes for each course 
 

p.5 The latter raises the need to re-evaluate courses 
MRKT 1199 and 4177 
 

Explain what is intended here – not clear. 
While exploring the program curricular streams and 
cohesiveness of laddering of courses, the program 
wants to explore the placement and laddering of 
mandatory breadth classes in conjunction with core 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
       Reviewers’ Comments: Quality Assurance Plan 
 

3 
 

product design business classes offered in forth year 
spring and fall semester. For example, based on 
cohesiveness when would MRKT 1199 be required, 
and would it be a co-req or a pre-req. For MRKT 
4177, is there other courses in the School of Business 
that could also be considered or optional that met 
some of the concerns of the advisory board such as 
entrepreneurial courses.  

p.7 It also highlighted the importance of graduate 
studies due to the competitive environment of the 
labour market and emerging new industry standards. 
(Harvard Business Review, January 7, 2020). 

Any more comments re the development of graduate 
programs? 
 
The program would like to explore the development 
of a graduate certificate or program. This is outlined 
in strategy 4.  

p.8/19 Vertical curriculum model is mentioned 
several times.  

What is intended? Perhaps provide more clarity. 
Thank you, with exploration the team believe that 
this vertical model of curricular laddering will be most 
effective in creating the framework/stream for 
strategy 1 and 2 

p.10 The current KPU Wilson School of Design (WSD) 
website seems relatively effective…  
 

Is this true – is there a need for a refresh? 
Thank you, yes. In order to achieve the strategy to be 
better known in the world of design, with 
recombination from the Product Design advisory 
committee, current students, and applicants it is key 
to start with our website. The product design team 
has already identified some key elements for 
updates, for example awards/competitions that have 
been won by students and faculty that will be 
updated asap, but product design would benefit from 
further exploration and upadtes. 

p.11 How has the Product Design team worked with 
the FSO? 

Encourage connections with FSO. Thank you, product 
Design works very closely with FSO and their team is 
invaluable as Product Design is a limited intake 
program. FSO currently facilitates campus tours and 
portfolio feedback opportunities. Product Design and 
FSO meet regularly to update strategies. 

p.14  
“There is a call for the institution (student affairs and 
other divisions) to identify and assess how they can 
meet student expectations and needs for other 
aspects of student health and wellness that impact.” 

Student Affairs would be happy to work with faculty 
members on student health and wellness initiatives. 
Thank you, very appreciated. This is going to be a 
very important focus moving forward during Covid 
and post Covid for new strategies for health and 
wellness for both students and faculty 

p.15 Step 1 Workload and time-release is an item that the 
program needs to consult the Dean’s office with.  
Thank you, the program is in consultation with the 
Dean in regards to the strategy. 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
       Reviewers’ Comments: Quality Assurance Plan 
 

4 
 

p.18 Industry Liaison Industry Liaison – great idea – process for finding the 
person(s)? Thank you for this question. Product 
Design want to explore best practices that are 
currently in place at KPU. From this exploration it 
then would be recommended if this would be a 
faculty of a staff position that then would determine 
the processes needed for best suited person (s) 

p.18 Special Topic Course Special Topic Course – great idea! Thank you, we are 
looking forward to the breadth within the core 
program that this could bring 

p.18 Co-op Good plan – talk with CRC for assistance. Thank you 
for the advice. There are currently several program in 
the Wilson School of Design that are considering Co-
Op. The Dean and Chairs are continuing to meet 
regularly in regard to this. I will pass this on to all of 
them, appreciated.  

P. 19 Step 2 Can this be achieved within 1 month? Thank you 
adjusted.  

p.20 Develop industry and post graduate courses 
through either CPS or Micro credentials.  

Excellent! Thank you, we have had great success with 
this in that past and or excited for new opportunities. 

p.22 International Exchange and Field Schools for 
both students and faculty. 
 

Encourage this and the pre-visit virtual experiences 
that have been developed as a result of the pandemic 
– works well as a starting point to an exchange or 
filed school experience. Talk with International. 
Thank you very much for this, appreciated, and will 
have a conversation with international. 

p.23 K-12 curriculum and development of dual credit 
we need to further foster these potential pathways 
for our local students. 

See lots of potential here – work with dual credit in 
FSO. Thank you. Product Design and FSO meet 
regularly to update strategies, and this is one that we 
have been considering. I will make a note to add it to 
our next meeting as an agenda item. 

p.23 PDEC improve the focus on indigeneity, … 
 

Good to see some reference to Indigeneity. However, 
could see more possibilities for exploring Product 
Design with an Indigenous perspective – including 
hiring Indigenous instructors/scholars. 
Thank you, this has been a key exploration for 
Product Design and the Wilson School of Design for 
some time now. Product Design as well as several 
other programs or considering initiatives such as ‘an 
Indigenous Designer in Residence’ and the 
exploration of other strategies.  

P. 23 Step 6 Additional information in the comments column? 
Also, is there a reason why this initiative can’t start 
now and wait until 2025? 
Thank you, great comment. Updated to 2022, 
appreciated  



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
       Reviewers’ Comments: Quality Assurance Plan 
 

5 
 

P. 24 Step 1  Capital budget request is through the Dean’s office. 
Hence, the program should consult the Dean and 
seek options to request capital funds.  
Thank you, the program is in consultation with the 
Dean in regards to the strategy. 

Expanding the curriculum beyond design courses and 
giving students more freedom to take electives was 
mentioned in the External Review Report (p3, 6, 7). 
Although breadth is mentioned briefly in Goal 2, it is 
not mentioned in the strategies/steps. 

Should this be addressed more in the QA plan, or is it 
implicitly part of Strategy 1 and/or 2? 
Thank you. This will be explored in the laddering and 
framework in strategy 1/2 in correlation with the 
business/marketing courses, writing and 
quantitative, and science curricular exploration 
 
 

The ERR mentions that students/alumni 
recommended “better preparation for the increased 
workload in 2nd year”, but I don’t think this is 
mentioned in the QA plan.  

Should this be addressed in one of the 
goals/strategies? 
Thank you. This will be key to Strategy 1/2 especially 
in separating core curriculum for what is taught in 
studio–and theory –related courses. This will allow 
the appropriate time for necessary learning 
outcomes for each course, which this laddering will 
better prepare students for all course and years of 
study 
 

Recommendation 3 of the Self Study report 
(requesting more library resources) does not seem to 
be addressed in the QA plan. 

Provide rationale for why it is not addressed. Thank 
you. The next several comments are wonderful. In 
strategy 1/2 product design plans to explore and 
update the core framework, course and curricular 
content. From this development and updates the 
request for further library support and updates will 
be addressed. 

Recommendation 17 of the Self-Study includes a 
review of the science content of the program, but 
this is not mentioned in the QA plan. 

Perhaps include this in Strategy 2. If not, provide 
rationale for why it is not addressed. Thank you. The 
comments are wonderful. In strategy 1/2 product 
design plans to explore and update the core 
framework, course and curricular content. From this 
development and updates the review for further 
science content will be addressed. 

Recommendation 17 of the Self-Study includes 
addition of indigenous studies to the program. 
Although indigeneity is mentioned in Strategy 6 in 
terms of inclusion, I don’t see mention of including 
more indigenous studies in the curricular content. 

Perhaps include this in Strategy 2 or provide rationale 
for why it is not addressed. Thank you. The 
comments are wonderful. In strategy 1/2 product 
design plans to explore and update the core 
framework, course and curricular content. From this 
development and updates the review for further 
indigenous content will be addressed. 

Recommendation 20 of the Self-Study (space for Provide rationale for why it is not addressed. Thank 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
       Reviewers’ Comments: Quality Assurance Plan 
 

6 
 

group work, access to food, and social integration) 
doesn’t seem to be addressed. 

you. With Further exploration during th QA process 
product Design found that this is being taken care of 
through the work of student and faculty committees  

Recommendation 24 of the Self-Study mentions 
courses or projects in robotics, electronics and 
coding, but they are not mentioned in QA plan.  

Are these some of the “appropriate skills” that are 
mentioned in the Weaknesses section of p1? If so, 
could that be explicitly stated? Thank you this is. 
Great comment. It is not seen as a weakness as 
mentioned on page one, but an opportunity for 
breadth of content. This opportunity for this breadth 
would be actioned in the development of the ‘Special 
Topics’ course. 

Recommendation 27 of the Self-Study (course 
alignment with policy AC14) doesn’t seem to be 
addressed. 

Provide rationale for why it is not addressed. 
Thank you. This comment is wonderful. In strategy 
1/2 product design plans to explore and update the 
core framework, course and curricular content. From 
this development and updates the review for further 
policy alignment such as AC14 content will be 
addressed. Also is update to unclude this on the 
report 
 
 

Page 13: The need for high-tech machinery is listed as 
not being addressed by the QA plan. However, it does 
seem to be addressed in Strategy 7. 

Is there a difference between what is mentioned on 
page 13 and what is included in strategy 7? If so, it 
would be good to clarify the difference. 
 
Thank you. Strategy 7 is in regards to the additional 
requirements for machinery and technology for the 
program that is a result of this review and the section 
that is referring to machinery, labs and technicians 
that is not being addressed refers the Lifecyle of the 
current machinery under the new Evergreen 
procedures. 

Page 14: The development of a co-op program is 
listed as not being addressed by the QA plan. 
However, it is included in Strategy 7. 
 

Should this be removed from page 14? 
 
Thank you for this comment, but I can not find that 
mention in Strategy 7 referencing co-op.  

Some steps in the QA plan have start dates later than 
one year from now (one as late as 2025). I’m not sure 
if this is an issue, but it would mean that progress 
could not be demonstrated in the one-year follow-up 
report. 

Would like to get committee’s input on whether or 
not this is an issue. 
 
Thank you, yes this was a consideration when 
creating the timeline and the team is aware that they 
may have to do a two year follow up. 

Strategy 2: Great idea to develop library of 
exemplars, but it is not addressed in the steps.  

Perhaps include steps and timeline related to this. 
Thank you. In strategy 1/2 product design plans to 
explore and update the core framework, course and 
curricular content. From this development and 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
       Reviewers’ Comments: Quality Assurance Plan 
 

7 
 

updates the request for further library support and 
updates will be addressed. I will add Library in. 

Strategy 3, Step 1 (creation of “External Liaison” 
position). Although clarified later in the “resource 
implications” section, it is initially unclear if this 
would be taken on by a faculty member or if it would 
be a new staff position.  

Clarify this in the Steps column or the Notes column. 
Thank you for this question. Product Design want to 
explore best practices that are currently in place at 
KPU. From this exploration it then would be 
recommended if this would be a faculty of a staff 
position that then would determine the processes 
needed for best suited person (s) 

Strategy 4: First two steps are listed as to be 
completed in one month. Is that the intention? They 
seem to be steps that would be longer term (in 
particular the second one). 

Update timeline if the intention is to take longer than 
one month. Thank you, no, updated to require the 
year needed, appreciated.  

Strategy 4, sixth step, “Develop partnerships…”: The 
entry in the Notes column seems unrelated to this 
step.  

Perhaps this note was meant for the third step? 
Thank you, updated 

Strategy 5, last step (identity): 
It’s not clear to me how creating a clear identity 
would ensure the program can “maintain agility and 
relevance” and raise educational standards, as stated 
in the Notes. 

Briefly clarify this relationship in the Notes column 
and/or in the Step column. 
Thank you, updated 
Explain why this process would not start until 2025. 

Strategy 6: The first and fourth steps seem very 
similar. Are they different? 

Explain how they are different, or combine them. 
Thank you ,updated 

Strategy 6, last step: Is this different from the sixth 
step of strategy 4? 

Explain how they are different, or combine them. 
Thank you ,updated 

 
MINOR EDITS (Spelling, syntax, word choice and other mechanical issues). 
Please list corresponding page numbers. Minor edits are NOT discussed at the SSCPR meeting. Add or remove 
rows as needed. 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
       Reviewers’ Comments: Quality Assurance Plan 
 

8 
 

Minor Edits (page #) 

P1: “a duality of both hard and soft that are” – should “materials” or “products” be added after “soft”? Thank 
you, added products as it covers materials as well. 

P2:  Remove the – In response to the both the SSR and ERR… removed, thank you 

P2, third bullet: Did you mean “Further communication and development with faculty regarding assessment is 
required” ? Yes, added, thank you  

P2, last bullet: should “r” be “our”? Yes, added, thank you 

p.3 under point #2:  
“The need to create core streams of curricular content that connects to previously learned content that then 
ladder to further learning”  
Sentence needs to be reworded eg “There is a need to…” Thank you, changed, appreciated  

P4: I think “breathe” should be “breadth”. Changed, thank you 
p.5 line 3 and 12 are close repeats. Thank you deleted line 12 to leave three 

p.6 We need to continue working with the International at KPU to identify new opportunities Thank you, but 
can I edit this as it is directly fro the SSR report? I have edited this in the meantime. 

P15: Typo: “organise the meetings and over timeline and plan”. Corrected  

P15: “Complete framework with further information…” Not clear what is meant by “further information”. 
Thank you added more detail: reworking of the core framework of the program that will then guide the 
curricular and assessment development in Strategy 2 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
       Reviewers’ Comments: Quality Assurance Plan 
 

9 
 

Minor Edits (page #) 

P1: “a duality of both hard and soft that are” – should “materials” or “products” be added after “soft”? Thank 
you, added products as it covers materials as well. 

P2:  Remove the – In response to the both the SSR and ERR… removed, thank you 

P2, third bullet: Did you mean “Further communication and development with faculty regarding assessment is 
required” ? Yes, added, thank you  

P2, last bullet: should “r” be “our”? Yes, added, thank you 

P15, Notes on second step: separate “of” and “the” changed  

P15, bottom: comma at end should be period. Thank you, changed 

P16, first step: separate “frameworks” and “from”. Thank you, changed 

Many instances of space missing between words throughout the document. Thank you reviewed and edited 

P19: “EER” should be “ERR”. Thank you, changed 

P20: Some of the “resource implications” have commas at end. Changed, and updated 

P20: Second “resource implication”: should “and graduate studies” be deleted from the end? Doesn’t seem to 
fit. Thank you, our team wanted to add this as we wanted to explore the possible option of creating our own 
graduate program and therefor would have to consult with the  KPU gradate studies department. 

P23, first step: “highlight” should be “highlighting”. Thank you, changed 

p.23 PDEC improve the focus on indigeneity, …Sentence needs fixing Thank you, edited  

PDEC is mentioned a few times. Should spell out what it stands for (I assume it’s President’s Diversity and 
Equity Committee). Thank you, edited 

Strategy 6: In the “To be Led by” column, what does PA stand for? Is it program assistant? Thank you, added 

 



  

  Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  

KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  Page 1  

  

Date submitted to SSCPR: Nov 3, 2021  
  

Date Self-Study Report approved by SSCPR: June 20, 2020  
  

Date of External Review: February 24 & 25, 2021  

  
SUMMARY  
Summarize what the program has determined - through evidence - about program quality (e.g., strengths, challenges, opportunities for improvement, potential threats, etc.)  

  
The Product Design program sits within a design school in the country’s only polytechnic university with multiple campuses covering the breadth of academic disciplines as well as trades. The Product 
Design program is gaining recognition as a unique educational experience through course offerings with a duality of both hard products and soft products that are specifically distinctive within Canada. 
Since the launch of the Product Design program at KPU in 2012, it has achieved both local and global recognition through awards including the Core 77 Community Prize in Commercial Equipment (USA, 
2019), Core 77 First Place Student Winner, Commercial Equipment (USA, 2021), Simon Cox Student Design Competitions (Vancouver, 2019 & 2021), and recently ICE-SAR (Iceland Search and Rescue) 
Design Sprint Challenge (Iceland, 2021), Hatching Health (Vancouver, 2017).  

  
Product Design is a diverse field that has seen increase in demand for industrially relevant education. The Product Design program is adaptable to the changing global market and environment, and 
nothing proved this better than the adaptation during the COVID-19 pandemic. This is the first program review that Product Design has undertaken, and thus the resulting actions are significant and a 
response to the future development that is foreseen in this subject area. We have identified the most relevant of the program's strengths, weaknesses, threats, and opportunities with the inclusion of 
recommendations from our Industry Advisory Committee, our Self-Study Report (SSR) as well as our External Review Report (ERR).  

  

Strengths  ● The Wilson School of Design has excellent labs and facilities with small class sizes  
● The faculty is diverse, research-active, and has close ties and connections to industry and professional networks reflecting the faculty’s wide range of expertise and backgrounds  
● The program has an exceptionally engaging Advisory Committee  
● The soft product specialityspecialty allows for a unique graduate outcome that is not offered elsewhere  
● Our graduates have a high rate of relevant employment  
● Our senior (years 3 and 4) students achieve high recognition in industry and in design competitions ● Our program is hands-on, experiential, and has a polytechnic focus  



  

  Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  

KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  Page 2  

Weaknesses  ● Incoming students lack the appropriate experience and skills for exceptional achievement. Selection and retention are a challenge that affects cohort quality and size, and the 
ability for all to excel.  
● Our program requires more support, material diversity and facilities for hard product development  
● Our program has limited access to and integration of advanced current and emergent technologies  
● The graduates from our program are not continuing into graduate education  

  
  

  ● Students require more access and support to our labs and facilities outside of class time.  
● The program would benefit from greater support from KPU administrative units i.e., research and industry connected projects, external communication, recruitment, 
international design opportunities, collaborations, and exchanges  
● Further communication and development with faculty regarding assessment is required  

Opportunities  ● Recognition and distinction of the hybrid-nature of our program (I.e., product/service/experience, hard/soft product) as evidenced by students' skills/knowledge and faculty 
expertise ● The implementation of the balance of hard and soft product design and development throughout the curriculum  
● Develop and execute a specialized outreach program and Product Design specific marketing plan that results in increased quality and number of applicants  
● Create and nurture relationships with international educational institutions where graduates of our program could realize possible pathways for graduate studies ● Industry and 
educational institution partnerships and articulation agreements (nationally, internationally)  
● Create opportunities for our Advisory Committee to connect with our students more frequently throughout the program (e.g., mentorship, etc.)  
● International design opportunities, collaborations, and exchanges for students and faculty  
● Development and growth in collaboration and product development with industry seeking collaboration  

Threats  ● Uncertainty in budget and provincial underfunding of the institution  
● Lower enrolment, lower quality of applicant, and retention may impact student experience and graduate success  
● The landscape of the industrial partners/potential employers is complex and could be difficult to develop wide ranging relevant graduate skill sets  
● Our program is viewed as similar to Emily Carr’s Industrial Design Program. It is possible to be considered B.C.’s second option as a design school unless we clearly distinguish our 
offering.  
● Additional support required to align with our policies and procedures to develop external collaborative frameworks  

  
  



  

  Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  

  
KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  Page 3  

In response to the both the SSR and EER reports, we developed the goals outlined below with the corresponding strategies. They will be executed over the next five years. We plan on consulting with all 
relevant stakeholder groups as we complete each strategy to ensure we remain on track, in line with our industries and our Advisory Committee. The goals and strategies will elevate the quality and 
viability of our program. We express our sincere gratitude to the external review panel and all stakeholders who participated in our external review to help improve our program content and visibility.  

  
QUALITY ASSURANCE GOALS  
List the program’s Quality Assurance Goals (broad statements about what the program intends to accomplish to ensure program quality). Identify the Recommendation(s) – drawn from the Self-Study 
Report and External Review Report - each Goal addresses. Provide a brief Rationale for each Goal (see the Quality Assurance Plan Guidelines for instructions). Add or remove rows as necessary.  

  
RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL: As to respond best to our current and future students’ needs, we will want to address the following from our Self Study Report and External Review:  

  
GOAL 1: To update our core program framework: The framework will be built to identify key streams in the program that meet and are relevant and adaptable to the changing industry trends. The Self- 
Study highlighted the need for mapping the skills and competencies needed to access employment and achieve career progression, so by creating this key framework within the program by identifying 
streams such as studio, theory, and others like technology will be key for strategy 2, and the development of curriculum and assessments.  

  
The hands-on curriculum focusing on the three major themes of Creativity & Innovation, Technology, and Leadership successfully supports the program’s aims of preparing students for work as product 
designers and designers as entrepreneurs, but with the changing educational landscape the development of a new framework is imperative to serve both our students and their goals moving forward, 
focusing on:  



  

  Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  

KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  Page 4  

  
1. Diversity of Content: Student and faculty feedback raised the need to offer more diverse perspectives especially in design theory related courses (Design Thinking, Socio-Cultural Studies, Semiotics, 

History of Design, etc.) This will be achieved by rotating the faculty through the relevant courses, thereby enabling each to bring their unique perspectives and points of interest to the content. This will 
include but not be limited to; team teaching for unique skill diversity, mentoring for new faculty, and faculty diversity for coverage for other opportunity’s such as research and or educational. 

  
2. Delivery Options for Laddering: Faculty feedback raised the need for more vertical connection with previous learned content, reinforcing things learned. This will be reviewed, and we will seek 

opportunities within courses to identify skills and competencies where laddering is both appropriate and feasible. There is a need to create core streams of curricular content that connects to previously 
learned content that then ladder to further learning. This will be key especially in studio–and theory –related courses.  

  

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses  Report (page 
number)  

Additional support needed to meet other aspects of student health and wellness that impact on learning styles and the individual’s learning journey  SSR, 47  

Delivery strategy recognizes the need to deliver new theory (lecture), to learn through synthesis and experience (hands-on activities, team-projects, self-directed research, and field 
trips) and to learn through interaction with local industry experts  

SSR, 48  

There was variation in the degree of satisfaction in program composition, specifically the proportion of curricular content (i.e., Studio, Theory, and Hands-on courses). This may be 
further explored in the laddering of the program.  

SSR, 49  

Institutional points convey a preference for shortened instructions blocks/sessions, while program-specific points include the need for more vertical connection with previously 
learned content to reinforce content learned  

SSR, 49  

    
Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses  Report (page 

number)  

Recognition for the need to better connect courses and content with previously learned content and for the faculty’s diversity be applied across the program, to studio- and 
theory- related courses  

SSR, 57  

Explore laddering and vertical studio projects. Diversity of content, in studio and theory, may be achieved by rotating faculty through courses more regularly  SSR, 57  



  

  Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  

  
KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  Page 5  

More training should be done in business cycling, marketing, entrepreneurship, materials and manufacturing, and ergonomics. Amongst the students, the discipline sector, and 
alumni surveys are comments that highlighted needs for more training provided in concept generation, visual exploration, and prototyping in hard goods. Evenly important 
comments were regarding improving training in the skills for innovative 3D printing to serve constantly evolving industry needs.  

SSR, 39  

Unproportionable allotted hours to in-class studies that don’t allow faculty and students to spend time to reflect and to personalize their study and research.  SSR, 39  
Adding to the curriculum more hours with industry emerging experience and field trip experiential learning, more classes that help students develop aesthetic of presentational 
skills, more class time for prototyping, and also to alter elective courses to selective  

SSR, 40  

The hands-on curriculum focusing on the three major themes of Creativity & Innovation, Technology, and Leadership seems to support very well the program’s aims of preparing 
students for work as product designers and designers as entrepreneurs.  

ERR, 4  

Courses are delivered in 4- and 4.5-hour blocks, allowing for lectures conveying theory and skills, hands-on studio and technical workshop-based learning, and field trips for industry 
exposure, experience and emergence.  

SSR, 4  

The course prerequisites must be reviewed and redesign the way that will allow students a more flexible schedule and provide extra time if it is needed, especially in the first year.  SSR, 38  
Course timing and offering needs to be considered to allow more opportunities to complete pre-requisite courses  SSR, 38  
There are very strong arguments toward the strengthening of a vertical curriculum model where laddering skills and knowledge will be nimble when responding to challenges (e.g., 
delivery modes and content) and conducive to creating a profile of skillful and capable graduates.  

SSR, 67  

  
GOAL 2: To update our core course / curricular content  

  
RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL: To respond to the critical curricular alignment, outlined in both the SSR report, ERR report and what was evident in both the alumni and student survey responses. As the 
core of our offerings is tied to curricular development, this area for action and change is of the utmost importance to allow for growth, depth and diversity of content offered to our students. This goal 
needs to respond to the gap in skillset noted within survey responses. The Program also needs to continue to a focus on currency, relevancy, and alignment with industry needs, this goal also includes 
delivery and assessment to respond to both the SSR and ERR report.  

  
To address the needs of the current changing global market we need to stay current and on the cutting edge with our specialties. One thing that has truly shown light in the past months is our specialty 
knowledge, skills and facilities that have enabled faculty and students to respond to the need for PPE (personal protection equipment) for frontline workers and industry. Ensuring we maintain agility in 
our program and resources will help with our industry awareness and standard as an educator. With the developed framework from Strategy 1 we will look at aligning the program pre/co requisites with 
support from Teaching and Learning to create continuity in the laddering of streams and supporting mandatory and non-mandatory breadthe courses. We will work together as a faculty team, and seek 
support from Teaching and Learning, to identify and develop clearer assessments. We will encourage the use of these assessments as a way to address criteria for evaluation and consistency  



  

  Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  

KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  Page 6  

betweenconsistency between the developed framework in strategy 1 and give consistency to instructors and students. A recurring theme, heard from both current students and alumni, was the need 
for better assessments. This issue is important given the key role assessment plays in providing diagnostic feedback, helping educators set standards, evaluating learner progress, and motivating 
performance. Specific recommendations include the following: a) more frequent formative assessments to provide developmental feedback b) increased clarity around assessment goals and their 
integration with learning objectives c) greater clarity and consistency when communicating assessment rubrics. This will help support a manageable workload balance for students and faculty, as well as 
identify and allow our instructors to explore opportunities to seek complementary activities/outcomes and balance instructor and student timelines and schedules.  

  
Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses  Report (page number)  

Areas for improvement included greater focus on sketching and prototyping, improved communication of criteria for evaluation, consistency between instructors, and 
communication of content  

SSR, 54  

Students indicated they would prefer more clarity in the criteria for evaluation  SSR, 58  

Instruction is too assessment heavy which is demanding on students and on instructors  SSR, 58  
Students indicated they would prefer more clarity in the standards of expectations  SSR, 59  
More lessons in the workshop specifically regarding the use of all machinery and equipment. Similarly, with 3D printing and laser cutting, they would like to see it as 
part of a course  

SSR, 63  

Improve training in soft skills such as writing and oral communication skills, problem resolution and leadership skills  SSR, 39  
More training should be done in business cycling, marketing, entrepreneurship, materials and manufacturing, and ergonomics. Amongst the students, the discipline sector, 
and alumni surveys are comments that highlighted needs for more training provided in concept generation, visual exploration, and prototyping in hard goods.  
Evenly important comments were regarding improving training in the skills for innovative 3D printing to serve constantly evolving industry needs.  

SSR, 39  

Adding to the curriculum more hours with industry emerging experience and field trip experiential learning, more classes that help students develop aesthetic of 
presentational skills, more class time for prototyping, and also to alter elective courses to selective  

SSR, 40  

The exploration of this special topics course would enable the program to respond in experiential learning to the changing market in a curricular form.  SSR, p.38  
Relatively low satisfaction with the training in ethnographic research (45%), in preparedness in communication (45%), and presentational skills (36%), the focus must 
be placed on the improvement  

Appendix 3, Q7b, p.51  

Industry suggested to advance daily activities skills such as hand sketching, 3D modeling and rendering; to build stronger research skills; to enhance pattern drafting skills; 
to introduce business and market knowledge relevant to the current local and global economy. The latter raise the need to re-evaluate courses MRKT 1199 and 4177  

SSR, p.42  



  

  Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  

  
KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  Page 7  

DFW rates for Level 3 are visibly higher in Product Design than across the program, and across the school Faculty expressed concern that instruction is too assessment 
heavy, which is demanding on students and on instructors  

SSR, 53 SSR, 49  

A few areas merit further investigation to determine underlying issues and amelioration strategies. Here are some notable examples drawn from the Student Survey 
Report (Appendix 2, pages 17-39). Question 12. The clarity of the information I receive on how I will be evaluated: 50% Somewhat Dissatisfied The consistency of 
assessment standards throughout the program: 57% Very or Somewhat Dissatisfied The feedback my instructors provide: 29% Somewhat Dissatisfied DFW rates for Level 
3 are visibly higher in Product Design than across the program, and across the school  

ERR, 7 SSR, 53  

A few areas merit further investigation to determine underlying issues and amelioration strategies. Here are some notable examples drawn from the Student 
Survey Report (Appendix 2, pages 17-39). Question 12. The clarity of the information I receive on how I will be evaluated: 50% Somewhat Dissatisfied The 
consistency of assessment standards throughout the program: 57% Very or Somewhat Dissatisfied The feedback my instructors provide: 29% Somewhat 
Dissatisfied  

ERR, 7  

  

GOAL 3: To reorganisereorganize the program model to enhance work-integrated/experiential learning, inter-disciplinary and global opportunities.  
  

RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL: Throughout the phases of the SSR and external review reports, we identified the need for improving students’ leadership and entrepreneurial skills, collaborative problem 
skills (CPS), as well as skills in real-world problem solving. Likewise, through our competitive and comparative analysis, and in speaking with our Advisory Committee, we determined that cooperative 
education is effective and recommended for the product design degree curriculum. Therefore, we realized the necessity to expand experiential learning in the program curricula and activities.  

  
Expanding the educational experience beyond classrooms by integrating cooperative education, international student/faculty exchange, and conducting multidisciplinary projects, we would provide 
instant opportunities for students to apply their professional skills and knowledge in real-world settings. Equally important, the extension of an experiential curriculum will strengthen the design 
portfolio of our graduates, attract future employers, and embed perspective and enhance students’ training towards their professional careers in our rapidly changing world.  

  
Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses  Report (page 

number)  
However, as pointed out by alumni during the site visit, their key milestone actually is concerned with preparing portfolios to attract their future employers, who oftentimes are 
non-designers, in order to secure the jobs. They can complete design tasks well in the real world, but before they are able to prove that they need to be employed first.  

ERR, pp.4  



  

  Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  

KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  Page 8  

To enhance the connection between the curriculum and the real-world of business, more focus can be placed on the understanding of the financial constraints that companies have 
when developing new products. Suggested by a Program Advisory Committee member, the curriculum may include cross-program courses that brings together students from the 
different faculties and schools to work together on a problem  

ERR, pp.4  

The ERT also supports the recommendation put forward by the program regarding the development of a full- term co-op that can be taught by co-op faculty to 
enhance experiential learning. The program may consider increasing the number of 6-credit courses which will allow students to achieve more refined results and to 
focus on fewer projects at a time  

ERR, pp.5  

We need to continue working with the International at KPU to identify new opportunities for student and faculty exchange to enhance the collaborative space between 
institutions.  

SSR, pp. 34  

Redevelopment of Industry Experience and change of the current 80-hour practicum to a full co-op is necessary to expand collaboration with the stakeholders while working 
on course content to develop further experiential learning.  

SSR, p.33  

Also discussed was the value of internationalization initiatives for both faculty and students. International faculty exchanges expose faculty to novel teaching methods, 
cultural issues relevant to the teaching of design concepts, and the impacts of globalization on the industry  

ERR, p.6  

This point is important for the program to maintain its currency with industry knowledge in the real world. The approach of using cross-program resources such as 
shared equipment and facilities is highly recommended as it may also yield potential for connections and collaborations between different programs at KPU  

ERR, p.8  

“...many opportunities exist for collaboration, research, and course sharing between Product Design and other KPU units and programs”  ERR, p.8  
The approach of using cross-program resources such as shared equipment and facilities is highly recommended as it may also yield potential for connections and collaborations 
between different programs at KPU.  

ERR, p.8  

One member of the Program Advisory Committee stated the following, “I would like to see KPU leverage its cross functional programming. KPU has its school of business, 
engineering, and design schools.  

ERR, p.8  



  

  Product Design Program Review Quality Assurance Plan  

 KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  Page 9  

GOAL 4: To instill a desire for further skills, theories, and education in our students and further develop pathways to graduate studies.  
  

The Self-Study highlighted the need for mapping the skills and competencies needed to access employment and achieve career progression (Appendix 11). Job-entry level skills included, group collaboration, 
critical analysis, problem resolution, self-directedness, initiative, integrity and time management, as well as “practical” design skills like sketching and 3D modeling. In fact, the Advisory  

 
Committee identified many of these as required for career progression. We propose that a vertical curriculum model will contribute to a student’s depth of learning experience, provide diverse perspectives 
on product design practice, and encourage graduates to further their education and career journeys.  

  
RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL: While over 50% of our alumni were satisfied/very satisfied with their preparedness for further education, the fact that none commented on their plan or next steps provoked 
further questions on how to better prepare our students to self-audit, and equally important, how to instill a desire for further education. The SSR provided an overview of a mapping activity initiated 
by our Industry Advisory Committee, looking at the skills and competencies needed to access employment and achieve career progression. It also highlighted the importance of graduate studies due to 
the competitive environment of the labour market and emerging new industry standards. (Harvard Business Review, January 7, 2020).  

  
Our Product Design Graduates access full-time, relevant employment demonstrating their job-readiness, however, design is an education for those who want to be part of world-changing, future- 
oriented career pathways. While our students possess the skills and knowledge to access employment, there is a need to take initiative and to be life-long learners. Doing so requires self-auditing of 
one’s skills and knowledge frameworks to approach and understand the world’s emergent problems. Recognizing what you need to know is determined by the situated context – and that in itself is a 
skill (Fry 2020). There has been support and interest from industry and graduates from the program support to develop industry and post graduate courses through either CPS or Micro credentials for 
further education to stay current and on the cutting edge with our program specialties.  

  
Building on the proceeding goals, developing the graduate program in Product Design must be seen as an integral long-term goal conducive to an adaptive response to the ever-changing employment 
landscape. Enhancing graduate aspirations (Goal 4) and building on experiential learning (Goal 3), the development of an in-house program is fundamental. Housing this program within a 
polytechnic/multi-disciplinary university, where there are already two established graduate program streams, would align us with comparable programs nationally and internationally. This further aligns 
with the KPU 2030 Vision and Academic Plan (teaching excellence & research).  

  
Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses  Report (page number)  



  

  Product Design Program Review Quality Assurance Plan  

 KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  Page 10  

External reviewers highlighted the need for more training and preparation on what to expect in a professional working environment, and collaboration with non- 
designers and stakeholders.  

ERR, p.3  

“Industry-relevant communication skills would be useful.”  ERR, p.7  
Map of Skills along the career path  SSR, p.40  

In a dialog with industry to investigate the viability and need for further education, to explore how the existing program outcomes could be bridged into graduate programs 
listed in the studies. By doing this we would be able to assess the program value propositions in light of career opportunities adequate to existing labor market standards.  

SSR, p.44  

    

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses  

 

Report (page number)  

Pathways for further education: To investigate the viability and need for further education, through dialogue with industry, we would explore how the existing 
program outcomes could be bridged into graduate programs listed in the studies.  

SSR, p.72  

Specialty Skills Courses for Continuing Professional Studies: To explore and expand the offering of industry and professionals looking to upgrade their skills in these 
areas.   

SSR, p.72  

A vertical curriculum model will contribute to a student’s depth of learning experience, provide diverse perspectives on product design practice, and encourage 
graduates to further their education and career journeys.  

SSR, p.68  

“...within the further investigation into the alignment between product design and the listed institutions, our graduates might have opportunities to continue 
education in graduate studies: (institutions/programgrammes lists)  

SSR, pp.41  

Pathways for Further Education: To investigate the viability and need for further education, through dialogue with industry, we would explore how the existing 
program outcomes could be bridged into graduate programs listed in the studies.  

SSR, pp.72  

Although there has been no current indication of any alumni who have continued to pursue further education as of yet, the program has identified potential 
pathways to pursue post graduate work and will continue to engage in further discussion with industry to determine the value of an enhanced credential. Additional 
investigation will also be needed to assess program alignment with the identified post-graduate programs that were noted in a previous chapter and the findings 
may inform future curricular revisions.  

SSR, pp.74  

  
  



  

  Product Design Program Review Quality Assurance Plan  

 KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  Page 11  

GOAL 5: To be better known in the world of design through engagement with industry, community, and education.  
  

RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL: The program's identity relates directly to the diversity that the program has in its faculty expertise and technological infrastructure. Although recognized as a specialized 
program, the potential for a more significant impact lies in the program's agility and diversity and how it will be communicated in order to attract not only more, but also high-quality potential applicants. 
Visibility would facilitate new partnerships and connections with industry and community stakeholders that will assist in making the student’s learning journey a much richer one with collaborations, 
exchanges, research projects and a possible co-op.  

To address the needs of the current changing global market, we need to stay current and on the cutting edge with our specialties. One thing that has truly shown the light in the past months is our specialty 
knowledge, skills and facilities that have enabled faculty and students to respond to the need for PPE (personal protection equipment) for frontline workers and industry. To remain current with industry 
standards, and ethical, socially responsible and sustainable design practices, it would be beneficial to maintain professional association memberships, conference networks, and attend/participate in other 
professional events both in-person and virtually. This goal would ensure we maintain agility and relevance in our program and resources and raise the standards of our educational offerings.  
    

  
Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses   Report (page number)  

Design Competitions: To encourage participation in various international design competitions to enhance and gain national/international exposure that would validate 
student skills and graduation attributes, and to include competition participation as a requirement for a design portfolio.  

SSR, 69  

Also discussed was the value of internationalization initiatives for both faculty and students. International faculty exchanges expose faculty to novel teaching methods, 
cultural issues relevant to the teaching of design concepts, and the impacts of globalization on the industry.  

ERR, 6  

Connections and Partnerships: While Industry/Sector representatives identified a number of strong and engaging characteristics that capture the connections between 
our program and industry, they also offered advice on how to strengthen the connections with the discipline/sector. The recommendations include the following: 
focusing on creating strong partnerships, organizing visits to manufacturers/suppliers, liaising with commerce and industry chambers, visiting and participating in local 
and international exhibitions, and involving local professionals in the education process. Many of these activities are currently integrated into our program. Further, the 
faculty are highly responsive to enquiries for expert input, interviews, product reviews, and research stories; however, enquiries can be time-consuming and tend to focus 
on student experience over research activity.  

SSR p. 29  



  

  Product Design Program Review Quality Assurance Plan  

 KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  Page 12  

Connections and Partnerships via an Industry Liaison: The development and resourcing of an Industry Liaison would facilitate a strategic and target approach to 
connections, partnerships and practicum. There would need to be a designated 3-year plan with faculty time and resources allotted to develop the relationships, 
the structure and, in parallel, undertake the curricular procedures for the Product Design Industry Experience course. This relates to the subsequent point.  

SSR p.70  

Program Identity: We will undertake a review of name recognition and relevance according to industry trends with regards to a possibility of making an 
amendment/extension to the degree program name.  

SSR, p.71  

Given that opportunities for employment and collaboration are global, it would have been illuminating to see the similarities and differences between KPU’s 
Product Design program and comparable international degrees.  

ERR, p.3  

A global trend analysis might inform program changes that could help future-proof KPU’s Product Design graduates.  ERR, p.3  
  
  

GOAL 6: To enhance program visibility to attract quality applicants well matched to the program offering  
  

RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL: Product Design is still a fairly new program at KPU, and the Wilson School of Design. Even though applications have been increasing yearly, the increase is still not enough for 
the program to maintain quality students and maximize on student successes. This goal for quality of applicants would also help with attrition rates due to students leaving and or failing, giving Product 
Design stronger sustainability with less chance of losing FTE’s due to quality of applications. With quality applicants, the conversion and retention rates are more successful. Also, higher quality applicants 
lead to more successful graduates that further enhance program visibility.  



  

  Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  

 KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  Page 13  

  
Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses  Report (page number)  

Program Visibility and Recruitment: Targeted product-design relevant approaches warrant a designated strategy, budget and resources.  SSR p.70  
The program uses several good strategies to do public information and community outreach including website and social media, open doors, portfolio workshops, followups 
by the Future Student Office, faculty and alumni networks, etc. The program still struggles somewhat for recognition, which is likely a function of its newness, lack of time 
for faculty outreach activities, and the fact that the name Product Design (which other schools call Industrial Design) is more closely associated with software and mobile 
applications design.  

ERR p.3  

Kwantlen Polytechnic University’s Product Design program is the only degree-granting program in Canada, which puts it in a unique advantage position; 
nevertheless, there are still some improvements to be made in regard to its visibility and awareness among the community that could take it even further as a 
recognized and well-established program in the region.  

SSR p.9  

The past 1-2 years has seen an increased effort in marketing attention for the program, with particular efforts in the past year through the program coordinator, program 
assistant and support by all of the faculty. However, the in-program efforts are hindered by teaching demands and a lack of budget to support innovative marketing 
approaches directly relevant to the program.  

SSR p.23  

Community outreach is achieved through various course-based portals and approaches.  SSR p.23  
While there is a growing awareness of the program over the seven years since its inception, in particular by industry contacts and program partners, public visibility 
and awareness is still very limited. In the Discipline/Sector survey (Appendix 5), 42 Product Design discipline/sector representatives contacted, with 12 respondents 
yielded a response rate of 29%; most respondents (66%) indicated they were moderately to very familiar with the program  

SSR p.24  

The student survey demonstrates that 8 of 20 respondents, or 40% of the current students who replied to the survey (Q2 Appendix 2) learned about the program from KPU’s 
website. A large portion of respondents (35%) cited other sources ranging from career counsellors, word of mouth and the FIND (Foundations in Design) program. High school 
teachers and counsellors were cited, but the number is relatively low (4 of 20 or 20%). National Portfolio Day was only cited by 2 students  
(10%) as their source of program information; however, this number may change in the future with KPU hosting this national-reach event in 2018 and 2019.  

SSR p.24  

Current public information and community outreach practices are appropriate and involve contributions by all program faculty; however, efforts need to be increased to 
further increase awareness of the program. The current KPU Wilson School of Design (WSD) website seems relatively effective for program information  

SSR p.26  

for students, but it has shown limited reach and relevance for raising awareness of the program. The WSD social media strategy hasn’t been in place for long enough to 
assess its impact on public awareness.  

  



  

  Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  

 KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  Page 14  

Seat trends have been positive for Product Design, with a steady offering of 25 offers; the filled positions have grown from 8.6 in 2015 to 12 in 2019, above the average of the 
Wilson School of Design that has seen a steady 15 seats filled of 22 offers (Exhibit 7 Appendix 1). In 2019 we continued steady growth and filled 21 of 22, and for 2020 we are 
on mark to fill 22. Similar trends can be found in seats filled, Product Design has grown from 34% in 2015 to 49% in 2019, in comparison the overall of the Wilson School of 
Design has been a steady 76% (Exhibit 8 appendix 1).  

SSR p.27  

The number of students enrolled in Industrial Design and Product Design programs in BC has steadily increased every year since 2013 when the total number was 197 
to 226 in 2018. From that, KPU has also grown its share, from 13% in 2013 to 16% in 2018 (Exhibit 4 Appendix 1).  

SSR p.27  

  
  
  
  
  

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses  Report (page number)  

Program Visibility and Recruitment: While there is a growing awareness of the program over the seven years since its inception, in particular by industry contacts 
and program partners, visibility and awareness are still limiting the program’s efforts towards public information and community outreach. These efforts are also 
hindered by teaching demands and a lack of budget to support innovative marketing approaches directly relevant to the program.  

SSR p.29  

Transfer Credit: While there are unique elements to the program, those applying with prior design education should be given consideration for transfer credit in studio-based 
design courses. While the cohort model recommends all new students start together in Year 1, our experience with International Exchange design students shows us that it is 
feasible and attractive to applicants and current cohorts. This process needs to be formalized so that we are more prepared in the future, in case this arises.  

SSR p.30  

The current data has indicated that student demand is on the rise since the program’s inception in 2012, as increased engagement with industry and heightened awareness of 
the program creates a positive impact in the applicant numbers. The program is committed to ongoing analysis on strategic enrolment planning to monitor student numbers 
and to assess the appropriate review process for portfolio requirements. This also includes further focus on the development of strengthening pathways for advanced entry 
students via transfer credit and/or recognition of prior learning. An increase in the promotion on the awareness of career opportunities and highlighted alumni success stories 
will also support attracting student prospects. More collaboration with the Future Students’ Office  
Team will also assist to assess plans to strategically connect with suitable markets and to explore additional opportunities such as portfolio building workshops.  

SSR p.74  



  

  Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  

 KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  Page 15  

For recruitment, this includes continued collaboration with the Future Students’ Office (FSO) team to connect with high schools and target markets to increase awareness of 
the program and associated career opportunities. This will also require the support of the Marketing team as well as a dedicated budget for strategic promotional initiatives 
via social media, virtual information sessions, tours, promotional video and highlights of success stories of alumni and Advisory Committee members.  

SSR p.76  

Further collaboration will continue with the Future Student’s Office to connect with high schools and the community via visits and workshops along with the development of 
online information sessions, a promotional video, virtual tours and other resources.  

SSR p.77  

  

GOAL 7: To develop technological competence and production capabilities for academic specialization to distinguish, innovation, and industry related excellence  
  

RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL: As a program we are at a stage where we have just been able to cover the basics of what is required to complete the prototyping needs for successful product development. 
We will need to increase the offering in our lab spaces to maintain the current capabilities as well as grow to allow for more creative and technologically ready production.  

  
Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses  Report (page number)  

There are needs for more high-tech machines in workshops to develop hard products, and better 3D printers to keep up with current technology.”  SSR p.62  

It is apparent to the ERT that the program has well-equipped studios/workshops. As reflected in the Self-Study report and by one student during the site visit, the majority 
of the students see the high standard of facilities as an asset, guiding them to choose the program for their post-secondary education. However, as pointed out in Chapter 3 
and highlighted by one Program Advisory committee member, there is the need for more “high-tech” machinery for hard and soft materials as well as the necessary 
support and regular maintenance of equipment. This point is important for the program to maintain its currency with industry knowledge in the real world.  

ERR p.8  

3D printing and laser cutting, they would like to see it as part of a course  SSR p.63  
Faculty recommendation: improving the 3D printing capabilities with larger volumes of fabrication, metal fabrication and Radiofrequency (RF)  SSR p.64  
The approach of using cross-program resources such as shared equipment and facilities is highly recommended as it may also yield potential for connections and 
collaborations between different programs at KPU.  

ERR p.8  

Regarding the institutional support, the comments indicated that there is a need for cross-program resource sharing (e.g., Product Design and Physics can 
complement each other with diverse equipment and facilities).  

SSR p.64  

The faculty strongly believes that there is a need for research development resources.  SSR p.64  



  

  Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  

 KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  Page 16  

The identified gaps in technologies include but are not limited to • Radiofrequency (RF) Welder (textiles) • Computer Numerical Controlled (CNC) milling machine 
• Laser sintering and powder sintering 3D printers • More industry 3D software: i.e., Keyshot • Industry-standard tablets for sketching • Vacuum forming for 
plastic sheets • More capability for metalwork (welding, milling, etc.).  

SSR p. 64-65  

Student and faculty feedback cited the need for the Student Resource Room to better reflect the needs of Product Design, expanding it beyond Fashion and 
Interior Design. We propose to raise this with the school and to request that the appropriate staff seek donations that better reflect the breadth of design 
programs (e.g., more variety of hard and soft materials, textiles, etc.) and that space is allocated to these materials.  

SSR p.65  

The SSR would have benefited from an analysis of global trends in employment and disruptive technologies as well (e.g., sensor integration, IoT, AI, Big Data, virtual and 
augmented realities, etc.). For example, there is no auto manufacturing sector in BC. However, automotive manufacturing is a big employer in  
Ontario, Europe, the U.S., Japan, China, and South Korea and might offer attractive positions for our graduates. For this reason, a global trend analysis might inform 
program changes that could help future-proof KPU’s Product Design graduates.  

ERR p.3  

More high-tech machinery for hard materials in the workshop as well as more advanced 3D printers like laser sintering  SSR, 63  
  
  

  
RECOMMENDATIONS THE QUALITY ASSURANCE PLAN DOES NOT ADDRESS  
List the Recommendations from the Self-Study and External Review this Plan does not address. Provide a brief rationale for why these Recommendations cannot be addressed. Add or remove rows as 
necessary.  

  

Recommendations  Report (page 
number)  

Rationale  



  

  Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  

 KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  Page 17  

Increase access to labs and lab technician/training: 
Increase access (longer hours) and support 
(prototype/production lab technicians available to 
help students, while labs are open) for students 
when they use the Wilson School of Design labs.  

ERR,8  
  
  
  

SSR, 76  

‘They also stressed the importance of longer hours of access to workshops, which the ERT recognizes as providing the 
students with not only opportunities to complete their assignments to meet the high standard of execution but also 
flexibilities for them to work on their projects outside their class time.’  

‘As the overall usage of lab/testing spaces, specialized equipment and technology increases for all students within the 
Wilson School of Design, the need for additional support and training for qualified technicians is also required. The 
current team of one Divisional Lab Coordinator and two Lab Technicians may also need to be supplemented with 
dedicated budget for fully trained student assistants.’  

This is an identified need for the Product Design program. However, as a result of other Wilson School of Design (WSD) 
programs identifying this as a need, it is a WSD initiative that has been brought up with the Dean’s Office.  

Faculty Research and Additional Faculty Resources  SSR, 76  'Faculty will need continued support for professional development and research  
opportunities to enhance teaching practices and to continue to build upon the program’s value proposition.’  

This is an identified need for the Product Design program. Other Wilson School of Design (WSD) programs identifying 
this as a need, it is a WSD initiative that has been brought up with the Dean’s Office and the WSD research committee.  

Evergreen program WSD  ERR, 8  This is key to maintain and continue to develop distinctiveness, technological competence, academic specialties and 
program cohesiveness via equipment, resources, and access  

It is apparent to the ERT that the program has well-equipped studios/workshops. As reflected in the Self-Study report 
and by one student during the site visit, the majority of the students see the high standard of facilities as an asset, 
guiding them to choose the program for their post-secondary education. However, as pointed out in Chapter 3 and 
highlighted by one Program Advisory committee member, there is the need for more “high-tech” machinery for hard 
and soft materials as well as the necessary support and regular maintenance of equipment. This point is important for 
the program to maintain its currency with industry knowledge in the real world.  
  
This is an identified need for the Product Design program. Other Wilson School of Design (WSD) programs identifying 
this as a need, it is a WSD initiative that has been brought up with the Dean’s Office.  

 



  

  Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  

 KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  Page 18  

Recommendations  Report (page 
number)  

Rationale  

WSD Co-op Program  EER, 5  The ERT also supports the recommendation put forward by the program regarding the development of a full- term co-
op that can be taught by co-op faculty to enhance experiential learning.  

This is an identified need for the Product Design program. Other Wilson School of Design (WSD) programs identifying 
this as a need, it is a WSD initiative that has been brought up with the Dean’s Office and industry partners.  

Student Health and Wellness  SSR, 70  There is a call for the institution (student affairs and other divisions) to identify and assess how they can meet student 
expectations and needs for other aspects of student health and wellness that impact.  

This is an identified need for the Product Design program. There also needs to be other collaboration with other units 
within KPU, such as Student Services. Other Wilson School of D esign (WSD) programs identifying this as a need, it is a 
WSD initiative that has been brought up with the Dean’s Office.  

  



  

  Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  

 KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  Page 19  

QUALITY ASSURANCE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN  
Describe the Quality Assurance Strategies (specific plans of action) the program must achieve to attain its Goal over the next five year. Detail the steps the program will take to achieve each Strategy. Add 
or remove Strategies and tables as necessary.  

MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGINS: 01/22  

STRATEGY 1: To develop an updated and adaptable program framework that responds to the changing industry and student needs.  

GOAL 1: To update our core program framework  

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy  
To be Led by  

To Start 
on (M/YY)  

To be  
Completed  
By (M/YY)  

Notes  

Strike a committee to develop new curricular framework development  
Chair or Team  
Member with  
Time release 
for  this phase  

01/22  01/22  

This is the planning phase: create a committee and then 
organiseorganize the meetings and create a over 
timeline and plan. We would also bring the Advisory 
Committee into one of these planning meeting as they 
have been instrumental during our program review 
process.  

Complete framework that will then guide the curricular and assessment 
development in Strategy # 2 with further information to work on strategy #2 
(curriculum development)  

Committee  01/22  05/22  
This is the reworking of the core framework of the 
program that will then guide the curricular and 
assessment development in Strategy 2  

Resource Implications (if applicable)  
What are the resources required to achieve this strategy?  Course leaf training needs to start in this phase to support the move into strategy 2 as well 
as consulting with Teaching and Learning to support and align program learning outcomes/curricular mapping.  
When are these resources required? Throughout the process from 1/22 to 5/22 as we will be building and adapting the framework and consulting with 
the recourses identified will be key.  
What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required? Faculty time supported by administrative staff/Program Assistant, support from the Dean’s 
office, the Teaching Learning department, and the Product Design Advisory Committee.,  



  

  Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  

 KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  Page 20  

  

STRATEGY 2: To develop the and implement updated curriculum and assessment methods:  
  

GOAL 2: To update our core course / curricular content:  
  

1. Assessment Formats: Students indicated they would prefer more clarity in the criteria for evaluation, a finding echoed by faculty. This could be achieved by mapping the attainment of program 
competencies, skill level and learning outcomes. Having a set of rubrics for Year 1, 2,3 4 to show the progression of learning would also help to achieve more consistency across courses (Appendix 12: 
Map of Product Design Skills Across Program). We will work together as a faculty team, and seek support from KPU Teaching and Learning, to identify and develop clearer rubrics. We will then 
encourage the use of those rubrics as a way to address criteria for evaluation and consistency between instructors.  

  
2. Assessment Demands: The evidence from the faculty highlighted that instruction is too assessment heavy which is demanding on students and on instructors. To reduce assessment demands on 
faculty we will identify and explore opportunities to seek complementary activities/outcomes. Projects will be designed to align the learning outcomes/activities across more than one course (e.g., Level 
1: DEPD 1100: Design Methods and DEPD 1140: Model Making). This may also allow for the coordination of deadlines and weights of projects with each year of study, to support a manageable workload 
balance.  

  
3. Expectations: Students indicated they would prefer more clarity in the standards of expectations, a finding echoed by faculty. The practice of peer-identified exemplars, introduced in Level 1 
Design Studio, may provide a mechanism for demonstrating the expectation in class. We will identify and review appropriate examples, including “exceptional achievement” and “minimum 
requirements” for all Product Design courses so we have an inventory of this content and examples we can share with students. We will work together as a faculty team, and seek support from KPU 
Teaching and Learning, to identify and develop a repository of exemplars.  

  

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy  To be Led by  To Start on 
(M/YY)  

To be  
Completed  
By (M/YY)  

Notes  

Develop updated course content, and assessment formats that align with the laddering 
frameworks  from strategy 1 with faculty  Chair & 

Faculty  
01/22  09/22  

To respond to the critical curricular alignment both for 
program and KPU policies. Adapt and create , and 
assessment formats outlined in both the SSR report, ERR 



  

  Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  

 KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  Page 21  

report the course content/assessments need to be updated 
to follow the framework flow from strategy 1.   

Present updated course outlines, discuss, recommendations, and approve at WSD 
curriculum committee  

Chair & 
Committee  

12/22  12/22  
Work with WSD curriculum committee to make sure the 
full program review package is ready for SSCC  

Present and approve at SSCC  
Chair & 

Committee  
01/23  01/23  

Make sure that we are working ahead of schedule in case 
we have to revise a section if needed to have roll out in 
Fall 2023  

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy  To be Led by  To Start on 
(M/YY)  

To be  
Completed  
By (M/YY)  

Notes  

Present and approve at senate  
Chair & 

Committee  
02/23  04/23  

Make sure that we are working ahead of schedule in case 
we have to revise a section if needed to have roll out in 
fall 2023  

Update website and marketing materials to reflect curriculum changes for Fall 2023 
cohort  

Chair,  
Dean’s 

office, and 
Program  
Assistant  

Fall 2022  Spring 2023  

The team will make sure the all-marketing material remains 
relevant from website to pamphlets, and updated as the 
program changes roll out and all departments from  
FSO to International is informed and updated 
as necessary along the process  

  
Resource Implications (if applicable)  

What are the resources required to achieve this strategy? Faculty and staff time required for all initiatives. WSD Deans’ office and administrative 
assistants as well as Educational Advisor. Time for faculty to lead and coordinate curriculum & course outline revisions. Course leaf training. 
Consultation with KPU library. 
When are these resources required? Throughout the process from 1/22 to 4/23 as there will be key consulting needed to align both learning outcomes 
and assessments  



  

  Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  

 KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  Page 22  

What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required? What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required? Close collaboration with the WSD Dean’s 
office and administrative support for program and course outline revisions through the Curriculum Committee process; this will include both the 
Faculty and Senate level committees, as well as the Senate Office and Provost/VPA Office for Ministry related approvals if required. Additionally, on- 
going engagement from the Advisory Committee will be critical to maintain currency, relevancy and experiential learning opportunities.  

  
  
  
  
  

STRATEGY 3: To facilitate a program that integrates experiential learning not only work-integrated, but also includes inter-disciplinary and global opportunities.  

GOAL 3: To reorganisereorganize the program model to enhance work-integrated/experiential learning, inter-disciplinary and global opportunities.  

  
Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy  

To be Led by  
To Start 

on (M/YY)  

To be  
Completed  
By (M/YY)  

  
Notes  

Explore sourcing options to create a position for “External Liaison”: Some strong themes 
and specific ideas emerged that support the need to enhance experiential learning. 
Product Design currently incorporates industry-based projects into several of its courses 
every semester but would greatly benefit from the development of an Industry Liaison 
position that would facilitate a strategic and targeted approach to connections to further 
facilitate these key projects for both faculty and students.  

Chair and Faculty 
committee  

01/22  09/22  

The development and resourcing of an Industry 
Liaison would facilitate a strategic and targeted 
approach to connections, partnerships, 
practicum, curriculum industry projects, and 
Co-op.  

Develop a rotating Special Topic course for Product Design: there is strong support for a 
special topic course that would enhance and focus on current industry experiential 
learning from industry and the advisory committee. This would allow the program to 
have a shell course to quickly respond to the current trends/global issue/innovation.  

Chair and Faculty 
committee with  

External  
Liaison  

01/22  9/22  

There is strong support from Faculty, Students, 
Industry, and the Advisory committee for a special 
topic course that would enhance and focus on 
current industry experiential learning.  



  

  Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  

 KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  Page 23  

Identify and establish a complement of new industry experiences, field schools, and 
community engagement projects: Given that opportunity for employment and 
collaboration are global, our program needs to be comparable to relevant and 
recognisedrecognized design institutions on the international scale.  

Chair and 
External Liaison  

09/22  01/27  

There would need to be a designated 3-year plan 
with faculty time and resources allotted to develop 
the relationships, the structure and in parallel, 
undertake the curricular procedures.  

Explore a Co-op program for Product Design: Industry and the advisory committee 
propose to replace the current 80-hour unpaid practicum format with a co-op 
opportunity  

Chair and 
External Liaison  

01/24  01/27  

Industry and the advisory committee propose to 
replace the current 80-hour unpaid practicum format 
with a co-op opportunity that would further support 
experiential learning and graduate outcome.  

  
Resource Implications (if applicable)  

What are the resources required to achieve this strategy? Allocation of budget for a time release for faculty Industry Liaison  
When are these resources required? Product design would benefit from the faculty industry Liaison starting as soon as Fall 2022 as they need to be 
part of the final development for curriculum and experiential learning components of the QA Plan  
What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required? Dean, Business Manager, VP Academic, and Faculty Liaison  

    
  

STRATEGY 4: Achieve students/alumni that are enrolled in graduate school/specialty education: Develop a graduate diploma in Product Design which further aligns with the KPU 2030 vision (teaching 
excellence & research). Support industry and post graduate further education through CPS and development in Micro credentials.  

  
GOAL 4: To instill a desire for further skills, theories, and education in our students and further develop pathways to graduate studies.  

  

  
Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy  To be Led by  

To Start on 
(M/YY)  

To be  
Completed  
By (M/YY)  

  
Notes  

Develop intentional feedback with individual students highlighting academic 
potential  

Chair and 
Faculty  

04/22  04/232  
Creating a “catalogue” of options link to a possible guidance for 
career path building with students to help them be unique “hybrid” 
designers.  



  

  Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  

 KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  Page 24  

Create a culture of communication regarding academic studies (be 
transparent on how to be a life-long learner by sharing our own 
experiences)  

Chair and 
Faculty  

04/22  04/232  
Enhance faculty and staff opportunities for PD, research, and further 
education with institutional support that then is transparent, shared, 
communicated, and or evident through practice in the classroom.  

Develop within the curriculum self-auditing practices as well as laddering of 
knowledge and skills for job preparedness for instilling a future-oriented 
career pathway  

Chair and 
Faculty  

01/22  09/243  

Elevate the newly developed vertical curriculum model that will 
contribute to a student’s depth of learning experiences, provide diverse 
perspectives on product design practices, and encourage graduates to 
further their education and career journeys.  

Highlight current graduate studies fairs in the lower mainland  Chair and 
Faculty  01/22  01/27  

Work with academic advising, faculty, and staff to create an accessible 
list of current and upcoming graduate opportunities and fairs  

Engage in faculty exchange  

Chair and 
Faculty  

01/24  01/27  

As mentioned in the ERER, International faculty exchanges expose 
faculty to novel teaching methods, cultural issues relevant to the 
teaching of design concepts, and the impacts of globalization on the 
industry. It also creates collaboration between different organizations 
for further pathways.  

  
Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy  To be Led by  

To Start on 
(M/YY)  

To be  
Completed  
By (M/YY)  

  
Notes  

Develop partnerships with comparable/compatible institutions for post 
graduate studies 

Chair  01/22  05/24  

Our Product Design Graduates access full- time, relevant employment 
demonstrating their job-readiness, however, design is an education for 
those who want to be part of world-changing, future-oriented career 
pathways. While our students possess the skills and knowledge to 
access employment, there is a need to take initiative and to be life- long 
learners. These partnerships would create pathways for our students in 
either full-time or part-time post-graduation studies in areas of 
specialties unique to their interest or relevant employment. Doing so 
requires self-auditing of one’s skills and knowledge frameworks to 
approach and understand the world’s emergent problems. Recognizing 



  

  Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  

 KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  Page 25  

what you need to know is determined by the situated context – and 
that in itself is a skill (Fry 2020).  

Support industry and post graduate further education through CPS 
and development in Micro credentials  Chair and 

faculty  
01/22  05/25  

There has been support and interest from industry and graduates from 
the program support to develop industry and post graduate courses 
through either CPS or Micro credentials for further education to stay 
current and on the cutting edge with our program specialties.  

Explore the viability of our own graduate distinctive program  
Chair and 

faculty 
committee  

01/24  01/27  

Student interviews indicate there is interest and awareness of the 
opportunities in comparative institutions graduate programs. The 
development of this next step in creating a product design graduate 
program would support student recruitment and retention, with the 
essential factor of revenue generation.  

  
Resource Implications (if applicable)  

What are the resources required to achieve this strategy? Continued PD, education, and research support from the Dean’s office and KPU for faculty 
and staff, and graduate studies.,  
When are these resources required? Throughout the process as this will be an ongoing faculty and staff engagement strategic plan, and graduate 
studies.  
What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required? Provost Office, Senate Office, Advising, Dean’s office, International (faculty mobility), AVP 
Research office. Collaboration with other programs such as Business, Tech Apparel, Graduate Studies, and Teaching and Learning.,  

  



  

  Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  

 KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  Page 26  

  
  

STRATEGY 5: To achieve greater recognition for our distinctiveness as a program  
  

GOAL 5: To be better known in the world of design through engagement with industry, community, and education.  
  

  
Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy  

To be Led 
by  

To Start on 
(M/YY)  

To be  
Completed  
By (M/YY)  

  
Notes  

Attain membership in professional societies  Faculty 
committee  

With support 
of the Chair  

01/22  05/22  By attending professional events, students and faculty will be able to 
present their work and research and contribute to knowledge 
production and exchange. To remain current with industry standards, 
and ethical, socially responsible and sustainable design practices, it 
would be beneficial to maintain professional association 
memberships, conference networks, and attend/participate in other 
professional events both in -person and virtually.  

Develop procedures for competition entry and integrate that with curriculum  Faculty 
committee  

With support 
of the Chair  

05/22  09/22  To encourage participation in various international design 
competitions to enhance and gain national/international 
exposure that would validate student skills and graduation 
attributes.  



  

  Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  

 KPU Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  Page 27  

Explore sources of external funding to support competition entries for 
students  

Faculty 
committee  

With support 
of the Chair  

05/22  05/24  To include competition participation as a requirement for a design 
portfolio. To be able to achieve local and global recognition 
requesting funding for inclusivity for the student body.  
  
Product Design has achieved both local and global recognition 
through awards including the Core 77 Community Prize in 
Commercial Equipment (USA, 2019), Core 77 First Place Student  
Winner, Commercial Equipment (USA, 2021), Simon Cox Student  
Design Competitions (Vancouver, 2019 & 2021), and recently ICE-
SAR (Iceland Search and Rescue) Design Sprint Challenge (Iceland, 
2021), Hatching Health (Vancouver, 2017).  



  

  Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  

  

   Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  Page 28  

  
Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy  

To be Led 
by  

To Start on 
(M/YY)  

To be  
Completed  
By (M/YY)  

  
Notes  

Explore sources of funding for faculty outreach through faculty exchange and 
field schools  

Faculty 
committee  

With support 
of the Chair  

05/23  05/26  Establishing a mechanism for participation in International Exchange 
and Field Schools for both students and faculty would help to place o ur 
program on the international level with other local and Canadian 
institutions.  

Create a clear identity and procedures for engagement with external 
partners  

Chair and 
faculty 

committee  

05/225  01/27  This would ensure we maintain agility and relevance in our 
program and help product design explore resources and raise the 
standards of our educational offerings through experiential 
learning, and research opportunities that key to a polytechnic 
curriculum.  

   
Resource Implications (if applicable)  

What are the resources required to achieve this strategy? Allocation of Budget from Dean’s office or AVP Research office  
When are these resources required? Budget allocation will be needed throughout the short-, medium-, and long-term phases of this goal  
What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required? WSD research committee, Dean’s office, and AVP Research office  

  
  
    



  

  Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  

   Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  Page 29  

[KPU 
  
STRATEGY 6: Increase in student recruitment, conversion, and retention  

  
GOAL 6: To attain program viability by maintaining student intake cohort through quality applicants well matched to the program offering.  

  

  
Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy  To be Led by  

To Start on 
(M/YY)  

To be  
Completed  
By (M/YY)  

Notes: Partner with FSO on all steps so that all departments are in alignment  

Develop a cohesive marketing strategy that highlights our 
program’s specificness by highlighting our student/alumni 
achievements  

Chair, PA, 
communication  

coordinator, 
and faculty 
committee  

03/22  06/22  

For quality of applicants would also help with attrition rates due to students leaving and 
or failing, giving Product Design stronger sustainability with less chance of losing FTE’s 
due to quality of applications. With quality applicants, the conversion and retention 
rates are more successful. Also, higher quality applicants lead to more successful 
graduates that further enhance program visibility.  

Work closely with International to develop a specific 
workshop about Product Design for potential students  PA and Chair  05/22  10/22  

International has been such a great partner for Product Design. To further enhance 
this relationship, create online or in person workshops to support applicants and 
potential through the application process.  

Develop relationships with high schools in the Lower 
Mainland with dual credit programs and develop further 
workshops  

Chair, PA, and 
faculty 
committee  

05/22  05/24  

With the change in K-12 curriculum and development of dual credit we need to further 
foster these potential pathways for our local students. Workshops would further 
enhance this relationship with high schools/students by offering online or in person 
workshops to support applicants and potential applicants through the application 
process.  

Develop an educational outreach and marketing strategy 
and pilot the developed strategy  

Chair, PA, and 
faculty 
committee,  

05/22  06/26  
Develop a marketing and outreach strategy that highlights current student and 
gradate success in industry projects, competitions, etc. Highlighted alumni stories to 
show career pathways.  



  

  Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  

 

Develop student inclusivity plan to ensure that we include 
people of colour, indigenous students, and highlight 
diversity in our current student body and their projects  Chair, PA 

(Program 
Assistant), 
and faculty 
committee  

01/23  

01/26  

Product Design want to work with PDEC to ensure that KPU provides learning and 
working environments that are inclusive and supportive for all members of the KPU 
community. Follow the strategies and recommendations of the KPU PDEC (President’s 
Diversity and Equity Committee) committee to ensure that Product Design at KPU 
provides a learning and working environment that is inclusive and supportive for all 
members of the KPU community. 

improve the focus on indigeneity, accessibility of our campuses, support the Academic 
Plan Implementation, further Trans-inclusivity initiatives, the LGBTQ community, and 
discuss student services, resources and athletics.  

Identify and strengthen relationships with international 
educational institutions that are relevant to P roduct 
Design (exchanges and articulation agreements)  

Chair, PA, and 
faculty 

committee  
01/225  01/27  

 This would allow Product Design to have key international partners exchange for both 
incoming and outgoing exchange students. The articulation agreements would allow 
students to transfer to KPU product design at any stage in their program allowing them to 
finish their degree at KPU. 

[KPU 
  

Resource Implications (if applicable)  
What are the resources required to achieve this strategy? Allocated marketing/faculty budget to allow for marketing and outreach strategies  
When are these resources required? Marketing budget is needed throughout this phase in different areas  
What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required? Dean, Business Manager, Marketing, PA, PDEC, and FSO  

  
STRATEGY 7: Develop production capabilities to allow for innovation and industry related excellence  

  
GOAL 7: To develop technological competence and production capabilities for academic specialization to distinguish, innovation, and industry related excellence  

  

  
Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy  

To be Led by  
To Start 

on (M/YY)  

To be  
Completed  
By (M/YY)  

  
Notes  



  

  Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  

   Wilson School of Design Product Design Quality Assurance Plan  Page 31  

Request capital funds to develop machinery to be on par with our relevant 
industries as outlined in the Self Study Report  

Faculty and  Divisional 
Lab Coordinator  

01/22  09/22  
We have documentation and recommendations from our current 
Advisory Committee and industry.  

Develop requests for new machinery and technology based on updated 
curriculum  

Faculty and DD 
ivisionalivisional Lab 

Coordinator  04/23  
09/23  

This is in alignment with the updates program framework and 
curriculum (goal 1 and 2) to stay competitive as academic 
specialists.  

Develop a center of excellence in materials, testing and manufacturing  Faculty and  Divisional 
Lab Coordinator  

04/25  09/26  
Maintain distinctiveness, and technological  competence.  

  
  

Resource Implications (if applicable)  
What are the resources required to achieve this strategy? Capital budget, Faculty training, Technology support, Machinery support, Technician support 
and Training  
When are these resources required? Each phase of the goal whether it is short term or long term  
What faculty and/or Institutional support is required? Dean, Divisional Lab Coordinator, Technicians, IT, Business manager  

  

PLAN SUPPORTED BY:   
 
      

Provost’s Name Date  

 

Dean’s Name Date  

  
 Page 24  

    
Provost’s   Signature   

Dean’s   Signature   



SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW  
  Agenda Item: 5.6 

Meeting Date: November 24, 2021 
Presenter: Robert Dearle, Billeh Nickerson, Greg Millard 

 1 / 1 

 
Agenda Item English Self-Study Report 
  

Action Requested Motion 

  

Recommended 
Resolution 

THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review accept the 
English Self-Study Report as attached.  

  
Senate Standing 
Committee Report For Senate Office Use Only   
  
  

Attachments 
English Self-Study Report 

English Self-Study Report Appendices 
  

Submitted by Melike Kinik-Dicleli, Manager of Quality Assurance 

Date submitted November 2, 2021 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

FACULTY OF ARTS 
 

ENGLISH PROGRAM 

SELF-STUDY REPORT 

November 2, 2021 
 

 
Program Review Team Members: 

Heather Cyr, Robert Dearle, Jennifer Hardwick, Joakim Nilsson, Paul Tyndall 
 



English Program Self-Study Report  2 
 

Table of Contents 
 Program Overview ................................................................................................... 4 

Program Description ................................................................................................................... 4 

Brief History of the Program ....................................................................................................... 6 

External Accreditation ................................................................................................................. 7 

Scope of the Review .................................................................................................................... 7 

 Program Currency and Connections ......................................................................... 9 

Competitive Context ................................................................................................................... 9 

Program’s Connections to its Advisory Board ........................................................................... 10 

Program’s Connections to the Discipline/Sector ...................................................................... 10 

Program’s Connections to Other KPU Academic Units ............................................................. 10 

Program’s Articulation and Credential Recognition Processes ................................................. 10 

Program’s Public Information and Community Outreach ......................................................... 12 

Student Demand for the Program ............................................................................................. 13 

Summary and Recommendations ............................................................................................. 14 

 Quality of Curriculum Design ................................................................................... 17 

Assessment of the Curriculum .................................................................................................. 17 

Summary and Recommendations ............................................................................................. 27 

 Quality of Instructional Design ................................................................................ 28 

Delivery Modes ......................................................................................................................... 28 

Course Scheduling ..................................................................................................................... 28 

Assessment Methods ................................................................................................................ 30 

Student Experience ................................................................................................................... 30 

Faculty Experience .................................................................................................................... 37 

Summary and Recommendations ............................................................................................. 42 

 Quality of Services, Resources and Facilities ............................................................ 44 

Description of Program Resources, Services and Facilities ....................................................... 44 

Student Satisfaction with Program Resources, Services and Facilities ..................................... 44 

Faculty Satisfaction with Program Resources, Services and Facilities ...................................... 45 

Summary and Recommendations ............................................................................................. 46 

 Conclusions and Recommendations ........................................................................ 48 

Summary of Conclusions ........................................................................................................... 48 



English Program Self-Study Report  3 
 

List of Recommendations .......................................................................................................... 50 

 Responses from the Dean/Associate Dean .............................................................. 52 

Program Overview..................................................................................................................... 52 

External Connections and Support ............................................................................................ 56 

Final Comments ......................................................................................................................... 56 

 Appendices for Self-Study Report ............................................................................ 57 

 
  



English Program Self-Study Report  4 
 

 Program Overview 

Program Description  

The KPU English department occupies a unique position in the Faculty of Arts and within 
the university as a whole. As a service department, we provide a foundational course in 
academic reading and writing—English 1100—that is required by all students enrolled in 
baccalaureate programs as well as first-year literature courses required by the Bachelor of 
Arts program. The English department also offers three degree options for students: an 
Associate of Arts English Degree for students intending to transfer to one of the province’s 
larger research-oriented universities, as well as a Bachelor of Arts Major and a Minor. 
 
When we first developed the BA Major and Minor in English, we modelled our programs  
on similar programs at Simon Fraser University and the University of British Columbia,  
where many of our instructors had either studied or taught before joining the 
Kwantlen/KPU English department. Thus, from their inception, our Major and Minor 
programs were structured on major national literatures written in English, including British, 
American, and Canadian literature. However, in recent years we have expanded our course 
offerings to reflect changes in the field of literary studies and to capitalize on the expertise 
and experience of our own faculty. We have developed upper-level courses in cross-
cultural world literature, diasporic literature, Indigenous literature, and literature in 
translation. We have also moved toward a more inclusive definition of literature and now 
offer courses in film, television, mythology, and popular genres such as science fiction, 
fantasy, children’s, and young adult literature. 
 
Although the English department is made up of over forty instructors with diverse 
backgrounds, educational experiences and research interests, all share the view that 
writing and reading are essential skills for all university students and for full participation 
in society. In fact, surveys of employers across the province and across the country highlight 
the value of the critical reading, writing, and thinking skills that are core outcomes of a 
Bachelor of Arts in English. Articles on the skills employers in Canada are looking for 
consistently rank written and oral communication skills highest, with additional emphasis 
on research skills, creativity, problem solving, emotional intelligence, leadership skills, and 
teamwork. With our small class sizes and our emphasis upon writing-intensive instruction, 
KPU’s English programs are well suited to prepare students to pursue careers in education, 
law, journalism, communications, public relations, human resources, policy studies, 
advertising, and library science.  
 
In addition to the employability skills acquired in an English program, there are other 
benefits to studying English. First and foremost is the broadly humanistic perspective that 
studying literature in its many forms and contexts provides. We can learn much about the 



English Program Self-Study Report  5 
 

past and the present, here in Canada and around the world, by reading poetry, fiction, and 
drama, and by studying film, television, and other forms of media. These texts provide “a 
window on the world,” to quote a familiar phrase, and a record of “felt experience” that 
can both enhance and complicate our understanding of ourselves and others. By reading 
and reflecting upon the life experiences of individuals and communities from different 
social, economic, ethnic, racial, and religious backgrounds, with different values and beliefs 
than their own, English students develop the capacity for empathy and compassion. As 
noted philosopher and legal scholar Martha Nussbaum has written, “the ability to imagine 
the experience of another—a capacity that almost all human beings possess in some 
form—needs to be greatly enhanced and refined if we are to have any hope of sustaining 
[democratic] institutions across the many divisions that any modern society contains.”1  

Learning Outcomes 
 
In keeping with our unique position within the Faculty of Arts and the KPU community, the 
English department is committed to several learning outcomes: 
 

1 Communicate clearly, coherently, and concisely, considering audience, purpose, and 
rhetorical context, in written and oral form 

2 Demonstrate critical thinking and reasoning skills in reading, comprehending, and 
evaluating texts and contexts. Interpret and analyze texts from a variety of critical and 
theoretical perspectives 

3 Identify the main critical traditions and movements that have influenced the study of 
literature and film. 

4 Analyze the social, historical, cultural, philosophical, and/or economic influences on 
literature and narrative 

5 Identify and reflect upon differences of perspective, and experience arising from race, 
class, gender, sexuality, and culture. 

6 Frame and investigate relevant research questions to draw upon and document primary 
and secondary resources to develop original analyses, interpretations, and arguments. 

 
As outlined in our program learning outcomes 1, 2, and 6, we are devoted to helping 
students develop the sophisticated reading, writing, research, and critical thinking skills 
required for success, not only as undergraduates or English students, but as citizens within 
an increasingly complex and competitive knowledge-based society. We endeavour to 
provide students with the rhetorical skills needed to articulate their ideas and opinions in 
the form of sharply focused, well-written and well-organized arguments in both written 
and oral form. 

                                                       
1 Marta Nussbaum, Not for Profit: Why Democracy Needs the Humanities. (Princeton UP, 
2010), 10. 



English Program Self-Study Report  6 
 

In addition, we are committed to providing students with a broadly based but detailed 
understanding of the history of the national literatures of Canada, the United Kingdom, the 
United States and other countries from across the English-speaking world, and to 
meaningfully and ethically engage with non-Western literatures, including but not limited 
to Indigenous, Diasporic, and Postcolonial narratives. As outlined in program learning 
outcome 5, we are committed to helping our students situate these literatures within their 
relevant social, historical and cultural contexts so that they are able to identify and reflect 
upon differences of perspective and experience arising from race, class, gender, sexuality, 
and culture.   
   
As outlined in program learning outcomes 3 and 4, we are also committed to helping 
students understand why literature matters by foregrounding the evolution of the 
discipline, current debates, and possible futures, with particular attention to the critical 
traditions and social, historical, cultural, philosophical, and/or economic influences on 
literature and narrative. Ultimately, what we seek to accomplish is to help students 
understand the roles that storytelling—and retelling—play in the world. 

Brief History of the Program 

The English department has been offering first- and second-year writing and literature 
courses since 1981 when Kwantlen College split from Douglas College. It has also offered 
an Associate of Arts Degree in English for many years. The BA Minor in English was first 
developed in 2005, followed by the BA Major in English in 2008. As a service department, 
we have offered multiple sections of ENGL 1100 Introduction to University Writing and 
ENGL 1202 and 1204 for many years, since these courses are required for students 
completing a Bachelor of Arts Degree at KPU. With the launch of the BA Minor in English 
and the BA Major in English, we began to offer upper-level courses in poetry, fiction, drama 
and the main literary periods in British, American and Canadian literature from the Middle 
Ages to the present day. Initially, the department offered only a small number of upper-
level courses per semester, but that number has grown steadily with enrolments. Currently 
we typically offer an average of eight upper-level courses in the fall and spring semesters, 
and four in the summer semester and demand is growing, as evidenced by waitlists. 
 
The English department consists of approximately 40 faculty members, most of whom hold 
a Ph.D. in English. While we embrace the mandate of the university as a teaching- and 
learning-centred institution with an emphasis upon experiential learning, many of our 
faculty are actively engaged in research and scholarship, including: presenting at national 
and international conferences; publishing in recognized peer-reviewed and popular 
journals, books, magazines, and digital venues; leading scholarly organizations; organizing 
community-engaged, public-facing initiatives; and acting as reviewers for academic 
granting agencies, journals, and organizations.  



English Program Self-Study Report  7 
 

External Accreditation 

N/A 

Scope of the Review 

This is our second program review since launching the BA Major in English in the fall of 
2008; the first was completed in 2014. The first review was undertaken to assess the 
strengths of the newly formed Major and Minor programs and the effectiveness of our core 
first-year courses in providing BA students with the critical reading, writing, and thinking 
skills required for success as undergraduates. During this process, we also analyzed the 
degree requirements and curriculum and the extent to which the English department was 
successful in adapting to meet the changing needs of our students. Finally, we sought to 
identify specific areas for improvement.  
 
Among the most substantive changes we made as a result of the previous program review, 
two stand out as particularly important. First, we changed the prerequisites for ENGL 1100 
and our other first-year ENGL courses so that they are now aligned with the general 
entrance requirements for the university and with the majority of first-year UT courses in 
the Faculty of Arts. This change has enabled a large number of students to satisfy their 
English language requirements in a timelier manner than before. Second, we altered the 
prerequisites for our upper-level courses, again so that they are more consistent with 
upper-level courses in other departments in the Faculty of Arts. This change has not only 
boosted enrolment in upper-level ENGL courses but also attracted students from outside 
our Major and Minor programs.  
 
In the current program review, we have once again sought to evaluate student and faculty 
satisfaction with our degree programs and with our first-year service courses, and to look 
for areas of improvement. But we have also identified two areas where we plan to devote 
our attention. First, we are committed to diversifying our curriculum by including more 
Black, Indigenous and multicultural literature and film into the curriculum and as well as 
individual courses. Second, we plan to rationalize and streamline our course offerings to 
eliminate redundancies and create more coherence in our degree programs. Because the 
BA Major and Minor programs were developed over a period of several years, and 
modelled on existing programs at neighbouring institutions, there are aspects of them that 
are no longer particularly relevant to the changing needs and interests of our students, 
such as the focus on canonical texts within national literatures or the privileging of 
traditional genres such as poetry, fiction, and drama over newer forms, such as film and 
television, as well as popular genres such as science fiction, fantasy, the graphic novel and 
children’s and young adult literature. Generally, our aim is to shift the emphasis of our 
degree programs away from the study of a canon of literature toward a canon of methods, 



English Program Self-Study Report  8 
 

a move that we believe will make the relevance of an English degree more apparent to 
incoming and graduating students.   
 
  



English Program Self-Study Report  9 
 

 Program Currency and Connections 

Competitive Context 

The KPU English Major, Minor, and Associate of Arts programs are comparable in structure 
and composition to similar programs in British Columbia. KPU’s English Major requires 45 
credits in English courses from first to fourth year. This is the same as the University of the 
Fraser Valley and similar to Vancouver Island University (48) and Thompson Rivers 
University (48). UBC and SFU require the equivalent of 42 credits. 
  
Other requirements (not including institutional general degree requirements) are also 
similar. In general, English at KPU is aligned with other programs in requiring students to 
begin their educations with introductory, skills-building first-year courses before moving 
on to foundational second-year courses designed to provide students with a survey of a 
literary or critical tradition and/or an introduction to the methods or skills of the discipline.  
  
Upper-division (3000-4000 level) credit requirements at other institutions range from 24 
to 30, and these credits almost invariably include courses designed to deepen students’ 
literary historical knowledge through courses focusing on literature before 1900. These 
requirements are usually divided into two, with one requirement placed at the 18th century 
or earlier and the second in the 19th century.  
  
KPU’s upper-division requirements are similarly structured. Other programs may include a 
third-year theory or rhetoric requirement. KPU’s English program currently has a theory 
requirement. Other programs require at least one 4th year course, which is sometimes 
identified as a capstone or experiential course. KPU English has two experiential courses, 
but neither is required, and no capstone courses have been identified, even though the 
program does require one 4th year course. 
  
One significant difference between KPU and several other English programs in BC is a firm 
division between Creative Writing and the English department. In several programs, such 
as Capilano University and UFV, Creative Writing and English are integrated, a connection 
that seems to provide additional options for students with an interest in both areas. Other 
departments, such as VIU and SFU, offer upper-division courses in rhetoric and writing 
while KPU does not. However, KPU English is currently building a concentration in Film 
Studies, an area that is seldom encountered in other BC English departments. 
  
Beyond structure and composition, other English departments—especially at similarly sized 
institutions—have taken significantly different approaches to packaging course 
requirements and electives. In many cases, these approaches appear to offer more options 
to students. While KPU English has added to its course inventory in recent years, it needs 
to renew its commitment to innovation and creativity or risk falling behind.  This will mean 



English Program Self-Study Report  10 
 

not only adding individual courses, but a thorough reconsideration of the program 
structure. 

Enrolment 
As to the number of students in KPU English compared to other English departments in the 
province, reliable data from other institutions comparable to KPU is challenging to access. 
However, UFV’s 2019-20 Factbook (institutional data report) shows that in the 2019/20 
academic years, UFV English registered 178 Majors (p.17). This represents an apparent 
decline from 2014-15 when that number stood at 267. By contrast, data provided by KPU’s 
Office of Planning and Priorities (OPA) indicates that intended English students at KPU in 
2019-2020 numbered 193, up from 91 in 2015-16. Without further disambiguation of UFV’s 
data, a precise comparison is difficult, but it appears that demand for English courses at 
KPU has increased while it has declined or leveled off at UFV.  

Program’s Connections to its Advisory Board  

N/A 

Program’s Connections to the Discipline/Sector  

N/A 

Program’s Connections to Other KPU Academic Units 

Although the English department no longer has formal connections to other academic units 
at KPU (in the past, for example, English worked closely with ACP English in offering ENGQ 
1099), a significant number of cross-disciplinary connections have been created through 
the engagement and cross-listing of English faculty. These connections include 
collaborations with Fine Arts, Art History, Sociology, Policy Studies, and Interdisciplinary 
Expressive Arts. English Faculty have also taught ARTS 1100 and ARTS 4800 courses. 
Currently, several English faculty are involved in an interdisciplinary Arts Film Studies 
discussion group.  
  
English is also connected to other academic departments through its service courses such 
as 1100 and 1202/1204 as well as ENGL 1104, which was created to serve students in the 
Educational Assistant Program and ENGL 3390: Indigenous Narratives and Cultural 
Expression, which is an elective for the Indigenous Community Justice Minor. 

Program’s Articulation and Credential Recognition Processes 

KPU English is a member of the British Columbia English Articulation Committee, which 
meets annually in May to share institutional information, program changes, and (in recent 
years) to consult with Ministry of Education officials to discuss changes occurring at the K-
12 level and the impacts they are expected to have on post-secondary writing programs. 



English Program Self-Study Report  11 
 

This group also facilitates the discussion of transfer credits across institutions. The English 
Articulation group is very large, and the work of articulating courses is never done. 
Nevertheless, the system seems to work to the benefit of most students. 
  
KPU English courses articulate broadly across institutions across BC. First-year writing 
courses are the most transferable, particularly those that serve as required writing courses 
for a broad range of programs, such as English 1100, 1202, 1204, and 1300. These first-year 
courses articulate not only to other public universities and colleges, but also to a growing 
number of private institutions. Courses at the 2000-4000 level generally articulate well to 
other public institutions that offer a broader range of English courses leading to a 
credential; smaller private institutions with fewer English course offerings and are less 
likely to establish transfer agreements for courses beyond first year. Students transferring 
to KPU from other BC institutions are very likely to receive direct credit for English courses, 
and KPU English does its best to award appropriate transfer credit to students coming to 
KPU from out of province. 
 
Transfer credit requests are processed by the current chair of the department, who is also 
typically the department’s representative at Articulation meetings. Incoming transfer 
requests are evaluated according to their alignment with existing English courses. Where 
no clear equivalent exists, an unspecified English credit is granted. Upon transfer, students 
may receive more specific transfer credit based on a submitted outline by contacting an 
Arts advisor who then reaches out to the chair of the department.  
 
One procedure that could be improved in this area would be a means of giving students 
coming to KPU Arts a writing requirement credit without direct transfer of the course. The 
current BA framework recognizes KPU English 1202 or 1204 as satisfying the English 
requirement, but transfer students sometimes come to KPU with a first-year English writing 
credit that fits neither course. In these circumstances, it would be reasonable to grant the 
student an undesignated credit at the 12XX level that acknowledges the writing work done 
by the student while still recognizing the differences in first-year course content.    
  
Beyond first year, growing diversification of English courses across institutions is making 
direct transfers more challenging. For example, many of VIU’s third-year courses are topics 
courses, whereas topics courses are reserved for fourth year in KPU English. Another 
example is Capilano University whose new English Major also includes a significant number 
of third-year topics courses that do not readily correspond to our course divisions. This 
means that upper-level course transfers often need to be evaluated individually. At 
present, this is not a    

Prior Learning Assessment 
In English, one department member and an alternate are designated to handle PLA 
requests. Requests for PLA have been infrequent, averaging approximately two per 
academic year for the past several years. Given the low number of PLA requests we receive, 



English Program Self-Study Report  12 
 

our current practices are more than sufficient. Should PLA requests increase significantly in 
the future, we may have to consider ways to expand capacity. 

Program’s Public Information and Community Outreach 

Student surveys reveal that the departmental website, followed by the online Academic 
Calendar, are the primary sources of information for students. 83% of students responded 
that they used the departmental website to learn about the program. The calendar was 
48%, advertising 28%, social media 21%, with all other categories below 17%. Notably, the 
student survey reveals KPU open houses to be among the weakest sources of information 
for students in English (10%). This is a somewhat disappointing outcome given the amount 
of work and time required to participate in KPU open houses.  
  
The data suggest that more our primary focus should be applied to our online presence. 
Although there are limits to what a department can do to modify its institutional webpages, 
this resource should be utilized to its fullest extent. The same is true for social media, 
including Instagram and Twitter. Increasingly, students are using these media to access 
information, and the English department is keeping up with these shifts in communication 
by maintaining a presence on appropriate social media platforms. 

Community Outreach 
 
Members of the department are engaged in several forms of community-based research 
and outreach:   
 
Canada Research Chair in South Asian Literary and Cultural Studies 
Dr. Asma Sayed’s work on South Asian writers and filmmakers from 1910 to 2010 seeks to 
analyze literary and visual texts to establish theories of interpreting creative expressions as 
sites of socio-political change and activism. Outcomes include not only a monograph and a 
multilingual literature anthology, but also community engagement events and an open-
access digital portal. 
 
Humanities 101 
Kwantlen’s version of Humanities 101 is modelled on the Bard College Clemente Course in 
the Humanities and it runs out of the Phoenix Society, an addiction recovery centre in 
Surrey. The course introduces post-secondary education to students who, due to a variety 
of life circumstances, have not had access to it. It typically runs for one term each year with 
10 to 20 people in each class. Students create a project to present at the end, and there is 
also a graduation ceremony. Humanities 101 has been organized by Dr. Kegan Doyle and 
lectures at the Phoenix Society have been offered by many English faculty.  
 
KDocsFF Community Outreach 
As Co-director of the KDocsFF Documentary Film Festival, Greg Chan is working on two 
public-facing projects related to KDocsFF documentaries in fall 2021. These projects will 

http://clemente.bard.edu/about/
http://clemente.bard.edu/about/


English Program Self-Study Report  13 
 

include faculty members from the English department and Arts. He is also producing a 
KDocs Talks video series, a compilation of the keynotes and panel discussions from KDocsFF 
2021, set to launch summer 2021. 
 
Maple Washing: A Disruption 
An art installation curated by Greg Chan and Ying-Yueh Chuang (FINA) now on public display 
at Historic Joy Kogawa House (set to launch officially in 2022). 
 
Mise-en-scène 
Mise-en-scène: The Journal of Film & Visual Narration (MSJ) is the official film studies 
publication of KPU. Founded in 2016 by Editor-in-Chief Greg Chan, MSJ is an 
interdisciplinary, peer-reviewed journal focused on scholarly analysis of visual storytelling 
across film and media. It strives to be a community-building hub that creates engagement 
around current debates, research, and critical theories. The journal's contributing authors 
are an interdisciplinary mixture of graduate students, academics, filmmakers, film scholars, 
and cineastes: a demographic that also reflects the journal's diverse readership. KPU faculty 
have written for MSJ, as have several KPU students in the “undergraduate scholarship” 
category. In addition to these student authors, the journal has hosted 12 students in its 
internship program which launched in 2017.  MSJ is supported by a cross-disciplinary and 
cross-Faculty editorial team that includes several English department members. 
 
Virago Nation 
Founded in May of 2016, Virago Nation is an all-Indigenous burlesque collective of 
women/femme/two-spirited artists that seeks to reclaim Indigenous sexuality from the 
toxic effects of colonization by representing positive, diverse expressions of Indigenous 
sexuality on stage and through outreach programs and workshops. Virago Nation joined 
forces with Dr. Jennifer Hardwick in the fall of 2018, and the collaboration subsequently 
received $30,083 in Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada funding for 
the “Medicine in Our Very Bones”: Gender, Sexuality and Embodied Resistance in 
Indigenous Burlesque initiative. This initiative sought to uphold, theorize, and share the 
embodied, relational work of Virago Nation as a decolonial research methodology. 
Throughout the initiative, the collaborative team has explored how this methodology 
engages and enacts Indigenous knowledges and experiences, builds relationships between 
communities, fosters awareness of historical and ongoing colonization, and promotes 
Indigenous peoples’ (and Indigenous women’s specifically) sovereign rights to their own 
bodies, sexualities, and gender identities. While the grant is ending, Dr. Hardwick and 
Virago Nation continue to collaborate on performances, workshops, educational resources, 
and academic publications. 

Student Demand for the Program 

Data and our own observation show that demand for English courses has grown 
considerably from 2014/15 to 2019/20. Data provided by KPU’s Office of Planning and 
Accountability (OPA) indicates that headcount in English lower-level courses has increased 



English Program Self-Study Report  14 
 

by 24% while enrolment in upper-level courses has increased by 44%. This compares to an 
11% increase in demand for Arts courses over the same period. Demand for courses at the 
2000-4000 is generally strongest at the 3000 level, and demand for upper-level courses is 
increasingly extending to the Summer term. For example, one week before classes began 
(May 3), unmet demand for the 2021 Summer term sat at 258 for ENGL 1100 and 125 for 
English 1202. During the same period, English was obliged to add two additional upper-
level courses in an attempt to meet student demand. We expect this demand to continue 
and increase as we emerge from the COVID-19 pandemic. 
 
While increased demand for courses at the 2000-4000 level is cause for celebration, it can 
also result in growing pains, especially for students. English student surveys confirm that 
while students are generally satisfied with course offerings, 100% agreed that not having 
access to the courses they wanted in a particular semester was a barrier. 67% also agreed 
that being shut out of full courses represented a barrier. The problem may be compounded 
by registration releases. As one student respondent put it, “In the Summer semester, only 
a few of the classes are offered to new students and senior students, making it pretty 
difficult to take certain classes without having to wait until the Fall semester.” 
 
Demand for first-year courses has also increased since 2015, due largely to an astonishing 
increase in international student enrolment. This growth has not come without challenges; 
English, like several other departments at KPU, has struggled to meet the increased 
demand for first-year courses. In recent years, late demand sections have left us scrambling 
to find coverage. A recent increase to our base FTE will help us to address this additional 
demand. However, the department continues to adapt to the unique needs of international 
students who are not uniformly prepared for study at the university level. One solution to 
this problem might be to create a unique first-year experience for international students 
that will prepare them for the rest of their studies, but that is a project that lies beyond the 
scope of the English department and this program review.  
 
As for student demographics, data supplied by OPA reveals that a clear majority of English 
students at KPU are female (72%), a number that has remained steady over the past five 
years. This percentage is higher than the Arts average (62%), but it aligns with historical 
trends in the Humanities. 

Summary and Recommendations 

Currency and Competitive Context 
 
Although KPU’s English program is generally aligned with comparable programs in the 
province, it is clear that changes are occurring across the discipline that should prompt us 
to consider changes to our program. These include:  
 

• Providing more flexibility for students to meet core requirements and to customize 
their individual learning experiences  



English Program Self-Study Report  15 
 

• Offering courses and including perspectives from traditionally underrepresented 
groups  

• Developing courses that reflect changes in scholarship and pedagogy across the 
sector and discipline 

• Including experiential learning opportunities and exploring capstone course 
requirements 

Connections to other KPU Academic Units  
 
English has multiple connections with other units through its service courses and through 
faculty connections and collaborations. However, it does not have any cross-listed courses 
or integrated opportunities for students to use credits from other disciplines toward an 
English degree other than those required by the BA framework. To build connections, the 
department might: 
 

• Investigate connections with other disciplines such as Creative Writing, Journalism, 
Interdisciplinary Expressive Arts, and Indigenous Studies 

• Develop related fields of study that can foster ties with other disciplines. This is 
already underway with Arts-level discussions about a Minor in Film and with the 
growing Indigenous Studies program about developing and cross-listing Indigenous 
literature courses.  

Community Outreach 
English, like other essentially academic programs, often struggles to establish and maintain 
connections with the community. Nevertheless, it is clear Kwantlen English faculty at have 
found time and ways to forge connections; it is also clear that support in the form of 
funding and time release facilitates many of these community outreach projects. More 
information about accessing means of support—and an increase in the availability of those 
means of support—will undoubtedly foster more community outreach. 

Public Information 
The results from OPA regarding student sources of information suggests that greater 
emphasis should be placed on developing the English department’s website and 
maintaining our social media presence.  

Articulation, Transfers, and PLA 
While students transferring into or out of KPU English can expect to have their prior 
learning recognized, it is good practice for Advisors at all levels to remind students who are 
planning to transfer to other universities to consult the B.C. Transfer guide before taking a 
required English writing course at KPU, such as English 1100. This information should be 
echoed in the calendar and other online sources, including the English department’s 
website.  
 
The English department should also continue to work with the Office of the Registrar and 
Advisors to streamline the recognition of incoming English courses for the purpose of the 



English Program Self-Study Report  16 
 

writing-intensive requirement in Arts. Solutions found here may be needed once the 
university-wide writing requirement contained in Policy AC 14 comes in effect.   

Student Demand 
Given that there is little to be done about registration releases (the source of some 
dissatisfaction for English students), the department should increase the number and 
variety of its upper-level courses to satisfy student demand.  
  
The department should continue to meet student demand and encourage it through the 
offering of more 2000-4000 courses each term. These courses should be selected to 
balance the requirement of students in the English program but also to cater to the 
interests of non-Majors and Minors. Curriculum should be updated with survey input from 
current students, alumni, and faculty.  



English Program Self-Study Report  17 
 

 Quality of Curriculum Design 

Assessment of the Curriculum 

Overview of the Program 

Major  
The BA English Major aims to give students an appreciation for and a comprehensive 
overview of the study of the field while acquiring skills that are broadly applicable in many 
employment contexts. Like all degree programs in Arts, English students are required to 
take ENGL 1100 and another three credits of first-year English (ENGL 1202 or ENGL 1204). 
These requirements provide students with a foundation for university writing and an 
introduction to the study of narrative.  
 
In second year, students are currently required to take three credits of broad historical 
survey (chosen from two British surveys and a Canadian and an American survey) and 
another six credits chosen from second-year offerings that survey various genres in the 
field. These courses are meant to give students a broad introduction to the history and 
development of literature and film. They also develop students’ critical thinking, research, 
and analytical skills.  
 
In third year, among the thirty credits required, students must complete six credits from 
two historical periods. Three credits must come from courses focused on pre-18th century 
British literatures while three credits must come from courses focused on 18th and 19th 
century literatures from either Britain, Canada, or the United States. Students are also 
required to fulfil a theory requirement by taking either ENGL 3300 Literary Theory or 3305 
Film Theory.  
 
Finally, students are required to take at least one 4000-level course. 4000-level courses 
generally offer a seminar-based approach, with smaller class sizes and specific topics 
intended to provide students with the in-depth knowledge of comprehension and analysis 
that will prepare them for graduate school, careers that involve writing and analysis, or 
other forms of further education such as PDP or law school.   
  
Minor  
An English Minor is a value-add for program Majors outside the department. It may be 
especially appealing to students whose main program includes writing or analysis as major 
components such as Journalism, History, Creative Writing, or Educational Studies, or 
students who wish to pursue Education, Marketing, or Law at the post-Baccalaureate level.  
 
The BA Minor has many of the same requirements as the BA Major; however, Minor 
students take a total of 30 credits in English. Currently, our Minor has more requirements 
than comparable programs at other universities as well as other programs within KPU Arts. 



English Program Self-Study Report  18 
 

These requirements may serve as a deterrent to students interested in an English Minor 
and should be reconsidered.   
  
A.A.  
AA Students, of which there are relatively few, are required to take 15 credits including the 
first- and second-year requirements.    

Program Competencies and Essential Skills 

The English Department’s program competencies are informed by institutional 
competencies and skills and align with KPU’s Essential Skills Policy, Academic Plan 2023, as 
well as the Faculty of Arts’ Bachelor of Arts Framework Learning Outcomes. There is 
considerable overlap in these documents, which all emphasize creative and critical 
thinking; communication, comprehension, and information literacy; intercultural and 
global awareness; and personal and professional responsibility.  
 

KPU’s Essential Skills  
• Creative Thinking and Problem-Solving Skills   
• Oral Communication Skills   
• Writing Skills   
• Interpersonal Skills  
• Teamwork and Leadership Skills  
• Personal Management Skills  
• Reading and Information Skills  
• Visual Literacy Skills   
• Mathematical Skills   
• Intercultural Skills   
• Technological Skills  
• Citizenship and Global Perspectives 

 
KPU’s Academic Plan 2023  
• Can think and act independently  
• Have strong and adaptable digital and technological skills  
• Are collaborators across different areas of expertise  
• Are capable of dealing with diverse other learners, companies, clients and agencies  
• Have a capacity for integrated thinking 

 
BA Framework Learning Outcomes  
• Critical Thinking: Critically analyze one’s own and others’ thinking, and develop logical 

arguments supported by credible evidence  
•  Communication: Communicate clearly and concisely considering audience and purpose, and 

demonstrate the ability to effectively use different mediums, formats, and styles   
• Problem-Solving & Innovation: Develop multiple approaches to identify and address 

problems, implement strategies for action, and evaluate outcomes 



English Program Self-Study Report  19 
 

• Social Justice: Examine the impact of historical and ongoing injustices on contemporary 
societies and cultures; identify and explore ways of addressing systemic barriers to equality 
and inclusiveness   

• Intercultural Awareness: Engage and interact with diverse cultural traditions, knowledge 
systems, and perspectives; explore seeing the world through someone else's eyes, and 
articulate diverse perspectives  

•  Information & Research Literacy: Articulate and investigate research questions using diverse 
methods; and draw on primary and secondary resources to make original analyses and 
observations  

• Numerical Literacy: Identify and interpret patterns of data, consider specific numerical 
values and statistics in the context of larger data sets, and interpret graphical 
representations of numerical information   

• Professionalism, Teamwork & Accountability: Manage time effectively and demonstrate 
awareness of one's skills, habits, and abilities; collaborate with others respectfully; be 
accountable for one's actions 

 
 
With the exception of numeracy and mathematical skills, which are not particularly 
relevant to our program, English fosters all the skills and competencies outlined above. 
Written communication, reading comprehension, critical analysis, and information literacy 
are foundational to all of the Department’s courses, with particular emphasis on literary 
analysis, formal research, and scholarly writing. Students are taught not only to analyze 
and evaluate visual and written texts, but they are also expected to develop coherent and 
supported arguments, and to communicate their ideas clearly in a variety of mediums and 
styles with an awareness of audience, purpose, and occasion. Introduction to these skills 
begins in the first year, and students continue to expand and deepen their mastery as they 
move through the program.  
  
Our program also fosters self-awareness and reflection, and it exposes students to diverse, 
intersectional perspectives and methodologies. The program curriculum is designed to 
teach students how to engage critically and ethically with cultural materials (most notably 
literature and film) that are produced in a variety of social, historical, political, and artistic 
contexts. As such, students who complete the program are introduced to a diversity of 
voices and perspectives which help them to develop intercultural awareness and an 
understanding of historic and ongoing social justice issues. Students are also given 
opportunities to reflect critically on their own positions, identities, skills, and 
methodological approaches as scholars, individuals, and citizens.  
 

Learning Outcomes 

The English program learning outcomes reinforce the program-level skills and 
competencies, placing particular emphasis on Literary and Film Studies methodologies.  
 
Graduates of the English Department will be able to:  
  



English Program Self-Study Report  20 
 

1. Communicate clearly, coherently, and concisely, considering audience, purpose, 
and rhetorical context, in written and oral form.     

2. Demonstrate critical thinking and reasoning skills in reading, comprehending, and 
evaluating texts and contexts. Interpret and analyze texts from a variety of critical 
and theoretical perspectives.    

3. Identify the main critical traditions and movements that have influenced the study 
of literature and film.    

4. Analyze the social, historical, cultural, philosophical, and/or economic influences 
on literature and narrative.    

5. Identify and reflect upon differences of perspective and experience arising from 
race, class, gender, sexuality, and culture.    

6. Frame and investigate relevant research questions to draw upon and document 
primary and secondary resources to develop original analyses, interpretations, 
and arguments.      

  
English faculty have also identified emergent spaces to expand program learning outcomes 
3, 4, and 5, and to include a digital literacy outcome. The intent is not to replace 3, 4, and 
5, but to merge them with the proposed outcomes as the program builds capacity in these 
key areas. The proposed outcomes are: 
  

1. Employ digital and visual literacy skills in reading, interpreting, analyzing, 
responding to, and producing a variety of texts.  (New outcome) 

2. Understand the history and evolution of the discipline, current debates, and 
possible futures.  (Expansion of outcome 3) 

3. Reflect on the ways that literature, narrative, and literary study can uphold, 
challenge, represent, and question historical and ongoing injustices.  (Expansion of 
outcome 4) 

4. Identify and reflect upon differences in representation, perspective, and 
experience arising from race, class, gender, sexuality, ability, identity, and 
culture.  (Expansion of outcome 5) 

  
While these outcomes have not yet been formally designated, we know that many 
instructors already include them in their courses. Further, the faculty survey shows there 
is broad faculty support to continue to build curriculum and expertise in these areas: 
 

#  Question  Not 
important 

Somewhat 
important 

Very 
important 

Essential Total 

1  
Employ digital and visual literacy skills in 
reading, interpreting, analyzing, 
responding to, and producing a variety of 
texts  

7% 33% 19% 41% 27 

2  
Understand the history and evolution of 
the discipline, current debates, and 
possible futures  

4% 22% 56% 19% 27 



English Program Self-Study Report  21 
 

3  
Reflect on the ways that literature, 
narrative, and literary study can uphold, 
challenge, represent, and question 
historical and ongoing injustices  

4% 22% 26% 48% 27 

4  

Identify and reflect upon differences in 
representation, perspective, and 
experience arising from race, class, 
gender, sexuality, ability, identity, and 
culture  

4% 15% 22% 59% 27 

 

Credential-Level Specifications 

Declaration requirements: good academic standing with the university, completion of a 
minimum of 18 credits of undergraduate coursework (minimum grade of ‘C’), including 
ENGL1100, and six credits at the 1100 level or higher in ENGL.  
 
ENGL Major: Students must complete ENGL 1100 and 3 credits chosen from ENGL 1202 and 
ENGL 1204; 3 credits from ENGL 2301, 2309, 2316, 2317 and a further 6 credits from 
courses in ENGL at the 2000 level; 30 credits of study in 3000-4000 level courses, including 
one of ENGL 3300 and ENGL 3305, one of ENGL 3315, 3320, 3321, 3323, and 3325, one of 
ENGL 3301, 3306, 3328, 3332, and 3336 and a minimum of 3 credits at the 4000 level; a 
total of 45 or more ENGL credits with a minimum grade of ‘C ’or better.  
 
ENGL Minor: Students must complete ENGL 1100 and 3 credits from one of ENGL 1202 and 
ENGL 1204; 3 credits from ENGL 2301, 2309, 2316, 2317 and a further 6 credits from 
courses in ENGL at the 2000 level; a further 15 credits of 3000 and 4000-level courses 
including ENGL 3330 or 3305 and 3 credits in 4000-level courses; a total of 30 or more ENGL 
credits with a minimum grade of ‘C ’or better.   
N/A 
ENGL Associate of Arts: Students must complete 60 credits including ENGL 1100 and 3 
credits chosen from ENGL 1202 and ENGL 1204; one of ENGL 2301, 2309, 2316, and 2317 
and a further 6 credits at the 2000 level; a total of 15 or more ENGL credits with a minimum 
grade of ‘C ’or better. 

Degree-Level Standards (if applicable) 

N/A 

Admissions and Prerequisites 

Admission to the Faculty of Arts and meeting the English Language Proficiency 
Requirement. As outlined in the Admissions Guide, students can satisfy this requirement in 
several ways.   

Student Satisfaction with the Curriculum 
The student survey shows a high level of satisfaction with the program curriculum. 88% 
responded that they were satisfied (42% of students said they are somewhat satisfied and 

https://calendar.kpu.ca/admissions/english-proficiency-requirements/
https://calendar.kpu.ca/admissions/english-proficiency-requirements/


English Program Self-Study Report  22 
 

46% responded that they are very satisfied). Several themes emerge from the student and 
alumni responses about curriculum. Students appear to be energized by different genres, 
styles, forms, and approaches in the discipline. However, students also indicated issues 
with course availability and a desire for greater diversity within course offerings.  
  
Students who identified as Majors in English say that they were originally drawn to the 
program for many reasons; a number of students shared a common story about being 
drawn to the program because of a positive experience in a first-year English course or a 
2000 or higher-level course that they decided to take as an elective. One student wrote, “I 
had initially wanted to major in Biology but my professors made English very intriguing and 
stimulating that I transferred programs. I like the discussion and participation part of 
English the most.” Another echoed this experience: “My first English course at KPU really 
caught my attention. The way of approaching the readings, analyzing the text, creating 
connections to the real world, and the discussions.”  
 
61% of student respondents indicated that they chose to pursue English with the goal of 
becoming a teacher. Several students noted that once they entered the program, they 
found the curricular content and approaches compelling. One such student said, “originally 
I was getting an English Degree to help me in becoming a teacher. But, since changing my 
career path, I just want to soak up studying literature and writing about my thoughts and 
ideas.”  
  
One student points to the variety of genres as a strength, while another notes that the 
“Curriculum provides a diverse set of literature to study. It is never just one genre, or one 
type of culture and characters.” Comments about the many varied approaches to the field 
appear throughout the survey: “The biggest strength of the program is the variety of classes 
they offer on different topics.” That said, students also expressed a desire for more course 
options.  
  
The responses to the next question—areas for improvement—suggest that students want 
more course options in general. One asks for an upper-level medieval course while others 
identify the need for more genres “such as surrealism, murder-mysteries, religious texts, 
and graphic novels.” This need was identified in the last program review, and we have since 
developed courses in children’s literature, science fiction/ fantasy, western mythology, film 
and film history, and young adult literature. A graphic novel course, a fairy tale and folklore 
course, and several more film courses are in development, but the department will need 
to build capacity to develop and teach these new courses through targeted hiring and by 
encouraging faculty to develop expertise in these areas. 
  
Many of the responses about curriculum focus on the need for diversity. Several students 
suggest the need for more courses that focus on textual traditions outside the traditional 
canon. One respondent writes, “I would like even more courses to be offered, especially 
more diverse literature courses,” while another recommends “increasing the diversity of 
courses that will include works of other world-famous writers (European, Asian, African).” 



English Program Self-Study Report  23 
 

A third asks for more “courses on literature from other cultures in translation.” One 
respondent returns to this when asked to comment on the program as whole: “The only 
thing I would like to highlight for this program is the lack of diversity in the texts students 
read.” These themes are also apparent in the alumni survey where students identify the 
need for courses that focus upon diverse bodies of literature from historically excluded 
voices and a general need for more options.  
 
The requests for courses that feature diverse voices and current topics are in keeping with 
the movement of the field as a whole and its sub-disciplines. Many English programs across 
Canada are developing more courses that focus on social justice, Indigenous perfectives, 
environmental justice, and underrepresented voices and stories in both historical and 
contemporary literatures. Furthermore, programs are making substantive efforts to 
include historically excluded voices and perspectives within already existing courses. In 
KPU’s English program, this work has already begun within many existing courses and with 
several recent hires in Indigenous, Post-Colonial, and Black Diasporic literatures.  
  
While current students are generally satisfied with skills learning, alumni comment that 
they would have benefitted from more hands-on skills, experiential, professional 
opportunities. A number of alumni respondents point to the need for courses that help 
them bridge into their professional lives. As one alumnus responds:  
 

I really believe [the department] should add something to direct students on how 
to utilize their writing skills + critical thinking skills for getting work after graduation 
if they are not going into teaching. It felt like if one was not going into teaching or 
going onto a Masters, there was not much guidance.  
 

While English participates in the ARTS 4800 Arts practicum course, it has two discipline 
experiential courses of its own, ENGL 4300 English Beyond the Classroom and 4400 English 
Studies in the Classroom. Unfortunately, the former has only been offered once since 2015, 
while the other has not been offered at all in that time; both courses need to be 
reconsidered and, ideally, integrated into the BA English program, perhaps as capstone 
options.  
  
Examined as a whole, responses suggest that students are generally satisfied with the 
curriculum, but there is room for improvement. In particular, there is an appetite for 
broader definitions of literature and for more inclusivity and diversity in our course 
offerings.   

Faculty Satisfaction with the Curriculum 
 
Faculty satisfaction with the curriculum, while still strong, was lower than student 
satisfaction. 37% of English faculty were somewhat satisfied with the curriculum and 30% 
were very satisfied.  When asked to elaborate on the strengths of the program, many 



English Program Self-Study Report  24 
 

faculty members identified the variety of course offerings, courses on film, and courses in 
popular literature.   
  
When asked to identify areas for improvement, faculty were more critical.  Only 36% 
percent of faculty were satisfied with the program’s Indigenous content offerings, and 
many faculty members expressed a desire to see greater diversity in curriculum, saying that 
“Indigenous and other non-Western literary traditions [are] not as widely covered as one 
would hope” and that “More BIPOC-focused courses [are] needed.” As noted above, there 
is widespread support from faculty to deepen and expand our learning outcomes 
connected to social justice and race, gender, sexuality, and ability. 
  
Another recurring theme in faculty responses was the need to provide students with more 
skills-building and experiential opportunities. Faculty indicated a “need [for] more classes 
that help students develop their writing and speaking skills” and for “more options for 
service learning and community engagement.” Faculty would like to see greater 
differentiation between course levels and more scaffolding of courses to support skill-
building. Currently, only 19% of faculty are very satisfied with how the “program makes use 
of prerequisites to prepare students for subsequent courses” and how the program 
articulates and differentiates between second, third, and fourth year. Given this level of 
satisfaction, it is unsurprising that faculty are generally open to restructuring the program 
to place greater emphasis on methods and skills. One faculty member recommends using 
“2000-level courses [to] focus on a canon of methods rather than a canon of texts” and 
another suggests moving from “a program organized largely around national literatures 
and specific literary historical periods, [to]…a more flexible program that focuses on giving 
students essential critical reading, writing and thinking skills.”  
  
In summary, while faculty are generally satisfied with the program’s historical breadth, 
course offerings within the Western canon, film offerings, and faculty expertise, their 
responses suggest that the English curriculum can be improved by a greater attention to 
diverse voices and foundational skills. 

Career Pathways and Alumni Preparedness for Work/Further Education  

The Alumni survey suggests that the majority of English graduates work in education (58%), 
government (23%), and the non-profit sector (15%). These career pathways make use of 
English alumni’s strong communication, critical thinking, and reading comprehension skills, 
and draw on their knowledge of historical and contemporary sociopolitical issues. As one 
respondent said, the English program “gave me critical analysis skills, reading 
comprehension and synthesizing skills, alongside research skills that I find to be invaluable 
regardless of the industry that I enter.” 
  
While 68% of alumni were either very or somewhat satisfied that their English degree 
prepared them for further work or education, many also saw room for improvement. In 
particular, one alumnus commented that they wished the English Department provided 
more opportunities for experiential and applied learning:  



English Program Self-Study Report  25 
 

I feel like there was no co-op, on-the-job opportunities or even a jobs course to find 
out what to do with the English degree (i.e. publishing, post-grad, editing, social 
work, etc.). Many of my cohort went on into teaching but there was never 
discussion on what else one could do post-graduation.  How to make it relevant to 
the real world.  

Another respondent wanted opportunities to apply their writing and communication skills 
in different contexts, noting that, “The writing that the English department teaches is 
centered around writing for academia. Extension courses that teach how to apply this to 
other fields would have been helpful to prepare me for the workplace.” The feedback from 
alumni aligns with English faculty and current student’s desire for more applied learning, 
particularly at the 2nd and 4th year level, and further emphasizes the need for more skills-
based and experiential learning courses. 

Discipline/Sector Feedback 

A total of 7 contacts responded to our request to fill out the Discipline Survey. Of these, 
most were professors in English programs with a range of experience supervising and 
teaching graduate students. One respondent teaches Education. Respondents rated the 
importance of these core skills as follows: 
 

# Question Not at all important Somewhat important Very important Essential Total 

1 Oral communication 0% 0% 71% 29% 7 

2 Written communication 0% 0% 14% 86% 7 

3 Reading comprehension 0% 0% 14% 86% 7 

4 Group collaboration 0% 29% 57% 14% 7 

5 Independent learning 0% 0% 14% 86% 7 

6 Critical analysis 0% 14% 0% 86% 7 

7 Problem Resolution 0% 14% 71% 14% 7 

8 Creativity and innovation 0% 14% 43% 43% 7 

9 Leadership skills 0% 43% 57% 0% 7 

10 Intercultural skills 0% 14% 0% 86% 7 

 
KPU English alumni rated their development of these skills in the program as follows: 
 

# Question Not at all A small extent A moderate extent A large extent Total 

1 Oral communication 5% 26% 53% 16% 38 

2 Written communication 0% 8% 21% 71% 38 

3 Reading comprehension 3% 16% 24% 58% 38 

4 Group collaboration 8% 26% 34% 32% 38 

5 Independent learning 3% 11% 32% 55% 38 

6 Critical analysis 3% 8% 29% 61% 38 

7 Problem resolution 5% 24% 46% 24% 37 



English Program Self-Study Report  26 
 

8 Creativity and innovation 8% 16% 45% 32% 38 

9 Leadership skills 24% 34% 29% 13% 38 

10 Intercultural skills 8% 50% 24% 18% 38 

 
Comparing both sets of responses, we see that the skills valued most by the discipline 
respondents are the skills most clearly identified as learning outcomes by our graduates. 
These include written communication, reading comprehension, independent learning, and 
critical analysis. However, one skill that was rated highly in the discipline survey was rated 
low by alumni: intercultural skills. This echoes responses from the student and instructor 
surveys identifying the need for the department to continue to pursue strategies to 
increase cultural diversity in its course offerings and in its critical perspectives. In particular, 
the discipline survey responses identified the current and growing importance of 
Indigenous literature and literature from minoritized groups.    
 
As for preparedness for further study, few survey respondents were familiar with our 
students, but those who were confirmed that English alumni were prepared for further 
education. One respondent stated that both of the KPU alumni they taught were “excellent 
grad students and were as prepared for grad study as many students from other 
competitive institutions.” 

Curriculum Development and Review Processes 
 
Curriculum development aligns with the structure of the program and needs of our 
students, but it also responds to student demand and current trends in the discipline. The 
English Curriculum Committee (CurrComm) has been delegated the responsibility of 
approving and revising courses in the English department. 
 
Course development may be initiated by an individual instructor, or it may be requested 
by CurrComm, usually in consultation with our Educational Planning committee. Proposed 
courses are discussed by CurrComm to determine suitability for the program and viability. 
Once courses are approved in principle, developers fill out an approval form (often with 
assistance from the Chair or a member of CurrComm) to send to the dean’s office. If the 
dean’s office approves the proposal, developers build the course using the course 
development platform. A full draft outline is returned to CurrComm for feedback and 
approval before submission to Arts Sub-Committee on Curriculum (ASCC). Once ASCC has 
approved a course, the course is sent to Senate Sub-Committee on Curriculum (SSCC) and 
Senate for final approval.  
 
When courses come up for review, subject area experts are asked to make any revisions 
needed to keep the course current; if courses no longer fit clearly into our Ed Plan, they 
may be discontinued. Revised course outlines follow the same process as new ones. 
Broader curricular and programmatic decisions are considered and ratified by the entire 
department.  



English Program Self-Study Report  27 
 

Summary and Recommendations 

• Change program requirements for the Minor: The requirements for the BA Minor 
are very similar to those of the Major; the Minor simply requires fewer overall 
credits. Most Minor programs in English and in Arts do not have such extensive 
requirements. Reducing the requirements and providing more flexibility will attract 
students to the Minor. The Minor should also be promoted among students 
majoring in Journalism, History, Creative Writing, or Educational Studies. 

• Create more flexibility in the program structure to allow for concentrations and 
faster completion. 

• Include a greater diversity of voices and cultural perspectives.  
• Hire new faculty to expand offerings of postcolonial, diasporic, Indigenous, and 

LGBTQ2S+/Queer literatures. 
• More skills scaffolding and greater emphasis on analytical methods 
• Reduce the historical requirements in the second year in order to support the 

creation of a required skills course for all Majors, Minors, and A. A. students. This 
change will align KPU English with other programs across Canada that are moving 
away from a canon of traditional literature. 

• Eliminate the current theory requirement and replace it with a second-year skills 
and methods course. Encourage the inclusion of critical theory into the content and 
learning outcomes of existing upper-division courses. 

• Revitalize existing experiential learning courses (4300: Writing and Persuasion 
Beyond the Classroom and 4400: English Studies and the Classroom) and build 
professional skills opportunities for English students. 

• Create greater coherence and flexibility across existing third-year national literature 
courses.   



English Program Self-Study Report  28 
 

 Quality of Instructional Design 

This chapter assesses the quality of the program’s instructional design. 

Delivery Modes 

The English Department offers first-year courses on four campuses (in descending order of 
numbers of sections): Surrey, Richmond, Langley, and Surrey Centre. Before the COVID-19 
pivot, we offered relatively low numbers of first-year courses online and in hybrid (online/ 
face-to-face) format. The department runs courses from the 2000-4000 level in all three 
semesters. Our 2000-4000 courses are normally offered on the Surrey campus in three-
hour time blocks. Past attempts to offer 2000-level courses on Richmond and Langley 
campuses have prompted us to mainly schedule 2000+ literature sections at the Newton 
campus. Student feedback revealed that most students taking 2000+ courses were not 
based on satellite campuses; in other words, scheduling these courses on other campuses 
often produced unnecessary commutes for students.  
 
During the COVID-19 pandemic, all English classes were offered fully online with many 
instructors opting for a mix of synchronous and asynchronous activities. When asked about 
their satisfaction with the mode used to deliver the program, 84% of students were very or 
somewhat satisfied. But because the survey was conducted in the midst of a pandemic in 
which no face-to-face instructions was possible, it is unclear whether these numbers reflect 
past or current experience. However, a further question about the likelihood of students 
to take 2000-4000 level courses online post-pandemic shows that 56% would be very or 
extremely likely to do so. 
 
In Fall 2021, we planned a mix of online partially online and face-to-face upper-level 
courses. However, the persistence of the COVID 19 pandemic has prompted many 
instructors to move online either fully or partially. Even before this move, we saw a clear 
preference for online classes. This pattern was likely due to anxieties about returning to 
campus. How this trend will change in the future is anyone’s guess. Nevertheless, we expect 
(and student responses confirm) that a legacy of the pandemic will be greater demand for 
partially and fully online English courses. The English department will therefore have to 
consider how to respond to that demand in terms of scheduling and curriculum.  

Course Scheduling  
 
Scheduling is the responsibility of the Ed Planning Committee (consisting of five members 
including the department chair) in consultation with Search and the department assistant. 
The committee meets several times a year to give input on the schedules, to plan the 2000-
4000 level offerings, and to check faculty course preference forms and qualified faculty lists 
against the schedule and to ensure that students have maximum choice. Upper-level 



English Program Self-Study Report  29 
 

courses are usually planned and advertised on the department’s website at least two 
semesters into the future to help students with their degree planning. 
 
In 2020, we offered nine 2000-level courses over three semesters. The 2000-level courses 
that are required for Minors, Majors, and AAs (students select one of ENGL 2301, 2309, 
2316, and 2317) run more often than others. For example, our traditional literary surveys 
(ENGL 2316 and ENGL 2317) run every year.  
  
Minors and Majors are required to take one theory course in their degree (ENGL 3300 or 
ENGL 3305). The department offers each of these courses once a year. In 2020, we ran 
fifteen 3000-level courses across the three semesters overall. Majors and Minors are also 
required to take one from each of two historical categories among the 3000-level course 
offerings, covering the Middle Ages to the end of the Victorian period. The department 
tries to offer one from Group One (Middle Ages to the end of the 18th-century: ENGL 3315, 
3320, 3321, 3323, 3325) and one from Group Two (beginning of the 19th-century to the 
beginning of the 20th century: ENGL 3301, 3306, 3328, 3332, and 3336) every semester, if 
possible.  
  
Majors and Minors are required to take one 4000-level course (3 credits). Since 2018, we 
have offered one 4000-level course every semester, running a total of three over three 
semesters.  
  
As demand for film courses has grown, the department has designed and offered more film 
courses, and strives to include one or more each term. Once AC 14 is implemented, we 
expect this schedule to facilitate a film concentration: 70% of students said they were very 
or somewhat interested in such a concentration.  
 
Generally, Ed Planning attempts to schedule to offer a wide array of options and limit 
topical and area duplication. The committee has further attempted to offer popular courses 
more often (such as Film, Popular Writing, and Children’s Literature) that draw students 
seeking electives from outside of the department. The Ed Planning committee also tries to 
ensure that students are exposed to a mix of instructors throughout their degrees. 
  
Courses at the 2000-4000 levels are generally offered on a biannual basis. However, 
rotation at the 3000-4000 level is dependent upon faculty availability. A faculty member 
on leave or otherwise unavailable to teach a course may delay or prevent a course from 
being offered. A few courses—such as 4300: Writing and Persuasion Beyond the Classroom 
and 4400: English Studies and the Classroom—need to be redesigned and given a clear 
place in the program to facilitate regular rollout. Hiring or professional development might 
also be required in order to find instructors prepared to teach these courses. In general, 
however, the department’s focus should be less on fitting instructors to courses and more 
on developing courses to fit instructors’ expertise. Today’s PhD programs are more diverse 
and interdisciplinary than in the past; instructors should therefore be encouraged to 



English Program Self-Study Report  30 
 

propose course topics and to develop and revise courses to enable them to employ their 
expertise to inspire students.    
  

Assessment Methods 

All courses in the English program utilize the letter grade system.  Kwantlen Polytechnic 
University has specific policies and procedures pertaining to evaluation in such courses that 
are detailed in AR6: Final Examinations and Grade Reporting for Semester-Based Courses, 
and C.20: Student Evaluation and Grading.  
 
The English Department’s assessment methods are varied and depend on the topic and 
instructor. Collectively, the department places a great deal of weight on writing skills, and 
as such, scholarly writing (i.e., academic essays) is expected in all of our classes. However, 
other assessment methods are also used, providing students with opportunities to share 
their knowledge in different ways. These assessments include (but are not limited to) in-
class discussion, debate, collaborative work, research poster projects, presentations, 
performance (particularly in drama courses), ePortfolios, digital projects, journals, blogs, 
reflective writing, as well as quizzes and exams. These assessment methods are designed 
to meet course, program, and institutional learning outcomes as well as discipline-specific 
skills and competencies. In recent years, increasing attention has been given to Universal 
Design for Learning (UDL), and the English department is adopting assessment strategies 
to provide students with multiple options to demonstrate and share their knowledge. 

Student Experience 

Grade Distribution 

The English Department’s DFW rates (between 2015/2016 and 2019/2020) are higher than 
Arts as a whole. English’s DFW rate falls between 23 and 26%, whereas Arts’ DFW rate falls 
between 16% and 19%.    
  

English 

 
 

 
 



English Program Self-Study Report  31 
 

 
 
 
 

Arts 

 
 

There are several reasons for this discrepancy. First, as a writing-based discipline, English 
generally has slightly lower grades than many other disciplines at the first year. Second, 
and perhaps most importantly, these numbers include a large number of first-year courses 
required outside Arts. ENGL 1100 is a required course for all baccalaureate programs across 
the institution, which makes it difficult to compare English with many other programs in 
Arts. Furthermore, the gap between high school writing and university writing is a well-
known phenomenon.  
 
In order to examine the department’s grade distribution, it is worthwhile to look at the 
numbers slightly differently than shown above. As discussed above, taking all years of the 
program into account shows that English has between a seven and 10% higher DFW rate 
than Arts. However, using the Grade Distribution Dashboard to look at 2000-4000 level 
courses shows a 11-12% DFW rate across Arts compared to a 13 to 18% DFW rate in English 
between 2015/2016 and 2019/2020. In fact, excluding the one year of an 18% rate (which 
was 2019-2020 and could easily be explained by factoring in the AEG grades and general 
issues around COVID), shows that we are within 1-2% of the DFW rate for Arts.  
  
Overall, the English department’s grade distribution in the 2000-4000 level of the program 
is similar to other programs across Arts. In fact, 93% of students surveyed indicated that 
they were satisfied with their “Level of ability to succeed in the program.” No students 
indicate dissatisfaction with either their ability to succeed or “Prerequisites that prepare 
me for advanced courses.”  
 
Student Supports and Professional Development for Faculty 
 
The English department works in a variety of ways to help students acquire the essential 
writing basics needed in first-year university and beyond. These include PD opportunities, 
Writing Labs, Learning Centre referrals, and one-on-one conferencing with students.  
  



English Program Self-Study Report  32 
 

Instructors engage in PD sessions several times a year to discuss pedagogical strategies. PD 
sessions have increased over the years with a permanent PD Committee comprised of 
several faculty members arranging events. The COVID-19 pandemic reinvigorated the PD 
committee as faculty discovered a need for PD sessions and Virtual Hallway chats. We have 
had a number of sessions each semester over the last year that were well attended. The 
PD committee also arranges a departmental marking session at least once a year to co-
mark sample first-year assignments, to discuss our outcomes, and to consider philosophies 
and approaches.   
 
One of our instructors, Gillian Dearle, has also created a Community of Practice Moodle 
site housing a set of resources as a part of her Educational Leave in 2019-2020. The 
Community of Practice involved a set of meetings of interested faculty, working together 
to discuss and determine best practices for first-year teaching. Gillian also completed an 
online ENGL 1100 template/resource site for faculty to use. This resource site proved 
invaluable during the “pandemic pivot” as instructors were able to draw from it for their 
online teaching. During the pivot, the page also hosted a community forum where faculty 
could ask and answer questions about online teaching methods, resources, and 
technology. Faculty used these forums as well as MS Teams to engage one another and 
keep connected during the COVID-19 pandemic.  
 
In 2016, as an action item from our last program review, we implemented the First-Year 
English Writing Labs. This program works on a faculty-led Supplementary Instruction (SI) 
model and offers free flexible workshops on writing basics taught by experienced faculty 
supported by time release from the Dean of Arts. Each fall and spring, two instructors 
organize 40 one-hour (8 sets of 5) lab modules that run the gamut from “Sentence 
Structure” to “Thesis Statements.” One faculty member offers 20 (4 sets of 5 modules) in 
the Summer.  
 
The English writing lab instructors have also formed two important connections with the 
Learning Centres. First, we seek to include peer tutors in the labs. In the past, two or three 
peer tutors would attend in-person labs (paid tutor hours) to help students as they 
completed exercises, and some students who wanted to go into teaching were coached by 
the lab instructors to teach a partial lab session themselves.  
 
Since the pandemic pivot, we have turned all of our labs into synchronous online sessions. 
We paired with the Learning Centres again, but we now include a peer tutor in every lab 
module, meaning that each module is supported by an instructor as well as a tutor. This 
method gets the students used to tutor support, helps ensure all students get the one-on-
one attention they require, and offers the tutors insight into writing instruction (many peer 
tutors need help understanding grammar, for example, so they can learn as they teach). 
Second, we have devised a passport system that includes the Learning Centre. Using it, 
faculty may offer bonus opportunities to students if they attend five labs and/or peer tutor 
appointments. We provide lab attendance info to all first-year faculty, and the tutors 
provide students with confirmation emails of tutoring sessions that can be sent along to an 

https://www.kpu.ca/arts/english/firstyearlabs
https://www.kpu.ca/arts/english/firstyearlabs


English Program Self-Study Report  33 
 

instructor as well. This incentive has strong faculty buy-in, and it encourages students who 
need it to seek basic writing help.   
  
Developed as a response to resource development and deployment during the COVID-19 
pandemic, many instructors now work with the Learning Centres to implement a Tutor 
Navigator program that pairs tutors with specific sections of our first-year English courses. 
During the year online, Tutor Navigators visited synchronous sessions to talk to students 
about the resources available to them in the Learning Centres and to encourage them to 
book one-on-one appointments. This helped to lower the bar of signing up for tutoring 
because students had a name and a friendly face to make the process less daunting. Tutors 
had access to instructor assignments to help them offer much more targeted feedback.  
  
Another important relationship that supports student writing is the Faculty Tutor program. 
The Dean of Arts provides one-course-per-semester time releases to two English faculty in 
fall and spring terms. So, during the busiest periods, two faculty members work with the 
Learning Centre. Since the Learning Centre’s tutors are hired under “specialist” areas 
depending on Major, our English Department faculty will give input on training, work 
directly with writing tutors, and also see student visitors themselves as part of the “writing” 
area. Faculty tutors have been working for several years to move faculty involvement away 
from the one-on-one tutoring role and towards more mentoring, observing, and advising 
the student tutors. Many of the student tutors in the writing area of the Learning Centres 
are English Majors and Minors. Looking at how these students are faring in the program 
itself requires separating out the program from the large numbers of first-year service 
courses.  
 
Finally, it is necessary to mention the individualized support students receive from their 
English instructors. A major component of any writing-intensive class is one-on-one work 
with students, coaching them on their writing and suggesting ways to improve. Often this 
coaching goes beyond writing to more general strategies for academic success and can go 
as far as offering emotional support for struggling students. This is not easy work. It is both 
time-consuming and emotionally draining; nevertheless, rare is the English instructor who 
does not go above and beyond to provide it.  
 
While there are many initiatives in the department to help improve writing and/or grades 
of first-year students, there are no corresponding co-curricular initiatives for students in 
the Major and Minor programs beyond student-instructor conferencing; however, the 
upper-level committee is generating plans for program engagement and Heather Cyr has 
recently been approved (fall 2021) for a 0.6 project to create an OER Writing and Research 
Handbook designed to support non-Majors in 2000-4000 level courses, especially those 
who are unfamiliar with the basic methods of the discipline. The Writing and Research 
Handbook will also, of course, be useful for our Majors and Minors. 
 

https://www.kpu.ca/learningcentres/tutor-navigator-program
https://www.kpu.ca/learningcentres/tutor-navigator-program
https://www.kpu.ca/learningcentres/tutor-training


English Program Self-Study Report  34 
 

Retention and Graduation Rates 

Retention in the English Department is difficult to measure given that English 1100 and 
1202/4 are requirements for all Arts students and English 1100 is a requirement for all KPU 
students pursuing a bachelor’s degree. These core, lower-level English courses are 
designed to teach academic writing, critical thinking, research, and reading comprehension 
skills to a wide audience, rather than to recruit potential English Majors or Minors. As such, 
it is unsurprising that there is a large gap between lower and upper-level courses, with 4996 
students taking English 1100, 1202/4 and other lower division courses in 2019/2020 and 
only 193 students taking upper year courses. However, the English Department has also 
shown consistent growth over the last five years, which suggests that the program is doing 
a good job attracting and retaining students. The total number of English students has 
increased by 24% since 2015/16, and the number of intended students has increased by a 
staggering 124%. While the department has seen a slight decrease in Majors, the Minor 
program has flourished, with enrollment jumping by 278%. 
 
The Department of English’s graduation rates appear to have remained consistent over the 
last 5 years, dipping in 2016 to 8 and then rebounding in 2017 to 33 before leveling off at 
around 20. However, the FTE headcount in English has consistently gone up, and the 
program is regularly adding to its offerings of upper year courses, which may suggest that 
the program can expect more graduates in coming years than captured by these data. 
Anecdotally, English faculty know many of our students pursue double Majors in teachable 
subjects, pairing Majors in History, Languages, or Counselling with English in order to 
ensure they are prepared for careers in primary and secondary education. It is possible that 
many of these students are not accounted for in this data because of how double Majors 
are documented. 
 
Graduates typically take just over five years to graduate, which aligns with the Faculty of 
Arts’s median years to graduate and the provincial average of 4.89 year to complete an 
undergraduate degree. The Alumni Survey Report indicates that while students perceived 
“working while going to school” (44%) and “financial issues” (42%) to be the greatest 
obstacles to timely completion, availability of courses was also a significant factor (38%).    
 

# Question Not at all A small extent A moderate extent A large extent Total 

1 Availability of courses 14% 49% 33% 5% 43 

2 Flexibility of scheduling options 21% 44% 30% 5% 43 

3 Working while going to school 28% 28% 23% 21% 43 

4 Financial issues 35% 23% 16% 26% 43 

 

Student Outcomes 

The English program currently meets or exceeds Ministry Outcome Score Targets in all but 
three categories, scoring above 90% in satisfaction, quality, reading comprehension, 

https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/191018/dq191018a-eng.htm


English Program Self-Study Report  35 
 

written communication, critical thinking, and individual learning. The scores in these 
categories reflect the emphasis the program places on these significant skills. 
 

Measures  

Average Student Outcome 
Scores for KPU English 

Program  
(2017-2019)  

Ministry  
Target  

Respondents  35    

Unemployment  6.5%  
  

≤ 7.5%  
  

Currently Employed  83%  
  

  
  

Related Job  62%  
    

Usefulness  86%  ≥ 90%  
Satisfaction  100%  ≥ 90%  
Quality  100%  ≥ 90%  
Skill Development  87%  ≥ 85%  
Write Clearly and Concisely  94%  ≥ 85%  
Speak Effectively  85%  ≥ 85%  
Read and Comprehend 

Materials  91%  ≥ 85%  
Work Effectively with Others  71%  ≥ 85%  
Analyze and Think Critically  100%  ≥ 85%  
Resolve Issues or Problems  74%  ≥ 85%  
Learn on your Own  94%  ≥ 85%  

 
The department falls slightly short of the Ministry Target for “usefulness,” and is further 
away from meeting the targets for “working with others” and “problem solving.” This 
suggests two things: first, faculty need to work harder to help students understand the 
usefulness of skills such as critical thinking, reading comprehension, and writing, and the 
connections between critical thinking and problem solving. Second, students would benefit 
from more opportunities to collaborate on projects that require them to work together. 
Group projects will also support the development of problem-solving skills. 

Student Satisfaction with Course Availability 
 
Over the last few years, the department has been increasing its offerings of 2000-4000 level 
courses across all three semesters in response to increasing demand. Nevertheless, 
students have indicated some dissatisfaction with course availability. 100% of respondents 
to the student survey said they faced scheduling issues because the courses they wanted 
were not offered in a particular semester. 67% indicated that they have experienced 



English Program Self-Study Report  36 
 

courses being full before they could register. One student makes this clear when they 
suggest that we “Offer more courses each semester so students can graduate on time.” 
This theme was also prevalent in the alumni survey. One respondent sums up the 
sentiments expressed by a number of alumni; under “areas for improvement”, they write: 
“The availability of courses, the flexibility of courses, the increase in courses, the diversity 
of courses.”  
 
Unmet demand for 2000-4000 summer courses also arose in the student surveys. Demand 
in these terms has increased while our capacity to meet that demand has remained static 
or declined. One student respondent notes frustration with the offerings in the summer 
semester, in particular: “In the Summer semester, only a few of the classes are offered to 
new students and senior students, making it pretty difficult to take certain classes without 
having to wait until the Fall semester.” A respondent in the alumni survey highlights this 
issue colourfully: 
 

The registration numbers one receives can be a major determinant in how easily 
one progresses through their degree. Trying to get a particular course in the 
summer semester that works with one's work schedule and isn't fully waitlisted by 
the time your registration period comes up can be like threading a needle with 
boxing gloves on.  
 

In order to better satisfy demand for summer courses, the department has recently placed 
two newly regularized instructors to the summer with the expectation that they will teach 
upper-level courses in that term. Additional adjustments may be required in the future. 
 
Students also expressed a relatively low rate of satisfaction with the range of courses 
offered each term. Only 43% were somewhat or very satisfied and an equal percentage—
43%—were somewhat or very dissatisfied. This result is not entirely surprising. Before the 
recent surge in enrolments, a dearth of English students meant we were able to offer 
neither a large number nor a wide range of 2000-4000 level courses. After the surge, the 
department found itself struggling to meet demand and confronting limitations in upper-
level course coverage and a limited range of upper-level courses. We have begun to address 
the problem through hiring, but the English Program Review committee believes that a 
thorough reconsideration of our curriculum is required in order to keep the program vital 
and thriving. 

Student Satisfaction with Instruction 

Student and alumni surveys both show high levels of satisfaction with instruction. Indeed, 
many of the student respondents (44%) indicated that they chose the program because of 
the “Reputation of Instructors.” Several other students identified instructors’ enthusiasm 
and passion as the main strength of the program, continuing this theme from elsewhere in 
the survey. One student says that the program’s most important strength is “the teachers; 
it is clear they are passionate [about] what they do and they are always helpful and 
encouraging….” Another writes,  



English Program Self-Study Report  37 
 

 
Each professor I have had is so enthusiastic about [their] topic in literature, it is such 
a good feeling to walk into the class and have your prof excited to share their 
knowledge and favourite books. It makes me excited to learn and more passionate 
they are, the more passionate I feel. Each class the professor has thoughtfully put 
together a semester of building on new ideas or topics that can be applied to the 
discipline as a whole. 

 
Others place the instructors as an important piece of the larger picture: “The instructors 
are amazing and welcoming, and the wide range of program opportunities (clubs, 
scholarships, bursaries, and opportunities) are amazing.” While others said that instructor 
techniques are the department’s strong suit: “The strength of the program is how the 
professors will guide you to create stronger analysis and connections during discussions of 
readings during class time.”  

Faculty Experience 

Expertise and Qualifications 

Bartlett, Andrew  BA (UNB), MA (Dalhousie), 
PhD (York)  

18th Century British 
Literature; Narrative 
Theory, Human / Animal 
Studies 

Blenkhorn, Deborah  BA / B.Ed. (Queen's), MA 
(Queen's)  

Composition/Academic 
Writing 

Boyd, Shelley  BA (Saskatchewan), MA 
(Saskatchewan), PhD 
(McGill)  

Canadian Literature, Food 
Studies, Women’s Writing 

Bright, Gillian  BA (Hon.) (UBC), MA 
(Leeds), PhD (UofT)  

Postcolonial Literatures, 
Diasporic Literatures, 
Affect Studies 

Buirs, Betty Anne  Dip. Arts (Douglas), BA 
(UBC), MA (UBC), PhD 
(Saskatchewan)  

Canadian Literature, 
Composition/Academic 
Writing 

Chan, Gregory  BA (UBC), MA (UBC)  Film Studies, Canadian 
Diasporic Literature, Digital 
Humanities, Experiential 
Learning 

Clements, Kiran  BA English (SFU), BA 
Psychology (SFU), M.Phil. 
(Oxford), PhD (London)  

Romantic Literature, Late 
18th - 19th Century Poetry 

Cochrane, Mark  BFA (UBC), MA (Concordia), 
LLB/JD (UBC)  

Canadian Poetry, 
Composition/Academic 
Writing 



English Program Self-Study Report  38 
 

Cyr, Heather  BA (STU), MA (Queen's), 
PhD (Queen's)  

Children’s Literature, 
Young Adult Literature, 
Fantasy 

Dearle, Gillian  BA Hons (UBC), MA 
(Queen's)  

Composition/Academic 
Writing 

Dearle, Robert  BA (UVic), MA (UVic), PhD 
(Queen's)  

Late 19th and 20th Century 
British Literature, 
Modernism, Critical Theory 

Doyle, Kelly  BA English and Psychology 
(MUN), MA (MUN), PhD 
(UBC)  

Gothic and Horror Fiction; 
Film, Film Theory, and 
Critical Theory 

Doyle, Kegan  BA (UVic), MA (UofT), PhD 
(UofT)  

American Literature, Life 
Writing 

Gooding, Elizabeth  BA (Alberta), MA (Alberta)  Composition/Academic 
Writing 

Grandison, Julia  BA (UofT), PhD (UofT)  19th Century Literature, 
Book History, Digital 
Humanities 

Greenlaw, Duncan  BA (Queen's), MA 
(Queen's), PhD (Alberta)  

Irish Literature, 
Modernism, Film 

Hardwick, Jennifer  BA (SFU) MA (Queen's) PhD 
(Queen's)  

Indigenous Literature, 
Canadian Literature, Digital 
Humanities, Pedagogy 

Hemstock, Blair  BA (UofT), MA (McMaster), 
PhD (McMaster)  

American Literature, 
Composition/Academic 
Writing 

Heslop, Jacqueline  BA (Saskatchewan), PhD 
(UVic)  

Composition/Academic 
Writing, Critical Theory 

Hickman-Barr, Gaye  Dip. University Ed. (Natal), 
Dip. TEFLA (ILC), Dip. TEBP 
(ILC), BA (Natal), MA 
(Central Washington), 
M.Ed. (Central 
Washington), PhD (Natal)  

Composition/Academic 
Writing 

Kennedy, Neil Patrick  BA (SFU), MA (UBC)  16th and 17th Century 
Literature, Chaucer 

Kozak, Romy  BA (Hons) (UBC), MA 
(Sussex), PhD (Stanford)  

American Literature, 
Literary Theory 

Langley, Moira  BA (UBC), MA (UofT)  Renaissance Literature, 
Theatre 

Larsen, Kim  BA (Alberta), MA (McGill)  Victorian Literature, Gothic 
Literature 



English Program Self-Study Report  39 
 

MacDonald, Leanne  BA (Hons) (SFU), MA (Notre 
Dame), PhD (Notre Dame)  

Medieval Literature, 
Gender and Sexuality, 
Religion 

Mendis, Ranjini  ATCL (Engl.), BA Hons 
(Ceylon), M.Ed. (Mass.), 
MA (Calgary)  

Cross-Cultural World 
Literature, Diasporic 
Literature 

Nilsson, Joakim  BA (Hons) (SFU), MA (SFU), 
PhD (Alberta)  

American Literature and 
Film, Masculinities Studies, 
Medieval Literature   

Ohler, Paul  BA (Calgary), MA (UBC), 
PhD (UBC)  

American Literature, 
Transatlantic Literary 
Studies, Literature and 
Science 

Ostrowski, Paul  BA (B.C.T.E.A.L.), MA (Lodz)  Composition/Academic 
Writing 

Pasquini, Robert  BA (Hons) (UofT), MA 
(Ryerson), PhD (McMaster)  

19th Century Literature, 
Science and Literature, 
Environmental Humanities 

Paul, Gavin  B.Mgt. (Lethbridge), BA 
(Lethbridge), MA (UBC), 
PhD (UBC)  

Renaissance Literature, 
Shakespeare, Graphic 
Novels 

Rupert, John  Dip. FA (Fanshawe), BA 
(Western), MA (Western), 
PhD (Ottawa)  

Renaissance Literature, 
Horror Literature,  

Sayed, Asma  BA (Saurashtra University), 
MA (Saurashtra University), 
PhD, Comparative 
Literature (Alberta)  

South Asian Literature, 
Cross-cultural World 
Literature, Literature in 
Translation, Film Studies, 
Women’s Writing and 
Feminist Theory,  

Singh, Kris  BA Hons. (Waterloo), MA 
(Waterloo) PhD (Queen’s) 

Caribbean and African 
literature, postcolonial 
theory, World Literature, 
and Diasporic literature 

Smith, Wendy  BA (SFU), MA (SFU)  Composition/Academic 
Writing, Protest Literatures 

Swail, Brian  BA (Trent), MA (Manitoba), 
PhD (Manitoba)  

Canadian Literature 

Tracy, Dale BA Hons (Lakehead), MA 
(Carleton), PhD (Queen’s) 

Modern and Contemporary 
Poetry, Drama, and Life 
Writing  

Tyndall, Paul  BA (Dalhousie), MA (UofT), 
PhD (Dalhousie)  

American Literature, Film 
Studies, Shakespeare 



English Program Self-Study Report  40 
 

Weber, Steve  BA (SFU), MA (SFU), PhD 
(SUNY Albany)  

Postmodern literature, 
North African Literature, 
American Literature 

Williams, Jennifer  BA (Trent), MA (Queen's)  Composition/Academic 
Writing, Pedagogy 

 
KPU English has recently aligned with the discipline in universities across Canada and the 
United States by increasing minimum qualifications to require a completed PhD, or 
evidence of imminent completion of a PhD, in English or literary studies. The Department 
is also increasing the diversity of its teaching areas and faculty through new hires.  

Faculty Satisfaction with Instruction 

Faculty, much like students and alumni, generally regard instruction as one of the English 
program’s greatest strengths. According to the faculty survey, 74% of English instructors 
are either very or somewhat satisfied with instruction. Faculty, like students, highlight 
expertise and passion as strengths. Some of their written responses on the strengths of the 
program are worth including: 
 

“Instructors have the freedom to try new approaches and, on the whole, are very 
student-centred.” 
 
“There are a lot of excellent teachers in the program. Almost everybody seems to 
care about what they are doing.” 
 
“The willingness of instructors to adapt to the current learning environment. The 
enthusiasm of instructors to continue improving their pedagogy.” 
 
“Faculty with diverse life and educational experiences. Many faculty who are 
dedicated to pedagogy and to research in their fields. Faculty who are passionate 
about student experience.” 

 
Considering instructor satisfaction with the delivery of instruction, a clear majority of 
instructors (86%) are very or somewhat satisfied with instructors’ collective expertise to 
deliver the curriculum: 
 

# Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither 
satisfied nor 

dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 
Instructors’ collective 
expertise to deliver the 
curriculum 

0% 7% 7% 19% 67% 27 

2 Instructional methods that 
facilitate student learning 0% 4% 11% 33% 52% 27 

3 Instructional methods that 
facilitate students’ 0% 7% 19% 30% 44% 27 



English Program Self-Study Report  41 
 

progression through the 
program 

4 

Instructional methods that 
prepare students for 
subsequent levels of 
undergraduate coursework 

0% 22% 4% 26% 48% 27 

 
Other responses to this question set are similarly positive. The lowest responses have to 
do with instructional methods that facilitate students’ progression through the program 
and instructional methods that prepare students for subsequent levels of undergraduate 
coursework. While the numbers are still positive, with 74% of respondents being very or 
somewhat satisfied, a larger percentage were ambivalent or somewhat dissatisfied. This 
outcome aligns with our sense that lowered prerequisites have contributed to a blurring of 
the differences between second, third, and fourth-year students. In turn, this blurring has 
made it more challenging to treat students in third and fourth-year courses as a cohort with 
a shared foundation of skills.  One way to address this issue is through the creation of a 
second-year skills and methods course, as described above. 
 

Program delivery 
 
Faculty are generally satisfied with the range of instructional modes, the extent to which 
diverse styles are accommodated, and with processes for ensuring students’ physical and 
emotional safety in the classroom. However, faculty were less satisfied with the 
department’s ability to provide opportunities for experiential learning.  
 

#  Question  Very 
dissatisfied  

Somewhat 
dissatisfied  

Neither satisfied 
nor dissatisfied  

Somewhat 
satisfied  

Very satisfied  Total  

1  
The range of modes 
(classroom, lab, online, 
co-op, etc.) used to 
deliver the program  

0% 7% 19% 26% 48% 27 

2  
The extent to which 
diverse learning styles 
are accommodated  

0% 7% 30% 37% 26% 27 

3  

Processes for ensuring 
the emotional and 
physical safety of 
students in the learning 
environment  

0% 11% 26% 22% 41% 27 

4  
Opportunities for 
experiential learning 
(i.e. learning by doing 
and reflecting)  

0% 11% 41% 26% 22% 
 

27 
 

 
Above, we have noted the need to improve students’ access to experiential learning 
opportunities. We have moved in this direction by engaging with ARTS 4800, but we have 
observed the need to reinvigorate our own fourth-year experiential courses. 



English Program Self-Study Report  42 
 

Assessment methods 
Several respondents to the survey also saw the need for greater consistency in assessment 
practices and “more communication between instructors about content, approaches, 
grading, etc.” to avoid repetition and variability. 
 

# Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither 
satisfied nor 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 
The extent to which students 
are provided clear information 
on how they will be evaluated 

0% 4% 11% 30% 56% 27 

2 

The extent to which 
assessment methods support 
program competencies and 
learning outcomes 

0% 7% 22% 30% 41% 27 

3 

The extent to which 
assessment methods allow 
students to demonstrate their 
attainment of program 
competencies and learning 
outcomes 

0% 4% 22% 37% 37% 27 

4 

The extent to which 
assessment standards are 
consistent throughout the 
program 

15% 19% 30% 30% 7% 27 

 
As noted above, the English Department regularly offers pedagogical and professional 
development opportunities through departmental workshops and a first-year community 
of practice. Our Professional Development Committee organizes at least one short 
standardization exercise per term, with plans for more. Other committees, such as Upper 
Year, First Year, and Digital Humanities, have put on “hallway chats” and “lunch and learn” 
pedagogical sharing events. Additionally, several faculty have considerable expertise in 
writing pedagogies, experiential learning, universal design for learning, and anti-racist and 
critical pedagogies. We plan to capitalize on this knowledge in order to support further 
professional development in the department. We also plan to build digital databases that 
will allow instructors to list texts they are teaching in order to avoid duplication across the 
program and to share assignments and instructional practices at the upper levels. 

Summary and Recommendations 

• Increase 2000-4000 offerings across the academic year to align with student 
demand and to reduce barriers to degree completion, especially in the Summer 
semester 

• Increase flexibility in the program structure to help students fulfill program 
requirements 

• Encourage faculty to develop topics and courses that align with their areas of 
training and research 



English Program Self-Study Report  43 
 

• Offer more online and blended learning opportunities to meet increased student 
demand 

• Increase experiential learning opportunities at the 4th year level to allow students 
to apply their skills, make professional connections, and collaborate with their 
peers. This shift will further align the English program with KPU’s polytechnic 
mandate and support Vision 2023 goals around applied, experiential, and 
innovative pedagogy 

• Identify and implement discipline-specific learning supports to support Majors and 
Minors 

• Establish an internal document that will allow faculty to share the texts they are 
teaching in order to reduce redundancy 

• Encourage the adoption of group work in upper-level classes to prepare students to 
work with others; identify activities and projects that will encourage problem 
solving within this group setting 

• Identify and pursue hiring priorities to expand instructor expertise and diversity. 
• Continue to expand on professional development activities for faculty, with a 

particular focus on equity, diversity, inclusion, and experiential learning  
 

 
 
  



English Program Self-Study Report  44 
 

 Quality of Services, Resources and Facilities 

This chapter assesses program services, resources and facilities from both the student and 
instructor perspective.  

Description of Program Resources, Services and Facilities 

The Learning Centre and Other Resources and Services 
 
In order to improve student success and retention, KPU has increasingly recognized the 
importance of providing academic and other forms of support to students. As discussed 
above, the peer and faculty tutors in the Learning Centre provide important support to 
students who need help with writing and other academic skills. Since moving to online 
teaching in Spring 2020, the Learning Centre has provided online tutoring, which has 
created more availability and flexibility for scheduling, and thus increased access for 
students. KPU also supports students through advising, counseling, financial, and career 
services, with counseling services and the addition of the KeepMeSafe program being 
particularly important with the move to online teaching during COVID-19. Access to 
classroom, computer lab, and study spaces are also an important part of our students’ 
experience at KPU, especially given that some of our students do not have easy access at 
home to computers or quiet study space. 
 
Library Instruction and Resources 
 
Research is an important learning outcome for all 2000-4000 level English courses, so 
access to adequate resources, and the support and instruction to help student find those 
resources, is important for students to effectively develop this skill. These resources include 
books and e-books, DVDs and streaming videos, and online resources, such as journals and 
reference materials. The librarians provide library orientations, as well as individual 
support through in person and online reference, and have also created subject-specific 
study guides that students can access online. The library also maintains a digital Academic 
Integrity badge that many English faculty require students to complete. As well, librarians 
have created an OER Pressbook on research that many faculty use in their classes. One of 
the librarians is currently creating such a Pressbook for MLA. Finally, the library maintains 
a list of LibGuides for English literature topics.  

Student Satisfaction with Program Resources, Services and Facilities 

Learning Centre and other Support Services 
In our 2014 program review, we found that the Learning Centre was an underutilized 
resource: “Slightly less than one quarter of both 1st Year and Upper-Level respondents say 
they have used the Learning Centre.  Over half of 1st Year respondents say they needed 
help but never tried this resource. Far fewer Upper-Level students say they needed help 



English Program Self-Study Report  45 
 

but did not try it: over half of them report not needing help at all.” We have made clear 
progress in making students aware of the Learning Centre, as 62% of respondents said they 
had used the Learning Centre. However, only 45% of respondents said they were either 
somewhat satisfied or very satisfied with their experience with the Learning Centre. One 
student commented that “The Learning Centre has been especially valuable in an online 
environment.” 

 
In terms of other support services, 79% of respondents have used services such as advising, 
counseling, and career services, with 67% saying they were either somewhat or very 
satisfied with these services. 84% of students were either somewhat or very satisfied with 
the availability of textbooks at the bookstore. 
 
Classroom, Study, and Lab Space 
While students were happy with the availability of classroom space, they were less so with 
the availability of lab or computer space, with only 50% stating they were either somewhat 
or very satisfied. 63% were either somewhat or very satisfied with the availability of places 
to do group or individual work. Many classrooms have recently been updated with new 
whiteboards and moveable furniture. The tech tools in classrooms have also recently been 
upgraded to include wireless streaming from devices through projectors, a welcome 
innovation.  
 
Library Instruction and Resources 
The survey was very revealing about which library resources students use most often. More 
than 25% of students said they have never used books, e-books, DVDs and streaming 
videos, while 0% said they have not used online resources, such as journals and reference 
materials. 25% said they have not had a library orientation, and most concerning, 42% said 
they had never work with a reference librarian or accessed a study guide. Of those students 
who did use all of these resources, 54% to 67% are somewhat or very satisfied with them, 
while 96% of all respondents said they were somewhat or very satisfied with the online 
resources, such as journals. Only 46% of respondents are either somewhat or very satisfied 
with study guides. A few respondents commented that they did not know KPU offered 
these resources, and that greater effort needs to be made to make students aware of their 
availability. 

Faculty Satisfaction with Program Resources, Services and Facilities 

Learning Centre and other Support Services and Resources 
The faculty respondents seemed quite happy with the services provided by the Learning 
Centre, with 77% of respondents saying they were either somewhat satisfied or very 
satisfied with the Learning Centre. The Learning Centre’s peer tutor program draws many of 
its tutors from our upper-level students. As discussed above, the English Department's First-
Year Writing Labs and faculty mentors serve as important links to these services. The labs 
put more than 500 students a year in direct contact with tutors who are able to then make 
individual appointments with interested students. In turn, tutors who take part in assisting 



English Program Self-Study Report  46 
 

in the labs are directly mentored by faculty. Indeed, faculty mentors in the learning centre 
also play an important mentoring role, assisting tutors with their skills. 
 
In terms of other support services for students, 74% of faculty respondents said they were 
either somewhat or very satisfied with advising, counseling, and career services. Faculty 
were far more critical of the bookstore than students, with 41% saying they were either 
somewhat or very dissatisfied with the availability of textbooks at the bookstore, while only 
30% said they were either somewhat or very satisfied. 
 
Classroom, Study, and Lab Space 
Similar to the 2014 survey, many faculty expressed dissatisfaction with the availability of 
classroom, study, and lab space. Several of the comments echoed the following sentiments: 
“The English department would benefit from a designated space for faculty and students 
such as exists in HIST, PSYCH, CRIM, etc.” Room 305 on the third floor of Fir building had, 
in the past, been promised as a communal lounge space for the departments in that area 
of the building (Philosophy, English, and Creative Writing); however, this did not come to 
pass. Such a space would create a much-needed place for community building among 
program students and faculty. An additional benefit of this space is that it could also 
provide, during quieter times, a meeting space for faculty and students. In the survey, 
several faculty cited privacy issues when meeting with students as a central problem. 
 
Library Instruction and Resources 
Faculty attitudes toward library resources have changed greatly since our 2014 survey, 
which stated the following: “Faculty respondents’ satisfaction with library resources is 
significantly lower than that of students. Over a quarter of faculty report being ‘somewhat’ 
or ‘very dissatisfied’ with the availability of relevant books and journals. Faculty are more 
satisfied with the availability of electronic resources, interlibrary loans, working with 
reserves, and library-program liaison.” In the 2020 survey, over 75% on faculty or either 
satisfied or very satisfied with access to books and e-books, while 70% were very satisfied 
with access to online resources. The survey also showed our faculty were very satisfied with 
the services provided by the librarians regarding library orientations and librarian support 
for program-related research. Like the students, faculty were least satisfied with study 
guides, with only 63% being either somewhat or very satisfied. Several respondents praised 
the librarians for the support they give students and their willingness to acquire needed 
materials. 

Summary and Recommendations 

• Although progress has been made in making students more aware of the services 
provided by the Learning Centre and other support services, more can be done to 
ensure that students recognize their availability and how these services can benefit 
students’ academic success and mental health. One way to increase student 
awareness of these resources is for faculty to highlight them on their syllabus and 
their Moodle sites 



English Program Self-Study Report  47 
 

• To increase connection between English students, and between English 
students and faculty, the English department needs a common area in which 
there is a department lounge. This area could be a shared lounge with other 
departments on the third floor of Fir building. 

• While it might be unrealistic to hope for private offices for all full-time faculty, the 
current situation would be improved with the addition of a shared, flexible space 
where faculty can meet privately with students. 

• Students are clearly utilizing online library resources such as journals; however, 
more can be done to make students aware of the benefits of subject-specific study 
guides—which themselves can be improved—as well as the research-related 
services provided by librarians. 

• Faculty should be encouraged to update regularly the LibGuides related to their 
subject area on the library website to ensure each library guide’s currency and 
benefit to students. Many pages need to be updated and many of them are unused, 
potentially providing inaccurate information to students who may come across 
them. 
 

 
  



English Program Self-Study Report  48 
 

 Conclusions and Recommendations 

This chapter summarizes the main conclusions drawn from the evidence gathered in the 
program review. This summary should include both the strengths of the program, and areas 
needing improvement. A complete list of the recommendations listed in the chapters above 
should also be provided.  

Summary of Conclusions 

On the whole, the English program is doing well. Demand for its courses is strong and 
(based on the number of 2000-4000 courses we currently offer) appears to be growing. 
This growth can be partially attributed to changes in the employment sector, especially 
increased demand for K-12 teachers, but also to the department’s efforts in creating new 
and appealing courses in Film, Mythology, Science Fiction and Fantasy, Children’s and 
Young Adult literature, and Pop culture. Adjustments to prerequisites have also enabled 
more students to take upper-division classes.  
 
At the same time, current students and alumni indicate a high level of satisfaction, 
particularly with our instructors. Students were also generally happy with course offerings 
and availability. However, it is also apparent that we need to do a better job of meeting 
student demand at all levels and diversifying our offerings. There was also a desire for more 
experiential and training opportunities. 
 
Faculty responses were also positive, but they pointed to the need to update the program 
in various ways. Here the keynotes included the need for greater cultural diversity in our 
offerings and in our critical perspectives; more flexibility for students; more emphasis on 
21st century skills and applied critical methods; less emphasis on national literatures and 
canonical writers; greater emphasis on essential critical reading, writing and thinking skills.    
 
In summary, while feedback from our surveys confirms that many things are good about 
the current program, this feedback also supports the Program Review committee’s sense 
that there is room for improvement. Specifically, there is a clear need to reimagine the 
program in light of broader changes in the discipline and in culture. There needs to be 
greater emphasis on the forms and content that contribute to contemporary culture and 
greater attention paid to equity, diversity, and inclusion. To meet this objective, the 
department has shifted its hiring objectives. This shift began in 2016 with the hiring of a 
specialist in South Asian, Post-Colonial literature and Indigenous specialist. Most recently, 
in 2021, we hired a new regular faculty who specializes in contemporary poetry and drama 
(replacing a retirement) and a new regular faculty member who specializes in Black and 
Caribbean diasporic literatures. Our expectation is that new faculty will bring knowledge 
and passion to bear in the creation of new courses and the revision of existing ones to 
better align our offerings with the objectives identified above. We intend to build upon this 
foundation by seeking scholars specializing in literatures from under-represented groups.  



English Program Self-Study Report  49 
 

 
There is also a perceived need to make the Major and Minor more flexible. The challenge 
is to strike a balance between offering greater student choice while ensuring that students 
emerge from the program with strong foundations of skills and knowledge. It is fair to say 
that the current program requirements tend to emphasize historical knowledge. For 
example, our original second-year requirements were intended to provide a six-credit 
survey of British literature from 1380-1900 and a three-credit survey of either Canadian or 
American literature. This nine-credit requirement was reduced to three in 2015 because it 
created bottlenecks and limited demand for other second-year courses. Consequently, 
while the bottleneck issue was resolved, the original intent of the foundational survey 
courses was lost. At the same time, there is a general recognition in the discipline that 
samples from over six centuries of British literature is increasingly difficult now that a 
narrow canon of great works no longer applies. For this reason and others, the Program 
Review Committee recommends that the department completely reconsider its second-
year requirements. 
 
Similar historical requirements are to be found at third year. These require students to take 
three credits from the 14th to 18th centuries and a further three credits from the 19th 
century. These requirements align with other programs in the province, do a better job of 
providing historical grounding, and provide students with more options than the original 
second-year survey requirements. The Program Review Committee recommends 
maintaining these requirements but adding new courses to the list of options. 
 
The other third-year requirement of the Major and Minor is theory. The theory 
requirement is intended to introduce students to the critical tradition of the discipline. 
However, it can represent a barrier for students because of course availability. At the same 
time, it is not always clear how the content or the outcomes of the course inform students’ 
other coursework, in part because students often put off taking the theory course until 
they near the end of their studies. We also find that many other institutions do not have 
analogous theory requirements, or that it is one option among others. For these reasons, 
the committee recommends eliminating the third-year theory requirement in favor of a 
second-year methods course requirement designed to provide students with tools to 
succeed in upper-division coursework. However, to compensate for the removal of this 
requirement, the committee also suggests that critical and theoretical perspectives be 
introduced into existing third- and fourth-year course outlines where possible. Moreover, 
our two existing theory courses will remain elective options for students who are interested 
in critical theory or film theory; they should also be recommended to those students who 
plan to pursue post-graduate studies in English or film.  
 
The final requirement of the Major and Minor is three credits at the 4000 level. While 
flexible, this requirement does not appear to be meeting a clear objective. Students can 
choose from a selection of topic courses or from two experiential courses, both of which 
are currently dormant. Ostensibly, the objective or the topic courses is greater depth and 
greater engagement via a seminar structure. However, while the 25-student cap does allow 



English Program Self-Study Report  50 
 

for greater student involvement, it is not low enough for a true seminar course. At the same 
time, lowered prerequisites mean that not every student in the class is prepared for the 
expectations of a fourth-year class. The committee also finds that English departments in 
other institutions often reserve the 4000 level for capstone or experiential courses. The 
committee therefore recommends that the department investigate similar possibilities as 
an outcome of the current program review.   

List of Recommendations 

Curricular 
• Increase the appeal of the Minor by reducing program requirements to align with 

other Minor programs in Arts and other English programs in the province.  
• Promote the revised Minor among students majoring in Journalism, History, 

Creative Writing, and Educational Studies 
• Introduce all Majors, Minors, and A. A. students to critical methods and analytical 

strategies via a required second-year skills and methods course  
• Eliminate the current second-year survey requirements to facilitate the creation of 

a required second-year skills course  
• Keep the current historical requirement at third year but add courses to the two 

areas to increase student options  
• Remove the current third-year theory requirement while encouraging the 

integration of critical theory and methods into existing upper-level courses  
• Work toward greater flexibility in national literature courses at third year 
• Investigate connections with Arts disciplines such as Creative Writing, Journalism, 

Indigenous Studies, and Interdisciplinary Expressive Arts  
• Support Indigenization by offering ENGL 3390: Indigenous Narrative and Cultural 

Expression more frequently; work toward an Indigenous credit requirement in 
coordination with Arts and university-level Indigenization initiatives 

• Develop additional courses that focus on literatures and perspectives from other 
historically excluded groups  

• Reimagine current experiential learning courses (4300 and 4400) and explore 
capstone course requirements at the 4000 level 

• Explore an honours option for English Majors (in relation to changes to fourth-year 
courses) 
 

Instructional  
• Identify and implement pedagogical supports specific to Majors and Minors in 

English  
• Offer more online and blended learning courses at all levels 
• Increase the number and variety of upper-level courses across all terms to satisfy 

student demand  



English Program Self-Study Report  51 
 

• Continue to develop the English department’s website and maintain our social 
media presence to build community and improve communication with students.  

• Include pages to assist students in planning their course selections in anticipation 
of specific career and education pathways 

• Create an inventory of commonly taught texts to reduce instructional repetition and 
to identify gaps and opportunities  

• Pursue EDI hiring priorities to enhance the department and the curriculum 
• Encourage and support faculty to developing tools and expertise necessary to 

engage ethically with issues of equity, diversity, and justice in their own fields  

Services 
• Pursue the creation of a common area to increase community and connection  
• Look into a flex space suitable for instructor-student conferencing when office space 

is at a premium 
• Encourage area experts to provide input on Library guides 
• Increase student awareness of support and library services by asking faculty to 

include links to resources on their syllabi and their Moodle sites  
 

 
 
  



English Program Self-Study Report  52 
 

 Responses from the Dean/Associate Dean 

Program Overview 

What do you see as the program’s greatest accomplishments over the last 5 years?   
 
One notable step forward has been the systematic changes to prerequisite structures at all 
levels designed to open up the program. The lower-level changes allow English courses to 
align more smoothly with university entrance requirements and most Faculty of Arts 
courses, facilitating timelier completion of English language requirements. The 
streamlining of upper-level prerequisites, meanwhile, has made advanced ENGL courses 
more accessible and likely contributed to strong enrolment numbers, as well as increased 
interest in English degree programs (e.g., an uptick in intended English students from 91 in 
2015-16 to 193 in 2019-20). In terms of course offerings, English has also taken steps in 
some innovative directions which the Report proposes to accelerate: e.g., moving beyond 
a traditional literary canon via courses on newer literary forms, such as the graphic novel 
and popular genre fiction, as well as the inclusion of traditionally marginalized voices 
through course-development and recent hires with expertise in Indigenous, Post-Colonial, 
and Black Diasporic literatures.  
 
The 2016 implementation of the First-Year English Writings Labs is another important 
accomplishment. The Labs have offered valuable additional support for student writing, 
while putting more than 500 students annually in direct contact with Learning Centre 
tutors.  
 
The department has taken significant strides toward adding an innovative film 
concentration to its programming. The department is integrally connected to the KDOCs 
film festival via co-director Greg Chan, and to Mise-en-scène: The Journal of Film & Visual 
Narration (MSJ), the official film studies publication of KPU. English faculty are currently 
playing a leading role in interdisciplinary discussions around the development of a Film 
Studies Minor at KPU. 
 
English has also been a site of exciting and important scholarship. Of particular note is 
Canada Research Chair Dr. Asma Sayed’s work on South Asian writers and filmmakers, 
which has combined traditional scholarly output (a monograph and anthology) with 
community engagement and an open-access digital portal. Also worth highlighting is Dr. 
Jennifer Hardwick’s highly fruitful collaboration with Virago Nation, which marks an 
important foray into supporting indigenous resurgence, and serves as a signpost to the 
department’s path of reconceiving its work beyond the traditional canon of English lit. 
 



English Program Self-Study Report  53 
 

Does the program adequately fulfill the purpose for which it was intended? If not, how can 
it be improved? 
 
The English department is certainly fulfilling its two key functions as (a) a service 
department supplying mandatory writing courses to students from across the institution, 
and (b) a provider of undergraduate degree programming in English as an academic 
discipline. The latter function would be enhanced by curricular changes of the sort 
described in the Report: diversifying the curriculum and rationalizing and streamlining 
course offerings. Taking special care so as to distribute scarce upper-level offerings in a way 
which most aligns with students’ need to progress through the program, and to maintain 
good channels of communication with students regarding the anticipated schedule of 
future course offerings, may help to manage student frustration over constrained choice 
of upper-level courses. 
 
How does the program’s curriculum support the following: 
• graduates’ pursuit of meaningful employment and further education 
• the viability and continued development of the program 
 
That English graduates find employment in education, government, and the non-profit 
sector suggests that the program positions them with relevant skills for such “meaningful 
work.” While ENGL has participated in the ARTS 4800 practicum course, some alumni do 
express the view that ENGL should do more in the way of experiential and applied learning. 
The Report suggests revitalizing ENGL 4300 and4400, as well as developing a capstone 
course. These are appealing proposals for enhancing the program’s ability to support 
students’ career aspirations. 
 
Strong fill-rates, solid graduation rates, and good uptake of ENGL degrees all indicate a very 
viable program. Implementing the Report’s proposals for curricular revision (focusing upon 
streamlining course offerings while broadening content to incorporate traditionally 
marginalized perspectives) should help to propel program development in the coming 
years. 
 
The Report contemplates some welcome modifications to, and enrichment of, ENGL 
program learning outcomes (p.19). These will be helpful. 

What challenges and opportunities for growth should the program consider based on the 
following? 
 
• student demand (past, present and future) 
• comparable programs at competing institutions 
• trends and changing contexts in the discipline/sector 
 
The program is challenged to balance its ‘service’ and degree commitments. Recent years 

have brought massive demand for first-year ENGL courses which fulfill university-wide 



English Program Self-Study Report  54 
 

writing requirements. This has often resulted in extensive waiting lists, coupled with a 
heavy ongoing burden on the department’s search committees (and the department 
chair) to staff sections on relatively short notice – not to mention a siphoning of sections 
away from potential upper-level offerings. An increase in ongoing base sections 
sufficient to contain this problem would be beneficial. Since this increase cannot come 
from Arts’s existing allocations without eviscerating other programs, the optimal 
solution would be an overall increase in base sections awarded to Arts. 

As the Report observes (p.10), transfer students would benefit from a flexible approach to 
writing requirements where their previous coursework does not align directly with ENGL 
1202 and 1204. Perhaps oddly, incoming students’ prior ENGL credit tends to be 
transferred as “ENGL11XX,” making it count as an elective only, rather than as fulfillment 
of the writing requirement. The change required would be twofold: adjust the language of 
the BA Framework (which English is already seeking to do so as to allow for ENGL 1207 and 
future other 1200-level courses to fulfill the writing requirement); and/or also talk with the 
Registrar’s Office about changing the articulation agreements, or our own transfer credit 
practice. Is it possible that, in some cases, the latter tack may be as simple as taking a more 
flexible approach when receiving transfer requests (e.g., the departmental and decanal 
signatories agreeing to count ENGL 1200 courses taken elsewhere as equivalent to KPU’s 
ENGL 1202/1204 even when the alignment is imperfect)? If so, then this would also be 
worth considering. 
 
ENGL was built upon a traditional, historical approach to the western literary canon, upheld 
via a rather restrictive program and prerequisite structures. The department has since 
struck out in more open and inclusive directions, and future opportunities lie along this 
path. Current students (not to mention current faculty) indicate a desire for a more diverse, 
non-traditional approach to canon and content. The Report duly embraces this 
opportunity, seeking to rationalize course offerings, emphasizing a “canon of methods” 
over a canon of works, and encouraging curricular development and hires which reflect 
goals of Indigenization, empowerment of traditionally marginalized perspectives, and so 
forth. 
 
Enhancing the program’s applied and experiential aspects would also be welcome. This 
would enable ENGL graduates enriched openings for connecting their program learning 
outcomes with employment opportunities. In addition to the (welcome) proposals to 
revive the moribund ENGL 4300 and 4400 and to launch a capstone course, we would 
encourage ENGL to give thought to developing a Program Advisory Board. Such a Board 
would stimulate discussion with community stakeholders and employers about how the 
program could further enhance students’ future prospects.  

 
 
 



English Program Self-Study Report  55 
 

What plans (departmental, faculty and institutional) are in place for program growth and 
development? 
 
As noted above, the Report envisages further reforms to prerequisite structures and 
curriculum to maximize program inclusiveness and accessibility. The Dean’s Office has 
facilitated the pursuit of a Film Studies minor, providing logistical support to meetings of 
the ad-hoc working group and granting ENGL instructor Dr. Paul Tyndall a time release to 
develop the proposal. 
 
The Report recommends a vibrant approach to program promotion on social media (p. 11).  
Indeed. Arts has a Communications and Events Coordinator who can assist Departmental 
Assistant and the department as a whole in some of these efforts. 
 
What resources, institutional support, and/or external support would help address the 
program’s plans for growth and development? 
 
The Report cites the need for a shared departmental space (45). The Dean’s Office agrees; 
all departments would benefit from such space. While we continue to encourage 
departments to consider options on Langley, Richmond, and Civic Plaza Campuses, there is 
an overall dearth of space on the Surrey Campus in particular, and this has become 
increasingly challenging as Arts (including English) has grown in recent years.  
 
Developing a Program Advisory Board could help to nurture connections to the wider 
community and facilitate opportunities for applied and experiential opportunities within 
the program.  
 
We endorse the Report’s stated goal of “investigating connections with other disciplines 
such as Creative Writing, Journalism, Interdisciplinary Expressive Arts, and Indigenous 
Studies” (14). A Minor in English might prove of particular interest to the first two 
programs, so there may be real synergies there. These would be enhanced by the Report’s 
proposal to rationalize BA Minor requirements (26).   
 
Collectively, what qualifications and other human resources are required so the program 
will be able to make the changes required to improve and remain current? 
 
ENGL should continue to seek hires who complement their stated desire for a more 
diversified curriculum and program. 

 
What areas should the program focus on for the short range (< 6 months), mid-range (6 
mo. – 2 years), and long range (>2 years) program directions and improvement? 
 
Short range: assuming continued need for short-term hires, using staffing opportunities to 
initiate experts in diverse and non-traditional literatures into the program.  
 



English Program Self-Study Report  56 
 

Mid-range: Institute curricular and prerequisite changes as envisaged in the Report. 
Continue to take a strategic approach to hiring in light of program goals. Contribute to the 
Film Studies Minor proposal. 
 
Long-range: develop a Program Advisory Board. 
  

External Connections and Support 

How could the program improve its connections with external groups (e.g. the 
discipline/sector, high schools, alumni, professional associations, other institutions)? 
 
In addition to some of the other public-facing activities described above, and in the Report, 
we should mention the KPU iteration of Humanities 101, which has been managed by ENGL 
instructor Dr. Kegan Doyle and benefited from contributions from ENGL faculty over the 
years.  
 
As for ways forward, the department should consider developing a Program Advisory 
Board. 
 
The Report says little about attempts to cultivate an ongoing relationship with alumni. The 
department might consider strategies for doing so, e.g., developing a distribution list and 
social media strategies for communications with alumni, liaising with KPU Alumni and 
Foundation, etc..  

Final Comments 

What else do you think is important to add about the program that is not covered in the 
previous questions?   
 
English is a robust program whose efforts at greater flexibility and inclusion are to be 
encouraged. Thanks are due to the Program Review Committee for their steadfast efforts 
in producing a polished, insightful, and forward-looking report. 

  



English Program Self-Study Report  57 
 

 Appendices for Self-Study Report 

Provided in separate document. 
 



1

FACULTY OF ARTS

ENGLISH PROGRAM

 SELF-STUDY REPORT APPENDICES
November 2, 2021



2

TABLE OF CONTENTS
Appendix A: Curriculum, Program, and Faculty Profiles   3
Appendix B: Administrative Data Report  32
Appendix C: Student Survey Results  45
Appendix D: Faculty Survey Results  76
Appendix E: Alumni Survey Results           101
Appendix F: Discipline/Sector Survey Results          122
Appendix G: UFV Factbook 2019-20           130



Appendix A: Curriculum, Program, and Faculty Profiles 

Curriculum Profile 
English Calendar Description 
Overview 

The main aim of a degree in English is to provide students with a broad but detailed 
understanding of the history of English literature and the literatures of Canada, the United 
States, and other English-speaking countries. Students examine literature in its social, historical, 
and cultural contexts, and relate the literary works they read not only to the historical periods 
in which they were produced, but also to the world in which we live today. In addition to 
studying the traditional genres of poetry, fiction, drama, and representative writing from the 
Middles Ages to the present day, English students at KPU have the opportunity to study a wide 
range of innovative subjects, including classic and contemporary film, world literature, 
aboriginal and diasporic literature, and literature in translation. 

Who Studies English? 

English students are, above all, people who are fascinated by the power of words and ideas to 
transform minds, lives, and society. We are not only interested in exploring the diversity, 
complexity, depth, and meaning of human experience, but also in understanding the countless 
ways that artists have found to represent that experience in their works. We are excited by the 
opportunity to share our interpretations and ideas with others and to make meaning by 
drawing connections between writers and works across time, culture, and discipline. At the 
same time, we are also careful to observe the features of a work that place it in a distinct 
historical and cultural context. This unique training produces informed, multifaceted graduates 
who are prepared to interpret, understand, and navigate complex issues in a range of situations 
and contexts. 

KPU Bachelor of Arts, Major in English 
Admission Requirements: Students pursuing a major in English must be admitted to the Faculty 
of Arts. 

Declaration Requirements: Students intending to graduate with this Faculty of Arts Bachelor’s 
degree must declare the credential by the time they complete 60 credits of undergraduate 
coursework. At the time of declaration, the student must satisfy all of the following 
requirements: 

• In good academic standing with the University

3



• Completion of a minimum of 18 credits of undergraduate coursework, including the 
following with a minimum grade of “C”: 

• 3 credits of ENGL at the 1100 level or higher 
• 6 credits at the 1100 level or higher in the Major area 

Curricular Requirements: Students pursuing a Bachelor of Arts in English must complete all 
requirements in the Bachelor of Arts framework in addition to their major or minor program 
requirements. 

Students must complete ENGL 1100 and 3 credits chosen from ENGL 1202 and ENGL 1204; 3 
credits from ENGL 2301, 2309, 2316, 2317 and a further 6 credits from courses in ENGL at the 
2000 level; 30 credits of study in 3000-4000 level courses, including one of ENGL 3300 and 
ENGL 3305, one of ENGL 3315, 3320, 3321, 3323, and 3325, one of ENGL 3301, 3306, 3328, 
3332, and 3336 and a minimum of 3 credits at the 4000 level; a total of 45 or more ENGL credits 
with a minimum grade of ‘C ’or better.  

Minor in English 
Admission Requirements 

Students pursuing a Minor in English must be admitted to KPU for undergraduate studies. 

Declaration Requirements 

Students pursuing this minor must declare their intention prior to graduation. A minor may only 
be declared as part of a Bachelor’s degree. 

Curricular Requirements  

Students must complete ENGL 1100 and 3 credits from one of ENGL 1202 and ENGL 1204; 3 
credits from ENGL 2301, 2309, 2316, 2317 and a further 6 credits from courses in ENGL at the 
2000 level; a further 15 credits of 3000 and 4000-level courses including ENGL 3330 or 3305 
and 3 credits in 4000-level courses; a total of 30 or more ENGL credits with a minimum grade of 
‘C ’or better.   

Associate of Arts  
Admission Requirements 

Students pursuing a Minor in English must be admitted to KPU for undergraduate studies. 

Curricular Requirements  

Students must complete 60 credits including ENGL 1100 and 3 credits chosen from ENGL 1202 
and ENGL 1204; one of ENGL 2301, 2309, 2316, and 2317 and a further 6 credits at the 2000 level; 
a total of 15 or more ENGL credits with a minimum grade of ‘C ’or better. 
 

4



ENGLISH COURSE DESCRIPTIONS  
 

ENGL 1100 Introduction to University Writing   

3 credits   

In this introductory university writing course, students will develop their abilities in critical 
reading, analysis, critical thinking, and clear written expression. Through selected readings and 
a variety of media, students will explore, assess, and respond to arguments and issues from 
across disciplines and relevant to contemporary cultures. This course will also introduce 
students to research methods, including finding, evaluating, integrating, and documenting 
sources. 

ENGL 1104 Reading and Writing Skills for Educational Assistants   

3 credits   

Students will apply the principles of effective reading, writing, and thinking in a variety of 
assignments intended to prepare them for the practical demands of working as educational 
assistants. They will develop personal and professional literacy skills, both generally and for 
application in the workplace. 

ENGL 1202 Reading and Writing about Selected Topics: An Introduction to Literature   

3 credits   

Students will engage in writing-intensive activities as they analyze a topic or theme in selected 
literary texts. They will apply skills of literary analysis to literature through close reading, 
informed discussion, and formal writing. 

ENGL 1204 Reading and Writing About Genre: An Introduction to Literature   

3 credits   

Students will engage in writing-intensive activities as they analyze the conventions of poetry, 
drama, and fiction in selected literary texts. They will apply skills of literary analysis to literature 
through close reading, informed discussion, and formal writing. 

ENGL 1207 Film, Television and Online Narratives   

3 credits   

Students will study select film, television and online narratives, ranging from mainstream and 
independent cinema to network and web television, as well as personal blogs and story-telling 
sites. This course may also include the analysis of cinematic and digital adaptations of poetic, 
dramatic or fictional works of literature. Students will develop critical reading and writing skills 

5



by analysing film, television and digital media narratives through classroom discussion and 
written assignments. 

 ENGL 1300 Writing and Research in the Social Sciences and the Humanities   

3 credits   

Students will develop their critical reading, writing, and thinking skills while furthering their 
research and argumentation abilities. They will engage in the critical analysis of different forms 
of writing, such as essays, articles, and narratives from a selection of disciplines. Topics will 
reflect current issues across the Social Sciences and the Humanities, and students will write at 
least one major research paper. 

ENGL 2200 Foundations of Western Literature    

3 credits   

Designed to prepare students for the practice of literary analysis, this course will introduce 
students to some of the myths, stories, symbols, and ideas that have formed and informed the 
Western literary tradition. Students will also explore some of the ways that writers past and 
present have received, questioned, and redeployed these elements for their own historical and 
cultural contexts.  

ENGL 2300 Writing in the Digital Age   

3 credits   

Digital technologies have changed the ways we produce, consume, and share information. This 
course explores multimedia writing and research strategies in both theory and practice. 
Through an engagement with digital content — which could include podcasts, film, music, 
tweets, and blog posts — students will build skills in media analysis, visual rhetoric, multimedia 
composition, and online research and citation. 

ENGL 2301 Canadian Literature in English   

3 credits   

Students will study representative Canadian literature drawn primarily from the nineteenth to 
the twenty-first centuries from a variety of genres. They will focus on major figures, historical 
and literary periods, and themes in Canadian literature and will respond to these works through 
discussion and written assignments. 

ENGL 2309 Literature of the United States of America   

3 credits   

Students will study representative American literature drawn primarily from the nineteenth and 
twentieth centuries from a variety of genres. They will focus on major figures and themes in 

6



American literature and will respond to these works through discussion and written 
assignments. 

ENGL 2315 The Comic Voice   

3 credits   

Students will study representative works of literature that demonstrate the scope and depth of 
the comic voice. They will focus on the theory, conventions, and practice of comedy. Students 
will respond to these works through discussion and written assignments. 

ENGL 2316 English Literature: 14th to 18th Centuries   

3 credits   

Students will study representative works of English literature from the 14th to the 18th 
centuries as literature within social, cultural, and historical contexts. They will respond to these 
works through written and oral work. 

ENGL 2317 English Literature: 18th to 20th Centuries   

3 credits   

Students will study representative works of English literature from the 18th to 20th centuries 
within their social, cultural, political, historical, aesthetic, and/or religious contexts. They will 
respond to these works of literature through written and oral work. 

ENGL 2320 Studies in Poetry   

3 credits   

Students will study the relationship between form and meaning in a variety of poems, and the 
social, intellectual, and historical influences on those poems. They will study the traditions, 
conventions, and elements of different poetic forms drawn from different times and socio-
cultural contexts. 

ENGL 2330 Studies in Drama   

3 credits   

Students will study drama drawn from different times and different socio-cultural contexts. 
They will study plays from a wide variety of dramatic genres such as tragedy, romance, history, 
comedy, theatre of the absurd, realism, naturalism, and postmodernism. 

ENGL 2340 Studies in Fiction   

3 credits   

7



Students will study various fictional forms. They will study works from a wide variety of genres 
such as romance, realism, science fiction or fantasy, the mystery or gothic novel, the modern, 
postmodern, or cyberpunk novel, drawn from different times and different socio-cultural 
contexts. 

ENGL 2341 Science Fiction and Fantasy   

3 credits   

Students will study a range of representative Science Fiction and/or Fantasy texts written over a 
period of at least a century. Students will learn to identify and write about genre conventions 
from a variety of critical perspectives. The works may be drawn from several forms (novels, 
short stories, graphic novels, film, television, digital narratives, etc.) and historical periods. 

ENGL 2350 Critical Studies in Film   

3 credits   

Students will study select films from the silent era to the present day, paying particular 
attention to the formal elements of film as a narrative art form. They will focus on 
representative films from different historical periods and genres and will respond to these films 
through discussion and written assignments. 

ENGL 2355 Literary Classics on Film    

3 credits   

Students will study select film adaptations of classic works of literature. In addition to exploring 
the relationship between literature and film, they will consider what makes a work of literature 
a classic and what is involved in translating these works from one medium to another.  

ENGL 2430 Children's Literature   

3 credits   

Students will undertake a survey of literature written for and read by children and young adults 
spanning at least a century to understand how Children’s Literature developed over time. They 
will apply relevant critical and theoretical perspectives to this literature. 

ENGL 3300 Critical Theory   

3 credits   

Students will examine topics in critical theory. They will consider critical theory as a socially 
engaged mode of inquiry. Students will develop critical thinking and writing skills through 
discussions and essay assignments. 

 

8



ENGL 3301 19th-Century Canadian Literature in English   

3 credits   

Students will study Canadian literature in English from the nineteenth century. They will focus 
on work by aboriginal peoples, explorers, sojourners, early settlers, and writers of the 
Confederation period. Students will study the changes and developments in the literature and 
respond to works through discussion and written assignments. They will write at least one 
research paper that incorporates critical source material. 

ENGL 3302 Canadian Prose in English from 1900   

3 credits   

Students will study the changes and developments in Canadian prose in English from 1900 to 
the present and write critical essays about the prose. They will respond to the texts through 
discussion and written assignments. Students will write at least one research paper that 
incorporates critical source material. 

ENGL 3303 Canadian Poetry in English from 1880 to the Present   

3 credits   

Students will study the changes and developments in Canadian poetry in English from 1880 to 
the present and write critical essays about the poetry. They will focus on texts starting with the 
pre-modernist poetry of the end of the nineteenth century and study the changes and 
developments in poetry up to the present. They will respond to the works through discussion 
and written assignments. Students will write at least one research paper that incorporates 
critical source material. 

ENGL 3304 Canadian Drama in English   

3 credits   

Students study Canadian drama in English written primarily after 1967. They examine the 
relationship between form and content in a selection of dramatic works from different decades, 
regions, and cultures. Students respond critically to these plays through discussion, written 
assignments, and at least one research paper that incorporates critical source material. They 
undertake informal or formal stagings of portions of these dramatic works, and/or performance 
analysis, as appropriate. 

ENGL 3305 Film Theory   

3 credits   

Students will study select topics chosen from the history of film theory, which may include but 
are not restricted to the following: formalism, structuralism/semiotics, auteur theory, 

9



feminist/psychoanalytic approaches to spectatorship, post-colonial theory, queer theory. 
Students will view films and learn to apply critical and theoretical perspectives to the analysis of 
select films from the silent era to the present day. 

ENGL 3306 Literature of the United States: Beginnings to 1865   

3 credits   

Students will study the literature of the United States in English from beginnings to 1865, 
focusing on themes and issues related to the developing nation and to the forging of a national 
literature. Students will study several different types of expression, chosen from among the 
following genres: explorers' accounts, histories and autobiographies, sermons, pamphlets and 
treatises, letters and addresses, essays, novels, stories, and poems. They will respond to these 
works through discussion and written assignments, including at least one research paper that 
incorporates critical source material. 

ENGL 3307 Literature of the United States: 1865 to 1910   

3 credits   

Students will study American Literature written in English between 1865 and 1910. Students 
will study the literature of the period in the context of important social phenomena such as the 
Civil War, industrialization and urbanization, and social radicalism. They will respond to this 
literature through discussion and written assignments, including at least one research paper 
that incorporates critical source material. 

ENGL 3308 Literature of the United States: 1910 to 1945   

3 credits   

Students will study American literature written in English between 1910 and 1945. Topics of 
study may include Modernism in literature and the arts, the Harlem Renaissance, women 
writers of the interwar period, and developments in drama. Students will respond to the 
literature of the period through discussion and written assignments, including at least one 
research paper that incorporates critical source material. 

ENGL 3309 Literature of the United States: 1945 to the Present   

3 credits   

Students will study representative literary works written in English in the United States from 
1945 to the present. Topics of study may include the impact of the Civil Rights and Women's 
movements upon both the production and reception of literature, post-modernism as a literary 
and cultural phenomenon, the relationship of literature to other contemporary art forms such 
as film, music, and the fine arts, and the influence of multiculturalism upon contemporary 

10



American society and literary culture. Students will write at least one research paper that 
integrates critical source material. 

ENGL 3310 Literature in Translation   

3 credits   

This course aims to introduce students to a selection of literary works (myths, epics, poems, 
novels and plays) in translation across various cultural, national and linguistic boundaries. The 
course will focus on analyzing world literature from a global/comparative perspective in 
relation to their socio-cultural, historical, and political context. Reflecting the depth and 
diversity of various cultures, the texts in this course are studied in English translations. 

ENGL 3311 Shakespearean Afterlives    

3 credits   

Students will study the diverse ways in which Shakespeare’s plays speak to contemporary 
audiences through adaptations, appropriations and afterlives in television, film and literature. 
In addition to exploring the relationship between theatre, film, television and literature, they 
will consider the unique place that Shakespeare occupies in world literature and what is 
involved in translating his plays from one medium to another. 

ENGL 3313 Studies in Major Writers   

3 credits   

Students will undertake an extensive study of the works of one or two major authors of 
literature in English. Emphasis will be placed on taking the time to grasp thoroughly the writers’ 
perspectives, concerns, and ideas as well as their development and influence. Students may 
also explore the cultural conversation revealed by comparing the work of two complimentary 
or contrasting writers. 

ENGL 3315 Studies in Chaucer   

3 credits   

Students will study literary works of Geoffrey Chaucer. They will focus on Troilus and Criseyde, 
The Canterbury Tales, and selections from shorter works. They will consider these works in 
their historical, cultural, and literary contexts such as social class, gender, the church, the 
tradition of courtly love, and sex. Students will respond to these works through discussion and 
written assignments and will write at least one research paper that incorporates critical source 
material. 

ENGL 3317 Readings in the History of Ideas   

3 credits   

11



Students will study influential texts that have helped shape Western culture, imagination, and 
intellectual history. They will read texts drawn from philosophical, political, scientific, religious, 
and literary discourses. Students will respond to these works through discussion and written 
assignments and will write at least one research paper that incorporates critical source 
material. 

ENGL 3320 Studies in Shakespeare   

3 credits   

Students will study literary works written by Shakespeare. They will study plays and may study 
poems representative of a range of Shakespeare's work, which may include histories, comedies, 
tragedies, romances, and nondramatic verse. Students will respond to these works through 
discussion and written assignments and will write at least one research paper that incorporates 
critical source material. 

ENGL 3321 English Renaissance Drama, Excluding Shakespeare   

3 credits   

Students will study a variety of dramatic works, which may include plays, masques, processions 
and closet dramas, from the period beginning in the 1570s and ending with the closing of the 
theatres in 1642. They will examine such work as Beaumont, Fletcher, Jonson, Marlowe, 
Marston, Middleton, Webster and Ford. Students will respond to these works through 
discussion, analytical staging and performance, and written assignments, and will write at least 
one research paper that incorporates critical source material. 

ENGL 3323 Seventeenth-Century British Literature   

3 credits   

Students will study literary works of the earlier seventeenth century, 1590 to 1649. They will 
focus on major works of prose and verse, both dramatic and non-dramatic. They will respond to 
these works through discussion and written assignments. Students will write at least one 
research paper that incorporates critical source material. 

ENGL 3325 Eighteenth-Century British Literature   

3 credits   

Students will study British literature of the "long" eighteenth century (1688-1815). They will 
focus on selected poetry, fiction, drama, and non-fiction. They will respond to these works 
through discussion and written assignments. Students will write at least one research paper 
that incorporates critical source material. 

ENGL 3328 Romantic Poetry and Poetics   

12



3 credits   

Students will study poetry and poetic theory from the British Romantic Period. They will 
respond to these works through discussion and written assignments. Students will write at least 
one research paper that incorporates critical source material. 

ENGL 3330 Studies in Children's Literature   

3 credits   

Students will study literature written for and read by children and young adults with a focus on 
specific sub-genres and/or themes. Students will analyze primary works, which may be drawn 
from poetry, fiction, drama, pedagogical texts, life writing, graphic novels, and film. Materials 
may include Young Adult Literature, Children's Fantasy, dystopias, and/or children's and young 
adult fandoms. 

ENGL 3331 Young Adult Literature   

3 credits   

Students will study a range of texts and media to understand how Young Adult Literature has 
developed into today's forward-looking and massively popular genre. Among other topics, 
students will explore the roles of diversity, fandoms, and adolescent agency in coming-of-age 
narratives. They will apply relevant critical and theoretical perspectives to the texts studied. 

ENGL 3332 Victorian Poetry and Non-Fiction   

3 credits   

Students will study poetry and non-fiction in English from the British Victorian period. They will 
respond to these works through discussion and written assignments. Students will write at least 
one research paper. 

ENGL 3336 The Victorian Novel, 1837-1900   

3 credits   

Students will study three or more major Victorian novels and will acquire knowledge of the 
formal features, thematic preoccupations, and cultural contexts of Victorian fiction. They will 
respond to the readings through discussion and written assignments and will compose at least 
one research paper that incorporates critical source material. 

ENGL 3340 Cross-Cultural World Literature   

3 credits   

Students will study works of world literature drawn mainly from the twentieth and twenty-first 
centuries. They will explore critical concepts and issues that arise in cross-cultural fields of 

13



study identified as "World Literature," "Postcolonial Literature, "Global Anglophone Literature," 
and "Transcultural Literature," such as the influences and effects of colonization and 
decolonization on world literature. They will respond to the literature through discussion and 
written assignments and will write at least one research paper that incorporates critical source 
material. 

ENGL 3345 Diasporic Literatures   

3 credits   

Students will study literary works in English or in translation concerned with displaced, 
minority, and diasporic narratives. They will focus on literature from various parts of the world 
written in various genres and periods. Students will respond to these works through discussion 
and written assignments and will write at least one research paper that incorporates critical 
source material. 

ENGL 3350 Literature and Film   

3 credits   

Students will study literary works and their cinematic interpretations. They will focus on film 
adaptations of literary works drawn from a variety of genres, periods, and cultures. Students 
will respond to these works through discussion and written assignments and will write at least 
one research paper that incorporates critical source material. 

ENGL 3351 Studies in Modernism   

3 credits   

Students will study literary works by Modernist writers in English. Students will focus on 
literature that reflects the political, moral, philosophical, and psychological concerns of the first 
half of the twentieth century. They will consider the aesthetic innovations that emerged in 
response to the complexities of the modern period. Students will write at least one research 
paper that incorporates critical source material. 

ENGL 3352 The British Novel, 1900-1945   

3 credits   

Students will study the development of the modern British novel from 1900 to 1945. They will 
examine the ways British Modernism departed from previously held ideas about fiction. They 
will respond to the readings through discussion and written assignments. Students will write at 
least one research paper. 

ENGL 3355 Modern and Contemporary Drama   

3 credits   

14



Students will study works written for dramatic performance from the modern period to the 
present. They will focus primarily on works written for the theatre, and students may also 
examine scripts written for film, television, and radio. They will respond to these works through 
discussion and written assignments. Students will write at least one research paper. 

ENGL 3356 Modern and Contemporary Poetry   

3 credits   

Students will study representative poems by modern and contemporary poets writing in 
English. They will critically analyze these poems in relevant social, literary-historical and cultural 
contexts, and also within the context of important developments in modern and contemporary 
poetic theory. 

ENGL 3358 British Fiction since 1945   

3 credits   

Students will study British fiction since 1945. They will study literature in its socio-historical 
context with respect to issues such as class, gender, individual and communal identities, and 
changing demographics. Students will respond to these works through discussion and written 
assignments, and they will write at least one research paper that incorporates critical source 
material. 

ENGL 3360 Writing Women/Women Writing   

3 credits   

Students will study literature by and about women. They will examine issues central to 
women's identities, creativity, and lived experiences. Students will apply critical methods of 
literary analysis in written and oral responses to the literature and will write at least one 
research paper that incorporates scholarly source material. 

ENGL 3365 Hollywood Cinema   

3 credits   

Students will study the history and development of Hollywood cinema from the silent era to the 
present day, focusing on film as a narrative art form. The main aims of the course are to situate 
Hollywood cinema within changing social, historical, and cultural contexts and to trace the 
influence of important technological developments and competing aesthetic and commercial 
interests upon Hollywood film. 

ENGL 3370 Life-Writing   

3 credits   

15



Students will study various kinds of life-writing: autobiography, biography, memoirs, 
reflections, journals, films, poems, and letters, drawn from different times and socio-cultural 
contexts. They will respond to these works through discussion and written assignments, 
including at least one major research paper that incorporates critical source material. 

ENGL 3380 Popular Writing and Culture   

3 credits   

Students will study works of popular writing and culture. They will analyze the primary texts in 
relation to literary criticism and/or theory, examining how these primary works reinforce or 
challenge dominant ideology, the conventions of genre, and mainstream cultural, social, 
political, and aesthetic values. Students will respond to these works through discussion and 
written assignments and will write at least one major research paper that incorporates critical 
source material. 

ENGL 3390 Studies in Indigenous Literature and Cultural Expression   

3 credits   

This course will explore the social, cultural, and political roles of Indigenous storytelling on 
Turtle Island (North America) through a close engagement with literary texts, oral narratives, 
and new media. Students will draw on Indigenous and non-Indigenous methodologies and 
critical perspectives to examine topics such as de/colonization, representation, gender, history, 
and self-determination. 

ENGL 4300 Writing and Persuasion Beyond the Classroom   

3 credits   

Students will study theories of writing and rhetoric, and applications of writing in various 
community and cultural contexts. Students will also gain practical experience through a 
minimum of twelve hours of volunteer (non-paid practicum) writing or editing service in a 
community organization such as a business or non-profit or government agency. Students will 
complete a portfolio of their writings for this course and will write a final paper that integrates 
writing theory and practice. 

ENGL 4350 Topics in Film Studies   

3 credits   

Students will study select topics in film as chosen by the instructor. They will write at least one 
documented essay requiring the use of both primary and secondary materials. In addition to 
attending class regularly, students may be required to attend scheduled film screenings outside 
of regular class time. Notes: As the topic for this course will vary from semester to semester, 
students may take this course more than once, provided they have received the permission of 

16



the instructor and the department chair. Students are expected to have some knowledge of the 
critical language of film studies. If they do not, they should consult with the instructor before 
registering for this course. 

ENGL 4400 English Studies and the Classroom   

3 credits   

Students will study theory and practice related to education, literacy studies, and English in the 
classroom. They will do a 12-hour volunteer practicum in an educational setting, and complete 
a major project that integrates reflection, theory, and practice. Students will produce a 
portfolio of written work in different genres 

ENGL 4401 Topics in Canadian Literature   

3 credits   

Students will study a topic (or topics) in Canadian literature in one or more genres as chosen by 
the instructor. They will trace this topic through several texts, discussing it in the broader 
context of Canadian literature and culture and considering it from various theoretical 
perspectives. In addition to continuing to develop their own ability to analyze, discuss, and 
write about individual texts, students will also read relevant literary criticism and will write at 
least one research paper that incorporates critical source material. Notes: The specific topic for 
this course will be available on the English department website when the course is being 
offered. Students may take this course more than once, provided that both the instructor and 
the topic are different. 

ENGL 4409 Topics in Literature of the United States   

3 credits   

Students will study topics related to the literature of the United States, which may include the 
pre-national period. Students will analyze primary works, which may be drawn from various 
genres (e.g. poetry, fiction, drama, sermons, personal essays, aboriginal writing, life writing). 
They will read recent scholarship of primary works, as well as literary and cultural theory 
relevant to the selected topic. This may include a consideration of the relationship between the 
political categories of race, gender, and class and the themes, characters, events, and language 
of the works studied, as well as newer approaches such as transnational approaches to 
American literature. Students will engage with the topics through integrative study of materials 
that contextualize the primary literature, in-class presentations, discussion, and written 
assignments. They will write at least one research essay that incorporates current critical 
responses to the literature under consideration. 

ENGL 4420 Topics in British Literature   

3 credits   

17



Students will study a selection of British literature through a topic chosen by their instructor. 
They will explore and develop this topic through a selection of primary and secondary material, 
including scholarly critical resources. Students will discover how the topic alters, deepens, or 
problematizes our understanding of British literature, history, and culture. In addition to 
developing their own ability to analyze, discuss, and write about primary texts, students will 
also read relevant literary criticism and will write at least one research paper that incorporates 
critical source material. 

ENGL 4700 Special Topics in Literature   

3 credits   

Students will study special topics in literature selected by instructors, and will focus on primary 
texts, critical writing by the authors, and readings in literary and cultural theory relevant to the 
topic. They will analyze the topics through in-class presentations, discussion, and written 
assignments, and will write at least one research essay that incorporates current critical 
responses to the literature under consideration. 

WRTG 1100 Writing for University   

3 credits   

Students will focus on reading, writing, and speaking as an academic practice. Through texts 
drawn from various disciplines, students will explore and recognize common rhetorical and 
structural patterns in contemporary academic writing; they will, in turn, practice employing 
these patterns in their own written and oral work. NOTE: This course is offered as a supplement 
to ENGL 1100 for students who wish to do additional work on their academic writing and 
communication skills. 

English Faculty Bios  
 

Andrew Bartlett BA (UNB), MA (Dalhousie), PhD (York) 

Areas of specialization: 18th Century British Literature; Narrative Theory, Human / Animal 
Studies 

I grew up in Fredericton, studied in Halifax and Toronto, moved to British Columbia in 1994, and 
joined Kwantlen's English Department in 1998. I enjoy teaching the discipline of academic 
writing and reading. It makes me happy when my students tell me, at the end of a course, “I 
learned a lot.” 

I trained as a specialist in prose fiction, narrative theory, and eighteenth-century British 
literature. Since 2003 or thereabouts, literature that explores the boundaries of the human 
(human-animal/human-machine) has been my preoccupation. My book Mad Scientist, 

18



Impossible Human (2014) presents an intensive study of the Frankenstein myth.  I am 
passionately interested in the mystery of nonhuman animal minds (thinking without words) and 
the problem of the origin of language. I teach ENGL 1100 with the readings theme Thinking 
about Emotions and ENGL 1202 with the topic Animal Stories. I have long participated in two 
scholarly groups. One named COVR develops and extends the ideas of Rene Girard (mimetic 
theory). The other named GASC does the same with the ideas of Eric Gans (generative 
anthropology). 

Deborah Blenkhorn BA / B.Ed. (Queen's), MA (Queen's) 
Areas of specialization: Composition/Academic Writing 

I've been teaching English fulltime at Kwantlen since 1998; I've also taught writing at UBC in the 
English Department, the Sauder School of Business, the Faculty of Engineering, the Experience 
University Life program and the Writing Centre (Continuing Studies), and I've been a writing 
instructor at the Segal Graduate School of Business. Besides some academic articles and book 
reviews, as well as participation in community reading and writing groups, my passion projects 
include blogging and, most recently, eportfolio development. 

Shelley Boyd BA (Saskatchewan), MA (Saskatchewan), PhD (McGill) (on leave) 
Areas of specialization: Canadian Literature, Food Studies, Women’s Writing 

I began working at KPU in 2010 when I was hired as a Canadian literature specialist in the 
Department of English. My book, Garden Plots: Canadian Women Writers and Their Literary 
Gardens (McGill-Queen's University Press, 2013), explores the relationship between writing and 
gardening from nineteenth-century pioneer domestic manuals to contemporary poetry. More 
recently, my research and teaching-related projects have focused on food narratives in 
Canadian literature and drama, the latter being funded through a Kwantlen Katalyst Research 
Grant (2014/2015). Some of the results of these ongoing projects have included a 24-hour 
English student exhibition The CanLit Dinner Party (Surrey campus, 2014); a collaborative, 
multimodal art exhibition Artful Fare: Conversations about Food (Richmond campus, 2016), 
which featured the work of over 80 English and Fine Arts students; and a co-authored article on 
the topic of food and experiential learning in the literature classroom, which featured the 
collaborative work and writing of 20 English students (CuiZine 7.1). In 2016, I co-organized the 
Canadian Culinary Imaginations Symposium with Dr. Dorothy Barenscott, which was funded 
through the Faculty of Arts Excellence and Advancement fund. Dr. Barenscott and I are 
presently co-editing a collection of essays and creative works, which is under contract with 
McGill-Queen’s University Press. 

My research interests include Canadian food studies, gardens in all periods and genres of 
Canadian literature, Canadian drama, and women’s writing.  I am currently working with a 
group of scholars exploring Canadian literary fare. This project’s primary objective is to explore 
how Canadians understand and participate in the nation’s foodways through narrative.  I am 

19



especially interested in food in the work of Margaret Atwood, and food events and trans-
historical foodways in Canadian drama. 

Gillian Bright BA (Hon.) (UBC), MA (Leeds), PhD (UofT) 
Areas of specialization: Postcolonial Literatures, Diasporic Literatures, Affect Studies 

Gillian’s research explores the intersections of shame and representation in postcolonial and 
diasporic literatures. She has also published and/or delivered conference papers on literary and 
cultural responses to sex trafficking, the relationship between novelists and terrorists, and the 
role of traumatic memory in Australian, South African, and Caribbean literature.  

Betty Anne Buirs Dip. Arts (Douglas), BA (UBC), MA (UBC), PhD (Saskatchewan) 
Areas of specialization: Canadian Literature, Composition/Academic Writing 

Technically, I guess I was one of the first students at Kwantlen because I remember entering the 
contest to name the new college back in 1981 when Douglas College was divided into two 
institutions. I then transferred to UBC for my Bachelor's and Master's degrees and went on to 
do a Ph.D. in Canadian literature at the University of Saskatchewan. Although I can't imagine 
anything better than talking about texts for a living, I also really enjoy teaching grammar and 
composition and helping first-year students make the transition to university. What I like best 
about my job is that even though I've been in the post-secondary system for over thirty years, I 
continue to learn so much every semester that I still feel like a student myself. 

Greg Chan BA (UBC), MA (UBC) 
Areas of specialization: Film Studies, Canadian Diasporic Literature, Digital Humanities, 
Experiential Learning 

Combining marginalized voices, diasporic literature, and community engagement has been the 
focus of my teaching and research since I joined the English Department in 1995. In addition to 
teaching our second, third, and fourth year film studies courses, I am the Director of KDocsFF’s 
Community Outreach Program and the founder and Editor-in-chief of KPU’s official film studies 
journal, Mise-en-scène: The Journal of Film & Visual Narration. As a film studies specialist, my 
research interests include BIPOC representation in film, transtextuality, film festival studies, and 
documentary activism. My other specializations are digital humanities and service learning, 
which have involved teaching community-based practicum courses, co-presenting with 
students at the Digital Humanities Summer Institute, and co-curating an English/Fine Arts 
ceramics exhibit on the Japanese Canadian internment now on permanent display at Historic 
Joy Kogawa House. I am honoured to be the recipient of the Faculty of Arts Equity, Diversity 
and Inclusion Award for 2021. 

Kiran Clements BA English (SFU), BA Psychology (SFU), M.Phil. (Oxford), PhD (London) 
Areas of specialization: Romantic Literature, Late 18th - 19th Century Poetry 

I completed a Ph.D. in Romantic Literature at the University of London and an M.Phil. in British 
Romantic Studies at Pembroke College, Oxford. I have a keen interest in the precursors of 

20



psychoanalytic and Jungian theory in Romantic Literature, theories of the imagination in the 
18th and 19th Centuries, as well as the role of Natural Philosophy and the exchange between 
Romantic Literature and the works of the early 'scientists', a word coined during the Romantic 
period. I specialise in the literary and philosophical writings of Samuel Taylor Coleridge. I 
recently published my first book with Cambridge entitled Coleridge's Chrysopoetics: Authorship, 
Alchemy and Imagination and am currently working on my second book. 

  

Mark Cochrane BFA (UBC), MA (Concordia), LLB/JD (UBC) 
Areas of specialization: Canadian Poetry, Composition/Academic Writing 

I have taught at Kwantlen since 2000. My publications include books of poetry, review articles, 
personal essays, conference papers, and interviews with contemporary writers. My teaching 
and research interests include Canadian poetry, gender studies, and intersections between 
literature and law. 

Heather Cyr BA (STU), MA (Queen's), PhD (Queen's) 
Areas of specialization: Children’s Literature, Young Adult Literature, Fantasy 

I have been a faculty member at KPU since 2011, teaching composition and literature courses. 
Supported by an Educational Leave, I completed my PhD at Queen’s University in 2017 with a 
dissertation on real world landscapes in children’s fantasy literature. I have published on Rick 
Riordan's works and presented conference papers on spaces and places in children's literature 
from museums to gardens. Since 2015, I have been a part of the instructional team that created 
and continues to run the First-Year English Writing Labs for the English Department, welcoming 
hundreds of students a year for flexible supplemental instruction. I have been fortunate to 
attend the University of Antwerp Children's Literature Summer School in both 2018 and 2019. 
Currently, I'm working on critical editions of Frances Hodgson Burnett’s The Secret Garden and 
A Little Princess with Dr. Shelley King of Queen's University, a project supported by several KPU 
student research assistants and my 2018 ENGL2430 class members. 

My general research and teaching interests include mapping, literary tourism, fantasy, and 
nostalgia in the spaces and places of Children's and YA Literature. I am interested in how space 
and place intersects with childhood and nostalgia in both fictional and real world environments. 
I have most recently given conference papers on Disneyland as a multi-layered and multi-valent 
space; diversity and representation as a form of anti-nostalgia in Young Adult Regency 
Romance; child agency as informed through humour in the late Victorian practice of bouquet-
giving in E. Nesbit's The Wonderful Garden; and flexible pedagogical practices in instructor-led 
Supplemental Instruction. I also nuture an interest in Children's Literature book history. 
 
Gillian Dearle BA Hons (UBC), MA (Queen's) (on leave) 
Areas of specialization: Composition/Academic Writing 

21



I have been a faculty member in the Department of English since 2003. In addition to teaching, I 
have served as Interim Associate Dean for the Faculty of Arts and in various roles in the 
Kwantlen Faculty Association, including Vice-President Negotiations and Vice-President 
Grievances. My areas of interest include labour relations, pedagogy, and utopian literature. 

From 2020-2022 I am fully released from teaching to serve as President of the Kwantlen Faculty 
Association. 

Robert Dearle BA (UVic), MA (UVic), PhD (Queen's) 
Areas of specialization: Late 19th and early 20thCentury British Literature, Modernism, Critical 
Theory 

I began teaching at KPU in the summer of 2010; however, my career as a teacher began in 
Japan after finishing a bachelor’s degree in English. There, I taught for Berlitz before returning 
to Canada to complete my MA and PhD. I have also taught writing courses at Okanagan College. 
My dissertation engaged with the writings of Friedrich Nietzsche, Joseph Conrad, H. G. Wells, G. 
B. Shaw and the culture of the fin de siècle. I maintain an interest in these writers and the 
period, and I have presented papers on Joseph Conrad and the fin de siècle. More recently, my 
attention has turned to writings related to the Anthropocene and literature, especially as it 
relates to the late 19th and early 20th centuries. 

Kegan Doyle BA (UVic), MA (UofT), PhD (UofT) 
Areas of specialization: American Literature, Life Writing 

I was born in New Zealand and raised on Vancouver Island. I studied at the University of 
Victoria and the University of Toronto and have lived in Australia and France. My scholarly 
interests include the literature of the counter-culture of the sixties and the representation of 
sports in film and literature. 

Kelly Doyle BA English and Psychology (MUN), MA (MUN), PhD (UBC) 
Areas of specialization: Gothic and Horror Fiction; Film, Film Theory, and Critical Theory 

I grew up in Newfoundland, where I earned both a Bachelor of Arts (Honors) and a Master of 
Arts in English Language and Literature at Memorial University. After teaching courses in 
English Literature, poetry, and drama, I moved to British Columbia to pursue an 
Interdisciplinary PhD in the Critical and Creative Studies department of UBC in the Okanagan. 
During this time I taught Women’s Studies, University Writing, and English courses on short 
fiction and the Novel. I am an active member of the International Gothic Association based in 
England, and continue to attend conferences in my field both locally and abroad. Currently, I 
am teaching English at KPU on the Surrey campus, and am a copyeditor, reviewer, and Advisory 
Board member for Mise-en-Scene: A Journal of Film and Visual Narration. 

22



I am keenly interested in theorizing and destabilizing the figure of the human, particularly in 
horror film. Gothic and Horror are genres invested in excavating and interrogating the 
monstrous, and not just in the world of fiction. These genres confront us with the transgression 
of boundaries and troubles the neat, ordered division of self and others into distinct and 
ontologically pure categories; these genres stress the liminality of ontological boundaries and 
for me, lead to ongoing and increasingly relevant questions about what it means to be human, 
and what it means to decide that others are not. Using posthuman philosophy my most recent 
research explored how the figure of the zombie in horror films from 2001 to the present 
exposes the limits of the discursive formulation of what it means to be human in the context of 
historical moments like 9/11. I have argued that exploring the limits of the human prompts a 
consideration of the human capacity for ethics and social justice since if boundaries do not hold 
between races, sexes, and species, it becomes more difficult to justify sexism, speciesism, and 
racism in the world outside the screen. I am primarily a film scholar and I have examined how 
femininity is coded problematically as monstrous but in confrontational and subversive ways in 
vampire, slasher, and werewolf films. More and more, my research interests lean towards 
posthumanism and critical animal studies as I continue to research film, and I maintain my 
ongoing interest in teaching rhetoric, writing, and analysis in both literature and film. 
Horror is my hobby as well as my research interest, but outside the university I also spend my 
time hiking, running, swimming, playing guitar, and doing art. 

Elizabeth Gooding BA (Alberta), MA (Alberta) 
Areas of specialization: Composition/Academic Writing 

I completed my B.A. (Honours) and M.A. at the University of Alberta, and before coming to 
Kwantlen, I taught at several institutions in Nova Scotia and British Columbia--mostly writing 
and literature, but also ESL, study skills, and business English. My teaching interests include 
nature and environmental writing, American literature, and composition. 

Julia Grandison BA (UofT), PhD (UofT) 
Areas of specialization: 19th Century Literature, Book History, Digital Humanities 

My research focuses on representations of time and space in literature, especially in 
nineteenth-century novels and other popular print genres. I am also interested in the digital 
humanities, the history of the novel, and nineteenth-century book history, and I am working on 
a collaborative digital project about nineteenth-century almanacs. I am currently teaching ENGL 
1100 and ENGL 1202 at KPU. 

Duncan Greenlaw BA (Queen's), MA (Queen's), PhD (Alberta) 
Areas of specialization: Irish Literature, Modernism, Film 

I teach courses mainly in 20th-century literature, academic writing, and film. My research has 
concentrated on Irish literature (Beckett, Joyce, Yeats, and Muldoon), theories of memory and 
history, discourses of the Northern Irish peace process, and cinematic representations of 
national trauma. Publications include Borders of Mourning: Remembrance, Commitment, and 

23



the Contexts of Irish Identity; articles in Mosaic, Studies in the Literary Imagination, and The 
Canadian Journal of Film Studies; and short stories in journals such as The Dalhousie Review, 
Green Mountains Review, The South Carolina Review, The Journal, and Wascana Review.  

Jennifer Hardwick B.A. Hons (SFU) M.A. (Queen's) PhD (Queen's) 
Areas of specialization: Indigenous Literature, Canadian Literature, Digital Humanities, 
Pedagogy 

I’m a settler scholar and teacher who currently resides on the unceded territories of the 
Kwantlen, Katzie, Semiahmoo, and Tsawwassen peoples. My interdisciplinary research focuses 
on Indigenous literary, media, and performance arts on the territories currently known as 
Canada. Presently, I’m working on a collaboration with members of Virago Nation that explores 
Indigenous women’s embodied resistance. 

I’m passionate about education, and have spent the last 15 years teaching, creating, organizing, 
and facilitating with post-secondary institutions, arts organizations, non-profits, and community 
groups. Currently I am a KDocs Board member, a member of KPU’s Task Force on Anti-Racism, 
an affiliate of Social Justice Centre, a faculty participant in the Including All Citizens Project, and 
an Educational Consultant in Universal Design with the Teaching and Learning Commons. In my 
spare time I like to bake, practice martial arts, travel, and spend time outside.  

Blair Hemstock BA (UofT), MA (McMaster), PhD (McMaster) 
Areas of specialization: American Literature, Composition/Academic Writing 

Jacqueline Heslop BA (Saskatchewan), PhD (UVic) (on leave) 
Areas of specialization: Composition/Academic Writing, Critical Theory 

While earning a Ph.D. in English at the University of Victoria, I published and presented papers 
on postmodernism, film theory, pedagogy, and academic freedom, as well as on modern 
literature. I maintain an interest in social and cultural issues, which often come up for 
discussion in my classes as I believe that critical thinking is the most valuable skill students can 
learn. 

Gaye Hickman-Barr Dip. University Ed. (Natal), Dip. TEFLA (ILC), Dip. TEBP (ILC), BA (Natal), 
MA (Central Washington), M.Ed. (Central Washington), PhD (Natal) 
Areas of specialization: Composition/Academic Writing 

I was born and raised in South Africa where I completed my Ph.D. in English following two 
Masters' degrees in Washington USA. I won the Eden Mills Poetry Award in 2008, have had my 
poetry published in Prairie Fire and my writing was selected for inclusion in Best Canadian 
Poetry in English 2010. Some of my writing reflects my love of wildlife and the wilderness as 
well as my deep political interests stemming from a life lived in the tribal complexities of my 
native Kwa-Zulu Natal. I am an avid traveller in the world. 

24

https://www.viragonation.ca/
http://www.kdocsff.com/
https://wordpress.kpu.ca/antiracism/
https://www.thesocialjusticecentre.org/
https://www.kpu.ca/news/2017/10/30/pilot-project-opens-doors-post-secondary-students-intellectual-disabilities
https://www.kpu.ca/teaching-and-learning


Neil Patrick Kennedy BA (SFU), MA (UBC) 
Areas of specialization: 16th and 17th Century Literature, Chaucer 

In the fall of 1973, I developed a desperate crush on my English 9 teacher, halfway through the 
unit on Macbeth that she was teaching. My passions for Renaissance literature and English 
composition have raged unabated ever since. Indeed, they have only deepened through time: 
the former through graduate studies in Spenser, Shakespeare, Donne and Milton; the latter 
through teaching a range of composition courses at UBC, the University of Toronto, a private 
school and here at our beloved Kwantlen Polytechnic University. 

Romy Kozak BA (Hons) (UBC), MA (Sussex), PhD (Stanford) 
Areas of specialization: American Literature, Literary Theory 

Moira Langley BA (UBC), MA (UofT) (on leave) 
Areas of specialization: Renaissance Literature, Theatre 

I grew up in Vancouver and did my B.A. at UBC, then moved to Toronto to do my M.A. in English 
Literature at the University of Toronto. Areas of interest included Shakespeare, the 
Renaissance, comedy, and Anglo-Irish literature. I began teaching at the former Cariboo College 
(now Thompson Rivers University), then moved to Nanaimo and taught at the former 
Malaspina College (now Vancouver Island University). I came to Kwantlen in 1992, where I have 
been teaching university transfer writing and literature courses ever since. I am currently 
working part-time on a Graduate Diploma in Shakespeare and Theatre at the Shakespeare 
Institute in Stratford-upon-Avon, England. 

Kim Larsen BA (Alberta), MA (McGill) 
Areas of specialization: Victorian Literature, Gothic Literature 

I hold an MA in English literature from McGill University and am currently working on my Ph.D. 
through the University of Alberta. For the past 5 years, I have been a contract instructor at both 
SFU and Kwantlen; prior to that, I worked as a research assistant for Christine Wiesenthal's The 
Half-Lives of Pat Lowther, which was shortlisted for the Governor General's Award for Non-
Fiction in 2006. I have taught a wide range of first-year and upper-level undergraduate courses, 
including composition, contemporary Canadian women's fiction, Romantic and Victorian 
literature, Pre-Raphaelite poetry, North American coming-of-age fiction, and 19th-century 
American Gothic literature. My current research interests include Victorian literature and visual 
art, especially the work of the Pre-Raphaelites; women's literature; the Gothic; and theories of 
haunting. 

Leanne MacDonald BA (Hons) (SFU), MA (Notre Dame), PhD (Notre Dame) 
Areas of specialization: Medieval Literature, Gender and Sexuality, Religion and Literature 

I grew up in Langley, BC, and earned my Bachelor of Arts degree at Simon Fraser University. I 
earned my doctorate in medieval English literature at the University of Notre Dame, where I 
also held a post-doc in the Writing and Rhetoric program. My scholarly research focuses on 

25



gender and sexuality in medieval literature. My teaching interests include modes of writing and 
communication within different communities, adaptations of medieval literature and culture in 
the post-medieval world, and representations of gender in medieval texts. 

Ranjini Mendis ATCL (Engl.), BA Hons (Ceylon), M.Ed. (Mass.), MA (Calgary) 
Areas of specialization: Cross-Cultural World Literature, Diasporic Literature 

Ranjini has been a full-time faculty member in the English department since 1991 and was 
previously a sessional at Mount Royal University and the University of Calgary. She has taught a 
variety of courses, including introductory university writing and literature courses, 14th to 18th 
century English literature, music and poetry of the renaissance (Cont. Ed.), major authors, and 
postcolonial, diasporic, and cross-cultural literatures.  

The born-digital, fully online, open-access journal Postcolonial Text was co-founded in 2003 by 
her and Professor John Willinsky, Director of the Public Knowledge Project. She was its 
Managing/Associate Editor and Principal Contact till 2013, establishing it as a globally 
recognized journal in Postcolonial Studies.  

Her other contributions to the academic community include serving as President of  the 
Canadian Assoc. for Commonwealth Literature and Language Studies (CACLALS); as 
International Chair of  the Assoc. for Commonwealth Literature and Language Studies (ACLALS) 
and conference convenor; as an elected representative of small associations in the Canadian 
Federation of Humanities and Social Sciences and member of the SSHRC restructuring cttee; as 
organizer of Commonwealth Foundations’ writers' workshops at People's Forums at CHOGMs in 
Malta and Uganda, and as member of the Commonwealth Writers’ Prize committee. She served 
KPU’s cultural diversity cttee from its inception for many years, KPU’s faculty association as 
Humanities Rep, and as KPU Rep in the Assoc. of Canadian College and University Teachers of 
English. 

Joakim Nilsson BA (SFU), MA (SFU), PhD (Alberta) 
Areas of specialization: American Literature and Film, Masculinities Studies, Medieval 
Literature  

I was born in Sweden, but have lived most of my life in Canada. In fact, I grew up in Surrey, and 
was a Kwantlen student for my first year, before I transferred to Simon Fraser University, where 
I completed my B.A. and M.A. I completed my Ph.D. at the University of Alberta--I enjoyed 
Edmonton, but the winters were too long--and then moved to Washington State, where I 
taught for ten years before returning to Canada. My areas of interest are American literature 
and film, medieval literature, and gender studies, especially masculinities. And when I am not 
teaching, I enjoy cycling, running, and walking my dog, Bailey. 

Paul Ohler BA (Calgary), MA (UBC), PhD (UBC) 
Areas of specialization: American Literature, Transatlantic Literary Studies, Literature and 
Science 

26

http://postcolonial.org/index.php/pct/issue/view/7


I teach first-year writing courses and upper-year courses on American literature and culture, 
literary theory and criticism, and British Fiction since 1945. My book Edith Wharton’s 
Evolutionary Conception: Darwinian Allegory in Her Major Novels (Routledge) concentrates on 
her use of ideas she encountered in works by Charles Darwin, Herbert Spencer, and T.H. Huxley, 
and I have published peer-reviewed articles and book chapters on Wharton's fiction and non-
fiction. My current scholarly projects include editing Volume 2, Short Stories I: 1891-1903 of the 
Complete Works of Edith Wharton (Oxford UP), which is supported by a Social Sciences and 
Humanities Research Council of Canada Insight Grant. My essay “Creative Process and Literary 
Form in Edith Wharton’s Archive” appears in The New Edith Wharton Studies (Cambridge UP, 
2019). I have recently completed a chapter on Wharton's early short stories for The Bloomsbury 
Handbook to Edith Wharton (2022) and an article which will appear in "Intimate Knowledge" a 
special issue of Studies in American Naturalism. I am editor of the Edith Wharton Review (MLA 
and Project Muse indexed) and a past president of the Edith Wharton Society. I have presented 
papers at the ACCUTE conference, the American Literature Association conference, the Modern 
Language Association convention, PAMLA, the Society for the Study of American Women 
Writers conference, and the Edith Wharton Society international conference. 

Paul Ostrowski BA (B.C.T.E.A.L.), MA (Lodz) 
Areas of specialization: Composition/Academic Writing 

Born and educated in Poland, I fell in love with the English language when listening to the 
Beatles' tunes when I was 14 years old. Fast forward many years, and I find myself teaching 
English at Kwantlen in Canada. To get where I am now, I completed two M.A. degrees -- one in 
English and the other in Comparative Literature. Although I initially specialized in the Modern 
English Novel, I would describe myself as a generalist now. What fascinates me about literature 
is its ability to generate ideas, create characters, and produce lasting aesthetic pleasure. When 
not marking students' essays, I read, swim, or take long walks around Stanley Park. And I still 
listen to the Beatles. 

Robert Pasquini BA (Hons) (UofT), MA (Ryerson), PhD (McMaster) 
Areas of specialization: 19th Century Literature, Science and Literature, Environmental 
Humanities 

I specialize in nineteenth-century culture and literature. My ongoing teaching and research 
interests explore the "ever-branching" ramifications of evolutionary theory and biological 
sciences in print culture. I am interested in representations of nature, animals, and resilience, 
especially in relation to the anxieties produced by the prospect of mass extinction and 
ecological crisis that still resound today. In 2016, I won the Founders’ Circle Award for emergent 
scholars from the Victorian Studies Association of Western (VSAWC), and in 2017, I co-
organized the "Resilience in a Multispecies World" conference hosted at McMaster University. 
My publications include scholarly articles, interviews, short fiction, non-fiction, and poetry. 

27



Gavin Paul B.Mgt. (Lethbridge), BA (Lethbridge), MA (UBC), PhD (UBC) 
Areas of specialization: Renaissance Literature, Shakespeare, Graphic Novels 

My research interests centre on Shakespeare and early modern drama. My work on the 
intersections of editorial practice, textual theory, and performance history has appeared in The 
Review of English Studies, Shakespeare: The Journal of the British Shakespeare Association, The 
Bulletin for the Society of Renaissance Studies, Comitatus, The Upstart Crow, and Literature 
Compass (where I am the three-time winner of Blackwell Publishing’s Essay Prize). My doctoral 
thesis analyzing the history of Shakespearean editors’ engagements with performance won the 
Paul G. Stanwood Prize from UBC and the J. Leeds Barroll Dissertation Prize from the 
Shakespeare Association of America–this international prize is awarded in recognition of the 
year’s outstanding work in Shakespeare studies. My first book, Shakespeare and the Imprints 
of Performance (Palgrave MacMillan, 2014), received very positive reviews and was reprinted 
in 2016. I am currently editing the Internet Shakespeare Edition of Macbeth (with Anthony 
Dawson). 

I am also interested in comic book literature and literary responses to 9/11; my work in these 
fields has appeared in American Periodicals, European Comic Art, and The Encyclopedia of 
Comic Books and Graphic Novels. 

I love being a husband and a father, I have difficulty letting go of old t-shirts and sneakers, and I 
daydream about sports and comic books more than I would like to admit. I have recently 
published Conspiracy of One, a collection of short stories, and The Coward, a collection of 
essays on topics ranging from fatherhood to the strange pains and pleasures of a life devoted to 
solitary reading. 

John Rupert Dip. FA (Fanshawe), BA (Western), MA (Western), PhD (Ottawa) 
Areas of specialization: 17th-Century Literature, Horror Literature 

I began my teaching career at the University of Western Ontario, where I received my B.A. and 
M.A., and at the University of Ottawa, where I received my Ph.D. I drove across Canada during 
the hot summer of 1998 to take a position as a sessional instructor at the UBC, where I taught 
until 2003. To that point, the focus of my teaching was poetry, Canadian Literature, and First 
Nations writing in Canada. When I began teaching at Kwantlen, I rekindled my teenage interest 
in the supernatural and the occult. Since that time, my passion has been to apply my research 
in these areas to my teaching. 

Asma Sayed PhD, Comparative Literature (Alberta) 
Areas of specialization: South Asian Literature, Cross-cultural World Literature, Literature in 
Translation, Film Studies, Women’s Writing and Feminist Theory 

Dr. Asma Sayed is Canada Research Chair in South Asian Literary and Cultural Studies in the 
Department of English. She holds a PhD in Comparative Literature from the University of 
Alberta. Sayed specializes in postcolonial literature with a focus on narratives of exile and 

28

http://www.palgrave.com/page/detail/shakespeare-and-the-imprints-of-performance-j-gavin-paul/?K=9781137438430
http://www.palgrave.com/page/detail/shakespeare-and-the-imprints-of-performance-j-gavin-paul/?K=9781137438430
https://www.amazon.ca/Conspiracy-One-collection-short-stories/dp/1982931078/ref=sr_1_2?keywords=conspiracy+of+one&qid=1560800424&s=gateway&sr=8-2
https://www.amazon.ca/Coward-Reading-Memory-Fragments/dp/171796267X/ref=sr_1_1?qid=1560800517&refinements=p_27%3AGavin+Paul&s=books&sr=1-1


displacement from South Asia and East Africa, as well as feminist literary and cultural studies 
related to these geographies. She is trained in human rights issues, and her interdisciplinary 
research and social activism focus on the marginalization of gendered and racialized people and 
violence against women as represented in literature, film, and media. Her research has 
explored the cultural and literary relationship between postcolonial texts in English versus 
those produced in ‘minority’ (heritage) languages—a query further problematized by the 
political discourse of citizenship and multiculturalism. Her current research projects include: a 
book on social justice discourse in South Asian Canadian literature; a digital database of South 
Asian Canadian literary and cultural contributions; and an anthology of multilingual literature in 
Canada. Her publications include five books and numerous articles in a range of periodicals, 
anthologies, and academic journals: Canadian Review of Comparative Literature; South Asian 
Review; Canadian Literature; and Journal of South Asian Diaspora. Sayed has served as an 
adviser on various boards and NGOs: South Asian Network for Secularism and Democracy 
(2019-21); Mise-en-scene, KPU’s film journal(2018-); Canadian Communications Foundation 
(2014-22); and Indo-Canadian Women’s Association (2015-18). Recently, she completed a 
certificate in Diversity and Inclusion from Cornell University. She is a member of KPU’s Social 
Justice Centre. She is also a creative non-fiction writer and in 2016-17 she was selected as one 
of Edmonton’s Borderlines Writers Circle participants by the Writers’ Guild of Alberta. Prior to 
joining KPU in 2017, Sayed worked at various universities including the University of Alberta, 
MacEwan University, and Athabasca University. She is the President of the Canadian 
Association for Commonwealth Literature and Language Studies (2019-21) and the Chair of 
KPU's Task Force on Antiracism. 

Lindsey Seatter BA (SFU), MA (SFU), PhD (UVic) (NR-2) 
Areas of specialization: Digital Humanities, Print Culture, Romantic Women’s Writing 
Lindsey Seatter holds a PhD in English from U Victoria and is a Faculty Member at Kwantlen 
Polytechnic U, where she teaches literature and composition. Broadly, Seatter’s research 
focuses on the British Romantic period, women’s writing, and Digital Humanities. Her SSHRC-
funded dissertation explored the evolution of Jane Austen’s narrative style across her 
manuscript and print works. Seatter has given presentations at national and international 
conferences on female literary networks, reading Jane Austen with computers, expanding the 
Romantic literary canon (#Bigger6), and digital pedagogy. In addition to her teaching, Seatter is 
the Managing Editor of IDEAH, an Associate Director of DHSI, and an Associated Researcher 
with the ETCL. 

Kris Singh BA (Waterloo), MA (Waterloo), PhD (Queen’s) 
Areas of specialization: Caribbean and African literature, postcolonial theory, World Literature, 
and diasporic literature 

I am enthusiastic about teaching in ways that stress heterogeneity and inclusivity. I strive to be 
attentive to the interests and needs of students so that I can support them in understanding 
their strengths as thinkers. To this end, I propose that our classrooms are not spaces wherein 

29

https://wordpress.kpu.ca/antiracism/
https://ideah.pubpub.org/
https://dhsi.org/
https://etcl.uvic.ca/


we prepare for the so-called real world so much as they are consequential and purposeful 
spaces within the real world. In these resource-rich, creative, hopeful spaces, we encounter the 
stunning richness of literature, the thrilling ideas of those around us, and the ambiguities and 
contradictions within ourselves. 

My research interests include Caribbean and African literature, postcolonial theory, diasporic 
literature, and transnationalism. I investigate the transnational connections that unite Austin 
Clarke, Andrew Salkey, and Samuel Selvon. Drawing on their epistolary relationships in my 
study of their published literature, I explore the limits of Caribbean machismo, the politics of 
loneliness and the weariness/wariness of immigrants. Selvon’s depiction of East Indians in the 
Caribbean also launched my study of the legacy of indentureship. I aim to recognize how labour 
systems defined the coolie identity and how individuals redefine that identity across 
geographical spaces and in digital media. 
  
Wendy Smith BA (SFU), MA (SFU) 
Areas of specialization: Composition/Academic Writing, Protest Literatures 

A former Kwantlen student, I completed my BA and MA at Simon Fraser University. My areas of 
interest include university writing, Canadian literature, and literature of social protest. I joined 
the KPU English Department in 2003 and currently teach first-year composition and literature 
courses. 

Brian Swail BA (Trent), MA (Manitoba), PhD (Manitoba) 
Areas of specialization: Canadian Literature 
When I was a child, I was mesmerized by science fiction, and not the "respectable" kind; I 
devoured tales of bug-eyed monsters, spaceships and perilous adventures voraciously and 
indiscriminately. My tastes are somewhat different now, but what most appeals to me about 
language, literature and teaching is experiencing and sharing the powerful adventure of 
entering an unknown world, and of bringing to life in words the worlds each of us has within us. 

Dale Tracy HBA (Lakehead), MA (Carleton), PhD (Queen’s) 
Areas of specialization: Modern and Contemporary Poetry, Drama, and Life Writing 

I’m interested in how people, texts, and institutions make, shape, and share knowledge. 
Pursuing this interest, I have published work focused on diverse subjects: stand-up comedy, 
literary theory, poetry and poetics, drama, hip hop, writing studies, the creative humanities, 
Canadian literature, and world literatures. A unifying focus across these subjects is metonymy. 
Based on literal or conventional associations, on what already exists or what already seems 
known, this trope makes explicit what convention makes difficult to question. I’m interested in 
questioning convention to create opportunities for deliberate changes to the methods and 
kinds of meaning people make together and the sorts of institutions we make it in. As a scholar, 
teacher, poet, and community member, I think most often about making meaning and sharing 
knowledge with contemporary poetry and performance. 

30



Paul Tyndall BA (Dalhousie), MA (UofT), PhD (Dalhousie) 
Areas of specialization: American Literature, Film Studies, Shakespeare 

I was born in Halifax, Nova Scotia and completed my BA at Dalhousie University and my MA at 
the University of Toronto, before returning to Dalhousie to complete my PhD in Modern 
American Literature, with a dissertation on the poetry of Yvor Winters. I have lived on the West 
Coast since 1990 and taught at the University of British Columbia and Okanagan University 
College before joining the Department of English at Kwantlen Polytechnic University. My 
teaching and research interests include 20th century American Literature, film studies, and 
depictions of mental illness in modern literature and film. I am currently in the process of 
developing a critical casebook on the novel, Housekeeping by the contemporary novelist, Mary 
Lynn Robinson. 

Steve Weber BA (SFU), MA (SFU), PhD (SUNY Albany) 
Areas of specialization: Postmodern literature, North African Literature, American Literature 

I received my Ph.D. from the English Department at the State University of New York at Albany 
where I filed my dissertation entitled A Transnational Postmodernism: North Africa as a Locus 
for Postmodern Fiction. Born and raised in British Columbia, I returned to BC after teaching for 
six years at SUNY Albany and living for one year in Hoboken, New Jersey; I then taught at 
Okanagan College, Capilano University, and KPU. My dissertation research focused on 
postmodern literature that understands postmodernity as a problem of control—where 
mobility and mutability are not treated as tools of postmodern resistance, but as perfect 
avenues for control under the guise of liberation. My areas of interest include First-Year 
Rhetoric and Composition, Postmodern Literature, North African Postcolonial Literature, 
Poststructural/Postcolonial Literary Theory, and Twentieth-Century American Literature. 

Jennifer Williams BA (Trent), MA (Queen's) 
Areas of specialization: Composition/Academic Writing, Pedagogy 

I was raised in Montreal and travelled all points of the compass before deciding to settle in 
Vancouver. What I enjoy most about teaching at Kwantlen is the small class size. Everyone who 
wants to participate in class discussion has the opportunity. This was what my undergraduate 
university was like when I was a student, and now that I am the one standing at the front of the 
room; this is how we can keep it lively and fresh. My areas of interest in graduate school were 
post-colonial literature, Virginia Woolf, the eighteenth century's 'mob of scribbling women' (or 
so Nathaniel Hawthorne described them in a fit of pique), critical theory, and feminist theory in 
particular. My current focus is on Canadian and British fiction and on the scholarship of 
teaching and learning. 

 

31



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
INTRODUCTION ..........................................................................................................................................................2 

DATA FOR CHAPTER 2 OF THE SELF STUDY: PROGRAM CURRENCY AND CONNECTIONS .........................................3 

STUDENT DEMAND FOR THE PROGRAM ................................................................................................................3 

ENROLMENT TRENDS .........................................................................................................................................3 

Exhibit 1: Course Headcount by Academic Year: English and Faculty of Arts Undergraduate Courses .....3 

Exhibit 2: Program Headcount by Academic Year: English...........................................................................3 

Exhibit 3: Program Headcount by Academic Year: Faculty of Arts Programs ..............................................4 

English ENROLMENT IN B.C. ...............................................................................................................................4 

Exhibit 4: Number of Students Enrolled in English Programs at B.C. Public Post-Secondary Institutions .4 

DEMOGRAPHIC PROFILE OF KPU STUDENTS ......................................................................................................4 

Exhibit 5: Profile of English Students by Academic Year ..............................................................................4 

Exhibit 6: Profile of Faculty of Arts Students by Academic Year ..................................................................4 

SEAT TRENDS ......................................................................................................................................................5 

Exhibit 7: Average Seats per Class from 2016/17 to 2019/20: .....................................................................5 

Exhibit 8: Fill Rate from 2016/17 to 2019/20: ..............................................................................................6 

DATA FOR CHAPTER 4 OF THE SELF-STUDY: QUALITY OF INSTRUCTIONAL DESIGN ..................................................7 

STUDENT EXPERIENCE ............................................................................................................................................7 

GRADE DISTRIBUTIONS .......................................................................................................................................7 

Exhibit 9: Cumulative Grade Distribution for English Courses from 2015/16 to 2019/20 ..........................7 

Exhibit 10: Cumulative Grade Distribution for Faculty of Arts Undergraduate Courses from 2015/16 to 
2019/20 ..........................................................................................................................................................8 

Exhibit 11: Grade Data for English and Faculty of Arts Undergraduate Level Courses from 2015/16 to 
2019/20 ..........................................................................................................................................................8 

Exhibit 12: Grade Data for English and Faculty of Arts Courses for 2019/20 across Undergraduate Levels
 ........................................................................................................................................................................9 

GRADUATION COUNTS .................................................................................................................................... 12 

Exhibit 13: Graduate Headcount by Academic Year: English .................................................................... 12 

Exhibit 14: Graduate Headcount by Academic Year: Faculty of Arts ........................................................ 12 

Exhibit 15: Median Years to Graduate: English ......................................................................................... 12 

Exhibit 16: Median Years to Graduate: Faculty of Arts ............................................................................. 12 

STUDENT OUTCOMES ...................................................................................................................................... 13 

Exhibit 17: Student Outcomes Measures - KPU English Average Scores Compared with Ministry Targets
 ..................................................................................................................................................................... 13 

32



INTRODUCTION 
 
This report presents data for the English self-study report.  
 
The section pertinent to chapter 2 of the self-study presents (1) enrolment trends, (2) English enrolment in BC, 
(3) demographic profile of students, and (4) seat trends.  
 
The section pertinent to chapter 4 of the self-study presents (1) grade distributions (2) graduation counts and (3) 
findings of BC Student Outcomes Survey.  
 
There are 17 numbered exhibits. Each exhibit presents data to address a particular issue in the self-study report.  
 
Footnotes provide important information about the data sources and definitions.  
 
 
  

33



DATA FOR CHAPTER 2 OF THE SELF STUDY: PROGRAM CURRENCY AND 
CONNECTIONS 
STUDENT DEMAND FOR THE PROGRAM 

ENROLMENT TRENDS1 
Has demand for English courses been changing over the last five years? How does demand for English courses 
compare with demand for Faculty of Arts undergraduate courses over the same period?  

Exhibit 1: Course Headcount2 by Academic Year: English and Faculty of Arts Undergraduate Courses 
 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 % Change3 

English 1100 3,040 3,588 4,002 4,122 3,446 13% 
English Lower-level Courses4 
(Excluding ENGL 1100) 1,246 1,455 1,368 1,382 1,550 24% 

English Upper-Level Courses5 134 146 158 164 193 44% 
Faculty of Arts   10,440    11,036    12,360    12,122    11,574  11% 

Has demand for the English program changed over the last five years? How does it compare with demand for 
Faculty of Arts undergraduate programs over the same period? 

Exhibit 2: Program Headcount by Academic Year: English6 
 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 %Change 

English Total7 234 249 263 267 291 24% 
Intended 91 131 167 179 193 112% 
Major8 
  Associate Degree 
  Bachelor’s Degree 
Minor 

          135 100 87 73 78 -42% 
 50 26 14 5 5 -90% 
 92 77 76 68 74 -20% 
 9 22 17 23 34 278% 

Note that the drop in the program headcounts from 2015/16 to 2019/20 is a result of the changes made to the admissions 
framework in 2015/16 (see footnote 7).  
  

1 All data reported in this section was obtained from the Enrolment dashboard 2019-20, which is available at 
https://our.kpu.ca/sites/sem/data/SitePages/Home.aspx 
2 Course headcount includes students enrolled in the course from the Stable Enrolment date, including those who later 
withdrew from the course. 
3 % Change refers to change between 2015/16 to 2019/20. 
4 Lower level courses are 1000 and 2000 level 
5 Upper level courses are 3000 and 4000 level 
6 Data for Intended, Major, and Minor headcounts in English are reported separately.  
7 To avoid double counting students, English total is a unique headcount for the year, not the sum of Intended and Declared 
counts. 
8 The drop in headcount in Major over time is due to the new admissions framework implemented by KPU, which is 
effective September 2015 and onwards for all applicants. KPU now admits new students to a Faculty instead of a program 
and these new students are being reported under the ‘undeclared’ credential category until they meet program 
declaration requirements (exception are students enrolled in a limited entry program). The data for the Major category 
include students who were accepted into the program before the change happened in September 2015 in addition to the 
declared students.  

34



Exhibit 3: Program Headcount by Academic Year: Faculty of Arts 
 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 % Change 

Faculty of Arts Total9 5,712 5,692 5,895 5,737 5,843 2% 
 
ENGLISH ENROLMENT IN B.C. 10 
 

How do KPU English enrolment trends compare with overall enrolment trends in B.C?  

Exhibit 4 presents the number of students enrolled in English programs at B.C. public post-secondary institutions 
(excluding KPU).  

Exhibit 4: Number of Students Enrolled in English Programs at B.C. Public Post-Secondary Institutions 
 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 
Bachelor’s Degree 1,605 1,574 1,509 1,502 1,456 1,456 

Associate Degree 270 267 262 241 188 184 

Total 1,872 1,839 1,769 1,741 1,644 1,638 

DEMOGRAPHIC PROFILE OF KPU STUDENTS11 

Has the demographic profile of English students changed over the last five years?  

Is the gender distribution in the English program equitable?  

Exhibit 5: Profile of English Students by Academic Year 
Student Profile 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 
FTE Headcount 234 249 263 267 291 
% Female 72% 74% 70% 70% 74% 
% 22 years or younger 66% 64% 61% 64% 62% 
% International 3% 3% 5% 3% 2% 

 
How does the demographic profile of English students compare with that of the Faculty of Arts undergraduate 
students over the same period? 

Exhibit 6: Profile of Faculty of Arts Students by Academic Year 
Student Profile 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 
FTE Headcount 5,712 5,692 5,895 5,737 5,843 
% Female 63% 62% 62% 62% 62% 
% 22 years or younger 68% 69% 69% 68% 67% 
% International 5% 8% 15% 14% 17% 

9 Faculty of Arts total includes undeclared Faculty of Arts students.  
 
10 All data reported below was obtained from the STP Enrolment dashboard 2017-18. STP refers to the B.C. Student 
Transitions Project, which tracks students in the public post-secondary education system. Data are coded by Classification 
of Instructional Program (CIP). To identify English programs, CIP code 23.0101 and credential category bachelor’s degree 
and associate degree were used. 
11 All data reported in this section was obtained from the Enrolment dashboard 2019-20, which is available at 
https://our.kpu.ca/sites/sem/data/SitePages/Home.aspx 

35



SEAT TRENDS12 
 
Has there been a change in average seats per class13 in English courses? How do they compare with Faculty of 
Arts undergraduate courses? 

Exhibit 7: Average Seats per Class from 2016/17 to 2019/20: 
 

English (Lower-Level Courses):14  Faculty of Arts (Lower-Level Courses): 
   

 

 

  

 
 

                 English (Upper-Level Courses):             Faculty of Arts (Upper-Level Courses): 15 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12 All data reported in this section was obtained from the Seat Statistics dashboard 2019-20, which is located at 
https://our.kpu.ca/sites/sem/data/SitePages/Home.aspx 
13 The new class size target is 25. 
14 Lower-level courses are 1000 and 2000 level 
15 Upper level courses for Faculty of Arts include 3000, 4000, and 5000 level 

25.3 25.6 25.3 25.4

24.6 24.4 25.0 24.8

AY16/17 AY17/18 AY18/19 AY19/20

28.2 28.7 28.3 29.7

25.2 26.0 27.0 28.0

AY16/17 AY17/18 AY18/19 AY19/20

24.6 24.3 24.7 26.0

20.2 19.6 21.0 22.6

AY16/17 AY17/18 AY18/19 AY19/20

28.9 30.5 27.7 29.2

27.4 27.5
23.6 26.0

AY16/17 AY17/18 AY18/19 AY19/20

36



 

Has there been a change in fill rates in English courses? How do they compare with Faculty of Arts 
undergraduate courses? 

Exhibit 8: Fill Rate from 2016/17 to 2019/20: 
 

English (Lower-Level Courses):  Faculty of Arts (Lower-Level Courses): 
 

   

 

               English (Upper-Level Courses):           Faculty of Arts (Upper-Level Courses): 

 

   

 

 

 

Definitions 
Seats Offered  Maximum number of seats available in a unit (section, course, department, 

faculty- depends on the menu selection) 
Seats Filled 
 

Number of seats taken in the unit (section, course, department,  
faculty- depends on the menu selection) 

Average Seats Offered Per Class Computed as Seats Offered / Count of Classes 
Average Seats Filled Per Class Computed as Seats Filled / Count of Classes 
Fill Rate Computed as Seats Taken / Seats Offered.  

A measure of % capacity utilization. 

95% 90% 85% 89%

AY16/17 AY17/18 AY18/19 AY19/20

82% 81% 85% 87%

AY16/17 AY17/18 AY18/19 AY19/20

97% 95% 99% 98%

AY16/17 AY17/18 AY18/19 AY19/20

89% 91% 95% 94%

AY16/17 AY17/18 AY18/19 AY19/20

37



DATA FOR CHAPTER 4 OF THE SELF-STUDY: QUALITY OF INSTRUCTIONAL 
DESIGN 
STUDENT EXPERIENCE 

GRADE DISTRIBUTIONS16 

Are an adequate number of students in English courses receiving a grade of C and above? How do they compare 
with the students in Faculty of Arts undergraduate courses? 

Exhibit 9: Cumulative Grade Distribution for English Courses from 2015/16 to 2019/20 

 

 
 

English (Excluding ENGL 1100) from 2015/16 to 2019/20 
 
 

 
  

16 All data reported in this section was obtained from the Grade Distribution dashboard 2019-20, which is available at 
https://our.kpu.ca/sites/sem/data/SitePages/Home.aspx 

 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20

1% 3%

10
% 20

% 32
%

47
%

60
%

73
% 77

% 82
% 92

%

1% 4%

12
% 22

%

36
%

50
%

62
% 73

% 77
% 81

% 91
%

1% 4%

12
% 22

%

34
%

47
% 58

% 68
% 74

% 79
% 90

%

1% 5%

13
% 23

%

36
%

49
% 60

% 70
% 74

% 80
% 90

%

2%

8%

17
% 28

%

40
% 52

% 61
% 71

% 75
% 78

% 87
%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

A+ A A- B+ B B- C+ C C- D F

Cumulative Distribution

1% 4%

14
% 25

%

40
%

57
%

68
% 78

%

81
% 84

% 91
%

1%

6%

16
% 28

%

44
%

57
%

69
% 79

% 83
%

85
% 91

%

1% 5%

16
%

29
%

44
%

57
% 68

% 75
% 80

% 83
% 90

%

1%

6%

17
%

30
%

45
%

58
% 68

% 77
%

79
% 83

% 90
%

2%

9%

20
%

33
%

46
%

59
% 68

% 75
%

77
%

80
% 86

%

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

A+ A A- B+ B B- C+ C C- D F

Cumulative Distribution

 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20

38



 

Exhibit 10: Cumulative Grade Distribution for Faculty of Arts Undergraduate Courses from 2015/16 to 2019/20 

 
 

 
 

Does the repeat rate in English courses indicate an issue? How does it compare with the repeat rate of Faculty of 
Arts undergraduate courses?  

 
Does the DFW rate in English courses indicate an issue? How does it compare with the DFW rate in Faculty of 
Arts undergraduate courses? 

 
Exhibit 11: Grade Data for English (including ENGL 1100) and Faculty of Arts Undergraduate Level Courses from 
2015/16 to 2019/20 

English: 

 

Faculty of Arts: 

 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20

9%

19
%

32
% 44

% 55
% 65

% 73
% 80

% 83
% 86

% 93
%

8%

18
%

32
% 44

% 55
% 65

% 72
% 79

% 82
% 86
% 93

%

9%

19
%

31
% 42

% 53
% 63

% 70
% 77

% 81
% 85

% 93
%

10
% 21

%

34
% 45

% 56
% 65

% 73
% 80

% 83
% 87

% 94
%

12
% 24

%

38
% 49

% 59
% 68

% 74
% 80

% 83
% 86
% 91

%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

A+ A A- B+ B B- C+ C C- D F

Cumulative Distribution

2.86 2.85 2.80 2.88 3.02 

 -

 1.00

 2.00

 3.00

 4.00

15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20

Mean Grade & Std Dev

2.34 2.40 2.33 2.38 2.55 

 -

 1.00

 2.00

 3.00

 4.00

15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20

Mean Grade & Std Dev

39



English: 

 

Faculty of Arts: 

 

 

English: Faculty of Arts: 

 
 

 

Are there any issues with English students’ performance at each level? How do they compare with Faculty of 
Arts undergraduate courses?   

Exhibit 12: Grade Data for English (including ENGL 1100) and Faculty of Arts Courses for 2019/20 across 
Undergraduate Levels 

English:17 Faculty of Arts: 

  
 

English: 
 

 

Faculty of Arts: 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

17 Note that variations in sample size can affect the mean scores. 

11% 12% 12% 14% 16%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20

Repeat Rate

23% 23% 26% 26% 24%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20

DFW Rate

17% 18% 19% 17% 16%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20

DFW Rate

2.50 
2.81 3.02 2.99 

 -

 1.00

 2.00

 3.00

 4.00

L1 L2 L3 L4

Mean Grade & Std Dev

2.88 3.09 
3.34 

3.65 
3.93 

 -

 1.00

 2.00

 3.00

 4.00

L1 L2 L3 L4 L5

Mean Grade & Std Dev

6% 7% 6% 7% 8%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20

Repeat Rate

40



18%

3% 1% 4%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

L1 L2 L3 L4

Repeat Rate

9% 6% 4% 4% 0%
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

L1 L2 L3 L4 L5

Repeat Rate

27,678

6,880 6,421
2,061

37
0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

L1 L2 L3 L4 L5

Number of Seats

 
English:18 

 

 

 
Faculty of Arts 

 
 

 
English: 

 

 
Faculty of Arts: 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

English: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Faculty of Arts: 

  
 

 

18 Note that variations in sample size can affect the mean scores. 

5,054

269 414
54

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

L1 L2 L3 L4

Number of Seats

25% 21%
15% 17%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

L1 L2 L3 L4

DFW Rate

18% 14% 10% 7%
0%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

L1 L2 L3 L4 L5

DFW Rate

41



Definitions 
Grade For courses with numeric grade mode, this is the letter grade (A+ through F) assigned to a 

student based on achievement in a course. 
Mean Grade The average grade of students in the selected courses, based solely on the numerical grade 

equivalent of a letter grade. A weighted average is used, such that larger classes have a 
larger influence on the computed mean. 

Cumulative 
Distribution 

The number of students who receive a particular letter grade (A+ through F) plus those who 
receive a higher grade, as a percentage of the total number of students with a grade or a 
W/WE. Useful for estimating the proportion of passing students based on any specific grade 
requirement. 

DFW Rate % of students who received a grade of D or F or withdrew from the course. 
Percentage is calculated based on number of students with a grade or a W/WE or DEF 
(Deferred). A common metric used to identify courses with high rates of poor student 
performance. 

Enrolment Number of students assigned a grade or W/WE (Withdraw) or DEF (Deferred), except those 
marked as AUD (Audit). These are not unique students since they are allowed to repeat and 
take multiple courses. Students include those who have withdrawn from their class, but 
does not include those who dropped the class before the Stable Enrolment Date. To protect 
privacy, this dashboard does not display grade information for courses with less than 5 
students. 

Repeat Rate Students who repeat a course, that is, have taken the course previously. Percentage is 
calculated based on number of students with a grade or a W/WE or DEF. 

 

 

  

42



GRADUATION COUNTS19 

Has there been a change in the number of English graduates over time? How does it compare with Faculty of 
Arts in general? 

Exhibit 13: Graduate Headcount by Academic Year: English  
2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

Total20  20 8 33 21 18 
Associate of Arts in English  1 3   
Bachelor of Arts in English 20 7 30 21 18 

Exhibit 14: Graduate Headcount by Academic Year: Faculty of Arts  
2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

Total  861 715 802 888 1,562 
Associate Degree 92 65 74 52 66 
Bachelor’s Degree 482 345 386 354 437 
Certificate 144 127 102 72 203 
Diploma 152 192 246 420 862 

Are English students completing the program within a reasonable time? How does it compare with Faculty of 
Arts in general? 

Exhibit 15: Median Years to Graduate:21 English  
2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

Associate of Arts in English - 7.9 3.9 - - 
Bachelor of Arts in English 6.0 5.5 5.6 5.0 5.2 

Exhibit 16: Median Years to Graduate: Faculty of Arts  
2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

Associate Degree 3.8 3.9 4.9 4.1 2.9 
Bachelor’s Degree 5.7 5.6 5.6 5.6 5.3 
Certificate 2.0 1.6 1.9 1.9 1.2 
Diploma 2.8 2.4 2.3 2.2 2.5 

Definitions 
Graduate 
Headcount 

Count of unique students who have earned a KPU credential. Breakdown values may not add up to 
total or 100% because a student can earn multiple credentials in different categories within the 
same academic year. 

Credential Specific academic award granted upon completion of Program, such as "Associate of Arts Degree" vs 
"Associate of Science Degree". 

Median A computed "middle" number in a set of numbers when sorted by value, such that 50% of the values 
are higher and 50% are smaller than this number. The Median is preferred over the Mean when the 
distribution of numbers contains a few extreme values. Extreme values will distort the Mean in that 
direction, whereas the Median is not affected by extreme values. 

19 All data reported in this section was obtained from the Credentials dashboard AY 2019-20, which is available at 
https://our.kpu.ca/sites/sem/data/SitePages/Home.aspx 
20 To avoid double counting students, total graduate headcounts presented in Exhibits 13 and 14 are unique headcounts of 
students for the year, not the sum of the credential counts. 
21 The data in Exhibits 15 and 16 present the median number of years students took to receive their first credential. 

43



STUDENT OUTCOMES22 
There are 7 measures that Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills & Training uses to assess each 
institution with respect to the outcomes students achieve within 2 years of graduation. A description of 
each follows. Ministry has a target for each measure. 

Unemployed Unemployment rate of KPU's graduates (of those in the labour market) 

Employed Proportion of former students who are employed 

Related Job Proportion of former students employed in a related field of study 

Usefulness Proportion of former students who reported satisfaction in the usefulness of their 
knowledge and skills in performing their jobs 

Satisfaction Proportion of former students' who reported satisfaction with their education 

Quality Proportion of former students' who assessed their quality of instruction positively 

Skill Development [Former] student assessment of their skill development at KPU. An overall average 
for all skills is provided, plus the results for each skill 

 
Are we achieving the Ministry’s targets? Are the graduates getting jobs in a related field?  
Exhibit 17: Student Outcomes Measures - KPU English Average Scores Compared with Ministry Targets 

Measures 

Average Student 
Outcome Scores for 

KPU English Program 
(2017-2019) 

Ministry 
Target 

Respondents 35  
Unemployment 6.5% 

 
≤ 7.5% 

 Currently Employed 83% 
 

 
 Related Job 62% 

 
 

Usefulness 86% ≥ 90% 
Satisfaction 100% ≥ 90% 
Quality 100% ≥ 90% 
Skill Development 87% ≥ 85% 

Write Clearly and Concisely 94% ≥ 85% 
Speak Effectively 85% ≥ 85% 

Read and Comprehend Materials 91% ≥ 85% 
Work Effectively with Others 71% ≥ 85% 

Analyze and Think Critically 100% ≥ 85% 
Resolve Issues or Problems 74% ≥ 85% 

Learn on your Own 94% ≥ 85% 
 

22 All data reported in this section was obtained from the Student Outcomes dashboard 2015-19, which is available 
at: https://our.kpu.ca/sites/sem/data/SitePages/Home.aspx 

44



English Program Review - Student Survey Report 

The student survey was sent to 125 English students. A total of 30 students responded. The response rate is 24%. 

Note: The data includes open-ended comments. In order to preserve integrity and objectivity, OPA does not do value-judgment 
editing (i.e. we do not fix spelling errors, syntax issues, punctuation, etc.). Comments are included verbatim – with one 
exception: if individuals or courses are named, OPA redacts the name of the instructor or course. This rule applies to whether 
the comment is good, bad or indifferent. 

1 - Which of the following credentials are you working towards? Please select all that 
apply

# Which of the following credentials are you working towards? Please select all that apply Percentage 

8 Bachelor's degree: Minor in English 27% 
1 Bachelor's degree: Major in English 77% 
9 Associate of Arts in English 3% 

Total 30 
The total row presents the total number of respondents. The total number of responses for this question is greater than the 
number of respondents. Therefore, percentage total exceeds 100%. 

2 - What is your intended or declared major? 

This question was asked to those who chose Minor in English or Associate of Arts in English in Question 1. 

Journalism 
Applications in Mathematics 
Creative Writing 
General Studies 
My declared major is in Psychology. 
History 
English 
Psychology 
Poli Sci (and id like to major in english too) 

3 - What attracted you to English courses? 

This question was asked to those who chose Minor in English or Associate of Arts in English in Question 1. 

I love writing 
I love literature 
Expanding my knowledge on various types of Literature and writing assignments in general. 
All the different courses and topics 
I've always liked to learn better ways to express myself and I love reading literature. 
I enjoy reading and writing 
PDP program 

45



I like to analyze stories. 
Teaching prospects/critical theory 

 

4 - What drew you to the English Program? 

This question was asked to those who chose Major in English in Question 1. 

I had initially wanted to major in Biology but my professors made English very intriguing and stimulating that I transferred 
programs. I like the discussion and participation part of English the most. 
I was inspired by one of my English professors. 
I like reading and writing essays more than taking tests 
I would like to become a teacher, so English is my focus as my primary teachable. 
An experience with a KPU english professor, she inspired me. 
My first English course at KPU really caught my attention. The way of approaching the readings, analyzing the text, creating 
connections to the real world, and the discussions. 
I love reading. 
My love for reading and wanting to teach literature one day 
- Interest in literature, narratives, stories, and theory as ways of communicating ideas/imparting knowledge.  - gaining skills 
with wide applicability to other areas - appreciation for/curiosity about scholarship of faculty (this enriches course delivery 
and is of interest on its own) 
I took a second year English course with a certain professor and really enjoyed her class and what I got out of it. 
to improve my English 
It was some of the classes I was most interested in so I decided to pursue it further. As I got into upper level classes the 
concentrations were more intriguing. 
Studying English and the different components of it (film, on stage plays, poetry, etc) 
I want to be a high school English teacher 
I enjoy writing 
KPU's english program has such wonderful instructors that I hope to change my major to it 
originally I was getting an English Degree to help me in becoming a teacher. But, since changing my career path, I just want to 
soak up studying literature and writing about my thoughts and ideas. 
Teaching 

  

46



5 - What are you planning to pursue after graduation? 

 

# What are you planning to pursue after graduation? - Selected Choice Percentage 

1 Graduate Program in English 13% 

2 Education Program 61% 

3 Teaching Overseas (TOEFL program or other) 9% 

4 Post-Bacc Program: please specify 4% 

5 Workforce: please specify 4% 

6 Other: please specify 9% 

 Total 23 

 

5 - Post-Bacc Program: please specify 

Bachelor of Education 
 

5 - Workforce: please specify 

Web designer 
 

5 - Other: please specify 

47



Who knows 

While I still have teaching on the table, I have an interest in the publishing industry. 

 

6 - How interested would you be in an English honours program? 

# How interested would you be in an English honours program? Percentage 

1 Not at all interested 13% 

2 Somewhat interested 65% 

3 Very interested 22% 

 Total 23 

 

7 - How interested would you be in an English concentration in film (a grouping of courses 
recognized on your transcript)? 

# How interested would you be in an English concentration in film (a grouping of courses recognized on your transcript)? Percentage 

1 Not at all interested 30% 

2 Somewhat interested 35% 

3 Very interested 35% 

 Total 23 

  

48



8 - Which of the following sources of information did you use to learn about KPU's English 
Program? Please select all that apply. 

 

 

49



# Which of the following sources of information did you use to learn about KPU's English Program? Please select all that 
apply. - Selected Choice Percentage 

1 BC Education Planner website 7% 

2 BC Transfer Guide website 3% 

3 Program advertising (including pamphlets) 28% 

4 Social media 21% 

5 KPU's English program website 83% 

6 KPU’s online Academic Calendar (with information about the English program, courses, schedules, deadlines, etc.) 48% 

7 KPU open house or events 10% 

8 KPU Educational Advising 21% 

10 Visit by KPU representative to my high school 7% 

11 Other contact with KPU representative(s), including faculty and students 17% 

12 High school teachers/counsellors 17% 

13 Other (Please specify) 7% 

 Total 29 

 

 
The total row presents the total number of respondents. The total number of responses for this question is greater than the number of 
respondents. Therefore, percentage total exceeds 100%. 

8 - Other (Please specify) 

my [Course Name Redacted] mandatory English class 
I believed it was more common sense to assume there was an English program so I looked it up online but also did through registration and 
Bachelor requirements. 

  

50



9 - How useful were each of these sources of information? 

 

51



 

# Question Not at all 
useful 

Somewhat 
useful 

Very 
useful Essential Total 

1 BC Education Planner website 0% 50% 50% 0% 2 

2 BC Transfer Guide website 0% 0% 100% 0% 1 

3 Program advertising (including pamphlets) 0% 38% 50% 13% 8 

4 Social media 0% 83% 17% 0% 6 

5 KPU's English program website 4% 21% 46% 29% 24 

6 KPU's online Academic Calendar (with information about the English 
program, courses, schedules, deadlines, etc.) 0% 29% 21% 50% 14 

7 KPU open house or events 0% 0% 100% 0% 3 

8 KPU Educational Advising 17% 0% 33% 50% 6 

9 Visit by KPU representative to my high school 0% 0% 50% 50% 2 

10 Other contact with KPU representative(s), including faculty and 
students 0% 0% 20% 80% 5 

11 High school teachers/counsellors 0% 20% 40% 40% 5 

12 Other (Please specify) 0% 0% 50% 50% 2 

 

  

52



10 - Which of the following influenced your decision to enroll in KPU's English Program? 
Please select all that apply. 

 

 

53



# Which of the following influenced your decision to enroll in KPU's English Program? Please select all that apply. - 
Selected Choice Percentage 

1 Career prospects/earning potential 67% 

4 Ease of transfer from/into other institutions 11% 

5 Family/friends in the same program 15% 

6 Level of credential offered 19% 

7 Program admission requirements 26% 

8 Program’s connections to the discipline/sector 15% 

9 Qualifications for programs of advanced study (i.e. graduate school, PDP) 41% 

10 Range of program resources and services 11% 

11 Recommendations from family/friends 19% 

12 Recommendations from high school teachers 19% 

13 Recommendations from professionals in the discipline/sector 19% 

14 Reputation of instructors 44% 

15 Reputation of program 19% 

16 Small class size 74% 

17 Success of program graduates 19% 

18 Other (Please specify) 19% 

 Total 27 
 

The total row presents the total number of respondents. The total number of responses for this question is greater than the number of 
respondents. Therefore, percentage total exceeds 100%. 

10 - Other (Please specify) 

Passionate Professors in the classroom 

I felt it complimented my Journalism major 

English courses offer a different type of critical thinking and analysis in comparison to Math 

I just like English, and KPU was the cheapest institution in my area 

Genuine interest 

  

54



11 - How important was each of the following in your decision to enroll in KPU's English 
Program? 

 

55



 

# Question Not at all 
important 

Somewhat 
important 

Very 
important Essential Total 

1 Career prospects/earning potential 0% 28% 44% 28% 18 

2 Ease of transfer from/into other institutions 0% 67% 33% 0% 3 

3 Family/friends in the same program 25% 25% 0% 50% 4 

4 Level of credential offered 0% 40% 40% 20% 5 

5 Program admission requirements 0% 14% 29% 57% 7 

6 Program’s connections to the discipline/sector 0% 25% 0% 75% 4 

7 Qualifications for programs of advanced study (i.e. 
graduate school, PDP) 0% 27% 36% 36% 11 

8 Range of program resources and services 0% 0% 67% 33% 3 

9 Recommendations from family/friends 0% 60% 0% 40% 5 

10 Recommendations from high school teachers 0% 20% 60% 20% 5 

11 Recommendations from professionals in the 
discipline/sector 0% 20% 40% 40% 5 

12 Reputation of instructors 0% 8% 58% 33% 12 

13 Reputation of program 0% 20% 40% 40% 5 

14 Small class size 0% 20% 45% 35% 20 

15 Success of program graduates 20% 0% 60% 20% 5 

16 Other (Please specify) 0% 0% 20% 80% 5 

 

12 - Thinking of KPU's English Program as a whole, how satisfied are you with the 
following? 

 

56



 

# Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied nor 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 Relevance of program curriculum 
to my career goals 0% 7% 14% 43% 36% 28 

2 Prerequisites that prepare me for 
more advanced courses 0% 0% 18% 46% 36% 28 

3 Level of ability required to succeed 
in the program 0% 0% 7% 57% 36% 28 

4 Range of courses offered each 
term 7% 36% 14% 36% 7% 28 

5 The preparation I am receiving to 
achieve the career I want 0% 14% 14% 64% 7% 28 

 

13 - How would you rate the course offerings in KPU’s English Program? 

# How would you rate the course offerings in KPU’s English Program? Percentage 

1 Inadequate 14% 

2 Adequate 64% 

3 Excellent 21% 

 Total 28 

 

14 - What course offerings, if any, do you feel are missing from the program? 

What course offerings, if any, do you feel are missing from the program? 

More interesting and less repetitive higher level courses. For example, I have taken so many British Lit.  courses because there are not 
enough other options. 
I wish there were course offerings about literature outside of just the western world. Maybe Asian literature (not Asian studies) or just 
other literature courses that aren't American, Canadian, or British. Sure it is an English course but I believe offering courses that study 
literature from other parts of the world would be beneficial so students gain new perspectives. 
extra 4th year classes during the summer 

Critical Theory is not offered enough, and when it is offered, the professor has horrible reviews. 
I think the frequency of the classes offered is too far between. As someone who loves books and movies, having classes like [Instructor 
Name Redacted] who offers horror book and movie classes is so awesome and makes learning fun and exciting. It makes you want to be 
there in the class, hanging on to every word of wisdom she has to offer and share. 
Many of the required courses are offered once a year. At times, these courses were full leading to wait a full year to get into the course. 
Moreover, the summer semester lacks many courses while the fall and spring have amazing courses, making it difficult to narrow down 
from the multiple courses I wish to take. While, my summer semester is basically a 'get through'. 
More film courses!!! 
Taking all the English Qualifying classes in my first semester. Instead, I've only taken one English Qualifying class in my third semester to get 
into my second class for my Major. 
I know that the English department is currently working on this, but I would like to have more exposure to marginalized voices in literature. 
I would like to learn more about Asian and African cultures through literature. 
Most English courses end up overlapping in their focus on dominant/colonial voices and perspectives. So literally any courses that don't 
focus on white men's experiences would be an improvement. The sheer volume of these kinds of courses compared to courses focussing on 
other perspectives is what makes this a problem. If we could get some courses focussed on the experiences and works of a broader range 
of people, then maybe it wouldn't feel like we're getting the 1980's version of an education. 

57



Summer semester, not a big variety 
As much as I feel it would be difficult to actually make, I think there should be a course that students could use their own literature for 
rather than specific topics given by the professor. Sort of letting students express themselves with material they are familiar with while 
working on essay writing skills and such. 
World Literature course: works of European and Asian writers. 
I think KPU does a good job offering essential courses when it comes to and English degree, but I personally feel that they lack more 
concentrated areas of studies for specific interests. There are a lot of literature and reoccurring themes that tends to overlap with previous 
courses as well. It makes classes feel mundane and more of an obligation than genuine interests. Courses with more niche and dedicated 
studies to different genres could feel more interesting. 
Required courses like film theory or critical theory are rarely offered and so hard to get into, because they fill up fast. 
I feel like there are so many entry level courses that upper level courses are not as many. As someone who knows a lot of people who are 
going into upper years at university, I feel like there should be a greater variety like there if for lower lever courses. They are just as 
important, and it can be a bummer when those who need certain courses can't get in becuase there is not enough space. 
There’s not enough upper level classes being offered each semester so it is difficult to finish the degree on time and within my specified 
concentration of film 

 

Q15 - To what extent do you see increasing expectations in the following areas from 
second, to third, to fourth-year courses (if applicable)? 

 

Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the 

frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  

 

58



# Question Not at 
all 

A small 
extent 

A moderate 
extent 

A large 
extent Total 

1 Analytical reading skills 0% 21% 39% 39% 28 

2 Background knowledge (literary, historical, cultural context, 
etc.) 0% 32% 43% 25% 28 

3 Complexity of thought and expression 0% 11% 50% 39% 28 

4 Integration of research into assignments and writing 0% 7% 54% 39% 28 

5 Writing expectations (length and quality) 0% 14% 57% 29% 28 

 

16 - To what extent is KPU’s English Program helping you develop the following learning 
outcomes? 

 

 

 

  

Communicate clearly, coherently, 
and concisely, considering 
audience, purpose, and rhetorical 
context, in written and oral form 

Demonstrate critical thinking and 
reasoning skills in reading, 
comprehending, and evaluating 
texts and contexts. Interpret and 
analyze texts from a variety of 
critical and theoretical 
perspectives 

Identify the main critical traditions 
and movements that have 
influenced the study of literature 
and film 

Analyze the social, historical, 
cultural, philosophical, and/or 
economic influences on literature 
and narrative 

Identify and reflect upon 
differences of perspective and 
experience arising from race, 
class, gender, sexuality, and 
culture 

Frame and investigate relevant 
research questions to draw upon 
and document primary and 
secondary resources to develop 
original analyses, interpretations, 
and arguments 

59



Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the 
frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  

# Question Not 
at all 

A small 
extent 

A moderate 
extent 

A large 
extent Total 

1 Communicate clearly, coherently, and concisely, considering audience, 
purpose, and rhetorical context, in written and oral form. 0% 4% 46% 50% 28 

2 
Demonstrate critical thinking and reasoning skills in reading, comprehending, 
and evaluating texts and contexts. Interpret and analyze texts from a variety 

of critical and theoretical perspectives. 
0% 4% 50% 46% 28 

3 Identify the main critical traditions and movements that have influenced the 
study of literature and film. 4% 18% 39% 39% 28 

4 Analyze the social, historical, cultural, philosophical, and/or economic 
influences on literature and narrative. 0% 21% 36% 43% 28 

5 Identify and reflect upon differences of perspective, and experience arising 
from race, class, gender, sexuality, and culture. 4% 11% 36% 50% 28 

6 
Frame and investigate relevant research questions to draw upon and 

document primary and secondary resources to develop original analyses, 
interpretations, and arguments. 

0% 25% 36% 39% 28 

 

17 - To what extent is KPU’s English Program helping you develop the following essential 
skills? 

 

60



Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the 
frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  

# Question Not at all A small extent A moderate extent A large extent Total 

1 Oral communication 19% 26% 41% 15% 27 

2 Written communication 0% 4% 30% 67% 27 

3 Reading comprehension 4% 4% 33% 59% 27 

4 Group collaboration 7% 33% 44% 15% 27 

5 Independent learning 0% 0% 48% 52% 27 

6 Critical analysis 0% 0% 37% 63% 27 

7 Problem resolution 4% 26% 41% 30% 27 

8 Creativity and innovation 0% 22% 33% 44% 27 

9 Leadership skills 19% 33% 30% 19% 27 

10 Intercultural skills 7% 11% 56% 26% 27 

 

18 - What other essential skills and/or knowledge would you like to get out of the 
[Credential from Question 1]? 

I wish I could gain more knowledge on other people's opinions and analysis of readings. Many students don't speak so there is no 
knowledge gained on different perspectives on readings sometimes which is something I enjoy gaining. 
Becoming an English professor 

critical thinking 

A helpful transition into Education Programs 

From my personal perspective, the English program has been phenomenal and I am unable to think of anything that is lacking 

More Special Topics classes for the following genres of surrealism, murder mysteries, and religious texts. 

oral communication skills 

Leadership and intercultural skills. 

I think more public speaking would be useful. I have barely done any of that 

Teamwork 

Just being able to analyze, and portray my thoughts and ideas in creative and professional ways. 

How whitewashing of literature has effected us - not talked about often enough 

  

61



19 - Thinking of KPU's English Program as a whole, how satisfied are you with the 
following? 

 

 

# Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied 
nor dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 
Availability of the required courses I 
need to complete the program in a 

timely manner 
15% 7% 15% 41% 22% 27 

2 Ability to choose courses to customize 
my education according to my interests 4% 26% 11% 33% 26% 27 

3 Number of 3000-4000 level courses 
offered each term 15% 19% 7% 52% 7% 27 

  

62



20 - What scheduling/ course selection barriers have you faced as you have moved 
through the English degree. Please select all that apply. 

 

 

# What scheduling/ course selection barriers have you faced as you have moved through the English degree. Please select 
all that apply. - Selected Choice Percentage 

1 The course(s) I wanted weren’t offered in the semester I wanted to enroll in 100% 

2 The course or section I wanted was cancelled 8% 

3 All sections were full 67% 

4 The sections available couldn’t fit my course schedule 50% 

5 The sections available conflicted with my work schedule 42% 

6 The section with the instructor I wanted was not available 50% 

7 Other, please specify 8% 

 Total 12 

 
The total row presents the total number of respondents. The total number of responses for this question is greater than the number of 
respondents. Therefore, percentage total exceeds 100%. 

63



20 – Other, please specify 

Registration for upper class rn is later that new students - 100 level students should have last pick and 4th year should have first pick so on and 
so forth 
 

21 - When the COVID-19 pandemic ends, how likely would you be to take 2000-4000 
courses online? 

 

# When the COVID-19 pandemic ends, how likely would you be to take 2000-4000 courses online? Percentage 

1 Not at all likely 33% 

2 Somewhat likely 11% 

3 Very likely 19% 

4 Extremely likely 37% 

 Total 27 

 

22 - Overall, how satisfied are you with KPU's English Program curriculum? 

 

 

# Overall, how satisfied are you with KPU's English Program curriculum? Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 0% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 4% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 8% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 42% 

5 Very satisfied 46% 

 Total 26 

  

64



23 - Thinking of KPU’s English Program's curriculum as a whole, please highlight the 
strengths of the program. 

The strength of the program is how the professors will guide you to create stronger analysis and connections during discussions of readings 
during class time. 
Availability of courses is quite good at all levels 
The strength of the teachers, it is clear they are passionate what they do and they are always helpful and encouraging. Not degrading like 
other facilities I’ve attended. 
Many of the professors are amazing and have good reviews on Rate My Prof. The content that professors use are usually very interesting. 
Each professor I have had is so enthusiastic about there topic in literature, it is such a good feeling to walk into the class and have your prof 
excited to share their knowledge and favourite books. It makes me excited to learn and more passionate they are, the more passionate i 
feel. Each class the professor has thoughtfully put together a semester of building on new ideas or topics that can be applied to the 
discipline as a whole. 
Various genres range from Canadian/American literature to speculative fiction; some of the classes are offered almost every semester.  -A 
good handful of decent profs to take classes with, mainly during the Spring/Fall semesters. -KPU does a fantastic job putting a lot of 
emphasis on how important it is to take English courses, whether or not students are intending to Major/Minor in English and want to take 
one English class for the credit. -Every class provides students with a review of the MLA writing style, which is very important. 
The biggest strength of the program is the variety of classes they offer on different topics. 
I think there are many courses to appeal to a multitude of students. The professors work with students to help remind or teach proper 
citations as well as proper writing for different types of essays. 
good prof and course choice, small cohorts 

A reasonable number of courses are offered 

I personally find that small class sizes for an English program is one of the greatest strengths for KPU. 
The teachers are very passionate and knowledgeable about what they teach. [Instructor Name Redacted] middle ages class, [Instructor 
Name Redacted] children’s literature class, [Instructor Name Redacted] modernism classes all stand out to me because the professors’ 
love and enthusiasm for the material is so outstanding. 
Made me a better reader and writer. 
The instructors are amazing and welcoming and the wide range of program opportunities (clubs scholarships bursaries and opportunities) 
are amazing 
There are a lot of key strengths of this English program.  1. Curriculum provides a diverse set of literature to study. It is never just one 
genre, or one type of culture and characters. Even If you find you don't like one book, you might find that you like something towards the 
end of the semester.  2. The instructors, while sticking to curriculum of what we have to learn sometimes give students the ability to be 
creative and have fun, and sometimes find ways to test our knowledge through ways that are not always essays. 
It has the ability to cover a wide range of topics not covered in public schools 

 

24 - Thinking of KPU’s English Program's curriculum as a whole, please highlight the areas 
for improvement. 

The area of improvement would be the lack of engagement students have. I wish there was more critical thinking happening since only a 
handful of students will share their opinions and thoughts which leads to the same ideas being shared over and over again.   Another area 
of improvement would be the pace at which things get graded. The essays and midterms should be marked before the next is due since 
there should be a chance for students to review their mistakes. 
However, the availability of specific course requirements, such as [Course Name Redacted], is not as available as it should be if it's to be a 
required course. 
I would like even more courses to be offered, especially more diverse literature courses. Though, the teachers do a great job at integrating 
really unique and engaging themes per course just more options is always nice. 
This one English professor uses a beeping timer as a personal reminder that he needs to move on from the current topic. The sound is very 
triggering. I took his course two years ago and the very thought of the constant beeping in his class still sends chills down my back. KPU 
English Program as a whole is great, but that is also because I have been fortunate enough to have a great registration time, so I was able to 
choose from amazing professors. Not the bottom of the barrel.. 
I cant say I have anything to change. 
-In the Summer semester, only a few of the classes are offered to new students and senior students, making it pretty difficult to take 
certain classes without having to wait until the Fall semester. 

65



Ways to engage and respond to the content needs to expand. Too many professors would rather you take a relativist point of view, 
neglecting the value of taking a critical lens to any given subject/issue (without the subject in question's year acting as a shield from what 
should be welcome criticism). 
I think there should be more. I cannot think of what but I do feel like something is missing and it would make the curriculum much better. 

increasing the diversity of courses that will include works of other world-famous writers (European, Asian, African) 

I wish I could take courses on literature from other cultures in translation 

It would be nice to see more concentrated studies so students can customize their degree to their interests. 
There is a lot of variety in the course selection, but nowhere to really go with it. If I want to keep learning about middle ages literature, 
there aren’t really any upper level courses for that that I’ve seen. 
Offer more courses each semester so students can graduate on time. 

None that I can think of. 
I think some improvements: 1. while oral presentations are beneficial to helping students better those skills for future jobs, I do not feel as 
if they benefit the learning aspect of the curriculum. I find while I learn, they only make me more anxious then actually helping me absorb 
information. 2. More diverse availability of curriculum for students to choose from. I feel like there is some restrictions in that area. 
Availability of courses and computer literacy of professors 

 

25 - Thinking of how the program is delivered, how satisfied are you with the following? 

 

 

  

66



 

# Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied 
nor dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 The mode (classroom, lab, online, co-op, 
etc.) used to deliver the program 0% 0% 15% 42% 42% 26 

2 My instructors’ ability to accommodate 
diverse learning styles 0% 0% 12% 42% 46% 26 

3 Opportunities for experiential learning 
(i.e. learning by doing and reflecting) 0% 4% 12% 46% 38% 26 

4 
Processes for ensuring students’ 

emotional and physical safety in the 
learning environment 

4% 0% 12% 35% 50% 26 

 

26 - Thinking of how learning is assessed in the program as a whole, how satisfied are you 
with the following? 

 

 

67



# Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied 
nor dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 The clarity of the information I 
receive on how I will be evaluated 0% 0% 8% 40% 52% 25 

2 The range of assessments that let me 
demonstrate what I have learned 0% 8% 12% 32% 48% 25 

3 The consistency of assessment 
standards throughout the program 0% 8% 12% 32% 48% 25 

4 The feedback my instructors provide 0% 0% 8% 36% 56% 25 

 

27 - Thinking of the instruction you have received throughout the program, how satisfied 
are you with the following? 

 

 

# Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied 
nor dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 My instructors’ presentation of course 
material 0% 0% 8% 44% 48% 25 

2 
My instructors’ level of information about 

current developments in the 
discipline/sector 

0% 0% 4% 44% 52% 25 

  

68



28 - Overall, how satisfied are you with the instruction you have received in KPU's English 
Program? 

 

 

# Overall, how satisfied are you with the instruction you have received in KPU's English Program? Percentage 

5 Very satisfied 50% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 46% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 4% 

1 Very dissatisfied 0% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 0% 

 Total 24 

 

29 - Thinking of how instruction is delivered across the program as a whole, please 
highlight the strengths of the program. 

clear, concise and up-to-date syllabus. Feedback from most instructors is thorough and helpful. 
How personable each professor is helps student feel comfortable when asking for help. They also always outline standards and 
expectations and offers for help. 
If everyone taught like [Instructor Name Redacted] this program would be top-notch. She is organized, clear and is very approachable. She 
does not ever make students feel bad for seeking help. Other English professors I have taken are sometimes rude and makes one feel like 
they are a bother. 
-A lot of emphasis on how to write in the MLA writing style. An amazing selection of thought-provoking literary titles is short stories, novels, 
poems, or even films/web documentaries. -Certain profs who truly understand their students and are open to ideas. -Essay thesis that is 
open to interpretation for students. -Many of the classes are asynchronous so doing the assignments anytime before the deadline is 
relieving. 
Some professors do a great job instructing. Others do not. So it is impossible to accurately assess the strengths of the program's instruction 
as a whole when those strengths are embodied disproportionately by some over others. 
A lot of the professors offer creative options to assignments as well as essays that allow students to grow and try new things. 
Basing it on all the English courses I have taken, it has been fairly great as it is. Putting it to Covid times, it was alright. They gave 
informative lectures and outside resources to help students learn better. 
professors are very knowedgable, most of them are very supportive and caring 
In my current semester, some professors are now offering multiple ways in which we can be evaluated by offering a creative assessment 
and a traditional assessment. The options for assignments helps improve the quality of learning by a lot because it keeps me more engaged 
with the creative freedom. 
Very professional instructors with the student's best interest at heart. 
All I can really remember is classes from 2020 to now. I feel like professors have been adapting well to the online method even if they are 
struggling with it. A lot of have been very understanding that there is a learning curve for all of us right now 

69



Instruction is incredible and hands on learning is combined with lectures--I like that a lot and don't think I could get it at another institution. 
KPU's english program is unique in that. 
Of course while there are instructors that are not always the best, I feel that I have had a great instructors in this program. They genuinely 
want their students to succeed, and are willing to help and give proper feedback to help them achieve better marks/grades. 
The variety of backgrounds from the teaching staff is refreshing 

 

30 - Thinking of how instruction is delivered across the program as a whole, please 
highlight the areas for improvement. 

I have no comments. 

You need to remove professors that have bad reviews from Rate My Prof. 

-For some of the Finals to be a Take-Home since many of the essays are done better without much of a restricted timeframe. 
What I noticed is some professors are not adapting well enough during Covid and they do not provide feedback at all on assignments or 
give grades back within a decent amount of time (sometimes taking monthes).  I think there needs to be some better instruction or training 
for these professors on how they can manage time better and work the site. I notice many have issues using Moodle or technology as a 
hole so that may be something to look into. 
leave some courses online 
Accessibility for texts and ways to deliver information can be improved. There are various editions of texts offered for a novel and 
sometimes professors require specific editions for novels for unimportant purposes, such as a singular picture or background knowledge. 
These things can be incorporated into the lessons as well as encourage students to do independent research, which I find professors don't 
do unless it is a research essay, to make them feel involved with their own education. 
Some more clear ways of delivering lectures. Some professors are very clear, where other ones deliver in a very unclear way. 

In regard to online learning, i’m not sure. i think professors are doing the best they can 
I really can't point at any really big improvements.  Since the pandemic I have been blessed with great English instructors. However, in the 
earlier year, before COVID, I did have a professor who really didn't take other students ideas and thoughts. You either wrote about what 
she believed or you got a not so great mark. 
Mindfulness of use of things such as scanned documents and lack of subtitles in uploaded lectures ids difficult personally. I require PDFs 
and subtitles in videos in order to focus 

  

70



31 - How satisfied are you with the following as they apply to KPU's English Program? 

 

 

# Question 
Have 

not 
used 

Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied 
nor dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 Availability of required texts and 
supplies at the KPU bookstore 4% 0% 4% 8% 67% 17% 24 

2 Classroom space 0% 0% 4% 17% 29% 50% 24 

3 Lab/computer space 25% 0% 4% 21% 29% 21% 24 

4 Learning Centre 38% 0% 0% 17% 25% 21% 24 

5 Places for students to do group or 
individual work 0% 4% 4% 29% 38% 25% 24 

6 
Support services for students 

(e.g., advising, counseling, 
financial, career services) 

21% 4% 0% 8% 46% 21% 24 

 

71



32 - How satisfied are you with the following library resources as they apply to KPU's 
English Program? 

 

 

# Question 
Have 

not 
used 

Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied 
nor dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 Books 29% 0% 0% 8% 42% 21% 24 

2 DVDs/streaming video on 
program-related topics 29% 0% 0% 13% 33% 25% 24 

3 eBooks 25% 4% 0% 4% 42% 25% 24 

4 Librarian support for 
program-related research 42% 0% 0% 4% 33% 21% 24 

5 Library orientation 25% 0% 0% 17% 38% 21% 24 

6 Online resources -  journal 
articles, etc. 0% 0% 0% 4% 46% 50% 24 

7 Study guides 42% 0% 0% 13% 21% 25% 24 

 

72



33 - How satisfied are you with the resources, services and facilities offered through 
KPU's English Program? 

 

 

# How satisfied are you with the resources, services and facilities offered through KPU's English Program? Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 0% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 4% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 13% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 46% 

5 Very satisfied 38% 

 Total 24 

 

34 - Thinking of the program's resources, services and facilities, please highlight the 
strengths of the program. 

n/a 
-Really informative and thought-provoking books selected by the school. -Very knowledgeable and helpful librarians. -An abundance of 
useful online sources for journals, articles, peer-reviewed papers, etc.  -The libraries (mainly Surrey and Langley campus) are comfortable 
and safe to stay in to study/read in. 
It has a lot of information set up to help students throughout their entire school career. 

A lot of these facilities I did not know we offer. 

I haven’t used a lot of the services but I appreciate that there is so much available to us. 
The Learning Centre and Library resources are wide-ranging and incredible. The Learning Centre has been especially valuable in an online 
environment. 
I haven't used them in a while so I can't say 

I have no option of this section - I do not often use campus services 

 

35 - Thinking of the program's resources, services and facilities, please highlight the areas 
for improvement. 

n/a 
Please stop assigning books and readings that are free. The content is usually horrible and the scanned PDF’s are extremely hard to read. I 
would rather pay money to read from something readable than something free that gives me a headache. Knowledge is not necessarily 
suppose to be free. Because if it is always free, then people do not always value it 

73



-Exclusive books are only used for a fixed number of hours, and getting a fresh new copy from online or elsewhere is hard to find. 

Cannot think of any places needing improvement. 

Communicating that these resources and services are offered can be a great help. 
All I can think of is to give more of an incentive to use them. I use the KPU online database for some research, but I also use other journal 
sites. 
I haven't used them in a while so I can't say. 

See above 

 

36 - In general, how satisfied are you with your experience in KPU's English Program? 

 

 

# In general, how satisfied are you with your experience in KPU's English Program? Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 0% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 0% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 4% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 43% 

5 Very satisfied 52% 

 Total 23 

 

37 - Thinking of the program as a whole, please highlight the strengths of the program. 

-Really awesome program with a handful of amazing profs., writing/reading opportunities, connections to potential jobs after graduation, 
and good advertising for new students to take a chance to be a part of KPU's English program! 
As I said, I think I'm more dissatisfied with the way professors handle their courses than the program itself. 

As a whole, KPU has a lot of good professors and during their lessons I can tell that they are very passionate about certain topics. 
There’s a clear outline telling me what classes I need to take, so I’m not worried about wasting money or time. The professors are all 
knowledgable and helpful and passionate about their fields. Books are pretty easy to get. 
1. Diversity of literature we study 2. Quality of instructors 

I have no further opinion differing from given answers in prior questions 

 

  

74



38 - Thinking of the program as a whole, please highlight the areas for improvement. 

Please stop asking students to do group work. It does not teach collaboration. The most dominant person always ends up taking over the 
entire group. It brings my grade down. I would prefer to learn this on the job when I am getting paid to deal with people, versus at school 
when my grades and GPA are on the line. Thanks. 
-More classes to be offered in the Summer semester. -Newer genres for upper-level classes, such as surrealism, murder-mysteries, religious 
texts, and graphic novels. 
The only thing I would like to highlight for this program is the lack of diversity in the texts students read. 
I do think there should be a course giving students free reign over which literature they get to study. Not sure if there already is one like 
that but those are my thoughts. There should also possibly be a better training for professors on how to properly use Moodle in a way that 
helps them teach us better as well as help them need to contact IT less. 
It would be great to see more diversity in professors and courses. 
Really just having more classes available at a time. It’s hard to keep waiting semester after semester for a class I need to be offered, and 
then have it fill up before my registration time. 
Would have been better if there weren't as many courses required to graduate, or if courses were offered each semester so that students 
could graduate on time. 
1. Availability of upper level courses. 2. More variety of the interesting courses. 

See above 

 

75



English Program Review - Faculty Survey Report 

The faculty survey was sent to 41 English faculty members. A total of 27 faculty members responded. The response 
rate is 66%. 

Note: The data includes open-ended comments. In order to preserve integrity and objectivity, OPA does not do value-judgment 
editing (i.e. we do not fix spelling errors, syntax issues, punctuation, etc.). Comments are included verbatim – with one 
exception: if individuals or courses are named, OPA redacts the name of the instructor or course. This rule applies to whether 
the comment is good, bad or indifferent. 

1 - Which level courses do you teach? Please select all that apply.

# Which level courses do you teach? Please select all that apply. Percentage 

1 2000 - level 73% 

2 3000 - level 62% 

3 4000 - level 31% 

4 1000 - level 88% 

Total 26 
The total row presents the total number of respondents. The total number of responses for this question is greater than the number of 
respondents. Therefore, percentage total exceeds 100%. 

76



2 - How satisfied are you with the students’ preparation for 2000-level courses? 

 

 

# Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied nor 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 Reading comprehension 0% 28% 11% 50% 11% 18 

2 Interpretation skills 0% 39% 6% 50% 6% 18 

3 Analytical skills 0% 39% 11% 39% 11% 18 

4 Clarity of written communication 0% 33% 11% 56% 0% 18 

5 Ability to use the language style, and 
vocabulary of the discipline 0% 33% 28% 39% 0% 18 

6 Ability to use the MLA format and 
citation style 6% 28% 22% 39% 6% 18 

7 Research skills 6% 33% 22% 39% 0% 18 

8 Source integration 11% 39% 6% 44% 0% 18 

  

77



3 - How satisfied are you with the students’ preparation for 3000-level courses? 

 

 

# Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied nor 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 Reading comprehension 6% 13% 19% 31% 31% 16 

2 Interpretation skills 6% 19% 19% 38% 19% 16 

3 Analytical skills 6% 19% 19% 31% 25% 16 

4 Clarity of written communication 6% 19% 6% 69% 0% 16 

5 Ability to use the language style, and 
vocabulary of the discipline 6% 13% 25% 56% 0% 16 

6 Ability to use the MLA format and 
citation style 0% 25% 25% 50% 0% 16 

7 Research skills 6% 19% 31% 38% 6% 16 

8 Source integration 0% 38% 13% 44% 6% 16 

  

78



4 - How satisfied are you with the students’ preparation for 4000-level courses? 

 

 

# Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied nor 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 Reading comprehension 13% 13% 0% 75% 0% 8 

2 Interpretation skills 0% 13% 0% 88% 0% 8 

3 Analytical skills 0% 13% 0% 88% 0% 8 

4 Clarity of written communication 13% 13% 0% 75% 0% 8 

5 Ability to use the language style, and 
vocabulary of the discipline 0% 13% 38% 50% 0% 8 

6 Ability to use the MLA format and 
citation style 13% 0% 25% 63% 0% 8 

7 Research skills 13% 13% 13% 63% 0% 8 

8 Source integration 13% 0% 13% 75% 0% 8 

79



  

80



5 - What do you think the program can do at the first and second-year levels to make 
English students more prepared for upper-level course work? 

We could develop one or more skills based 2000-level courses to replace the current survey courses. 
Students need to focus more on developing their own interpretation of texts, rather than borrowing others'. This could be achieved by 
having them engage with more contemporary texts, ones that have not been written about so much already. 
Students at the second-year level need more writing instruction. I find that students' writing skills at the second-year level aren't much 
improved from their skills at the first-year level. They also need more coaching in developing interpretive discussion so that by the time 
they begin work in upper-level courses, their writing is stronger, overall. Students taking upper-level courses should be able to develop 
strong and in-depth interpretive discussions, and they should know what a comma splice and sentence fragment are and how to avoid 
them in writing. That said, we can only accomplish so much in a 13-week survey course of 35 students, especially when we also need to 
cover a lot of ground in course content so that students are intellectually ready for upper-level course work. Perhaps if we dispensed with 
the traditional survey approach at the second-year level and taught fewer works in each course we could devote more class time to 
reinforcing the foundation in writing skills and in interpretation that students received in their first-year courses. At the first-year level, I 
think that each student would benefit from more personal, targeted, one-on-one focus in the classroom on their individual writing skills 
and assignments. Devoting such intense personal focus to writing skills in the classroom as would be needed to get students ready for 
second year, however, would be impossible to achieve with the current class size of 25 students. 
I think the program is doing everything it can, but students are coming into 1000-level courses with vastly disparate skill levels, frequently ill 
equipped to understand the material. 
More written assignments. 
I think the program is doing all it can right now. There needs to be a commitment to coherent communication from all departments in the 
institution; it can't be up to one department to ensure students can write clear, complete sentences. 
Insist that English [Course Names Redacted] be taken in the first year of the program as intended. 

Insist upon mastery of basic skills and academic writing style. 
Perhaps more focus on foundational skills and knowledge, less focus on breadth. However, this is only an idea. The question really needs to 
be researched. 
Offer an advanced composition course; advanced in the sense it does not have teach basic sentence structure 

  

81



6 - To what extent is KPU’s English Program helping students develop the following 
learning outcomes? 

 

  

 

Communicate clearly, coherently, and 
concisely, considering audience, 
purpose, and rhetorical context, in 
written and oral form 

Demonstrate critical thinking and 
reasoning skills in reading, 
comprehending, and evaluating texts 
and contexts. Interpret and analyze 
texts from a variety of critical and 
theoretical perspectives 

 

Identify the main critical traditions and 
movements that have influenced the 
study of literature and film 

 

Analyze the social, historical, cultural, 
philosophical, and/or economic 
influences on literature and narrative 

 

Identify and reflect upon differences 
of perspective and experience arising 
from race, class, gender, sexuality, and 
culture 

 

Frame and investigate relevant 
research questions to draw upon and 
document primary and secondary 
resources to develop original analyses, 
interpretations, and arguments 

82



Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the 
frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  

# Question Not 
at all 

A small 
extent 

A moderate 
extent 

A large 
extent Total 

1 Communicate clearly, coherently, and concisely, considering audience, 
purpose, and rhetorical context, in written and oral form 0% 4% 41% 56% 27 

2 
Demonstrate critical thinking and reasoning skills in reading, comprehending, 
and evaluating texts and contexts. Interpret and analyze texts from a variety 

of critical and theoretical perspectives 
0% 4% 48% 48% 27 

3 Identify the main critical traditions and movements that have influenced the 
study of literature and film 0% 19% 54% 27% 26 

4 Analyze the social, historical, cultural, philosophical, and/or economic 
influences on literature and narrative 0% 8% 42% 50% 26 

5 Identify and reflect upon differences of perspective and experience arising 
from race, class, gender, sexuality, and culture 0% 15% 50% 35% 26 

6 
Frame and investigate relevant research questions to draw upon and 

document primary and secondary resources to develop original analyses, 
interpretations, and arguments 

0% 19% 41% 41% 27 

 

7 - The Program Review Committee has identified the following updates to our current 
learning outcomes. How important are these updates to you? 

 

83



Note that “not at all important” and “somewhat important” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. 
Please use the frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all important” and “somewhat important” categories.  

# Question Not at all 
important 

Somewhat 
important 

Very 
important Essential Total 

1 Employ digital and visual literacy skills in reading, interpreting, 
analyzing, responding to, and producing a variety of texts 7% 33% 19% 41% 27 

2 Understand the history and evolution of the discipline, current 
debates, and possible futures 4% 22% 56% 19% 27 

3 
Reflect on the ways that literature, narrative, and literary study 

can uphold, challenge, represent, and question historical and 
ongoing injustices 

4% 22% 26% 48% 27 

4 
Identify and reflect upon differences in representation, 

perspective, and experience arising from race, class, gender, 
sexuality, ability, identity, and culture 

4% 15% 22% 59% 27 

 

8 - To what extent is KPU’s English Program helping students develop the following 
essential skills? 

 

84



Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the 
frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  

# Question Not at all A small extent A moderate extent A large extent Total 

1 Oral communication 0% 19% 63% 19% 27 

2 Written communication 0% 4% 33% 63% 27 

3 Reading comprehension 0% 0% 37% 63% 27 

4 Group collaboration 4% 19% 67% 11% 27 

5 Independent learning 0% 11% 52% 37% 27 

6 Critical analysis 0% 4% 41% 56% 27 

7 Problem resolution 0% 19% 78% 4% 27 

8 Creativity and innovation 0% 11% 74% 15% 27 

9 Leadership skills 4% 62% 31% 4% 26 

10 Intercultural skills 4% 26% 44% 26% 27 

 

9 - How satisfied are you with the following aspects of the program’s curriculum? 

 

85



 

# Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied 
nor dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 Its discipline/sector relevance 0% 7% 26% 26% 41% 27 

2 Its ability to adapt to discipline/sector 
changes 4% 15% 22% 37% 22% 27 

3 The use of prerequisites to prepare 
students for subsequent courses 4% 11% 30% 37% 19% 27 

4 
The way the program articulates and 

differentiates between second, third, and 
fourth year 

0% 15% 30% 37% 19% 27 

5 Its preparation of students for a career in 
the discipline/sector 4% 8% 23% 35% 31% 26 

6 Its preparation of students for further 
education 0% 12% 8% 38% 42% 26 

 

10 - How satisfied are you with the extent KPU’s English Program is including Indigenous 
content in its curriculum? 

 

 

# How satisfied are you with the extent KPU’s English Program is including Indigenous content in its curriculum? Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 4% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 26% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 33% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 30% 

5 Very satisfied 7% 

 Total 27 

  

86



Q11 - Overall, how satisfied are you with KPU’s English Program curriculum? 

 

 

# Overall, how satisfied are you with KPU’s English Program curriculum? Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 0% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 15% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 19% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 37% 

5 Very satisfied 30% 

 Total 27 

 

12 - Thinking of KPU's English Program's curriculum as a whole, please highlight the 
strengths of the program. 

American, Canadian, and Film courses available in multiple years 
Offering film courses attracts students to the program from outside English, and also engages students in material beyond traditional 
literary texts. 
A wide variety of courses encompassing English, Film, and Media 
I think we've found a nice balance between traditional & contemporary offerings, and the courses are flexible enough to allow instructors 
to teach niche areas such as horror or science fiction. 
We offer a wide range of interesting courses. 
Most of the faculty members who teach upper level courses are highly committed to their subject. They are passionate, imaginative 
teachers, who sincerely care about their students. 
We have a wide variety of course offerings. 

I appreciate the wide range of upper-level courses that students have to choose from 
Its small classes give an unrivalled classroom experience, including small-group discussions, instructor time, and more thorough written and 
oral feedback. 
Scope for the design and delivery of new courses 

Good historical breadth. 

Sense of community; freedom for individual instructors; strong leadership in the department 

Diversification of courses and perspectives across literature and film 

Core courses in essay writing and introductory literature 

The breadth of [Course Name Redacted] topics 

Dedicated instructors, increasing course options for our students, small class sizes. 

87



Faculty committed to student success. Courses designed with student interest in mind. 
The size of classes that allows for a rich instructional experience is one strength. Another is the array of talent and expertise among the 
faculty. 
Area and genre coverage is improving 

 

13 - Thinking of KPU's English Program's curriculum as a whole, please highlight the areas 
for improvement. 

Indigenous and other non-Western literary traditions not as widely covered as one would hope. 

More BIPOC-focused courses needed; more options for service learning and community engagement also needed 
Revision should be a more central part of teaching effective writing. Course content needs to reflect student needs and interests, rather 
than those of the instructor, and could be more flexible by moving beyond time and country restrictions. 
We certainly need more content with a focus on Indigenization, decolonization, anti-colonial, and intersectional justice content. We also 
need more training in these areas both for our students and instructors. 
It think it's just fine the way it is. 
But our curriculum remains rooted in a traditional model of ENGL studies that is out of date and needs to be updated to make the Major 
and Minor programs and our first-year offerings more engaging and useful for students. 
Our curriculum is old-fashioned and increasingly incoherent. Our program is still based on the canon and a nation/period model of 
literature. We should have moved on from these things years ago. We also don't have enough classes that focus on contemporary forms 
and concerns. 
More shell courses. 
The teaching experience of the faculty could be better utilized in that areas of 'specialization' to have too much weight in determining if 
faculty are 'qualified' to teach a particular course/topic 
I think a working "bank" of recently taught texts would be useful to help instructors avoid teaching the same text across several courses 
that a single student could take during their degree. 
Greater recognition that different courses may involve different objects of contemplation and different ways of knowing. 

I think we need to diversify our offerings and shift the way we group courses. 

More focus needed on digital skills and visual culure training 

More emphasis on close reading and building foundational skills of writing, analysis, synthesis in the first year 

Support for instructors 

Development of more concentration streams or offering more specific upper-level course 
More support for getting less prepared students up to speed; need for more structure and checkpoints for majors. Need to identify 21st 
century skills and revise the program to reflect the changing major. 
Diversity of course offerings in terms of race and sexuality. 
The way the program handles expertise is an issue. The outdated nature of many of the program components is an issue. The program's 
inability to create community with students due to space and facility constraints is an issue. The lack of an admin assistant who is situated 
so as to address student questions is an issue. 
There are underdeveloped areas in curriculum such as the teaching of poetry and poetics above the second year level; personal initiatives 
such as film are fun and attractive to students but quickly run away with resources 

  

88



14 - What courses or topics, if any, are missing from the program? 

Gender or queer studies 

Course(s) dedicated to Queer Studies 

A course on gender and sexuality. 
Critical Race Theory based content; Queer theory; Latin American literature; South Asian literature; Indian Writing in English; Gender and 
Sexuality; Race and Ethnicity; Class and Ideology 
graphic novel? 
We could use 2000-level courses that focus on a canon of methods rather than a canon texts. We also need to enhance our focus on 
Indigenous content from the first-year to the fourth. 
We need to have more classes that focus on the 21st century: contemporary novels, poems, plays, films, and long-form television shows. 
We also need more classes that help students develop their writing and speaking skills. 
A course on Graphic Novels/Comics literature 

More offerings in the period from the Middle Ages to the Nineteenth Century. 

Queer Literature More Indigenous content is needed Black/Afro literatures More Post-Colonial and Word Literature content is needed 

Courses focused on DH 

Gender Studies 

N/A 

A practical criticism course. A research methods course. A research and writing course. 

Postcolonialism 
Popular genres. Graphic Novels, Science Fiction, Fantasy, Horror, Queer Lit, Eco-criticism, more indigenous lit courses. More courses that 
generally match individual faculty's interests that those faculty can claim ownership of. 
New and updated course offerings should reflect department priorities of placing more focus on race, gender, and identity. I would be 
interested in adding a gender and sexuality-focused course beyond "Writing Women/Women Writing" that takes a more complex approach 
to gender. I would also like to see course offerings more explicitly focused on writers of colour - it seems to me that "Diasporic Literatures" 
would be a good place to offer a course like this, but more explicit language in the description would underscore our commitment to a 
diverse curriculum. 
20th C. Poetry and poetics; second year theory course for ENGL majors; literary and media theory [[Course Name Redacted]]; archival 
research/history of the book 

 

15 - What would a core curriculum look like in the 21st century? 

More representation of historically underrepresented literary traditions 
We need to emphasize skills, such as critical thinking, rather than requiring a fixed canon of literature, and teach texts through a lens that 
will interest students, such as focusing on social justice, identity, and diversity issues. 
A curriculum which focuses on social justice (race, class, gender), Indigenization, de/post/anti-colonialism, digital humanities, media culture 
etc. 
I'd love to see a more interdisciplinary approach in which we'd colloborate with other departments & teach common texts from different 
angles.  E.g., students in a Canadian history class might learn about the history of the periods featured in specific texts, and the instructors 
would coordinate to decide on the coverage. 
Rather than a program organized largely around national literatures and specific literary historical periods, it would make more sense to 
offer a more flexible program that focuses on giving students essential critical reading, writing and thinking skills. 
That is a huge, complex question. One suggestion would be to organize it around genre rather than great authors and historical periods. We 
need above all to ensure that students develop their communication, reading, and critical thinking skills. They do not do this by repeating 
hackneyed interpretations of the classics. 
I would like to see less emphasis on the periodization of national literatures. 

It would provide students with a strong sense of where we started from, where we are now, and how we got from the one to the other. 
A breadth of Indigenous/World literature courses (de-centre the Western Canon a bit) An emphasis on digital/information literacies 
alongside more traditional research skills. Reduce emphasis on the MLA academic paper and teach students to share their knowledge in 
different ways. 
DH + social justice foci 

89



One that recognizes we live in a digital world, and that like us, our students need a curriculum that engages with digital humanities and re-
imagines what writing in and for this discipline might look like (blogs, podcasts, Tweets, practical application of research to pre-existing 
databases etc (Wikipedia, pressbooks, and so on). 
As is. 
At the 1000-level: a course on rhetoric/composition; a course on special topics; a course on Canadian literature (with the inclusion of 
Indigenous authors). 
Perhaps one that was less focused on national literatures and the traditional canon. One that teaches analytical skills and interpretive 
strategies that can be deployed across a range of literatures. One that is aware of how technologies, new media, globalization, and social 
change are transforming literary studies.   The recent report on the changing major by the ADE should be consulted in answering the 
question. 
diverse in terms genre and region takes up race, gender, class, sexuality, ability etc as central themes makes intersections with other 
disciplines in the broader project of social justice 
It looks less constrained by time periods. It looks more inclusive than past curriculum. It includes representation of marginalized groups. It 
includes more courses on trans-historical ideas, genres, groupings, and concepts that are germane to 21st century life. It continues to offer 
courses on historical literatures, but some of those courses include DH and other innovations in the field. It doesn't rely on canonicity as a 
default. It involves many canons and canon-breaking. It maintains a focus on how story and narrative shape our lives. It maintains a focus 
on critical and analytical reading and writing. It focuses on developing these skills as opposed to developing a content-based knowledge of 
the history of literature. This can be done in Chaucer as well as in Eco-critical Lit. 

 

16 - Thinking of how the program is delivered, how satisfied are you with the following? 

 

 

  

90



# Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied 
nor dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 
The range of modes (classroom, lab, 

online, co-op, etc.) used to deliver the 
program 

0% 7% 19% 26% 48% 27 

2 The extent to which diverse learning styles 
are accommodated 0% 7% 30% 37% 26% 27 

3 
Processes for ensuring the emotional and 
physical safety of students in the learning 

environment 
0% 11% 26% 22% 41% 27 

4 Opportunities for experiential learning (i.e. 
learning by doing and reflecting) 0% 11% 41% 26% 22% 27 

 

17 - Considering the English Program’s assessment methods as a whole, how satisfied are 
you with the following? 

 

 

91



# Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied 
nor dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 
The extent to which students are provided 

clear information on how they will be 
evaluated 

0% 4% 11% 30% 56% 27 

2 
The extent to which assessment methods 

support program competencies and learning 
outcomes 

0% 7% 22% 30% 41% 27 

3 

The extent to which assessment methods 
allow students to demonstrate their 

attainment of program competencies and 
learning outcomes 

0% 4% 22% 37% 37% 27 

4 The extent to which assessment standards are 
consistent throughout the program 15% 19% 30% 30% 7% 27 

 

18 - Considering how instruction is delivered across the English Program as a whole, how 
satisfied are you with the following? 

 

 

92



# Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied 
nor dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 Instructors’ collective expertise to deliver 
the curriculum 0% 7% 7% 19% 67% 27 

2 Instructional methods that facilitate 
student learning 0% 4% 11% 33% 52% 27 

3 
Instructional methods that facilitate 

students’ progression through the 
program 

0% 7% 19% 30% 44% 27 

4 
Instructional methods that prepare 

students for subsequent levels of 
undergraduate coursework 

0% 22% 4% 26% 48% 27 

 

19 - Overall, how satisfied are you with the instruction delivered across the program? 

 

 

# Overall, how satisfied are you with the instruction delivered across the program? Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 0% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 4% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 22% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 30% 

5 Very satisfied 44% 

 Total 27 

 

20 - Thinking of how instruction is delivered across the program as a whole, please 
highlight the strengths of the program. 

Instructors are able to be innovative in areas that they are knowledgeable and passionate about. 

Small classes allow instructors to provide opportunities for students to learn actively. 

Instructors have the freedom to try new approaches and, on the whole, are very student-centred. 

We have a large number of experienced and skilled instructors with expertise in many different areas. 

There are a lot of excellent teachers in the program. Almost everybody seems to care about what they are doing. 
We have a wide and diverse range of areas of expertise, as well as of teaching methods, in our department's instructors, which enriches the 
student experience in our program. Our instructors are also tirelessly devoted to helping students improve in their understanding of 
curriculum and in their writing skills. Our instructors are very personable and are able to develop the kind of relaxed classroom atmosphere 
essential to student learning. 

93



This is a difficult (even confusing) question to answer, as it presumes that we know how our colleagues operate within their own courses, 
something we are only rarely privy to. 
The engagement of instructors with their areas of knowledge, and their commitment to student success. 

Expertise of the faculty; 

Strongly skilled and committed faculty 
The willingness of instructors to adapt to the current learning environment. The enthuasism of instructors to continue improving their 
pedagogy. 
Instructors' interest and dedication to students 

Instruction is adaptive and very collaborative among faculty 
Faculty with diverse life and educational experiences. Many faculty who are dedicated to pedagogy and to research in their fields. Faculty 
who are passionate about student experience. 

 

21 - Thinking of how instruction is delivered across the program as a whole, please 
highlight the areas for improvement. 

Upper-level instructors invest a great deal of time in developing courses that they may not get to teach very often. 
A continuation of more online and hybrid options. A move away from relying on essay writing as the main mode for students to 
demonstrate knowledge. 
Due to the workload involved in teaching upper-level courses, some instructors prioritize those over their first-year courses and spend very 
little time revising their materials to meet the changing needs of students. 
More could be done to enable instructors to teach courses that reflect their expertise. 
Standards have become increasingly inconsistent. Some instructors are giving A's to papers that would receive C's from other instructors, 
and so on. There could be better communication between instructors about students, assessment, and content. 
The department needs to draw more widely on the variety of instructors it has for upper-level teaching. There are a few instructors in the 
department who seem to teach an upper-level course every teaching term, and sometimes more than one. This approach limits the variety 
of instructors, perspectives, and approaches that students receive in their education in our program. A wider variety in instructors, 
perspectives, and approaches would enrich the overall student experience in our program. 
Consistency in grading remains an issue, though each time this is addressed in faculty meetings and in marking sessions, the best we can do 
is *acknowledge* the issue. 
Greater communal awareness of what all of the different left hands and right hands are doing. 
We need a greater diversity in perspectives and methods among our instructors, and a greater consistency in what we ask our students for 
and how we assess it. 
There is a need for more uniformity regarding the assessment or evaluation of student writing across all course sections. 

The pandemic has forced some of this already; increased faculty competence in online pedagogy from Moodle and beyond 

Faculty may need further administrative support 
In my view, the greatest challenge is in [Course Name Redacted]. Delivering content that is actually useful for students who are prepared 
for university, but that is even moderately comprehensible for the large number of students who are not faintly prepared for courses in 
English, is an ongoing challenge that is perhaps unresolvable until we institute adequate support for unprepared students. 
More communication between instructors about content, approaches, grading, etc. 

Collaboration also means there is a tendency to police other faculty's teaching. 
Scaffolding across 2-4th year could be improved. Second-year courses should be taught by faculty who have some degree of expertise. 
Faculty should have more opportunities to share resources and strategies. 

  

94



22 - How satisfied are you with the following as they apply to KPU’s English Program? 

 

 

# Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied 
nor dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 Availability of relevant texts and 
supplies at the KPU bookstore 4% 37% 30% 19% 11% 27 

2 Classroom space 4% 38% 12% 42% 4% 26 

3 Lab/computer space 4% 19% 41% 22% 15% 27 

4 Learning Centre 0% 7% 15% 44% 33% 27 

5 Places for students to do group or 
individual work 15% 11% 19% 44% 11% 27 

6 Support services for students (e.g. 
counseling, advising, finance, career) 4% 7% 15% 41% 33% 27 

  

95



23 - How satisfied are you with the following library resources as they apply to KPU’s 
English Program? 

 

 

# Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied nor 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 Books 0% 4% 19% 37% 41% 27 

2 DVDs /streaming video on 
program-related topics 0% 4% 26% 33% 37% 27 

3 eBooks 0% 0% 26% 19% 56% 27 

4 Librarian support for program-
related research 0% 0% 11% 11% 78% 27 

5 Library orientation 0% 0% 15% 15% 70% 27 

6 Online resources – journal 
articles, etc. 4% 0% 4% 19% 74% 27 

7 Study guides 0% 0% 37% 4% 59% 27 

  

96



24 - Overall, how satisfied are you with the resources, services and facilities that are 
specific to the English Program? 

 

 

# Overall, how satisfied are you with the resources, services and facilities that are specific to the English Program? Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 0% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 7% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 11% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 52% 

5 Very satisfied 30% 

 Total 27 

 

25 - Thinking of the program’s resources, services and facilities, please highlight the 
strengths of the program. 

Pleased with library resources and increase in counselling support 

Library orientation sessions, Writing labs, and help from the Learning Centre are great resources for our students. 

I usually have everything I need to do my job. 
English students are well supported by resources in the library, and by faculty, staff and peer tutors working in the Learning Centre. 
Librarians and counsellors also provide them with valuable. 
The libraries are well stocked and well run. The librarians are responsive and helpful. 

The library is wonderful at acquiring resources necessary for our program. Our liaison librarian does a fantastic job in acquisitions. 

The library--its staff and resources--are tremendous assets. 

I cannot praise highly enough the library and the folks who work there. 

Good liaison with library 

The English Writing Labs are an incredible opportunity for the students to develop their composition skills. 

The library and learning centres are stellar. 

The Library and Learning Centre are fantastic resources. 

  

97



26 - Thinking of the program’s resources, services and facilities, please highlight the areas 
for improvement. 

Our department needs a dedicated space for students to congregate, such as a lounge with coffee/tea and a bookcase with donated books 
to browse. 
We could find time/space for more help from the library. One session per term does not seem enough. 

It would be great if faculty and students had a space to gather and if faculty offices were less spread out. 

The English department would benefit from a designated space for faculty and students such as exists in HIST, PSCH, CRIM, etc. 
Some of the rooms on the Richmond campus are too small, have poor air circulation, and little to no natural light. This does not help the 
overall classroom experience. 
The English Department needs more control over the vetting and hiring of peer tutors in the Learning Centre, particularly if those tutors are 
given the responsibility of helping our students with their writing. Second, I realize that this is outside of the department's control, but we 
desperately need a pod and more appropriate classroom space in which to deliver our courses. I can think of one classroom on the third 
floor of Fir building, in particular, that is too small to do group work with students effectively. Having a pod would help strengthen our 
identity as a department and give students a central meeting space within our department in order to strengthen their sense of belonging. 
We need more computers/computing facilities on the different campuses. 

We need more office space and a student/faculty lounge. 

Classroom spaces can be improved (some are so small!) 

More access to faculty resources among our group 

It would be worthwhile to look into developing an OER to be used across [Course Name Redacted] classes. 

Better journal access is required 
IT supports (technical and educational) are often defensive and non-responsive: unresolved tickets closed; arbitrary restrictions on e-
classroom software; entrapment practices regarding phishing emails. 
The space crunch for classrooms, offices, and study space is a huge hindrance. Having a department hub of some description would allow 
for more team-building and student connection. We were once promised the use of the room that is now used as a prayer space. The 
prayer space is ineffectively situated because students cannot properly complete their ablutions in the nearby bathroom. It is not 
functioning well as a prayer space, and the English and Philosophy Departments do not have a hub for community. This means no one's 
needs are being fully met. 

27 - In general, how satisfied are you with your experience in KPU’s English Program? 

 

 

# In general, how satisfied are you with your experience in KPU’s English Program? Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 4% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 7% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 4% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 48% 

5 Very satisfied 37% 

 Total 27 

98



28 - Thinking of KPU's English Program as a whole, please highlight the strengths of the 
program. 

The vast majority of instructors care about teaching and student success, and work to improve their teaching skills. 

The program is quite strong; it is also evolving and moving in a good direction. 
We have a lot of input into our schedules, there's a nice atmosphere of collegiality and respect, & there's a lot of support for new ideas & 
teaching methods, and there's clear leadership.  I'm very proud of our department! 
In a relatively short period of time, we have developed a program with courses that range from medieval studies to cross-cultural world 
literature. And we have seen steady growth in the number of students who have chosen either to major or minor in ENGL. 
In general, I feel the department runs quite well. We have a lot of excellent teachers and offer some amazing courses. Our English majors 
get a good deal compared to what I have seen in other English departments.  Although I don't feel it is a particularly close-knit department, 
there have been, in my time, very few serious conflicts amongst the faculty members. 
The majority of the faculty are deeply committed to KPU's students and to teaching as a vocation. [Instructor Name Redacted] has been a 
tremendous Chair of the department: patient, resourceful, an excellent communicator, and a strong advocate for Arts in general and the 
department in particular. 
The greatest strength s the people who are serious, even passionate, about what they are doing. 
Incredible faculty with demonstrative expertise in their areas; a sense of community among faculty members who go above and beyond to 
help colleagues. 
Diverse range of offerings, expertise, and pedagogical approaches, including opportunities for experiential learning and other opportunities 
for professional growth for students (Film journal section for undergrad research, the opportunity to be part of theatrical productions, etc) 
Great students and faculty 

Commitment to preparing students for their studies across university faculties (writing across the disciplines approach). 

Small class size, dedicated instructors, good grounding in historical literary periods 
Dedicated faculty are the strength of the program. The potential film stream or concentration will be a boon to the department in terms of 
enrolment. This will help us to offer a larger array of courses to our students. The MSJ journal is another fantastic innovation that we 
should promote more. We also have faculty who are creating unique experiential opportunities within and without the department. 
Diversity of offerings is improving 

 

29 - Thinking of KPU's English Program as a whole, please highlight the areas for 
improvement. 

We should move away from a focus on specific texts and traditions and toward a focus on skills taught through material that will engage 
and excite students. Focusing more on revision and on methods beyond essays for students to demonstrate their knowledge. 
There is much room for incorporating BIPOC subject matter and hiring BIPOC to teach the same. 
I think we should market what we do a little better so that students and others in the KPU community understand the value of it.  Perhaps 
we could add videos or other materials to our website that underscore the importance of the skills we teach, such as interviews with 
alumni about the kind of writing they needed to do once they joined the workforce. 
Because of the way the program has developed, it lacks coherence in some areas and remains rooted in a traditional approach to English 
studies that may have made sense when we launched the BA Major in English, but this approach, with its emphasis upon national literature 
literatures and narrowly defined literary historical periods, already seems dated. 
The issue of standards won't go away--this problem has become even more serious with the influx of international students over the last 
decade. By giving high marks, some instructors are undercutting the "tough" instructors without intending to.  One final thought: I found 
some of the questions on the survey hard to answer. It's difficult to generalize about students and the student experience, for instance. The 
top 10 to 30% in my upper-level classes are excellent and get a lot out of the program--the bottom 10 to 30% do not get much out of it, and 
so on. Similarly, I find it hard to generalize about our courses. I hear that people are doing wonderful things, but I honestly don't know 
much about what is happening in other instructors' classrooms. 
The further development of new courses/certificates. 
There could be more continuity between different sections of the same course ([Course Name Redacted]). The department faculty can 
become more diversified in the future. There can often be a sense of discontinuity between faculty members who have been in place for a 
long time ad new faculty members. 
Nothing comes immediately to mind, aside from the fact that our students need as much writing support as possible in the first year, and 
that grading standards need to be more consistent and clear for the first year and beyond. 

99



More support for faculty in ensuring students' academic honesty and protecting faculty from student harassment regarding grade 
increases. 
Investing in hiring new faculty members that bring additional qualifications and expertise to the department and program. 
Rethinking foundations and the core curriculum--what do students need now? Striking a balance between traditional foundations in key 
movements, works, histories, and new foundations in a wider range of literatures, new media, and new practices.  More emphasis on 
writing skills as a necessary outcome of the program. 
The program is entering a new phase of its development. For the first time, we are offering a fairly substantial array of courses each 
semester. We can continue to grow by building community with students, increasing course offerings in popular areas, offering popular 
courses more often, targeting students from other areas who may be interested in our electives, building relationships with cognate 
disciplines, celebrating teaching, recognizing service, and respecting research (in the broadest sense). 

 

100



English Program Review - Alumni Survey Report 

The alumni survey was sent to 169 English alumni. A total of 43 alumni responded. The response rate is 25%. 

Note: The data includes open-ended comments. In order to preserve integrity and objectivity, OPA does not do value-judgment 
editing (i.e. we do not fix spelling errors, syntax issues, punctuation, etc.). Comments are included verbatim – with one 
exception: if individuals or courses are named, OPA redacts the name of the instructor or course. This rule applies to whether 
the comment is good, bad or indifferent. 

1 - What is the highest credential you have earned in KPU’s English Program?

# What is the highest credential you have earned in KPU’s English Program? Percentage 

1 Bachelor's degree: Major in English 81% 

2 Bachelor's degree: Minor in English 14% 

3 Associate of Arts in English 5% 

Total 43 

2 - When did you complete this credential?

# When did you complete this credential? Percentage 

1 2020 19% 

2 2019 21% 

3 2018 16% 

4 2017 5% 

5 2016 7% 

6 2015 14% 

7 2014 19% 

Total 43 

101



3 - How much of an obstacle has each of the following been to the successful/timely 
completion of your degree? 

 

Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the 
frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  

# Question Not at all A small extent A moderate extent A large extent Total 

1 Availability of courses 14% 49% 33% 5% 43 

2 Flexibility of scheduling options 21% 44% 30% 5% 43 

3 Working while going to school 28% 28% 23% 21% 43 

4 Financial issues 35% 23% 16% 26% 43 

  

102



4 - Please include any additional comments on the obstacles you may have faced during 
your studies here. 

I was single parenting in the beginning stages of my degree when my son was still a pre-teen/teenager. 
The registration numbers one receives can be a major determinant in how easily one progresses through their degree. Trying to get a 
particular course in the summer semester that works with one's work schedule and isn't fully waitlisted by the time your registration period 
comes up can be like threading a needle with boxing gloves on. 
More classes during semesters with different teachers. 
Working while attending school was necessary but detrimental to my education. I saved for several terms and was able to complete one of 
my final terms without working, and the experience was transformative relative to those where I was working. I understand tuition expense 
is not KPU's fault but that of the gov't; however, it needs to be stressed by those with the loudest voices (i.e. the institutions, 
administration and faculty) that the federal and provincial gov't need to better fund post-secondary education to lessen the financial 
burden of tuition. 
lack of choices for 3000/4000 courses. Felt i didn't have much choice on what to take for those levels when they are supposed to be a 
'specialty' decision 
No obstacles 
I was unclear about how the university functions and how I was to go about my studies. Advisors did not take kindly to questions like "what 
are credits", "what is a degree",  etc. 

 

5 - How many hours a week did you work? 

# How many hours a week did you work? Percentage 

1 Less than 5 hours 0% 

2 5-10 hours 5% 

3 11-20 hours 42% 

4 More than 20 hours 53% 

 Total 19 

 

6 - Did you do work associated with the field? 

# Did you do work associated with the field? Percentage 

1 Yes 11% 

2 No 89% 

 Total 19 

  

103



7 - To what extent did KPU’s English Program help you develop the following learning 
outcomes?  

 Communicate clearly, coherently, 
and concisely, considering audience, 
purpose, and rhetorical context, in 
written and oral form 

Demonstrate critical thinking and 
reasoning skills in reading, 
comprehending, and evaluating texts 
and contexts. Interpret and analyze 
texts from a variety of critical and 
theoretical perspectives 

Identify the main critical traditions 
and movements that have 
influenced the study of literature 
and film 

Analyze the social, historical, 
cultural, philosophical, and/or 
economic influences on literature 
and narrative 

Identify and reflect upon differences 
of perspective and experience arising 
from race, class, gender, sexuality, 
and culture 

Frame and investigate relevant 
research questions to draw upon and 
document primary and secondary 
resources to develop original 
analyses, interpretations, and 
arguments 

104



Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the 
frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  

# Question Not 
at all 

A small 
extent 

A moderate 
extent 

A large 
extent Total 

1 Communicate clearly, coherently, and concisely, considering audience, 
purpose, and rhetorical context, in written and oral form 0% 11% 32% 58% 38 

2 
Demonstrate critical thinking and reasoning skills in reading, comprehending, 
and evaluating texts and contexts. Interpret and analyze texts from a variety 

of critical and theoretical perspectives 
3% 0% 34% 63% 38 

3 Identify the main critical traditions and movements that have influenced the 
study of literature and film 0% 8% 47% 45% 38 

4 Analyze the social, historical, cultural, philosophical, and/or economic 
influences on literature and narrative 0% 21% 34% 45% 38 

5 Identify and reflect upon differences of perspective and experience arising 
from race, class, gender, sexuality, and culture 3% 16% 32% 49% 37 

6 
Frame and investigate relevant research questions to draw upon and 

document primary and secondary resources to develop original analyses, 
interpretations, and arguments 

5% 13% 37% 45% 38 

 

8 - To what extent did KPU’s English Program help you develop the following essential 
skills? 

 

105



Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the 
frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  

 

# Question Not at all A small extent A moderate extent A large extent Total 

1 Oral communication 5% 26% 53% 16% 38 

2 Written communication 0% 8% 21% 71% 38 

3 Reading comprehension 3% 16% 24% 58% 38 

4 Group collaboration 8% 26% 34% 32% 38 

5 Independent learning 3% 11% 32% 55% 38 

6 Critical analysis 3% 8% 29% 61% 38 

7 Problem resolution 5% 24% 46% 24% 37 

8 Creativity and innovation 8% 16% 45% 32% 38 

9 Leadership skills 24% 34% 29% 13% 38 

10 Intercultural skills 8% 50% 24% 18% 38 

 

9 - How would you rate the course offerings in KPU’s English Program? 

# How would you rate the course offerings in KPU’s English Program? Percentage 

1 Inadequate 6% 

2 Adequate 64% 

3 Excellent 31% 

 Total 36 

 

10 - What course offerings, if any, do you feel are missing from the program? 

Considering the pop-cultural footprint of some stories, it's a bit strange to me that so few ENGL offerings involve study of authors/works 
more immediately recognizable to the student body.  I understand it may be considered more valuable to study "[Course Name 
Redacted]," and aggressively avoid something too 'obvious' or 'lowbrow'...but surely there's value in teaching greater literacy through 
things a student may already be familiar with? 
More diverse offerings, more frequently 
If you want to become a teacher through the UBC program, you have to take 4 more courses because the courses don't overlap to UBC's 
standards... I think fixing this gap would be beneficial to your English students as many of them do go on to teaching. 
I would have loved a secondary, more in-depth theory class to explore further. Additionally, I took one world literature class and would 
have loved to have taken more. I notice that this is something now being offered as second-year English theme; I'm happy it's finally 
happening! 
Work co-op experience, something that could give English majors some experience with their degree that can be taken to the work field. 
More classical studies and how they relate to and influence subsequent literature.  If students are required to take a feminist course, please 
separate out the "gender studies" aspect into a separate course. 
More focus on critical analysis and critical theory. There is too much subject matter in these areas to fit in one course over one semester, 
and the material covered is some of the most significant of all four years. It is an underappreciated/underrated area of study in the English 
program that deserves more attention. 
20th Century British literature 

Courses that can directly teach how these critical skills can be applied in industry. 

Focus on International literature, Focus on real world writing/publishing 

106



More courses on the classics. 

Diversity of Courses.  [Instructor Name Redacted] classes had the most diversity and learning. 

More 3rd and 4th year class options each term would be helpful. 
A course focussing on Indigenous stories and storytelling would be an excellent addition to the program.  Additional offerings looking at 
diverse cultures and communities. 
Appreciation of Western Civ (and capitalist ideology). Freedoms allowed through the tenets of Western Civ (ie: the value of free speech as a 
tool to discuss new/different ideas without fear of violent reprisal) There is far to pervasive a "push" for courses (and ideological bent 
towards) that laud marxist/communist/socialist, instersectional, racial identitarian ideals with no corresponding representation of the 
merits of Classical Liberal ideologies.  The former supports many anti-individual policies and is, frankly, racist and separatist; the latter 
promotes the value of the individual and judging people for their personal attributes/decisions/acts rather than seeing them only as part of 
their "group." 
More Critical Theory courses, African American Literature, & Diaspora Literatures. 
more critical studies, world literatures, literatures in translations, intersections of literatures and philosophy, and literatures with other 
disciplines. 

 

11 - To what extent do you see increasing expectations in the following areas from 
second, to third, to fourth-year courses (if applicable)? 

 

Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the 
frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  

107



# Question Not at 
all 

A small 
extent 

A moderate 
extent 

A large 
extent Total 

1 Analytical reading skills 6% 20% 46% 29% 35 

2 Background knowledge (literary, historical, cultural context, 
etc.) 3% 26% 51% 20% 35 

3 Complexity of thought and expression 3% 23% 46% 29% 35 

4 Integration of research into assignments and writing 9% 17% 37% 37% 35 

5 Writing expectations (length and quality) 9% 14% 46% 31% 35 

 

12 - If there was a particular topic/area that was missing from KPU's English Program that 
would have helped you prepare for related work or further study, please tell us about it. 

The professor's that I had were all amazing! 
Since ENGL is often assumed as a sort of "default" for BA, it could be of use to find a place to teach writing things like cover letters. There's 
resources aplenty for this elsewhere, but it seems like "[Course Name Redacted]" isn't well-represented in ENGL when it could be fairly 
useful and integrate nicely with journalism et al. 
I think crossing over between the English Dept. and the Education Dept. would be amazing! How to Teach Writing, How to Teach Reading, 
etc.   I took a diaspora literature course, but I would love to see the American & Canadian Lit classes be more diverse, and even more 
contemporary. 
Cultural Studies programs, Gender Studies, and auto-theory 
More required courses in the curriculum from the COMM and CMNS departments. I took numerous courses from these areas as electives, 
and I cannot stress how much they helped me apply and develop concepts from the core ENGL curriculum and prepare me for professional 
life. 
The writing that the English department teaches is centered around writing for academia. Extension courses that teach how to apply this to 
other fields would have been helpful to prepare me for the workplace. 
I feel like there was no co-op, on the job opportunities or even a jobs course to find out what to do with the English degree (ie. publishing, 
post-grad, editing, social work etc.). Many of my cohort went on into teaching but there was never discussion on what else one could do 
post-graduation.  How to make it relevant to the real world 
Nothing was missing. 

I would have liked to see more modern literature courses. 

A class dedicated to speech writing and oritory skills. 
I felt that the level of writing and analysis was incredibly disappointing and that the discussions from many of the classes were simplistic 
and superficial.  Often, as well, there was a fairly clear "correct" answer from the instructors.  As such, the lesson was not that one should 
strive to analyze a work from different positions, but that one should write an essay which fulfilled the grading criteria in regards to the 
expected outcome of the work.  It should also be made clear by the instructor that essays will not be taken as the opinion of the writer.  
Too often an essay of controversial content may be taken as that of the author though it is actually merely an intellectual exercise to argue 
for (or against) a novel/unpopular opinion.   Instructors should not dock marks or discourage students from using completely acceptable 
language because it conflicts with their personal beliefs/politics (ie: saying "don't use the word "Indian" for indigenous people when 
"Indian" is the actual Canadian legal term, or saying the student should not use "he" as the general term for someone of unknown gender 
when that IS a completely acceptable use of the word based on any known dictionary). 
Perhaps, having an English course that is geared towards how to teach the subject area? 

  

108



13 - Thinking of KPU's English Program as a whole, to what extent would you agree with 
the following? 

 

 

# Question Strongly 
disagree 

Somewhat 
disagree 

Neither agree 
nor disagree 

Somewhat 
agree 

Strongly 
agree Total 

1 The program prepared me for the career I 
wanted 8% 6% 19% 39% 28% 36 

2 The program prepared me for further education 3% 6% 11% 31% 50% 36 

3 The time I invested in my English education was 
well spent 6% 8% 6% 25% 56% 36 

4 The money I invested in my English education 
was well spent 6% 3% 19% 33% 39% 36 

5 
The program provided me with opportunities 

for experiential learning (i.e. learning by doing 
and reflecting) 

17% 19% 6% 33% 25% 36 

  

109



14 - Overall, how satisfied were you with how KPU's English Program prepared you for 
work and/or further education? 

 

 

# Overall, how satisfied were you with how KPU's English Program prepared you for work and/or further education? Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 9% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 11% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 11% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 34% 

5 Very satisfied 34% 

 Total 35 

 

15 - Thinking of KPU’s English Program as a whole, please highlight the strengths of the 
program. 

Passionate and supportive professors. Supportive, caring and positive school environment. Small class sizes. Diverse English courses 
offered. 
As usual, the professors. A colourful cast of characters with a wide range of skillsets and intimate knowledge of their subject areas. You can 
almost always trust them to pass along something enriching after your time's through. 
Best professor ever is [Instructor Name Redacted]. I started at KPU absolutely hating English and writing. [Instructor Name Redacted] is 
super passionate and that rubbed off on me and made me want to pursue a minor in English. If it wasn’t for him, I am not sure I would have 
done an English minor. 
The staff is incredible! Wonderful, passionate professors! 
I think the majority of the faculty was approachable and because it is a fairly small facility, I felt like they could see me grow through each 
course if I repeated a teacher.  I think the community of the department was important, especially when we lost a classmate in one of my 
last years.  It was nice to see faculty at her funeral. I also kept in touch with [Name Redacted] through out my post-Kwantlen journey into 
teaching before she passed, and I know other former classmates are still connected with other faculty. I think that is so important. 
It exposed me to different kinds of literature which I appreciate in those regards 
Excellent professors with diverse knowledge. Most are willing to take time with students to address questions and I appreciate 
opportunities that some instructors provided in extra-curricular activities (e.g. publishing and writing for an academic journal) 
The third/fourth years classes were much more interesting, especially since you can see teachers enjoying themselves when class 
discussion become lively 
Most of the instructors I had in the KPU English Program really seemed to care about their students and teaching them. 

Small classroom sizes and great profs. 
Most of the teachers were wonderful and all were enthusiastic. Most of my teachers kept their students engaged while still letting them be 
creative and independent. I liked the variety of topics covered, especially the courses that contained new content e.g. general Renaissance 
literature vs just Shakespearean plays. Courses where we were able to come up with out own paper topics or study things we don't 

110



normally cover were especially fun. The development of critical thinking skills was both fun and the most useful part of the program both 
for school and for work. 
Courses like critical theory and upper level seminars are great examples of what makes the English program valuable, assuming they are 
taught by passionate and engaged faculty. 
Small class size and the quality of the instructors. 

Teachers are eager to help you succeed and help you improve. Upper level course selection was good and lots of options. 
It gave me critical analysis skills, reading comprehension and synthesizing skills, alongside research skills that I find to be invaluable 
regardless of the industry that I enter. 
Excellent professors and excellent guided feedback on writing and composition skills. 

The English program improved my critical thinking skills and improved my ability to communicate my ideas concisely through writing. 
Primarily the instructors were really great. [Instructor Names Redacted] were really engaging and helpful. Courses I really enjoyed were 
[Course Name Redacted] 3rd year and a 3rd year [Course Name Redacted] as well. 
Excellent professors! Topics presented required deep analysis and synthesis to produce a well-researched essay. Small class size. 

The groups of people who were involved in the courses. 
I really enjoyed the relationship I was able to build with my instructors. I took many courses with some of them and I appreciated being 
able to go to office hours and have that support 
The faculty, for the most part, were excellent and the courses were diverse. As well, my writing and communication skills greatly improved 
due to the skill and professionalism of the professors. 
The class sizes and instructors are the biggest strengths of the program. The instructors are knowledgeable and approachable. 

[Instructor Name Redacted]. 

Caring, inspiring instructors;  some interesting and very unique courses available 

The small class sizes, excellent professors, and the course offerings. 

instructors who care. 

 

16 - Thinking of KPU’s English Program as a whole, please highlight the areas for 
improvement. 

Possibly more theatre related English courses, that could use creative expression to embody the literature being studied; poetry courses. 
As said, I believe the course variety in ENGL is sometimes weirdly restrictive, if not outright redundant. I feel like certain times periods, 
countries, and authors get left out for no reason other than the nebulous idea of teaching "[Course Name Redacted]." Strikes me as 
transient. 
The course selection should be more diversified. Every semester there would be multiple sessions and courses focused on 
English/European literature, but only a handful of courses focused on literature from different cultures and perspectives (for example: 
women’s writing, Indigenous literature, cross cultural literature). I personally sought out the latter and they were the most valuable to me. 
They taught me about the effects of patriarchy and white supremacy, and how to think critically about topics like racism, sexism, and 
classism. These courses taught be how to be a better English student and consumer of literature, but also how to be a better person. The 
program should move towards being more diverse and inclusive, and making courses like these requirements- especially since most people 
who are in the English program want to become educators. 
I honestly do not remember. My biggest criticism was of specific teaching styles, but that is here nor there. 
I was really disappointed in how academic advising was done and I found many of the teachers to be subjective in their marking in which if 
you didn’t have the same argument as them they gave you a lower mark.   I also found based on the career I want I wasn’t given proper 
advice or help so I’m now having to go back to school again. 
I would love  to see more ways that the English program can be applied to outside careers - maybe co-op opportunities? 
I didn't feel I was prepared to take this degree on its own into the work field. If anything I felt I needed to do a another minor or major to 
qualify to do anything that wasn't geared towards teaching. Even writing job want to see a creative writing degree. 
When I was there it was moving away from critical and artistic appreciation of English literation, toward the technical and easily digestible 
which was a real disappointment. 
I found the women in literature course lacking, mostly because it felt it should be split into 2 courses if the teacher felt the need to ask 
"what is a woman" when no one asks "what is a man" in other courses. I would also have liked to see more classical studies offered to 
provide a base knowledge of the origins of literature and how patterns developed over the centuries. Please get rid of group projects. 

111



More guided breadth, such as BUQU, BUSI, CMNS, COMM, ECON, POLI, POST, PHIL. Essentially the BA framework is too open ended and 
the English major too narrow. One or the other needs to give to ensure a more well-rounded result. This could be with "pick lists" of 
courses where you choose one of a group to help guide students toward valuable breadth studies. 
Offering courses more frequently. 

Figuring out how to apply these skills was a steep learning curve that the program didn't prepare me for. 
I really believe it should add something to direct students on how to utilize their writing skills + critical thinking skills for getting work after 
graduation if they are not going into teaching. It felt like if one was not going into teaching or going onto a Masters, there was not much 
guidance. 
Sometimes in the upper-level courses, there were not a lot of options to choose from. 
I found that the 1st year English courses were not a engaging.  I much more enjoyed electives in my 1st and 2nd year compared to the 
English courses available in the program. Also, my final 4th year English course was a Shakespeare course and by that time it was my 4th or 
5th time covering Shakespeare. It would have been nice to have covered more contemporary authors in literature. I feel like the only time I 
got to do that was in my Canadian literature courses and I would have liked to have more opportunities for study in that field. 
It was great overall. 

The availability of courses, the flexibility of courses, the increase in courses, the diversity of courses. 

I would like to see more courses offered in general, especially for third and fourth year. 
A focus on "real world" application is needed. Courses on speech writing, oritory skills, and other forms of technical writing would serve 
students well. 
Far too pervasive socialist/marxist/identitarian ideologies.  As a male student I was told in class that I would be called on after females had 
had their chance first (note that in the english courses I took, EVERY SINGLE ONE had less males than females).  I was also told in some 
courses that I spoke too often.  So I had to hold my peace while we waited for others to speak up.  As adults, they should not be coddled by 
professors in such a way and the instructors should make it clear that if the student does not speak up, they are assumed to have nothing 
to add to the discussion. 
How often a course is offered 

Include more critical theory courses as well as an advanced research and writing course. 

more collaborative aspects, communal aspects of education that go beyond the university enclosures. 

 

17 - Do you have any additional comments relating to KPU’s English Program? 

It would be wonderful to see more opportunities for Master programs in the department. 
I enjoyed my education at Kwanlten and sometimes I wish I could take another course here or there for interest. I would love to see 
Kwantlen Expand and offer Master's programs or Professional Masters (like Queen's does online). 
I really enjoyed my time in KPU English. I originally planned to do minor in English (with a History Major), but I loved English so much that I 
did a double major.  Thank you KPU English professors for making literature so appealing! 
I did the Associate of Arts degree at KPU then transferred to SFU to finish my undergrad degree (I transferred mostly because I wanted to 
take SFU's publishing program). I entered directly into third year at SFU, and I felt like my writing skills were below par compared to my 
classmates at SFU. I learned a bit while at KPU, but I definitely feel like I should have learned more about critical evaluation of texts, using 
and citing sources in effective ways, and other key skills for writing English papers. Perhaps that is taught more in the later years of the 
program, but I felt unprepared after I transferred. 
I would love to see more interdisciplinary collaboration. The skills and outcomes at the heart of the English program are present in other 
departments such as philosophy, sociology, and both communications theory and applied communications. Break down the walls and 
embrace courses from other departments, acknowledging that they can often satisfy similar outcomes as pure ENGL courses. 
The KPU English faculty were excellent and dedicated teachers. 
Perhaps some co-op opportunities would allow students to better understand some of the unique careers that students majoring in English 
Literature can acquire. This would also help students better apply their learning in practice. 
I really enjoyed my time at Kwantlen and absolutely loved the English program, but I ended up not using my degree to its full effect and 
now am attempting to move on into another discipline. 
Keep up the good work! 

[Instructor Names Redacted] were great professors, for different reasons, and I still use and appreciate what they taught me. 
I felt that this program was mainly "killing time and spending money."  To progress to another level of education, or to get a job, the degree 
is necessary but there was little actual learning that took place.  I feel no smarter or more educated than I did when I began.  In fact, 
although I was quite eager to get in and take some courses when I began, my interest in the field as a whole was downgraded throughout 
my time at KPU due to the extensive racist/separatist/marxist ideologies (including intersectionalism and critical race theory) that I 

112



encountered among many (most) of the instructors at the school.  I was made to feel as though I was a pariah and that all other groups 
were placed ahead of me because they were "marginalized."  However, the fact that doing so made me "marginalized" was lost on virtually 
everyone.  I expect that this comment will be tossed aside under the premise that this is simply me being unaware of the privilege that I 
normally had and that I need to learn to give up some of my power in society so that minorities and under-privileged group can also "stand 
in the sun."  My experience in life has shown me that only the "correct" complaints will ever be addressed and therefore my comments will 
amount to nothing.  My experience at KPU has shown me that homeschooling and avoiding University allow one to develop a far better 
breadth, and depth, of education. 

 

18 - Are you currently employed? 

# Are you currently employed? Percentage 

1 Yes 80% 
2 No 20% 
 Total 35 

 

19 - Which of the following best describes your current employment situation? 

# Which of the following best describes your current employment situation? Percentage 

1 In a full-time regular position 52% 
2 In a part-time regular position 26% 
3 In a contract position 15% 
4 In a casual or temporary position 7% 
 Total 27 

 

20 - In which of the following sectors was the most recent position related to your field of 
study? Please select all that apply. 

 

# In which of the following sectors was the most recent position related to your field of study? Please select all that apply. - 
Selected Choice Percentage 

1 Education 58% 

2 Non-Profit/Community Services 15% 

3 Government 23% 

113



4 Research Services 0% 

5 Business 4% 

6 Communications/ Public Relations 8% 

7 Other (Please specify) 19% 

 Total 26 
The total row presents the total number of respondents. The total number of responses for this question is greater than the number of 
respondents. Therefore, percentage total exceeds 100%. 
 

20 - Other (Please specify) 

Retail 

Security Site Supervisor 

PhD student and self-employed freelancer 

Planner with a Provincial Health Authority 

Higher Education, adult education, schooling 

 

21 - What is your current position? 

Balding for Dolls Administrator 

Teacher 

Grade 6 Teacher 

Cashier 

Information Services - Public library and Library Technician for a school district 

Site supervisor 

PhD student and freelance fiction editor 

Planner 

Disclosure Coordinator 

Faculty (academic) advisor 

University Instructor 

Elementary school teacher 

Border Services Officer 

Tutor (waiting to get into a teaching program) 

Program Coordinator 

English Tutor 

N/A 

Teacher 

Cyber Security Coordinator 

Secondary School Teacher 

Teacher 

High School Teacher 

Teaching Assistant & Lecturer 

teaching assistant in adult education; admin assistant in higher ed 

 

114



22 - Could you specify the organization where you are currently employed? This 
information will help us better determine KPU graduates’ career trajectories. 

BC Children’s Hospital charity for oncology/ hematology/BMT patients and their families. I coordinate fundraising activities, events, and 
help define the programs/funds spent.I am the main point of contact between donors, participants of our events, supporters and some 
families. 
Langley District 

SD36 

Canadian Tire 

Surrey Libraries and Langley School District 

Paladin security 

University of Toronto and self-employed 

First Nations Health Authority 

Organized Crime Agency of BC (police agency) 

KPU 

UBC 

Surrey school district 

Canada Border Services Agency 

Sylvan Learning 

Semiahmoo House Society 

Self-employed 

City of Vancouver and New Westminster 

Surrey School District 

BCLC 

Richmond School District #38 

Surrey School District 

Simon Fraser University 

VSB and UBC 

  

115



23 - Where is the organization located? Please select all that apply. 

 

# Where is the organization located? Please select all that apply. - Selected Choice Percentage 

1 Abbotsford/Mission/Chilliwack 8% 

2 Burnaby/New Westminster 15% 

3 Coquitlam/Port Coquitlam/Port Moody 4% 

4 Delta (North Delta, Ladner, Tsawwassen) 4% 

5 Langley/Aldergrove 15% 

6 North Vancouver/West Vancouver 4% 

7 Pitt Meadows/Maple Ridge 4% 

8 Richmond 15% 

9 Surrey/South Surrey/Cloverdale/White Rock 46% 

10 Outside the Lower Mainland. (Please specify where) 15% 

11 Vancouver 27% 

 Total 26 

116



 
The last row presents the total number of respondents. The total number of responses for this question is greater than the number of 
respondents. Therefore, the percentage total exceeds 100%. 

23 - Outside the Lower Mainland. (Please specify where) 

Toronto 

I'm currently in Toronto but my work is done in BC (Province-wide) 

Across Canada 

Kamloops 

 

24 - Were you previously employed? 

# Were you previously employed? Percentage 

1 Yes 86% 

2 No 14% 

 Total 7 

 

25 - In which of the following sectors were you previously employed? Please select all 
that apply. 

 

# In which of the following sectors were you previously employed? Please select all that apply. - Selected Choice Percentage 

1 Education 33% 

2 Non-Profit/Community Services 17% 

3 Government 17% 

4 Research Services 17% 

117



5 Business 0% 

6 Communications/ Public Relations 33% 

7 Other (Please specify) 33% 

 Total 6 

 
The last row presents the total number of respondents. The total number of responses for this question is greater than the 
number of respondents. Therefore, the percentage total exceeds 100%. 

25 - Other (Please specify) 

Journalism 

Various part-time work, most recently sub-contracted custodial 

 

26 - Have you pursued further education since completing KPU’s English Program? 

# Have you pursued further education since completing KPU’s English Program? Percentage 

1 Yes 46% 

6 No 54% 

 Total 35 

 

27 - Please list the name of the program and the institution where you enrolled after 
completing KPU’s English Program. 

Focus@Work Program - YWCA 

BCIT- social media & marketing certification 

Teaching Program UBC 

SFU - PDP Program (Bachelor of Education) 

Ubc Spanish minor 

Simon Fraser University and University of Toronto 

Langara, SFU, then UBC 

SFU professional development program 

Saskpolytechnic --Welding/Metal Fabrication 

UBC - Faculty of Education 

Bachelor's of Education Program at The University of British Columbia 

UBC 

BEd in Secondary English UBC 

English, Simon Fraser University 

UBC EDST MA 

  

118



28 - What is the highest credential you have earned or are currently earning since 
completing KPU’s English Program? 

 

# What is the highest credential you have earned or are currently earning since completing KPU’s English Program? - 
Selected Choice Percentage 

3 Diploma 6% 

4 Associate’s Degree 6% 

5 Bachelor’s Degree 44% 

6 Master's Degree 19% 

7 Doctorate 6% 

8 Professional designation (Please specify) 6% 

9 Other (Please specify) 13% 

 Total 16 

 
 

28 - TEXT - Professional designation (Please specify) 

Professional designation (Please specify) - Text 

BEd 

 
 

119



28 - Other (Please specify) 

Certificate 

Adult upgrading 

 

29 - How satisfied are you with the opportunities you have to stay connected to KPU’s 
English Program? 

 

 

# How satisfied are you with the opportunities you have to stay connected to KPU’s English Program? Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 6% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 11% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 60% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 14% 

5 Very satisfied 9% 

 Total 35 

 

30 - What can KPU’s English Program do to build better connections with alumni? 

Once Covid19 has improved in our communities, it would be lovely to see more social events to gather, social, network and even enjoy 
learning from a guest speaker. Online events would be fun too during the pandemic! 
I hate getting the phone calls.  I would love an email of what alumni "perks" there are and how to be involved besides donating money. 

I don't currently know of any. 
Offer meaningful ways to get involved besides just financial donations and alumni events. Requests for program feedback (like this, but 
more often than just during program review), follow ups regarding instructor assessments (it's honestly amazing that some faculty are still 
teaching despite clear critical feedback), and instructors supporting students through low-hanging fruit such as LinkedIn connections and 
referrals/recommendations would be a few ways that might catch my attention. 
I know none of what other alumni are doing. I don’t have an answer but build community or host events maybe ? 

Social media groups, gatherings, events, etc. 
I get alumni emails but never anything focused on English. I'd love to do some networking events or newsletters about what's going on in 
Writing/English/Communications circles. 
It’s doing a good job already. 

Have more events. 
Not ask for money, most graduates I know are broke and have neither the money or inclination to donate even if we enjoyed our 
education. 

120



Don't drive people like me away with divisive ideologies spouted by ardent devotees of "philosophers" like Foucault and others. 

involve alumni as part of events, panel discussions, peer advising 

 

121



English Program Review - Discipline Survey Report 

The discipline/sector survey was sent to 47 English discipline representatives. A total of 7 representatives 
responded. The response rate is 15%.  

Note: The data includes open-ended comments. In order to preserve integrity and objectivity, OPA does not do value-judgment 
editing (i.e. we do not fix spelling errors, syntax issues, punctuation, etc.). Comments are included verbatim – with one 
exception: if individuals or courses are named, OPA redacts the name of the instructor or course. This rule applies to whether 
the comment is good, bad or indifferent. 

1. What are your research and teaching areas?

Contemporary British Literature & Film Screenplay Studies / Print & Film Culture Malcolm Lowry 

Indigenous Education; literacy; Indigenous knowledges and pedagogies 

Medieval literature and book history 

Medieval English literature. 

Academic writing, teacher education and refugee education 

Contemporary literature, cultural studies, psychoanalysis 

English literature; book history; academic writing/rhetoric/writing studies 

2. How many graduate/post-baccalaureate students have you supervised or taught in the
last five years?

# How many graduate/post-baccalaureate students have you supervised or taught in the last five years? Percentage 

1 1-3 14% 

2 4-6 0% 

3 7-9 0% 

4 10-19 57% 

5 20-29 0% 

6 30 or more 29% 

7 None/Not Applicable 0% 

8 Do not know 0% 

Total 7 

122



3. Considering the needs and expectations of your program/institute, how important is it 
for an entering graduate/post-baccalaureate student to be able to demonstrate the 
following? 

 

 

 

  

Communicate clearly, coherently, and concisely, 
considering audience, purpose, and rhetorical 
context, in written and oral form 

Demonstrate critical thinking and reasoning 
skills in reading, comprehending, and evaluating 
texts and contexts. Interpret and analyze texts 
from a variety of critical and theoretical 
perspectives 

Frame and investigate relevant research 
questions to draw upon and document primary 
and secondary resources to develop original 
analyses, interpretations, and arguments 

Identify the main critical traditions and 
movements that have influenced the study of 
literature and film 

Analyze the social, historical, cultural, 
philosophical, and/or economic influences on 
literature and narrative 

Understand the history and evolution of the 
discipline, current debates, and possible futures 

Employ digital and visual literacy skills in reading, 
interpreting, analyzing, responding to, and 
producing a variety of texts 

Identify and reflect upon differences in 
representation, perspective, and experience 
arising from race, class, gender, sexuality, ability, 
identity, and culture 

Reflect on the ways that literature, narrative, and 
literary study can uphold, challenge, represent, 
and question historical and ongoing injustices 

123



# Question Not at all 
important 

Somewhat 
important 

Very 
important Essential Total 

1 Communicate clearly, coherently, and concisely, considering 
audience, purpose, and rhetorical context, in written and oral form 0% 0% 0% 100% 7 

2 
Demonstrate critical thinking and reasoning skills in reading, 

comprehending, and evaluating texts and contexts. Interpret and 
analyze texts from a variety of critical and theoretical perspectives 

0% 0% 14% 86% 7 

3 
Frame and investigate relevant research questions to draw upon 

and document primary and secondary resources to develop original 
analyses, interpretations, and arguments 

0% 0% 29% 71% 7 

4 Identify the main critical traditions and movements that have 
influenced the study of literature and film 0% 29% 0% 71% 7 

5 Analyze the social, historical, cultural, philosophical, and/or 
economic influences on literature and narrative 0% 29% 0% 71% 7 

6 Understand the history and evolution of the discipline, current 
debates, and possible futures 0% 14% 43% 43% 7 

7 Employ digital and visual literacy skills in reading, interpreting, 
analyzing, responding to, and producing a variety of texts 0% 43% 14% 43% 7 

8 
Identify and reflect upon differences in representation, perspective, 

and experience arising from race, class, gender, sexuality, ability, 
identity, and culture 

0% 0% 29% 71% 7 

9 
Reflect on the ways that literature, narrative, and literary study can 

uphold, challenge, represent, and question historical and ongoing 
injustices 

0% 0% 43% 57% 7 

 

  

124



4. Considering the needs and expectations of your program/institute, how important is it 
for an entering graduate/post-baccalaureate student to be able to demonstrate the 
following skills? 

 

 

125



# Question Not at all important Somewhat important Very important Essential Total 

1 Oral communication 0% 0% 71% 29% 7 

2 Written communication 0% 0% 14% 86% 7 

3 Reading comprehension 0% 0% 14% 86% 7 

4 Group collaboration 0% 29% 57% 14% 7 

5 Independent learning 0% 0% 14% 86% 7 

6 Critical analysis 0% 14% 0% 86% 7 

7 Problem Resolution 0% 14% 71% 14% 7 

8 Creativity and innovation 0% 14% 43% 43% 7 

9 Leadership skills 0% 43% 57% 0% 7 

10 Intercultural skills 0% 14% 0% 86% 7 

 

5. How important is it for an entering graduate/post-baccalaureate student to be able to 
demonstrate an understanding of Indigenous content? 

# How important is it for an entering graduate/post-baccalaureate student to be able to demonstrate an understanding of 
Indigenous content? Percentage 

1 Not at all important 0% 

2 Somewhat important 14% 

3 Very important 71% 

4 Essential 14% 

 Total 7 

 

6. What specific English courses and/or topics are helpful for an entering graduate/post-
baccalaureate student to have in your program? Please indicate both required and 
desired courses/topics. 

Critical literacy; composition; academic reading 
Because graduate study usually entails selecting a specific area of focus, I would encourage students to get a wide background as 
undergrads, including Indigenous and non-Indigenous content. If students are interested in a specific area, obviously they should focus on 
that as well, but a strong field background will helpful moving forward. I would also strongly advise students interested in grad school to 
gain a foothold in contemporary critical theory. 
I am in the Faculty of Education.  Students who apply to become an English teacher would need an English minor or major which is 
comprised of 40 English credits-- 18 lower division "core" courses in English and 32 credits in an area of specialization. For undergraduates 
in Education and other majors, they must take an academic writing course if they have low writing skills or score low on the IELTS or other 
ESL tests. For graduate students in Arts Education, they may need Creative Writing courses. 
Canadian and Indigenous literatures literary theory historical surveys world literature creative writing 
A course in which they were able to work with primary source (ideally archival and/or special collections) materials; a course that required 
a lengthy research essay. 

 

7. What other skills, training or knowledge should an entering graduate/post-
baccalaureate student have to be accepted into your program/institution? 

N/A 

126



Writing skills are paramount here. Students in our grad program will be expected to write more or less constantly, and having a strong set 
of research and writing skills will help them a great deal. 
For entry into the teacher education program, students would do well to take courses in working with multicultural/multilingual students; a 
course in literacy, education and culture; equity and education; child psychology; children's literature (for elementary school teachers) and 
advanced composition; Canadian, English and American literature; young adult literature and contemporary short story, poetry, creative 
non-fiction, plays, novel studies and journalism (for secondary school teachers) would help but are not required.  Our teacher education 
program is very competitive. 
Strong writing, research, and reading skills; understanding of intellectual property; understanding of the history of English studies as a 
discipline with a complex history. 

 

8. What are the emerging trends in the discipline that KPU English students should be 
prepared for? 

Literatures by Indigenous peoples and other minoritized groups 
Indigenous literatures are increasingly important to literary study, a recognition which is long overdue in the academy. I would also point to 
the increasing emphasis on social justice issues and critical approaches that recognize the importance of intersectionality. 
The university is still very conservative, but there are many instructors who are more attune to digital literacies and what is happening in 
the art world that influences literature and how it is evolving through new modalities. 
research creation indigenous methodologies digital humanities 

Book history/textual studies; critical race theory. 

 

9. How familiar are you with KPU’s English Program? 

# How familiar are you with KPU’s English Program? Percentage 

1 Very familiar 0% 

2 Moderately familiar 14% 

3 Slightly familiar 29% 

4 Not at all familiar 57% 

 Total 7 

 

10. When you think about KPU’s English Program, what are the top three characteristics 
that come to mind? 

Characteristic #1 Characteristic #2 Characteristic #3 

teaches students to write well good area coverage innovating and critical thinking 

 

11. Have you worked with, supervised or taught KPU English alumni? 

# Have you worked with, supervised or taught KPU English alumni? Percentage 

1 Yes 29% 

2 No 71% 

 Total 7 

 
127



12. Which of the following best describes your previous experience with KPU English 
alumni? 

# Which of the following best describes your previous experience with KPU English alumni? Percentage 

1 I have worked with and/or supervised KPU English alumni 0% 

2 I have taught KPU English alumni 50% 

3 Both 50% 

 Total 2 

 

13. Based on your experience, how prepared were these KPU English alumni? 

# Based on your experience, how prepared were these KPU English alumni? Percentage 

1 Not at all prepared 0% 

2 Somewhat prepared 0% 

3 Very prepared 100% 

4 Extremely prepared 0% 

 Total 2 

 

14. Please comment on these KPU English alumni. Please highlight any strengths you 
have observed. 

I have worked with two students that I know are from KPU's ungergrad program. Both of them have been excellent grad students and were 
as prepared for grad study as many students from other competitive institutions. 
One student came highly recommended into our MA program & is now doing a PhD: very smart; two others are creative writers, one of 
whom has done very well academically & the other who is just in their first year. They think critically, can write well, and the writers in 
particular are up to speed on contemporary poetry. 

15. Please comment on these KPU English alumni. Please highlight any suggestions you 
have for improvement. 

I do not have specific suggestions for improvement. 

 

16. How effectively do you think KPU's English Program engages with the discipline and 
broader communities? 

# How effectively do you think KPU's English Program engages with the discipline and broader communities? Percentage 

1 Not at all effectively 0% 

2 Somewhat effectively 100% 

3 Very effectively 0% 

4 Extremely effectively 0% 

 Total 3 

128



 

17. What can KPU’s English Program do to build better connections with the discipline? 

This is a difficult question to answer. I'm not that familiar with KPU, and I'm not sure how I can suggest improvements. 

Sorry, I don't know. 

re. the previous question, I guess I don't know much about what profile KPU has in Lower Mainland writing or academic circles. 

 

18. Do you have any additional comments relating to KPU's English Program? 

Not qualified to comment. 

 

129



2019/20  

UFV Factbook 

Prepared by 

Institutional Research and Planning 

2019 - 20  

UFV Factbook 

130



Table of Contents 

Notes and Terms 

1. Student Headcount

Unduplicated Headcount by Student Type 

Unduplicated Headcount in Chandigarh 

Headcount by Credential Type 

Unduplicated Headcount by Credential Type 

Headcount by Credential Type and Program 

Unduplicated Headcount by Credential Type and Program 

Headcount, by Major, for Bachelor’s Degrees in Arts, Business Administration, 

Fine Arts, and Science 

Headcount, by Major and Program, for Bachelor’s Degrees in Arts, Business 

Administration, Fine Arts, and Science 

2. Course Registrations

Registrations by Semester 

Summer Registrations by Part-of-Term 

Summer Registrations by Credential Type 

Fall Registrations by Credential Type 

Winter Registrations by Credential Type 

Trades Registrations by Credential Type 

3. Full Time Equivalent Students (FTEs)

Historical FTEs Counted Towards the Ministry of AEST Target  

Historical International FTEs 

Graph: Historical (Actual) FTEs Counted Towards the Ministry of AEST Target 

by Fiscal Year 

FTEs by Student Type 

FTEs by Campus 

FTEs by Course Level 

FTEs by Course Department 

FTEs by Credential Type and Program 

4. Graduates

Graduates by Credential Type 

Graduates by Credential Type and Gender 

Average Age of Graduates by Credential Type 

Graduates by Credential Type and Age Category 

Graduates by Credential Type and Program 

Graduates, by Major, for Bachelor’s Degrees in Arts, Business Administration, 

Fine Arts, and Science 

Graduates, by Major and Program, for Bachelor’s Degrees in Arts, Business 

Administration, Fine Arts, and Science 

4 

5 

5 

5 

6 

6 

7 

12 

17 

18 

20 

20 

20 

20 

21 

21 

21 

22 

22 

22 

23 

24 

24 

24 

25 

26 

32 

32 

32 

33 

33 

35 

39 

40 

2
131



5. Demographic Statistics 

 UFV Academic Level Credits Completed 

 UFV Academic Level Credits Completed by Student Type 

 Unduplicated New and Returning Students by Student Type 

 Unduplicated New and Returning Students by Semester 

 Breakdown of New Students to UFV by Entry Type 

 Unduplicated New and Returning Students by Semester by Credential Type 

 Unduplicated Headcount by FT/PT and Gender 

 FTEs by FT/PT and Gender 

 Average Age by FT/PT and Gender 

 Unduplicated Headcount by FT/PT, Gender, and Age Category 

 Headcount by Credential Type, FT/PT, and Gender 

 FTEs by Credential Type, FT/PT, and Gender 

 Average Age by Credential Type, FT/PT, and Gender 

 Self-Declared Indigenous Headcount by Credential Type 

 Self-Declared Indigenous Unduplicated Headcount by FT/PT and Gender 

 Self-Declared Indigenous Average Age by FT/PT and Gender 

 Continuing Education Unduplicated Headcount by FT/PT and Gender 

 Continuing Education Average Age by FT/PT and Gender 

 Unduplicated Headcount by City of Residence 

 Unduplicated Headcount by City of Residence and FT/PT 

 International Student Country of Origin 

 Credit Level Course Registrations by Online and In Class 

 Employee Demographics for the 2019-20 Fiscal Year 

 Average Age of Employee for the 2019-20 Fiscal Year 

 

6. Financial Data 

 

7. Library Services 

 

8. Faculty and Staff 

 

9. Research, Engagement, & Graduate Studies 

 

10. Student Services 

 

11. Energy Usage 

42 

42 

42 

43 

43 

43 

44 

46 

46 

46 

47 

48 

50 

52 

53 

53 

53 

54 

54 

55 

56 

57 

59 

60 

61 

 

62 

 

63 

 

64 

 

65 

 

68 

 

71 

 

 

The UFV Factbook is produced by The Office of Institutional Research and Planning 

 

If you have questions or comments about the Factbook, please contact 

Vladimir Dvoracek, AVP, Institutional Research and Planning, Vlad.Dvoracek@ufv.ca 

3
132

mailto:Vlad.Dvoracek@ufv.ca


Notes and Terms 

Historical numbers in this year’s Factbook may differ slightly from previous Factbooks due to  

(i) changes in data definitions or (ii) retroactive changes made to historical records. 

Age: As of September 30th of the Fiscal Year. 

Continuing Education (CE): Non-academic and non-trades programs or courses. 

Credential “None”: A program that does not grant a UFV credential. 

Domestic/International: If a student pays international fees for part, or all, of a given Fiscal 

Year, they are counted as International in that Fiscal Year. 

Fiscal Year: Unless otherwise stated, all data is for Fiscal Year, which runs from April 1 to 

March 31 of the following Calendar Year. 

FTE: Full Time Equivalent student. This is calculated as recognized credits (or hours) divided 

by the appropriate program divisor. FTEs represent UFV’s instructional activity converted to 

represent the number of students carrying a course load corresponding to normal progression in 

their program. To count for FTE purposes, a student course registration must have passed the 

stable enrolment date and be considered instructional activity as defined by the Ministry. 

Full Time/Part Time (FT/PT): A student is Full Time in a Fiscal Year if the student generates 

at least 0.6 of an FTE; a student with less than 0.6 but greater than zero FTEs, is Part Time.  

Graduate: A student who graduates from a UFV program. A student may be granted multiple 

credentials in a given year. Students graduate once a year in June and these graduates are 

attributed to the previous Fiscal Year. For example, June 2019 graduates are attributed to Fiscal 

Year 2018-19. 

Headcount: A student is included in Headcount if the student generates positive FTEs. 

Indigenous Student, Self-Declared: Students can self-declare as being Indigenous while 

studying at UFV. UFV does not require students to declare their status. On their application 

form, students may elect to self-declare as Aboriginal, First nations, Métis, or Inuit. 

New to UFV: A student is New to UFV when the student first generates a positive FTE at UFV 

in a non-CE term. New to UFV is set only once for each student. 

Registration: A single student enrolment in a course that generates any FTEs. 

Returning to UFV Student: A student is Returning to UFV if the student has previously 

generated FTEs at UFV, in a non-CE term.  

Unduplicated Headcount: Each student is counted only once; a student is not counted as a 

member of multiple groups. 

4
133



Section 1: Student Headcount

Unduplicated Headcount by Student Type

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Student Type

Domestic 13,165 12,814 12,897 12,749 13,044 13,323

International 1,046 1,112 1,312 1,703 2,359 2,353

Total 14,211 13,926 14,209 14,452 15,403 15,676

Note: This report includes only students who have generated any Full Time Equivalents (FTEs) at UFV.

Students with zero FTEs are not included.

Unduplicated Headcount in Chandigarh

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Student Type

Chandigarh 134 247 274 278 304 307

Note: Starting in Fall 2019, students in Chandigarh register with Fraser Valley India (FVI), a separate entity from UFV.

Prior to Fall 2019, students registered with University India Global Education (UIGE).

This table includes only students from the previous UIGE; this and the Historical International FTEs table are the only

places in this report where Chandigarh students are counted.

5
134



Headcount by Credential Type

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Credential Type

Advanced Certificate 15 7 12 12 7 15

Apprenticeship 279 315 306 369 378 396

Associate Degree 194 285 280 164 132 207

Baccalaureate Degree 5,484 5,718 5,837 6,022 6,218 6,451

Certificate 1,007 1,083 1,128 1,073 1,095 1,016

Developmental Credential 1,464 1,185 1,028 1,101 940 809

Diploma 4,288 4,182 4,242 4,207 4,904 4,967

Graduate Certificate 17 56

Masters Degree 35 39 51 44 73 102

None 2,135 1,856 2,041 2,042 2,250 2,218

Post-degree Certificate 70 68 45 25 22 42

Short Certificate 8 54 45 33 70 58

Total 14,979 14,792 15,015 15,092 16,106 16,337

Note: Students can be enrolled in multiple credential types in a given fiscal year.

Unduplicated Headcount by Credential Type

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Credential Type

Advanced Certificate 15 7 12 12 7 15

Apprenticeship 278 313 304 366 371 392

Associate Degree 170 262 235 140 115 193

Baccalaureate Degree 5,408 5,632 5,766 5,947 6,114 6,370

Certificate 970 1,038 1,090 1,030 1,047 962

Developmental Credential 1,314 1,061 815 993 823 724

Diploma 3,885 3,688 3,868 3,883 4,557 4,662

Graduate Certificate 17 56

Masters Degree 35 39 51 44 73 102

None 2,059 1,785 1,986 1,992 2,192 2,105

Post-degree Certificate 70 49 40 16 20 38

Short Certificate 7 52 42 29 67 57

Total 14,211 13,926 14,209 14,452 15,403 15,676

Note: The unduplicated headcount is based on a student's last program in a given fiscal year.

6
135



Headcount by Credential Type and Program

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Credential Type Program

Advanced Certificate Certificate in Extended Studies in Early Childhood Education 1

Certificate in Extended Studies in Social Services 2 2

Library Technician Post-diploma Certificate 15 7 10 10 7 14

Apprenticeship Automotive Apprenticeship 58 65 62 68 70 66

Carpentry Apprenticeship 71 77 62 87 84 86

Cook Apprenticeship 7

Electricity Apprenticeship 143 163 163 159 155 159

Heavy Mechanical Apprentice 19 50 53 71

Landscape Hort (Cmn Core) Apprenticeship 10

Plumbing Apprenticeship 5 16 14

Associate Degree Associate of Arts Degree 193 272 262 133 122 206

Associate of Arts Degree: Intl & Dev Studies 7 7 11 4

Associate of Arts Degree: Media & Communications 5 10 19 5 1

Associate of Arts Degree: Theatre 1 1 1 2 1

Baccalaureate Degree BA in Global Development Studies 27 35 38 41 47 46

Bach of Sci in Nurs Fast-track 57 60 61 64 63 63

Bach of Sci in Nurs LPN Access 24 23 21 21 24 31

Bachelor of Agriculture Science 6 13 21 22

Bachelor of Arts 1,763 1,750 1,714 1,677 1,717 1,870

Bachelor of Arts (Child & Youth Care) 100 111 104 104 101 114

Bachelor of Arts (Criminal Justice) 458 487 485 504 495 489

Bachelor of Arts in Adult Education 98 78 92 93 104 88

Bachelor of Business Administration 768 846 849 828 834 742

Bachelor of Business Administration in Aviation 45 56 68 58 58 48

Bachelor of Computer Information Systems 300 342 377 390 418 385

Bachelor of Education 66 129 159 185

Bachelor of Environmental Studies 23

Bachelor of Fine Arts 119 115 116 113 133 129

Bachelor of General Studies 243 220 264 379 397 260

Bachelor of Integrated Studies 220

Bachelor of Kinesiology 320 357 347 384 397 411

Bachelor of Media Arts 1 22 38

Bachelor of Science 912 952 958 933 968 1,062

Bachelor of Science in Nursing 270 277 282 269 267 268

Bachelor of Social Work 85 110 122 123 115 101

7
136



Headcount by Credential Type and Program

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Credential Type Program

Certificate Activity Assistant Certificate 11

Aircraft Structural Repair Technician 39 39 24 19 14 5

Aircraft Structures Technician 2 3 5 4

Architectural Drafting Certificate 14 30 29 26 27 21

Architectural Drafting Tech Cr 3 5 9 11 10 14

Auto Collision Repair/Refinish 14 16 20 16 13 24

Auto Service Technician Cert 35 21 39 26 48 52

Berry Production Essentials Cr 1 2 2 2

Carpentry Certificate 17 9 22 8 10 16

Cert in Applied Business Tech 5 4 7 8 7 3

Certificate in Accounting 7 3 9 11 10 8

Certificate in Applied Business Technology 80 90 100 95 97 87

Certificate in Business Administration 2 2 2 3 2 8

Certificate in Computer Information Systems 5 5 4 5 11 9

Certificate in Early Childhood Education 71 64 69 62 48 49

Certificate in Extended Studies in Arts 8 10 3 2 1 1

Certificate in Extended Studies in Child and Youth Care 3 5 1

Certificate in Extended Studies in Early Childhood Education 1

Certificate in Livestock Production 16 14 14 17 23 15

Certificate in Marketing 2 4 8 9 10 8

Certified Dental Assistant Certificate 48 47 46 46 47 46

Coding Skills Associate Certificate 2

Community Support Worker Certificate 39 46 32 33 58 53

Construction Electrician Cert 18 25 18 20 23

Construction Electrician Certificate 58 74 49 39 35 34

Cook Training Certificate 13 16 18 8 10 15

Dental Receptionist Certificate - 303 hrs 22 18 16 12 16 9

Electrical Work Certificate 14

Electronics Tech Com Core Cert 2 2

Electronics Tech Common Core Cert 17 15 20 20 15 16

Field Vegetable Prod Essential 1 1 1

Geographic Info Systems Cert 2 8

Health Care Assistant Cert 49 51 58 50 55 39

Health and Human Services Career Certificate 62 62 64 70 90 83

Heavy Duty /Commercial Transport Cert 2 4

8
137



Headcount by Credential Type and Program

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Credential Type Program

Certificate Heavy Duty /Commercial Transport Tech Certificate 35

Heavy Mechanical Found Cert 1 35 46 54 40 32

Heavy Mechanical Found Trans 2 3 4 6

Hort Crop Prod & Protection Cr 25 23 19 27 18 16

Hospitality Event Planning Crt 22 17 20 19 12 17

India Canada Studies Cert 1

Indigenous Arts Certificate 1 1

Integrated Learning Design Associate Certificate 1

Integrated Pest Mgmt Essential 1 1 2 2 1

Intermediate Proficiency Associate Certificate 17

Joinery Certificate 6 10 10 11 9 10

Legal Administrative Assistant Cert 48 51 37 30 32 30

Medical Office Assistant Certificate 29 33 42 18 17 14

Mennonite Studies Certificate 1 2 2

Milk Technician Associate Certificate 1

Milker Technician Certificate 3 1 2 1 1

Nursing Unit Clerk Certificate 86 78 72 88 69 24

Paralegal Certificate 2 22 38 50 42

Plumbing & Piping Cert 1 1

Plumbing & Piping cert 16 15 1 1

Plumbing and Piping Certificate 18 17 16 12

Professional Cook Training 2 4 4 4

Teaching Eng as a Second Lang 16 12 7 17 16 15

Veterinary Administrative Assistant Certificate - 660 hrs 19 34 37 21 18

Welding C certificate 3

Welding C/Welder Fitting Cert 1

Welding Foundation 24 50 38 23 16 26

Welding Foundation Transition 29 35 36 25 29 35

Welding Level A Certificate 3 4 7 8 7 7

Welding Level B Certificate 17 30 28 26 44 27

Developmental Credential Adult Basic Ed University Prep 193 189 159 178 193 166

Adult Basic Education 690 540 450 510 492 438

Certificate in English as a Second Language 333 257 175 140 114 135

University Foundation Cert 275 242 248 285 147 71

Workplace TASK Certificate 18 18 22 18 17 18

9
138



Headcount by Credential Type and Program

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Credential Type Program

Diploma Aboriginal Culture & Language Support Diploma 2 2 1 1

Adult Education Studies 13 6 1

Arts Studies 470 315 1

Automation and Robotics Technician Diploma 11 13 16 14

Business Admin Studies 447 304

Child and Youth Care Studies 89 65 1

Computer Info Systems Studies 125 87

Criminal Justice Studies 295 216

Diploma in Agriculture Technology 72 74 90 79 80 78

Diploma in Aviation 20 19 21 17 8 4

Diploma in Business Administration 444 454 519 538 510 507

Diploma in Business Administration in Aviation 7 17

Diploma in Computer Information Systems 57 83 131 163 377 399

Diploma in Criminal Justice 7 18 36 102 143 169

Diploma in Early Childhood Education 1 19 2 9 15

Diploma in Fashion Design 29 15 3 1

Diploma in General Studies 809 862 779 655 620 800

Diploma in Liberal Arts 36 63 103

Diploma in Library & Information Technology 150 121 119 120 142 159

Diploma in Social Services 173 155 139 129 120 108

Diploma in Theatre 12 14 8 9 6 10

Diploma in Theatre Arts 10 6 2 1 1 1

Diploma in Visual Arts 28 19 18 19 17 19

Engineering Physics Diploma in Mechatronics 11 21 18 12 13 11

Graduated and classified as General Studies 71 72 45 14 29 13

Graphic and Digital Design Diploma 44 44 46 51 45 51

Kinesiology Studies 155 118

Library Info Tech Studies 14 4

Nursing Studies 214 191 45 7 1

Nursing Track 45 104 92 98 101

Paralegal diploma 19 20 9 8 11 14

Practical Nursing Diploma 44 34 47 49 48 47

Qualifying Studies 1,164 2,201 2,130 2,515 2,356

Science Studies 379 246 2

Social Services Studies 202 145 2

10
139



Headcount by Credential Type and Program

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Credential Type Program

Diploma Studying for General Interest 17 18 21 141 242 255

Graduate Certificate Child Life and Community Health Graduate Certificate 8 8

Graduate Certificate in Program Evaluation 9 18

Mindfulness-Based Teaching and Learning 30

Masters Degree Master of Arts (Criminal Justice) 11 16 30 27 24 19

Master of Education, Leadership and Mentorship 24

Master of Social Work 24 23 21 17 49 59

None Concurrent with High School in General Studies 12 9 6 11 6 84

Continuing Education 1,712 1,503 1,636 1,672 1,743 1,777

Engineering Transfer 22 17 17 17 23 20

Heavy Mech Found Upgrading 1

International Contract Trng 46 65 140 22

NITEP Transfer 1 1 1 1

Registration in UCFV Assessment Testing 1 3 5 1 3 2

Teacher Ed Summer Institute 6

Teacher Education (Elementary) 36 70 32

Teacher Education (Secondary) 26 56 29 1

Teacher Education Program 50

Transitions 43 31 8 49 10

UFV Activity 176 104 132 141 167 199

Visiting Student in General Studies 34 33 51 44 33 26

Visiting Student on Exchange 16 30 72 90 85 81

Visiting/Exchange 5 1

Welding Upgrading 3

Post-degree Certificate Data Analysis Post-baccalaureate Certificate 12 22 42

Data Analysis Post-degree Cert 19 22 17 3

Hospitality and Event Management Post-degree Certificate 26 24 11 4

Management Post-degree Certificate 25 22 17 6

Short Certificate Advanced Medical Office Assistant Certificate 8 10 12 30 16

Bookkeeping for Small Business Certificate 2 3 1

Certificate in Media Literacy 5 2

Ind Maps Rights Claims cert 3 3 6 1 1

Public Relations Certificate 18 13 2 11 11

Records Mgmt Specialist Cert 21 13 17 28 31

Total 15,269 15,767 15,352 15,407 16,472 16,793

Note: Students can be enrolled in multiple programs in a given fiscal year.

11
140



Unduplicated Headcount by Credential Type and Program

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Credential Type Program

Advanced Certificate Certificate in Extended Studies in Early Childhood Education 1

Certificate in Extended Studies in Social Services 2 2

Library Technician Post-diploma Certificate 15 7 10 10 7 14

Apprenticeship Automotive Apprenticeship 58 65 62 66 70 66

Carpentry Apprenticeship 70 75 62 87 80 86

Cook Apprenticeship 7

Electricity Apprenticeship 143 163 161 158 152 158

Heavy Mechanical Apprentice 19 50 53 68

Landscape Hort (Cmn Core) Apprenticeship 10

Plumbing Apprenticeship 5 16 14

Associate Degree Associate of Arts Degree 169 249 219 110 109 192

Associate of Arts Degree: Intl & Dev Studies 7 6 11 1

Associate of Arts Degree: Media & Communications 5 10 17 5 1

Associate of Arts Degree: Theatre 1 1 2

Baccalaureate Degree BA in Global Development Studies 25 33 38 37 45 41

Bach of Sci in Nurs Fast-track 55 56 59 60 60 59

Bach of Sci in Nurs LPN Access 24 22 20 21 24 31

Bachelor of Agriculture Science 6 12 21 21

Bachelor of Arts 1,706 1,691 1,641 1,623 1,667 1,810

Bachelor of Arts (Child & Youth Care) 100 110 104 104 100 114

Bachelor of Arts (Criminal Justice) 455 480 480 495 490 483

Bachelor of Arts in Adult Education 93 77 88 93 101 86

Bachelor of Business Administration 739 800 827 793 775 734

Bachelor of Business Administration in Aviation 40 51 63 53 49 46

Bachelor of Computer Information Systems 290 335 368 382 383 364

Bachelor of Education 66 128 157 185

Bachelor of Environmental Studies 23

Bachelor of Fine Arts 115 111 113 110 132 127

Bachelor of General Studies 229 207 252 361 382 203

Bachelor of Integrated Studies 216

Bachelor of Kinesiology 315 349 341 379 388 404

Bachelor of Media Arts 1 22 36

Bachelor of Science 876 927 914 909 941 1,025

Bachelor of Science in Nursing 262 273 264 263 263 261

Bachelor of Social Work 84 110 122 123 114 101

12
141



Unduplicated Headcount by Credential Type and Program

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Credential Type Program

Certificate Activity Assistant Certificate 11

Aircraft Structural Repair Technician 37 36 23 18 14 5

Aircraft Structures Technician 2 3 5 4

Architectural Drafting Certificate 14 28 27 24 27 20

Architectural Drafting Tech Cr 3 5 9 9 10 14

Auto Collision Repair/Refinish 14 16 20 16 13 24

Auto Service Technician Cert 35 21 39 26 48 52

Berry Production Essentials Cr 1 2 2 1

Carpentry Certificate 17 9 22 8 10 16

Cert in Applied Business Tech 5 4 7 8 6 3

Certificate in Accounting 6 3 9 11 10 8

Certificate in Applied Business Technology 77 87 97 92 95 85

Certificate in Business Administration 2 1 1 3 2 6

Certificate in Computer Information Systems 5 4 4 5 8 5

Certificate in Early Childhood Education 67 63 67 59 45 48

Certificate in Extended Studies in Arts 8 10 3 2 1 1

Certificate in Extended Studies in Child and Youth Care 3 5 1

Certificate in Extended Studies in Early Childhood Education 1

Certificate in Livestock Production 14 13 12 17 22 12

Certificate in Marketing 2 3 8 9 9 8

Certified Dental Assistant Certificate 47 46 45 46 45 43

Coding Skills Associate Certificate 2

Community Support Worker Certificate 37 42 30 32 55 49

Construction Electrician Cert 18 25 18 20 22

Construction Electrician Certificate 58 69 48 39 32 30

Cook Training Certificate 13 16 18 8 10 15

Dental Receptionist Certificate - 303 hrs 21 17 16 12 15 9

Electrical Work Certificate 14

Electronics Tech Com Core Cert 2 2

Electronics Tech Common Core Cert 17 15 20 20 15 15

Field Vegetable Prod Essential 1 1

Geographic Info Systems Cert 2 8

Health Care Assistant Cert 48 50 57 49 54 36

Health and Human Services Career Certificate 48 49 53 57 74 61

Heavy Duty /Commercial Transport Cert 2 3

13
142



Unduplicated Headcount by Credential Type and Program

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Credential Type Program

Certificate Heavy Duty /Commercial Transport Tech Certificate 35

Heavy Mechanical Found Cert 1 35 45 48 38 31

Heavy Mechanical Found Trans 2 3 4 6

Hort Crop Prod & Protection Cr 24 19 19 26 14 14

Hospitality Event Planning Crt 22 17 20 19 12 17

India Canada Studies Cert 1

Indigenous Arts Certificate 1 1

Integrated Learning Design Associate Certificate 1

Integrated Pest Mgmt Essential 1 2 2 1

Intermediate Proficiency Associate Certificate 17

Joinery Certificate 6 10 10 10 9 10

Legal Administrative Assistant Cert 44 46 31 29 28 27

Medical Office Assistant Certificate 28 33 39 17 17 13

Mennonite Studies Certificate 1 2 2

Milk Technician Associate Certificate 1

Milker Technician Certificate 3 1 2 1 1

Nursing Unit Clerk Certificate 86 75 66 85 69 23

Paralegal Certificate 2 22 38 50 42

Plumbing & Piping Cert 1 1

Plumbing & Piping cert 15 15 1 1

Plumbing and Piping Certificate 18 17 16 12

Professional Cook Training 2 4 4 4

Teaching Eng as a Second Lang 15 12 7 16 15 15

Veterinary Administrative Assistant Certificate - 660 hrs 19 32 34 19 18

Welding C certificate 3

Welding C/Welder Fitting Cert 1

Welding Foundation 24 48 37 22 16 26

Welding Foundation Transition 29 35 36 25 29 35

Welding Level A Certificate 3 4 7 8 7 7

Welding Level B Certificate 17 30 28 26 44 27

Developmental Credential Adult Basic Ed University Prep 166 171 138 160 155 139

Adult Basic Education 656 493 405 458 442 409

Certificate in English as a Second Language 280 210 133 112 96 109

University Foundation Cert 195 171 119 246 115 49

Workplace TASK Certificate 17 16 20 17 15 18

14
143



Unduplicated Headcount by Credential Type and Program

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Credential Type Program

Diploma Aboriginal Culture & Language Support Diploma 2 2 1 1

Adult Education Studies 12 1

Arts Studies 404 107 1

Automation and Robotics Technician Diploma 11 13 16 14

Business Admin Studies 374 85

Child and Youth Care Studies 73 18 1

Computer Info Systems Studies 98 21

Criminal Justice Studies 268 58

Diploma in Agriculture Technology 70 69 80 71 72 67

Diploma in Aviation 17 18 18 17 7 4

Diploma in Business Administration 380 409 467 475 448 447

Diploma in Business Administration in Aviation 7 16

Diploma in Computer Information Systems 54 75 117 136 326 322

Diploma in Criminal Justice 5 16 32 95 129 160

Diploma in Early Childhood Education 19 1 9 13

Diploma in Fashion Design 27 14 1 1

Diploma in General Studies 740 809 689 592 579 766

Diploma in Liberal Arts 35 56 99

Diploma in Library & Information Technology 146 117 117 118 142 156

Diploma in Social Services 154 140 124 117 105 102

Diploma in Theatre 12 13 8 8 5 9

Diploma in Theatre Arts 8 4 2 1 1 1

Diploma in Visual Arts 24 15 18 18 15 18

Engineering Physics Diploma in Mechatronics 10 20 18 12 10 8

Graduated and classified as General Studies 65 63 40 10 27 10

Graphic and Digital Design Diploma 43 43 46 51 45 51

Kinesiology Studies 133 33

Library Info Tech Studies 6 1

Nursing Studies 189 158 30 7 1

Nursing Track 45 84 72 85 78

Paralegal diploma 17 18 9 7 11 14

Practical Nursing Diploma 41 32 47 49 47 46

Qualifying Studies 1,148 1,896 1,847 2,189 2,019

Science Studies 327 65 1

Social Services Studies 173 28 1

15
144



Unduplicated Headcount by Credential Type and Program

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Credential Type Program

Diploma Studying for General Interest 13 14 18 132 224 241

Graduate Certificate Child Life and Community Health Graduate Certificate 8 8

Graduate Certificate in Program Evaluation 9 18

Mindfulness-Based Teaching and Learning 30

Masters Degree Master of Arts (Criminal Justice) 11 16 30 27 24 19

Master of Education, Leadership and Mentorship 24

Master of Social Work 24 23 21 17 49 59

None Concurrent with High School in General Studies 12 6 6 11 6 42

Continuing Education 1,649 1,440 1,588 1,626 1,693 1,710

Engineering Transfer 19 15 15 17 21 18

International Contract Trng 46 64 139 21

NITEP Transfer 1 1 1 1

Registration in UCFV Assessment Testing 3 4 1

Teacher Ed Summer Institute 5

Teacher Education (Elementary) 36 70 32

Teacher Education (Secondary) 26 54 29 1

Teacher Education Program 49

Transitions 43 30 8 49 10

UFV Activity 174 104 132 141 167 198

Visiting Student in General Studies 26 32 48 40 31 25

Visiting Student on Exchange 16 30 72 90 85 81

Visiting/Exchange 5 1

Welding Upgrading 3

Post-degree Certificate Data Analysis Post-baccalaureate Certificate 12 20 38

Data Analysis Post-degree Cert 19 16 16 1

Hospitality and Event Management Post-degree Certificate 26 19 10 1

Management Post-degree Certificate 25 14 14 2

Short Certificate Advanced Medical Office Assistant Certificate 8 10 12 30 16

Bookkeeping for Small Business Certificate 2 3 1

Certificate in Media Literacy 4 2

Ind Maps Rights Claims cert 3 2 5 1

Public Relations Certificate 18 12 1 10 11

Records Mgmt Specialist Cert 20 12 15 26 30

Total 14,211 13,926 14,209 14,452 15,403 15,676

Note: The unduplicated headcount is based on a student's last program in a given fiscal year.

16
145



Headcount, by Major, for Bachelor’s Degrees in Arts, Business Administration,

Fine Arts, and Science

FY 2014-15 FY 2015-16 FY 2016-17 FY 2017-18 FY 2018-19 FY 2019-20

Major

Accounting 127 179 173 147

Biochemistry 3

Biology 295 282 283 270 253 281

Biology Honours 6 6 6 10 13 9

Business Admin Honours 18 26 23 17 8 4

Business Administration 2 2 35 12

Chemistry 36 40 28 30 32 32

Computing Science 22 45

Economics 6 12 27 45 51 43

Engineering Phys Mechatronics 2 17 19

English 267 225 181 168 178 178

English Honours 7 6 8 6 5 4

English Honours: Creative Writ 2 2 2 1 1

Finance 56 75 72 52

French 20 29 29 31 36 40

Geography 94 83 64 51 46 46

Geography Honours 3 1 3 1 1

Graphic & Digital Design 2

History 101 106 95 101 109 137

History Honours 3 2 1

Human Resource Management 46 84 80 74

Indigenous Studies 6 6 8

Marketing 53 92 75 63

Math Honours 1 1 1

Mathematics 32 24 22 27 31 30

Peace and Conflict Studies 3 4 4 7

Philosophy 16 17 24 27 20 24

Philosophy Honours 4

Physical Geography 18 13 19 16 22 24

Physical Geography Honours 1 1 1 1

Physics 26 26 25 30 41 45

Physics Honours 4 1

Political Science 51 49 47 34 41 47

Psychology 207 203 200 222 218 228

Psychology Honours 2 15 7 6 8 11

Sociology 49 62 68 54 53 56

Sociology/Anthropology 37 25 23 22 17 16

Theatre 11 15 19 16

Visual Arts 54 34 33 39 44 37

Total 1,347 1,291 1,514 1,674 1,734 1,748

17
146



Headcount, by Major and Program, for Bachelor’s Degrees in Arts, Business Administration,

Fine Arts, and Science

FY 2014-15 FY 2015-16 FY 2016-17 FY 2017-18 FY 2018-19 FY 2019-20

Program Major

Bachelor of Arts Biology 1 1

Economics 6 12 27 45 51 43

English 264 223 180 167 177 177

English Honours 7 6 8 6 5 4

English Honours: Creative Writ 2 2 2 1 1

French 20 29 29 31 36 40

Geography 89 79 62 50 46 46

Geography Honours 3 1 3 1 1

History 101 106 94 100 109 137

History Honours 3 2 1

Human Resource Management 1 1

Indigenous Studies 6 6 8

Mathematics 8 1 1 1 1

Peace and Conflict Studies 3 4 4 7

Philosophy 15 17 24 27 20 24

Philosophy Honours 4

Political Science 51 49 47 34 41 47

Psychology 204 199 195 217 216 226

Psychology Honours 2 15 7 6 8 11

Sociology 49 62 68 54 53 56

Sociology/Anthropology 37 25 23 22 17 16

Theatre 11 15 19 16

Visual Arts 1 2

Bachelor of Business Administration Accounting 127 179 173 147

Business Admin Honours 18 26 23 17 8 4

Business Administration 2 2 35 12

Finance 56 75 72 52

Human Resource Management 46 84 79 73

Marketing 53 92 75 63

Bachelor of Fine Arts Graphic & Digital Design 2

Visual Arts 54 34 33 39 43 35

Bachelor of Science Biochemistry 3

Biology 294 281 283 270 253 281

18
147



Headcount, by Major and Program, for Bachelor’s Degrees in Arts, Business Administration,

Fine Arts, and Science

FY 2014-15 FY 2015-16 FY 2016-17 FY 2017-18 FY 2018-19 FY 2019-20

Program Major

Bachelor of Science Biology Honours 6 6 6 10 13 9

Chemistry 36 40 28 30 32 32

Computing Science 22 45

Engineering Phys Mechatronics 2 17 19

English 3 2 1 1 1 1

Geography 5 4 2 1

History 1 1

Math Honours 1 1 1

Mathematics 24 23 21 26 31 29

Philosophy 1

Physical Geography 18 13 19 16 22 24

Physical Geography Honours 1 1 1 1

Physics 26 26 25 30 41 45

Physics Honours 4 1

Psychology 3 5 5 5 2 2

Total 1,347 1,292 1,514 1,674 1,734 1,748

19
148



Section 2: Course Registrations

Registrations by Semester

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Semester

Summer 8,522 8,709 8,201 8,478 9,407 10,473

Fall 32,510 31,851 32,062 32,969 34,546 37,175

Winter 29,475 29,160 30,123 30,829 33,269 34,596

Trades 784 910 958 864 915 981

Total 71,291 70,630 71,344 73,140 78,137 83,225

Summer Registrations by Part-of-Term

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Part-of-Term

Regular Term 4,137 3,950 3,730 4,388 4,866 5,483

Early Session 2,929 3,060 3,341 2,937 3,314 3,613

Late Session 310 487 309 329 341 595

All Other 1,146 1,212 821 824 886 782

Total 8,522 8,709 8,201 8,478 9,407 10,473

Summer Registrations by Credential Type

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Credential Type

Advanced Certificate 1 1

Apprenticeship 2 10 1 1

Associate Degree 74 115 177 129 79 198

Baccalaureate Degree 3,436 3,779 3,785 4,141 4,444 4,610

Certificate 463 506 469 439 481 373

Developmental Credential 627 554 421 457 412 308

Diploma 2,293 2,292 2,075 2,196 2,948 3,551

Graduate Certificate 13

Masters Degree 20 41 31 57 21 143

None 1,565 1,338 1,135 914 918 1,139

Post-degree Certificate 37 67 44 36 15 28

Short Certificate 6 15 54 107 89 109

Total 8,522 8,709 8,201 8,478 9,407 10,473

20
149



Fall Registrations by Credential Type

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Credential Type

Advanced Certificate 11 6 11 11 7 9

Apprenticeship 8 2 13

Associate Degree 439 499 670 379 280 608

Baccalaureate Degree 16,293 16,701 17,726 18,428 19,125 19,950

Certificate 1,933 1,558 1,907 1,915 2,028 1,252

Developmental Credential 2,383 1,946 1,627 1,543 1,361 1,036

Diploma 9,014 8,935 8,440 8,976 9,738 12,106

Graduate Certificate 9 51

Masters Degree 62 74 98 85 130 210

None 2,250 1,787 1,387 1,557 1,688 1,765

Post-degree Certificate 110 170 85 26 49 107

Short Certificate 7 173 111 49 131 68

Total 32,510 31,851 32,062 32,969 34,546 37,175

Winter Registrations by Credential Type

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Credential Type

Advanced Certificate 8 5 9 8 12

Apprenticeship 4 3 4 1 33

Associate Degree 419 704 567 309 431 722

Baccalaureate Degree 15,309 16,022 16,650 16,965 17,446 18,208

Certificate 1,409 1,418 1,655 1,770 1,668 1,270

Developmental Credential 1,961 1,648 1,211 1,356 1,146 985

Diploma 8,483 7,704 8,472 8,915 10,774 11,773

Graduate Certificate 18 42

Masters Degree 65 73 86 79 109 162

None 1,627 1,393 1,327 1,354 1,426 1,286

Post-degree Certificate 180 88 77 19 52 69

Short Certificate 10 102 65 53 166 67

Total 29,475 29,160 30,123 30,829 33,269 34,596

Trades Registrations by Credential Type

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Credential Type

Apprenticeship 306 349 351 381 405 447

Certificate 468 561 607 483 509 534

None 3 1

Post-degree Certificate 7

Total 784 910 958 864 915 981

21
150



Section 3: Full Time Equivalent Students (FTEs)

Historical FTEs Counted Towards the Ministry of AEST Target

Year Funded FTEs Actual FTEs Difference Utilization

2003-04 5,455 5,471 16 100%

2004-05 5,542 5,680 138 102%

2005-06 5,205 5,667 462 109%

2006-07 5,610 5,785 175 103%

2007-08 5,961 5,729 -232 96%

2008-09 6,251 6,174 -77 99%

2009-10 6,608 6,688 80 101%

2010-11 6,645 6,926 281 104%

2011-12 6,677 7,014 337 105%

2012-13 6,688 6,852 164 102%

2013-14 6,678 6,751 73 101%

2014-15 6,678 6,675 -3 100%

2015-16 6,678 6,656 -22 100%

2016-17 6,676 6,514 -162 98%

2017-18 6,676 6,441 -235 96%

2018-19 6,688 6,504 -184 97%

2019-20 6,720 6,628 -92 99%

Historical International FTEs

Year International FTEs

2003-04 440

2004-05 422

2005-06 534

2006-07 503

2007-08 584

2008-09 645

2009-10 694

2010-11 834

2011-12 766

2012-13 844

2013-14 855

2014-15 1,015

2015-16 1,099

2016-17 1,328

2017-18 1,546

2018-19 1,935

2019-20 2,409

This table includes FTEs generated in Chandigarh, but only those from University India Global Education (UIGE).

22
151



Historical (Actual) FTEs Counted Towards the Ministry of AEST Target by Fiscal Year

20
03

-0
4

20
04

-0
5

20
05

-0
6

20
06

-0
7

20
07

-0
8

20
08

-0
9

20
09

-1
0

20
10

-1
1

20
11

-1
2

20
12

-1
3

20
13

-1
4

20
14

-1
5

20
15

-1
6

20
16

-1
7

20
17

-1
8

20
18

-1
9

20
19

-2
0

0

1K

2K

3K

4K

5K

6K

7K

8K

23
152



FTEs by Student Type

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Student Type

Domestic 7,156.39 7,178.71 7,127.44 7,017.63 7,159.19 7,376.61

International 887.99 901.36 1,017.88 1,240.92 1,618.71 2,067.36

Total 8,044.37 8,080.08 8,145.32 8,258.55 8,777.90 9,443.97

FTEs by Campus

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Campus

Abbotsford 5,203.49 5,204.20 5,202.92 5,423.43 5,776.21 6,275.58

Aerospace Training Centre 33.98 34.83 36.06 29.42 39.54 12.98

Canada Education Park - Chwk 1,656.10 1,708.38 1,825.40 1,773.61 1,861.36 1,947.54

Challenge/PLA 24.93 32.20 25.83 17.59 12.52 9.06

Chilliwack (North Campus) 17.35 19.32 7.65

Clearbrook Centre 226.51 197.90 222.80 181.11 185.88 150.71

Five Corners 5.69 4.99 12.56 7.71

Hope 32.75 39.29 16.76 12.25 7.25 6.51

Mission 147.50 122.95 97.20 76.32 69.18 61.64

Off-campus location 192.40 195.20 181.71 159.35 166.64 152.58

Online: UFV 503.67 520.83 516.43 577.77 659.32 827.37

Total 8,044.37 8,080.08 8,145.32 8,258.55 8,777.90 9,443.97

FTEs by Course Level

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Course Level

Developmental 671.90 541.73 490.14 535.74 515.03 387.90

100 3,060.04 3,033.15 3,078.99 3,173.23 3,550.76 3,936.51

200 1,365.99 1,418.30 1,417.01 1,466.40 1,478.30 1,758.29

300 1,167.11 1,229.76 1,200.43 1,193.77 1,232.21 1,297.09

400 656.40 681.29 679.31 699.92 727.64 757.82

PLA .50 3.75 2.04 4.59 2.20

Graduate 25.44 31.00 38.44 38.67 42.10 89.93

Trades 787.03 847.88 918.48 842.50 896.33 930.38

Continuing Education 310.46 296.47 318.75 306.28 330.93 283.84

Total 8,044.37 8,080.08 8,145.32 8,258.55 8,777.90 9,443.97

The Trades course level also includes Applied Business Technology, Dental Assisting, and Health Care Assistant courses.

24
153



FTEs by Course Department

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Course Department

Adult Education 38.35 46.63 45.40 67.41 73.94 82.78

Agricultural Technology 62.37 56.13 64.93 71.10 67.57 70.16

Applied Business Technology 66.63 58.76 75.00 67.11 66.38 52.53

Aviation 21.04 20.78 24.07 11.19 3.43 .37

Biology 279.31 279.20 274.90 279.27 276.18 279.58

Chemistry 183.81 177.53 152.73 161.96 159.43 164.38

Child, Youth, & Family Studies 133.00 159.99 142.69 128.27 126.21 132.83

Communications 262.69 263.06 270.17 295.51 368.21 405.61

Computer Information Systems 357.24 357.80 400.27 444.20 562.84 621.56

Continuing Studies 268.09 220.68 236.23 224.06 241.60 194.02

Cooperative Education 8.70 9.30 7.80 12.50 11.80 12.40

Criminal Justice 422.43 442.27 446.44 453.40 481.68 544.36

Dean, Arts 1.29 .50 28.05 71.52 182.72

Dean, Science and Technology 10.04 6.56 8.10 9.56 12.09 11.87

Economics 139.31 129.45 142.16 146.23 169.56 187.32

Education 131.74 129.37 119.09 123.59 154.88 162.73

English 460.53 410.43 393.86 392.70 408.64 457.79

English Language Studies 291.67 202.73 187.29 226.38 181.27 101.45

Fashion Design 24.93 14.31

Geography 205.10 201.92 194.59 195.82 210.55 245.30

Graduate Studies 3.28 26.50

Graphic Design 34.80 44.79 58.11 69.34 74.05 99.06

Health Science 347.78 366.63 375.41 371.43 372.68 358.65

History 178.70 194.04 185.13 199.07 237.23 263.09

Humanities 9.22 8.01 7.77 2.50 2.11 2.18

Indigenous Studies 8.40 6.76 6.53 1.17 4.89 13.22

Kinesiology 297.34 331.42 325.80 343.60 362.02 370.87

Library and Information Tech 65.85 47.73 48.94 54.54 57.89 64.94

Mathematics and Statistics 394.12 397.61 392.44 408.22 423.66 468.92

Modern Languages 114.16 115.97 138.90 126.51 122.22 152.74

Philosophy 137.25 125.12 135.97 149.08 142.50 154.61

Physics 134.13 139.19 123.67 119.12 122.11 125.25

Political Science 73.17 71.95 80.91 72.90 72.62 82.25

Psychology 366.98 372.25 363.72 367.44 367.16 392.36

School of Business 720.82 766.06 763.41 753.87 707.70 723.52

Social Cultural & Media Studies 307.09 321.11 334.12 319.56 351.44 419.43

Social Work and Human Services 228.39 252.85 242.56 242.82 246.77 263.55

Student Services .87

Theatre 38.48 37.78 38.53 36.38 52.67 72.33

Trades 676.77 771.99 785.57 728.86 781.55 843.56

Trades Continuing Studies 39.65 71.90 72.37 73.11 84.62 88.67

UFV International 9.64 6.75 6.65 1.76

Undeclared .50 3.75 2.04 4.59 2.20

Upgrading & University Prep 332.33 292.08 300.46 306.96 329.27 284.15

Visual Arts 171.09 156.17 165.39 164.97 200.43 260.39

Total 8,044.37 8,080.08 8,145.32 8,258.55 8,777.90 9,443.97

25
154



FTEs by Credential Type and Program

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Credential Type Program

Advanced Certificate Certificate in Extended Studies in Early Childhood Education .13

Certificate in Extended Studies in Social Services .96 .54

Library Technician Post-diploma Certificate 1.75 .96 1.08 1.33 .63 1.67

Total Advanced Certificate 1.75 .96 2.04 1.87 .63 1.79

Apprenticeship Automotive Apprenticeship 64.07 64.09 76.00 68.00 71.07 80.00

Carpentry Apprenticeship 82.46 92.35 71.01 91.03 89.00 103.00

Cook Apprenticeship 7.00

Electricity Apprenticeship 153.30 183.17 175.15 159.05 175.62 174.00

Heavy Mechanical Apprentice 29.12 58.00 54.00 76.15

Landscape Hort (Cmn Core) Apprenticeship 10.00

Plumbing Apprenticeship 5.00 16.00 14.05

Total Apprenticeship 306.83 349.60 351.28 381.08 405.69 447.20

Associate Degree Associate of Arts Degree 95.86 127.90 134.55 69.28 74.86 156.40

Associate of Arts Degree: Intl & Dev Studies 4.70 5.43 5.60 1.73

Associate of Arts Degree: Media & Communications 2.73 5.73 8.13 2.97 .30

Associate of Arts Degree: Theatre .73 .73 .30 1.20 .30

Total Associate Degree 96.59 136.07 146.02 84.22 79.86 156.70

Baccalaureate Degree BA in Global Development Studies 19.00 22.78 27.40 28.17 32.37 31.73

Bach of Sci in Nurs Fast-track 50.40 53.29 50.39 52.09 53.94 53.21

Bach of Sci in Nurs LPN Access 18.87 19.92 15.14 14.07 18.09 21.09

Bachelor of Agriculture Science 2.13 9.47 13.69 14.02

Bachelor of Arts 1,145.31 1,111.33 1,095.25 1,105.70 1,136.08 1,254.79

Bachelor of Arts (Child & Youth Care) 71.27 80.20 74.02 72.70 72.70 80.50

Bachelor of Arts (Criminal Justice) 325.53 335.42 338.78 356.91 344.41 347.90

Bachelor of Arts in Adult Education 36.12 35.57 28.68 28.14 36.32 33.61

Bachelor of Business Administration 534.73 604.12 616.49 591.67 578.44 534.04

Bachelor of Business Administration in Aviation 34.03 43.14 50.67 37.17 38.42 33.50

Bachelor of Computer Information Systems 201.92 236.43 264.70 277.32 282.02 280.22

Bachelor of Education 64.85 82.46 110.11 115.25

Bachelor of Environmental Studies 13.97

Bachelor of Fine Arts 72.68 69.49 72.80 72.50 88.77 85.57

Bachelor of General Studies 116.85 106.65 115.69 191.64 202.35 134.69

Bachelor of Integrated Studies 112.79

26
155



FTEs by Credential Type and Program

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Credential Type Program

Baccalaureate Degree Bachelor of Kinesiology 236.08 278.20 263.83 280.70 302.56 295.79

Bachelor of Media Arts .57 14.17 31.87

Bachelor of Science 718.23 715.13 731.25 735.25 759.75 816.38

Bachelor of Science in Nursing 199.79 213.26 209.82 211.14 204.19 206.83

Bachelor of Social Work 60.86 79.70 103.64 102.87 90.93 78.61

Total Baccalaureate Degree 3,841.66 4,004.61 4,125.53 4,250.52 4,379.31 4,576.35

Certificate Activity Assistant Certificate 4.96

Aircraft Structural Repair Technician 21.35 19.53 13.50 9.61 6.05 1.10

Aircraft Structures Technician 1.40 1.45 3.18 1.40

Architectural Drafting Certificate 11.05 15.67 11.98 14.24 12.20 10.10

Architectural Drafting Tech Cr 1.80 2.18 6.13 4.53 5.40 8.30

Auto Collision Repair/Refinish 13.05 16.00 20.00 16.00 13.00 24.00

Auto Service Technician Cert 35.00 19.49 39.05 26.00 48.00 52.00

Berry Production Essentials Cr .13 .63 .13 .63

Carpentry Certificate 17.00 9.00 21.07 8.05 10.00 16.00

Cert in Applied Business Tech 4.22 3.25 7.00 8.13 5.33 2.09

Certificate in Accounting 2.55 1.54 4.89 5.03 4.37 2.55

Certificate in Applied Business Technology 64.62 56.66 68.85 59.64 62.95 51.61

Certificate in Business Administration 1.75 .92 .69 1.08 .26 2.27

Certificate in Computer Information Systems 1.17 1.77 2.40 3.17 5.83 5.53

Certificate in Early Childhood Education 56.56 54.37 56.46 49.39 35.96 39.92

Certificate in Extended Studies in Arts 2.17 2.91 .60 .47 .10 .10

Certificate in Extended Studies in Child and Youth Care .75 1.13 .25

Certificate in Extended Studies in Early Childhood Education .50

Certificate in Livestock Production 8.12 6.62 6.54 9.05 10.23 5.08

Certificate in Marketing .50 1.83 3.38 5.02 4.79 2.85

Certified Dental Assistant Certificate 24.00 22.91 22.38 23.04 23.26 22.46

Coding Skills Associate Certificate .75

Community Support Worker Certificate 18.35 23.37 16.63 18.20 30.83 23.09

Construction Electrician Cert 18.00 25.00 16.46 20.00 21.09

Construction Electrician Certificate 56.27 55.92 50.08 36.69 32.83 35.06

Cook Training Certificate 26.00 32.00 36.08 14.73 18.68 28.73

Dental Receptionist Certificate - 303 hrs 17.04 12.14 12.13 9.72 13.12 7.24

27
156



FTEs by Credential Type and Program

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Credential Type Program

Certificate Electrical Work Certificate 14.00

Electronics Tech Com Core Cert 2.00 2.00

Electronics Tech Common Core Cert 16.01 15.00 20.00 20.00 15.00 16.00

Field Vegetable Prod Essential .25 .50 .13

Geographic Info Systems Cert 1.19 4.33

Health Care Assistant Cert 31.12 27.44 40.41 34.00 37.76 21.46

Health and Human Services Career Certificate 25.63 21.17 22.14 23.40 37.50 25.65

Heavy Duty /Commercial Transport Cert 2.00 2.05

Heavy Duty /Commercial Transport Tech Certificate 35.10

Heavy Mechanical Found Cert 1.00 35.00 29.24 31.65 39.35 29.40

Heavy Mechanical Found Trans 2.00 2.04 4.04 6.01

Hort Crop Prod & Protection Cr 10.86 6.62 7.70 12.19 4.40 5.60

Hospitality Event Planning Crt 19.17 17.00 20.00 18.32 11.12 17.00

India Canada Studies Cert .20

Indigenous Arts Certificate .75 .75

Integrated Learning Design Associate Certificate .38

Integrated Pest Mgmt Essential .13 .38 .63 .51 .13

Intermediate Proficiency Associate Certificate 6.38

Joinery Certificate 6.00 10.00 10.04 11.10 9.00 10.00

Legal Administrative Assistant Cert 32.33 29.02 30.91 22.13 19.29 18.33

Medical Office Assistant Certificate 10.45 15.48 16.26 1.97 12.99 10.70

Mennonite Studies Certificate .42 1.42 .50

Milk Technician Associate Certificate .25

Milker Technician Certificate 1.63 .25 1.13 .63 .25

Nursing Unit Clerk Certificate 59.06 42.95 53.76 58.72 57.37 21.36

Paralegal Certificate .73 8.89 13.38 17.93 14.67

Plumbing & Piping Cert 1.00 1.00

Plumbing & Piping cert 16.05 14.05 1.00 1.00

Plumbing and Piping Certificate 18.00 17.00 16.00 12.00

Professional Cook Training 4.00 8.00 8.00 8.01

Teaching Eng as a Second Lang 5.17 3.50 1.81 9.85 6.54 7.42

Veterinary Administrative Assistant Certificate - 660 hrs 16.75 18.05 23.50 20.50 9.23

Welding C certificate 3.00

28
157



FTEs by Credential Type and Program

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Credential Type Program

Certificate Welding C/Welder Fitting Cert .01

Welding Foundation 22.48 50.39 35.42 22.02 15.18 25.05

Welding Foundation Transition 30.00 33.06 34.38 25.00 28.44 35.00

Welding Level A Certificate .40 2.13 3.73 8.04 3.78 3.73

Welding Level B Certificate 15.13 28.42 28.08 24.04 44.10 26.50

Total Certificate 738.91 748.86 835.08 733.47 781.26 705.09

Developmental Credential Adult Basic Ed University Prep 62.25 63.33 49.65 59.57 72.73 58.49

Adult Basic Education 201.77 164.51 126.78 140.27 139.47 124.26

Certificate in English as a Second Language 192.08 128.33 78.45 54.14 48.92 52.25

University Foundation Cert 193.61 156.47 137.63 160.43 89.11 43.04

Workplace TASK Certificate 13.79 15.06 17.05 14.33 12.56 16.75

Total Developmental Credential 663.50 527.69 409.56 428.74 362.80 294.78

Diploma Aboriginal Culture & Language Support Diploma 1.89 1.43 .81 .48

Adult Education Studies 3.16 1.75 .03

Arts Studies 204.18 93.09 .05

Automation and Robotics Technician Diploma 11.00 11.70 14.24 11.59

Business Admin Studies 202.41 98.71

Child and Youth Care Studies 33.33 16.44 .01

Computer Info Systems Studies 59.79 30.60

Criminal Justice Studies 136.59 66.39

Diploma in Agriculture Technology 43.38 41.18 51.65 45.58 40.67 41.21

Diploma in Aviation 14.79 12.24 11.91 10.01 2.93 .57

Diploma in Business Administration 254.80 250.24 273.92 284.61 273.20 318.38

Diploma in Business Administration in Aviation 3.48 9.54

Diploma in Computer Information Systems 31.36 52.45 88.48 104.63 203.00 361.09

Diploma in Criminal Justice 2.34 9.48 18.00 57.21 79.28 99.32

Diploma in Early Childhood Education .13 18.50 .50 4.50 6.75

Diploma in Fashion Design 18.14 8.75 .46 .09

Diploma in General Studies 307.00 333.84 307.50 305.70 326.17 524.79

Diploma in Liberal Arts 15.95 31.20 53.70

Diploma in Library & Information Technology 72.68 60.62 52.72 57.30 64.02 75.02

Diploma in Social Services 93.23 91.42 78.29 71.27 65.17 62.79

Diploma in Theatre 6.23 7.08 4.40 4.60 2.77 4.51

29
158



FTEs by Credential Type and Program

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Credential Type Program

Diploma Diploma in Theatre Arts 4.90 3.13 .67 .55 .83 .43

Diploma in Visual Arts 12.50 9.70 9.88 9.32 8.18 10.84

Engineering Physics Diploma in Mechatronics 8.96 21.04 12.81 10.16 10.99 6.38

Graduated and classified as General Studies 15.15 16.03 10.80 3.30 5.95 2.98

Graphic and Digital Design Diploma 37.31 40.65 40.83 46.70 39.40 42.80

Kinesiology Studies 73.18 42.11

Library Info Tech Studies 3.20 .60

Nursing Studies 69.22 67.87 15.16 2.23 .63

Nursing Track 11.52 38.81 36.07 37.66 40.51

Paralegal diploma 4.94 6.43 2.60 1.73 3.04 4.16

Practical Nursing Diploma 19.05 26.15 30.08 31.89 31.82 27.11

Qualifying Studies 351.15 893.73 934.19 1,123.59 1,075.62

Science Studies 200.02 89.33 .06

Social Services Studies 79.78 41.37 .06

Studying for General Interest 5.63 3.93 4.33 31.14 60.89 55.83

Total Diploma 2,019.30 1,936.19 1,948.56 2,075.84 2,433.70 2,836.38

Graduate Certificate Child Life and Community Health Graduate Certificate 1.67 4.00

Graduate Certificate in Program Evaluation 3.28 6.50

Mindfulness-Based Teaching and Learning 8.84

Total Graduate Certificate .00 .00 .00 .00 4.94 19.34

Masters Degree Master of Arts (Criminal Justice) 11.11 10.33 26.28 23.06 18.89 16.33

Master of Education, Leadership and Mentorship 20.33

Master of Social Work 14.50 20.67 12.17 15.58 26.50 58.83

Total Masters Degree 25.61 31.00 38.44 38.64 45.39 95.50

None Concurrent with High School in General Studies 3.79 1.11 1.27 1.67 .83 16.43

Continuing Education 146.83 140.24 148.86 144.66 150.93 168.97

Engineering Transfer 15.45 12.78 13.12 14.41 14.80 15.00

Heavy Mech Found Upgrading .08

International Contract Trng 4.02 6.75 12.99 1.76

NITEP Transfer .58 .50 .60 .25

Registration in UCFV Assessment Testing .05 .60 .77 .28 .12 .05

Teacher Ed Summer Institute .60

Teacher Education (Elementary) 47.70 46.00 6.19

30
159



FTEs by Credential Type and Program

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Credential Type Program

None Teacher Education (Secondary) 34.61 47.57 7.53 .30

Teacher Education Program 9.39

Transitions 5.89 4.28 .80 5.30 1.00

UFV Activity 19.01 11.06 14.29 15.81 17.62 19.50

Visiting Student in General Studies 8.57 8.70 9.10 8.67 5.77 5.90

Visiting Student on Exchange 11.17 17.30 43.12 52.72 48.77 47.17

Visiting/Exchange 3.00 1.10

Welding Upgrading 2.59

Total None 308.63 290.75 250.16 245.85 257.47 275.78

Post-degree Certificate Data Analysis Post-baccalaureate Certificate 6.54 13.74 24.55

Data Analysis Post-degree Cert 11.22 9.53 8.89 .81

Hospitality and Event Management Post-degree Certificate 11.80 17.96 5.16 .48

Management Post-degree Certificate 15.50 12.85 12.00 2.63

Total Post-degree Certificate 38.52 40.34 26.05 10.46 13.74 24.55

Short Certificate Advanced Medical Office Assistant Certificate 2.67 2.89 4.01 6.66 3.02

Bookkeeping for Small Business Certificate .16 .64 .06

Certificate in Media Literacy 1.31 1.25

Ind Maps Rights Claims cert 1.75 2.50 4.88 .50 .75

Public Relations Certificate 2.14 1.74 .21 1.04 1.60

Records Mgmt Specialist Cert 5.29 2.44 3.09 4.66 5.88

Total Short Certificate 3.06 14.00 12.59 7.87 13.11 10.50

Total 8,044.37 8,080.08 8,145.32 8,258.55 8,777.90 9,443.97

31
160



Section 4: Graduates

Graduates by Credential Type

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Credential Type

Advanced Certificate 18 13 10 4 6 2

Associate Degree 50 63 55 34 29 16

Baccalaureate Degree 876 1,043 986 1,037 1,039 1,074

Certificate 747 777 730 718 796 722

Developmental Credential 30 42 27 35 42 44

Diploma 437 507 477 412 479 501

Graduate Certificate 6

Masters Degree 10 19 15 27 11 27

Other 46 29 39 37 26 12

Post-degree Certificate 23 38 24 25 8 23

Short Certificate 240 274 301 310 258 181

Total 2,477 2,805 2,664 2,639 2,694 2,608

Graduates by Credential Type and Gender

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Credential Type Gender

Advanced Certificate Female 12 7 9 4 5 2

Male 6 6 1 1

Associate Degree Female 40 49 47 25 22 10

Male 10 14 8 9 7 6

Baccalaureate Degree Female 553 619 625 660 663 672

Male 323 424 360 377 376 402

Unknown 1

Certificate Female 427 418 426 390 458 419

Male 320 359 303 327 334 298

Unknown 1 1 4 5

Developmental Credential Female 17 28 11 18 28 25

Male 13 14 16 17 14 19

Diploma Female 282 297 283 226 262 287

Male 155 210 194 186 217 214

Graduate Certificate Female 4

Male 2

Masters Degree Female 5 17 4 18 4 22

Male 5 2 11 9 7 4

Unknown 1

Other Female 41 23 27 31 22 4

Male 5 6 12 6 4 8

Post-degree Certificate Female 10 21 9 12 3 11

Male 13 17 15 13 5 12

Short Certificate Female 162 193 211 225 196 140

Male 78 81 89 84 60 37

Unknown 1 1 2 4

Total 2,477 2,805 2,664 2,639 2,694 2,608

32
161



Average Age of Graduates by Credential Type

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Credential Type

Advanced Certificate 27.87 28.90 35.93 28.58 39.36 34.81

Associate Degree 25.70 24.24 25.65 24.16 24.76 23.94

Baccalaureate Degree 26.04 26.31 26.24 26.20 26.65 26.50

Certificate 25.92 25.82 24.99 24.84 25.56 25.02

Developmental Credential 25.49 26.47 27.21 25.33 30.00 27.14

Diploma 25.90 26.15 26.05 25.13 25.10 24.08

Graduate Certificate 31.92

Masters Degree 36.09 42.37 40.84 37.66 34.77 41.67

Other 25.19 26.79 28.65 25.69 26.80 28.52

Post-degree Certificate 27.27 25.88 26.27 25.29 24.74 25.83

Short Certificate 30.13 30.43 31.65 31.26 31.53 34.34

Overall Average 27.56 28.34 29.35 27.41 28.93 29.43

Age as of September 30th of the fiscal year.

Graduates by Credential Type and Age Category

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Credential Type Age Category

Advanced Certificate 18-19 3 1 2

20-24 7 8 1 1 1

25-29 3 1 2 2 2 1

30-39 2 1 1 1

40-49 1 1 2 2

50+ 2 2 2 1

Associate Degree 18-19 1 2 3 3 2

20-24 34 43 33 27 19 11

25-29 7 11 8 4 4 1

30-39 6 6 9 2 1 2

40-49 1 1 2 1 1

50+ 1 1

Baccalaureate Degree 18-19 1 2 2 1

20-24 559 650 623 641 637 655

25-29 201 235 220 247 234 257

30-39 75 103 92 99 101 84

40-49 21 36 32 32 41 54

50+ 19 17 19 18 24 23

Certificate <18 81 79 94 71 83 76

18-19 148 132 146 155 165 124

20-24 255 288 268 286 291 303

25-29 106 113 93 84 99 93

30-39 79 85 61 65 78 64

40-49 47 55 48 38 45 32

50+ 31 25 20 19 35 30

Developmental Credential <18 1 2

18-19 11 8 9 8 9 14

33
162



Graduates by Credential Type and Age Category

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Credential Type Age Category

Developmental Credential 20-24 7 8 5 12 10 10

25-29 6 14 7 8 4 7

30-39 3 12 3 4 6 7

40-49 3 2 2 8 5

50+ 1 3 1

Diploma 18-19 21 19 24 34 37 56

20-24 261 298 283 257 302 329

25-29 92 102 94 67 77 69

30-39 39 54 40 29 33 25

40-49 14 23 25 19 20 17

50+ 10 11 11 6 10 5

Graduate Certificate 20-24 2

25-29 1

30-39 1

40-49 2

Masters Degree 20-24 1 2

25-29 3 3 2 4 6 1

30-39 3 3 4 13 2 9

40-49 2 9 6 8 2 10

50+ 1 4 3 2 1 5

Other 18-19 3

20-24 35 21 22 20 16 5

25-29 7 3 10 9 6 5

30-39 2 3 3 4 3 1

40-49 1 1 1 1

50+ 1 1 3 1 1

Post-degree Certificate 20-24 13 20 11 15 6 15

25-29 6 14 9 8 2 6

30-39 2 3 4 2 1

40-49 2 1 1

Short Certificate <18 2 1

18-19 10 2 8 10 10 7

20-24 107 137 125 132 97 41

25-29 44 47 60 42 50 37

30-39 35 34 40 57 43 39

40-49 25 22 29 34 37 34

50+ 19 30 39 34 21 23

Total 2,477 2,805 2,664 2,639 2,694 2,608

34
163



Graduates by Credential Type and Program

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Credential Type Program

Advanced Certificate Certificate in Extended Studies in Early Childhood Education 1

Certificate in Extended Studies in Social Services 1 1

Curr Agri Practices Essentials 14 10 5 2 1

Library Technician Post-diploma Certificate 4 1 4 2 5 2

Associate Degree Associate of Arts Degree 45 51 47 33 22 15

Associate of Science Degree 5 12 8 1 7 1

Baccalaureate Degree BA in Global Development Studies 2 2 5 2 6 7

Bachelor of Agriculture Science 1 4 2 1

Bachelor of Arts 243 238 239 241 212 205

Bachelor of Arts (Child & Youth Care) 22 33 32 34 20 30

Bachelor of Arts (Criminal Justice) 76 90 71 74 77 86

Bachelor of Arts in Adult Education 16 10 9 13 16 17

Bachelor of Business Administration 142 179 173 163 191 195

Bachelor of Business Administration in Aviation 3 2 9 7 4 4

Bachelor of Computer Information Systems 30 52 34 50 53 69

Bachelor of Education 61 64 62 87 97

Bachelor of Fine Arts 23 15 16 9 29 22

Bachelor of General Studies 55 78 55 59 63 14

Bachelor of Integrated Studies 62

Bachelor of Kinesiology 70 80 67 90 67 65

Bachelor of Media Arts 1 4

Bachelor of Science 93 100 81 104 91 93

Bachelor of Science in Nursing 64 73 75 70 67 62

Bachelor of Social Work 37 30 55 55 53 41

Certificate Activity Assistant Certificate 10

Adult Education and Workplace Training Certificate 14 5

Aircraft Structural Repair Technician 15 16 4 5 4 4

Animation Arts Certificate 5 2

Architectural Drafting Certificate 14 19 14 18 15 13

Auto Collision Repair/Refinish 13 14 17 15 11 10

Auto Service Technician Cert 31 19 19 36 38 37

Berry Production Essentials Cr 7 9 1 7 2

Carpentry Certificate 16 6 20 6 4 6

Certificate in Accounting 6 2 5 2 2 4

Certificate in Applied Business Technology 62 59 63 53 63 51

35
164



Graduates by Credential Type and Program

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Credential Type Program

Certificate Certificate in Business Administration 8 6 8 10 8 5

Certificate in Computer Information Systems 6 9 11 16 20 48

Certificate in Early Childhood Education 25 21 21 25 22 18

Certificate in Extended Studies in Arts 2 5 1 2

Certificate in Livestock Production 11 8 6 8 10 3

Certificate in Marketing 8 6 4 2 8 7

Certified Dental Assistant Certificate 22 22 22 23 23 20

Community Support Worker Certificate 16 29 18 22 22 26

Construction Electrician Certificate 55 66 45 42 41 31

Cook Training Certificate 8 13 19 6 11 13

Dental Receptionist Certificate - 303 hrs 20 16 15 10 13 5

Early Modern Studies Certificate 2 1 2

Electronics Tech Common Core Cert 9 14 12 20 17 10

Family Childcare Certificate 18 9 3 1

Field Vegetable Prod Essential 7 10 4 6

Geographic Info Systems Cert 6 6 6 5 4 7

Health Care Assistant Cert 31 25 35 30 34 3

Health and Human Services Career Certificate 13 13 19 18 28 16

Heavy Duty /Commercial Transport Tech Certificate 1 1

Heavy Mechanical Found Cert 33 31 27 29 37 14

Home Support and Resident Care Attendant Certificate 1

Hort Crop Prod & Protection Cr 14 12 6 18 8 9

Hospitality Event Planning Crt 16 16 18 16 9 14

India Canada Studies Cert 1 1

Integrated Learning Design Associate Certificate 7

Integrated Pest Mgmt Essential 13 12 9 12 7 2

Intermediate Proficiency Associate Certificate 15 13

Joinery Certificate 6 7 8 8 7 7

Legal Administrative Assistant Cert 32 28 33 16 19 13

Management Skills for Supervisors Certificate -150 hrs 3 3 8 7 3 7

Media Literacy Associate Certificate 2 31

Medical Office Assistant Certificate 15 19 46 8 15 8

Mennonite Studies Certificate 1 1

Milker Technician Certificate 2 4 1 6 2 1

Nursing Unit Clerk Certificate 50 64 38 48 64 20

36
165



Graduates by Credential Type and Program

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Credential Type Program

Certificate Paralegal Certificate 5 2 10 18 17

Plumbing & Piping cert 11 16

Plumbing and Piping Certificate 13 14 14 14

Portfolio Essentials Cert 1 1

Professional Communications Essentials Associate Certificate 46 85

Sto:lo Studies Certificate 1 1

Teaching Eng as a Second Lang 16 16 11 13 14 18

Veterinary Administrative Assistant Certificate - 660 hrs 21 9 15 14 14 9

Welding Foundation 41 62 59 60 42 42

Welding Level A Certificate 1 5 7 7 6 5

Welding Level B Certificate 14 28 26 24 38 20

Welding Level C Certificate 5 1

Workplace Education Associate Certificate 8 14

Workplace Education Certificate 7 7 20 7 3

Developmental Credential BC Adult Graduation 12 20 9 16 29 25

Cert:ESL Advanced I 1 1 1

Cert:ESL Advanced II 3 4 2 2 2 2

Cert:ESL Intermediate 1 1 1

Certificate of Academic Proficiency in English Language Studies 1 1 1

University Foundation Cert 3 1 3

Workplace TASK Certificate 12 12 15 13 10 16

Diploma Aboriginal Culture & Language Support Diploma 1

Automation and Robotics Technician Diploma 9 9 13 9

Diploma in Agriculture Technology 11 17 8 11 16 14

Diploma in Aviation 3 3 6 7 3 2

Diploma in Business Administration 75 76 74 77 86 65

Diploma in Business Administration in Aviation 2

Diploma in Computer Information Systems 20 16 48 43 49 42

Diploma in Criminal Justice 28 30 37 39 31 39

Diploma in Early Childhood Education 17 1 1

Diploma in Fashion Design 16 3 3 1 1

Diploma in General Studies 48 67 101 95 142 212

Diploma in Liberal Arts 118 118 62 30 23 17

Diploma in Library & Information Technology 31 35 22 19 21 21

Diploma in Social Services 50 56 44 33 38 39

37
166



Graduates by Credential Type and Program

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Credential Type Program

Diploma Diploma in Theatre 9 9 7 1 3 2

Diploma in Visual Arts 9 9 13 7 7 4

Engineering Physics Diploma in Mechatronics 9 15 2 7 17

Graphic and Digital Design Diploma 19 20 19 24 24 14

Practical Nursing Diploma 13 16 14 16

Graduate Certificate Child Life and Community Health Graduate Certificate 2

Graduate Certificate in Program Evaluation 4

Masters Degree Master of Arts (Criminal Justice) 10 14 13 10 6

Master of Social Work 19 1 14 1 21

Other Advanced Proficiency Certificate in Modern Languages 19 10 12 12 11 9

Intermediate Proficiency Certificate in Modern Languages 27 19 27 25 15 3

Post-degree Certificate Certificate in Extended Studies in Child and Youth Care 1

Data Analysis Post-baccalaureate Certificate 4 4 13

Data Analysis Post-degree Cert 8 11 5 4

Hospitality and Event Management Post-degree Certificate 7 12 9 1

Hospitality and Event Management post-baccalaureate Certificate 3

Management Post-baccalaureate Certificate 13 4 8

Management Post-degree Certificate 8 14 10 2

Short Certificate Advanced Medical Office Assistant Certificate 7 8 12 12 9

Bookkeeping for Small Business Certificate 67 75 77 92 98 97

Certificate in Media Literacy 16 12 14 14 10 2

Computer Assisted Drafting Certificate - 192 hrs 1

Floral Design Certificate 5 11 10 15 11 1

Human Resource Management Certificate - 150 hrs 14 8 16 23 18 14

Ind Maps Rights Claims cert 17 6 12 22 19 9

Introduction to Journalism Certificate 5 13 9 5 3 4

Professional Communications Essentials Certificate 111 133 139 122 86 32

Professional Comp Prof Cert 2 4 1

Public Relations Certificate 4

Records Mgmt Specialist Cert 2 5 11 5 1 13

Total 2,477 2,805 2,664 2,639 2,694 2,608

38
167



Graduates, by Major, for Bachelor’s Degrees in Arts, Business Administration,

Fine Arts, and Science

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Major

Accounting 53 48 59 58

Biology 64 62 60 67 57 52

Biology Honours 3 2 3 5 7 6

Business Admin Honours 2 5 3 8 2 3

Business Administration 2 2 1 7

Chemistry 2 9 5 5 7 4

Computing Science 1 3

Economics 4 5 8 11 20

English 69 78 47 48 38 39

English Honours 1 3 4 1 2 4

English Honours: Creative Writ 1 1 2

Finance 15 20 23 19

French 6 6 10 11 9 8

Geography 28 25 23 14 14 11

Geography Honours 1 2 1 3 1

History 27 27 22 33 22 24

History Honours 3 3

Human Resource Management 16 32 26 30

Indigenous Studies 3

Marketing 19 27 26 29

Math Honours 1

Mathematics 11 7 2 9 4 4

Peace and Conflict Studies 1 1

Philosophy 2 3 5 9 2 5

Philosophy Honours 3

Physical Geography 9 8 5 5 2 6

Physical Geography Honours 1 1 1

Physics 6 14 7 12 13 15

Physics Honours 1 1 1

Political Science 12 6 20 7 11 8

Psychology 48 35 43 45 47 37

Psychology Honours 4 10 6 8 10 6

Sociology 14 11 28 12 12 12

Sociology/Anthropology 13 6 5 11 7 5

Theatre 7 4 9 1

Visual Arts 16 7 7 3 14 11

Total 340 333 426 465 440 433

39
168



Graduates, by Major and Program, for Bachelor’s Degrees in Arts, Business Administration,

Fine Arts, and Science

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Program Major

Bachelor of Arts Economics 4 5 8 11 20

English 69 78 47 48 38 38

English Honours 1 3 4 1 2 4

English Honours: Creative Writ 1 1 2

French 6 5 10 11 9 8

Geography 28 25 23 14 14 11

Geography Honours 1 2 1 3 1

History 27 27 22 32 22 24

History Honours 3 3

Indigenous Studies 3

Mathematics 1

Peace and Conflict Studies 1 1

Philosophy 1 3 5 9 2 5

Philosophy Honours 3

Political Science 12 6 20 7 11 8

Psychology 47 35 42 41 47 36

Psychology Honours 4 10 6 8 10 6

Sociology 14 11 28 12 12 12

Sociology/Anthropology 13 6 5 11 7 5

Theatre 7 4 9 1

Bachelor of Business Administration Accounting 53 48 59 58

Business Admin Honours 2 5 3 8 2 3

Business Administration 2 2 1 7

Finance 15 20 23 19

Human Resource Management 16 32 26 30

Marketing 19 27 26 29

Bachelor of Fine Arts Visual Arts 16 7 7 3 14 11

Bachelor of Science Biology 64 62 60 67 57 52

Biology Honours 3 2 3 5 7 6

Chemistry 2 9 5 5 7 4

Computing Science 1 3

English 1

French 1

40
169



Graduates, by Major and Program, for Bachelor’s Degrees in Arts, Business Administration,

Fine Arts, and Science

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Program Major

Bachelor of Science History 1

Math Honours 1

Mathematics 10 7 2 9 4 4

Philosophy 1

Physical Geography 9 8 5 5 2 6

Physical Geography Honours 1 1 1

Physics 6 14 7 12 13 15

Physics Honours 1 1 1

Psychology 1 1 4 1

Total 340 333 426 465 440 433

41
170



Section 5: Demographic Statistics

UFV Academic Level Credits Completed

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Credits Completed

No Credits Attempted 3,536 3,174 3,192 3,341 3,485 3,361

30 Credits or less 4,345 4,315 4,522 4,453 5,048 4,755

31 to 60 Credits 2,532 2,566 2,603 2,679 2,834 3,388

61 to 90 Credits 1,652 1,658 1,676 1,788 1,794 1,888

91 to 120 Credits 1,146 1,093 1,161 1,117 1,161 1,211

121+ Credits 1,000 1,120 1,055 1,074 1,081 1,073

Total 14,211 13,926 14,209 14,452 15,403 15,676

The No Credits Attempted category includes students who have been enrolled exclusively in hours or course based activity at UFV.

UFV Academic Level Credits Completed by Student Type

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Student Type Credits Completed

Domestic No Credits Attempted 3,391 3,054 3,056 3,029 3,264 3,304

30 Credits or less 3,911 3,882 3,990 3,824 3,863 4,061

31 to 60 Credits 2,313 2,282 2,263 2,303 2,340 2,367

61 to 90 Credits 1,543 1,530 1,511 1,538 1,545 1,540

91 to 120 Credits 1,065 1,025 1,088 1,042 1,029 1,069

121+ Credits 942 1,041 989 1,013 1,003 982

International No Credits Attempted 145 120 136 312 221 57

30 Credits or less 434 433 532 629 1,185 694

31 to 60 Credits 219 284 340 376 494 1,021

61 to 90 Credits 109 128 165 250 249 348

91 to 120 Credits 81 68 73 75 132 142

121+ Credits 58 79 66 61 78 91

Total 14,211 13,926 14,209 14,452 15,403 15,676

42
171



Unduplicated New and Returning Students by Student Type

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Status Student Type

New to UFV Domestic 4,966 4,706 4,836 4,602 4,979 5,130

International 462 405 591 873 1,310 832

Total New to UFV 5,428 5,111 5,427 5,475 6,289 5,962

Returning to UFV Domestic 8,199 8,108 8,061 8,147 8,065 8,193

International 584 707 721 830 1,049 1,521

Total Returning to UFV 8,783 8,815 8,782 8,977 9,114 9,714

Total 14,211 13,926 14,209 14,452 15,403 15,676

Unduplicated New and Returning Students by Semester

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Semester Status

Summer New to UFV 865 791 811 900 1,137 1,177

Returning to UFV 3,517 3,622 3,485 3,458 3,699 4,202

Total Summer 4,382 4,413 4,296 4,358 4,836 5,379

Fall New to UFV 2,989 2,777 2,937 2,965 3,168 3,154

Returning to UFV 7,211 7,291 7,235 7,408 7,561 8,261

Total Fall 10,200 10,068 10,172 10,373 10,729 11,415

Winter New to UFV 1,571 1,420 1,555 1,569 1,940 1,469

Returning to UFV 8,387 8,274 8,415 8,507 8,902 9,632

Total Winter 9,958 9,694 9,970 10,076 10,842 11,101

Trades New to UFV 380 402 424 344 348 397

Returning to UFV 286 348 361 389 421 411

Total Trades 666 750 785 733 769 808

Breakdown of New Students to UFV by Entry Type

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Entry Type

Transfer from Other Institution 691 738 756 647 640 648

Not yet Graduated High School 350 263 311 306 416 350

Direct Entry 1,481 1,423 1,548 1,575 1,983 1,882

1 Year Delay 422 429 470 560 627 627

2 Year Delay 188 222 223 274 281 235

3 Year Delay 125 127 129 118 145 100

4 Year Delay 86 83 104 108 112 91

5 Year Delay 69 63 53 65 64 60

6 Year Delay 47 58 58 52 48 57

7+ Year Delay 382 317 325 360 472 525

No Record of HS Graduation 1,587 1,388 1,450 1,410 1,501 1,387

Total 5,428 5,111 5,427 5,475 6,289 5,962

43
172



Unduplicated New and Returning Students by Semester by Credential Type

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Semester Status Credential Type

Summer New to Credential Associate Degree 7 13 7 5 9 25

Baccalaureate Degree 87 118 86 112 101 114

Certificate 50 75 57 50 50 11

Developmental Credential 139 116 89 138 104 61

Diploma 158 206 176 211 391 337

Graduate Certificate 1

Masters Degree 24

None 696 578 573 640 689 768

Post-degree Certificate 6 3 6 22

Short Certificate 2 3 25 18 22 32

Total New to Credential 1,139 1,109 1,019 1,177 1,372 1,395

Returning to Credential Advanced Certificate 1 1

Apprenticeship 2 10 1 1

Associate Degree 26 42 72 52 26 53

Baccalaureate Degree 1,672 1,808 1,861 1,890 2,037 2,192

Certificate 84 83 88 99 92 128

Developmental Credential 265 226 162 119 143 161

Diploma 1,101 1,013 976 962 1,141 1,380

Graduate Certificate 7

Masters Degree 10 22 16 28 11 49

None 71 71 71 14 10 8

Post-degree Certificate 16 39 23 18 5 6

Short Certificate 2

Total Returning to Credential 3,246 3,308 3,279 3,184 3,465 3,985

Total Summer 4,385 4,417 4,298 4,361 4,837 5,380

Fall New to Credential Advanced Certificate 8 1 5 4 3 6

Apprenticeship 2 1

Associate Degree 84 64 68 18 24 46

Baccalaureate Degree 1,189 1,155 1,202 1,332 1,390 1,455

Certificate 313 255 332 317 365 256

Developmental Credential 510 398 317 379 299 254

Diploma 998 984 1,063 1,023 1,075 1,164

Graduate Certificate 9 38

Masters Degree 20 16 32 12 60 25

None 813 714 792 808 866 861

Post-degree Certificate 16 22 15 3 10 5

Short Certificate 1 37 25 20 31 19

Total New to Credential 3,954 3,646 3,851 3,916 4,132 4,130

Returning to Credential Advanced Certificate 2 5 5 7 4 3

Apprenticeship 4 1 12

Associate Degree 59 96 141 101 52 96

Baccalaureate Degree 3,495 3,662 3,850 3,909 3,990 4,150

Certificate 114 118 108 136 115 129

Developmental Credential 390 353 318 270 274 237

Diploma 2,097 2,090 1,882 2,003 2,137 2,568

Graduate Certificate 12

Masters Degree 11 22 18 31 11 73

None 90 87 18 20 23 18

44
173



Unduplicated New and Returning Students by Semester by Credential Type

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Semester Status Credential Type

Fall Returning to Credential Post-degree Certificate 19 25 11 5 6 29

Short Certificate 2 2 2 1

Total Returning to Credential 6,283 6,461 6,353 6,482 6,613 7,327

Total Fall 10,237 10,107 10,204 10,398 10,745 11,457

Winter New to Credential Advanced Certificate 1 1 1 5

Apprenticeship 13

Associate Degree 34 102 35 12 41 52

Baccalaureate Degree 373 447 375 303 342 313

Certificate 187 235 252 240 224 135

Developmental Credential 302 223 212 226 174 167

Diploma 465 456 614 563 878 557

Graduate Certificate 8 1

None 856 647 794 786 878 805

Post-degree Certificate 29 5 1

Short Certificate 1 30 21 27 46 32

Total New to Credential 2,248 2,145 2,304 2,158 2,605 2,067

Returning to Credential Advanced Certificate 7 5 6 5 7

Apprenticeship 3 3 4 1 20

Associate Degree 103 127 152 82 59 117

Baccalaureate Degree 4,226 4,337 4,521 4,678 4,793 5,026

Certificate 260 262 250 340 309 279

Developmental Credential 493 408 324 361 339 300

Diploma 2,482 2,268 2,301 2,359 2,586 3,106

Graduate Certificate 8 38

Masters Degree 33 36 48 41 67 96

None 99 99 60 61 55 60

Post-degree Certificate 20 20 23 6 16 21

Short Certificate 4 2 2 1

Total Returning to Credential 7,730 7,567 7,691 7,934 8,253 9,050

Total Winter 9,978 9,712 9,995 10,092 10,858 11,117

Trades New to Credential Apprenticeship 155 163 177 177 154 183

Certificate 331 385 392 306 328 354

None 3 1

Post-degree Certificate 7

Total New to Credential 496 548 569 483 483 537

Returning to Credential Apprenticeship 133 161 162 201 228 231

Certificate 41 53 73 56 62 45

Total Returning to Credential 174 214 235 257 290 276

Total Trades 670 762 804 740 773 813

A New Student to a credential is one who is enrolled in the credential for the first time.

A Returning Student to a credential is one who was enrolled in the credential in a previous term.

45
174



Unduplicated Headcount by FT/PT and Gender

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

FT/PT Gender

Full Time Female 3,828 3,774 3,837 3,851 4,074 4,434

Male 3,161 3,217 3,120 3,174 3,218 3,621

Unknown 1 1 2 8 18 32

Total Full Time 6,990 6,992 6,959 7,033 7,310 8,087

Part Time Female 4,535 4,254 4,266 4,402 4,579 4,507

Male 2,673 2,670 2,914 2,936 3,370 2,899

Unknown 13 10 70 81 144 183

Total Part Time 7,221 6,934 7,250 7,419 8,093 7,589

Total 14,211 13,926 14,209 14,452 15,403 15,676

FTEs by FT/PT and Gender

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

FT/PT Gender

Full Time Female 3,398.31 3,371.72 3,419.01 3,443.70 3,662.70 4,024.96

Male 2,920.85 2,960.72 2,868.82 2,869.09 2,967.80 3,439.44

Unknown .80 .87 1.35 7.62 14.89 26.68

Total Full Time 6,319.96 6,333.31 6,289.18 6,320.41 6,645.39 7,491.08

Part Time Female 1,060.39 1,046.24 1,075.16 1,122.43 1,181.19 1,156.97

Male 663.22 699.62 772.05 808.01 934.13 772.35

Unknown .80 .91 8.92 7.70 17.20 23.56

Total Part Time 1,724.41 1,746.77 1,856.14 1,938.14 2,132.51 1,952.88

Total 8,044.37 8,080.08 8,145.32 8,258.55 8,777.90 9,443.97

Average Age by FT/PT and Gender

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

FT/PT Gender

Full Time Female 23.63 23.69 23.37 23.08 23.36 23.04

Male 22.67 22.79 22.53 22.55 22.52 22.14

Part Time Female 31.04 29.98 30.05 30.39 29.82 30.09

Male 28.33 27.27 27.27 27.17 26.78 26.88

Overall Average 26.41 25.93 25.81 25.80 25.62 25.54

46
175



Unduplicated Headcount by FT/PT, Gender, and Age Category

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

FT/PT Gender Age

Full Time Female 18-19 1,035 968 982 1,075 1,166 1,381

20-24 1,886 1,895 1,979 1,906 1,931 2,085

25-29 382 377 367 389 404 409

30-39 231 251 226 209 252 243

40-49 133 124 119 103 122 126

50+ 59 52 44 31 56 46

<18 102 107 120 138 143 144

Male 18-19 870 905 898 856 916 1,141

20-24 1,583 1,559 1,503 1,638 1,607 1,722

25-29 327 369 332 331 325 346

30-39 157 154 165 163 164 138

40-49 55 62 39 40 49 45

50+ 15 23 20 16 15 20

<18 154 145 163 130 142 209

Unknown 18-19 4 9 12

20-24 2 5 10

25-29 1 1

30-39 1 1 1 1 3

40-49 2

50+ 1 1

<18 1 2 4

Total Full Time 6,990 6,992 6,959 7,033 7,310 8,087

Part Time Female 18-19 601 664 704 677 752 677

20-24 1,292 1,301 1,239 1,302 1,297 1,276

25-29 618 602 597 614 644 633

30-39 669 571 609 652 645 682

40-49 527 468 457 467 481 481

50+ 575 449 457 495 477 479

<18 252 198 203 195 281 279

Unknown 1 1 2

Male 18-19 430 511 509 614 855 589

20-24 881 953 1,065 1,030 1,038 992

25-29 389 380 417 376 375 371

30-39 324 325 305 302 310 307

40-49 186 167 198 193 275 198

50+ 250 188 213 220 226 196

<18 213 145 206 201 291 246

Unknown 1 1

Unknown 18-19 2 1 10 6 26 14

20-24 1 3 2 11 20 18

25-29 1 1 9 2 6 18

30-39 5 2 6 13 17 42

40-49 2 2 21 12 18 40

50+ 2 1 10 11 16 29

<18 9 24 38 20

Unknown 3 2 3 2

Total Part Time 7,221 6,934 7,250 7,419 8,093 7,589

Total 14,211 13,926 14,209 14,452 15,403 15,676

47
176



Headcount by Credential Type, FT/PT, and Gender

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Credential Type FT/PT Gender

Advanced Certificate Full Time Female 1

Male 1

Part Time Female 14 7 11 10 7 13

Male 1 1 2

Apprenticeship Full Time Female 7 11 8 10 13 11

Male 266 302 296 358 363 382

Unknown 3

Part Time Female 1

Male 5 2 2 1 2

Associate Degree Full Time Female 87 117 126 63 39 83

Male 31 49 46 30 36 59

Part Time Female 56 74 68 48 36 42

Male 20 45 40 23 21 23

Baccalaureate Degree Full Time Female 2,255 2,286 2,425 2,526 2,575 2,754

Male 1,549 1,663 1,576 1,607 1,643 1,712

Unknown 1 1 1 2 8 10

Part Time Female 1,026 1,063 1,071 1,136 1,182 1,179

Male 653 705 764 749 805 793

Unknown 2 5 3

Certificate Full Time Female 385 363 435 355 405 327

Male 331 338 357 310 324 315

Unknown 3 4 5

Part Time Female 220 276 246 311 279 303

Male 71 106 90 94 82 63

Unknown 1 3

Developmental Credential Full Time Female 263 197 164 107 139 98

Male 254 200 179 137 107 90

Unknown 4

Part Time Female 599 501 407 470 411 380

Male 348 287 275 381 275 224

Unknown 3 6 8 13

Diploma Full Time Female 1,035 1,043 981 1,008 1,132 1,299

Male 899 809 824 858 887 1,171

Unknown 1 4 9

Part Time Female 1,405 1,361 1,443 1,314 1,530 1,444

Male 948 969 993 1,019 1,342 1,032

Unknown 1 1 7 9 12

Graduate Certificate Full Time Female 5

Part Time Female 13 47

Male 4 4

Masters Degree Full Time Female 20 21 21 24 31 77

Male 9 14 21 16 12 18

Unknown 1

Part Time Female 6 3 7 2 21 5

Male 1 2 2 8 1

Unknown 1

None Full Time Female 106 95 58 43 31 74

Male 66 103 50 64 60 73

Unknown 1 3 3 2

48
177



Headcount by Credential Type, FT/PT, and Gender

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Credential Type FT/PT Gender

None Part Time Female 1,289 1,028 1,080 1,167 1,165 1,136

Male 662 620 786 698 872 783

Unknown 12 10 66 67 119 150

Post-degree Certificate Full Time Female 23 16 13 6 10 11

Male 19 21 16 5 8 14

Part Time Female 12 17 8 7 1 8

Male 16 14 8 7 3 9

Short Certificate Full Time Female 1 2 1 1 2

Male 1 1 2 1

Part Time Female 5 46 34 30 62 53

Male 1 5 8 1 4 3

Unknown 2 2

Total 14,979 14,792 15,015 15,092 16,106 16,337

49
178



FTEs by Credential Type, FT/PT, and Gender

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Credential Type FT/PT Gender

Advanced Certificate Full Time Female .38

Male .71

Part Time Female 1.67 .96 1.33 1.33 .63 1.63

Male .08 .17 .17

Total Advanced Certificate 1.75 .96 2.04 1.87 .63 1.79

Apprenticeship Full Time Female 7.00 12.35 8.00 10.00 14.04 14.00

Male 299.27 337.15 343.18 371.03 391.58 430.20

Unknown 3.00

Part Time Female .33

Male .23 .10 .10 .05 .07

Total Apprenticeship 306.83 349.60 351.28 381.08 405.69 447.20

Associate Degree Full Time Female 55.13 72.48 83.33 41.95 30.67 74.13

Male 17.60 30.17 30.70 20.67 25.67 55.60

Part Time Female 17.65 19.63 18.82 14.33 15.18 16.70

Male 6.22 13.78 13.16 7.27 8.35 10.27

Total Associate Degree 96.59 136.07 146.02 84.22 79.86 156.70

Baccalaureate Degree Full Time Female 1,943.86 1,982.04 2,118.73 2,209.59 2,268.38 2,422.39

Male 1,338.11 1,427.08 1,373.96 1,389.33 1,420.72 1,483.12

Unknown .80 .87 .60 2.13 6.52 7.45

Part Time Female 336.26 349.87 362.37 386.84 393.43 390.54

Male 222.63 244.76 269.87 262.24 288.83 271.94

Unknown .40 1.43 .90

Total Baccalaureate Degree 3,841.66 4,004.61 4,125.53 4,250.52 4,379.31 4,576.35

Certificate Full Time Female 336.41 312.70 383.61 315.17 347.68 273.12

Male 323.72 333.83 362.12 299.96 320.09 316.03

Unknown 3.00 4.00 4.83

Part Time Female 59.67 76.78 65.60 92.86 85.05 92.45

Male 19.11 25.56 23.75 22.49 24.01 17.52

Unknown .42 1.14

Total Certificate 738.91 748.86 835.08 733.47 781.26 705.09

Developmental Credential Full Time Female 210.44 158.81 99.14 78.95 94.76 68.07

Male 216.46 157.45 118.55 99.09 80.51 67.84

Unknown 2.67

Part Time Female 151.27 131.53 109.31 131.42 107.73 95.08

Male 85.32 79.91 81.82 118.52 78.38 57.30

Unknown .75 .75 1.42 3.83

Total Developmental Credential 663.50 527.69 409.56 428.74 362.80 294.78

Diploma Full Time Female 721.63 725.27 666.16 736.06 856.59 1,058.15

Male 649.44 573.27 574.58 633.63 675.26 1,024.27

Unknown .60 2.73 6.15

Part Time Female 373.70 358.69 401.31 375.77 452.36 416.79

Male 274.43 278.96 306.41 327.49 444.07 327.70

Unknown .10 .10 2.30 2.69 3.32

Total Diploma 2,019.30 1,936.19 1,948.56 2,075.84 2,433.70 2,836.38

Graduate Certificate Full Time Female 3.17

Part Time Female 3.61 14.73

50
179



FTEs by Credential Type, FT/PT, and Gender

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Credential Type FT/PT Gender

Graduate Certificate Part Time Male 1.33 1.44

Total Graduate Certificate .00 .00 .00 .00 4.94 19.34

Masters Degree Full Time Female 15.28 19.08 15.78 21.89 23.72 75.06

Male 8.33 10.42 18.89 15.39 11.72 16.94

Unknown 1.08

Part Time Female 2.00 1.17 2.83 .94 7.00 1.83

Male .33 .94 .42 2.61 .58

Unknown .33

Total Masters Degree 25.61 31.00 38.44 38.64 45.39 95.50

None Full Time Female 92.98 74.28 32.29 25.55 18.91 29.59

Male 54.05 73.55 30.87 36.62 36.63 33.28

Unknown .75 1.89 1.64 1.50

Part Time Female 111.97 90.61 105.19 110.61 104.49 115.13

Male 48.92 51.40 73.00 66.94 85.13 82.21

Unknown .70 .91 8.07 4.25 10.67 14.07

Total None 308.63 290.75 250.16 245.85 257.47 275.78

Post-degree Certificate Full Time Female 14.70 12.90 11.48 3.67 7.20 7.28

Male 13.50 16.40 12.39 3.29 5.61 12.16

Part Time Female 4.56 7.03 .98 1.12 .12 2.50

Male 5.77 4.01 1.20 2.38 .81 2.62

Total Post-degree Certificate 38.52 40.34 26.05 10.46 13.74 24.55

Short Certificate Full Time Female .88 1.79 .50 .50 .76

Male .38 1.42 2.88 .10

Part Time Female 1.31 9.98 7.41 7.21 11.59 9.59

Male .50 .82 1.80 .06 .53 .59

Unknown .23 .31

Total Short Certificate 3.06 14.00 12.59 7.87 13.11 10.50

Total 8,044.37 8,080.08 8,145.32 8,258.55 8,777.90 9,443.97

51
180



Average Age by Credential Type, FT/PT, and Gender

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Credential Type FT/PT Gender

Advanced Certificate Full Time Female 27.34

Male 32.72

Part Time Female 45.56 47.71 40.75 37.23 40.40 40.29

Male 45.33 33.72 38.05

Apprenticeship Full Time Female 28.32 22.67 22.79 24.81 23.98 26.38

Male 24.90 24.93 24.60 25.21 25.82 25.53

Part Time Female 26.73

Male 25.99 25.88 26.37 25.24 32.61

Associate Degree Full Time Female 20.78 22.02 22.46 22.04 21.25 20.70

Male 21.41 22.14 23.61 23.47 22.78 20.49

Part Time Female 21.95 22.82 24.23 22.85 19.80 20.98

Male 21.93 22.92 22.46 22.81 19.97 20.93

Baccalaureate Degree Full Time Female 22.90 22.99 22.96 22.81 23.00 22.81

Male 22.34 22.34 22.44 22.37 22.20 22.02

Part Time Female 27.25 27.10 27.72 27.67 27.04 27.05

Male 25.18 25.02 24.86 25.02 24.91 24.92

Certificate Full Time Female 25.70 26.09 25.82 24.93 26.56 25.18

Male 22.35 22.41 21.93 22.16 21.89 21.57

Part Time Female 27.73 27.37 25.80 26.31 26.42 28.65

Male 26.06 25.25 24.48 24.33 24.47 23.76

Developmental Credential Full Time Female 25.90 24.47 23.16 23.80 26.89 25.35

Male 22.82 22.30 21.35 21.98 23.51 22.40

Part Time Female 34.78 31.36 29.98 29.45 30.69 30.53

Male 34.05 27.90 26.75 26.20 26.89 28.56

Diploma Full Time Female 23.90 23.88 23.29 22.96 22.64 22.13

Male 22.53 22.61 21.83 21.77 21.83 21.18

Part Time Female 27.46 27.55 27.30 27.15 26.33 26.75

Male 25.34 24.91 24.49 24.09 22.88 23.38

Graduate Certificate Full Time Female 32.50

Part Time Female 31.17 43.01

Male 34.89 39.04

Masters Degree Full Time Female 38.64 41.10 37.33 36.74 36.35 39.91

Male 36.38 40.98 38.22 34.96 37.74 42.11

Part Time Female 48.99 39.64 38.18 40.45 47.44 44.19

Male 29.48 47.08 30.14 43.11 38.07

None Full Time Female 25.74 25.39 23.29 22.68 24.20 20.90

Male 23.46 24.53 22.58 22.24 21.78 21.43

Part Time Female 36.84 36.10 36.89 37.99 37.16 36.90

Male 32.88 33.38 33.61 34.85 34.42 33.08

Post-degree Certificate Full Time Female 25.75 25.35 26.90 24.48 26.90 24.13

Male 26.09 27.30 26.23 24.93 25.62 25.37

Part Time Female 25.15 25.73 28.37 26.25 24.53 28.66

Male 26.47 29.01 29.35 30.40 33.42 26.86

Short Certificate Full Time Female 37.10 29.12 49.04 26.92 24.37

Male 22.31 38.78 35.08 19.32

Part Time Female 25.13 38.78 39.73 37.85 36.35 39.67

Male 58.18 31.58 34.63 34.83 32.86 42.94

Overall Average 28.98 28.27 28.80 27.21 28.22 28.98

52
181



Self-Declared Indigenous Headcount by Credential Type

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Credential Type

Apprenticeship 5 14 6 17 18 25

Associate Degree 14 25 22 8 4 4

Baccalaureate Degree 241 239 258 265 292 292

Certificate 72 86 75 59 99 99

Developmental Credential 147 133 90 90 117 99

Diploma 260 235 224 231 224 265

Graduate Certificate 1

Masters Degree 3 3 3 4 27 25

None 72 77 42 34 57 46

Short Certificate 2 1 4 2 3

Total 816 813 724 710 838 859

Note: Students can self-declare as being Indigenous while studying at UFV. UFV does not require students to declare their status.

On their application form, students may elect to self-declare as Aboriginal, First Nations, Métis, or Inuit.

Self-Declared Indigenous Unduplicated Headcount by FT/PT and Gender

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

FT/PT Gender

Full Time Female 246 231 243 242 265 278

Male 134 150 114 117 123 128

Unknown 1 4

Total Full Time 380 381 357 359 389 410

Part Time Female 268 276 241 228 301 304

Male 122 104 89 92 88 103

Unknown 1 5 7 8

Total Part Time 390 380 331 325 396 415

Total 770 761 688 684 785 825

Self-Declared Indigenous Average Age by FT/PT and Gender

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

FT/PT Gender

Full Time Female 25.25 26.13 26.26 25.39 25.46 26.09

Male 24.63 24.70 24.98 23.90 25.28 25.22

Part Time Female 29.80 29.93 28.96 28.71 30.50 30.74

Male 27.46 25.40 26.04 26.72 27.32 26.69

Overall Average 26.79 26.54 26.56 26.18 27.14 27.19

53
182



Continuing Education Unduplicated Headcount by FT/PT and Gender

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

FT/PT Gender

Full Time Female 166 148 175 108 119 90

Male 26 69 35 45 48 40

Unknown 1 2 3 3

Total Full Time 192 217 211 155 170 133

Part Time Female 1,250 1,052 1,045 1,214 1,174 1,147

Male 616 576 731 655 811 726

Unknown 12 10 66 67 117 152

Total Part Time 1,878 1,638 1,842 1,936 2,102 2,025

Total 2,070 1,855 2,053 2,091 2,272 2,158

This table only includes students enrolled in a Continuing Education level program.

Continuing Education Average Age by FT/PT and Gender

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

FT/PT Gender

Full Time Female 24.92 24.68 24.84 25.03 27.55 25.60

Male 23.17 24.09 25.01 22.91 22.61 23.31

Part Time Female 37.59 36.77 37.69 37.89 37.93 37.82

Male 33.86 34.12 34.26 35.61 35.47 34.18

Overall Average 29.88 29.92 30.45 30.36 30.89 30.23

This table only includes students enrolled in a Continuing Education level program.

54
183



Unduplicated Headcount by City of Residence

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

City

Abbotsford 5,844 5,669 5,810 5,918 6,328 6,563

Agassiz 239 262 234 241 264 296

Aldergrove 293 284 253 262 281 278

Burnaby 40 42 42 46 59 55

Chilliwack 2,927 2,844 2,940 2,926 3,109 3,164

Coquitlam 68 76 65 61 71 72

Delta 39 52 70 71 85 90

Hope 268 250 241 238 208 240

Langley 1,116 1,067 1,063 1,033 1,084 1,141

Maple Ridge 568 527 484 427 428 446

Mission 1,004 973 989 968 958 958

Pitt Meadows 50 63 67 54 52 61

Richmond 31 43 36 30 27 30

Surrey 780 813 883 953 1,171 1,241

Vancouver 100 100 84 74 94 115

All Other 844 861 948 1,150 1,184 926

Total 14,211 13,926 14,209 14,452 15,403 15,676

City of residence is based on a student's self reported mailing address at the end of a given fiscal year.

55
184



Unduplicated Headcount by City of Residence and FT/PT

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

City FT/PT

Abbotsford Full Time 2,946 2,885 2,934 3,094 3,175 3,616

Part Time 2,898 2,784 2,876 2,824 3,153 2,947

Agassiz Full Time 80 85 89 101 101 114

Part Time 159 177 145 140 163 182

Aldergrove Full Time 155 142 128 135 123 137

Part Time 138 142 125 127 158 141

Burnaby Full Time 12 23 23 26 21 26

Part Time 28 19 19 20 38 29

Chilliwack Full Time 1,278 1,290 1,299 1,266 1,350 1,369

Part Time 1,649 1,554 1,641 1,660 1,759 1,795

Coquitlam Full Time 33 35 32 27 34 38

Part Time 35 41 33 34 37 34

Delta Full Time 22 29 41 37 39 51

Part Time 17 23 29 34 46 39

Hope Full Time 99 105 83 89 96 100

Part Time 169 145 158 149 112 140

Langley Full Time 632 604 575 588 589 643

Part Time 484 463 488 445 495 498

Maple Ridge Full Time 334 309 295 243 250 255

Part Time 234 218 189 184 178 191

Mission Full Time 417 443 473 463 463 481

Part Time 587 530 516 505 495 477

Pitt Meadows Full Time 27 33 36 31 33 34

Part Time 23 30 31 23 19 27

Richmond Full Time 16 22 14 16 18 12

Part Time 15 21 22 14 9 18

Surrey Full Time 423 452 482 461 539 741

Part Time 357 361 401 492 632 500

Vancouver Full Time 42 49 34 33 33 55

Part Time 58 51 50 41 61 60

All Other Full Time 474 486 421 423 446 415

Part Time 370 375 527 727 738 511

Total 14,211 13,926 14,209 14,452 15,403 15,676

56
185



International Student Country of Origin

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Country

Albania 1 1 1

Australia 2

Austria 1 1 1

Bangladesh 2 2 1 1 2 2

Belgium 2

Brazil 2 3 4 6 6 3

Cameroon 1 2 1

Cayman Islands 1 1 1 1

Central African Republic 1

Chile 1 2 2 2

China 474 489 418 357 294 233

Colombia 2 1 1 1 2 3

Cuba 1 1

Czech Republic 1

Egypt 1 3 4 4 4 4

El Salvador 1 2 2 1

Ethiopia 1 1 1 1 2

Fiji 1 1

France 1 1

Germany 4 3 4 2 2 3

Ghana 7 3 2 2

Hong Kong 1 2 3 3 3 4

India 325 389 636 1,038 1,680 1,814

Indonesia 1 1 1 4 5

Iran (Islamic Republic of) 1 3 5 8 9 5

Israel 1 1 1

Italy 3 3 3 3 3

Jamaica 1 1

Japan 30 23 28 29 26 28

Jordan 1 1 1 1 1

Kazakhstan 1 1 1 1 2

Kenya 5 5 4 4 4 4

Korea (S), Republic of 47 36 32 29 27 23

Lebanon 1

Libyan Arab Jamahiriya 1 1 1

Liechtenstein 1

Luxembourg 1

Malaysia 1

Mauritius 3 2 1 1 2 1

Mexico 5 4 4 4 6 7

Morocco 6 4 2 2 1 1

Nepal 1 2

New Zealand 1 1 1

Nigeria 12 10 9 9 6 6

Pakistan 5 5 4 5 4 3

Paraguay 1 1

Peru 2 1

Philippines 1 1 9 10 11 9

Qatar 1 1 1 1 2 2

57
186



International Student Country of Origin

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Country

Romania 1 1

Russian Federation 5 4 2 2 3 4

Saudi Arabia 49 44 32 24 13 3

South Africa 1 1 2 1 1

Spain 1 1 2 2 1

Sri Lanka 2 4 3 5 5

Sudan 1 1 1 1

Sweden 1

Switzerland 6 7 4 5 1

Syrian Arab Republic 1

Taiwan 4 2 3 4 4 4

Tajikistan 1 1 1 1

Tanzania, United Republic of 1 1 3 2 1 2

Thailand 3 4 5 4 5 5

Trinidad and Tobago 1 1 1 1 1

Tunisia 1 1 1 1

Turkey 1 1 1 3 4

Uganda 1 2 2 2 1

Ukraine 2 5 1

United Arab Emirates 1 1 1 1

United Kingdom 6 4 3 10 8 4

United States of America 4 9 11 18 13 10

Unknown Or Unspecified Country 7 4 31 70 144 90

Uruguay 1 1

Venezuela 2 2 2 1 1 1

Vietnam 3 5 5 18 39 37

Yemen 1 1

Zaire 1 1

Zambia 1

Zimbabwe 2 1 1 1

Total 1,046 1,112 1,312 1,703 2,359 2,353

58
187



Credit Level Course Registrations by Online and In Class

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Online 4,626 7.9% 4,544 7.6% 4,721 7.8% 5,188 8.4% 5,779 8.7% 7,087 9.7%

In Class 54,188 92.1% 55,271 92.4% 55,447 92.2% 56,465 91.6% 60,505 91.3% 66,055 90.3%

Total 58,814 100.0% 59,815 100.0% 60,168 100.0% 61,653 100.0% 66,284 100.0% 73,142 100.0%

Excludes Developmental, Graduate, Trades, and Continuing Education registrations.

59
188



Employee Demographics for the 2019-20 Fiscal Year

Gender

Female Male

Employee Type Count % of Total Count % of Total

Continuing Education 42 2.5% 15 .9%

Contracted Advisor 1 .1%

Contracted Excluded 7 .4% 1 .1%

Contracted Non Teaching Faculty 2 .1%

Contracted Staff 32 1.9% 11 .7%

Hourly Advisor 1 .1%

Hourly Excluded 2 .1%

Hourly Faculty 29 1.7% 21 1.3%

Hourly Non Teaching Faculty 4 .2% 2 .1%

Hourly Staff 102 6.1% 32 1.9%

Non Bargaining Unit 36 2.2% 36 2.2%

Perm Advisor 17 1.0% 4 .2%

Perm Director 13 .8% 5 .3%

Perm Excluded 59 3.5% 42 2.5%

Perm Faculty 187 11.2% 159 9.6%

Perm Non Teaching Faculty 22 1.3% 6 .4%

Perm Staff 292 17.5% 101 6.1%

Sessional Faculty 177 10.6% 195 11.7%

Temp Excluded 8 .5% 1 .1%

Total 1,033 62.1% 631 37.9%

Source: UFV Human Resources

60
189



Average Age of Employee for the 2019-20 Fiscal Year

Gender

Female Male

Employee Type

Continuing Education 47.80 56.46

Contracted Advisor 37.14

Contracted Excluded 52.45 62.89

Contracted Non Teaching Faculty 40.12

Contracted Staff 39.27 34.37

Hourly Advisor 60.23

Hourly Excluded 60.17

Hourly Faculty 40.59 51.42

Hourly Non Teaching Faculty 42.66 62.07

Hourly Staff 37.57 37.88

Non Bargaining Unit 30.88 35.07

Perm Advisor 44.48 46.73

Perm Director 49.04 51.19

Perm Excluded 51.18 52.01

Perm Faculty 49.98 53.45

Perm Non Teaching Faculty 51.07 54.19

Perm Staff 45.71 46.62

Sessional Faculty 48.49 49.54

Temp Excluded 41.57 39.71

Overall Average 45.81 48.91

Source: UFV Human Resources

61
190



Section 6: Financial Data

Provincial Operating Grant 58,083,041$      

Industry Training Authority Grant 1,777,320$        

Tuition & Student Fees 63,786,788$      

Other Revenue 2,694,374$        

Ancillary Services Contribution 1,259,261$        

127,600,784$    

President & Vice Chancellor 964,757$           

University Secretariat 666,239$           

Provost & VP Academic 13,700,001$      

CFO & VP Administration 19,459,880$      

VP Student 9,780,180$        

VP External 3,180,214$        

Central University Costs 8,681,738$        

College of Arts 19,081,008$      

Faculty of Access & Cont Education 3,868,546$        

Faculty of Health Sciences 8,086,943$        

Faculty of Professional Studies 12,520,771$      

Faculty of Science 8,177,887$        

Faculty of Applied & Technical Studies 6,398,081$        

Continuing Studies 3,799,316$        

International Education 9,235,223$        

127,600,784$    

Source: UFV Financial Services

2019-20 Operating Budget

Revenue Budget

Expense Budget by Portfolio

62
191



COLLECTIONS 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Print Volumes 182,594 179,591 180,882 171,166 159,147 159,443

Videos and DVDs 10,974 10,284 8,820 8,659 8,303 7,185

Other Audio/Visual Formats 1,544 884 9,862 9,594 9,794 9,845

E-books 204,604 265,627 273,284 286,404 310,865 357,617

E-journals* 60,410 64,578 64,230 58,496 68,435 70,749

Streaming media 16,346 23,794 32,713 57,516 63,697 56,514

TOTAL 476,472 544,758 569,791 591,835 620,241 661,353

COLLECTION EXPENDITURES 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Print Volumes $296,786 $157,154 $126,299 $145,865 $120,024 $103,442

Videos and Films $25,429 $19,018 $17,844 $20,049 $13,413 $9,172

Print Periodicals $109,042 $33,551 $26,990 $22,072 $16,933 $6,111

E-books - $59,129 $62,556 $59,840 $115,905 $163,903

E-journals - $556,705 $576,455 $615,387 $597,769 $539,415

Streaming media - $20,261 $19,112 $25,659 $63,784 $45,596

E-other (e.g. indexes) - $281,127 $349,957 $368,784 $382,786 $504,051

Electronic Materials* $759,501  

TOTAL $1,190,758 $1,126,945 $1,179,213 $1,257,656 $1,310,615 $1,371,690

*Note that from 2015/16 on, electronic materials is divided into specific categories.

SERVICES 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Reference questions 17,878       16,249       12,864       13,818       13,536       14,689       

Library instruction sessions 197            177            181            170            188            186            

Circulation of materials 56,720       46,909       42,587       39,171       50,675       46,584       

Article downloads (e-journals)* 513,926     533,491     542,135     570,298     424,128     

E-book section downloads 289,795     292,162     299,491     255,454     89,026       

Entrance count** 387,545     392,625     396,151     N/A 440,973     432,983     

*Counter 5 reporting standards introduced in 2019. Duplicates HTML and PDF full text views.

**2017/18 entrance count unavailable - library renovations.  In 2019/20, libraries closed March 18, 2020 due to COVID 19.

Source: UFV Library Services

UFV LIBRARY SERVICES (2019/20)

*Note that methodology and/or systems for counting duplicate electronic journal titles changed in 2017/18 and 2019/20.

Section 7: Library Services

$0

$100,000

$200,000

$300,000

$400,000

$500,000

$600,000

$700,000

Print Volumes Videos and

Films

Print

Periodicals

E-books E-journals Streaming

media

E-other (e.g.

indexes)

Library Collections (2014/15 - 2019/20)

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

63
192



Section 8:  Faculty and Staff  
Teaching Faculty   

 PhD Total 

Permanent 159 346 

Sessional 75 372 

Hourly  50 

Non-Teaching Faculty   

Permanent    28 

Contracted  2 

Hourly  6 

Advisors   

Permanent 21 

Contracted 1 

Hourly 1 

Staff   

Permanent 393 

Contracted 43 

Hourly 134 

Excluded   

Permanent 101 

Temporary Excluded from a Permanent Position 9 

Contracted 8 

Hourly 2 

Directors – Permanent  18 

Continuing Education Instructors 57 

Non Bargaining Staff 72 

Total Employees   1,664 

 

 

64
193



Section 9: Research, Engagement, & Graduate Studies 

President and Vice Chancellor, Dr. Joanne MacLean has said “Research and teaching are the 

core functions of our institution and are fundamentally linked.” UFV has a strong reputation in 

applied research, which continues to provide significant opportunities for undergraduates by 

encouraging their engagement in active learning, and contributes to the development of the 

regional economy as per UFV’s strategic goals. 

UFV has added three research centres. The current total comprises of six research centers, two 

institutes and one research lab, which collectively have contributed to the increase in the total 

number and dollar value of research contracts and grants held at the university in 2019-20. 

Current centres and institutes include the Food and Agriculture Institute, the South Asian Studies 

Institute, the Centre for Global Development, the Centre for Health and Social Innovation, the 

Centre for Education and Research on Aging, the Centre for Public Safety and Criminal Justice 

Research, the Peace and Reconciliation Centre, and the Esposito Family Centre on Innovation 

and Entrepreneurship. In addition, the Luminescence Dating Lab is the only such lab in Western 

Canada.  

The Canada Research Chair in Food Security and the Environment, Dr. Lenore Newman, 

continues to conduct research, including collaborative projects with community and governments 

at multiple levels. In addition, Dr. Newman co-authored the provincial report, The Future of 

BC’s Food System, as part of her contribution to the Premier’s Task Force on provincial food 

security.  

 

The Canada Research Chair in Indigenous and Community Engaged History, Dr. Keith Carlson, 

has built upon his record of partnered research with Stó:lō communities in the Fraser Valley and 

is working on the creation of a training and research centre for Indigenous youth at the 

Chilliwack campus. 

 

Canada Research Chair, Dr. Cindy Jardine, has furthered her research on health promotion, 

diabetes, obesity, and suicide prevention in two rural First Nations Communities, and two Métis 

communities in Canada. She is also leading or collaborating on two CIHR grants investigating 

the COVID-19 pandemic. 

As research activities have increased over the past few years, the Research Office increased its 

administration staff, including a dedicated Grants and Compliance Officer, a Communications 

and Events Coordinator, and a Curator that is documenting the stories behind Indigenous art that 

is displayed on campus. We anticipate further growth as resources allow. The institutes and 

centres have also increased the number of staff and researchers as research contracts and grants 

have supported the necessary personnel. 

Currently there are seven Graduate Studies Master’s, Diplomas and Certificates and there are three 

programs in development, all administered by the AVP’s office.  

  

65
194



Activity that the Research Office has seen in the past year includes:

 Faculty researchers, including Canada Research Chairs, successfully acquired 32 new research 

grants and contracts, compared to 18 in the previous year. The dollar value more than doubled 

to a total of more than $3.7 million. 

  Twelve new Tri-Council grants awarded to UFV researchers: 

o 3 CIHR Grants 

o 1 SSHRC Insight Development Grant 

o 1 Canada Research Chair Tier 1 Award 

o 7 NSERC Undergraduate Student Research Awards 

 A 5.5% increase in students participating in Student Research Day over 2019, despite having to 

switch from the buzzing on-campus event to an online experience in response to COVID-19 

constraints. 

 43% more research assistants hired through the Research Office, plus another 75 Work Study 

Research Assistants funded by the Career Centre for a total of 280 research assistants.  

 41 students received Undergraduate Research Excellence Awards totaling $25,250 for 

adjudicated individual and group projects. Overall, the cash prizes for student research awards 

more than doubled from $58,100 to $124,000 over last year. 

 30 students travelled to research conferences with funds provided by the Research Student 

Presentation Grant (prior to the travel ban instituted in March by UFV due to COVID-19). 

 Graduate program admissions increased from 77 to 92, with total enrollments up from 90 in 

2018-2019, to 185 in 2019-2020. 

 Student researchers shined at Convocation: 

o 3 Student speakers 

o 2 Governor General Medalists 

o 3 Deans’ Medalists 

 

66
195



 

67
196



Section 10: Student Services 

ATHLETICS – Team Sizes 

 

Men’s Basketball 13 

Women’s Basketball 15 

Men’s Soccer 34 

Women’s Soccer 28 

Men’s Golf 8 

Women’s Golf 4 

Men’s Rowing 2 

Women’s Rowing 4 

Men’s Volleyball  15 

Women’s Volleyball 16 

Men’s Wrestling 8 

Women’s Wrestling 1 

Women’s Rugby 7’s 17 

Baseball 34 

TOTAL:   199 
 

CAREER CENTRE 
 

Summer 2019: 

Number of Co-op placements: 50 

Number of Career Service events: 10 

Number of Career Coaching appointments: 89 

Number of Work-Study students working at the CECE: 0 

 

Fall 2019: 

Number of Co-op placements: 39 

Number of Career Service events: 11 

Number of Career Coaching appointments: 51 

Number of Work-Study students working at the CECE: 1 

 

Winter 2020: 

Number of Co-op placements: 35 

Number of Career Service events: 10 

Number of Career Coaching appointments: 39 

Number of Work-Study students working at the CECE: 3 

 

 

Number of UFV Work-Study Grant program students funded for fiscal 2019-20: 222 
 

68
197



CENTRE FOR ACCESSIBILITY SERVICES 
 

1,121 students registered in the 2019-20 academic year. 

DONATIONS 
 

Total amount of donations received in the 2019-20 fiscal year:   655 donors  

         4,089 donations 

         $ 1.33 million dollars 

FINANCIAL AID AND AWARDS 
 

743 Recipients for Bursaries valued at $616,943  

Award values vary up to $1,500/semester 

  

360 Recipients for Scholarships valued at $411,010 

Award values vary up to $3,000/award 

  

18 Recipients for BC Athletic Assistance Program valued at $20,018 
            Award values vary up to $2,500/year 

 

147 Recipients for Athletic Scholarships valued at $166,798 

            Award values vary up to $3,000/award 

  

102 Recipients for Emergency Grants valued at $55,373 

Award values vary up to $1,000/year 

  

129 Recipients for BC Student Emergency Assistance valued at $74,820  

One time Provincial Grant Funding - Available once/academic year 

  

73 Recipients for Youth Futures Education Assistance Fund valued at $64,667  

Award values vary up to $3,000/year 

  

159 Recipients for Entrance Scholarships valued at $278,301  

Award values vary up to $40,000 

  

117 Recipients received Private/External awards valued at $182,452 

 

 

Total value of Scholarships and Bursaries administered through FA&A for Fiscal 2019-20 is 

$1,687,930, this does not include private external awards. 
  

69
198



EDUCATIONAL ADVISING 
 

Advising Centre Academic Advising Student Contacts, June 2019 to June 2020 

Face to Face 

Appointments 

Drop-In 

Appointments 

Email 

Appointments 

Phone & Email 

Inquiries 

13,368 865 4,133 14,757 

 

 

Advising Centre Front Desk: Student 

Contacts, June 2019 to June 2020 

Phone Email 
Non-appointment 

Walk-in Inquiries 

4,883 14,961 7,662 

 

 

 

70
199



Section 11: Energy Usage 
 

Table 1: 2019/20 Energy use and estimated costs 

Location Electricity Natural Gas Energy Total 

Campus m2 kWh $ GJ ekWh $ ekWh $ 

ABB & AERO 56,070 6,501,755 $618,502 21,667 6,018,735 $117,926 12,520,490 $736,428 

CEP 32,571 3,367,448 $324,842 17,558 4,877,196 $132,093 8,244,644 $456,935 

Total 88,641 9,869,203 $943,344 39,225 10,895,932 $250,019 20,765,135 $1,193,363 

*Cost estimate accuracy is limited by fluctuating rates and administrative fees unrelated to energy consumption. 
  

  
Figure 1: 2019 Carbon emissions by source.   Figure 2: Building emissions per year, and normalized   

  emissions for space and weather fluctuations. 
  

Table 2: UFV Historical Energy Consumption and Costs 

    Electricity Natural Gas Energy Total 

Fiscal m2 kWh $ GJ ekWh $ ekWh $ 

2014/2015 94,734 10,266,500 $911,313 35,677 9,910,230 $342,119 20,176,730 $1,253,432 

2015/2016 94,734 11,297,690 $1,080,527 40,425 11,229,255 $327,502 22,526,945 $1,408,029 

2016/2017 92,835 11,040,667 $1,091,951 44,391 12,330,940 $356,027 23,371,607 $1,447,979 

2017/2018 92,835 10,668,116 $1,078,422 45,197 12,554,844 $336,858 23,222,960 $1,415,280 

2018/2019 92,157 10,228,339 $1,042,412 38,626 10,729,322 $351,365 20,957,661 $1,393,777 

2019/2020 88,641 9,869,203 $943,344 39,225 10,895,932 $250,019 20,765,135 $1,193,363 
  

Table 3: Annual Campus Energy Consumption Normalized for Weather Behavior 

ekWh/DD 

ABB & 

AERO CEP 

CHWK - N 

& 5 

Corners Overall Difference 

Overall 

Cumulative 

Difference 

Difference 

From Previous 

Year 

2014/2015 4,680 2,720 762 8,161 499 -378 6.1% 

2015/2016 4,793 2,979 646 8,418 257 -120 3.1% 

2016/2017 4,501 2,820 727 8,048 -370 -491 -4.6% 

2017/2018 4,251 2,950 643 7,844 -238 -729 -3.0% 

2018/2019 4,107 2,740 432 7,279 -565 -1,294 -7.8% 

2019/2020 4,279 2,818 0 7,097 -181 -1,475 -2.6% 
  

2,093.0

23.3 58.9

2019 Carbon Emissions tCO2e

Buildings Fleet Paper

0.00

0.01

0.01

0.02

0.02

 -

 1,000

 2,000

 3,000

 4,000

tC
O

2
e/

H
D

D
/m

2

tC
O

2
e

Building Emissions and 

Efficiency

Buildings tCO2e/HDD/m2

71
200



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
          Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 
 

1 
 

  
 

REPORT: English Self Study 
 

OVERALL ASSESSMENT:  
Please provide a brief assessment of the Self-Study Report under review and an overall recommendation. 
 
Reviewer #1: Overall, a well written Self-Study report with a lot of supporting data. I did include several 
clarifying questions that I would like responses to. I recommend that SSCPR approve this Self-Study report.  
 
Reviewer #2: Thank you! I feel this is a very strong report and I’m impressed by the many things English is 
doing and how it has grown. Great work!  
 
Reviewer #3: Thank you to the team for submitting a thorough and well-written report. The report details the 
many strengths of the degree programs and provides a way forward for diversifying the program. What was 
challenging in reviewing this report was evaluating the information about the Department’s service courses. 
The Scope of Review includes a line about evaluating first-year service courses, but the focus of the report 
concerns the degree programs. It seems the team has tried to find the correct balance, but I wonder if this 
line in the SoR should be revised or deleted.  
 
The Report:  

☒         Reviewer #1: Recommend for approval by the SSCPR as is 
☒         Reviewer #2 & #3: Recommend for approval by the SSCPR pending further action (see below) 
☐         Recommend return to the Program for major revision 
☐         Recommend for rejection by the SSCPR 

 
 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
          Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 
 

2 
 

Direction for Reviewers: Determine if the criterion for each chapter is fully addressed according to the standard. 
CHAPTER 1: Program Overview 
 
Criterion: This chapter provides a description of the program, its history, and the scope of the review. 
 
Standard: The Chapter clearly describes the program, its history and curriculum, and the scope of the current 
review. 
 
THE CHAPTER:  
  ☒     Meets the Standard 

Additional Comments (if necessary):  
 
Reviewer #1: In the ‘scope of the review’ section in this chapter, you have identified two areas to 
devote your attention. 1) Including more Black, Indigenous, and multicultural literature and film into the 
curriculum and as well as individual courses. I welcome this effort. 2) To rationalize and streamline our 
course offerings to eliminate redundancies and create more coherence in our degree programs. What 
was the rationale you followed in focusing on these two priorities?  
 

  ☒     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 
Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  
 
Reviewer #2: The bullet points from the chapter 1 program description section as detailed in the Self 
Study Guide are largely missing from this section in the English Self Study Report. I notice that some of 
them are included in Chapter 2, 3, and 4, and perhaps it’s appropriate to just deal with them there. 
However, I don’t think that the following details are mentioned anywhere in the report. Perhaps it’s 
better to bring these into other chapters since many of the other bullet points were dealt with in other 
chapters. 

• Options, specializations – is there the ability to specialize in any particular type of literature (I 
don’t mean just the degree levels of Associates, Major, and Minor. The Dean’s Report 
mentions that the department has taken steps to create a concentration in film – maybe 
mention that briefly and note that the work is ongoing?) 

• Number of staff and faculty (part-time and full-time) (no breakdown of full vs part time 
instructors. I’m not sure how important this is for English – does the difference in 
regularity/workload/continuity for part time instructors present challenges? I don’t believe 
any were mentioned. This is a significant problem for many small programs but maybe not for 
English as it is larger. If it is a challenge, can it please be included?) 

 Reviewer #3: p. 7 Scope of Review indicates evaluating student and faculty satisfaction with degree 
programs AND first-year service courses. Looking through the appendices, I don’t see the data about 
students to adequately evaluate service courses. Surveys were sent to 125 English students (in Arts 
programs I believe). Data is included about faculty satisfaction with students’ preparation for 2000-level 
courses but not much more. I’m wondering if this line should be revised. The bulk of the SSR focusses on 
the degree programs.  

 
 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
          Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 
 

3 
 

CHAPTER 2: Program Currency and Connections 
 
Criterion: This chapter assesses program demand and its current relevance to the discipline/sector. 
 
Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported assessments and recommendations. 
THE CHAPTER:  
  ☒     Meets the Standard 

Additional Comments (if necessary):  
Reviewer #1: You have identified the need to renew the commitment to innovation and creativity of the 
program under review or risk falling behind. Can you elaborate what you mean by innovation and 
creativity in the context of your program? Are you referring to creative ways to deliver the program or 
including curriculum components related to creativity and innovation?  
 
You also say that the English department no longer has formal connections to other academic units at 
KPU. As a service department, I am curious as to why this is the case. Should the department consult 
with all affected programs in some capacity to understand the changing needs of our students, industry, 
other credential awarding institutions.  
 
This section is well researched and supported with rich data and information.  
 

  ☒     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 
Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  
 
Reviewer #2 Regarding “N/A” for the sections on program’s connection to its Advisory Board – It 
appears from the Dean’s Report section that English does not have an Advisory Board? Why not? I don’t 
think it’s sufficient to list “N/A” and not include an explanation of why the program doesn’t have an 
Advisory Board.  This section should include a discussion of whether there is value in having an advisory 
board & it seems to me there would be and that there should be some explanation offered as to why 
there is no advisory board or the considerations related to potentially starting one. And I think for the 
purposes of provincial oversight of this process, it would be good to have some detail there.  I notice 
that the Dean’s report mentions the creation of an Advisory Board as a long term goal, but there are no 
recommendations related to an advisory board in the list of recommendations in the concluding 
chapter. Should the department explore the possibility of an Advisory Board or not? 
 
I notice in the Self Study Guide, the full heading title of “Program’s connection to the Discipline/Sector” 
also includes “and Alumni.” If English does not consider itself to belong to any one specific sector, I can 
understand the impulse to skip this section. Again however, some explanation would be appreciated 
and appropriate for provincial oversight of this process. Additionally – there really needs to be a 
discussion about connection with alumni. What measures does English take to stay in touch with alumni 
and learn and make improvements based on their experiences in the program?  
 
Also, great work to the instructors creating and participating in such meaningful outreach and public 
dialogue! 

 
 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
          Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 
 

4 
 

Reviewer #3:  
Pg. 10 – N/A is indicated for Program’s Connection to its Advisory Board and to Discipline/Sector. This 
should be explained.  
 
Pg. 14, 3rd paragraph – The authors mention challenges adapting to the increase in international 
students in first-year courses and their lack of preparedness.  I don’t see data in Appendices isolating 1st 
year courses and/or international students.   
 
The project you mention in the same paragraph about creating a first-year experience for international 
students sounds interested and probably very necessary. I’m curious to know why the authors state it is 
beyond the scope of the English department? 

 
CHAPTER 3: Quality of Curriculum Design 
 
Criterion: This chapter examines the quality of the program’s curriculum. 
 
Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported assessments and recommendations. 
 
THE CHAPTER:  
  ☒     Meets the Standard 

Additional Comments (if necessary):  
 
Reviewer #1: The current program competencies are limited to the KPU essential skills. Did the program 
review team consider program level competencies that may be influenced by industry or other 
programs served by the program under review?  
 
The four proposed program outcomes, what evidence did you consider before creating these. How do 
they align with your program competencies?   
 
In pages 22, 23, the review team is highlighting several potential new courses to be added to the 
program. How do these new courses align with your current/proposed program outcomes?  
 
Recommend that the program review team developing a Curriculum Map to assess how 
current/proposed course outcomes align with the current/proposed program outcomes.  
 

 
  ☐     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 

Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  
Click here to enter text. 

  
 

 
 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
          Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 
 

5 
 

CHAPTER 4: Quality of Instructional Design 
 
Criterion: This chapter examines the quality of the program’s instructional design. 
 
Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported assessments and recommendations. 
 
THE CHAPTER:  
  ☒     Meets the Standard 

Additional Comments (if necessary):  
 
Reviewer #1: The assessment methods discussed in page 30, how do they constructively align with 
course outcomes and learning activities. Are these assessment practices meet the complexity levels 
indicated in your course outcomes by program year (1000-4000 level)? 
 
Overall, this section is written well with supporting data. 

 
  ☒     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 

Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  
 
Reviewer #2: There is a brief note on page 41 about instruction methods accommodating diverse 
learning styles, but no substantial discussion. It seems clear from the high satisfaction levels that many 
students feel their learning styles are being accommodated, backed up as well as the note about the 
diversity of assessments noted on page 30. But usually in Self Study Reports there is more substantial 
discussion of instructional methods to accommodate diverse learning styles. If a bit more space and 
time could be devoted to this to highlight some practices and tie these things together, I think that 
would make the report stronger.  
 
Congratulations on these high satisfaction rates. Also the details listed in the Student Supports and 
Professional Development section were impressive – great work!  

  
 
 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
          Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 
 

6 
 

CHAPTER 5: Quality of Services, Resources and Facilities 
 
Criterion: This chapter assesses program resources, equipment, software, and facilities from both the student 
and instructor perspective.  
 
Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported assessments and recommendations. 
 
THE CHAPTER:  
  ☒     Meets the Standard 

Additional Comments (if necessary):  
 

Reviewer #2: Faculty should be encouraged to update regularly the LibGuides related to their subject area 
on the library website to ensure each library guide’s currency and benefit to students. Many pages need 
to be updated and many of them are unused, potentially providing inaccurate information to students 
who may come across them. 
Would be better to say “Faculty should be encouraged to communicate regularly with the English 
Liaison Librarian regarding the LibGuides and convey updates needed and suggestions…” 

 
  ☐     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 

Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  
Click here to enter text. 

  
 

CHAPTER 6: Conclusions and Recommendations 
 
Criterion: This chapter summarizes the conclusions drawn from the evidence gathered in the program review. 
 
Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported recommendations. 
 
THE CHAPTER:  
  ☒     Meets the Standard 

Additional Comments (if necessary):  
 

Reviewer #1: The recommendations listed here are drawn from chapter-based recommendations. To 
avoid repeating data sources used for recommendations, provide references to chapters (page 
numbers, sections).  
 
Congratulations. A well-researched, insightful self-study report 

  
  ☐     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 

Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  
Click here to enter text. 

  
 
  



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
          Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 
 

7 
 

MINOR EDITS (Spelling, syntax, word choice and other mechanical issues). 
Please list corresponding page numbers. Minor edits are NOT discussed at the SSCPR meeting. Add or remove 
rows as needed. 

Minor Edits (page #) 

Page 11: missing end of sentence, “At present, this is not a” 

page 45: 42% said they had never work with a reference librarian 

Page 23, paragraph 2: “perfectives” typo 

In the cover page, state specifically which English program [BA Major in English] this this self - study refers to.  

 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
          Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 
 

1 
 

  
 

REPORT: English Self Study 
 

OVERALL ASSESSMENT:  
Please provide a brief assessment of the Self-Study Report under review and an overall recommendation. 
 
Reviewer #1: Overall, a well written Self-Study report with a lot of supporting data. I did include several 
clarifying questions that I would like responses to. I recommend that SSCPR approve this Self-Study report.  
 
Reviewer #2: Thank you! I feel this is a very strong report and I’m impressed by the many things English is 
doing and how it has grown. Great work!  
 
Reviewer #3: Thank you to the team for submitting a thorough and well-written report. The report details the 
many strengths of the degree programs and provides a way forward for diversifying the program. What was 
challenging in reviewing this report was evaluating the information about the Department’s service courses. 
The Scope of Review includes a line about evaluating first-year service courses, but the focus of the report 
concerns the degree programs. It seems the team has tried to find the correct balance, but I wonder if this 
line in the SoR should be revised or deleted.  
 
The Report:  

☒         Reviewer #1: Recommend for approval by the SSCPR as is 
☒         Reviewer #2 & #3: Recommend for approval by the SSCPR pending further action (see below) 
☐         Recommend return to the Program for major revision 
☐         Recommend for rejection by the SSCPR 

 
 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
          Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 
 

2 
 

Direction for Reviewers: Determine if the criterion for each chapter is fully addressed according to the standard. 
CHAPTER 1: Program Overview 
 
Criterion: This chapter provides a description of the program, its history, and the scope of the review. 
 
Standard: The Chapter clearly describes the program, its history and curriculum, and the scope of the current 
review. 
 
THE CHAPTER:  
  ☒     Meets the Standard 

Additional Comments (if necessary):  
 
Reviewer #1: In the ‘scope of the review’ section in this chapter, you have identified two areas to 
devote your attention. 1) Including more Black, Indigenous, and multicultural literature and film into the 
curriculum and as well as individual courses. I welcome this effort. 2) To rationalize and streamline our 
course offerings to eliminate redundancies and create more coherence in our degree programs. What 
was the rationale you followed in focusing on these two priorities?  
 

  ☒     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 
Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  
 
Reviewer #2: The bullet points from the chapter 1 program description section as detailed in the Self 
Study Guide are largely missing from this section in the English Self Study Report. I notice that some of 
them are included in Chapter 2, 3, and 4, and perhaps it’s appropriate to just deal with them there. 
However, I don’t think that the following details are mentioned anywhere in the report. Perhaps it’s 
better to bring these into other chapters since many of the other bullet points were dealt with in other 
chapters. 

• Options, specializations – is there the ability to specialize in any particular type of literature (I 
don’t mean just the degree levels of Associates, Major, and Minor. The Dean’s Report 
mentions that the department has taken steps to create a concentration in film – maybe 
mention that briefly and note that the work is ongoing?)  

• Number of staff and faculty (part-time and full-time) (no breakdown of full vs part time 
instructors. I’m not sure how important this is for English – does the difference in 
regularity/workload/continuity for part time instructors present challenges? I don’t believe 
any were mentioned. This is a significant problem for many small programs but maybe not for 
English as it is larger. If it is a challenge, can it please be included?) Program: We don’t see it 
a significant problem.  

 Reviewer #3: p. 7 Scope of Review indicates evaluating student and faculty satisfaction with degree 
programs AND first-year service courses. Looking through the appendices, I don’t see the data about 
students to adequately evaluate service courses. Surveys were sent to 125 English students (in Arts 
programs I believe). Data is included about faculty satisfaction with students’ preparation for 2000-level 
courses but not much more. I’m wondering if this line should be revised. The bulk of the SSR focusses on 
the degree programs.  

 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
          Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 
 

3 
 

 
CHAPTER 2: Program Currency and Connections 
 
Criterion: This chapter assesses program demand and its current relevance to the discipline/sector. 
 
Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported assessments and recommendations. 
THE CHAPTER:  
  ☒     Meets the Standard 

Additional Comments (if necessary):  
Reviewer #1: You have identified the need to renew the commitment to innovation and creativity of the 
program under review or risk falling behind. Can you elaborate what you mean by innovation and 
creativity in the context of your program? Are you referring to creative ways to deliver the program or 
including curriculum components related to creativity and innovation?  
 
You also say that the English department no longer has formal connections to other academic units at 
KPU. As a service department, I am curious as to why this is the case. Should the department consult 
with all affected programs in some capacity to understand the changing needs of our students, industry, 
other credential awarding institutions.  
 
This section is well researched and supported with rich data and information.  
 

  ☒     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 
Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  
 
Reviewer #2 Regarding “N/A” for the sections on program’s connection to its Advisory Board – It 
appears from the Dean’s Report section that English does not have an Advisory Board? Why not? I don’t 
think it’s sufficient to list “N/A” and not include an explanation of why the program doesn’t have an 
Advisory Board.  This section should include a discussion of whether there is value in having an advisory 
board & it seems to me there would be and that there should be some explanation offered as to why 
there is no advisory board or the considerations related to potentially starting one. And I think for the 
purposes of provincial oversight of this process, it would be good to have some detail there.  I notice 
that the Dean’s report mentions the creation of an Advisory Board as a long term goal, but there are no 
recommendations related to an advisory board in the list of recommendations in the concluding 
chapter. Should the department explore the possibility of an Advisory Board or not?  
 
I notice in the Self Study Guide, the full heading title of “Program’s connection to the Discipline/Sector” 
also includes “and Alumni.” If English does not consider itself to belong to any one specific sector, I can 
understand the impulse to skip this section. Again however, some explanation would be appreciated 
and appropriate for provincial oversight of this process. Additionally – there really needs to be a 
discussion about connection with alumni. What measures does English take to stay in touch with alumni 
and learn and make improvements based on their experiences in the program?  
 
Also, great work to the instructors creating and participating in such meaningful outreach and public 
dialogue! 

 
 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
          Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 
 

4 
 

Reviewer #3:  
Pg. 10 – N/A is indicated for Program’s Connection to its Advisory Board and to Discipline/Sector. This 
should be explained.  
 
Pg. 14, 3rd paragraph – The authors mention challenges adapting to the increase in international 
students in first-year courses and their lack of preparedness.  I don’t see data in Appendices isolating 1st 
year courses and/or international students.  Program: Perhaps this can be supplied by OPA?  
 
The project you mention in the same paragraph about creating a first-year experience for international 
students sounds interested and probably very necessary. I’m curious to know why the authors state it is 
beyond the scope of the English department? Program: Because a first-year experience would have to 
be at the faculty or institutional level; it cannot be done by one department alone. The model for this is 
UBC’s Vantage College. 

 
CHAPTER 3: Quality of Curriculum Design 
 
Criterion: This chapter examines the quality of the program’s curriculum. 
 
Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported assessments and recommendations. 
 
THE CHAPTER:  
  ☒     Meets the Standard 

Additional Comments (if necessary):  
 
Reviewer #1: The current program competencies are limited to the KPU essential skills. Did the program 
review team consider program level competencies that may be influenced by industry or other 
programs served by the program under review?  
 
The four proposed program outcomes, what evidence did you consider before creating these. How do 
they align with your program competencies?   
 
In pages 22, 23, the review team is highlighting several potential new courses to be added to the 
program. How do these new courses align with your current/proposed program outcomes?  
 
Recommend that the program review team developing a Curriculum Map to assess how 
current/proposed course outcomes align with the current/proposed program outcomes. Program: We 
propose that this work be done as part of the action plan. 
 

 
  ☐     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 

Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  
Click here to enter text. 

  
 

 
 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
          Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 
 

5 
 

CHAPTER 4: Quality of Instructional Design 
 
Criterion: This chapter examines the quality of the program’s instructional design. 
 
Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported assessments and recommendations. 
 
THE CHAPTER:  
  ☒     Meets the Standard 

Additional Comments (if necessary):  
 
Reviewer #1: The assessment methods discussed in page 30, how do they constructively align with 
course outcomes and learning activities. Are these assessment practices meet the complexity levels 
indicated in your course outcomes by program year (1000-4000 level)?  
 
Overall, this section is written well with supporting data. 

 
  ☒     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 

Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  
 
Reviewer #2: There is a brief note on page 41 about instruction methods accommodating diverse 
learning styles, but no substantial discussion. It seems clear from the high satisfaction levels that many 
students feel their learning styles are being accommodated, backed up as well as the note about the 
diversity of assessments noted on page 30. But usually in Self Study Reports there is more substantial 
discussion of instructional methods to accommodate diverse learning styles. If a bit more space and 
time could be devoted to this to highlight some practices and tie these things together, I think that 
would make the report stronger.  
 
Congratulations on these high satisfaction rates. Also the details listed in the Student Supports and 
Professional Development section were impressive – great work!  

  
 
 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
          Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 
 

6 
 

CHAPTER 5: Quality of Services, Resources and Facilities 
 
Criterion: This chapter assesses program resources, equipment, software, and facilities from both the student 
and instructor perspective.  
 
Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported assessments and recommendations. 
 
THE CHAPTER:  
  ☒     Meets the Standard 

Additional Comments (if necessary):  
 

Reviewer #2: Faculty should be encouraged to update regularly the LibGuides related to their subject area 
on the library website to ensure each library guide’s currency and benefit to students. Many pages need 
to be updated and many of them are unused, potentially providing inaccurate information to students 
who may come across them. 
Would be better to say “Faculty should be encouraged to communicate regularly with the English 
Liaison Librarian regarding the LibGuides and convey updates needed and suggestions…” 

 
  ☐     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 

Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  
Click here to enter text. 

  
 

CHAPTER 6: Conclusions and Recommendations 
 
Criterion: This chapter summarizes the conclusions drawn from the evidence gathered in the program review. 
 
Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported recommendations. 
 
THE CHAPTER:  
  ☒     Meets the Standard 

Additional Comments (if necessary):  
 

Reviewer #1: The recommendations listed here are drawn from chapter-based recommendations. To 
avoid repeating data sources used for recommendations, provide references to chapters (page 
numbers, sections). Program: We are unsure what is being suggested here. 
 
Congratulations. A well-researched, insightful self-study report 

  
  ☐     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 

Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  
Click here to enter text. 

  
 
  



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
          Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 
 

7 
 

MINOR EDITS (Spelling, syntax, word choice and other mechanical issues). 
Please list corresponding page numbers. Minor edits are NOT discussed at the SSCPR meeting. Add or remove 
rows as needed. 

Minor Edits (page #) 

Page 11: missing end of sentence, “At present, this is not a” 

page 45: 42% said they had never work with a reference librarian 

Page 23, paragraph 2: “perfectives” typo 

In the cover page, state specifically which English program [BA Major in English] this this self - study refers to.  

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

FACULTY OF ARTS 
 

BA Major in ENGLISH English PROGRAM 

SELF-STUDY REPORT 

November 2, 2021 
 

 
Program Review Team Members: 

Heather Cyr, Robert Dearle, Jennifer Hardwick, Joakim Nilsson, Paul Tyndall 
 



English Program Self-Study Report  2 
 

Table of Contents 
 Program Overview ................................................................................................... 4 

Program Description ................................................................................................................... 4 

Brief History of the Program ....................................................................................................... 6 

External Accreditation ................................................................................................................. 7 

Scope of the Review .................................................................................................................... 7 

 Program Currency and Connections ........................................................................ 10 

Competitive Context ................................................................................................................. 10 

Program’s Connections to its Advisory Board ........................................................................... 11 

Program’s Connections to the Discipline/Sector ...................................................................... 11 

Program’s Connections to Other KPU Academic Units ............................................................. 12 

Program’s Articulation and Credential Recognition Processes ................................................. 12 

Program’s Public Information and Community Outreach ......................................................... 13 

Student Demand for the Program ............................................................................................. 15 

Summary and Recommendations ............................................................................................. 16 

 Quality of Curriculum Design ................................................................................... 19 

Assessment of the Curriculum .................................................................................................. 19 

Summary and Recommendations ............................................................................................. 29 

 Quality of Instructional Design ................................................................................ 31 

Delivery Modes ......................................................................................................................... 31 

Course Scheduling ..................................................................................................................... 31 

Assessment Methods ................................................................................................................ 33 

Student Experience ................................................................................................................... 33 

Faculty Experience .................................................................................................................... 40 

Summary and Recommendations ............................................................................................. 46 

 Quality of Services, Resources and Facilities ............................................................ 47 

Description of Program Resources, Services and Facilities ....................................................... 47 

Student Satisfaction with Program Resources, Services and Facilities ..................................... 47 

Faculty Satisfaction with Program Resources, Services and Facilities ...................................... 48 

Summary and Recommendations ............................................................................................. 49 

 Conclusions and Recommendations ........................................................................ 51 

Summary of Conclusions ........................................................................................................... 51 



English Program Self-Study Report  3 
 

List of Recommendations .......................................................................................................... 53 

 Responses from the Dean/Associate Dean .............................................................. 58 

Program Overview..................................................................................................................... 58 

External Connections and Support ............................................................................................ 62 

Final Comments ......................................................................................................................... 62 

 Appendices for Self-Study Report ............................................................................ 63 

 
  



English Program Self-Study Report  4 
 

 Program Overview 

Program Description  

The KPU English department occupies a unique position in the Faculty of Arts and within 
the university as a whole. As a service department, we provide a foundational course in 
academic reading and writing—English 1100—that is required by all students enrolled in 
baccalaureate programs as well as first-year literature courses required by the Bachelor of 
Arts program. The English department also offers three degree options for students: an 
Associate of Arts English Degree for students intending to transfer to one of the province’s 
larger research-oriented universities, as well as a Bachelor of Arts Major and a Minor. All 
of the courses and programs offered by the English department are situated at the 
undergraduate level. 
 
When we first developed the BA Major and Minor in English, we modelled our programs  
on similar programs at Simon Fraser University and the University of British Columbia,  
where many of our instructors had either studied or taught before joining the 
Kwantlen/KPU English department. Thus, from their inception, our Major and Minor 
programs were structured on major national literatures written in English, including British, 
American, and Canadian literature. However, in recent years we have expanded our course 
offerings to reflect changes in the field of literary studies and to capitalize on the expertise 
and experience of our own faculty. We have developed upper-level courses in cross-
cultural world literature, diasporic literature, Indigenous literature, and literature in 
translation. We have also moved toward a more inclusive definition of literature and now 
offer courses in film, television, mythology, and popular genres such as science fiction, 
fantasy, children’s, and young adult literature. This expansion of offerings helps students 
to customize their educations more than was possible in the past. Whereas English BA 
students ten years ago would be well versed in more-or-less canonical literatures tied to 
Canadian, British, or American cultures, current students can choose from a broader range 
of literatures and topics. Increased offerings will also make it possible for students to 
develop Concentrations as defined in Policy AC 14 Credential Framework, which comes into 
effect September 1, 2023. Initially, concentrations available to students will include 
Canadian, British, American, and Film, but we hope to expand this to include Postcolonial 
literatures as well.  
 
Although the English department is made up of over forty instructors with diverse 
backgrounds, educational experiences and research interests, all share the view that 
writing and reading are essential skills for all university students and for full participation 
in society. In fact, surveys of employers across the province and across the country highlight 
the value of the critical reading, writing, and thinking skills that are core outcomes of a 
Bachelor of Arts in English. Articles on the skills employers in Canada are looking for 



English Program Self-Study Report  5 
 

consistently rank written and oral communication skills highest, with additional emphasis 
on research skills, creativity, problem solving, emotional intelligence, leadership skills, and 
teamwork. With our small class sizes and our emphasis upon writing-intensive instruction, 
KPU’s English programs are well suited to prepare students to pursue careers in education, 
law, journalism, communications, public relations, human resources, policy studies, 
advertising, and library science.  
 
In addition to the employability skills acquired in an English program, there are other 
benefits to studying English. First and foremost is the broadly humanistic perspective that 
studying literature in its many forms and contexts provides. We can learn much about the 
past and the present, here in Canada and around the world, by reading poetry, fiction, and 
drama, and by studying film, television, and other forms of media. These texts provide “a 
window on the world,” to quote a familiar phrase, and a record of “felt experience” that 
can both enhance and complicate our understanding of ourselves and others. By reading 
and reflecting upon the life experiences of individuals and communities from different 
social, economic, ethnic, racial, and religious backgrounds, with different values and beliefs 
than their own, English students develop the capacity for empathy and compassion. As 
noted philosopher and legal scholar Martha Nussbaum has written, “the ability to imagine 
the experience of another—a capacity that almost all human beings possess in some 
form—needs to be greatly enhanced and refined if we are to have any hope of sustaining 
[democratic] institutions across the many divisions that any modern society contains.”1  
 

•  

Learning Outcomes 
 
In keeping with our unique position within the Faculty of Arts and the KPU community, the 
English department is committed to several program learning outcomes: 
 

1 Communicate clearly, coherently, and concisely, considering audience, purpose, and 
rhetorical context, in written and oral form 

2 Demonstrate critical thinking and reasoning skills in reading, comprehending, and 
evaluating texts and contexts. Interpret and analyze texts from a variety of critical and 
theoretical perspectives 

3 Identify the main critical traditions and movements that have influenced the study of 
literature and film. 

4 Analyze the social, historical, cultural, philosophical, and/or economic influences on 
literature and narrative 

                                                       
1 Marta Nussbaum, Not for Profit: Why Democracy Needs the Humanities. (Princeton UP, 
2010), 10. 



English Program Self-Study Report  6 
 

5 Identify and reflect upon differences of perspective, and experience arising from race, 
class, gender, sexuality, and culture. 

6 Frame and investigate relevant research questions to draw upon and document primary 
and secondary resources to develop original analyses, interpretations, and arguments. 

 
As outlined in our program learning outcomes 1, 2, and 6, we are devoted to helping 
students develop the sophisticated reading, writing, research, and critical thinking skills 
required for success, not only as undergraduates or English students, but as citizens within 
an increasingly complex and competitive knowledge-based society. We endeavour to 
provide students with the rhetorical skills needed to articulate their ideas and opinions in 
the form of sharply focused, well-written and well-organized arguments in both written 
and oral form. 
 
In addition, we are committed to providing students with a broadly based but detailed 
understanding of the history of the national literatures of Canada, the United Kingdom, the 
United States and other countries from across the English-speaking world, and to 
meaningfully and ethically engage with non-Western literatures, including but not limited 
to Indigenous, Diasporic, and Postcolonial narratives. As outlined in program learning 
outcome 5, we are committed to helping our students situate these literatures within their 
relevant social, historical and cultural contexts so that they are able to identify and reflect 
upon differences of perspective and experience arising from race, class, gender, sexuality, 
and culture.   
   
As outlined in program learning outcomes 3 and 4, we are also committed to helping 
students understand why literature matters by foregrounding the evolution of the 
discipline, current debates, and possible futures, with particular attention to the critical 
traditions and social, historical, cultural, philosophical, and/or economic influences on 
literature and narrative. Ultimately, what we seek to accomplish is to help students 
understand the roles that storytelling—and retelling—play in the world. 

Brief History of the Program 

The English department has been offering first- and second-year writing and literature 
courses since 1981 when Kwantlen College split from Douglas College. It has also offered 
an Associate of Arts Degree in English for many years. The BA Minor in English was first 
developed in 2005, followed by the BA Major in English in 2008. As a service department, 
we have offered multiple sections of ENGL 1100 Introduction to University Writing and 
ENGL 1202 and 1204 for many years, since these courses are required for students 
completing a Bachelor of Arts Degree at KPU. With the launch of the BA Minor in English 
and the BA Major in English, we began to offer upper-level courses in poetry, fiction, drama 
and the main literary periods in British, American and Canadian literature from the Middle 



English Program Self-Study Report  7 
 

Ages to the present day. Initially, the department offered only a small number of upper-
level courses per semester, but that number has grown steadily with enrolments. Currently 
we typically offer an average of eight upper-level courses in the fall and spring semesters, 
and four in the summer semester and demand is growing, as evidenced by waitlists. 
 

Faculty 
 
The English department consists of approximately 40 regular faculty members., Mmost of 
faculty whom are employed full time, but some choose to work part-time, and a few are 
on leavehold a Ph.D. in English. We also regularly employ Non-regular type 1 or Non-regular 
type 2 basis to cover emergent and short-term staffing needs. With very rare exceptions, 
contract faculty teach only our first-year writing classes. However, many contract faculty 
are put on a path to regularization, and in the past five years, several Non-regular faculty 
have been regularized via the process outlined in the KPU-KFA Collective Agreement. 
Indeed, it is safe to say that more regular faculty in the English department have been 
regularized than have been hired as full-time regular faculty. More information about 
faculty qualifications is contained in chapter four of this self-study. 
 
While we embrace the mandate of the university as a teaching- and learning-centred 
institution with an emphasis upon experiential learning, many of our faculty are also 
actively engaged in research and scholarship, including presenting at national and 
international conferences; publishing in recognized peer-reviewed and popular journals, 
books, magazines, and digital venues; leading scholarly organizations; organizing 
community-engaged, public-facing initiatives; and acting as reviewers for academic 
granting agencies, journals, and organizations.   

External Accreditation 

N/A 

Scope of the Review 

This is our second program review since launching the BA Major in English in the fall of 
2008; the first was completed in 2014. The first review was undertaken to assess the 
strengths of the newly formed Major and Minor programs and the effectiveness of our core 
first-year courses in providing BA students with the critical reading, writing, and thinking 
skills required for success as undergraduates. During this process, we also analyzed the 
degree requirements and curriculum and the extent to which the English department was 
successful in adapting to meet the changing needs of our students. Finally, we sought to 
identify specific areas for improvement.  
 



English Program Self-Study Report  8 
 

Among the most substantive changes we made as a result of the previous program review, 
two stand out as particularly important. First, we changed the prerequisites for ENGL 1100 
and our other first-year ENGL courses so that they are now aligned with the general 
entrance requirements for the university and with the majority of first-year undergraduate 
courses in the Faculty of Arts. This change has enabled a large number of students to satisfy 
their English language requirements in a timelier manner than before. Second, we altered 
the prerequisites for our upper-level courses, again so that they are more consistent with 
upper-level courses in other departments in the Faculty of Arts. This change has not only 
boosted enrolment in upper-level ENGL courses but also attracted students from outside 
our Major and Minor programs.  
 
In the current program review, we have once again sought primarily to evaluate student 
and faculty satisfaction the quality of with our Major, Minor and Associate degree 
programs. This limited focus is reflected in the student surveys we conducted, which were 
sent to students taking English courses at the 2000 level and higher.  and with our first-year 
service courses, and to look for areas of improvement The decision to do so arises from the 
sense, especially of those who were part of our previous program review, that a broader 
focus that included first-year courses detracted from a concentrated (re)consideration of 
the currency of our credential programs. However, first-year courses remain foundational 
to the English program as well as to many programs at KPU, and we work tirelessly to 
ensure that students receive quality instruction and positive experiences in our first-year 
classes. We are also eager to ensure that all students who need these courses have access. 
To this end, we are working with the dean of Arts to increase the number of first-year 
offerings to meet demand.  
 
. In this review, wBut we have also identified two some areas where we plan to devote our 
attention. Foremost is diversity.First, Wwe are committed to diversifying continuing to 
diversify our curriculum by including more Black, IndigenousIndigenous, and multicultural 
literature and film into the curriculum and as well as into individual existing courses. This 
commitment reflects and aligns with increased social, cultural and discipline awareness and 
action on equity, diversity, and inclusion, as well as KPU’s commitment to decolonization 
and Indigenization.  
 
WSecond, we also plan to rationalize and streamlinereview our course offerings and 
program requirements. Our goal in doing so is not only to support diversification but also 
to increase flexibility and coherence while eliminatereducing content redundanciesoverlap 
and removing unnecessary barriers to degree completion and create more coherence in 
our degree programs. These goals arise from a general recognition among members of our 
Curriculum, Ed Planning and Program Review Committees that the existing requirements 
of the Major and Minor often appear dated in comparison to other English departments in 
Canada. We also recognize that many of our courses will need revision to reflect broader 
trends in the discipline and to increase their appeal and relevance to students. Because the 
BA Major and Minor programs were developed over a period of several years, and 



English Program Self-Study Report  9 
 

modelled on existing programs at neighbouring institutions, there are aspects of them that 
are no longer particularly relevant to the changing needs and interests of our students, 
such as the focus onThere is also a clear need to de-prioritize canonical texts within national 
literatures or and the privileging of traditional genres such as poetry, fiction, and drama. 
This need arises out of the diversification and decolonization goals identified above, but it 
also arises simply out of recognition that English programs must engage over with newer 
forms, such as film and television, as well as popular genres such as science fiction, fantasy, 
the graphic novel and children’s and young adult literature if they are to remain relevant.  
 
GenerallyFinally, our aim is we identify a need to shift the emphasis of our degree 
programs—and our students— away from the study of a canon of literature toward a canon 
of methods. Although literary history and context remain vital to the discipline, we can no 
longer say that the study of English literature is a journey that begins with Beowulf, tarries 
with Shakespeare, and terminates with Virginia Woolf. The discipline has expanded to 
include the study of a multitude of cultural expressions occurring in a range of forms and 
media. In other words, the traditional canon has not disappeared; it has been submerged 
within an ever-growing field of cultural products that in many ways constitute a new canon. 
From this perspective, it makes a great deal of sense to put greater emphasis on teaching 
methods and interpretive strategies that can be used across genres and forms. , a move 
that Wwe believe that this shift in focus will not only help student success in the program 
and in their careers, but it will also make the relevance of an English degree more apparent 
to incoming and graduating students.   
 
  



English Program Self-Study Report  10 
 

 Program Currency and Connections 

Competitive Context 

The KPU English Major, Minor, and Associate of Arts programs are comparable in structure 
and composition to similar programs in British Columbia. KPU’s English Major requires 45 
credits in English courses from first to fourth year. This is the same as the University of the 
Fraser Valley and similar to Vancouver Island University (48) and Thompson Rivers 
University (48). UBC and SFU require the equivalent of 42 credits. 
  
Other requirements (not including institutional general degree requirements) are also 
similar. In general, English at KPU is aligned with other programs in requiring students to 
begin their educations with introductory, skills-building first-year courses before moving 
on to foundational second-year courses designed to provide students with a survey of a 
literary or critical tradition and/or an introduction to the methods or skills of the discipline.  
  
Upper-division (3000-4000 level) credit requirements at other institutions range from 24 
to 30, and these credits almost invariably include courses designed to deepen students’ 
literary historical knowledge through courses focusing on literature before 1900. These 
requirements are usually divided into two, with one requirement placed at the 18th century 
or earlier and the second in the 19th century.  
  
KPU’s upper-division requirements are similarly structured. Other programs may include a 
third-year theory or rhetoric requirement. KPU’s English program currently has a theory 
requirement. Other programs require at least one 4th year course, which is sometimes 
identified as a capstone or experiential course. KPU English has two experiential courses, 
but neither is required, and no capstone courses have been identified, even though the 
program does require one 4th year course. 
  
One significant difference between KPU and several other English programs in BC is a firm 
division between Creative Writing and the English department. In several programs, such 
as Capilano University and UFV, Creative Writing and English are integrated, a connection 
that seems to provide additional options for students with an interest in both areas. Other 
departments, such as VIU and SFU, offer upper-division courses in rhetoric and writing 
while KPU does not. However, KPU English is currently building a concentration in Film 
Studies, an area that is seldom encountered in other BC English departments. 
  
Beyond structure and composition, other English departments—especially at similarly sized 
institutions—have taken significantly different approaches to packaging course 
requirements and electives. In many cases, these approaches appear to offer more options 
to students. While KPU English has added to its course inventory in recent years, it needs 
to renew its commitment to innovation and creativity in course and topic development or 
risk falling behind.  This will mean not only adding individual new courses to the curriculum, 



English Program Self-Study Report  11 
 

but also engaging in a thorough reconsideration of the program structure to ensure that 
students have as many options as possible to pursue the paths of study that they are most 
excited about while still receiving a solid grounding in the core skills and knowledge of the 
discipline.. 

Enrolment 
As to the number of students in KPU English compared to other English departments in the 
province, reliable data from other institutions comparable to KPU is challenging to access. 
However, UFV’s 2019-20 Factbook (institutional data report) shows that in the 2019/20 
academic years, UFV English registered 178 Majors (p.17). This represents an apparent 
decline from 2014-15 when that number stood at 267. By contrast, data provided by KPU’s 
Office of Planning and Priorities (OPA) indicates that intended English students at KPU in 
2019-2020 numbered 193, up from 91 in 2015-16. Without further disambiguation of UFV’s 
data, a precise comparison is difficult, but it appears that demand for English courses at 
KPU has increased while it has declined or leveled off at UFV.  

Program’s Connections to its Advisory Board  

English does not currently have an Advisory Board, but it will investigate the possibility of 
an advisory board as part of its action plan.N/A 

Program’s Connections to the Discipline/Sector and Alumni  

Our program’s connections to the discipline are primarily through faculty memberships and 
participation in major external organizations such the Association of Canadian College and 
University Teachers of English (ACCUTE), the Modern Languages Association (MLA) or the 
Conference on College Composition and Communication (CCCC). Many faculty are also 
members of smaller associations and societies such as the Canadian Association of Chairs 
of English, Canadian Association for the Study of Discourse and Writing, Canadian 
Association of Commonwealth Literatures and Languages, The Edith Wharton Society, 
Digital Humanities Summer Institute, Children's Literature Association. Moreover, as noted 
above, many of our faculty are actively engaged in research and scholarship, presenting at 
national and international conferences, publishing, and acting as reviewers for academic 
granting agencies, journals, and organizations. 
 
Although many English faculty remain in touch with former students and the always 
encourage our graduates to remain in touch, the English department has not established a 
formal system to remain connected with them. We will look into how other departments 
approach this issue as part of our action plan. It is possible that forming an advisory board 
may address this issue as well. 



English Program Self-Study Report  12 
 

Program’s Connections to Other KPU Academic Units 

Although Tthe English department no longer has formal connections to other academic 
units at KPU,  (Iin the past, for example, English was affiliated with Creative Writing, 
Business Communications; it also worked closely with ACP English in offering ENGQ 1099 
until 2013). , However, a significant number of cross-disciplinary connections have been 
created through the engagement and cross-listing of English faculty. These connections 
include collaborations with Fine Arts, Art History, Sociology, Policy Studies, and 
Interdisciplinary Expressive Arts. English Faculty have also taught ARTS 1100 and ARTS 4800 
courses. Currently, several English faculty are involved in an interdisciplinary Arts Film 
Studies discussion group.  
  
English is also connected to other academic departments through its service courses such 
as 1100 and 1202/1204 as well as ENGL 1104, which was created to serve students in the 
Educational Assistant Program and ENGL 3390: Indigenous Narratives and Cultural 
Expression, which is an elective for the Indigenous Community Justice Minor. 
Conversations with other areas occur regularly, often at the level of Chairs and Program 
Coordinators, about service courses. Such conversations resulted in the development of 
ENGL 1104 and ENGL 1300 to support the Social Sciences. It has also developed WRTG 1100 
(now taught mostly by ACP English faculty) to support international students.  
 
In short, English takes seriously its role as a service department in writing instruction and 
is always open to conversations and proposal from other areas of the university.    

Program’s Articulation and Credential Recognition Processes 

KPU English is a member of the British Columbia English Articulation Committee, which 
meets annually in May to share institutional information, program changes, and (in recent 
years) to consult with Ministry of Education officials to discuss changes occurring at the K-
12 level and the impacts they are expected to have on post-secondary writing programs. 
This group also facilitates the discussion of transfer credits across institutions. The English 
Articulation group is very large, and the work of articulating courses is never done. 
Nevertheless, the system seems to work to the benefit of most students. 
  
KPU English courses articulate broadly across institutions across BC. First-year writing 
courses are the most transferable, particularly those that serve as required writing courses 
for a broad range of programs, such as English 1100, 1202, 1204, and 1300. These first-year 
courses articulate not only to other public universities and colleges, but also to a growing 
number of private institutions. Courses at the 2000-4000 level generally articulate well to 
other public institutions that offer a broader range of English courses leading to a 
credential; smaller private institutions with fewer English course offerings and are less 
likely to establish transfer agreements for courses beyond first year. Students transferring 
to KPU from other BC institutions are very likely to receive direct credit for English courses, 



English Program Self-Study Report  13 
 

and KPU English does its best to award appropriate transfer credit to students coming to 
KPU from out of province. 
 
Transfer credit requests are processed by the current chair of the department, who is also 
typically the department’s representative at Articulation meetings. Incoming transfer 
requests are evaluated according to their alignment with existing English courses. Where 
no clear equivalent exists, an unspecified English credit is granted. Upon transfer, students 
may receive more specific transfer credit based on a submitted outline by contacting an 
Arts advisor who then reaches out to the chair of the department.  
 
One procedure that could be improved in this area would be a means of giving students 
coming to KPU Arts a writing requirement credit without direct transfer of the course. The 
current BA framework recognizes KPU English 1202 or 1204 as satisfying the English 
requirement, but transfer students sometimes come to KPU with a first-year English writing 
credit that fits neither course. In these circumstances, it would be reasonable to grant the 
student an undesignated credit at the 12XX level that acknowledges the writing work done 
by the student while still recognizing the differences in first-year course content.    
  
Beyond first year, growing diversification of English courses across institutions is making 
direct transfers more challenging. For example, many of VIU’s third-year courses are topics 
courses, whereas topics courses are reserved for fourth year in KPU English. Another 
example is Capilano University whose new English Major also includes a significant number 
of third-year topics courses that do not readily correspond to our course divisions. This 
means that upper-level course transfers often need to be evaluated individually. At 
present, this is not a significant issue because we receive relatively few transfer students 
from these institutions in English  .  

Prior Learning Assessment 
In English, one department member and an alternate are designated to handle PLA 
requests. Requests for PLA have been infrequent, averaging approximately two per 
academic year for the past several years. Given the low number of PLA requests we receive, 
our current practices are more than sufficient. Should PLA requests increase significantly in 
the future, we may have to consider ways to expand capacity. 

Program’s Public Information and Community Outreach 

Student surveys reveal that the departmental website, followed by the online Academic 
Calendar, are the primary sources of information for students. 83% of students responded 
that they used the departmental website to learn about the program. The calendar was 
48%, advertising 28%, social media 21%, with all other categories below 17%. Notably, the 
student survey reveals KPU open houses to be among the weakest sources of information 
for students in English (10%). This is a somewhat disappointing outcome given the amount 
of work and time required to participate in KPU open houses.  
  



English Program Self-Study Report  14 
 

The data suggest that more our primary focus should be applied to our online presence. 
Although there are limits to what a department can do to modify its institutional webpages, 
this resource should be utilized to its fullest extent. The same is true for social media, 
including Instagram and Twitter. Increasingly, students are using these media to access 
information, and the English department is keeping up with these shifts in communication 
by maintaining a presence on appropriate social media platforms. 

Community Outreach 
 
Members of the department are engaged in several forms of community-based research 
and outreach:   
 
Canada Research Chair in South Asian Literary and Cultural Studies 
Dr. Asma Sayed’s work on South Asian writers and filmmakers from 1910 to 2010 seeks to 
analyze literary and visual texts to establish theories of interpreting creative expressions as 
sites of socio-political change and activism. Outcomes include not only a monograph and a 
multilingual literature anthology, but also community engagement events and an open-
access digital portal. 
 
Humanities 101 
Kwantlen’s version of Humanities 101 is modelled on the Bard College Clemente Course in 
the Humanities and it runs out of the Phoenix Society, an addiction recovery centre in 
Surrey. The course introduces post-secondary education to students who, due to a variety 
of life circumstances, have not had access to it. It typically runs for one term each year with 
10 to 20 people in each class. Students create a project to present at the end, and there is 
also a graduation ceremony. Humanities 101 has been organized by Dr. Kegan Doyle and 
lectures at the Phoenix Society have been offered by many English faculty.  
 
KDocsFF Community Outreach 
As Co-director of the KDocsFF Documentary Film Festival, Greg Chan is working on two 
public-facing projects related to KDocsFF documentaries in fall 2021. These projects will 
include faculty members from the English department and Arts. He is also producing a 
KDocs Talks video series, a compilation of the keynotes and panel discussions from KDocsFF 
2021, set to launch summer 2021. 
 
Maple Washing: A Disruption 
An art installation curated by Greg Chan and Ying-Yueh Chuang (FINA) now on public display 
at Historic Joy Kogawa House (set to launch officially in 2022). 
 
Mise-en-scène 
Mise-en-scène: The Journal of Film & Visual Narration (MSJ) is the official film studies 
publication of KPU. Founded in 2016 by Editor-in-Chief Greg Chan, MSJ is an 
interdisciplinary, peer-reviewed journal focused on scholarly analysis of visual storytelling 
across film and media. It strives to be a community-building hub that creates engagement 

http://clemente.bard.edu/about/
http://clemente.bard.edu/about/


English Program Self-Study Report  15 
 

around current debates, research, and critical theories. The journal's contributing authors 
are an interdisciplinary mixture of graduate students, academics, filmmakers, film scholars, 
and cineastes: a demographic that also reflects the journal's diverse readership. KPU faculty 
have written for MSJ, as have several KPU students in the “undergraduate scholarship” 
category. In addition to these student authors, the journal has hosted 12 students in its 
internship program which launched in 2017.  MSJ is supported by a cross-disciplinary and 
cross-Faculty editorial team that includes several English department members. 
 
Virago Nation 
Founded in May of 2016, Virago Nation is an all-Indigenous burlesque collective of 
women/femme/two-spirited artists that seeks to reclaim Indigenous sexuality from the 
toxic effects of colonization by representing positive, diverse expressions of Indigenous 
sexuality on stage and through outreach programs and workshops. Virago Nation joined 
forces with Dr. Jennifer Hardwick in the fall of 2018, and the collaboration subsequently 
received $30,083 in Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada funding for 
the “Medicine in Our Very Bones”: Gender, Sexuality and Embodied Resistance in 
Indigenous Burlesque initiative. This initiative sought to uphold, theorize, and share the 
embodied, relational work of Virago Nation as a decolonial research methodology. 
Throughout the initiative, the collaborative team has explored how this methodology 
engages and enacts Indigenous knowledges and experiences, builds relationships between 
communities, fosters awareness of historical and ongoing colonization, and promotes 
Indigenous peoples’ (and Indigenous women’s specifically) sovereign rights to their own 
bodies, sexualities, and gender identities. While the grant is ending, Dr. Hardwick and 
Virago Nation continue to collaborate on performances, workshops, educational resources, 
and academic publications. 

Student Demand for the Program 

Data and our own observation show that demand for English courses has grown 
considerably from 2014/15 to 2019/20. Data provided by KPU’s Office of Planning and 
Accountability (OPA) indicates that headcount in English lower-level courses has increased 
by 24% while enrolment in upper-level courses has increased by 44%. This compares to an 
11% increase in demand for Arts courses over the same period. Demand for courses at the 
2000-4000 is generally strongest at the 3000 level, and demand for upper-level courses is 
increasingly extending to the Summer term. For example, one week before classes began 
(May 3), unmet demand for the 2021 Summer term sat at 258 for ENGL 1100 and 125 for 
English 1202. During the same period, English was obliged to add two additional upper-
level courses in an attempt to meet student demand. We expect this demand to continue 
and increase as we emerge from the COVID-19 pandemic. 
 
While increased demand for courses at the 2000-4000 level is cause for celebration, it can 
also result in growing pains, especially for students. English student surveys confirm that 
while students are generally satisfied with course offerings, 100% agreed that not having 
access to the courses they wanted in a particular semester was a barrier. 67% also agreed 



English Program Self-Study Report  16 
 

that being shut out of full courses represented a barrier. The problem may be compounded 
by registration releases. As one student respondent put it, “In the Summer semester, only 
a few of the classes are offered to new students and senior students, making it pretty 
difficult to take certain classes without having to wait until the Fall semester.” 
 
Demand for first-year courses has also increased since 2015, due largely to an astonishing 
increase in international student enrolment. This growth has not come without challenges; 
English, like several other departments at KPU, has struggled to meet the increased 
demand for first-year courses. In recent years, late demand sections have left us scrambling 
to find coverage. A recent increase to our base FTE will help us to address this additional 
demand. However, the department continues to adapt to the unique needs of international 
students who, in our experience, are not uniformly prepared for study at the university 
level. One solution to this problem might be to create a unique first-year experience for 
international students such as Vantage College at UBC that will prepare them for the rest 
of their studies, but that is a project that lies beyond the abilities scope of the English 
department and the scope this program review.  
 
As for student demographics, data supplied by OPA reveals that a clear majority of English 
students at KPU are female (72%), a number that has remained steady over the past five 
years. This percentage is higher than the Arts average (62%), but it aligns with historical 
trends in the Humanities. 

Summary and Recommendations 

Currency and Competitive Context 
 
Although KPU’s English program is generally aligned with comparable programs in the 
province, it is clear that changes are occurring across the discipline that should prompt us 
to consider changes to our program. These include:  
 

• Providing more flexibility for students to meet core requirements and to customize 
their individual learning experiences  

• Offering courses and including perspectives from traditionally underrepresented 
groups  

• Developing courses that reflect changes in scholarship and pedagogy across the 
sector and discipline 

• Including experiential learning opportunities and exploring capstone course 
requirements 

Connections to other KPU Academic Units  
 
English has multiple connections with other units through its service courses and through 
departmental and faculty connections and collaborations. However, it does not have any 
cross-listed courses or integrated opportunities for students to use credits from other 

https://vantagecollege.ubc.ca/


English Program Self-Study Report  17 
 

disciplines toward an English degree other than those required by the BA framework. To 
build connections, the department mightshould: 
 

• Investigate connections with other disciplines such as Creative Writing, Journalism, 
Interdisciplinary Expressive Arts, and Indigenous Studies 

• Develop related fields of study that can foster ties with other disciplines. This is 
already underway with Arts-level discussions about a Minor in Film and with the 
growing Indigenous Studies program about developing and cross-listing Indigenous 
literature courses. 

• Investigate the establishment of a Program Advisory Board 
• Investigate means of creating and maintaining alumni connections  

Community Outreach 
English, like other essentially academic programs, often struggles to establish and maintain 
connections with the community. Nevertheless, it is clear Kwantlen English faculty at have 
found time and ways to forge connections; it is also clear that support in the form of 
funding and time release facilitates many of these community outreach projects. More 
information about accessing means of support—and an increase in the availability of those 
means of support—will undoubtedly foster more community outreach. 

Public Information 
The results from OPA regarding student sources of information suggests that greater 
emphasis should be placed on developing the English department’s website and 
maintaining our social media presence.  

Articulation, Transfers, and PLA 
While students transferring into or out of KPU English can expect to have their prior 
learning recognized, it is good practice for Advisors at all levels to remind students who are 
planning to transfer to other universities to consult the B.C. Transfer guide before taking a 
required English writing course at KPU, such as English 1100. This information should be 
echoed in the calendar and other online sources, including the English department’s 
website.  
 
The English department should also continue to work with the Office of the Registrar and 
Advisors to streamline the recognition of incoming English courses for the purpose of the 
writing-intensive requirement in Arts. Solutions found here may be needed once the 
university-wide writing requirement contained in Policy AC 14 comes in effect.   

Student Demand 
Given that there is little to be done about registration releases (the source of some 
dissatisfaction for English students), the department should increase the number and 
variety of its upper-level courses to satisfy student demand.  
  
The department should continue to meet student demand and encourage it through the 
offering of more 2000-4000 courses each term. These courses should be selected to 



English Program Self-Study Report  18 
 

balance the requirement of students in the English program but also to cater to the 
interests of non-Majors and Minors. Curriculum should be updated with survey input from 
current students, alumni, and faculty.  



English Program Self-Study Report  19 
 

 Quality of Curriculum Design 

Assessment of the Curriculum 

Overview of the Program 

Major  
The BA English Major aims to give students an appreciation for and a comprehensive 
overview of the study of the field while acquiring skills that are broadly applicable in many 
employment contexts. Like all degree programs in Arts, English students are required to 
take ENGL 1100 and another three credits of first-year English (ENGL 1202 or ENGL 1204). 
These requirements provide students with a foundation for university writing and an 
introduction to the study of narrative.  
 
In second year, students are currently required to take three credits of broad historical 
survey (chosen from two British surveys and a Canadian and an American survey) and 
another six credits chosen from second-year offerings that survey various genres in the 
field. These courses are meant to give students a broad introduction to the history and 
development of literature and film. They also develop students’ critical thinking, research, 
and analytical skills.  
 
In third year, among the thirty credits required, students must complete six credits from 
two historical periods. Three credits must come from courses focused on pre-18th century 
British literatures while three credits must come from courses focused on 18th and 19th 
century literatures from either Britain, Canada, or the United States. Students are also 
required to fulfil a theory requirement by taking either ENGL 3300 Literary Theory or 3305 
Film Theory.  
 
Finally, students are required to take at least one 4000-level course. 4000-level courses 
generally offer a seminar-based approach, with smaller class sizes and specific topics 
intended to provide students with the in-depth knowledge of comprehension and analysis 
that will prepare them for graduate school, careers that involve writing and analysis, or 
other forms of further education such as PDP teacher training programs or law school.  .  
  
Minor  
An English Minor is a value-add for program Majors outside the department. It may be 
especially appealing to students whose main program includes writing or analysis as major 
components such as Journalism, History, Creative Writing, or Educational Studies, or 
students who wish to pursue Education, Marketing, or Law at the post-Baccalaureate level.  
 
The BA Minor has many of the same requirements as the BA Major; however, Minor 
students take a total of 30 credits in English. Currently, our Minor has more requirements 
than comparable programs at other universities as well as other programs within KPU Arts. 



English Program Self-Study Report  20 
 

These requirements may serve as a deterrent to students interested in an English Minor 
and should be reconsidered.   
  
A.AAssociate of Arts.  
Associate of Arts (AA) Students, of which there are relatively few, are required to take 15 
credits including the first- and second-year requirements.    

Program Competencies and Essential Skills 

The English Department’s program competencies are informed by institutional 
competencies and skills and align with KPU’s Essential Skills Policy, Academic Plan 2023, as 
well as the Faculty of Arts’ Bachelor of Arts Framework Learning Outcomes. There is 
considerable overlap in these documents, which all emphasize creative and critical 
thinking; communication, comprehension, and information literacy; intercultural and 
global awareness; and personal and professional responsibility.  
 

KPU’s Essential Skills  
• Creative Thinking and Problem-Solving Skills   
• Oral Communication Skills   
• Writing Skills   
• Interpersonal Skills  
• Teamwork and Leadership Skills  
• Personal Management Skills  
• Reading and Information Skills  
• Visual Literacy Skills   
• Mathematical Skills   
• Intercultural Skills   
• Technological Skills  
• Citizenship and Global Perspectives 

 
KPU’s Academic Plan 2023  
• Can think and act independently  
• Have strong and adaptable digital and technological skills  
• Are collaborators across different areas of expertise  
• Are capable of dealing with diverse other learners, companies, clients and agencies  
• Have a capacity for integrated thinking 

 
BA Framework Learning Outcomes  
• Critical Thinking: Critically analyze one’s own and others’ thinking, and develop logical 

arguments supported by credible evidence  
•  Communication: Communicate clearly and concisely considering audience and purpose, and 

demonstrate the ability to effectively use different mediums, formats, and styles   
• Problem-Solving & Innovation: Develop multiple approaches to identify and address 

problems, implement strategies for action, and evaluate outcomes 



English Program Self-Study Report  21 
 

• Social Justice: Examine the impact of historical and ongoing injustices on contemporary 
societies and cultures; identify and explore ways of addressing systemic barriers to equality 
and inclusiveness   

• Intercultural Awareness: Engage and interact with diverse cultural traditions, knowledge 
systems, and perspectives; explore seeing the world through someone else's eyes, and 
articulate diverse perspectives  

•  Information & Research Literacy: Articulate and investigate research questions using diverse 
methods; and draw on primary and secondary resources to make original analyses and 
observations  

• Numerical Literacy: Identify and interpret patterns of data, consider specific numerical 
values and statistics in the context of larger data sets, and interpret graphical 
representations of numerical information   

• Professionalism, Teamwork & Accountability: Manage time effectively and demonstrate 
awareness of one's skills, habits, and abilities; collaborate with others respectfully; be 
accountable for one's actions 

 
 
With the exception of numeracy and mathematical skills, which are not particularly 
relevant to our program, English fosters all the skills and competencies outlined above. 
Written communication, reading comprehension, critical analysis, and information literacy 
are foundational to all of the Department’s courses, with particular emphasis on literary 
analysis, formal research, and scholarly writing. Students are taught not only to analyze 
and evaluate visual and written texts, but they are also expected to develop coherent and 
supported arguments, and to communicate their ideas clearly in a variety of mediums and 
styles with an awareness of audience, purpose, and occasion. Introduction to these skills 
begins in the first year, and students continue to expand and deepen their mastery as they 
move through the program.  
  
Our program also fosters self-awareness and reflection, and it exposes students to diverse, 
intersectional perspectives and methodologies. The program curriculum is designed to 
teach students how to engage critically and ethically with cultural materials (most notably 
literature and film) that are produced in a variety of social, historical, political, and artistic 
contexts. As such, students who complete the program are introduced to a diversity of 
voices and perspectives which help them to develop intercultural awareness and an 
understanding of historic and ongoing social justice issues. Students are also given 
opportunities to reflect critically on their own positions, identities, skills, and 
methodological approaches as scholars, individuals, and citizens.  
 

Learning Outcomes 

The English program learning outcomes reinforce the program-level skills and 
competencies, placing particular emphasis on Literary and Film Studies methodologies.  
 
Graduates of the English Department will be able to:  
  



English Program Self-Study Report  22 
 

1. Communicate clearly, coherently, and concisely, considering audience, purpose, 
and rhetorical context, in written and oral form.     

2. Demonstrate critical thinking and reasoning skills in reading, comprehending, and 
evaluating texts and contexts. Interpret and analyze texts from a variety of critical 
and theoretical perspectives.    

3. Identify the main critical traditions and movements that have influenced the study 
of literature and film.    

4. Analyze the social, historical, cultural, philosophical, and/or economic influences 
on literature and narrative.    

5. Identify and reflect upon differences of perspective and experience arising from 
race, class, gender, sexuality, and culture.    

6. Frame and investigate relevant research questions to draw upon and document 
primary and secondary resources to develop original analyses, interpretations, 
and arguments.      

  
English faculty have also identified emergent spaces to expand program learning outcomes 
3, 4, and 5, and to include a digital literacy outcome. The intent is not to replace 3, 4, and 
5, but to merge them with the proposed outcomes as the program builds capacity in these 
key areas. In other words, we are building upon existing learning outcomes with attention 
to what is happening in academic institutions and other English Departments, including an 
increased need for both digital literacies and EDID (Equity, Diversity, Inclusion, and 
Decolonization). Our discipline as a whole is undergoing a large shift towards EDID, which 
can be seen in curriculum development, research and scholarship, and professional 
activities globally. Additionally, digital and visual literacy skills are important because we 
are expanding the film offerings in our departments. The proposed outcomes are: 
  

1. Employ digital and visual literacy skills in reading, interpreting, analyzing, 
responding to, and producing a variety of texts.  (New outcome) 

2. Understand the history and evolution of the discipline, current debates, and 
possible futures.  (Expansion of outcome 3) 

3. Reflect on the ways that literature, narrative, and literary study can uphold, 
challenge, represent, and question historical and ongoing injustices.  (Expansion of 
outcome 4) 

4. Identify and reflect upon differences in representation, perspective, and 
experience arising from race, class, gender, sexuality, ability, identity, and 
culture.  (Expansion of outcome 5) 

  
While these outcomes have not yet been formally designated, we know that many 
instructors already include them in their courses. Further, the faculty survey shows there 
is broad faculty support to continue to build curriculum and expertise in these areas: 
 

#  Question  Not 
important 

Somewhat 
important 

Very 
important 

Essential Total 



English Program Self-Study Report  23 
 

1  
Employ digital and visual literacy skills in 
reading, interpreting, analyzing, 
responding to, and producing a variety of 
texts  

7% 33% 19% 41% 27 

2  
Understand the history and evolution of 
the discipline, current debates, and 
possible futures  

4% 22% 56% 19% 27 

3  
Reflect on the ways that literature, 
narrative, and literary study can uphold, 
challenge, represent, and question 
historical and ongoing injustices  

4% 22% 26% 48% 27 

4  

Identify and reflect upon differences in 
representation, perspective, and 
experience arising from race, class, 
gender, sexuality, ability, identity, and 
culture  

4% 15% 22% 59% 27 

 

Credential-Level Specifications 

Declaration requirements: good academic standing with the university, completion of a 
minimum of 18 credits of undergraduate coursework (minimum grade of ‘C’), including 
ENGL1100, and six credits at the 1100 level or higher in ENGL.  
 
ENGL Major: Students must complete ENGL 1100 and 3 credits chosen from ENGL 1202 and 
ENGL 1204; 3 credits from ENGL 2301, 2309, 2316, 2317 and a further 6 credits from 
courses in ENGL at the 2000 level; 30 credits of study in 3000-4000 level courses, including 
one of ENGL 3300 and ENGL 3305, one of ENGL 3315, 3320, 3321, 3323, and 3325, one of 
ENGL 3301, 3306, 3328, 3332, and 3336 and a minimum of 3 credits at the 4000 level; a 
total of 45 or more ENGL credits with a minimum grade of ‘C ’or better.  
 
ENGL Minor: Students must complete ENGL 1100 and 3 credits from one of ENGL 1202 and 
ENGL 1204; 3 credits from ENGL 2301, 2309, 2316, 2317 and a further 6 credits from 
courses in ENGL at the 2000 level; a further 15 credits of 3000 and 4000-level courses 
including ENGL 3330 or 3305 and 3 credits in 4000-level courses; a total of 30 or more ENGL 
credits with a minimum grade of ‘C ’or better.   
N/A 
 
ENGL Associate of Arts: Students must complete 60 credits including ENGL 1100 and 3 
credits chosen from ENGL 1202 and ENGL 1204; one of ENGL 2301, 2309, 2316, and 2317 
and a further 6 credits at the 2000 level; a total of 15 or more ENGL credits with a minimum 
grade of ‘C ’or better. 

Degree-Level Standards (if applicable) 

N/A 



English Program Self-Study Report  24 
 

Admissions and Prerequisites 

Admission to the Faculty of Arts and meeting the English Language Proficiency 
Requirement. As outlined in the Admissions Guide, students can satisfy this requirement in 
several ways.   

Student Satisfaction with the Curriculum 
The student survey shows a high level of satisfaction with the program curriculum. 88% 
responded that they were satisfied (42% of students said they are somewhat satisfied and 
46% responded that they are very satisfied). Several themes emerge from the student and 
alumni responses about curriculum. Students appear to be energized by different genres, 
styles, forms, and approaches in the discipline. However, students also indicated issues 
with course availability and a desire for greater diversity within course offerings.  
  
Students who identified as Majors in English say that they were originally drawn to the 
program for many reasons; a number of students shared a common story about being 
drawn to the program because of a positive experience in a first-year English course or a 
2000 or higher-level course that they decided to take as an elective. One student wrote, “I 
had initially wanted to major in Biology but my professors made English very intriguing and 
stimulating that I transferred programs. I like the discussion and participation part of 
English the most.” Another echoed this experience: “My first English course at KPU really 
caught my attention. The way of approaching the readings, analyzing the text, creating 
connections to the real world, and the discussions.”  
 
61% of student respondents indicated that they chose to pursue English with the goal of 
becoming a teacher. Several students noted that once they entered the program, they 
found the curricular content and approaches compelling. One such student said, “originally 
I was getting an English Degree to help me in becoming a teacher. But, since changing my 
career path, I just want to soak up studying literature and writing about my thoughts and 
ideas.”  
  
One student points to the variety of genres as a strength, while another notes that the 
“Curriculum provides a diverse set of literature to study. It is never just one genre, or one 
type of culture and characters.” Comments about the many varied approaches to the field 
appear throughout the survey: “The biggest strength of the program is the variety of classes 
they offer on different topics.” That said, students also expressed a desire for more course 
options.  
  
The responses to the next question—areas for improvement—suggest that students want 
more course options in general. One asks for an upper-level medieval course while others 
identify the need for more genres “such as surrealism, murder-mysteries, religious texts, 
and graphic novels.” This need was identified in the last program review, and we have since 
developed courses in children’s literature, science fiction/ fantasy, western mythology, film 
and film history, and young adult literature. A graphic novel course, a fairy tale and folklore 
course, and several more film courses are in development, but the department will need 

https://calendar.kpu.ca/admissions/english-proficiency-requirements/
https://calendar.kpu.ca/admissions/english-proficiency-requirements/


English Program Self-Study Report  25 
 

to build capacity to develop and teach these new courses through targeted hiring and by 
encouraging faculty to develop expertise in these areas. These courses all align with our 
program-level outcomes and proposed program outcomes. For example, the folklore and 
fairytale course focuses on examples of these texts from across cultures, and the graphic 
novel course will build students’ visual literacy skills. In terms of film, one notable example 
of a course that will provide both visual literacy skills and knowledge of EDID is a proposed 
third-year Bollywood course designed by Dr Asma Sayed. 
  
Many of the responses about curriculum focus on the need for diversity. Several students 
suggest the need for more courses that focus on textual traditions outside the traditional 
canon. One respondent writes, “I would like even more courses to be offered, especially 
more diverse literature courses,” while another recommends “increasing the diversity of 
courses that will include works of other world-famous writers (European, Asian, African).” 
A third asks for more “courses on literature from other cultures in translation.” One 
respondent returns to this when asked to comment on the program as whole: “The only 
thing I would like to highlight for this program is the lack of diversity in the texts students 
read.” These themes are also apparent in the alumni survey where students identify the 
need for courses that focus upon diverse bodies of literature from historically excluded 
voices and a general need for more options.  
 
The requests for courses that feature diverse voices and current topics are in keeping with 
the movement of the field as a whole and its sub-disciplines. Many English programs across 
Canada are developing more courses that focus on social justice, Indigenous perspfectives, 
environmental justice, and underrepresented voices and stories in both historical and 
contemporary literatures. Furthermore, programs are making substantive efforts to 
include historically excluded voices and perspectives within already existing courses. In 
KPU’s English program, this work has already begun within many existing courses and with 
several recent hires in Indigenous, Post-Colonial, and Black Diasporic literatures.  
  
While current students are generally satisfied with skills learning, alumni comment that 
they would have benefitted from more hands-on skills, experiential, professional 
opportunities. A number of alumni respondents point to the need for courses that help 
them bridge into their professional lives. As one alumnus responds:  
 

I really believe [the department] should add something to direct students on how 
to utilize their writing skills + critical thinking skills for getting work after graduation 
if they are not going into teaching. It felt like if one was not going into teaching or 
going onto a Masters, there was not much guidance.  
 

While English participates in the ARTS 4800 Arts practicum course, it has two discipline 
experiential courses of its own, ENGL 4300 English Beyond the Classroom and 4400 English 
Studies in the Classroom. Unfortunately, the former has only been offered once since 2015, 
while the other has not been offered at all in that time; both courses need to be 



English Program Self-Study Report  26 
 

reconsidered and, ideally, integrated into the BA English program, perhaps as capstone 
options.  
  
Examined as a whole, responses suggest that students are generally satisfied with the 
curriculum, but there is room for improvement. In particular, there is an appetite for 
broader definitions of literature and for more inclusivity and diversity in our course 
offerings.   

Faculty Satisfaction with the Curriculum 
 
Faculty satisfaction with the curriculum, while still strong, was lower than student 
satisfaction. 37% of English faculty were somewhat satisfied with the curriculum and 30% 
were very satisfied.  When asked to elaborate on the strengths of the program, many 
faculty members identified the variety of course offerings, courses on film, and courses in 
popular literature.   
  
When asked to identify areas for improvement, faculty were more critical.  Only 36% 
percent of faculty were satisfied with the program’s Indigenous content offerings, and 
many faculty members expressed a desire to see greater diversity in curriculum, saying that 
“Indigenous and other non-Western literary traditions [are] not as widely covered as one 
would hope” and that “More BIPOC-focused courses [are] needed.” As noted above, there 
is widespread support from faculty to deepen and expand our learning outcomes 
connected to social justice and race, gender, sexuality, and ability. 
  
Another recurring theme in faculty responses was the need to provide students with more 
skills-building and experiential opportunities. Faculty indicated a “need [for] more classes 
that help students develop their writing and speaking skills” and for “more options for 
service learning and community engagement.” Faculty would like to see greater 
differentiation between course levels and more scaffolding of courses to support skill-
building. Currently, only 19% of faculty are very satisfied with how the “program makes use 
of prerequisites to prepare students for subsequent courses” and how the program 
articulates and differentiates between second, third, and fourth year. Given this level of 
satisfaction, it is unsurprising that faculty are generally open to restructuring the program 
to place greater emphasis on methods and skills. One faculty member recommends using 
“2000-level courses [to] focus on a canon of methods rather than a canon of texts” and 
another suggests moving from “a program organized largely around national literatures 
and specific literary historical periods, [to]…a more flexible program that focuses on giving 
students essential critical reading, writing and thinking skills.”  
  
In summary, while faculty are generally satisfied with the program’s historical breadth, 
course offerings within the Western canon, film offerings, and faculty expertise, their 
responses suggest that the English curriculum can be improved by a greater attention to 
diverse voices and foundational skills. In order to achieve the second of these objectives, 
the department should consider a required second-year methods course and skills course. 



English Program Self-Study Report  27 
 

This required course might replace the current third-year theory requirement, which is not 
common in other English departments in BC. 
 
 

Career Pathways and Alumni Preparedness for Work/Further Education  

The Alumni survey suggests that the majority of English graduates work in education (58%), 
government (23%), and the non-profit sector (15%). These career pathways make use of 
English alumni’s strong communication, critical thinking, and reading comprehension skills, 
and draw on their knowledge of historical and contemporary sociopolitical issues. As one 
respondent said, the English program “gave me critical analysis skills, reading 
comprehension and synthesizing skills, alongside research skills that I find to be invaluable 
regardless of the industry that I enter.” 
  
While 68% of alumni were either very or somewhat satisfied that their English degree 
prepared them for further work or education, many also saw room for improvement. In 
particular, one alumnus commented that they wished the English Department provided 
more opportunities for experiential and applied learning:  

I feel like there was no co-op, on-the-job opportunities or even a jobs course to find 
out what to do with the English degree (i.e. publishing, post-grad, editing, social 
work, etc.). Many of my cohort went on into teaching but there was never 
discussion on what else one could do post-graduation.  How to make it relevant to 
the real world.  

Another respondent wanted opportunities to apply their writing and communication skills 
in different contexts, noting that, “The writing that the English department teaches is 
centered around writing for academia. Extension courses that teach how to apply this to 
other fields would have been helpful to prepare me for the workplace.” The feedback from 
alumni aligns with English faculty and current student’s desire for more applied learning, 
particularly at the 2nd and 4th year level, and further emphasizes the need for more skills-
based and experiential learning courses. 

Discipline/Sector Feedback 

A total of 7 contacts responded to our request to fill out the Discipline Survey. Of these, 
most were professors in English programs with a range of experience supervising and 
teaching graduate students. One respondent teaches Education. Respondents rated the 
importance of these core skills as follows: 
 

# Question Not at all important Somewhat important Very important Essential Total 

1 Oral communication 0% 0% 71% 29% 7 

2 Written communication 0% 0% 14% 86% 7 

3 Reading comprehension 0% 0% 14% 86% 7 

4 Group collaboration 0% 29% 57% 14% 7 



English Program Self-Study Report  28 
 

5 Independent learning 0% 0% 14% 86% 7 

6 Critical analysis 0% 14% 0% 86% 7 

7 Problem Resolution 0% 14% 71% 14% 7 

8 Creativity and innovation 0% 14% 43% 43% 7 

9 Leadership skills 0% 43% 57% 0% 7 

10 Intercultural skills 0% 14% 0% 86% 7 

 
KPU English alumni rated their development of these skills in the program as follows: 
 

# Question Not at all A small extent A moderate extent A large extent Total 

1 Oral communication 5% 26% 53% 16% 38 

2 Written communication 0% 8% 21% 71% 38 

3 Reading comprehension 3% 16% 24% 58% 38 

4 Group collaboration 8% 26% 34% 32% 38 

5 Independent learning 3% 11% 32% 55% 38 

6 Critical analysis 3% 8% 29% 61% 38 

7 Problem resolution 5% 24% 46% 24% 37 

8 Creativity and innovation 8% 16% 45% 32% 38 

9 Leadership skills 24% 34% 29% 13% 38 

10 Intercultural skills 8% 50% 24% 18% 38 

 
Comparing both sets of responses, we see that the skills valued most by the discipline 
respondents are the skills most clearly identified as learning outcomes by our graduates. 
These include written communication, reading comprehension, independent learning, and 
critical analysis. However, one skill that was rated highly in the discipline survey was rated 
low by alumni: intercultural skills. This echoes responses from the student and instructor 
surveys identifying the need for the department to continue to pursue strategies to 
increase cultural diversity in its course offerings and in its critical perspectives. In particular, 
the discipline survey responses identified the current and growing importance of 
Indigenous literature and literature from minoritized groups.    
 
As for preparedness for further study, few survey respondents were familiar with our 
students, but those who were confirmed that English alumni were prepared for further 
education. One respondent stated that both of the KPU alumni they taught were “excellent 
grad students and were as prepared for grad study as many students from other 
competitive institutions.” 

Curriculum Development and Review Processes 
 
Curriculum development aligns with the structure of the program and needs of our 
students, but it also responds to student demand and current trends in the discipline. The 



English Program Self-Study Report  29 
 

English Curriculum Committee (CurrComm) has been delegated the responsibility of 
approving and revising courses in the English department. 
 
Course development may be initiated by an individual instructor, or it may be requested 
by CurrComm, usually in consultation with our Educational Planning committee. Proposed 
courses are discussed by CurrComm to determine suitability for the program and viability. 
Once courses are approved in principle, developers fill out an approval form (often with 
assistance from the Chair or a member of CurrComm) to send to the dean’s office. If the 
dean’s office approves the proposal, developers build the course using the course 
development platform. A full draft outline is returned to CurrComm for feedback and 
approval before submission to Arts Sub-Committee on Curriculum (ASCC). Once ASCC has 
approved a course, the course is sent to Senate Sub-Committee on Curriculum (SSCC) and 
Senate for final approval.  
 
When courses come up for review, subject area experts are asked to make any revisions 
needed to keep the course current; if courses no longer fit clearly into our Ed Plan, they 
may be discontinued. Revised course outlines follow the same process as new ones. 
Broader curricular and programmatic decisions are considered and ratified by the entire 
department.  

Summary and Recommendations 

• Change program requirements for the Minor: The requirements for the BA Minor 
are very similar to those of the Major; the Minor simply requires fewer overall 
credits. Most Minor programs in English and in Arts do not have such extensive 
requirements. Reducing the requirements and providing more flexibility will attract 
students to the Minor. The Minor should also be promoted among students 
majoring in Journalism, History, Creative Writing, or Educational Studies. 

• Create more flexibility in the program structure to allow for concentrations and 
faster completion. 

• Include a greater diversity of voices and cultural perspectives.  
• Hire new faculty to expand offerings of postcolonial, diasporic, Indigenous, and 

LGBTQ2S+/Queer literatures. 
• More skills scaffolding and greater emphasis on analytical methods 
• Reduce the historical requirements in the second year in order to support the 

creation of a required skills course for all Majors, Minors, and A. A. students. This 
change will align KPU English with other programs across Canada that are moving 
away from a canon of traditional literature. 

• Eliminate the current theory requirement and replace it with a second-year skills 
and methods course. Encourage the inclusion of critical theory into the content and 
learning outcomes of existing upper-division courses. 



English Program Self-Study Report  30 
 

• Revitalize existing experiential learning courses (4300: Writing and Persuasion 
Beyond the Classroom and 4400: English Studies and the Classroom) and build 
professional skills opportunities for English students. 

• Create greater coherence and flexibility across existing third-year national literature 
courses.  

• Once the courses currently under development are completed, the department 
should engage in curriculum mapping to ensure all program learning outcomes are 
met and appear at every year of the program. New faculty hired during the writing 
of this report will be essential to this process because of their specific areas of 
expertise.   



English Program Self-Study Report  31 
 

 Quality of Instructional Design 

This chapter assesses the quality of the program’s instructional design. 

Delivery Modes 

The English Department offers first-year courses on four campuses (in descending order of 
numbers of sections): Surrey, Richmond, Langley, and Surrey Centre. Before the COVID-19 
pivot, we offered relatively low numbers of first-year courses online and in hybrid (online/ 
face-to-face) format. The department runs courses from the 2000-4000 level in all three 
semesters. Our 2000-4000 courses are normally offered on the Surrey campus in three-
hour time blocks. Past attempts to offer 2000-level courses on Richmond and Langley 
campuses have prompted us to mainly schedule 2000+ literature sections at the Newton 
Surrey campus. Student feedback revealed that most students taking 2000+ courses were 
not based on satellite campuses; in other words, scheduling these courses on other 
campuses often produced unnecessary commutes for students.  
 
During the COVID-19 pandemic, all English classes were offered fully online with many 
instructors opting for a mix of synchronous and asynchronous activities. When asked about 
their satisfaction with the mode used to deliver the program, 84% of students were very or 
somewhat satisfied. But because the survey was conducted in the midst of a pandemic in 
which no face-to-face instructions was possible, it is unclear whether these numbers reflect 
past or current experience. However, a further question about the likelihood of students 
to take 2000-4000 level courses online post-pandemic shows that 56% would be very or 
extremely likely to do so. 
 
In Fall 2021, we planned a mix of online partially online and face-to-face upper-level 
courses. However, the persistence of the COVID 19 pandemic has prompted many 
instructors to move online either fully or partially. Even before this move, we saw a clear 
preference for online classes. This pattern was likely due to anxieties about returning to 
campus. How this trend will change in the future is anyone’s guess. Nevertheless, we expect 
(and student responses confirm) that a legacy of the pandemic will be greater demand for 
partially and fully online English courses. The English department will therefore have to 
consider how to respond to that demand in terms of scheduling and curriculum.  

Course Scheduling  
 
Scheduling is the responsibility of the Ed Planning Committee (consisting of five members 
including the department chair) in consultation with Search and the department assistant. 
The committee meets several times a year to give input on the schedules, to plan the 2000-
4000 level offerings, and to check faculty course preference forms and qualified faculty lists 
against the schedule and to ensure that students have maximum choice. Upper-level 



English Program Self-Study Report  32 
 

courses are usually planned and advertised on the department’s website at least two 
semesters into the future to help students with their degree planning. 
 
In 2020, we offered nine 2000-level courses over three semesters. The 2000-level courses 
that are required for Minors, Majors, and AAs (students select one of ENGL 2301, 2309, 
2316, and 2317) run more often than others. For example, our traditional literary surveys 
(ENGL 2316 and ENGL 2317) run every year.  
  
Minors and Majors are required to take one theory course in their degree (ENGL 3300 or 
ENGL 3305). The department offers each of these courses once a year. In 2020, we ran 
fifteen 3000-level courses across the three semesters overall. Majors and Minors are also 
required to take one from each of two historical categories among the 3000-level course 
offerings, covering the Middle Ages to the end of the Victorian period. The department 
tries to offer one from Group One (Middle Ages to the end of the 18th-century: ENGL 3315, 
3320, 3321, 3323, 3325) and one from Group Two (beginning of the 19th-century to the 
beginning of the 20th century: ENGL 3301, 3306, 3328, 3332, and 3336) every semester, if 
possible.  
  
Majors and Minors are required to take one 4000-level course (3 credits). Since 2018, we 
have offered one 4000-level course every semester, running a total of three over three 
semesters.  
  
As demand for film courses has grown, the department has designed and offered more film 
courses, and strives to include one or more each term. Once Policy AC 14 KPU Credential 
Framework is implemented, we expect that theis schedule regular scheduling of film 
courses to will facilitate allow students to gain enough credit toward a film concentration 
(a concentration is defined in Policy AC 14 as “minimum of 12 credit hours from courses 
numbered 3000 or higher”).: 70% of student respondentss said they were very or somewhat 
interested in such a concentration.  
 
Generally, Ed Planning attempts to schedule to offer a wide array of options and limit 
topical and area duplication. The committee has further attempted to offer popular courses 
more often (such as Film, Popular Writing, and Children’s Literature) that draw students 
seeking electives from outside of the department. The Ed Planning committee also tries to 
ensure that students are exposed to a mix of instructors throughout their degrees. 
  
Courses at the 2000-4000 levels are generally offered on a biannual basis. However, 
rotation at the 3000-4000 level is dependent upon faculty availability. A faculty member 
on leave or otherwise unavailable to teach a course may delay or prevent a course from 
being offered. A few courses—such as 4300: Writing and Persuasion Beyond the Classroom 
and 4400: English Studies and the Classroom—need to be redesigned and given a clear 
place in the program to facilitate regular rollout. Hiring or professional development might 
also be required in order to find instructors prepared to teach these courses. In general, 
however, the department’s focus should be less on fitting instructors to courses and more 



English Program Self-Study Report  33 
 

on developing courses to fit instructors’ expertise. Today’s PhD programs are more diverse 
and interdisciplinary than in the past; instructors should therefore be encouraged to 
propose course topics and to develop and revise courses to enable them to employ their 
expertise to inspire students.    
  

Assessment Methods 

All courses in the English program utilize the letter grade system.  Kwantlen Polytechnic 
University has specific policies and procedures pertaining to evaluation in such courses that 
are detailed in AR6: Final Examinations and Grade Reporting for Semester-Based Courses, 
and C.20AC 4: Student Evaluation and Grading.  
 
The English Department’s assessment methods are varied and depend on the topic and 
instructor. Collectively, the department places a great deal of weight on writing skills, and 
as such, scholarly writing (i.e., academic essays) is expected in all of our classes. However, 
other assessment methods are also used, providing students with opportunities to share 
their knowledge in different ways. These assessments include (but are not limited to) in-
class discussion, debate, collaborative work, research poster projects, annotation 
exercises, presentations, performance (particularly in drama courses), ePortfolios, digital 
projects, journals, blogs, reflective writing, as well as quizzes and exams. These assessment 
methods are constructively aligned with course, program, and institutional learning 
outcomes as well as discipline-specific skills and competencies. Additionally, they are 
scaffolded to increase in complexity as students move through the program. And these 
many assessment methods meet the needs of diverse learners by allowing them to engage 
with and share information in multiple ways. In recent years, increasing attention has been 
given to Universal Design for Learning (UDL), and, while there is significant work to be done 
at the course level, at the program level, the English Department offers assessment 
strategies to provide students with multiple options to demonstrate and share their 
knowledge. We also continue to encourage more faculty to do so at the course level; as 
indicated elsewhere in this report, departmental PD activities often focus on learning 
activities that accommodate diverse learners.These assessment methods are designed to 
meet course, program, and institutional learning outcomes as well as discipline-specific 
skills and competencies. In recent years, increasing attention has been given to Universal 
Design for Learning (UDL), and the English department is adopting assessment strategies 
to provide students with multiple options to demonstrate and share their knowledge. 

Student Experience 

Grade Distribution 

The English Department’s DFW rates (between 2015/2016 and 2019/2020) are higher than 
Arts as a whole. English’s DFW rate falls between 23 and 26%, whereas Arts’ DFW rate falls 
between 16% and 19%.    



English Program Self-Study Report  34 
 

  
English 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Arts 

 
 

There are several reasons for this discrepancy. First, as a writing-based discipline, English 
generally has slightly lower grades than many other disciplines at the first year. Second, 
and perhaps most importantly, these numbers include a large number of first-year courses 
required outside Arts. ENGL 1100 is a required course for all baccalaureate programs across 
the institution, which makes it difficult to compare English with many other programs in 
Arts. Furthermore, the gap between high school writing and university writing is a well-
known phenomenon.  
 
In order to examine the department’s grade distribution, it is worthwhile to look at the 
numbers slightly differently than shown above. As discussed above, taking all years of the 
program into account shows that English has between a seven and 10% higher DFW rate 
than Arts. However, using the Grade Distribution Dashboard to look at 2000-4000 level 
courses shows a 11-12% DFW rate across Arts compared to a 13 to 18% DFW rate in English 
between 2015/2016 and 2019/2020. In fact, excluding the one year of an 18% rate (which 
was 2019-2020 and could easily be explained by factoring in the AEG grades and general 
issues around COVID), shows that we are within 1-2% of the DFW rate for Arts.  
  



English Program Self-Study Report  35 
 

Overall, the English department’s grade distribution in the 2000-4000 level of the program 
is similar to other programs across Arts. In fact, 93% of students surveyed indicated that 
they were satisfied with their “Level of ability to succeed in the program.” No students 
indicate dissatisfaction with either their ability to succeed or “Prerequisites that prepare 
me for advanced courses.”  
 
Student Supports and Professional Development for Faculty 
 
The English department works in a variety of ways to help students acquire the essential 
writing basics needed in first-year university and beyond. These include PD opportunities, 
Writing Labs, Learning Centre referrals, and one-on-one conferencing with students.  
  
Instructors engage in PD sessions several times a year to discuss pedagogical strategies. PD 
sessions have increased over the years with a permanent PD Committee comprised of 
several faculty members arranging events. The COVID-19 pandemic reinvigorated the PD 
committee as faculty discovered a need for PD sessions and Virtual Hallway chats. We have 
had a number of sessions each semester over the last year that were well attended. The 
PD committee also arranges a departmental marking session at least once a year to co-
mark sample first-year assignments, to discuss our outcomes, and to consider philosophies 
and approaches.   
 
One of our instructors, Gillian Dearle, has also created a Community of Practice Moodle 
site housing a set of resources as a part of her Educational Leave in 2019-2020. The 
Community of Practice involved a set of meetings of interested faculty, working together 
to discuss and determine best practices for first-year teaching. Gillian also completed an 
online ENGL 1100 template/resource site for faculty to use. This resource site proved 
invaluable during the “pandemic pivot” as instructors were able to draw from it for their 
online teaching. During the pivot, the page also hosted a community forum where faculty 
could ask and answer questions about online teaching methods, resources, and 
technology. Faculty used these forums as well as MS Teams to engage one another and 
keep connected during the COVID-19 pandemic.  
 
In 2016, as an action item from our last program review, we implemented the First-Year 
English Writing Labs. This program works on a faculty-led Supplementary Instruction (SI) 
model and offers free flexible workshops on writing basics taught by experienced faculty 
supported by time release from the Dean of Arts. Each fall and spring, two instructors 
organize 40 one-hour (8 sets of 5) lab modules that run the gamut from “Sentence 
Structure” to “Thesis Statements.” One faculty member offers 20 (4 sets of 5 modules) in 
the Summer.  
 
The English writing lab instructors have also formed two important connections with the 
Learning Centres. First, we seek to include peer tutors in the labs. In the past, two or three 
peer tutors would attend in-person labs (paid tutor hours) to help students as they 

https://www.kpu.ca/arts/english/firstyearlabs
https://www.kpu.ca/arts/english/firstyearlabs


English Program Self-Study Report  36 
 

completed exercises, and some students who wanted to go into teaching were coached by 
the lab instructors to teach a partial lab session themselves.  
 
Since the pandemic pivot, we have turned all of our labs into synchronous online sessions. 
We paired with the Learning Centres again, but we now include a peer tutor in every lab 
module, meaning that each module is supported by an instructor as well as a tutor. This 
method gets the students used to tutor support, helps ensure all students get the one-on-
one attention they require, and offers the tutors insight into writing instruction (many peer 
tutors need help understanding grammar, for example, so they can learn as they teach). 
Second, we have devised a passport system that includes the Learning Centre. Using it, 
faculty may offer bonus opportunities to students if they attend five labs and/or peer tutor 
appointments. We provide lab attendance info to all first-year faculty, and the tutors 
provide students with confirmation emails of tutoring sessions that can be sent along to an 
instructor as well. This incentive has strong faculty buy-in, and it encourages students who 
need it to seek basic writing help.   
  
Developed as a response to resource development and deployment during the COVID-19 
pandemic, many instructors now work with the Learning Centres to implement a Tutor 
Navigator program that pairs tutors with specific sections of our first-year English courses. 
During the year online, Tutor Navigators visited synchronous sessions to talk to students 
about the resources available to them in the Learning Centres and to encourage them to 
book one-on-one appointments. This helped to lower the bar of signing up for tutoring 
because students had a name and a friendly face to make the process less daunting. Tutors 
had access to instructor assignments to help them offer much more targeted feedback.  
  
Another important relationship that supports student writing is the Faculty Tutor program. 
The Dean of Arts provides one-course-per-semester time releases to two English faculty in 
fall and spring terms. So, during the busiest periods, two faculty members work with the 
Learning Centre. Since the Learning Centre’s tutors are hired under “specialist” areas 
depending on Major, our English Department faculty will give input on training, work 
directly with writing tutors, and also see student visitors themselves as part of the “writing” 
area. Faculty tutors have been working for several years to move faculty involvement away 
from the one-on-one tutoring role and towards more mentoring, observing, and advising 
the student tutors. Many of the student tutors in the writing area of the Learning Centres 
are English Majors and Minors. Looking at how these students are faring in the program 
itself requires separating out the program from the large numbers of first-year service 
courses.  
 
Finally, it is necessary to mention the individualized support students receive from their 
English instructors. A major component of any writing-intensive class is one-on-one work 
with students, coaching them on their writing and suggesting ways to improve. Often this 
coaching goes beyond writing to more general strategies for academic success and can go 
as far as offering emotional support for struggling students. This is not easy work. It is both 

https://www.kpu.ca/learningcentres/tutor-navigator-program
https://www.kpu.ca/learningcentres/tutor-navigator-program
https://www.kpu.ca/learningcentres/tutor-training


English Program Self-Study Report  37 
 

time-consuming and emotionally draining; nevertheless, rare is the English instructor who 
does not go above and beyond to provide it.  
 
While there are many initiatives in the department to help improve writing and/or grades 
of first-year students, there are no corresponding co-curricular initiatives for students in 
the Major and Minor programs beyond student-instructor conferencing; however, the 
upper-level committee is generating plans for program engagement and Heather Cyr has 
recently been approved (fall 2021) for a 0.6 project to create an OER Writing and Research 
Handbook designed to support non-Majors in 2000-4000 level courses, especially those 
who are unfamiliar with the basic methods of the discipline. The Writing and Research 
Handbook will also, of course, be useful for our Majors and Minors. 
 

Retention and Graduation Rates 

Retention in the English Department is difficult to measure given that English 1100 and 
1202/4 are requirements for all Arts students and English 1100 is a requirement for all KPU 
students pursuing a bachelor’s degree. These core, lower-level English courses are 
designed to teach academic writing, critical thinking, research, and reading comprehension 
skills to a wide audience, rather than to recruit potential English Majors or Minors. As such, 
it is unsurprising that there is a large gap between lower and upper-level courses, with 4996 
students taking English 1100, 1202/4 and other lower division courses in 2019/2020 and 
only 193 students taking upper year courses. However, the English Department has also 
shown consistent growth over the last five years, which suggests that the program is doing 
a good job attracting and retaining students. The total number of English students has 
increased by 24% since 2015/16, and the number of intended students has increased by a 
staggering 124%. While the department has seen a slight decrease in Majors, the Minor 
program has flourished, with enrollment jumping by 278%. 
 
The Department of English’s graduation rates appear to have remained consistent over the 
last 5 years, dipping in 2016 to 8 and then rebounding in 2017 to 33 before leveling off at 
around 20. However, the FTE headcount in English has consistently gone up, and the 
program is regularly adding to its offerings of upper year courses, which may suggest that 
the program can expect more graduates in coming years than captured by these data. 
Anecdotally, English faculty know many of our students pursue double Majors in teachable 
subjects, pairing Majors in History, Languages, or Counselling with English in order to 
ensure they are prepared for careers in primary and secondary education. It is possible that 
many of these students are not accounted for in this data because of how double Majors 
are documented. 
 
Graduates typically take just over five years to graduate, which aligns with the Faculty of 
Arts’s median years to graduate and the provincial average of 4.89 year to complete an 
undergraduate degree. The Alumni Survey Report indicates that while students perceived 
“working while going to school” (44%) and “financial issues” (42%) to be the greatest 
obstacles to timely completion, availability of courses was also a significant factor (38%).    

https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/191018/dq191018a-eng.htm


English Program Self-Study Report  38 
 

 

# Question Not at all A small extent A moderate extent A large extent Total 

1 Availability of courses 14% 49% 33% 5% 43 

2 Flexibility of scheduling options 21% 44% 30% 5% 43 

3 Working while going to school 28% 28% 23% 21% 43 

4 Financial issues 35% 23% 16% 26% 43 

 

Student Outcomes 

The English program currently meets or exceeds Ministry Outcome Score Targets in all but 
three categories, scoring above 90% in satisfaction, quality, reading comprehension, 
written communication, critical thinking, and individual learning. The scores in these 
categories reflect the emphasis the program places on these significant skills. 
 

Measures  

Average Student Outcome 
Scores for KPU English 

Program  
(2017-2019)  

Ministry  
Target  

Respondents  35    

Unemployment  6.5%  
  

≤ 7.5%  
  

Currently Employed  83%  
  

  
  

Related Job  62%  
    

Usefulness  86%  ≥ 90%  
Satisfaction  100%  ≥ 90%  
Quality  100%  ≥ 90%  
Skill Development  87%  ≥ 85%  
Write Clearly and Concisely  94%  ≥ 85%  
Speak Effectively  85%  ≥ 85%  
Read and Comprehend 

Materials  91%  ≥ 85%  
Work Effectively with Others  71%  ≥ 85%  
Analyze and Think Critically  100%  ≥ 85%  
Resolve Issues or Problems  74%  ≥ 85%  
Learn on your Own  94%  ≥ 85%  

 
The department falls slightly short of the Ministry Target for “usefulness,” and is further 
away from meeting the targets for “working with others” and “problem solving.” This 
suggests two things: first, faculty need to work harder to help students understand the 



English Program Self-Study Report  39 
 

usefulness of skills such as critical thinking, reading comprehension, and writing, and the 
connections between critical thinking and problem solving. Second, students would benefit 
from more opportunities to collaborate on projects that require them to work together. 
Group projects will also support the development of problem-solving skills. 

Student Satisfaction with Course Availability 
 
Over the last few years, the department has been increasing its offerings of 2000-4000 level 
courses across all three semesters in response to increasing demand. Nevertheless, 
students have indicated some dissatisfaction with course availability. 100% of respondents 
to the student survey said they faced scheduling issues because the courses they wanted 
were not offered in a particular semester. 67% indicated that they have experienced 
courses being full before they could register. One student makes this clear when they 
suggest that we “Offer more courses each semester so students can graduate on time.” 
This theme was also prevalent in the alumni survey. One respondent sums up the 
sentiments expressed by a number of alumni; under “areas for improvement”, they write: 
“The availability of courses, the flexibility of courses, the increase in courses, the diversity 
of courses.”  
 
Unmet demand for 2000-4000 summer courses also arose in the student surveys. Demand 
in these terms has increased while our capacity to meet that demand has remained static 
or declined. One student respondent notes frustration with the offerings in the summer 
semester, in particular: “In the Summer semester, only a few of the classes are offered to 
new students and senior students, making it pretty difficult to take certain classes without 
having to wait until the Fall semester.” A respondent in the alumni survey highlights this 
issue colourfully: 
 

The registration numbers one receives can be a major determinant in how easily 
one progresses through their degree. Trying to get a particular course in the 
summer semester that works with one's work schedule and isn't fully waitlisted by 
the time your registration period comes up can be like threading a needle with 
boxing gloves on.  
 

In order to better satisfy demand for summer courses, the department has recently placed 
two newly regularized instructors to the summer with the expectation that they will teach 
upper-level courses in that term. Additional adjustments may be required in the future. 
 
Students also expressed a relatively low rate of satisfaction with the range of courses 
offered each term. Only 43% were somewhat or very satisfied and an equal percentage—
43%—were somewhat or very dissatisfied. This result is not entirely surprising. Before the 
recent surge in enrolments, a dearth of English students meant we were able to offer 
neither a large number nor a wide range of 2000-4000 level courses. After the surge, the 
department found itself struggling to meet demand and confronting limitations in upper-
level course coverage and a limited range of upper-level courses. We have begun to address 



English Program Self-Study Report  40 
 

the problem through hiring, but the English Program Review committee believes that a 
thorough reconsideration of our curriculum is required in order to keep the program vital 
and thriving. 

Student Satisfaction with Instruction 

Student and alumni surveys both show high levels of satisfaction with instruction. Indeed, 
many of the student respondents (44%) indicated that they chose the program because of 
the “Reputation of Instructors.” Several other students identified instructors’ enthusiasm 
and passion as the main strength of the program, continuing this theme from elsewhere in 
the survey. One student says that the program’s most important strength is “the teachers; 
it is clear they are passionate [about] what they do and they are always helpful and 
encouraging….” Another writes,  

 
Each professor I have had is so enthusiastic about [their] topic in literature, it is such 
a good feeling to walk into the class and have your prof excited to share their 
knowledge and favourite books. It makes me excited to learn and more passionate 
they are, the more passionate I feel. Each class the professor has thoughtfully put 
together a semester of building on new ideas or topics that can be applied to the 
discipline as a whole. 

 
Others place the instructors as an important piece of the larger picture: “The instructors 
are amazing and welcoming, and the wide range of program opportunities (clubs, 
scholarships, bursaries, and opportunities) are amazing.” While others said that instructor 
techniques are the department’s strong suit: “The strength of the program is how the 
professors will guide you to create stronger analysis and connections during discussions of 
readings during class time.”  

Faculty Experience 

Expertise and Qualifications 

Bartlett, Andrew  BA (UNB), MA (Dalhousie), 
PhD (York)  

18th Century British 
Literature; Narrative 
Theory, Human / Animal 
Studies 

Blenkhorn, Deborah  BA / B.Ed. (Queen's), MA 
(Queen's)  

Composition/Academic 
Writing 

Boyd, Shelley  BA (Saskatchewan), MA 
(Saskatchewan), PhD 
(McGill)  

Canadian Literature, Food 
Studies, Women’s Writing 

Bright, Gillian  BA (Hon.) (UBC), MA 
(Leeds), PhD (UofT)  

Postcolonial Literatures, 
Diasporic Literatures, 
Affect Studies 



English Program Self-Study Report  41 
 

Buirs, Betty Anne  Dip. Arts (Douglas), BA 
(UBC), MA (UBC), PhD 
(Saskatchewan)  

Canadian Literature, 
Composition/Academic 
Writing 

Chan, Gregory  BA (UBC), MA (UBC)  Film Studies, Canadian 
Diasporic Literature, Digital 
Humanities, Experiential 
Learning 

Clements, Kiran  BA English (SFU), BA 
Psychology (SFU), M.Phil. 
(Oxford), PhD (London)  

Romantic Literature, Late 
18th - 19th Century Poetry 

Cochrane, Mark  BFA (UBC), MA (Concordia), 
LLB/JD (UBC)  

Canadian Poetry, 
Composition/Academic 
Writing 

Cyr, Heather  BA (STU), MA (Queen's), 
PhD (Queen's)  

Children’s Literature, 
Young Adult Literature, 
Fantasy 

Dearle, Gillian  BA Hons (UBC), MA 
(Queen's)  

Composition/Academic 
Writing 

Dearle, Robert  BA (UVic), MA (UVic), PhD 
(Queen's)  

Late 19th and 20th Century 
British Literature, 
Modernism, Critical Theory 

Doyle, Kelly  BA English and Psychology 
(MUN), MA (MUN), PhD 
(UBC)  

Gothic and Horror Fiction; 
Film, Film Theory, and 
Critical Theory 

Doyle, Kegan  BA (UVic), MA (UofT), PhD 
(UofT)  

American Literature, Life 
Writing 

Gooding, Elizabeth  BA (Alberta), MA (Alberta)  Composition/Academic 
Writing 

Grandison, Julia  BA (UofT), PhD (UofT)  19th Century Literature, 
Book History, Digital 
Humanities 

Greenlaw, Duncan  BA (Queen's), MA 
(Queen's), PhD (Alberta)  

Irish Literature, 
Modernism, Film 

Hardwick, Jennifer  BA (SFU) MA (Queen's) PhD 
(Queen's)  

Indigenous Literature, 
Canadian Literature, Digital 
Humanities, Pedagogy 

Hemstock, Blair  BA (UofT), MA (McMaster), 
PhD (McMaster)  

American Literature, 
Composition/Academic 
Writing 

Heslop, Jacqueline  BA (Saskatchewan), PhD 
(UVic)  

Composition/Academic 
Writing, Critical Theory 



English Program Self-Study Report  42 
 

Hickman-Barr, Gaye  Dip. University Ed. (Natal), 
Dip. TEFLA (ILC), Dip. TEBP 
(ILC), BA (Natal), MA 
(Central Washington), 
M.Ed. (Central 
Washington), PhD (Natal)  

Composition/Academic 
Writing 

Kennedy, Neil Patrick  BA (SFU), MA (UBC)  16th and 17th Century 
Literature, Chaucer 

Kozak, Romy  BA (Hons) (UBC), MA 
(Sussex), PhD (Stanford)  

American Literature, 
Literary Theory 

Langley, Moira  BA (UBC), MA (UofT)  Renaissance Literature, 
Theatre 

Larsen, Kim  BA (Alberta), MA (McGill)  Victorian Literature, Gothic 
Literature 

MacDonald, Leanne  BA (Hons) (SFU), MA (Notre 
Dame), PhD (Notre Dame)  

Medieval Literature, 
Gender and Sexuality, 
Religion 

Mendis, Ranjini  ATCL (Engl.), BA Hons 
(Ceylon), M.Ed. (Mass.), 
MA (Calgary)  

Cross-Cultural World 
Literature, Diasporic 
Literature 

Nilsson, Joakim  BA (Hons) (SFU), MA (SFU), 
PhD (Alberta)  

American Literature and 
Film, Masculinities Studies, 
Medieval Literature   

Ohler, Paul  BA (Calgary), MA (UBC), 
PhD (UBC)  

American Literature, 
Transatlantic Literary 
Studies, Literature and 
Science 

Ostrowski, Paul  BA (B.C.T.E.A.L.), MA (Lodz)  Composition/Academic 
Writing 

Pasquini, Robert  BA (Hons) (UofT), MA 
(Ryerson), PhD (McMaster)  

19th Century Literature, 
Science and Literature, 
Environmental Humanities 

Paul, Gavin  B.Mgt. (Lethbridge), BA 
(Lethbridge), MA (UBC), 
PhD (UBC)  

Renaissance Literature, 
Shakespeare, Graphic 
Novels 

Rupert, John  Dip. FA (Fanshawe), BA 
(Western), MA (Western), 
PhD (Ottawa)  

Renaissance Literature, 
Horror Literature,  

Sayed, Asma  BA (Saurashtra University), 
MA (Saurashtra University), 
PhD, Comparative 
Literature (Alberta)  

South Asian Literature, 
Cross-cultural World 
Literature, Literature in 
Translation, Film Studies, 



English Program Self-Study Report  43 
 

Women’s Writing and 
Feminist Theory,  

Singh, Kris  BA Hons. (Waterloo), MA 
(Waterloo) PhD (Queen’s) 

Caribbean and African 
literature, postcolonial 
theory, World Literature, 
and Diasporic literature 

Smith, Wendy  BA (SFU), MA (SFU)  Composition/Academic 
Writing, Protest Literatures 

Swail, Brian  BA (Trent), MA (Manitoba), 
PhD (Manitoba)  

Canadian Literature 

Tracy, Dale BA Hons (Lakehead), MA 
(Carleton), PhD (Queen’s) 

Modern and Contemporary 
Poetry, Drama, and Life 
Writing  

Tyndall, Paul  BA (Dalhousie), MA (UofT), 
PhD (Dalhousie)  

American Literature, Film 
Studies, Shakespeare 

Weber, Steve  BA (SFU), MA (SFU), PhD 
(SUNY Albany)  

Postmodern literature, 
North African Literature, 
American Literature 

Williams, Jennifer  BA (Trent), MA (Queen's)  Composition/Academic 
Writing, Pedagogy 

 
KPU English has recently aligned with the discipline in universities across Canada and the 
United States by increasing minimum qualifications to require a completed PhD, or 
evidence of imminent completion of a PhD, in English or literary studies. The Department 
is also increasing the diversity of its teaching areas and faculty through new hires.  

Faculty Satisfaction with Instruction 

Faculty, much like students and alumni, generally regard instruction as one of the English 
program’s greatest strengths. According to the faculty survey, 74% of English instructors 
are either very or somewhat satisfied with instruction. Faculty, like students, highlight 
expertise and passion as strengths. Some of their written responses on the strengths of the 
program are worth including: 
 

“Instructors have the freedom to try new approaches and, on the whole, are very 
student-centred.” 
 
“There are a lot of excellent teachers in the program. Almost everybody seems to 
care about what they are doing.” 
 
“The willingness of instructors to adapt to the current learning environment. The 
enthusiasm of instructors to continue improving their pedagogy.” 
 



English Program Self-Study Report  44 
 

“Faculty with diverse life and educational experiences. Many faculty who are 
dedicated to pedagogy and to research in their fields. Faculty who are passionate 
about student experience.” 

 
Considering instructor satisfaction with the delivery of instruction, a clear majority of 
instructors (86%) are very or somewhat satisfied with instructors’ collective expertise to 
deliver the curriculum: 
 

# Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither 
satisfied nor 

dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 
Instructors’ collective 
expertise to deliver the 
curriculum 

0% 7% 7% 19% 67% 27 

2 Instructional methods that 
facilitate student learning 0% 4% 11% 33% 52% 27 

3 

Instructional methods that 
facilitate students’ 
progression through the 
program 

0% 7% 19% 30% 44% 27 

4 

Instructional methods that 
prepare students for 
subsequent levels of 
undergraduate coursework 

0% 22% 4% 26% 48% 27 

 
Other responses to this question set are similarly positive. The lowest responses have to 
do with instructional methods that facilitate students’ progression through the program 
and instructional methods that prepare students for subsequent levels of undergraduate 
coursework. While the numbers are still positive, with 74% of respondents being very or 
somewhat satisfied, a larger percentage were ambivalent or somewhat dissatisfied. This 
outcome aligns with our sense that lowered prerequisites have contributed to a blurring of 
the differences between second, third, and fourth-year students. In turn, this blurring has 
made it more challenging to treat students in third and fourth-year courses as a cohort with 
a shared foundation of skills.  One way to address this issue is through the creation of a 
second-year skills and methods course, as described above. 
 

Program delivery 
 
Faculty are generally satisfied with the range of instructional modes, the extent to which 
diverse styles are accommodated, and with processes for ensuring students’ physical and 
emotional safety in the classroom. However, faculty were less satisfied with the 
department’s ability to provide opportunities for experiential learning.  
 

#  Question  Very 
dissatisfied  

Somewhat 
dissatisfied  

Neither satisfied 
nor dissatisfied  

Somewhat 
satisfied  

Very satisfied  Total  



English Program Self-Study Report  45 
 

1  
The range of modes 
(classroom, lab, online, 
co-op, etc.) used to 
deliver the program  

0% 7% 19% 26% 48% 27 

2  
The extent to which 
diverse learning styles 
are accommodated  

0% 7% 30% 37% 26% 27 

3  

Processes for ensuring 
the emotional and 
physical safety of 
students in the learning 
environment  

0% 11% 26% 22% 41% 27 

4  
Opportunities for 
experiential learning 
(i.e. learning by doing 
and reflecting)  

0% 11% 41% 26% 22% 
 

27 
 

 
Above, we have noted the need to improve students’ access to experiential learning 
opportunities. We have moved in this direction by engaging with ARTS 4800, but we have 
observed the need to reinvigorate our own fourth-year experiential courses. 

Assessment methods 
Several respondents to the survey also saw the need for greater consistency in assessment 
practices and “more communication between instructors about content, approaches, 
grading, etc.” to avoid repetition and variability. 
 

# Question Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither 
satisfied nor 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 
The extent to which students 
are provided clear information 
on how they will be evaluated 

0% 4% 11% 30% 56% 27 

2 

The extent to which 
assessment methods support 
program competencies and 
learning outcomes 

0% 7% 22% 30% 41% 27 

3 

The extent to which 
assessment methods allow 
students to demonstrate their 
attainment of program 
competencies and learning 
outcomes 

0% 4% 22% 37% 37% 27 

4 

The extent to which 
assessment standards are 
consistent throughout the 
program 

15% 19% 30% 30% 7% 27 

 
As noted above, the English Department regularly offers pedagogical and professional 
development opportunities through departmental workshops and a first-year community 
of practice. Our Professional Development Committee organizes at least one short 
standardization exercise per term, with plans for more. Other committees, such as Upper 



English Program Self-Study Report  46 
 

Year, First Year, and Digital Humanities, have put on “hallway chats” and “lunch and learn” 
pedagogical sharing events. Additionally, several faculty have considerable expertise in 
writing pedagogies, experiential learning, universal design for learning, and anti-racist and 
critical pedagogies. We plan to capitalize on this knowledge in order to support further 
professional development in the department. We also plan to build digital databases that 
will allow instructors to list texts they are teaching in order to avoid duplication across the 
program and to share assignments and instructional practices at the upper levels. 

Summary and Recommendations 

• Increase 2000-4000 offerings across the academic year to align with student 
demand and to reduce barriers to degree completion, especially in the Summer 
semester 

• Increase flexibility in the program structure to help students fulfill program 
requirements 

• Encourage faculty to develop topics and courses that align with their areas of 
training and research 

• Offer more online and blended learning opportunities to meet increased student 
demand 

• Increase experiential learning opportunities at the 4th year level to allow students 
to apply their skills, make professional connections, and collaborate with their 
peers. This shift will further align the English program with KPU’s polytechnic 
mandate and support Vision 2023 goals around applied, experiential, and 
innovative pedagogy 

• Identify and implement discipline-specific learning supports to support Majors and 
Minors 

• Establish an internal document that will allow faculty to share the texts they are 
teaching in order to reduce redundancy 

• Encourage the adoption of group work in upper-level classes to prepare students to 
work with others; identify activities and projects that will encourage problem 
solving within this group setting 

• Identify and pursue hiring priorities to expand instructor expertise and diversity. 
• Continue to expand on professional development activities for faculty, with a 

particular focus on equity, diversity, inclusion, and experiential learning  
 

 
 
  



English Program Self-Study Report  47 
 

 Quality of Services, Resources and Facilities 

This chapter assesses program services, resources and facilities from both the student and 
instructor perspective.  

Description of Program Resources, Services and Facilities 

The Learning Centre and Other Resources and Services 
 
In order to improve student success and retention, KPU has increasingly recognized the 
importance of providing academic and other forms of support to students. As discussed 
above, the peer and faculty tutors in the Learning Centre provide important support to 
students who need help with writing and other academic skills. Since moving to online 
teaching in Spring 2020, the Learning Centre has provided online tutoring, which has 
created more availability and flexibility for scheduling, and thus increased access for 
students. KPU also supports students through advising, counseling, financial, and career 
services, with counseling services and the addition of the KeepMeSafe program being 
particularly important with the move to online teaching during COVID-19. Access to 
classroom, computer lab, and study spaces are also an important part of our students’ 
experience at KPU, especially given that some of our students do not have easy access at 
home to computers or quiet study space. 
 
Library Instruction and Resources 
 
Research is an important learning outcome for all 2000-4000 level English courses, so 
access to adequate resources, and the support and instruction to help student find those 
resources, is important for students to effectively develop this skill. These resources include 
books and e-books, DVDs and streaming videos, and online resources, such as journals and 
reference materials. The librarians provide library orientations, as well as individual 
support through in person and online reference, and have also created subject-specific 
study guides that students can access online. The library also maintains a digital Academic 
Integrity badge that many English faculty require students to complete. As well, librarians 
have created an OER Pressbook on research that many faculty use in their classes. One of 
the librarians is currently creatinghas created such a Pressbook for MLA. Finally, the library 
maintains a list of LibGuides for English literature topics.  

Student Satisfaction with Program Resources, Services and Facilities 

Learning Centre and other Support Services 
In our 2014 program review, we found that the Learning Centre was an underutilized 
resource: “Slightly less than one quarter of both 1st Year and Upper-Level respondents say 
they have used the Learning Centre.  Over half of 1st Year respondents say they needed 
help but never tried this resource. Far fewer Upper-Level students say they needed help 



English Program Self-Study Report  48 
 

but did not try it: over half of them report not needing help at all.” We have made clear 
progress in making students aware of the Learning Centre, as 62% of respondents said they 
had used the Learning Centre. However, only 45% of respondents said they were either 
somewhat satisfied or very satisfied with their experience with the Learning Centre. One 
student commented that “The Learning Centre has been especially valuable in an online 
environment.” 

 
In terms of other support services, 79% of respondents have used services such as advising, 
counseling, and career services, with 67% saying they were either somewhat or very 
satisfied with these services. 84% of students were either somewhat or very satisfied with 
the availability of textbooks at the bookstore. 
 
Classroom, Study, and Lab Space 
While students were happy with the availability of classroom space, they were less so with 
the availability of lab or computer space, with only 50% stating they were either somewhat 
or very satisfied. 63% were either somewhat or very satisfied with the availability of places 
to do group or individual work. Many classrooms have recently been updated with new 
whiteboards and moveable furniture. The tech tools in classrooms have also recently been 
upgraded to include wireless streaming from devices through projectors, a welcome 
innovation.  
 
Library Instruction and Resources 
The survey was very revealing about which library resources students use most often. More 
than 25% of students said they have never used books, e-books, DVDs and streaming 
videos, while 0% said they have not used online resources, such as journals and reference 
materials. 25% said they have not had a library orientation, and most concerning, 42% said 
they had never worked with a reference librarian or accessed a study guide. Of those 
students who did use all of these resources, 54% to 67% are somewhat or very satisfied 
with them, while 96% of all respondents said they were somewhat or very satisfied with 
the online resources, such as journals. Only 46% of respondents are either somewhat or 
very satisfied with study guides. A few respondents commented that they did not know 
KPU offered these resources, and that greater effort needs to be made to make students 
aware of their availability. 

Faculty Satisfaction with Program Resources, Services and Facilities 

Learning Centre and other Support Services and Resources 
The faculty respondents seemed quite happy with the services provided by the Learning 
Centre, with 77% of respondents saying they were either somewhat satisfied or very 
satisfied with the Learning Centre. The Learning Centre’s peer tutor program draws many of 
its tutors from our upper-level students. As discussed above, the English Department's First-
Year Writing Labs and faculty mentors serve as important links to these services. The labs 
put more than 500 students a year in direct contact with tutors who are able to then make 
individual appointments with interested students. In turn, tutors who take part in assisting 



English Program Self-Study Report  49 
 

in the labs are directly mentored by faculty. Indeed, faculty mentors in the learning centre 
also play an important mentoring role, assisting tutors with their skills. 
 
In terms of other support services for students, 74% of faculty respondents said they were 
either somewhat or very satisfied with advising, counseling, and career services. Faculty 
were far more critical of the bookstore than students, with 41% saying they were either 
somewhat or very dissatisfied with the availability of textbooks at the bookstore, while only 
30% said they were either somewhat or very satisfied. 
 
Classroom, Study, and Lab Space 
Similar to the 2014 survey, many faculty expressed dissatisfaction with the availability of 
classroom, study, and lab space. Several of the comments echoed the following sentiments: 
“The English department would benefit from a designated space for faculty and students 
such as exists in HIST, PSYCH, CRIM, etc.” Room 305 on the third floor of Fir building had, 
in the past, been promised as a communal lounge space for the departments in that area 
of the building (Philosophy, English, and Creative Writing); however, this did not come to 
pass. Such a space would create a much-needed place for community building among 
program students and faculty. An additional benefit of this space is that it could also 
provide, during quieter times, a meeting space for faculty and students. In the survey, 
several faculty cited privacy issues when meeting with students as a central problem. 
 
Library Instruction and Resources 
Faculty attitudes toward library resources have changed greatly since our 2014 survey, 
which stated the following: “Faculty respondents’ satisfaction with library resources is 
significantly lower than that of students. Over a quarter of faculty report being ‘somewhat’ 
or ‘very dissatisfied’ with the availability of relevant books and journals. Faculty are more 
satisfied with the availability of electronic resources, interlibrary loans, working with 
reserves, and library-program liaison.” In the 2020 survey, over 75% on faculty or either 
satisfied or very satisfied with access to books and e-books, while 70% were very satisfied 
with access to online resources. The survey also showed our faculty were very satisfied with 
the services provided by the librarians regarding library orientations and librarian support 
for program-related research. Like the students, faculty were least satisfied with study 
guides, with only 63% being either somewhat or very satisfied. Several respondents praised 
the librarians for the support they give students and their willingness to acquire needed 
materials. 

Summary and Recommendations 

• Although progress has been made in making students more aware of the services 
provided by the Learning Centre and other support services, more can be done to 
ensure that students recognize their availability and how these services can benefit 
students’ academic success and mental health. One way to increase student 
awareness of these resources is for faculty to highlight them on their syllabus and 
their Moodle sites 



English Program Self-Study Report  50 
 

• To increase connection between English students, and between English 
students and faculty, the English department needs a common area in which 
there is a department lounge. This area could be a shared lounge with other 
departments on the third floor of Fir building. 

• While it might be unrealistic to hope for private offices for all full-time faculty, the 
current situation would be improved with the addition of a shared, flexible space 
where faculty can meet privately with students. 

• Students are clearly utilizing online library resources such as journals; however, 
more can be done to make students aware of the benefits of subject-specific study 
guides—which themselves can be improved—as well as the research-related 
services provided by librarians. 

• Faculty should be encouraged to work with librarians to update regularly the 
LibGuides related to their subject area on the library website to ensure each library 
guide’s currency and benefit to students. Many pages need to be updated and many 
of them are unused, potentially providing inaccurate information to students who 
may come across them. 
 

 
  



English Program Self-Study Report  51 
 

 Conclusions and Recommendations 

This chapter summarizes the main conclusions drawn from the evidence gathered in the 
program review. This summary should include both the strengths of the program, and areas 
needing improvement. A complete list of the recommendations listed in the chapters above 
should also be provided.  

Summary of Conclusions 

On the whole, the English program is doing well. Demand for its courses is strong and 
(based on the number of 2000-4000 courses we currently offer) appears to be growing. 
This growth can be partially attributed to changes in the employment sector, especially 
increased demand for K-12 teachers, but also to the department’s efforts in creating new 
and appealing courses in Film, Mythology, Science Fiction and Fantasy, Children’s and 
Young Adult literature, and Pop culture. Adjustments to prerequisites have also enabled 
more students to take upper-division classes.  
 
At the same time, current students and alumni indicate a high level of satisfaction, 
particularly with our instructors. Students were also generally happy with course offerings 
and availability. However, it is also apparent that we need to do a better job of meeting 
student demand at all levels and diversifying our offerings. There was also a desire for more 
experiential and training opportunities. 
 
Faculty responses were also positive, but they pointed to the need to update the program 
in various ways. Here the keynotes included the need for greater cultural diversity in our 
offerings and in our critical perspectives; more flexibility for students; more emphasis on 
21st century skills and applied critical methods; less emphasis on national literatures and 
canonical writers; greater emphasis on essential critical reading, writing and thinking skills.    
 
In summary, while feedback from our surveys confirms that many things are good about 
the current program, this feedback also supports the Program Review committee’s sense 
that there is room for improvement. Specifically, there is a clear need to reimagine the 
program in light of broader changes in the discipline and in culture. There needs to be 
greater emphasis on the forms and content that contribute to contemporary culture and 
greater attention paid to equity, diversity, and inclusion. To meet this objective, the 
department has shifted its hiring objectives. This shift began in 2016 with the hiring of a 
specialist in South Asian, Post-Colonial literature and Indigenous specialist. Most recently, 
in 2021, we hired a new regular faculty who specializes in contemporary poetry and drama 
(replacing a retirement) and a new regular faculty member who specializes in Black and 
Caribbean diasporic literatures. Our expectation is that new faculty will bring knowledge 
and passion to bear in the creation of new courses and the revision of existing ones to 
better align our offerings with the objectives identified above. We intend to build upon this 
foundation by seeking scholars specializing in literatures from under-represented groups.  



English Program Self-Study Report  52 
 

 
There is also a perceived need to make the Major and Minor more flexible. The challenge 
is to strike a balance between offering greater student choice while ensuring that students 
emerge from the program with strong foundations of skills and knowledge. It is fair to say 
that the current program requirements tend to emphasize historical knowledge. For 
example, our original second-year requirements were intended to provide a six-credit 
survey of British literature from 1380-1900 and a three-credit survey of either Canadian or 
American literature. This nine-credit requirement was reduced to three in 2015 because it 
created bottlenecks and limited demand for other second-year courses. Consequently, 
while the bottleneck issue was resolved, the original intent of the foundational survey 
courses was lost. At the same time, there is a general recognition in the discipline that 
samples from over six centuries of British literature is increasingly difficult now that a 
narrow canon of great works no longer applies. For this reason and others, the Program 
Review Committee recommends that the department completely reconsider its second-
year requirements. 
 
Similar historical requirements are to be found at third year. These require students to take 
three credits from the 14th to 18th centuries and a further three credits from the 19th 
century. These requirements align with other programs in the province, do a better job of 
providing historical grounding, and provide students with more options than the original 
second-year survey requirements. The Program Review Committee recommends 
maintaining these requirements but adding new courses to the list of options. 
 
The other third-year requirement of the Major and Minor is theory. The theory 
requirement is intended to introduce students to the critical tradition of the discipline. 
However, it can represent a barrier for students because of course availability. At the same 
time, it is not always clear how the content or the outcomes of the course inform students’ 
other coursework, in part because students often put off taking the theory course until 
they near the end of their studies. We also find that many other institutions do not have 
analogous theory requirements, or that it is one option among others. For these reasons, 
the committee recommends eliminating the third-year theory requirement in favor of a 
second-year methods course requirement designed to provide students with tools to 
succeed in upper-division coursework. However, to compensate for the removal of this 
requirement, the committee also suggests that critical and theoretical perspectives be 
introduced into existing third- and fourth-year course outlines where possible. Moreover, 
our two existing theory courses will remain elective options for students who are interested 
in critical theory or film theory; they should also be recommended to those students who 
plan to pursue post-graduate studies in English or film.  
 
The final requirement of the Major and Minor is three credits at the 4000 level. While 
flexible, this requirement does not appear to be meeting a clear objective. Students can 
choose from a selection of topic courses or from two experiential courses, both of which 
are currently dormant. Ostensibly, the objective or the topic courses is greater depth and 
greater engagement via a seminar structure. However, while the 25-student cap does allow 



English Program Self-Study Report  53 
 

for greater student involvement, it is not low enough for a true seminar course. At the same 
time, lowered prerequisites mean that not every student in the class is prepared for the 
expectations of a fourth-year class. The committee also finds that English departments in 
other institutions often reserve the 4000 level for capstone or experiential courses. The 
committee therefore recommends that the department investigate similar possibilities as 
an outcome of the current program review.   

List of Recommendations 

• Provide more flexibility for students to meet core requirements and to customize 
their individual learning experiences  
 

• Offer courses and including perspectives from traditionally underrepresented 
groups  
 

• Develop courses that reflect changes in scholarship and pedagogy across the sector 
and discipline 
 

• Include experiential learning opportunities and exploring capstone course 
requirements 
 

• Investigate connections with other disciplines such as Creative Writing, Journalism, 
Interdisciplinary Expressive Arts, and Indigenous Studies 
 

• Develop related fields of study that can foster ties with other disciplines. This is 
already underway with Arts-level discussions about a Minor in Film and with the 
growing Indigenous Studies program about developing and cross-listing Indigenous 
literature courses 

 
• Investigate the establishment of a Program Advisory Board 

 
• Investigate means of creating and maintaining alumni connections  

 
• Place emphasis on developing the English department’s website and maintaining 

our social media presence 
  

• Ask advisors at all levels to remind students who are planning to transfer to other 
universities to consult the B.C. Transfer guide before taking a required English 
writing course at KPU, such as English 1100. This information should be echoed in 
the calendar and other online sources, including the English department’s website  

 
• Continue to work with the Office of the Registrar and Advisors to streamline the 

recognition of incoming English courses for the purpose of the writing-intensive 



English Program Self-Study Report  54 
 

requirement in Arts. Solutions found here may be needed once the university-wide 
writing requirement contained in Policy AC 14 comes in effect  

 
• Increase the number and variety of its upper-level courses to satisfy student 

demand  
  

• Meet and encourage student demand through the offering of more 2000-4000 
courses each term. These courses should be selected to balance the requirement of 
students in the English program but also to cater to the interests of non-Majors and 
Minors. Curriculum should be updated with survey input from current students, 
alumni, and faculty 

 
• Change program requirements for the Minor: The requirements for the BA Minor 

are very similar to those of the Major; the Minor simply requires fewer overall 
credits. Most Minor programs in English and in Arts do not have such extensive 
requirements. Reducing the requirements and providing more flexibility will attract 
students to the Minor. The Minor should also be promoted among students 
majoring in Journalism, History, Creative Writing, or Educational Studies 
 

• Create more flexibility in the program structure to allow for concentrations and 
faster completion 
 

• Include a greater diversity of voices and cultural perspectives  
 

• Hire new faculty to expand offerings of postcolonial, diasporic, Indigenous, and 
LGBTQ2S+/Queer literatures. 
 

• Place emphasis on skills scaffolding and analytical methods 
 

• Reduce the historical requirements in the second year in order to support the 
creation of a required skills course for all Majors, Minors, and A. A. students.  
 

• Reconsider the current theory requirement and consider replacing it with a second-
year skills and methods course. Encourage the inclusion of critical theory into the 
content and learning outcomes of existing upper-division courses 

 
• Revitalize existing experiential learning courses (4300: Writing and Persuasion 

Beyond the Classroom and 4400: English Studies and the Classroom) and build 
professional skills opportunities for English students 

 
• Create greater coherence and flexibility across existing third-year national literature 

courses 
  



English Program Self-Study Report  55 
 

• Once the courses currently under development are completed, the department 
should engage in curriculum mapping to ensure all program learning outcomes are 
met and appear at every year of the program. New faculty hired during the writing 
of this report will be essential to this process because of their specific areas of 
expertise 

• Increase 2000-4000 offerings across the academic year to align with student 
demand and to reduce barriers to degree completion, especially in the Summer 
semester 
 

• Increase flexibility in the program structure to help students fulfill program 
requirements 

 
• Encourage faculty to develop topics and courses that align with their areas of 

training and research 
• Offer more online and blended learning opportunities to meet increased student 

demand 
 

• Increase experiential learning opportunities at the 4th year level to allow students 
to apply their skills, make professional connections, and collaborate with their 
peers. This shift will further align the English program with KPU’s polytechnic 
mandate and support Vision 2023 goals around applied, experiential, and 
innovative pedagogy 

 
• Identify and implement discipline-specific learning supports to support Majors and 

Minors 
 

• Establish an internal document that will allow faculty to share the texts they are 
teaching in order to reduce redundancy 

 
• Encourage the adoption of group work in upper-level classes to prepare students to 

work with others; identify activities and projects that will encourage problem 
solving within this group setting 

 
• Identify and pursue hiring priorities to expand instructor expertise and diversity 

 
• Continue to expand on professional development activities for faculty, with a 

particular focus on equity, diversity, inclusion, and experiential learning  
 

• Highlight services provided by the Learning Centre and other support services on 
faculty syllabus and class Moodle sites  
 

• Pursue a common area on the third floor of Fir building in order to facilitate 
community building within the department for students and instructors 



English Program Self-Study Report  56 
 

 
• Look into a shared, flexible space where faculty can meet privately with students on 

the third floor of Fir building 
 

• Make students aware of the benefits of subject-specific study guides—which 
themselves can be improved—as well as the research-related services provided by 
librarians 

 
• Encourage Faculty to update regularly the LibGuides related to their subject area 

on the library website to ensure each library guide’s currency and benefit to 
students 

Curricular 
• Increase the appeal of the Minor by reducing program requirements to align with 

other Minor programs in Arts and other English programs in the province.  
• Promote the revised Minor among students majoring in Journalism, History, 

Creative Writing, and Educational Studies 
• Introduce all Majors, Minors, and A. A. students to critical methods and analytical 

strategies via a required second-year skills and methods course  
• Eliminate the current second-year survey requirements to facilitate the creation of 

a required second-year skills course  
• Keep the current historical requirement at third year but add courses to the two 

areas to increase student options  
• Remove the current third-year theory requirement while encouraging the 

integration of critical theory and methods into existing upper-level courses  
• Work toward greater flexibility in national literature courses at third year 
• Investigate connections with Arts disciplines such as Creative Writing, Journalism, 

Indigenous Studies, and Interdisciplinary Expressive Arts  
• Support Indigenization by offering ENGL 3390: Indigenous Narrative and Cultural 

Expression more frequently; work toward an Indigenous credit requirement in 
coordination with Arts and university-level Indigenization initiatives 

• Develop additional courses that focus on literatures and perspectives from other 
historically excluded groups  

• Reimagine current experiential learning courses (4300 and 4400) and explore 
capstone course requirements at the 4000 level 

• Explore an honours option for English Majors (in relation to changes to fourth-year 
courses) 
 

Instructional  
• Identify and implement pedagogical supports specific to Majors and Minors in 

English  
• Offer more online and blended learning courses at all levels 



English Program Self-Study Report  57 
 

• Increase the number and variety of upper-level courses across all terms to satisfy 
student demand  

• Continue to develop the English department’s website and maintain our social 
media presence to build community and improve communication with students.  

• Include pages to assist students in planning their course selections in anticipation 
of specific career and education pathways 

• Create an inventory of commonly taught texts to reduce instructional repetition and 
to identify gaps and opportunities  

• Pursue EDI hiring priorities to enhance the department and the curriculum 
• Encourage and support faculty to developing tools and expertise necessary to 

engage ethically with issues of equity, diversity, and justice in their own fields  

Services 
• Pursue the creation of a common area to increase community and connection  
• Look into a flex space suitable for instructor-student conferencing when office space 

is at a premium 
• Encourage area experts to provide input on Library guides 
• Increase student awareness of support and library services by asking faculty to 

include links to resources on their syllabi and their Moodle sites  
 

 
 
  



English Program Self-Study Report  58 
 

 Responses from the Dean/Associate Dean 

Program Overview 

What do you see as the program’s greatest accomplishments over the last 5 years?   
 
One notable step forward has been the systematic changes to prerequisite structures at all 
levels designed to open up the program. The lower-level changes allow English courses to 
align more smoothly with university entrance requirements and most Faculty of Arts 
courses, facilitating timelier completion of English language requirements. The 
streamlining of upper-level prerequisites, meanwhile, has made advanced ENGL courses 
more accessible and likely contributed to strong enrolment numbers, as well as increased 
interest in English degree programs (e.g., an uptick in intended English students from 91 in 
2015-16 to 193 in 2019-20). In terms of course offerings, English has also taken steps in 
some innovative directions which the Report proposes to accelerate: e.g., moving beyond 
a traditional literary canon via courses on newer literary forms, such as the graphic novel 
and popular genre fiction, as well as the inclusion of traditionally marginalized voices 
through course-development and recent hires with expertise in Indigenous, Post-Colonial, 
and Black Diasporic literatures.  
 
The 2016 implementation of the First-Year English Writings Labs is another important 
accomplishment. The Labs have offered valuable additional support for student writing, 
while putting more than 500 students annually in direct contact with Learning Centre 
tutors.  
 
The department has taken significant strides toward adding an innovative film 
concentration to its programming. The department is integrally connected to the KDOCs 
film festival via co-director Greg Chan, and to Mise-en-scène: The Journal of Film & Visual 
Narration (MSJ), the official film studies publication of KPU. English faculty are currently 
playing a leading role in interdisciplinary discussions around the development of a Film 
Studies Minor at KPU. 
 
English has also been a site of exciting and important scholarship. Of particular note is 
Canada Research Chair Dr. Asma Sayed’s work on South Asian writers and filmmakers, 
which has combined traditional scholarly output (a monograph and anthology) with 
community engagement and an open-access digital portal. Also worth highlighting is Dr. 
Jennifer Hardwick’s highly fruitful collaboration with Virago Nation, which marks an 
important foray into supporting indigenous resurgence, and serves as a signpost to the 
department’s path of reconceiving its work beyond the traditional canon of English lit. 
 



English Program Self-Study Report  59 
 

Does the program adequately fulfill the purpose for which it was intended? If not, how can 
it be improved? 
 
The English department is certainly fulfilling its two key functions as (a) a service 
department supplying mandatory writing courses to students from across the institution, 
and (b) a provider of undergraduate degree programming in English as an academic 
discipline. The latter function would be enhanced by curricular changes of the sort 
described in the Report: diversifying the curriculum and rationalizing and streamlining 
course offerings. Taking special care so as to distribute scarce upper-level offerings in a way 
which most aligns with students’ need to progress through the program, and to maintain 
good channels of communication with students regarding the anticipated schedule of 
future course offerings, may help to manage student frustration over constrained choice 
of upper-level courses. 
 
How does the program’s curriculum support the following: 
• graduates’ pursuit of meaningful employment and further education 
• the viability and continued development of the program 
 
That English graduates find employment in education, government, and the non-profit 
sector suggests that the program positions them with relevant skills for such “meaningful 
work.” While ENGL has participated in the ARTS 4800 practicum course, some alumni do 
express the view that ENGL should do more in the way of experiential and applied learning. 
The Report suggests revitalizing ENGL 4300 and4400, as well as developing a capstone 
course. These are appealing proposals for enhancing the program’s ability to support 
students’ career aspirations. 
 
Strong fill-rates, solid graduation rates, and good uptake of ENGL degrees all indicate a very 
viable program. Implementing the Report’s proposals for curricular revision (focusing upon 
streamlining course offerings while broadening content to incorporate traditionally 
marginalized perspectives) should help to propel program development in the coming 
years. 
 
The Report contemplates some welcome modifications to, and enrichment of, ENGL 
program learning outcomes (p.19). These will be helpful. 

What challenges and opportunities for growth should the program consider based on the 
following? 
 
• student demand (past, present and future) 
• comparable programs at competing institutions 
• trends and changing contexts in the discipline/sector 
 
The program is challenged to balance its ‘service’ and degree commitments. Recent years 

have brought massive demand for first-year ENGL courses which fulfill university-wide 



English Program Self-Study Report  60 
 

writing requirements. This has often resulted in extensive waiting lists, coupled with a 
heavy ongoing burden on the department’s search committees (and the department 
chair) to staff sections on relatively short notice – not to mention a siphoning of sections 
away from potential upper-level offerings. An increase in ongoing base sections 
sufficient to contain this problem would be beneficial. Since this increase cannot come 
from Arts’s existing allocations without eviscerating other programs, the optimal 
solution would be an overall increase in base sections awarded to Arts. 

As the Report observes (p.10), transfer students would benefit from a flexible approach to 
writing requirements where their previous coursework does not align directly with ENGL 
1202 and 1204. Perhaps oddly, incoming students’ prior ENGL credit tends to be 
transferred as “ENGL11XX,” making it count as an elective only, rather than as fulfillment 
of the writing requirement. The change required would be twofold: adjust the language of 
the BA Framework (which English is already seeking to do so as to allow for ENGL 1207 and 
future other 1200-level courses to fulfill the writing requirement); and/or also talk with the 
Registrar’s Office about changing the articulation agreements, or our own transfer credit 
practice. Is it possible that, in some cases, the latter tack may be as simple as taking a more 
flexible approach when receiving transfer requests (e.g., the departmental and decanal 
signatories agreeing to count ENGL 1200 courses taken elsewhere as equivalent to KPU’s 
ENGL 1202/1204 even when the alignment is imperfect)? If so, then this would also be 
worth considering. 
 
ENGL was built upon a traditional, historical approach to the western literary canon, upheld 
via a rather restrictive program and prerequisite structures. The department has since 
struck out in more open and inclusive directions, and future opportunities lie along this 
path. Current students (not to mention current faculty) indicate a desire for a more diverse, 
non-traditional approach to canon and content. The Report duly embraces this 
opportunity, seeking to rationalize course offerings, emphasizing a “canon of methods” 
over a canon of works, and encouraging curricular development and hires which reflect 
goals of Indigenization, empowerment of traditionally marginalized perspectives, and so 
forth. 
 
Enhancing the program’s applied and experiential aspects would also be welcome. This 
would enable ENGL graduates enriched openings for connecting their program learning 
outcomes with employment opportunities. In addition to the (welcome) proposals to 
revive the moribund ENGL 4300 and 4400 and to launch a capstone course, we would 
encourage ENGL to give thought to developing a Program Advisory Board. Such a Board 
would stimulate discussion with community stakeholders and employers about how the 
program could further enhance students’ future prospects.  

 
 
 



English Program Self-Study Report  61 
 

What plans (departmental, faculty and institutional) are in place for program growth and 
development? 
 
As noted above, the Report envisages further reforms to prerequisite structures and 
curriculum to maximize program inclusiveness and accessibility. The Dean’s Office has 
facilitated the pursuit of a Film Studies minor, providing logistical support to meetings of 
the ad-hoc working group and granting ENGL instructor Dr. Paul Tyndall a time release to 
develop the proposal. 
 
The Report recommends a vibrant approach to program promotion on social media (p. 11).  
Indeed. Arts has a Communications and Events Coordinator who can assist Departmental 
Assistant and the department as a whole in some of these efforts. 
 
What resources, institutional support, and/or external support would help address the 
program’s plans for growth and development? 
 
The Report cites the need for a shared departmental space (45). The Dean’s Office agrees; 
all departments would benefit from such space. While we continue to encourage 
departments to consider options on Langley, Richmond, and Civic Plaza Campuses, there is 
an overall dearth of space on the Surrey Campus in particular, and this has become 
increasingly challenging as Arts (including English) has grown in recent years.  
 
Developing a Program Advisory Board could help to nurture connections to the wider 
community and facilitate opportunities for applied and experiential opportunities within 
the program.  
 
We endorse the Report’s stated goal of “investigating connections with other disciplines 
such as Creative Writing, Journalism, Interdisciplinary Expressive Arts, and Indigenous 
Studies” (14). A Minor in English might prove of particular interest to the first two 
programs, so there may be real synergies there. These would be enhanced by the Report’s 
proposal to rationalize BA Minor requirements (26).   
 
Collectively, what qualifications and other human resources are required so the program 
will be able to make the changes required to improve and remain current? 
 
ENGL should continue to seek hires who complement their stated desire for a more 
diversified curriculum and program. 

 
What areas should the program focus on for the short range (< 6 months), mid-range (6 
mo. – 2 years), and long range (>2 years) program directions and improvement? 
 
Short range: assuming continued need for short-term hires, using staffing opportunities to 
initiate experts in diverse and non-traditional literatures into the program.  
 



English Program Self-Study Report  62 
 

Mid-range: Institute curricular and prerequisite changes as envisaged in the Report. 
Continue to take a strategic approach to hiring in light of program goals. Contribute to the 
Film Studies Minor proposal. 
 
Long-range: develop a Program Advisory Board. 
  

External Connections and Support 

How could the program improve its connections with external groups (e.g. the 
discipline/sector, high schools, alumni, professional associations, other institutions)? 
 
In addition to some of the other public-facing activities described above, and in the Report, 
we should mention the KPU iteration of Humanities 101, which has been managed by ENGL 
instructor Dr. Kegan Doyle and benefited from contributions from ENGL faculty over the 
years.  
 
As for ways forward, the department should consider developing a Program Advisory 
Board. 
 
The Report says little about attempts to cultivate an ongoing relationship with alumni. The 
department might consider strategies for doing so, e.g., developing a distribution list and 
social media strategies for communications with alumni, liaising with KPU Alumni and 
Foundation, etc..  

Final Comments 

What else do you think is important to add about the program that is not covered in the 
previous questions?   
 
English is a robust program whose efforts at greater flexibility and inclusion are to be 
encouraged. Thanks are due to the Program Review Committee for their steadfast efforts 
in producing a polished, insightful, and forward-looking report. 

  



English Program Self-Study Report  63 
 

 Appendices for Self-Study Report 

Provided in as separate documents. 
 



  
SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW  

Agenda Item: 6.1 
Meeting Date: November 24, 2021 

Presenter: Amy Jeon 
 

 1 / 1 

Agenda Item Election of Committee Vice-Chair 
  

Context & Background 
Amy Jeon, Vice-Chair of Senate, provided notice of election at the 
October 20, 2021 meeting.  

  

Key Messages 

1. All Senators and voting members who are members of the Senate 
Standing Committee are eligible to be elected as committee vice-
chair. 

2. The vice-chairs of senate standing committees are normally elected 
for a three-year term beginning in September. 

3. Senators will be elected for a three-year term or for the term 
remaining in the Senator’s term on Senate, whichever is shorter. 

4. A member will be elected for a three-year term or for the term 
remaining in the member’s term on the Committee, whichever is 
shorter.  

5. This election is for the term December 1, 2021 to August 31, 2024.  

6. Chair of the committee will conduct the election. 

  
Attachment SSC Chair and Vice-Chair Responsibilities 
  
Submitted by Meredith Laird, Administrative Assistant, University Senate 

Date submitted October 21, 2021 

 



 

 1 / 1 

Senate Standing Committee  
Chair and Vice-Chair 

Responsibilities 

Workplan 

• In consultation with the Vice-Chair of Senate, develops a draft annual workplan for the 
committee  

• Finalizes the workplan with the committee 
• Submits agenda items  
• Ensures the committee receives necessary information in a timely fashion 

Meeting Preparation 

• Reviews documents submitted to Senate Office.  
• Advises proponent and senate staff of any changes needed before the documents can 

proceed to committee 
• Approves the draft agenda and supporting materials for distribution to the committee 
• Cancels scheduled meetings as needed 

Meeting 

• Conducts the committee meetings. 

After the meeting 

• Reviews and edits draft minutes prepared by senate staff  
• Advises on next steps for action items 
• Emails members their action items 
• Reviews attendance of committee members 

Reports to Senate 

• Prepares report for Senate to inform the Senate of current committee issues and activities 
• Writes one-page report for the Senate Annual Report 

Other duties as required by individual standing committees. 



SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW  
Agenda Item: 7.1 

Meeting Date: October 20, 2021 
Presenter: Melike Kinik-Dicleli 

 1 / 1 

Agenda Item Manager’s Report on Status of Program Reviews 
  

Action Requested Information 

  

Recommended 
Resolution N/A 

  
Senate Standing 
Committee Report For Senate Office Use Only   
  

Context & 
Background 

Support is currently being provided to 34 programs (or cluster of related programs) 
that are at various stages in the program review process.  

 

As of November 4, 2021 Number of Programs 
Phase 1: Self-Study  8 
Phase 2: External Review 5 
Phase 3: Quality Assurance Plan 4 
Phase 4: Annual Follow-Up 17 
Total 34 

 

Key Messages N/A 

  

Consultations N/A 
  

Attachments 
Manager’s Report_Status of Program Reviews_Details for Nov 2021 
SSCPR Meeting 

  

Submitted by Melike Kinik-Dicleli, Manager of Quality Assurance, Office of Planning & 
Accountability 

Date submitted October 14, 2021 
 



Planning 
Began

Data Collection Concluded Report 
Due

Report 
Approved

Site Visit 
Deadline

Date of 
Site Visit

Report 
Received 

QA Plan 
Due

QA Plan 
Approved

Report 
Due

1st Report 
Approved

2nd Report 
Approved

ACP English Upgrading Dec-18
re-start: Sep-

21

Admin Data: Feb-19

Arts Anthropology Sep-18 Admin Data: Feb-19
Survey Data: Feb-19

Sep-20 Apr-21 Nov-20 Oct 
18/19

Jun-21 Jun-22 External review report is due on November 20, 
2021.  

Arts Criminology Jan-19 Admin Data: Feb-19
Rev. Admin Data: Feb-20

Survey Data: May-20

Dec-20 Feb-21 Jun-21 Jun-22 Self-study report was due in December 2020. 

Arts Creative Writing Mar-21 Admin Data: Nov-21 May-22 Jul-22 Oct-22 Nov-23 Surveys are launched. 

Arts Education Assistant Sep-19 Admin Data: Oct-19
Survey Data: June-20

Feb-21 May-21 Mar-21 Nov 
25/26

Sep-22 Sep-22 External review site visit is on November 25 & 
26, 2021. 

Arts Minor in Counselling Feb-18 Admin Data: April-18
Survey Data: April-18

x Apr-19 x Oct-19 Jan-20 Sep-20 Oct-20 Sep-21 Oct-21 SSCPR asked program to report on their progress 
a second time in October 2022. 

Arts English May-20 Admin Data: Jan-21
Survey Data: April-21

Sep-21 Nov-21 Apr-22 Apr-23 Self-study report is in.

Arts History Dec-18 Admin Data: Feb-19
Survey Data: March-20

Aug-20 Feb-21 Oct-20 June 
17/18

Jul-21 May-21 May-22 QA Plan is due in January 2022. 

Arts Philosophy Sep-17 Admin Data: Sep-18
Survey Data: Dec-17 (Discipline 

Survey: Mar-18)

x Apr-19 x Jul-19 Jul-19 Jan-20 Apr-21 Jan-21 First Annual follow-up is due in April 2022.

Arts Political Science Dec-19 Admin Data: Dec-19
Survey Data: June-20

Jan-21 Mar-21 Sep-21 Sep-22

Arts Psychology Dec-16 Admin Data: Oct-17
Survey Data: Apr/Jun-17

x Apr-18 x Jun-18 Jul-18 x May-20 May-21 May-21 SSCPR asked program to report on their progress 
one more time in May 2022. 

Arts Sociology Sep-15 Admin Data: Nov-17
Survey Data: May-16

x Dec-17 x Apr-18 May-18 x Oct-18 Oct-19 Apr-20 May-21 SSCPR asked program to report on their progress 
a third time in May 2022. 

Business Accounting Nov-17 Admin Data: Jun-18
Survey Data: Jan-18

x Sep-18 x Jan-19 Feb-19 x Feb-20 Feb-21 Feb-21 SSCPR asked program to report on their progress 
one more time in February 2022. 

Business Computer Science and 
Information Technology

Apr-19 Admin Data: May-19
Survey Data: Jan-20

Aug-20 Nov-20 Nov-20 Mar 1/2-
21

Mar-21 Aug-21 Oct-21 Aug-22 First Annual Follow-Up is due in October 2022. 

Business Business Management Sep-15 Admin Data: Jun-18
Survey Data: Mar-18

x Jun-18 x Jul-18 Jul-18 x Mar-20 Mar-21 Oct-21 SSCPR asked program to report on their progress 
a second time in October 2022. 

Business Entrepreneurial Leadership Jun-16 Admin Data: Aug-16
Survey Data: Apr/Aug-17

x Apr-18 x Jul-18 Sep-18 x May-19 May-20 Oct-20 Second Annual Follow-Up is in.

Business Human Resource 
Management 

May-14 Admin Data: Sept-16
Survey Data: Mar-17

x Jun-17 x Nov-18 Dec-18 x Sep-19 Sep-20 Oct-20 Second Annual Follow-Up is in.

Design Fashion Design & 
Technology

Sep-20 Admin Data: Feb-21
Survey Data: Mar-21

Jun-21 Oct-21 Sep 28 & 
29

Jun-22 Jun-23 External Review Report is in. 

Design Foundation in Design 
Certificate

Oct-17
re-start: Oct-

19

Admin Data: Aug-17
Survey Data: Nov-17 (Student 

Data: Feb-18)
Revised Admin Data: Oct-19

Survey Data: Aug-20

Sep-20 Apr-21 Oct-20 June 
29/30

Jul-21 May-21 May-22 QA Plan is due January 2022. 

Design Graphic Design for 
Marketing 

Oct-17 Admin Data: Oct-18  
Survey Data: Mar-18

x Dec-18 x Mar-19 Apr-19 x Oct-19 Oct-20 Oct-20 Oct-21 Second Annual Follow-Up is in.

Design Interior Design Sep-18 Admin Data: Nov-18
Admin Data: Sep-19
Survey Data: Nov-18

x Jan-20 Jan-20 Jun-20 Aug-20 Jun-20 Feb-21 Jun-21 First annual follow-up is due in February 2022. 

Progress Update
The table includes only the reviews in progress. 

Faculty Program Self-Study External Review Annual Follow-upQA Plan

Program Reviews in Progress As of: 11/4/2021 Page 1 of 2



Planning 
Began

Data Collection Concluded Report 
Due

Report 
Approved

Site Visit 
Deadline

Date of 
Site Visit

Report 
Received 

QA Plan 
Due

QA Plan 
Approved

Report 
Due

1st Report 
Approved

2nd Report 
Approved

Progress Update
The table includes only the reviews in progress. 

Faculty Program Self-Study External Review Annual Follow-upQA Plan

Design Product Design Feb-19 Admin Data: Feb-19
Survey Data: Oct-19

Feb-20 Jun-20 Apr-20 Feb 
24/25-21

Apr-21 Oct-20 Oct-21 Quality Assurance Plan is in.

Design Technical Apparel Design Jun-18 Admin Data: Dec-18
Admin Data: Oct-19
Survey Data: Dec-18

x Jan-20 Sep-20 Sep-20 Oct-20 Jun-21 Jan-21 Jun-22 First annual follow-up is due in January 2022.

Health Bachelor of Psychiatric 
Nursing

Sep-18 Admin Data: Feb-19
Survey Data: Feb-19

x Oct-20 x Feb-20 Mar-20 Aug-20 Nov-20 Aug-21 Annual follow-up is due in November 2021. 

Health BSN -New
BSN - Revised

Sep-16 Admin Data: Jan-18
Survey Data:

Faculty: Jan-17
Discipline: Feb-17

Student + Alumni: Sep-17

x
Feb-18

x
Mar-18 May-18

x Feb-20
Dec-18

Feb-21
Dec-19

Feb 21
Feb 20

SSCPR asked New BSN program to report on 
their progress one more time in February 2022. 
Note that the Revised BSN review has been 
completed. 

Health Health Care Assistant 
Certificate

May-19 Admin Data: Jun-19
Survey Data: Sep-19

x Jan-20 Sep-20 Dec 9/10-
20

Feb-21 Jun-21 Jun-21 Jun-22 First annual follow-up report is due in June 2022. 

Health Health Unit Coordinator 
Certificate

Jan-18 Admin Data: Jun-18
Survey Data:

Discipline + Alumni: Mar-18
Student + Faculty: Aug-18

x Dec-18 x Jun-19 Jul-19 x x All intakes are suspended. The review is on hold 
until the future of  the program is determined.

Science Biology Oct-19 Admin Data: Nov-19 Oct-21 Jan-22 Sep-22 Sep-23 External review site visit planning is underway. 

Science Brewing and Brewery 
Operations

Jan-21 May-22 Sep-22 Feb-23 Feb-24 PR Kick-off meeting took place in January 2021. 
Program review will start soon.

Science Health Science Sep-18 Admin Data: Nov-18
Survey Data: Nov-18

x Mar-19 x May-19 Jul-19 x Jan-20 Jan-21 Jan-21 SSCPR asked program to report on their progress 
one more time in January 2022. 

Science Bachelor of Horticulture 
Science 

Jan-18 Admin Data: Jun-18
Survey Data: Apr/Jun-18 

x Mar-19 x Apr-19 May-19 Aug-19 Apr-21 Aug-20 Annual follow-up is due in April 2022.

Science Horticulture Technology 
Diploma

Dec-20 PR Kick-off meeting took place in December 
2020. The review will start soon.

Science Mathematics May-19 Admin Data: Jul-19
Survey Data: 

Faculty: Jul-19 
Alumni: Sep-19 

Discipline/Sector: Sep-19

Sep-19 Oct-20 Nov-19 Mar 
10/11-21

Apr-21 May-20 May-21 QA Plan was due in October 2021. The program 
has until December 22 to submit their QA plan. 

Science Physics for Modern 
Technology

Jan-21 Jan-22 Mar-22 Sep-22 Oct-23 Surveys are being drafted. 

Science Sustainable Agriculture Oct-19 Admin Data: Nov-19
Revised Admin Data: Feb-21

Survey Data: 
Student: Aug-20

Faculty & Alumni: Jan-21
Discipline/sector: Feb-21

Aug-20 Sep-21 Oct-20 or 
Nov-20

May-21 May-22

Science Turf Management Diploma May-19 Admin Data: May-19
Survey Data: Sep-19

Oct-19 Jan-20 Sep-20 Sep-21 Turf Management will be reviewed as part of 
Horticulture Technology program review. 

Program Reviews in Progress As of: 11/4/2021 Page 2 of 2


	2 2021 11 24 SSCPR Agenda
	AGENDA

	3 2021 10 20 SSCPR Minutes - Draft Reviewed
	1. Territorial Acknowledgement and Call to Order
	2. Approval of Agenda
	3. Approval of Minutes September 22, 2021
	4. Chair’s Report
	5. New Business
	5.1 Fashion Marketing Second Annual Follow-Up Report
	5.2 Counselling Psychology (CNPS) First Annual Follow-Up Report
	5.3 Business Management First Annual Follow-Up Report
	5.4 Computer Science and Information Technology (CSIT) Quality Assurance Report
	5.5 Biology Self-Study Report

	6 Items for Discussion
	6.1 Mandate and Membership Sharing
	6.2 Notice of Election of Committee Vice-Chair
	6.3 Election of Committee Chair

	7 Manager’s Report for OPA
	8 Adjournment

	5.1.0 SSCPR Cover Fashion and Technology External Review Report
	5.1.1 Fashion and Technology External Review Report
	EXTERNAL REVIEW TEAM MEMBERS (THE “ERT”)
	Peggy Blum
	Laura Fine
	Aislinn Hunter
	OVERALL ASSESSMENT
	SELF-STUDY REPORT
	Criteria: The Self-Study Report provides a data-supported analysis of the program’s strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and challenges.

	Standard for Assessing this Report: 
	o The programmatic strengths and weaknesses identified in this report are supported by data and on-site findings;
	o The Report has appropriate scope, as articulated by the Self-Study Guide;
	o Recommendations are supported by data, a clear rationale and on-site findings.
	The External Reviewers:
	REVIEWERS’ VALIDATION OF THE SELF-STUDY REPORT
	CHAPTER 2: Program Currency and Connections
	Criteria: This chapter adequately assesses program competitiveness and its connections to the discipline/sector. The assessment is supported by appropriate evidence and conclusions.

	Standard for Assessing this Chapter: 
	o The programmatic strengths and weaknesses identified in this chapter are supported by data and on-site findings;
	o The chapter has appropriate scope, as articulated by the Self-Study Guide;
	o Recommendations are supported by data, a clear rationale and on-site findings.
	Additional Recommendations Identified by the ERT—include a rationale for the recommendation: See end notes.
	The External Reviewers:
	CHAPTER 3: Quality of Curriculum Design
	Criteria: This chapter adequately examines the quality of the program’s curriculum and its current relevance to the discipline/sector. The assessment is supported by appropriate evidence and conclusions.

	Standard for Assessing this Chapter: 
	o The programmatic strengths and weaknesses identified in this chapter are supported by data and on-site findings;
	o The chapter has appropriate scope, as articulated by the Self-Study Guide;
	o Recommendations are supported by data, a clear rationale and on-site findings
	Additional Recommendations Identified by the ERT—include a rationale for the recommendation: See end notes.
	The External Reviewers:
	CHAPTER 4: Quality of Instructional Design
	Criteria: This chapter adequately examines the quality of the program’s instructional design and its current relevance to the discipline/sector. The assessment is supported by appropriate evidence and conclusions.

	Standard for Assessing this Chapter: 
	o The programmatic strengths and weaknesses identified in this chapter are supported by data and on-site findings;
	o The chapter has appropriate scope, as articulated by the Self-Study Guide;
	o Recommendations are supported by data, a clear rationale and on-site findings
	Additional Recommendations Identified by the ERT—include a rationale for the recommendation: See end notes.
	The External Reviewers:
	CHAPTER 5: Quality of Services, Resources and Facilities
	Criteria: This chapter adequately assesses program resources, equipment, software, and facilities from both the student and instructor perspective. The assessment is supported by appropriate evidence and conclusions.
	Standard for Assessing this Chapter: 
	o The programmatic strengths and weaknesses identified in this chapter are supported by data and on-site findings;
	o The chapter has appropriate scope, as articulated by the Self-Study Guide;
	o Recommendations are supported by data, a clear rationale and on-site findings
	Additional Recommendations Identified by the ERT—include a rationale for the recommendation: See end notes.
	The External Reviewers:
	CONCLUDING COMMENTS

	5.1.2 SSCPR Reviewers' Comments_Fashion and Technology External Review Report
	OVERALL ASSESSMENT: 
	Please provide a brief assessment of the External Review Report under review and an overall recommendation.
	MAJOR ISSUES AND SUGGESTED ACTIONS:
	While External Review Reports are not returned to the External Review Team for revisions, Reports may contain major issues which the SSCPR should address. These issues could include (but are not limited to): a) recommendations that go beyond the scope...
	Complete the table below ONLY if you have identified major issues in the Report. Identify actions the SSCPR should take to address these issues. Suggested actions could include (but are not limited to): a) redacting names or other identity information...
	Suggested Action for the SSCPR
	Issue

	5.2.0 SSCPR Cover ENTR Second Annual Follow-Up Report
	5.2.1 ENTR Second Annual Follow Up Report
	First Progress Report
	Over the past 18 months the ENTR program has gone through several changes including a change to the program leadership (Chair) and quickly adapting to the online / virtual teaching environment due to COVID. In addition to the leadership changes and th...

	Second Progress Report
	Significant progress has been made by the team of faculty members who have chosen to dedicate their efforts to the renewal of the ENTR program. The revised program has been successfully launched in Fall of 2021 as planned and enrollment figures are pr...
	The faculty team still remains an ad-hoc group, and not an official department. This continues to create difficulties in accessing PD funds, securing volunteers for accountable time and service work related to the program, and in conducting searches f...
	The 3 year term of the current program Chair comes to an end on April 30, 2021. Elections for a new chair will be held this fall to allow for a smooth transition in leadership.
	MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGAN: February, 2019
	STRATEGY 1: Redefine the program’s value proposition, tapping on the Program’s “North Star”. Consequently, devise a market plan with a concise message to communicate the Program’s value proposition to stakeholders. This message will include rebranding...
	STRATEGY 2: Expand, diversify, and strengthen connections with industry and communities KPU serve.
	STRATEGY 3: Review and update all course offerings, beginning with the Year 4 courses in general and starting with the practicum course.
	STRATEGY 4: Consolidate the Entrepreneurial Leadership Department.


	5.2.2 SSCPR Reviewers' Comments_Entrepreneurial Leadership Second Annual Follow-Up Report
	OVERALL ASSESSMENT: 
	Please provide a brief assessment of the Annual Follow-Up Report under review and an overall recommendation.
	MAJOR ISSUES AND SUGGESTED ACTIONS:
	Complete this section ONLY if you have identified the following major issues with the Annual Follow-Up:
	a) Progress to date is unclear.
	b) No clear rationale has been provided for why no progress has occurred.
	Suggested Action
	Issue (page #)
	Amend date/year, if needed.
	Please, indicate if there is still a need for a marketing plan and whether re-launching of such effort will be beneficial if/when funding becomes available.
	Provide examples of further connections made over the past year, if possible.
	P.4 Strategy 2, Step 2 – update states ‘this work has continued throughout the year”

	5.2.3 ENTR Second Annual Follow Up Report_Revised
	First Progress Report
	Over the past 18 months the ENTR program has gone through several changes including a change to the program leadership (Chair) and quickly adapting to the online / virtual teaching environment due to COVID. In addition to the leadership changes and th...

	Second Progress Report
	Significant progress has been made by the team of faculty members who have chosen to dedicate their efforts to the renewal of the ENTR program. The revised program has been successfully launched in Fall of 2021 as planned and enrollment figures are pr...
	The faculty team still remains an ad-hoc group, and not an official department. This continues to create difficulties in accessing PD funds, securing volunteers for accountable time and service work related to the program, and in conducting searches f...
	The 3 year term of the current program Chair comes to an end on April 30, 2022. Elections for a new chair will be held this fall to allow for a smooth transition in leadership.
	MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGAN: February, 2019
	STRATEGY 1: Redefine the program’s value proposition, tapping on the Program’s “North Star”. Consequently, devise a market plan with a concise message to communicate the Program’s value proposition to stakeholders. This message will include rebranding...
	STRATEGY 2: Expand, diversify, and strengthen connections with industry and communities KPU serve.
	STRATEGY 3: Review and update all course offerings, beginning with the Year 4 courses in general and starting with the practicum course.
	STRATEGY 4: Consolidate the Entrepreneurial Leadership Department.


	5.3.0 SSCPR Cover HRMT Second Annual Follow-Up Report
	5.3.1 Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report
	Second Progress Report
	MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGAN: January 2019

	Note: HRMT 3105 was designed in 2015 to meet the CPHR Competency requirements. The possible Human Resources Information Systems (HRIS} partnership noted in the 2017 Self-Stud y Report that would assist in the further development of the course, did not...
	Note: Challenges expressed by students with this course in that they felt that they were not prepared for the content and its rigour.
	Note: Once in the past the HRMT Department held a program orientation which was very well received and helped new and prospective students (for all HRM T programs) understand the challenges and begin to build the skills necessary to succeed in our pro...

	5.3.2 HRMT Follow-Up Report 2021 Presentation
	HRMT 
	Agenda	
	Goals
	Goals
	Goal 1 
	HRMT Post Baccalaureate Program�Growing & Learning
	Supporting a New Program
	Goal 2 
	The Value of the Program Advisory Council 
	Goal 3 
	ePortfolio Learning 
	Goal 4 
	Online Learning Excellence 
	HRMT 2.0 
	Program Learning Outcomes 
	Program Learning Outcomes 
	Goal 5 
	Learning Support 
	Goal 6
	Connecting Our Students
	A Look Ahead

	5.3.3 SSCPR Reviewers' Comments_ Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow-Up Report
	OVERALL ASSESSMENT: 
	Please provide a brief assessment of the Annual Follow-Up Report under review and an overall recommendation.
	MAJOR ISSUES AND SUGGESTED ACTIONS:
	Complete this section ONLY if you have identified the following major issues with the Annual Follow-Up:
	a) Progress to date is unclear.
	b) No clear rationale has been provided for why no progress has occurred.

	5.3.4 Human Resources Management Second Annual Follow Up Report_Revised
	Second Progress Report
	MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGAN: January 2019

	Note: HRMT 3105 was designed in 2015 to meet the CPHR Competency requirements. The possible Human Resources Information Systems (HRIS} partnership noted in the 2017 Self-Stud y Report that would assist in the further development of the course, did not...
	Note: Challenges expressed by students with this course in that they felt that they were not prepared for the content and its rigour.
	Note: Once in the past the HRMT Department held a program orientation which was very well received and helped new and prospective students (for all HRM T programs) understand the challenges and begin to build the skills necessary to succeed in our pro...

	5.4.0 SSCPR Cover GDMA Second Annual Follow-Up Report
	5.4.1 GDMA Second Annual Follow-Up Report
	Second Progress Report
	MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGAN: May 2019


	5.4.2 SSCPR Reviewers' Comments_GDMA Second Annual Follow-Up Report
	OVERALL ASSESSMENT: 
	Please provide a brief assessment of the Annual Follow-Up Report under review and an overall recommendation.
	MAJOR ISSUES AND SUGGESTED ACTIONS:
	Complete this section ONLY if you have identified the following major issues with the Annual Follow-Up:
	a) Progress to date is unclear.
	b) No clear rationale has been provided for why no progress has occurred.

	5.5.0 SSCPR Cover Product Design Quality Assurance Plan
	5.5.1 Product Design Quality Assurance Plan
	SUMMARY
	QUALITY ASSURANCE GOALS
	GOAL 2: To update our core course / curricular content
	GOAL 3: To reorganise the program model to enhance work-integrated/experiential learning, inter-disciplinary and global opportunities.
	GOAL 4: To instill a desire for further skills, theories, and education in our students and further develop pathways to graduate studies.
	GOAL 5: To be better known in the world of design through engagement with industry, community, and education.
	GOAL 6: To enhance program visibility to attract quality applicants well matched to the program offering

	RECOMMENDATIONS THE QUALITY ASSURANCE PLAN DOES NOT ADDRESS
	QUALITY ASSURANCE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN
	MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGINS: 01/22 to
	GOAL 1: To update our core program framework
	GOAL 2: To update our core course / curricular content:
	STRATEGY 3: To facilitate a program that integrates experiential learning not only work-integrated, but also includes inter-disciplinary and global opportunities. GOAL 3: To reorganise the program model to enhance work-integrated/experiential learning...
	GOAL 4: To instill a desire for further skills, theories, and education in our students and further develop pathways to graduate studies.
	GOAL 5: To be better known in the world of design through engagement with industry, community, and education.
	GOAL 6: To attain program viability by maintaining student intake cohort through quality applicants well matched to the program offering.

	Dr. Diane Purvey, Provost &_VP, Academic Pro Tem
	November 3, 2021
	Andhra Goundrey November 2, 2021

	5.5.2 SSCPR Reviewers' Comments_Product Design Quality Assurance Plan
	OVERALL ASSESSMENT: 
	MAJOR ISSUES AND SUGGESTED ACTIONS:
	Complete this section ONLY if you have identified the following major issues with the Plan:
	a) Recommendations made in the Self-Study Report and/or External Review Report are not appropriately addressed.
	b) Goals, Strategies, Steps and/or Resource Implications are not worded clearly.
	c) It is unclear how the Program will demonstrate Progress on a Goal, Strategy and/or Step in its One-Year Follow-Up Report.
	Suggested Action
	Issue (page #)
	p.3 under point #1: Wonder if consideration is given to rotate instructors within courses and team teach?
	p.4 - 4th line – clarify: 
	“Unproportionable allotted hours to in-class studies…” 
	Explain what is intended here – not clear.
	Any more comments re the development of graduate programs?
	p.7 It also highlighted the importance of graduate studies due to the competitive environment of the labour market and emerging new industry standards. (Harvard Business Review, January 7, 2020).
	What is intended? Perhaps provide more clarity.
	p.8/19 Vertical curriculum model is mentioned several times. 
	Is this true – is there a need for a refresh?
	p.10 The current KPU Wilson School of Design (WSD) website seems relatively effective… 
	Encourage connections with FSO.
	p.11 How has the Product Design team worked with the FSO?
	Student Affairs would be happy to work with faculty members on student health and wellness initiatives.
	p.14 
	Workload and time-release is an item that the program needs to consult the Dean’s office with. 
	p.15 Step 1
	Industry Liaison – great idea – process for finding the person(s)?
	p.18 Industry Liaison
	Special Topic Course – great idea!
	p.18 Special Topic Course
	Good plan – talk with CRC for assistance.
	p.18 Co-op
	Can this be achieved within 1 month?
	P. 19 Step 2
	Excellent!
	p.20 Develop industry and post graduate courses through either CPS or Micro credentials. 
	Encourage this and the pre-visit virtual experiences that have been developed as a result of the pandemic – works well as a starting point to an exchange or filed school experience. Talk with International.
	p.22 International Exchange and Field Schools for both students and faculty.
	See lots of potential here – work with dual credit in FSO.
	Good to see some reference to Indigeneity. However, could see more possibilities for exploring Product Design with an Indigenous perspective – including hiring Indigenous instructors/scholars.
	p.23 PDEC improve the focus on indigeneity, …
	Additional information in the comments column? Also, is there a reason why this initiative can’t start now and wait until 2025?
	P. 23 Step 6
	Capital budget request is through the Dean’s office. Hence, the program should consult the Dean and seek options to request capital funds. 
	P. 24 Step 1 
	Should this be addressed more in the QA plan, or is it implicitly part of Strategy 1 and/or 2?
	Expanding the curriculum beyond design courses and giving students more freedom to take electives was mentioned in the External Review Report (p3, 6, 7). Although breadth is mentioned briefly in Goal 2, it is not mentioned in the strategies/steps.
	Should this be addressed in one of the goals/strategies?
	The ERR mentions that students/alumni recommended “better preparation for the increased workload in 2nd year”, but I don’t think this is mentioned in the QA plan. 
	Provide rationale for why it is not addressed.
	Recommendation 3 of the Self Study report (requesting more library resources) does not seem to be addressed in the QA plan.
	Perhaps include this in Strategy 2. If not, provide rationale for why it is not addressed.
	Recommendation 17 of the Self-Study includes a review of the science content of the program, but this is not mentioned in the QA plan.
	Perhaps include this in Strategy 2 or provide rationale for why it is not addressed.
	Recommendation 17 of the Self-Study includes addition of indigenous studies to the program. Although indigeneity is mentioned in Strategy 6 in terms of inclusion, I don’t see mention of including more indigenous studies in the curricular content.
	Provide rationale for why it is not addressed.
	Recommendation 20 of the Self-Study (space for group work, access to food, and social integration) doesn’t seem to be addressed.
	Are these some of the “appropriate skills” that are mentioned in the Weaknesses section of p1? If so, could that be explicitly stated?
	Recommendation 24 of the Self-Study mentions courses or projects in robotics, electronics and coding, but they are not mentioned in QA plan. 
	Provide rationale for why it is not addressed.
	Recommendation 27 of the Self-Study (course alignment with policy AC14) doesn’t seem to be addressed.
	Is there a difference between what is mentioned on page 13 and what is included in strategy 7? If so, it would be good to clarify the difference.
	Page 13: The need for high-tech machinery is listed as not being addressed by the QA plan. However, it does seem to be addressed in Strategy 7.
	Should this be removed from page 14?
	Page 14: The development of a co-op program is listed as not being addressed by the QA plan. However, it is included in Strategy 7.
	Would like to get committee’s input on whether or not this is an issue.
	Some steps in the QA plan have start dates later than one year from now (one as late as 2025). I’m not sure if this is an issue, but it would mean that progress could not be demonstrated in the one-year follow-up report.
	Perhaps include steps and timeline related to this.
	Strategy 2: Great idea to develop library of exemplars, but it is not addressed in the steps. 
	Clarify this in the Steps column or the Notes column.
	Strategy 3, Step 1 (creation of “External Liaison” position). Although clarified later in the “resource implications” section, it is initially unclear if this would be taken on by a faculty member or if it would be a new staff position. 
	Update timeline if the intention is to take longer than one month.
	Strategy 4: First two steps are listed as to be completed in one month. Is that the intention? They seem to be steps that would be longer term (in particular the second one).
	Perhaps this note was meant for the third step?
	Strategy 4, sixth step, “Develop partnerships…”: The entry in the Notes column seems unrelated to this step. 
	Briefly clarify this relationship in the Notes column and/or in the Step column.
	Strategy 5, last step (identity):
	It’s not clear to me how creating a clear identity would ensure the program can “maintain agility and relevance” and raise educational standards, as stated in the Notes.
	Explain why this process would not start until 2025.
	Explain how they are different, or combine them.
	Strategy 6: The first and fourth steps seem very similar. Are they different?
	Explain how they are different, or combine them.
	Strategy 6, last step: Is this different from the sixth step of strategy 4?

	5.5.3 Program's Response to Reviewers' Comments_Product Design Quality Assurance Plan
	OVERALL ASSESSMENT: 
	MAJOR ISSUES AND SUGGESTED ACTIONS:
	Complete this section ONLY if you have identified the following major issues with the Plan:
	a) Recommendations made in the Self-Study Report and/or External Review Report are not appropriately addressed.
	b) Goals, Strategies, Steps and/or Resource Implications are not worded clearly.
	c) It is unclear how the Program will demonstrate Progress on a Goal, Strategy and/or Step in its One-Year Follow-Up Report.
	Suggested Action
	Issue (page #)
	Thank you for this question. Yes, we consider under this point, team teaching for unique skill diversity, mentoring for new faculty, and faculty diversity for coverage for other opportunity’s such as research and or educational.
	p.3 under point #1: Wonder if consideration is given to rotate instructors within courses and team teach?
	p.4 - 4th line – clarify: 
	“Unproportionable allotted hours to in-class studies…” 
	Explain what is intended here – not clear.
	While exploring the program curricular streams and cohesiveness of laddering of courses, the program wants to explore the placement and laddering of mandatory breadth classes in conjunction with core product design business classes offered in forth year spring and fall semester. For example, based on cohesiveness when would MRKT 1199 be required, and would it be a co-req or a pre-req. For MRKT 4177, is there other courses in the School of Business that could also be considered or optional that met some of the concerns of the advisory board such as entrepreneurial courses. 
	Any more comments re the development of graduate programs?
	p.7 It also highlighted the importance of graduate studies due to the competitive environment of the labour market and emerging new industry standards. (Harvard Business Review, January 7, 2020).
	The program would like to explore the development of a graduate certificate or program. This is outlined in strategy 4. 
	What is intended? Perhaps provide more clarity.
	p.8/19 Vertical curriculum model is mentioned several times. 
	Thank you, with exploration the team believe that this vertical model of curricular laddering will be most effective in creating the framework/stream for strategy 1 and 2
	Is this true – is there a need for a refresh?
	p.10 The current KPU Wilson School of Design (WSD) website seems relatively effective… 
	Thank you, yes. In order to achieve the strategy to be better known in the world of design, with recombination from the Product Design advisory committee, current students, and applicants it is key to start with our website. The product design team has already identified some key elements for updates, for example awards/competitions that have been won by students and faculty that will be updated asap, but product design would benefit from further exploration and upadtes.
	Encourage connections with FSO. Thank you, product Design works very closely with FSO and their team is invaluable as Product Design is a limited intake program. FSO currently facilitates campus tours and portfolio feedback opportunities. Product Design and FSO meet regularly to update strategies.
	p.11 How has the Product Design team worked with the FSO?
	Student Affairs would be happy to work with faculty members on student health and wellness initiatives.
	p.14 
	Thank you, very appreciated. This is going to be a very important focus moving forward during Covid and post Covid for new strategies for health and wellness for both students and faculty
	Workload and time-release is an item that the program needs to consult the Dean’s office with. 
	p.15 Step 1
	Thank you, the program is in consultation with the Dean in regards to the strategy.
	Industry Liaison – great idea – process for finding the person(s)? Thank you for this question. Product Design want to explore best practices that are currently in place at KPU. From this exploration it then would be recommended if this would be a faculty of a staff position that then would determine the processes needed for best suited person (s)
	p.18 Industry Liaison
	Special Topic Course – great idea! Thank you, we are looking forward to the breadth within the core program that this could bring
	p.18 Special Topic Course
	Good plan – talk with CRC for assistance. Thank you for the advice. There are currently several program in the Wilson School of Design that are considering Co-Op. The Dean and Chairs are continuing to meet regularly in regard to this. I will pass this on to all of them, appreciated. 
	p.18 Co-op
	Can this be achieved within 1 month? Thank you adjusted. 
	P. 19 Step 2
	Excellent! Thank you, we have had great success with this in that past and or excited for new opportunities.
	p.20 Develop industry and post graduate courses through either CPS or Micro credentials. 
	Encourage this and the pre-visit virtual experiences that have been developed as a result of the pandemic – works well as a starting point to an exchange or filed school experience. Talk with International. Thank you very much for this, appreciated, and will have a conversation with international.
	p.22 International Exchange and Field Schools for both students and faculty.
	See lots of potential here – work with dual credit in FSO. Thank you. Product Design and FSO meet regularly to update strategies, and this is one that we have been considering. I will make a note to add it to our next meeting as an agenda item.
	Good to see some reference to Indigeneity. However, could see more possibilities for exploring Product Design with an Indigenous perspective – including hiring Indigenous instructors/scholars.
	p.23 PDEC improve the focus on indigeneity, …
	Thank you, this has been a key exploration for Product Design and the Wilson School of Design for some time now. Product Design as well as several other programs or considering initiatives such as ‘an Indigenous Designer in Residence’ and the exploration of other strategies. 
	Additional information in the comments column? Also, is there a reason why this initiative can’t start now and wait until 2025?
	P. 23 Step 6
	Thank you, great comment. Updated to 2022, appreciated 
	Capital budget request is through the Dean’s office. Hence, the program should consult the Dean and seek options to request capital funds. 
	P. 24 Step 1 
	Thank you, the program is in consultation with the Dean in regards to the strategy.
	Should this be addressed more in the QA plan, or is it implicitly part of Strategy 1 and/or 2?
	Expanding the curriculum beyond design courses and giving students more freedom to take electives was mentioned in the External Review Report (p3, 6, 7). Although breadth is mentioned briefly in Goal 2, it is not mentioned in the strategies/steps.
	Should this be addressed in one of the goals/strategies?
	The ERR mentions that students/alumni recommended “better preparation for the increased workload in 2nd year”, but I don’t think this is mentioned in the QA plan. 
	Provide rationale for why it is not addressed. Thank you. The next several comments are wonderful. In strategy 1/2 product design plans to explore and update the core framework, course and curricular content. From this development and updates the request for further library support and updates will be addressed.
	Recommendation 3 of the Self Study report (requesting more library resources) does not seem to be addressed in the QA plan.
	Perhaps include this in Strategy 2. If not, provide rationale for why it is not addressed. Thank you. The comments are wonderful. In strategy 1/2 product design plans to explore and update the core framework, course and curricular content. From this development and updates the review for further science content will be addressed.
	Recommendation 17 of the Self-Study includes a review of the science content of the program, but this is not mentioned in the QA plan.
	Perhaps include this in Strategy 2 or provide rationale for why it is not addressed. Thank you. The comments are wonderful. In strategy 1/2 product design plans to explore and update the core framework, course and curricular content. From this development and updates the review for further indigenous content will be addressed.
	Recommendation 17 of the Self-Study includes addition of indigenous studies to the program. Although indigeneity is mentioned in Strategy 6 in terms of inclusion, I don’t see mention of including more indigenous studies in the curricular content.
	Provide rationale for why it is not addressed. Thank you. With Further exploration during th QA process product Design found that this is being taken care of through the work of student and faculty committees 
	Recommendation 20 of the Self-Study (space for group work, access to food, and social integration) doesn’t seem to be addressed.
	Are these some of the “appropriate skills” that are mentioned in the Weaknesses section of p1? If so, could that be explicitly stated? Thank you this is. Great comment. It is not seen as a weakness as mentioned on page one, but an opportunity for breadth of content. This opportunity for this breadth would be actioned in the development of the ‘Special Topics’ course.
	Recommendation 24 of the Self-Study mentions courses or projects in robotics, electronics and coding, but they are not mentioned in QA plan. 
	Provide rationale for why it is not addressed.
	Recommendation 27 of the Self-Study (course alignment with policy AC14) doesn’t seem to be addressed.
	Thank you. This comment is wonderful. In strategy 1/2 product design plans to explore and update the core framework, course and curricular content. From this development and updates the review for further policy alignment such as AC14 content will be addressed. Also is update to unclude this on the report
	Is there a difference between what is mentioned on page 13 and what is included in strategy 7? If so, it would be good to clarify the difference.
	Page 13: The need for high-tech machinery is listed as not being addressed by the QA plan. However, it does seem to be addressed in Strategy 7.
	Thank you. Strategy 7 is in regards to the additional requirements for machinery and technology for the program that is a result of this review and the section that is referring to machinery, labs and technicians that is not being addressed refers the Lifecyle of the current machinery under the new Evergreen procedures.
	Should this be removed from page 14?
	Page 14: The development of a co-op program is listed as not being addressed by the QA plan. However, it is included in Strategy 7.
	Thank you for this comment, but I can not find that mention in Strategy 7 referencing co-op. 
	Would like to get committee’s input on whether or not this is an issue.
	Some steps in the QA plan have start dates later than one year from now (one as late as 2025). I’m not sure if this is an issue, but it would mean that progress could not be demonstrated in the one-year follow-up report.
	Thank you, yes this was a consideration when creating the timeline and the team is aware that they may have to do a two year follow up.
	Perhaps include steps and timeline related to this.
	Strategy 2: Great idea to develop library of exemplars, but it is not addressed in the steps. 
	Thank you. In strategy 1/2 product design plans to explore and update the core framework, course and curricular content. From this development and updates the request for further library support and updates will be addressed. I will add Library in.
	Clarify this in the Steps column or the Notes column.
	Strategy 3, Step 1 (creation of “External Liaison” position). Although clarified later in the “resource implications” section, it is initially unclear if this would be taken on by a faculty member or if it would be a new staff position. 
	Thank you for this question. Product Design want to explore best practices that are currently in place at KPU. From this exploration it then would be recommended if this would be a faculty of a staff position that then would determine the processes needed for best suited person (s)
	Update timeline if the intention is to take longer than one month. Thank you, no, updated to require the year needed, appreciated. 
	Strategy 4: First two steps are listed as to be completed in one month. Is that the intention? They seem to be steps that would be longer term (in particular the second one).
	Perhaps this note was meant for the third step?
	Strategy 4, sixth step, “Develop partnerships…”: The entry in the Notes column seems unrelated to this step. 
	Thank you, updated
	Briefly clarify this relationship in the Notes column and/or in the Step column.
	Strategy 5, last step (identity):
	It’s not clear to me how creating a clear identity would ensure the program can “maintain agility and relevance” and raise educational standards, as stated in the Notes.
	Thank you, updated
	Explain why this process would not start until 2025.
	Explain how they are different, or combine them.
	Strategy 6: The first and fourth steps seem very similar. Are they different?
	Thank you ,updated
	Explain how they are different, or combine them.
	Strategy 6, last step: Is this different from the sixth step of strategy 4?
	Thank you ,updated

	5.5.4 Product Design Quality Assurance Plan_revised
	SUMMARY
	GOAL 2: To update our core course / curricular content
	GOAL 6: To enhance program visibility to attract quality applicants well matched to the program offering
	RECOMMENDATIONS THE QUALITY ASSURANCE PLAN DOES NOT ADDRESS
	QUALITY ASSURANCE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN
	GOAL 1: To update our core program framework
	GOAL 7: To develop technological competence and production capabilities for academic specialization to distinguish, innovation, and industry related excellence

	5.6.0 SSCPR Cover English Self-Study Report
	5.6.1 English Self-Study Report
	Chapter 1. Program Overview
	Program Description
	Learning Outcomes

	Brief History of the Program
	External Accreditation
	Scope of the Review

	Chapter 2. Program Currency and Connections
	Competitive Context
	Enrolment

	Program’s Connections to its Advisory Board
	Program’s Connections to the Discipline/Sector
	Program’s Connections to Other KPU Academic Units
	Program’s Articulation and Credential Recognition Processes
	Prior Learning Assessment

	Program’s Public Information and Community Outreach
	Community Outreach

	Student Demand for the Program
	Summary and Recommendations
	Currency and Competitive Context
	Connections to other KPU Academic Units
	Community Outreach
	Public Information
	Articulation, Transfers, and PLA
	Student Demand


	Chapter 3. Quality of Curriculum Design
	Assessment of the Curriculum
	Overview of the Program
	Program Competencies and Essential Skills
	Learning Outcomes
	Credential-Level Specifications
	Degree-Level Standards (if applicable)
	Admissions and Prerequisites
	Student Satisfaction with the Curriculum
	Faculty Satisfaction with the Curriculum
	Career Pathways and Alumni Preparedness for Work/Further Education
	Discipline/Sector Feedback
	Curriculum Development and Review Processes

	Summary and Recommendations

	Chapter 4. Quality of Instructional Design
	Delivery Modes
	Course Scheduling
	Assessment Methods
	Student Experience
	Grade Distribution
	Retention and Graduation Rates
	Student Outcomes
	Student Satisfaction with Course Availability
	Student Satisfaction with Instruction

	Faculty Experience
	Expertise and Qualifications
	Faculty Satisfaction with Instruction
	Program delivery
	Assessment methods

	Summary and Recommendations

	Chapter 5. Quality of Services, Resources and Facilities
	Description of Program Resources, Services and Facilities
	Student Satisfaction with Program Resources, Services and Facilities
	Faculty Satisfaction with Program Resources, Services and Facilities
	Summary and Recommendations

	Chapter 6. Conclusions and Recommendations
	Summary of Conclusions
	List of Recommendations
	Curricular
	Instructional
	Services


	Chapter 7. Responses from the Dean/Associate Dean
	Program Overview
	External Connections and Support
	Final Comments

	Chapter 8. Appendices for Self-Study Report

	5.6.2 English Self-Study Report Appendices
	Engl_SSR_Appendix A_Curiculum and Faculty
	Appendix A: Curriculum, Program, and Faculty Profiles
	Curriculum Profile
	English Calendar Description
	KPU Bachelor of Arts, Major in English
	Minor in English
	Associate of Arts

	ENGLISH COURSE DESCRIPTIONS
	English Faculty Bios
	Deborah Blenkhorn BA / B.Ed. (Queen's), MA (Queen's)
	Shelley Boyd BA (Saskatchewan), MA (Saskatchewan), PhD (McGill) (on leave)
	Gillian Bright BA (Hon.) (UBC), MA (Leeds), PhD (UofT)
	Betty Anne Buirs Dip. Arts (Douglas), BA (UBC), MA (UBC), PhD (Saskatchewan)
	Greg Chan BA (UBC), MA (UBC)
	Kiran Clements BA English (SFU), BA Psychology (SFU), M.Phil. (Oxford), PhD (London)
	Mark Cochrane BFA (UBC), MA (Concordia), LLB/JD (UBC)
	Heather Cyr BA (STU), MA (Queen's), PhD (Queen's)
	My general research and teaching interests include mapping, literary tourism, fantasy, and nostalgia in the spaces and places of Children's and YA Literature. I am interested in how space and place intersects with childhood and nostalgia in both ficti...
	Gillian Dearle BA Hons (UBC), MA (Queen's) (on leave)
	Robert Dearle BA (UVic), MA (UVic), PhD (Queen's)
	Kegan Doyle BA (UVic), MA (UofT), PhD (UofT)
	Kelly Doyle BA English and Psychology (MUN), MA (MUN), PhD (UBC)
	I am keenly interested in theorizing and destabilizing the figure of the human, particularly in horror film. Gothic and Horror are genres invested in excavating and interrogating the monstrous, and not just in the world of fiction. These genres confro...
	Elizabeth Gooding BA (Alberta), MA (Alberta)
	Julia Grandison BA (UofT), PhD (UofT)
	Duncan Greenlaw BA (Queen's), MA (Queen's), PhD (Alberta)
	Jennifer Hardwick B.A. Hons (SFU) M.A. (Queen's) PhD (Queen's)
	Blair Hemstock BA (UofT), MA (McMaster), PhD (McMaster)
	Jacqueline Heslop BA (Saskatchewan), PhD (UVic) (on leave)
	Gaye Hickman-Barr Dip. University Ed. (Natal), Dip. TEFLA (ILC), Dip. TEBP (ILC), BA (Natal), MA (Central Washington), M.Ed. (Central Washington), PhD (Natal)
	Neil Patrick Kennedy BA (SFU), MA (UBC)
	Romy Kozak BA (Hons) (UBC), MA (Sussex), PhD (Stanford)
	Moira Langley BA (UBC), MA (UofT) (on leave)
	Kim Larsen BA (Alberta), MA (McGill)
	Leanne MacDonald BA (Hons) (SFU), MA (Notre Dame), PhD (Notre Dame)
	Ranjini Mendis ATCL (Engl.), BA Hons (Ceylon), M.Ed. (Mass.), MA (Calgary)
	Joakim Nilsson BA (SFU), MA (SFU), PhD (Alberta)
	Paul Ohler BA (Calgary), MA (UBC), PhD (UBC)
	Paul Ostrowski BA (B.C.T.E.A.L.), MA (Lodz)
	Robert Pasquini BA (Hons) (UofT), MA (Ryerson), PhD (McMaster)
	Gavin Paul B.Mgt. (Lethbridge), BA (Lethbridge), MA (UBC), PhD (UBC)
	John Rupert Dip. FA (Fanshawe), BA (Western), MA (Western), PhD (Ottawa)
	Asma Sayed PhD, Comparative Literature (Alberta)
	Lindsey Seatter BA (SFU), MA (SFU), PhD (UVic) (NR-2)
	Areas of specialization: Digital Humanities, Print Culture, Romantic Women’s Writing
	Kris Singh BA (Waterloo), MA (Waterloo), PhD (Queen’s)
	My research interests include Caribbean and African literature, postcolonial theory, diasporic literature, and transnationalism. I investigate the transnational connections that unite Austin Clarke, Andrew Salkey, and Samuel Selvon. Drawing on their e...
	Wendy Smith BA (SFU), MA (SFU)
	Brian Swail BA (Trent), MA (Manitoba), PhD (Manitoba)
	Areas of specialization: Canadian Literature
	Dale Tracy HBA (Lakehead), MA (Carleton), PhD (Queen’s)
	Paul Tyndall BA (Dalhousie), MA (UofT), PhD (Dalhousie)
	Steve Weber BA (SFU), MA (SFU), PhD (SUNY Albany)
	Jennifer Williams BA (Trent), MA (Queen's)


	Engl_SSR_Appendix B_Administrative Data Report_English Program Review_Final
	INTRODUCTION
	DATA FOR CHAPTER 2 OF THE SELF STUDY: PROGRAM CURRENCY AND CONNECTIONS
	STUDENT DEMAND FOR THE PROGRAM
	ENROLMENT TRENDS0F
	Exhibit 1: Course Headcount1F  by Academic Year: English and Faculty of Arts Undergraduate Courses
	Exhibit 2: Program Headcount by Academic Year: English5F
	Exhibit 3: Program Headcount by Academic Year: Faculty of Arts

	ENGLISH ENROLMENT IN B.C. 9F
	Exhibit 4: Number of Students Enrolled in English Programs at B.C. Public Post-Secondary Institutions

	DEMOGRAPHIC PROFILE OF KPU STUDENTS10F
	Exhibit 5: Profile of English Students by Academic Year
	Exhibit 6: Profile of Faculty of Arts Students by Academic Year

	SEAT TRENDS11F
	Exhibit 7: Average Seats per Class from 2016/17 to 2019/20:
	Exhibit 8: Fill Rate from 2016/17 to 2019/20:



	DATA FOR CHAPTER 4 OF THE SELF-STUDY: QUALITY OF INSTRUCTIONAL DESIGN
	STUDENT EXPERIENCE
	GRADE DISTRIBUTIONS15F
	Exhibit 9: Cumulative Grade Distribution for English Courses from 2015/16 to 2019/20
	Exhibit 10: Cumulative Grade Distribution for Faculty of Arts Undergraduate Courses from 2015/16 to 2019/20
	Exhibit 11: Grade Data for English (including ENGL 1100) and Faculty of Arts Undergraduate Level Courses from 2015/16 to 2019/20
	Exhibit 12: Grade Data for English (including ENGL 1100) and Faculty of Arts Courses for 2019/20 across Undergraduate Levels

	GRADUATION COUNTS18F
	Exhibit 13: Graduate Headcount by Academic Year: English
	Exhibit 14: Graduate Headcount by Academic Year: Faculty of Arts
	Exhibit 15: Median Years to Graduate:20F  English
	Exhibit 16: Median Years to Graduate: Faculty of Arts

	STUDENT OUTCOMES21F
	Exhibit 17: Student Outcomes Measures - KPU English Average Scores Compared with Ministry Targets




	Engl_SSR_Appendix C Student Surveys
	Engl_SSR_Appendix D_Faculty Surveys
	Engl_SSR_Appendix E_Alumni Surveys
	Engl_SSR_Appendix F_Discipline Surveys
	Engl_SSR_ Appendix G_UFV-Factbook-2019-20
	01 Cover
	02 TOC
	04 Terms
	05 Data
	06 Finance
	07 Library
	08 Faculty and Staff
	09 Research
	10 Student Services
	11 Energy

	Blank Page
	Blank Page

	5.6.3 SSCPR Reviewers' Comments_English Self Study Report
	OVERALL ASSESSMENT: 
	Please provide a brief assessment of the Self-Study Report under review and an overall recommendation.
	Reviewer #1: Overall, a well written Self-Study report with a lot of supporting data. I did include several clarifying questions that I would like responses to. I recommend that SSCPR approve this Self-Study report. 
	Reviewer #2: Thank you! I feel this is a very strong report and I’m impressed by the many things English is doing and how it has grown. Great work! 
	Direction for Reviewers: Determine if the criterion for each chapter is fully addressed according to the standard.
	CHAPTER 1: Program Overview
	Criterion: This chapter provides a description of the program, its history, and the scope of the review.
	Standard: The Chapter clearly describes the program, its history and curriculum, and the scope of the current review.
	CHAPTER 2: Program Currency and Connections
	Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported assessments and recommendations.
	CHAPTER 3: Quality of Curriculum Design
	CHAPTER 4: Quality of Instructional Design
	Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported assessments and recommendations.
	CHAPTER 5: Quality of Services, Resources and Facilities
	Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported assessments and recommendations.
	CHAPTER 6: Conclusions and Recommendations
	Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported recommendations.

	5.6.4 Program's Response to SSCPR Reviewers' Comments_English Self Study Report
	OVERALL ASSESSMENT: 
	Please provide a brief assessment of the Self-Study Report under review and an overall recommendation.
	Reviewer #1: Overall, a well written Self-Study report with a lot of supporting data. I did include several clarifying questions that I would like responses to. I recommend that SSCPR approve this Self-Study report. 
	Reviewer #2: Thank you! I feel this is a very strong report and I’m impressed by the many things English is doing and how it has grown. Great work! 
	Direction for Reviewers: Determine if the criterion for each chapter is fully addressed according to the standard.
	CHAPTER 1: Program Overview
	Criterion: This chapter provides a description of the program, its history, and the scope of the review.
	Standard: The Chapter clearly describes the program, its history and curriculum, and the scope of the current review.
	CHAPTER 2: Program Currency and Connections
	Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported assessments and recommendations.
	CHAPTER 3: Quality of Curriculum Design
	CHAPTER 4: Quality of Instructional Design
	Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported assessments and recommendations.
	CHAPTER 5: Quality of Services, Resources and Facilities
	Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported assessments and recommendations.
	CHAPTER 6: Conclusions and Recommendations
	Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported recommendations.

	5.6.5 English Self-Study Report_revised
	Chapter 1. Program Overview
	Program Description
	Learning Outcomes

	Brief History of the Program
	Faculty

	External Accreditation
	Scope of the Review

	Chapter 2. Program Currency and Connections
	Competitive Context
	Enrolment

	Program’s Connections to its Advisory Board
	Program’s Connections to the Discipline/Sector and Alumni
	Program’s Connections to Other KPU Academic Units
	Program’s Articulation and Credential Recognition Processes
	Prior Learning Assessment

	Program’s Public Information and Community Outreach
	Community Outreach

	Student Demand for the Program
	Summary and Recommendations
	Currency and Competitive Context
	Connections to other KPU Academic Units
	Community Outreach
	Public Information
	Articulation, Transfers, and PLA
	Student Demand


	Chapter 3. Quality of Curriculum Design
	Assessment of the Curriculum
	Overview of the Program
	Program Competencies and Essential Skills
	Learning Outcomes
	Credential-Level Specifications
	Degree-Level Standards (if applicable)
	Admissions and Prerequisites
	Student Satisfaction with the Curriculum
	Faculty Satisfaction with the Curriculum
	Career Pathways and Alumni Preparedness for Work/Further Education
	Discipline/Sector Feedback
	Curriculum Development and Review Processes

	Summary and Recommendations

	Chapter 4. Quality of Instructional Design
	Delivery Modes
	Course Scheduling
	Assessment Methods
	Student Experience
	Grade Distribution
	Retention and Graduation Rates
	Student Outcomes
	Student Satisfaction with Course Availability
	Student Satisfaction with Instruction

	Faculty Experience
	Expertise and Qualifications
	Faculty Satisfaction with Instruction
	Program delivery
	Assessment methods

	Summary and Recommendations

	Chapter 5. Quality of Services, Resources and Facilities
	Description of Program Resources, Services and Facilities
	Student Satisfaction with Program Resources, Services and Facilities
	Faculty Satisfaction with Program Resources, Services and Facilities
	Summary and Recommendations

	Chapter 6. Conclusions and Recommendations
	Summary of Conclusions
	List of Recommendations
	Curricular
	Instructional
	Services


	Chapter 7. Responses from the Dean/Associate Dean
	Program Overview
	External Connections and Support
	Final Comments

	Chapter 8. Appendices for Self-Study Report

	6.1.0 Cover - Election of SSC Vice-Chair
	6.1.1 SSC Chair and Vice-Chair Responsibilities
	Senate Standing Committee
	Chair and Vice-Chair
	Responsibilities
	Workplan
	Meeting Preparation
	Meeting
	After the meeting
	Reports to Senate


	7.1.0  SSCPR Cover - Manager's Report on Status of Program Reviews
	7.1.1 Manager's Report_Status of Program Reviews_Details for Nov 2021 SSCPR Meeting
	Status




